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    Introduction


    


    IN HIGH SCHOOL I was, like many American intellectual kids, a stranger in a strange land. I made the Berkeley Public Library my refuge, and lived half my life in books. Not only American books—English and French novels and poetry, Russian novels in translation. Transported unexpectedly to college in another strange land, the East Coast, I majored in French lit and went on reading European lit on my own. I felt more at home in some ways in Paris in 1640 or Moscow in 1812 than in Cambridge, Massachusetts, in 1948.


    Much as I loved my studies, their purpose was to make me able to earn a living as a teacher, so I could go on writing. And I worked hard at writing short stories. But here my European orientation was a problem. I wasn’t drawn to the topics and aims of contemporary American realism. I didn’t admire Ernest Hemingway, James Jones, Norman Mailer, or Edna Ferber. I did admire John Steinbeck, but knew I couldn’t write that way. In The New Yorker, I loved Thurber, but skipped over John O’Hara to read the Englishwoman Sylvia Townsend Warner. Most of the people I really wished I could write like were foreign, or dead, or both. Most of what I read drew me to write about Europe; but I knew it was foolhardy to write fiction set in Europe if I’d never been there.


    At last it occurred to me that I might get away with it by writing about a part of Europe where nobody had been but me.


    I remember when this idea came: in our small co-op dorm at Radcliffe, Everett House, in the dining room, where you could study and typewrite late without disturbing sleepers. I was twenty years old, working at one of the dining tables about midnight, when I got the first glimpse of my other country.


    An unimportant country of middle Europe. One of those Hitler had trashed and Stalin was now trashing. (The Soviet takeover of Czechoslovakia in 1947–48 had been the first event to rouse the political spirit in me.) A land not too far from Czechoslovakia, or Poland, but let’s not worry about borders. Not one of the partly Islamized nations—more Western-oriented. . . . Like Rumania, maybe, with a Slavic-influenced but Latin-descended language? Aha!


    I begin to feel I’m coming close. I begin to hear the names. Orsenya—in Latin and English, Orsinia. I see the river, the Molsen, running through an open, sunny countryside to the old capital, Krasnoy (krasniy, Slavic, “beautiful”). Krasnoy on its three hills: the Palace, the University, the Cathedral. The Cathedral of St Theodora, an egregiously unsaintly saint, my mother’s name. . . . I begin to find my way about, to feel myself at home, here in Orsenya, matrya miya, my motherland. I can live here, and find out who else lives here and what they do, and tell stories about it.


    And so I did.


    My first attempt at a novel, begun in a tiny notebook in Paris in 1951 (for I had at last got to Europe), was intrepid, immodest, and unwise. An attempt to relate the fortunes of an Orsinian family from the late fifteenth to the early twentieth century, it was called A Descendance. I did not know enough about people to write a novel, and barely enough European history to support my invented history, which included the Renaissance, the Protestant Reformation and a civil war resulting from it, several invasions, the Austro-Hungarian Empire, and a couple of revolutions. The characters were mostly men, because in the early 1950s, fiction was mostly about men and history was all about men and I thought books had to be about men. I wrote it at white heat and submitted it to Alfred Knopf, who rejected it with a letter that said (in essence) that ten years ago he’d have published the crazy damn thing, but these days he couldn’t afford to take such chances.


    A rejection like that from a man like that is enough to keep a young writer going. I never sent the manuscript out again. I knew Knopf was right, it was a crazy damn thing. I suspected he was possibly just being kind because he knew my father, but also knew he was too hard-nosed an editor for that. He’d sort of liked it, he might have published it. That was enough.


    All my next (unsold) novels were about contemporary America, except for one set in Orsinia. I began it in 1952. In various revisions it was called Malafrena or The Necessary Passion. It was about the generation in Europe that came of age in the 1820s and broke their hearts in the revolutions of 1830. Of the earlier versions of the book, the only piece I have at hand is a carbon-copied typescript page annotated “First p. of 2nd version.” It exemplifies the mood, tone, and style of the earlier drafts of the novel, directly influenced by European writing of its period, the 1820s, when Romanticism was gathering steam.


    


    The Necessary Passion


    Malafrena


    Part One. In the Mountains


    Mute, dark, and grave, the mountains stood against the evening sky, against the darkness of gathering storm. Below them the waters of Malafrena lay rough and troubled, and the wind, blowing from the west where the last light of sunset had died away, mixed the long roar of the pine forests with the voice of the lake on its stony shores. Storm and darkness gathered fast on the lake, the forests bowed in the rising wind, but over them, under the high, running clouds, the mountains stood silent in their greater vision of plains and realms beyond, indifferent to the tumult of lake and sky.


    The lights of the few houses on the eastern shore of Malafrena shone bright and a little tremulous, like the planet that gleamed sometimes over the shoulder of a western peak and then was lost again in the clouds; there was already rain on the wind. A man who had been standing down on the lake shore, alone, watching the storm rise and the mountains obscure themselves in night, lifted his head when he felt the first heavy drops. Turning up his coat collar and stooping a little against the wind, he began to make his way along the shore toward a house that stood almost over the lake, on a long narrow slope running from the bulk of the mountain behind and into the lake as a short peninsula. Several of the rooms were lit, their yellow gleam shining out into the garden, where trees and [. . . .]


    


    The manuscript never “died,” as manuscripts do (and as A Descendance and the other unsold novels did). It went through long periods of silence and darkness, but stayed alive and close to my heart. I thought about it and fiddled with it on and off. I rewrote it. I rewrote it again in 1961. In the seventies, in a time of stress when my best friend was dying of cancer, I was drawn back to the book and wondered if I could rewrite it. Three years after that, in 1978, a similarly stressed time when my mother was ill, I considered the idea again. Thinking that I might have enough reputation as a novelist to chance submitting a serious historical novel set in a nonexistent country, I proposed it to my agent, the dauntless Virginia Kidd. She encouraged me to give it a try. I rewrote the book.


    Here are passages from my daybook, written at intervals while I was working on the final draft.


    


    (Feb 11 1975) I re-read The Necessary Passion for the first time in five years: I went over it in ’69, according to a note—Six years, then. Several things strike me: one, how young everybody in it is!—the main characters; I could not do that now. Piera is a good character, though the end, and her part in it, is weak. So is Laura, who is as autobiographical as I ever got. The bits of Tolstoy—one bit, actually—is pure imitation, but the Lawrence influence is superficial and could be done away with; I was writing from experience! only not quite hard enough. The queerest thing is that it is The Dispossessed [published the previous year, 1974], much much more than I realised when writing the latter: not only the person and the situation are similar but the words:—True pilgrimage consists in coming home—True journey is return—and so on. I have not a few ideas: I have ONE idea.—Then there is the Way to Radiko section. Now how did I know then—that was written as a story about 1951—how did I know then how I feel now? There is Amadey in me, and I have turned from him, and he has waited quietly, biding his time. The suicide of course is symbolic, i.e. not a total, bodily death: A partial death. I saw it, I saw it then, I saw the road and the abandoned tower. “I turn, not knowing if I see it fallen.” [a line from a poem in] The first bound copy of Wild Angels is in my hands today, brought by Bob Durand.


    I worked as hard on that book as I have ever worked, and phrases from it are forever recurring to my mind: I did say some things right in it. It draws me still and it grieves me that I see no way to bring it alive and into print. I could revise it once more, I think, but it might be extremely dangerous—a regression, not a reculer pour mieux sauter—And if I did, still, who wants a genuine 19th century novel written in the third quarter of the 20th century? It is a period piece in two ways, by now. But by damn it has some good work in it; it is a far better book than the first three sf novels—maturer, larger, and despite its weaknesses and embarrassing parts, surer. I was on the right road, on the way, writing that. It is better than Dispossessed in one way: it has more humor and variety of character.—Even old Atro in his relation to Shevek is prefigured/repeated (there is no Before and After in the place from which novels rise) in old Helleskar and his relation to Itale. Of that I was utterly unconscious, working on Disp’d—no memory of old Helleskar at all. Of so much that I was repeating/prefiguring. No wonder the dimension of Time insisted on making itself so important in the second book! I am here, I was here, I have always been here.—Three or four times in N.P. people have déjà vu, or the sense of “I have always been here.” Well, I have. And am.


    


    (12 11 75): Itale, my dear, you say to do what comes under your hand to do, to do what you must do, what needs doing next, and you also wave your hand dismissing the irrelevances, the trivialities, amongst which the way gets lost. Now how do I tell the one from the other? I have to go take the wash out and fold it, yes, definitely. I should clean up the living room, yes, probably. Should I answer all the letters? and if not, which? The well, the I Ching tells me, needs relining. The way, I tell myself, needs re-finding.—I left you, to be sure, in very much the same state, at Malafrena, many years ago.


    I wonder what you did in 1848.


    


    (16 Oct 1978): I am working hard & daily rewriting NP, starting w Pt II. I do not feel basically that this is a good thing, the right thing—the necessary thing, in Itale’s phraseology—to do; it’s going to be an old sheep in new wolf’s clothing, at best, if I can finish the job at all. But it seems to be what I have let myself in for, forced upon myself. [By discussing the possibility of marketing such a novel with my agent, Virginia Kidd, who encouraged me.] Well let it, by ending once for all the part of my life-work that began with NP, be the beginning, the opening of the door, to the next & so far unimagined and unimaginable part: because every thing on every hand says so me, when I have the courage to listen, “You must begin all over again, you must begin at the beginning . . .” and at 49 next Saturday I know about as much of my job as I did at 9 years old.


    


    (26 Oct 78): Isaber does jump off tower


    Often I lack the courage of my intuitions.


    I wonder if when the sentence or scene sticks in the mind that means, despite all complacency, something is wrong with it?


    


    (30 Oct 78) Luisa nursed her mother; she cannot nurse Itale because of sexual disgust. It is she who sends Itale away, also—Self-destructive, frustrated sexuality.


    


    Record the high for the glory of God:


    This is the greatest pleasure. “For this I came.” No comparison. That I suppose is why I was afraid of it. FOOL. TG.


    


    (2 Nov 78) 7 Jan 1827.


    


    And a price to pay—bien entendu!—thought last night at Symphony, maybe creation in the latter half of life must always go against the grain, upcurrent—after all.


    


    There is no use fighting evil from innocence because you don’t know what you’re up against, and when you do find out and are no longer innocent you are either corrupted or mortally wounded by the knowledge of evil—Seems to be the Message, at this point. The Lesson of 1830?—well.


    


    (9 Nov 78) Aug 8, 1830.


    


    (18 Nov 78) “Being in love—falling in love”—now I understand it—now I know what it means—what happens to me when I am writing: I am in love with the work, the subject, the characters, and while it goes on & a while after, the opus itself.—I function only by falling in love: with French and France; with the 15th Century; with microbiology, cosmology, sleep research, etc. at various times—I could not have written A Week in the Country without having fallen in love with current DNA research! All very strange; is this feminine? do men fall in love this way? They certainly do in the usual way because the poems about sleeplessness & not eating & all the world being an appendage of the Beloved are by men—I expect they too fall in love with Revolution of 1830, or a dead Russian, or a sentence in Italian, or what have you. What it is I suppose is the creative condition as expressed in human emotion and mood—So it comes out curiously the same whether sexual or spiritual or aesthetic or intellectual—


    Hence the personal God, you thickheaded perpetual adolescent. Oh, she says, OK, so Jesus is just not my type. I prefer thin dirty wogs with rivers in their hair. I see. What do I see, Lord?


    Du bist’s, der was wir bauen . . .


    


    (6 Dec 78) 11.05 am—Finished Malafrena. Again.


    11:07—But no! Left out 3 pp. beginning Pt II! tipico tipico!!


    


    The “Folksong from the Montayna Province” was my first published poem.


    The two tiny “Folksongs” are the only extant texts in Orsinian. The words were taken down from a broadcast from Radio Orsenya in the sixties but unfortunately the tunes were not recorded.


    The map of Orsinia is here reproduced for the first time.


    The Orsinian Tales came along—both the century in which they took place and the year in which I wrote them—at unpredictable times. The date at the end of a story refers, also rather unexpectedly, to the story, not the date of composition.


    For years I felt as if I were a transmitter of some kind, that would be suddenly activated by an urgent message from Or­sinia, from one century or another and from various persons. It was my duty and privilege to interpret these, but learning how to do so took me quite a while.


    I think “Conversations at Night” was the earliest written of the stories. In graduate school in New York I used to listen to the Italian radio station, and a sentimental audio drama about a blind man got me trying to imagine blindness. Then suddenly the transmission from Rákava came through.


    “An die Musik,” written some ten years later, was my first work of fiction accepted by a literary magazine. I sent a copy to Lotte Lehmann in homage. It is the sorrow of my heart that I lost the warm, generous note that great artist wrote back to me.


    “Brothers and Sisters” dates, I think, from the late fifties. It is the first short story I ever wrote that I was sure of. With it, I knew I was on the right track, my track.


    “The Road East” is a heartbroken response to the Hungarian uprising of 1956, crushed by the Soviets. “A Week in the Country,” written much later, sends the son of Stefan Fabbre from “Brothers and Sisters” to the Montayna, the countryside of Malafrena, in the heavy years of Soviet domination.


    The last of the Tales, “Imaginary Countries,” was, I believe, the last one written, in the late seventies. Nothing and no one in it much resembles anywhere or anyone in my life, but all the same, it’s about as autobiographical as I ever got. There is a valedictory quality to it, as if I felt I was leaving Orsinia; but Orsinia did not leave me for a while yet.


    “Two Delays on the Northern Line,” published after the Tales had appeared, also contains elements of direct personal experience so transformed as to be entirely fictional rather than confessional. Some writers can handle lava with bare hands, but I’m not so tough, my skin is not asbestos. And in fact I have no interest in confession. My games are transformation and invention.


    The last transmission I received from Orsinia was “Unlocking the Air,” a story that gave me the joy of rejoining Stefan Fabbre and his wife, Bruna, and seeing them, however briefly, free.


    I am sorry I have heard nothing from my friends in Krasnoy since then. I hope things are going along all right there. I hope there is still a family named Sorde living in Val Malafrena, that dogs wander across the cobbled forecourt of the Roukh Palace, that the Cathedral of St Theodora stands, that the quiet fountains of Aisnar still run.


    


    Ursula K. Le Guin


    Portland, Oregon


    December 2015
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     Except the Lord build the house: their labor is but lost who build it.


    Except the Lord keep the city: the watchman waketh but in vain.


    It is but lost labor that ye haste to rise up early, and so late take rest, and eat the bread of carefulness: for so he giveth his beloved sleep.


    Psalm 127

  


  PART ONE


  In the Provinces


  
    I


    


    IN A starless May night the town slept and the river flowed quietly through shadow. Over the empty courts of the university loomed the chapel tower, full of silent bells. A young man was climbing over the ten-foot iron gates of the chapel quadrangle. Clinging to the ironwork he dropped down inside, and crossed the courtyard to the doors of the chapel. He took out of his coat pocket a large sheet of paper, and unfolded it; fished around and brought out a nail; stooped and took off one of his shoes. Having got the paper and nail positioned high on the iron-barred oak door he raised the shoe, paused, struck. The sound of the blow crashed around the dark stone courts, and he paused again as if startled by the noise. A voice not far off shouted something, iron grated on stone. He struck three more blows until the head of the nail was driven home to the wood, then, holding one shoe and wearing the other, he ran hopping back to the gates, threw his shoe over, climbed up and over, caught his coattails on a spike, jumped down outside with a tearing noise, and vanished into the shadows just before two policemen arrived. They peered into the chapel yard, argued in German about the height of the gate, shook its lock, and went off, boots ringing on the cobbles. Cautiously the young man reappeared, feeling about in the shadows for his shoe. He was laughing wildly but silently. He could not find the shoe. The guards were returning. He went off in his stocking feet through the dark streets as the bells of Solariy cathedral struck midnight.


    As the bells were striking noon next day a lecture on the apostasy of Julian ended, and the young man was leaving the hall with other young men when his name was spoken: “Herr Sorde. Herr Itale Sorde.”


    The students, deaf mutes, walked past the uniformed officer of the university guard without a glance; only the one called stopped.


    “Yes, the Herr Rector will see you, this way please, Herr Sorde.”


    A handsome red Persian carpet, badly worn, covered the floor of the rector’s office. There was a purplish growth on the left side of the rector’s nose: a wart, a birthmark? Another man stood near the windows.


    “Please answer our question, Mr Sorde.”


    He looked at the paper which the other man was holding out: a sheet about a yard square, half of a poster announcing the sale of draft-oxen in Solariy Market, June 5th, 1825. On the blank side was written in large, clear letters:


    O come, put your neck in the collar


    Of Müller, Von Gentz, and Von Haller!


    All the best Governments


    Have replaced Common Sense


    With Von Haller, and Müller, and Gentz.


    “I wrote it,” the young man said.


    “And . . .” The rector glanced at the other man, out the windows, and asked in a mild deprecating tone, “And you nailed it on the door of the chapel?”


    “Yes. Alone. No one was with me. It was entirely my idea.”


    “My dear boy,” the rector said, paused, frowned, and said, “My boy, if nothing else the sanctity of the place—”


    “I was following an historical precedent. I’m a student of history.” From white he turned red.


    “Until now, an exemplary student,” the rector said. “This is really most regrettable. Even understood as a mere prank—”


    “Excuse me, sir, it was not a prank!”


    The rector winced and shut his eyes.


    “It’s obvious that the intent was serious; why else have you called me in?”


    “Young man,” said the other man, the man with no wart, no title, no name, “you talk about seriousness; you can find serious trouble, you know, if you insist upon it.”


    The young man went dead white this time. He stared at the man, and finally managed a very short, stiff bow. He faced the rector again and said in an unnatural voice, “I do not intend to apologise, sir. I will withdraw from my college. You have no right to ask more of me.”


    “I haven’t asked that, Mr Sorde. Please control yourself and listen. This is your last term at the university. We should wish you to finish your studies without hindrance or disturbance.” He smiled, and the purplish wart on his nose moved up and down. “I ask you therefore to promise me that you will attend no student meetings during the remainder of the term, and to stay home, in your rooms, after sunset until morning. That is the long and the short of it, Mr Sorde. Will you give me your word?”


    After a short pause the young man said, “Yes.”


    When he had gone the provincial inspector folded up the paper and laid it on the rector’s desk, smiling. “A young man of spirit,” he observed.


    “Yes, mere boyish folly, this sort of thing.”


    “Luther had ninety-five theses,” the provincial inspector said, “he has only one, it seems.”


    They were speaking in German.


    “Ha, ha, ha,” the rector laughed, appreciatively.


    “He plans a civil career? Law?”


    “No, he’ll go back to the family estate. An only son. I taught his father, my first year of teaching. Val Malafrena, up there in the mountains, depths of the country, you know, a hundred miles from anything.”


    The provincial inspector smiled.


    When he had gone, the rector sighed. He sat down behind his desk and looked up at the portrait on the facing wall; his look, absent at first, gradually sharpened. The portrait was of a well-dressed, well-fleshed woman with a thick lower lip, Grand Duchess Mariya, first cousin once removed of Emperor Francis of Austria. On the scroll she held, the red and blue colors of the nation of Orsinia were quartered with the black two-headed eagle of the Empire. Fifteen years ago the portrait on the wall had been of Napoleon Bonaparte. Thirty years ago it had been of King Stefan IV in his coronation regalia. Thirty years ago when the rector had first become a dean he had called boys onto the carpet for their follies, he had tonguelashed and excoriated them, they had been sheepish and they had grinned. They had not turned grey in the face. He had not felt this painful wish to apologise, to say to young Sorde, “I’m sorry— You see how it is!” He sighed again and looked at the documents he must approve, governmental revision of curriculum, all in German. He put on his spectacles and opened the sheaf, his hands reluctant, his face weary in the radiance of May noon pouring in the windows.


    Sorde meanwhile had gone down to the park along the Molsen and was sitting there on a bench. Behind scrubby willows the river stretched smoky blue in sunlight. Everything was quiet, the river, the sky, the willow-leaves against the sky, the sunshine, a pigeon sunning and strutting on the gravel. At first he sat with his hands on his knees, frowning, his face vivid with emotions; then gradually he relaxed, stretched out his long legs, then stretched out his arms along the back of the bench. His face, distinguished by a big nose, heavy eyebrows and blue eyes, got to looking more and more dreamy, even sleepy. He watched the river run.


    A voice went off like a gunshot. “There he is!” He looked round slowly. His friends had found him.


    Blond, stocky, scowling, Frenin said, “You haven’t proved your point at all, I disallow the proof.”


    “That words are acts? Those were words I nailed up—”


    “But the act was nailing them up—”


    “But once they were there it was them, the words, that would act and bring about results—”


    “What results did they bring about in your case?” inquired Brelavay, a long, thin, dark young man with an ironical look.


    “No meetings. House arrest nights.”


    “Austria will keep you pure, by God.” Brelavay laughed delightedly. “Did you see the crowd in front of the chapel this morning? The whole college saw it before the Ostriches found it. Almighty Christ! I thought they’d arrest the lot of us!”


    “How did they know it was me?”


    “Go to the head of the class, Herr Sorde,” said Frenin. “Das würde ich auch gerne wissen!”


    “The rector didn’t say anything about Amiktiya. There was an Ostrich there. Do you think it’ll make trouble for the society?”


    “Another good question.”


    “Look here, Frenin!” Brelavay burst out—both had spent the last hour in anxious search for Itale, and were upset and hungry—“You’re the one who keeps telling us that we talk and do nothing. Now Itale’s done something and you start complaining about it! Personally I don’t care if the society gets into trouble, it’s a stupid lot of fellows, I’m not surprised there’s a spy amongst them.” He sat down by Itale on the bench.


    “If you’d let me finish, Tomas,” said Frenin, joining them on the bench, “what I was going to say was this. There are about five of us in Amiktiya who are serious about the ideas, right? Well, after this, with Itale under observation and the whole society suspect, we’re getting to the time when we have to decide how serious we are. Are we in it for the wine and the songs, or is there more to it than that? Do you nail up your verse, and take your scolding, and finish the term and go home to your farm, or are there in fact further consequences? Are our words acts?”


    “What are you thinking of, Givan?”


    “I’m thinking of Krasnoy.”


    “What would we do there?” Brelavay asked, skeptical, startled.


    “There’s nothing here in Solariy. There’s nothing in the provinces—these damned burghers, your peasants. We can’t fight the Middle Ages. The capital is the only place for us, if we’re serious. My God, is it so far away, Krasnoy?”


    “I suppose the Molsen was running through it a day or two ago,” said Itale, looking at the blue river beyond the trees. “Listen, this is an idea, this is a real idea, Givan. I’ve got to think. I’ve got to eat something. Come on. Krasnoy, Krasnoy!” He looked at his friends joyously. “We can’t go to Krasnoy!” he said. They went off together laughing.


    When they parted late in the afternoon and Itale set off home his mood was still one of joyful and wondering anticipation. Was it possible that a new life was going to begin? Would he in fact go to the city, live there, work with other men in the cause of freedom? It was inconceivable, fantastic, splendid, how did one go about it? There must be men in the city who would welcome them and put them to work. There were said to be secret societies there, which corresponded with similar groups in Piedmont and Lombardy, Naples, Bohemia, Poland, German states; for throughout the territories and satellites of the Austrian Empire and even beyond, throughout Europe, stretched the silent network of liberalism, like the nervous system of a sleeping man. A restless sleep, feverish, full of dreams. Even in this sleepy town people referred to Matiyas Sovenskar, in exile on his estate since 1815, as “the king.” Which he was, by right and by the will of his people, hereditary and constitutional king of a free country, and emperor and Empire be damned! Itale went striding down the shady street like a summer whirlwind, his face hot, his coat open.


    He lived with the family of his uncle Angele Dru; before supper he explained to his uncle that he was under nightly house arrest. His uncle laughed. He and his wife, parents of a large brood, had given their nephew a small room, large meals, and unlimited trust; their own elder sons were none too steady, and sometimes they seemed as surprised as they were pleased by Itale’s justification of their trust. “What’s the scrape, what did you pups do now?” his uncle asked.


    “Posted up a silly poem on the chapel.”


    “Is that all? Have I told you about the night we brought the Gypsy girls right into the college? They didn’t use to lock it up at night,” and Angele retold the story. “So what’s your poem, eh?”


    “Oh, politics.”


    Angele continued smiling but a line of dismay or disappointment appeared in his forehead. “What sort of politics?” To appease him Itale repeated his verse, and then had to explain it.


    “I see,” Angele said vaguely. “Well, now, I don’t know. Things have changed since I was your age. All these Prussians and Swiss, Haller, Müller, Jesus Mary, what’s that to us? Now I know who Von Gentz is, he’s the head of the Imperial Police, that’s a very important position. What such men do is none of our affair.”


    “None of our affair! when everything we do is theirs? when we’re arrested if we open our mouths?” Itale always meant to avoid discussing politics with his uncle, but his ideas were so clear and the facts so patent that, each time, he was sure he could convince him. Angele got more and more alarmed and obstinate, till he was refusing to admit even that he disliked the foreign militia who policed the city and the university, and that he, too, thought of Matiyas Sovenskar as the king. “It’s just that we got on the wrong side in ’13. Should have joined the Alliance and let Bonaparte hang himself on his own rope. You don’t remember what it’s like when all Europe’s at war, all you hear is war, the Prussians lose, the Russians win, an army’s here, an army’s there, the food gets short, nobody’s safe in bed. Plenty of money to be made but no security in it—no stability. Peace is a great thing, lad! If you were a few years older you’d have learnt that.”


    “If the price of peace is liberty—”


    “Oh, well, liberty, rights—don’t be fooled by words, Itale my lad. Words go down the wind, but peace is a God-given thing, that’s the truth.” Angele was sure he had convinced Itale: the ideas were so clear, the facts so patent. Itale, at least, gave up arguing. At table, Angele went off into a tirade against the new tax laws imposed by the grand ducal government which an hour ago he had been defending. He ended on a plaintive note; when he smiled and glanced around apologetically at his family he looked very like his sister, Itale’s mother. The young man looked at him with affection, forgiving him. He could not be blamed for his obtuseness; after all, he was nearly fifty.


    At midnight Itale was sitting at his table in his little attic bedroom. His legs were stretched out again, his chin was on his hands, he gazed over stacks of books and papers out the open window into the dark. There was the rustle and storm and hush of trees in the May night; the house was near the edge of town, and no other light was to be seen. Itale was thinking of the window of his room at home over Lake Malafrena, and of going to Krasnoy, and of the death of Stilicho, and of the blue smoky river beyond the willows, and of man’s life, all in one long unarticulable thought. The clap of two pair of military boots, Austrian issue, came down the street, stopped before the house, went on.


    “If it must be so, it must; it’s necessary,” he thought with apprehensive joy, as if these words summed up the rest, and listened to the soft storming of the leaves. His climb over the gate into the silent courts of the university and his interview with the rector now seemed to have occurred long ago, when he was a boy, before his acts had significance. It now seemed to him that when Frenin had said, “I’m thinking of Krasnoy,” he had expected the words: they had to be said; they were inevitable. He would not go back and live out his life on the farm in the mountains. That was no longer possible. It was so completely impossible that he was free to look back on that existence, which until today he had considered his unquestionable destiny, with longing and regret. He knew every foot of the earth there, every act of the day’s work, every soul, knew them as he knew his own body and soul. Of the city he knew nothing.


    “It must be, it must be,” he repeated with conviction, joy, and fear. The night wind, fresh with the smell of damp earth, touched his face and swayed the white curtains; the town slept on under the stars of spring.


    II


    His memories of childhood were fathomless, dateless, all place and no time, the rooms of the house, the floorboards of the stair-landing, the blue-ringed plates, the fetlocks of a great horse standing at the smithy, his mother’s hand, sunlight on gravel, rain on water, the outlines of the mountains against dark winter sky. Among these one time was distinct: that time when he stood in a room lit by four candles and saw a head on a pillow, the eye-sockets pits of black, the large nose shining like metal; and a hand lay on the quilt, but did not move, as if it were not a hand but a thing. A voice kept murmuring. It was his grandfather’s room but his grandfather was not there. His uncle Emanuel cast a huge shadow that moved behind him on the wall. There were huge shadows behind all the people, the servants, the priest, his mother, he was afraid to look at them. The murmur of the priest’s voice was like water lapping up the walls of the room, higher and higher, singing in his ears, closing over his head. He began to gasp for breath. In suffocating terror and shadow he had felt a big hand touch his back, and his father had said quietly, “You’re here too, Itale?” And his father had taken him out of the room, and told him to play in the garden a while. He had run out gladly, discovering that outside the room with the candles it was not even dark yet; the bronze of sunset still glowed on the lake, the humped back of the mountain called the Hunter over Evalde Gulf, the peak of San Larenz in the high west. His little sister Laura had been put to bed. He stayed out alone, and did not know what to do; he tried the door of the tool-house but it was locked; he picked up a reddish stone from the path, and whispered to himself, “I am Itale. I am seven years old,” but he was not sure of that, a child wandering in a garden in the broad, dark wind of night, lost, lost, until at last his aunt Perneta came scolding and reassuring and hurried him off to bed.


    Itale Sorde the grandfather had lived in France in the 1770’s and had travelled in Germany and Italy. His neighbors of Val Malafrena slowly forgave him, though some of them never trusted him again. At forty he had returned for good to the mountain province and to his wife, a cousin of his neighbor Count Guide Valtorskar; had improved his estate, rebuilt his house, and settled down. He sent his sons down to Solariy to college, but both returned without further divagation to the Montayna, the elder to run the estate and the younger to practice law, moderately, in Portacheyka. Their father never left the province after 1790. Over the years his correspondence with friends abroad had slowly decreased, then stopped; they were dead, or had forgotten him, or knew he had chosen to be forgotten. After his death in 1810 he was remembered for his good management of the estate, his stately kindness, his skill as a gardener.


    The family was of the domey, the commoner-landowner class, which had in 1740 been granted by royal charter equal privilege with the nobles of the kingdom. In the eastern provinces the domey still stood outside the old social hierarchy, insulated off; in the center and west they had, with the burghers of the capital and the major cities, become more closely engrafted with the nobility by intermarriage and custom than convention permitted most people to admit, more numerous and potentially more influential than most of them realised themselves. The magic of names still held minds enchanted. The domey did not have names; they had property.


    Dom Itale’s property was small, but excellent. The house he built there looked out on three sides on the lake; it stood on a blunt peninsula, the end of a ridge running down from the shoulder of San Givan Mountain. The steep ridge was crowned with native oak and pine, so that approached from the east the house seemed to stand alone in a somber sweep of lake and mountain. But coming from Portacheyka, the town in the pass, one saw the fields and orchards and vineyards, the peasants’ and leaseholders’ houses, the roofs of other manors. The estate raised wine-grapes, pears, apples, rye, oats, barley; it was a dramatic but not a harsh climate. In a hard winter snow lay deep on the forested peaks, but not for a century had the ice frozen across Malafrena or the other lakes that stretched in a chain among the mountains to the southwest border of the land. Summers were long and hot, and thunderstorms roamed growling among the mountains. The years there were marked by drought or great rain, vintage, weather, harvest, rather than by the events of history; whether King Stefan ruled, or Napoleon and Grand Duke Matiyas, or Francis and Grand Duchess Mariya, it did not much affect the weather and the earth, the flavor of the wine, the aspects of the hills. Landowners and their tenants lived wholly within the mountain barrier. Taxation they grumbled at; so had their great-grandfathers.


    Guide Sorde, the inheritor, was a tall man, spare, dark, with acute grey eyes, a good type of the taciturn peasants of his province, from whom his ancestors had risen to be landowners in the seventeenth century. His wife Eleonora, born in Solariy on the southern plain, was the only thing he had found outside the mountains that he prized; and he brought her back with him, for good.


    In 1803 their son was born, their daughter three years later. Eleonora taught both children until Itale was eleven and Laura eight; then, since education had got to be a tradition in the family and Guide upheld all traditions, a tutor began to come in thrice a week for Laura, and Itale went off to school with the Benedictines on Sinviya Mountain. He came home most weekends; it was only seven miles. On the Thursday half-holiday he would go down to Portacheyka, whose peaked slate roofs and climbing streets lay under the windows of the monastery school, and have dinner with his uncle Emanuel and aunt Perneta in their high wooden house with its garden full of marigolds, pansies, phlox, and its view over the dark streets and roofs out through the pass. The town was set in a deep gap between Sinviya and San Givan Mountains; framed by the towering slopes, Portacheyka’s northward view had a quality of vision. It seemed as if the shadowed pass could not lead out to those remote and sunlit, azure hills, but only look down on them as if on fabled kingdoms across the barrier of possibility. When clouds gathered full of thunder on the peaks and hung low over the town sometimes the view of the lower hills shone out in a clear, golden light, an enchanted realm, free of the storm and darkness of the heights. Idling by the Golden Lion Inn, Itale saw the coaches of the Southwestern Post set off for distant cities or come in, high, swaying, dusty, from their journeys; and Portacheyka, the gateway of his province, had for him the glamor of voyage and the unknown that a seaport has for one whose country’s border is the sea.


    Saturdays at noon he walked down through town, through the oak-wooded rolling foothills, past the slopes of vine and orchard, to the house by the lake. On the way he might meet and stop with his friends among the boys of the estate, or stop to talk with Bron, the master vintner, a long-legged, high-shouldered, grim old man. He would ask and tell Bron all the events of the week; if they were mishaps Bron would say, “So things go,” and if triumphs, “Aye, but work’s certain and reward’s seldom, Dom Itaal!”


    When he was seventeen the monks of Sinviya sent him home with blessings and a first prize in Latin, and he took up the life of a young landowner, learning how to prune grape stocks and drain fields and keep accounts, hunting, riding, sailing his boat Falkone on the lake. The work filled his time but not his mind. He got restless. An important person to his family, he felt he ought to do something important. Status was obligation: that he had learned from his father, who never talked about duty but, autocrat as he was, served it unquestioning. Seeking a worthy duty, the boy studied the lives of great men. Aeneas had been his first hero; his grandfather had told him the story, then he had read it in school in his father’s battered school copy; but he found others in the meager lot of books he could get: Pericles, Socrates, Hector, Hannibal. And there was Napoleon. His childhood passed under the Empire, his boyhood during the exile. Powerless on his island jail, defeated, humiliated, Napoleon loomed there like Prometheus in chains, while over the broad lands of Europe and Russia ruled little, apprehensive kings. . . . In his grandfather’s library the seventeen-year-old found so many French books that—enlisting his sister’s willing aid, for she was being tutored in French—he taught himself enough of the language to be able to read Voltaire. Laura tried to read with him, but found it boring and returned to her mother’s favorite, the New Heloise, at which Itale was relieved, since at the monastery school Voltaire had been mentioned only in the same breath with the devil, and he was not quite sure what he was getting into. There were some odd volumes of the Moniteur, the French government newspaper. He looked at one from 1809 and found it like all newspapers he had ever seen, the mouthpiece of authority. But later he chanced on a volume from the early 1790’s. He did not at first recall what had been going on in Paris then—the monks had not been strong on recent history. He came on speeches made by M. Danton, M. Mirabeau, M. Vergniaud; they were strangers to him. M. Robespierre he had heard mentioned, along with Voltaire and the devil. He turned back to the year 1790 and began reading steadily. He held the French Revolution in his hands. He read the speech in which the orator called down the wrath of the people on the house of privilege, the speech that ended, “Vivre libre, ou mourir!”—Live free, or die. The yellowed newsprint crumbled under the boy’s touch; his head was bowed over dry columns of words spoken to a lost Assembly by men thirty years dead. His hands felt cold as if a wind blew on him, his mouth was dry. He did not understand half what he read, knowing almost nothing of the events of the Revolution. It did not matter. He understood that there had been a Revolution.


    The speeches were full of rant, cant, and vanity; he saw that clearly enough. But they discussed freedom as a human need, like bread, like water. Itale got up and walked up and down the quiet little library, rubbing his head and staring blankly at the bookcases and the windows. Freedom was not a necessity, it was a danger, all the lawmakers of Europe had been saying that for a decade. Men were children, to be governed for their own good by the few who understood the science of government. What did this Frenchman Vergniaud mean by stating a choice—live free or die? Such choices are not offered to children. The words were spoken to men. They rang bald and strange; they lacked the logic of statements made in support of alliances, counter-alliances, censorships, repressions, reprisals. They were not reasonable.


    Itale came late to supper, looking feverish. He ate little, and soon escaped the house, going down to the lake-shore in the darkness. There he wrestled for some hours with the angel, the messenger, who had challenged him that afternoon. He put up the best fight he could, since, for a nineteen-year-old, he regarded clear thinking highly; but the angel won hands down. Itale could not refuse what he had wanted and sought: the ideal of human greatness, not embodied in a person, but to be won for all by the fellowship of mankind. So long as one soul is unjustly jailed I am not free, thought the new convert, and when he thought of these things his face took on a stern expression, and also a look of great happiness. His twentieth year was in fact the happiest of his life. When out of long silence he would reply to something his mother said, she would look at him wistfully and wonder where it was he had been, so far from her that his blue eyes looked at her with joyous recognition, as if he had been long away in distant lands.


    She knew before he did that he wanted to leave home; he found it out for himself that summer. When his work was done he would take his boat and run the shining lake, returning at dusk from the farthest, eastern gulfs where the river Kiassa sprang from the lake and started down the forested mountainsides to the foothills and the plains, to join the Molsen and run on with it. The stream he watched chasing down amongst the rocks would, by summer’s end, have reached the sea; while he stayed home by the still lake.


    Guide Sorde was told that it was natural for a young man to want to leave home for a while, but he saw it as mere folly. The estate had to be run; Itale was the heir; if one had a job, one did it. Eleonora, following her brother-in-law’s suggestion, had proposed sending Itale to college in Solariy. “After all, your father sent you and Emanuel there. . . .”


    “There’s nothing there he needs,” said Guide in his quiet voice in which one could hear, like a wind blowing from the edge of distant storm, a muted resonance of passion. “Waste of time.”


    Eleonora had never combatted her husband’s arrogant provincialism for herself, but for Itale she did. “He needs to meet people, to know the world a little. What good will he be to his peasants if he’s no more than another peasant?”


    Guide scowled. His wife was using his own weapons against him, more cleverly than he could use them; and he felt besides that he had not been able to express his real reason for not wanting to let the boy go. He was angry at his family for not understanding this motive which he did not understand himself, and offended because he knew he must give in. Everybody knew he would give in, even Itale. Only Eleonora had the tact to argue with him.


    So in September of 1822 Itale set off on the Montayna Diligence, northward through the pass and down. Looking back he saw the mountains above long rising ranges of foothills, their familiar outlines changed and changing. San Givan had revealed a great falling eastern slope, Sinviya a second peak; the faint blue outline beyond them, the farthest away, must be the Hunter. As it sank out of sight Itale got out his watch, his grandfather’s silver watch, and checked the hour: nine-twenty of the morning. Here on the descending road, now bending towards the southeast, it was sunny, crickets sang in the mown fields, harvesters were at work, the villages were deserted, tranquil in the sunlight. It was the golden land he had seen from beneath the stormclouds of Portacheyka. They passed through towns and villages whose names he knew from hearsay, Vermare, Chaga, Bara; with the last they left the Montayna Province, and at Erreme he changed to the Sudana Post. He looked intently at the people, the houses, the chickens and pigs, as the Sudana Post rolled along, to see what pigs, chickens, houses, people looked like, down here.


    In Solariy all things were sleepy. Livestock was fat, houses drowsed in their overgrown gardens full of roses, even the Molsen slept as it flowed through Solariy under the old bridge, sending its wide flood slow and shining to the south. The students of the university did not work hard, they did not duel, they drank a lot of wine and fell in love continually, and the girls of Solariy fell in love with them. In his second year Itale, abandoned by a faithless baker’s daughter, renounced love violently and turned to politics. He became a leader in the student society, Amiktiya. The government was barely tolerant of Amiktiya; all such student groups had been outlawed in the Germanies; a society at the University of Wilno so aggravated the Tsar of All the Russias that in 1824 he disbanded it, exiled the boys that led it, and put the entire student body and faculty under permanent surveillance. It was this sort of thing that gave Amiktiya its spice. They drank a lot of wine and sang the society’s forbidden anthem, “Beyond this darkness is the light, O Liberty, of thine eternal day.” They passed contraband books around, discussed the revolutions of France, Naples, Piedmont, Spain, Greece, talked of constitutional monarchy, equality before the law, popular education, a free press, all without any clear idea of what they were getting at, where it all led. They were not supposed to talk, so they talked. So the third year passed and Itale thought himself ready to go home for good, until he found himself half-shod and laughing in the dark court of the chapel, until he heard Frenin saying in the sunlight over the river, “I’m thinking of Krasnoy.”


    III


    Emanuel Sorde cleared his throat and remarked with the carelessness suitable to an explosive topic, “The newspaper’s quite a puzzle this week. I wonder if the Estates aren’t going to be convened after all.”


    “The National Assembly? Why, dear me, they haven’t met, have they, since King Stefan died.”


    “Thirty years ago, that’s right.”


    “How extraordinary.”


    “It’s only my guess, count. The Courier-Mercury says nothing; therefore one suspects something.”


    “Yes.” Count Orlant Valtorskar sighed. “My wife used to have me subscribe to the Aisnar Mercury. It seemed to have more facts in it. Whatever became of it?”


    “It was banned so long that its owners went bankrupt,” Itale answered, with heat. “Since then we’ve had no free press at all.”


    “What if the Estates do meet?” said Guide in his slow, hard, quiet voice. “They’ll talk and do nothing, as in ’96.”


    “Talk!” said his son, setting down a wine glass, which continued to ring for a moment. “It’s not unimportant that—” But Emanuel interrupted him: “They might be able to do something about taxation, at least. The Hungarian Diet’s won back control over their taxes from Vienna.”


    “What if they did? Taxes won’t be decreased. Taxes are never decreased.”


    “The money wouldn’t go to support a foreign police force, at any rate,” said Itale.


    “What’s that to us up here?”


    Count Orlant’s long face, smooth and rosy for his years, wore a look of increasingly bewildered compunction as the discussion went on. He felt sorry for them all, emperors, policemen, tax-collectors, poor fellows caught in the webs and pressures of material affairs, but he knew something more than sympathy was expected of him, and he was never able to meet their expectations. There was Guide looking black, Emanuel watchful, Itale getting hotter and hotter and finally bursting out as usual, “A time will come—!” But to Count Orlant’s relief Guide spoke setting the challenge aside: “Let’s go out to the terrace.”


    They joined the women on the railed and paved garden old Itale had built out over the lake under the south windows of the house. It was a warm evening, the last of July. The water reflected the pale blue sky evenly except where, in the large shadows of the mountains, it lay translucent brown. Far off east where the lake was hidden by slopes descending sheer into it a little haze veiled the water. In the west sunset still colored the sky behind San Larenz Mountain and lighted the air so that the white flagstones of the terrace, the white nicotiana flowering in pots, the white dress Laura wore, the blue surface of the lake all were faintly flushed with rose, fading now as the sky paled and Vega overhead sent its first broken radiance down through the quiet air. The cypress at the outer corner of the terrace stood black against luminous water and sky, and the air bore a scent of dusk, dampness, flowers, and the murmur of women’s voices.


    “Oh, Lord, Lord, what a wonder of an evening!” sighed Count Orlant, in a strong provincial accent, submissively, as if asking what he had ever done to merit so fine an evening. He stood looking out over the lake, his long face serene. Eleonora and her sister-in-law were going through the week’s gossip, which they exchanged weekly, Eleonora reporting on Val Malafrena and Perneta covering events in Portacheyka; the two girls, Piera Valtorskar and Laura, were talking together, and lowered their voices when the men came out. “He can’t dance at all,” Laura was saying.


    “The hair on the back of his neck looks like moss on a stump,” said Piera, dreamily, with complete lack of feeling. She was sixteen years old. Her face, like her father’s, was long and naturally serene. She was small, and her figure and hands were still childishly plump.


    “If only there was somebody new. . . . For a real ball. . . .”


    Piera asked with sudden interest, “Do you think they’ll have vanilla ices?”


    Perneta meantime had interrupted a complex narration to ask her husband, “Emanuel, isn’t Alitsia Verachoy Alexander Sorentay’s second cousin?”


    “No doubt. She’s related to everybody in the Montayna.”


    “Then it was his mother who married a man from Val Altesma named Berchoy in 1816, wasn’t it?”


    “Whose mother?”


    “Alitsia’s husband’s.”


    “But Perneta dear,” said Eleonora, “Givan Verachoy died in 1820, so how could his wife have remarried in 1816?”


    “Su, su, su,” Emanuel went, and escaped, while Perneta said, “But Rosa Berchoy is Alitsia’s mother-in-law, don’t you see,” and Eleonora cried, “Oh, it’s Edmund Sorentay you mean, not Alexander, and it was her father that died in 1820!”


    Guide’s brother, though six years younger than he, was greyer; his face was more mobile, less strongly marked. Unambitious and sociable, he had chosen to live in town and practice the law, in which he had taken his degree at Solariy. He had twice refused a judgeship, never explaining his refusal, which most people ascribed to indolence. He was in fact indolent and inclined to irony, describing himself both as a superfluous man and a supremely fortunate one. He deferred to his brother; he would counsel him, but unwillingly. A lawyer’s experience of humanity had rubbed him down, worn the corners off him, while Guide, like a flint never dislodged from its cliff above the torrent, had kept every angle and salience of his character intact. Emanuel and Perneta had had one child, stillborn. She, an active woman of a temperament dryer and more sardonic than his own, made no comment when he described himself as supremely fortunate; nor did she ever meddle in the upbringing of her niece and nephew; but they were her sunlight, her pride, her fortune.


    Itale joined his uncle at the balustrade under the cypress. The young man’s face was still flushed, his hair and cravat were rather wild. “You saw in the Courier-Mercury that the Provincial Diet of the Polana is meeting? That’s the man I was talking about, Stefan Oragon.”


    “I remember. So he’ll be a deputy, if the Assembly meets.”


    “Yes; he’s what we need; a Danton, a man who can speak for the people.”


    “Do the people want to be spoken for?”


    This was not the kind of question the members of Amiktiya had asked one another.


    “And which people?” Emanuel pursued his advantage. “Our class is scarcely ‘the people’— The merchants? The peasants here? The city rabble? Don’t the different classes have rather different demands?—”


    “Not ultimately,” Itale said, thinking as he spoke. “The ignorance of the uneducated limits the usefulness of education in those who receive it; you can’t limit the light. You can’t build equity on any foundation but equality—for four thousand years that has been proved over and over again—”


    “Proved?” Emanuel demanded, and they were off, full gallop. Their discussions always started thus with Emanuel in control, pressing Itale to defend his opinions, and always ended with Itale out of control, prevailing through sheer goodnatured eloquent conviction. Then Emanuel would reorganise, provoke another defense, all the while persuaded that he did so to keep his nephew from second-hand thinking, and not because he, too, craved to hear and speak the words, our country, our rights, our freedom.


    Itale’s mother called to him to fetch Perneta’s shawl which she had left in the gig. When he returned sunset was over, the breeze smelled of night. Sky, mountains, lake lay drowned in a deep obscurity of blue, shot through with luminous mists. Laura’s white gown showed against the shrubbery with the same misty gleam. “You look like Lot’s wife,” her brother said.


    “The stickpin’s coming out of your tie,” she retorted.


    “You can’t see it in the dark.”


    “I don’t need to. Your tie has never been the same since you read Byron.”


    Laura was tall like her brother, thin, with strong, delicate wrists and hands. She loved her brother passionately, but was ruled by an imperative honesty of heart. When Itale’s mother brought him down out of the clouds she scarcely knew it and never intended it; his sister, admiring and intolerant, always did. She wanted him to be himself, considering him, in himself, superior to all fashions, opinions, authorities. A very gentle, unassuming girl of nineteen, she was in this as intransigent as her father. Itale valued her opinion of him above any other, but at this point he was merely mortified, because Piera Valtorskar was listening; having rapidly adjusted his necktie, he said with pedantry, “I have no idea why you think I should want to imitate Lord Byron in any way, except perhaps his death. He died a hero, no doubt of that. But the poetry is trivial.”


    “But last summer you made me read that whole book about Manfred! And you were quoting him today—Thy something or other wings are something—”


    “‘Thy wings of storm are held at rest,’ that’s not Byron, that’s Estenskar! You mean you haven’t read the Odes?”


    “No,” said Laura, meekly.


    “I have,” said Piera.


    “Then you know the difference, at least!”


    “But I haven’t read the translation of Lord Byron. I think papa hid it.” Piera spoke very softly.


    “That’s all right, at least you’ve read Estenskar. You liked it, didn’t you? That was ‘The Eagle’—and it ends,


    But, caged, thou seest the centuries


    Open before thee, like the open sky.—


    Ah, really, that’s magnificent!”


    “But who is it about?” Laura inquired in honest confusion. “Napoleon!” her brother thundered, outraged. “Oh, dear, Napoleon again,” said their mother. “Itale, dear, will you fetch my shawl, too? it’s in the hall, or call Kass, but I expect he’s having his dinner now.”


    Itale brought her shawl and then hesitated, standing by her chair, as to where to go next. He ought to return to his uncle at the balustrade and have a sensible, manly conversation, thus proving to Piera and himself that it was only because she was so childish that he appeared to be childish when he was with her. But he wanted to stay and talk with the two girls.


    His mother looked up at him. “When ever did you grow so tall?” she asked in a puzzled, musing tone. Light from the house windows shone on her upturned face. When she smiled her under lip hid beneath the top one, and this gave her a demure, sly look that was perfectly charming. Itale laughed for no reason, looking down at her, and she laughed at him because he looked so tall and because he was laughing.


    Count Orlant had wandered over and asked, touching his daughter’s hair, “You’re not cold, contesina?”


    “No, papa. It’s lovely out here.”


    “I suppose we should be going in,” Eleonora said comfortably, not moving.


    “What’s become of the picnic in the pine forest?” asked Perneta. “We’ve been promised it all summer.”


    “Oh, I forgot to say, if we want we can go tomorrow, the weather will hold, won’t it, dear?”


    “Likely,” said Guide, who sat near her, sunk in his own thoughts. He did not like the discussions his son and his brother carried on at his table. He treated all political discussions with contempt. Some of his fellow landowners, who had no interest in events outside the province but were engrossed in local politics, returned the contempt: “Sorde never looks up from his plough.” Others said with envy, “Sorde’s one of the old breed, the independent gentry,” comparing him to their fathers and grandfathers for whom, as usual, life had been so much simpler. But Guide knew well enough that his father had not been one of the “old breed.” He remembered the letters that had used to come from Paris, Prague, Vienna, the guests from Krasnoy and Aisnar, the discussions at table and in the library. Yet old Itale had taken no part in local politics and had never explained his own ideas except in direct answer to a question. There had been more to his silence and self-exile on the estate than natural tolerance and reserve; it had been a choice, scrupulously kept, made perhaps in self-knowledge, perhaps in the bitterness of defeat: Guide did not know. The child of that choice, he had never questioned it. Now for the first time he was forced to, and to consider that what he had considered his destiny was also, perhaps, an unacknowledged, unexamined choice. So he sat somber in the mild summer dusk. His son’s voice, the girl’s voices flowed past him like water. Perneta sat silent; Count Orlant and Eleonora had joined Emanuel at the terrace edge; the three young people were talking softly.


    “It’s going to sound very silly, but you know, I have an idea about that,” Laura was saying. “I don’t believe you have to die, if you don’t want to. I mean, I know you do, and still . . . I can’t believe people would die if they really, absolutely wanted not to.” She smiled; her smile was like her mother’s. “I told you it was silly.”


    “No, I’ve thought the same thing,” said Itale. He found it extraordinary, mysterious, that he and his sister had had the same thought. He admired Laura: she had had the courage to speak it, he had not. “I can’t find the reason for dying, the need. People simply get tired, give in, isn’t that it?”


    “Yes. Death comes from outside, a disease, or a whack on the head, something from outside, not oneself.”


    “Exactly. And if one were really oneself, one would say, ‘No, sorry, I’m busy, come back later when I’ve done everything I have to do!’” All three of them laughed, and Laura said, “And that would be never. How could you ever get everything done?”


    “You certainly can’t in seventy years. It’s ridiculous. If I had seven hundred, I’d spend the first century thinking—finishing thoughts I never have time to finish. After that I could do things properly, instead of rushing in and making a mess every time.”


    “What would you do?” Piera asked.


    “Well, one century for travelling. Europe—the Americas—China—”


    “I’d go somewhere where no one knew me at all,” said Laura. “It wouldn’t have to be that far, Val Altesma would do. I’d like to live where no one knew me, and I didn’t know anyone. And I think I’d like to travel too; I should like to see Paris; and the volcanoes in Iceland.”


    “I’d stay here,” said Piera. “I’d buy up all the land around the lake, except yours, and make the disagreeable people move away. I shall have an enormous family. Fifteen at least. On July thirty-first every year they’ll all come home from wherever they were and we’ll have a great, enormous party on the lake, with boats.”


    “I’ll bring fireworks from China for it.”


    “I’ll bring volcanoes from Iceland,” said Laura, and again they all laughed.


    “What would you do with three wishes?” Piera asked.


    “Three hundred more,” Laura said.


    “Not allowed. It’s always three.”


    “Well, I don’t know, what would you wish, Itale?”


    “A decent-sized nose,” he said gravely, after consideration. “One that people didn’t take notice of. And I’d like to be at King Matiyas’s coronation.”


    “That’s two. What else?”


    “Oh, nothing else, that’s enough,” Itale said with his quick, broad smile. “I’ll give the third one to Piera, I expect she has a use for it.”


    “No, three’s plenty,” Piera said; but she would not tell what her three wishes were.


    “All right,” Laura said, “I’ll use up Itale’s spare wish. I’d wish we find out we were right, and all live seven hundred years.”


    “And come back summers for Piera’s party on the lake,” Itale added.


    “Can you make any sense of it, Perneta?” Eleonora inquired.


    “I never listen to them, Lele,” Perneta answered in her dry contralto. “It’s no use.”


    “It’s just as sensible as all that about whose mother-in-law is somebody else’s stepsister’s uncle!” Laura retorted.


    “And far more profound,” said her brother.


    “Oh, but the Sorentays’ ball, we haven’t even decided on Piera’s dress, and when is it to be, the twentieth?”


    “The twenty-second,” both girls replied. The conversation turned with vigor to the subject of taffeta, organdie, swiss; empire, tuckered, à la grecque; “White swiss with tiny green dots, with a dropped tucker, I can show you the very thing in Perneta’s book.”


    “But mama, that’s ancient, that book’s from 1820!”


    “My dear, if we did dress in fashion up here, who would know it?” Eleonora inquired without asperity. She had been a beautiful and admired girl in Solariy, but had left all that behind her, “down there,” without a backward glance, when she married Guide Sorde. “I think the dropped tucker is an uncommonly pretty style. Do you like the idea, Piera?”


    Piera’s mother had died, fourteen years ago, in an epidemic of the cholera that had also taken the Sordes’ last-born, a baby girl. There were nurses and servants aplenty in Count Orlant’s house, an ancient great-aunt, cousins, relatives of the mother; but Eleonora had taken charge of the two-year-old Piera at once, firmly, as if by right. Count Orlant, grieving, anxious, grateful, soon dared not decide anything concerning his daughter without consulting Eleonora: who in turn had never presumed on the privilege of affection. She and Piera loved each other more easily, more cheerfully, than any mother and daughter could do however good their disposition.


    Piera, often slow to speak, was considering Eleonora’s question. “Yes,” she said, and thought a little longer. “I’d like a grey silk gown with panels,” she said, “like that plate for the Court Ball dress. And a gold scarf. And silk shoes with gold roses.”


    “Oh dear,” said Eleonora.


    Count Orlant was listening. He had never got over a deep wonder at the fact that Piera, this young person who was so candid yet so secret, and in whom he glimpsed when he least expected it a whole, strange world of ideas, knowledge, and emotions which could not possibly have had time in sixteen years to grow so deep and strong, that this extraordinary child on the point of becoming a woman was, when you came right down to it, his daughter. Though he relied upon her love he was often afraid of her. Just now the wonder returned: he saw her vision, a royal maiden in silk and cloth of gold. “That sounds very charming,” he said, timidly proffering his opinion to the wise ladies. They sighed, hedged. “Perhaps a gold scarf with a white organdie?” Eleonora went on trying to soften the veto. The Valtorskars, father and daughter, accepted the judgment without question, listened to further suggestions, and, listening, continued to entertain their tacit and contented vision of magnificence.


    Guide and Emanuel were talking about hunting; it was Itale that now sat unheeding, tense with his thoughts. Down in Solariy he had planned to tell his family his decision on the night he came home: he must not deceive them by letting them think him home to stay. He had been home three weeks now and had said nothing. Coming in at the Golden Lion in Portacheyka, as he swung down off the coach, he had seen his father turn to look for him. On Guide’s face had been the rare smile that made him look a different man, awkward, vulnerable. At the memory of it Itale clenched his hands in unavailing protest. It was unjust of his father to be so happy, to show his happiness, at his return! How could a man act like a man, say what he had to say and do what he had to do, when all these unspoken feelings clung and clustered round him holding him back, tying him down? And not only other people’s feelings—he would admit—but his own; all the happiness of his boyhood around him once again, unchanged, all his own love and loyalty, all his old expectations of life. The earth itself held him here more strongly than any other bond, the red dirt of the vineyards, the long great lines of the mountains against the sky. How could he leave all that? The scythe he was honing or the boat tiller or the book in his hand would be forgotten for a moment and he would look unseeing out over Malafrena, with a heaviness in him. It was as if a spell was laid upon him here, which he could not break, though he might escape from it; a charm that grew strongest in certain hours, certain conversations—he did not want to think about it. That was the rankest injustice, the least tolerable. He could not fall in love here, with a mere child; there was no question of it, of childish flirtations and unspoken understandings: he had outgrown all that. It was love he wanted, adult love, and he would find it in Krasnoy; for he had to go to Krasnoy. Beneath all his hesitations the same voice said to him, resolutely and mournfully, “It’s necessary, it must be.”


    “Did you track her, Itale?” Emanuel was talking of the she-wolf that had been seen up on San Larenz.


    “No luck,” he answered; and as he spoke he decided that he must speak to his father.


    He prepared himself for the ordeal by speaking to his uncle, that night after the others had gone indoors. Emanuel seemed not unprepared for the revelation. After he had determined Itale’s plans—which consisted of going to Krasnoy and finding how he could be useful to the patriotic cause, if in fact there was one—and after he had watched and listened to his nephew a while, he made his meditative noise: “Su, su, su . . . It all sounds vague, it all sounds dangerous, to me; but lawyers always see the wrong side of things. . . . I don’t know how Guide will see it. I’m afraid it will make no sense whatever to him, in any terms.”


    “Surely he’ll understand me, if he’ll listen to me.”


    “He won’t. He’s counted on you these twenty years to work with him. Grudged you the three years in the south. Now this? . . . Besides, I don’t know that you understand what you’re doing yourself. You aren’t following reason, as well as I can see. Like him, you act from passion, a passion for moral clarity, the will to be yourself. And now your will is different from his, radically different. You think you’re going to discuss that difference reasonably and come to an agreement? I doubt it!”


    “But father believes in duty, in serving principle. Of course in a way I’d rather stay here—I wish I could stay here—but this is more important than any private wish, and I know he could understand that. I can’t stay here until I’m free to stay here.”


    “And you’re to win that freedom by serving other men’s needs?”


    “I won’t win it,” the young man said. “Freedom consists in doing what you can do best, your work, what you have to do, doesn’t it? It’s nothing you have or keep. It is action, it is life itself. But how can you live in the prison of others’ servitude? I can’t live for myself until everyone is free to do so!”


    “Until the Kingdom is come,” Emanuel murmured ironically, with pain. The lake stretched away from them very dark, very still, barely a noise of water lapping the foundation of the terrace or the pilings of the boat house. Eastward, the bulks and slopes of the mountains stood outlined against a dim whiteness in the sky, moonrise; westward was only darkness and the stars.


    IV


    “Hoy-y!”


    The cry re-echoed off the water that lay sparkling between the boats, but there was no answering call, and the sharp brown sail ahead of them skimmed on unheeding.


    “Call again, Count Orlant.”


    “They’re too far away,” said Perneta.


    “Oh dear, and we’ll never catch Falkone. Itale! Dear!”


    “They’re turning,” said Count Orlant, frowning into the dazzle. The brown sail, sharp as a hawk’s wing, was coming round. Count Orlant brought Mazeppa into the wind, heading her home; soon the smaller boat had come up even with her and they heard the boatsman’s hail, “Hoy there!”


    “Hoy!” Eleonora hailed gallantly, sounding like a quail. “Clouds— It’s going to storm— We ought to start home!”


    “What’s up?”


    “Home!” Perneta contributed, waving at the passing thunderclouds over San Larenz.


    “Laura wants to hunt mushrooms at Evalde!”


    “Oh dear, I can’t shout any more—do tell them it’ll take too long to hunt mushrooms, and I already have two barrels down in pickle— It’s going to ra-ain! Oh dear.” They heard laughter in Falkone, and presently Emanuel’s voice: “Mushrooms?”


    “No mushrooms!”


    “Evalde?” called Itale, standing up in the prow.


    “Home!” Count Orlant roared in an unexpected mountaineer’s bellow. The figure in the prow of the other boat made a sweeping bow, executed a few dance steps, and vanished. “He fell in!” Eleonora cried, but Falkone sailed on past them, Itale and Laura now performing a minuet in the stern. By the time Mazeppa lumbered in, Emanuel and the three young people were already up on the terrace. Itale was expounding something; his blue eyes shone in his wind-flushed face. Eleonora and Perneta both looked at him with unqualified admiration, and Perneta said, “Itale, what on earth did you do with your hat?”


    “It’s all wet,” Eleonora said, “you did fall overboard!”


    Piera suddenly laughed, a loud irrepressible laugh. “He was fishing with it. . . .”


    “With his hat?”


    “With his hat,” said Emanuel. “And two young ladies holding a leg apiece and shrieking ‘Don’t kick! Don’t kick!’”


    “But what for?”


    “My ferns.”


    “Piera dropped her ferns overboard when the boom came round, so I tried to get them back, and what’s become of the dipper I keep in Falkone?” He and the girls were red with laughter.


    “I begged you to let me come in Mazeppa,” Emanuel said.


    “And Laura, you never once put up your parasol, now you’ll be freckled till Michaelmas.”


    “Freckles,” said Count Orlant, thoughtfully. “I remember when this contesina was small and running about all day, I once counted eighteen freckles on her nose alone. Rather becoming, I thought.”


    “And a fine thing if they go to the Sorentays’ ball looking like a pair of old saddles,” said Eleonora. “You needn’t look so pleased with yourselves, you two!”


    Itale looked at Piera as she stood half turned from him and saw on the slender nape of her neck, below the wind-loosened chignon, three freckles: a pleasant sight.


    “And he never even got the ferns,” said Laura.


    “Because neither of you would hold on, and I couldn’t keep my face out of the water!”


    “He bubbled,” Piera said, and they all began laughing again. “Oh, he lay there on the water waving his arms and b-bubbling, oh—” When they recovered, Eleonora said, wiping her eyes, “How can you all be so silly? Is Guide still out? he probably hasn’t even looked up at the sky. . . .”


    “Dear lady,” said Emanuel, taking his sister-in-law by the waist. “Twenty-seven years in Val Malafrena and she still isn’t used to thunderstorms!”


    “Twenty-eight years, dear, but I do think it’s a shame all the best days up here end in a lot of pouring and growling and Guide coming in dripping on the floor.” She and Emanuel rocked back and forth on their heels, beaming at the others. There was a long roll of thunder from San Larenz, and one of them said, “Here it comes.” The thunderheads had massed, grey and grey-black, boiling over the mountain and reaching across the lake. “In with us!” said Eleonora.


    Guide was standing at the south windows of the living room. Itale stopped short in the hall, looking at that black figure against the stormy light.


    “Tea. Eva!” cried Eleonora, vanishing kitchenward.


    “A beautiful day,” said Count Orlant, sitting down with relief in one of the heavy old oaken armchairs. “Wish you’d been with us, Sorde.”


    “I should be having some days free soon. I’d like you to try the hawk old Rika’s trained.”


    Falconry was still a common sport in Montayna. Guide and his son were adepts, Emanuel took pleasure in it, and Count Orlant could appreciate the points of a hawk, though in his heart there was no great desire to go trotting about the countryside carrying on his wrist a big bird before whose cruel, straight stare he felt, somehow, inferior.


    “I wish you’d take her out, Itale,” Guide was saying. “She should fly. I haven’t had the time, working with Starey.”


    “I will.”


    He answered the simple request with a bad conscience, and was relieved when his mother interrupted the falconers’ talk, coming in with Eva the cook and tea. The pleasure of the day was gone; as soon as he had entered the house he could think of nothing but that he must speak to his father tonight. He sat, his damp hat between his knees, like an awkward guest who could neither talk nor take his leave. The women were aware of his attitude. His mother was profoundly uneasy, knowing there was some change in him. Laura thought he was up on his pedestal showing off again; she did not know why he would no longer talk to her about what preoccupied him, and felt cheated and resentful. Perneta thought him very funny and very handsome as he sat there nursing his weed-looped hat; she never worried about him, convinced no harm could come to a boy like that. As for Piera, who sat next to him on the couch, she was aware of his silence, of the blue coat he wore, of the slight rough darkness of his cheek, of his presence, the weight and reality of his being there. She went no further. Had he spoken she would have listened to his voice as part of that inexplicable presence; he was silent; she listened to his silence. She thought she had never been so happy as she was right now, and most likely would never be so happy again, since things would not be exactly the same again. Her joy, undulled by age and habit, unfounded on any permanence of life, knew its own defenselessness. She dared not handle it, clear and fragile as glass. If she felt the trouble in him it was as part of her own trouble and joy, part of the strangeness of him and of their sitting side by side on the couch drinking tea.


    Count Orlant returned from prowling in the library: “That must be an interesting botanical collection your father made, Sorde. I wish he’d gone in for astronomy. I suppose no one much reads those?”


    “Itale’s in there a good deal, but not for botany,” said Laura, hoping for a rise out of her brother.


    “I remember your grandfather teaching you the Latin names of the plants, out in the garden; I don’t suppose you remember that.”


    “At least Itale can still tell me the name of that exotic under the east windows, that I always forget again immediately, what is it?” Eleonora said.


    “Mandevilia suaveolens,” said her son.


    Brief hard rain whitened the windows. The thunder had passed over; low sun shone gold on the lake through rain.


    “Oh, do you know, these summer storms are pleasant, they lighten the air. . . .”


    “I get much the best results with my telescope after a thundershower,” Count Orlant confirmed. As Emanuel asked him something about his astronomy, Itale said to Piera, without knowing he was going to say anything, “Have you read Estenskar’s other books?”


    “Just the Odes.”


    “May I lend you The Torrents of Karesha? It’s very fine.”


    “If— If papa approves.”


    Itale frowned. “Estenskar is a great poet. And a noble mind. It’s fear that bans his works, but mere sloth that accepts the ban. You should insist on a freedom which is your obligation.”


    The sixteen-year-old countess, with her round arms, her curly hair and slender, freckled neck, glanced at her father, who was saying, “But if a comet came very close to the earth there’s no telling . . .” and looked at Itale, and said, “I will.” After a moment she added, “Papa likes to know what I read, and I think he did hide Lord Byron, but I don’t think he’d really stop me from reading anything. . . .”


    “I didn’t mean him exactly, that is, not personally. But let me lend you the book, Piera. I really think you’ll find it very fine.” He ended up pleading. The matter, like everything that came up that day, seemed of illimitable importance.


    “I’d like to read it very much, Itale.”


    He started up to bring the book from his room.


    “But you’ll be over Tuesday night, and if you brought it then, papa wouldn’t notice me carrying it home and ask.”


    He hesitated. “I’d better give it to you now.”


    She was puzzled, but took the book he brought her and did not ask what could keep him from coming to Valtorsa on Tuesday night.


    Everyone went out together to leave or say goodbye; as they went down the path there was a gust of perfume about them in the rainwashed evening air. Piera asked, “Is that the mandevilia . . . ?”


    “Suaveolens,” said Itale, walking beside her, and smiled.


    


    As Emanuel and Perneta were driving up to Portacheyka, fields and wooded hills flowing past them molasses-dark in the late evening, the clop of the horse’s hooves dull on the dust-thick road, the wife broke a long silence between them. “Our nephew’s come home moody.”


    “Mh,” said the husband.


    “Owl.”


    “What?”


    “Owl flew over.”


    “Mh.”


    “He and Piera. . . .”


    “Girl’s sixteen.”


    “I was nine the first time I saw you.”


    “You’re not saying they’re in love.”


    “Certainly not. But you never think anyone’s in love.”


    “Don’t know what the word means.”


    “Mh,” said Perneta in her turn.


    “No, I suppose I do. I’ve seen it once. Guide, in ’97. He was a new man in a new world, that year. So they married. How long did it last? Eight months, ten months? Most people never have that much. A few hours, if anything. Rubbish.”


    “Funny old man,” said his wife, in one of her rare and always private impulses of tenderness. “But all the same, Piera and Itale. . . .”


    “Of course. It’s the most natural thing in the world. But Itale’s leaving.”


    “Leaving?”


    “Going to Krasnoy.”


    The horse snorted several times, starting the pull up towards the pass.


    “Why?”


    “He wants to work for a patriot group.”


    “Politics? But there are offices here to be had.”


    “Our provincial politics are a swindling game played by idle landowners and professional incompetents.”


    “Well, but—” Perneta meant that was what all politics meant to her, and Emanuel understood her.


    “Itale’s not looking for an office, but for a revolution.”


    “Do you mean,” she asked after pondering, “the Soven­s­karists—those people? Like that writer in Aisnar that was put in jail?”


    “Yes. They’re not common criminals, you know. They’re mostly gentlemen and parish priests, I believe. Decent men all over Europe are involved in this sort of thing. I don’t know. I don’t know anything about it,” Emanuel said violently, and shook the patient horse’s reins.


    “Does Guide know?”


    “Do you remember when Giulian’s flourmill blew up?”


    She stared; then nodded. “When did Itale tell you?”


    “Last night.”


    “Did you encourage him?”


    “I? I, at fifty, encourage a boy of twenty-two to go remake the world? Su!”


    “This will break Eleonora’s heart.”


    “No, it won’t. I know you women. The more risks he runs, the more follies he commits, the prouder you’ll be of him. But Guide! The boy is Guide’s future— To see that at risk, astray—”


    “The boy is his own future,” Perneta said very gravely. “But how much risk is there in this?”


    “I don’t know. I don’t want to think about it. I think too much about risks, about people’s feelings, all that— That’s why I’m a provincial lawyer and have never done anything that took courage. And never will, because I’m too old now to upset the housekeeping. I wish that once, only once, when I was twenty-two, I’d said to someone as Itale said to me, ‘This is important.’ Even if it wasn’t important, even if it wasn’t true!”


    Perneta put her large, hard hand over his, lightly. She said nothing. They drove on through the warm night to Portacheyka that lay, a few scattered lights, below them in the pass.


    At about the same time Itale, standing at the foot of the stairs, was saying, “This is rather important, father.”


    “Very well. Come into the library.”


    In the high-windowed room starlight defined the shadows of leaves against the glass. Guide lit a lamp and sat down at the table in his carved, age-black chair, a relic of the furniture of the house built by his great-grandfather in 1682 and rebuilt by his father a century later. The table was piled with documents, some written in the fine cursive of law clerks dead two hundred years: the deeds and titles, contracts and records, of the Sorde estate. Most of them concerned rents and settlements with the tenant farmers or deeds and rights to new properties acquired over the generations. That stack of Latin documents, Itale had thought when he saw Guide and Emanuel at work on them, was the Middle Ages: obscure, intricate, muddled, arid, beneath the aridity pungent with life and overwhelming in its concreteness, its multifarious humanity, its absorption in the land, the land worked, owned, rented, leased, the land that made a peasant bound and a landowner free, the land source, root, subject and end of life. Over against all that was a sheaf of printed papers to which Emanuel would refer, scowling: The Tax Laws of 1825, concise, precise, impersonal, modern, and when applied to the Middle Ages in the form of those piled-up records, meaningless. Here was the Family and the Land; here was the State and Uniformity; and nothing existed to bridge the gulf between, no revolution, no representation, no reforms, nothing.


    At Itale’s end of the long table, not yet swamped by documents, lay only a copy of Rousseau’s Social Contract, which he had been rereading. He picked it up and turned it round absently in his hands as he spoke.


    “Since Austria wants us to use Napoleonic tax methods, it would help if she’d let us carry out the reorganisation the French began here, wouldn’t it?”


    “It would. If they must have money why don’t they come to me for it, do they think the peasants can raise cash? City men. . . .”


    Guide’s face stood out heavily shadowed against the obscurity of the book-lined walls. It was a hard, strong face, but what impressed Itale in it as a quality he had never consciously seen in it before was its repose. That was not temperament, for Guide’s temper was not reposeful; it was character, the gift of time, and not only the years of Guide’s own life but the time he had accepted and made his own, the seasons and the generations past. Itale could see in his father’s face that he was tired tonight, that he wished Itale would say what he had to say and at the same time dreaded what he might say; all that was plain enough. But beneath it was the passive, unmoved repose, the will underlying all personal emotion; his inheritance.


    “I want to try to explain some—a change in my thinking, father.”


    “I’m aware that we disagree on certain matters. Times change. We needn’t think alike on everything. Time spent discussing opinions is time wasted.”


    “Some ideas are more than opinions. To hold them is to serve them.”


    “That may be. But I have no wish to argue, Itale.”


    “Nor have I.” The Social Contract came down on the table with a light thump, raising dust from the old papers and parchments. “None at all. But I wish to act by my principles, as you do by yours.”


    “Your mind is your own. Your time is your own. So long as you do your work here, and you do; you always have done.”


    “My work’s not here.”


    Guide raised his head at that. He said nothing.


    “I have to go to Krasnoy.”


    “You have to do nothing of the sort.”


    “I’m trying to explain—”


    “I don’t want explanations.”


    “If you won’t listen there’s no use my trying to speak.” Itale stood up. So did Guide: “Stay here,” he said. He walked down the room and back, down it and back a second time. He sat down again in the carved chair. Itale remained standing by the table. Behind the house in the valley a sleepy cock crowed; old Eva was singing in the kitchen, rooms away.


    “You want to go to Krasnoy.”


    Itale nodded.


    “Do you expect to take money from the estate to support yourself there?”


    “Not if you are unwilling to let me have it.”


    “I am.”


    Itale tried to repress his resentment and defiance, making so harsh an effort over himself that it weakened him physically. For a moment the reaction was so strong that he wanted to go to his father like a child and ask his pardon: anything to spare this anger. He sat down as before across the table from Guide, picked up the book as before, watched the lamplight flicker on its worn gold edging, and finally said, “I will find work. My friends and I hope to write—perhaps to start some kind of journal.”


    “For what purpose?”


    Itale did not lift his head. “Freedom,” he said.


    “For whom?”


    “All of us.”


    “You think freedom’s yours to hand out?”


    “What I have I can give.”


    “Words, Itale.”


    “These are words, too. This book. It brought the Bastille down. Those are words, those documents about our land. You’ve given your life to what they stand for.”


    “You’re very eloquent.”


    There was a long pause.


    Guide spoke with careful restraint. “Let me tell you how I see this. You want to go down there, mix yourself up with other people’s business; you say you see that as a matter of principle. Of duty. What I see much more clearly is your duty here, to your family and your property and the people on it. Who is to run this estate when I die? A Krasnoy journalist?”


    “That is unjust!”


    “It is not. It is the difference between duty and self-indulgence.”


    “You cannot speak to me as if I were a child. I’m not a child. I am what you made me, and I know what duty is; and I respect your principles; therefore I ask you to respect mine.”


    Guide was speechless a moment before Itale’s self-confidence. “Respect? Respect for what? Your theories, your opinions, your secondhand words that you want to throw away all this for? You are of age, you needn’t obey me, but you can’t touch your inheritance until you’re twenty-five, and thank God for that.”


    “I would never touch it against your will—”


    “But you’re throwing it away, you’re turning your back on it, everything I’ve worked for. It’s not yours to throw away!” That was a cry from the heart. The young man answered desperately, “I’m not—I’ll come back when you need me—”


    “I need you now. If you go, you go.”


    “I’ll go,” Itale answered, on his feet. “You can keep all that, but you can’t take my loyalty to it, to this house, to you— A time will come when you’ll see that—”


    “A time will come, will it!” The Social Contract landed on the floor, pages down, a loose endpaper skittering across the room like a scared bird. “Not in my time, or in yours!”


    Both were suffocated with self-righteous anger, both knew there was no more to say, nothing.


    Guide turned away at last. “If you think better of this,” he said in a stifled voice, “no more needs to be said. If not, the sooner you go the better.”


    “I’ll go on the Diligence, Friday.”


    Guide said nothing.


    Itale bowed and left the library.


    His silver watch said eight-twenty. They had gone into the library only a few minutes before. He felt that hours had passed.


    “Itale?”


    His mother came into the hall, looking puzzled. “Is your father in the library, dear?”


    “Yes.” He went quickly upstairs, to his room, and shut the door. The room was full of the blue of late evening reflected upward from the lake beneath the windows, a warm unreal atmosphere in which objects seemed to hang suspended like the dim plants seen underwater just off shore. The serenity of light, vague, weightless, picked up and opened out the anguish that bore him down; he felt he could draw breath again. But never in his life had he felt so lonely and so deathly tired.


    V


    It was the fifth of August, a day hot with the dull intensity that ends in storm. Since dawn the fields had baked in sunlight; the lake lay glassy; the sun was warped and reddish in the sky pale with heat. Crickets sang in the mown and the yellow fields, in the orchards, under the oaks. Shadows now touched the lake from the western peaks and there was a softer color low in the sky, a vague blue-violet, but still no wind rose, and Malafrena lay like a bowl of heat and light. Piera Valtorskar was coming downstairs, an action that to her, in this huge timeless afternoon of August, seemed to last a long while, an interval full of intangible thoughts and manifold sensations. The house, built of limestone and marble, was cool; one knew it was a hot day only by the dryness of the air, the cricket-chant, the molten glare of a sun-streak finding its way through a shuttered window. Piera was wearing the women’s dress of her province, a full dark-red skirt, black vest, linen blouse embroidered at the neck. The sleeves of the blouse were stitched at the shoulder into twelve pleats: it had been made in Val Malafrena. A blouse made in Val Altesma would have gathered sleeves, and certain motifs and stitches of the embroidery would be different, a flower design instead of a pattern of birds and branches. All these things were as they should be, as they had always been; so Piera preferred this dress to any other. As she descended the stairs she was smoothing out the skirt, aware of the garnet color, feeling the cool grainy texture of the homespun cloth. Her right hand was on the marble stair-railing, soap-slick and cold. Step by step she descended, feeling herself descend, feeling the heavy skirt sway, feeling the railing under her hand, thinking of a great deal though she could not have said what. On the fourth step from the bottom she began to hum the song, “Red are the berries on the autumn bough”; on the last step she stopped humming and ran her finger down the backbone of the Cupid on the newel post. He was a crude, squat, provincial Cupid carved of grey Montayna marble. He looked anxious and dyspeptic. Piera poked his belly to see if he would belch; then all at once she wheeled round and darted up the stairs in a fifth the time it had taken her to come down them.


    The upstairs hall was dark and smelled of dusty velvet. She listened at her father’s door. Silence. Count Orlant was still asleep. On hot days he generally slept away the afternoon on his old leather couch, though he never meant to. Piera went back down the stairs smartly, trip-trip-trip, swung round the newel post using Cupid as a fulcrum, and went off to her great-aunt’s room.


    Auntie—so she was always called, and the servants called her Countess Aunt—was very old. She had been very old during all Piera’s life. She had birthdays, like other people; but she could not possibly remember them, as Piera remembered all her birthdays since the eleventh one; and what difference could a ninety-fifth birthday make? Whether she was ninety-three or ninety-four or ninety-five, Auntie sat in her straight-backed chair, wearing a black dress and grey shawl, and sometimes dozed and sometimes did not. Her face was netted with countless dry lines radiating from her mouth and the corners of her eyes. Her features, nose, cheekbones, cheek-hollows, were as if obliterated by that network of tiny lines. Most of her teeth were gone, her lips sunken. Her eyes were like her grandniece’s eyes, grey, translucent. Auntie was not dozing this afternoon. She looked at Piera with clear grey eyes across the gulf of eighty years.


    “Auntie, did you ever dream you could fly?”


    “No, my dear.”


    Auntie usually answered No.


    “This afternoon when I was lying down, I dreamed I could float. All it takes is knowing you can. You just push off from the wall, so, with one finger, holding your breath, and then take long steps, you see? and to change direction you just push off the wall again. I’m sure I was doing it. I came clear downstairs without touching. . . . Shall I hold wool for you?”


    Auntie’s hands had got too stiff years ago for knitting or embroidery, but she liked to hold needles and wool, or a panel and silk, and doze with them; and she particularly liked to wind the hanks of wool and silk into balls. Piera also enjoyed this. She could hold hanks for Auntie for an hour, watching the red or blue or green yarn slip off her parallel hands and gleam in Auntie’s stiff, deliberate fingers winding it round and round and round.


    “Not now, my dear.”


    “Is it time for your tea?”


    Auntie said nothing; it was not time for her tea. She dozed, and her grandniece slipped away. She looked into the kitchen, an enormous low room darkened by the oaks outside. The house of Valtorsa, built in 1710, was screened from the lake by trees and faced the valley and the foothills: old Itale Sorde’s notion of building his house right on the water had been one of his foreign fancies. No one was in the kitchen now but Mariya the cook, gutting a hen. Piera came and looked.


    “What’s that, Mariya?”


    “The crop, contesina.”


    “All full of seeds, yes . . . What’s that?”


    “An egg, contesina, didn’t you ever see an egg?”


    “Not inside a hen. Look, there’s more of them!”


    “It’s that old fool Maati, I told him the brown hen with white specks and he brought the Kiassafonte hen instead, and her head off already, the old fool. She’s old but she was a fine layer. Look there, the bitty eggs, like beads on a necklace. . . .” The stout woman and the girl peered into the blood-scented innards, Mariya roused to momentary interest by Piera’s interest.


    “But how do they get there?”


    “Why, the he-bird. . . .” Mariya shrugged.


    “Yes, I know, the he-bird,” Piera murmured. She sighed, wrinkling her nose at that dry smell of blood. “Are you going to bake this afternoon, Mariya?”


    “Thursday afternoon?”


    “Oh, I knew you weren’t, I just asked. . . . Where’s Stasio?”


    “In the fields.”


    “Everybody’s in the fields all day, they might as well have died and gone to heaven. I wish winter would come!” Piera spun round to make her skirt balloon out, investigated a huge iron soup-kettle hanging in a corner of the hearth, then wandered out. Her domain was desolate. All the farm people were getting the late hay in, Mariya had nothing to say, Auntie was asleep, the count was asleep, the governess was off on her holiday, it was too dull to stay indoors and too hot to go outdoors, and she could not go to see Laura because Itale was leaving tomorrow, leaving all at once for the city, forever. She wandered to the front room with its drawn blinds, marble fireplace with more marble Cupids, its long, shiny, empty floor and sparse, stiff furniture. The floor looked cool; she knew it was cool, and was tempted to lie down on it flat on her stomach as she had used to do on hot afternoons. But she was too old, in her garnet skirt and linen blouse, to go crawling on the floor. She curled up on the windowseat and peered out between the shutter and the frame at the empty, shady side yard. The whole trouble was that there was nobody to talk to, nobody to understand what she did not understand, nothing to do with the life that filled her, nothing to do. . . . Piera sat still, her feet tucked under her, her hand holding aside the corner of the linen blind so that she could see the same dull bit of the yard and the foothills building up towards Sinviya Mountain, and she was sad, sad, sad, with the dull, deep, immense sadness of August, of a hot eternal afternoon of August.


    The Sorde house was also silent, but under the summer trance there was some coming and going, now and then the sound of voices. Itale’s bedroom was hot; he had opened the window to get air, indifferent to the bar of fiery sunshine that lay across the floor. He was in shirtsleeves and his hair, wet with sweat, stuck up in tangles above his forehead. He was sorting through papers, putting most of them back in a tin box, leaving out a few to take with him. Soon done with the task, he shoved the box back under the table and stood up. The first breath of wind broke the day’s great stillness: a catspaw streaked the lake near shore, taking long to disappear, and the topmost paper of the little pile on the desk stirred. He put his hand on it mechanically, then looked down. Not this time a dream, O Liberty. . . . It was a poem on the revolution of Naples he had written last winter; his friends in Amiktiya had thought it very fine. He began to stuff the papers into the valise open on the bed. Metastasio’s words to his mistress, sung in the streets of Naples by a people briefly free, went on in his head, I am not dreaming this time. . . . Non sogno questa volta, non sogno libertà!—over and over, like the cricket-chant, till he stopped listening. The breath of wind had passed. The bar of sunlight lay across the bare floor, intolerably bright.


    A knock; Laura came in at his word. “Here’s the linens. Mother’s finishing a shirt for you to wear tomorrow.”


    “All right. Thanks.”


    “Can I help?”


    “All done except for these.” He began stuffing the clean shirts into the valise, needing something to occupy him in Laura’s presence; each felt oppressed, unnatural, and aware of the other’s feeling so.


    “Let me. You’re folding them all wrong.”


    “Oh, well.” He let Laura pack the shirts.


    “Piera said she had a book of yours.”


    “The Estenskar—get it from her when she’s done with it. You ought to read it. Don’t post it to me, it’s a contraband edition.” He stood looking out the window again. “It’s going to be a real storm tonight.”


    “I hope so.” Laura straightened up and watched with him the slow faint massing of clouds in the southwest, behind the Hunter.


    “Ten to one Count Orlant hasn’t got his hay in from Arly’s Field. Every year I can remember he’s raced a storm for that hay.”


    “I hope it’s a huge storm. . . .”


    “Why?”


    There was no one but Itale who could ask her “Why?” and smile because he knew the answer. There was no other man to whom she could talk as an equal, whom she could trust absolutely. There were beloved parents, relatives, friends, but one brother only.


    “I wish I could go too.”


    He went on looking at her and finally asked, “Why?” in a different tone, a voice full not of unconscious but conscious, regretful love.


    “Why are you going?”


    “I’m obliged to, Laura.”


    “I’m obliged not to.”


    Neither was able to put that fact in question.


    Among women, all of whom he desired, all of whom baffled and frightened him, among them all there was one sister only.


    “Will you go to Evalde, Laura?”


    Until he went to college he and she had gone every year at dawn of the spring equinox across the lake to the gulf of Evalde, where a river broke from caverns in a high cascade to the lake. On the shore there was a high rock curiously marked, called the Hermit’s Rock; Count Orlant ascribed the markings to druids, others, dubious of druids, said it marked the place where St Italus the Missionary had preached to the heathen tribes of Val Malafrena. The spirit it roused in the brother and sister was heathen enough; to them in adolescence the true year began with that silent course before dawn across the lake and arrival on that shore, a solitary celebration of rock and mist and light above the waters.


    “Yes, I will.”


    “In Falkone.”


    She nodded.


    “And you’ll write.”


    “Of course. But will you? Real letters? You wrote such stupid letters before you came home!”


    “I couldn’t explain about being under house arrest. Everything got so complicated. . . .” Laura was at last getting the whole story of Müller, Von Haller, and Gentz, when her mother came in; she and Itale had been laughing, they felt ashamed of laughing on the day before Itale left, knowing that their mother had wept for his going. Laura escaped, and Eleonora showed him the shirt she had ironed herself. “To wear tomorrow,” she said. She was used to the inadequacies of life, to the shirt ironed because the words cannot be said, or will do no good. He was not.


    “Mother, you do understand—” He stopped.


    “I think so, dear. I only wish you were happier about it yourself.” She looked into his valise. “Will you wear your blue coat?”


    “How can I be happy if father—”


    “You mustn’t hold anger against him, dear.”


    “I don’t. Only if he—” Itale stammered slightly when he was keyed up. “If he’d try to understand that I’m trying to do right!”


    Eleonora was silent; then she said, mild and tenacious, “You mustn’t hold anger against him, Itale.”


    “Believe me, I try not to!” he said with his passionate candor and seriousness, so that she turned to him smiling. “But if we could only talk to each other, if I could explain to him—”


    “I don’t know if people can ever really explain,” she said. “Not in words, anyway.” She saw he did not believe her. That was all right. She too had once believed that people could be entirely honest with one another; she did not consider herself better for having lost that faith. If she were to be entirely honest with her son right now she would beg him to stay home, not to go, for if he went he would never come home again; so she repeated, “Will you wear your blue coat? It’ll be cold on the coach in the morning.”


    He nodded unhappily.


    “I want to put up a lunch for you; Eva saved some roast beef,” she said, and at that, the reality of the roast beef, the coach wheels turning, the dust of the road that led away from home, the silence of the dining room where she and Guide and Laura would sit down tomorrow without him, all this threatened her all over again, and she left him hastily so that she could struggle with it alone.


    He went on down to the boat house, having time to reset Falkone’s tiller, a job he had promised himself to do before he left. The long light was intense on the road and the green, hollow lawn above the boat house. Behind the Hunter now clouds banked heavy; there was a greenish cast to the air over the lake. When the steering was mended he set to waxing the seats and rail of the boat, wanting to be busy. It was hot and dim in the boat house, smelling of wax, soaked wood, water-weeds. The raw pine roof trembled with webbed, moving reflections of the sunlit water. Men were coming back from haying, he heard their voices on the road above. One went by after the others singing a song that rose and fell on a few notes in the minor.


    Red are the berries on the autumn bough,


    Sleep, my love, and sleep thee well,


    The grey dove sings in the forest now,


    Sleep till thou wilt waken.


    He finished his job, went up the grassy slope and through the line of poplars to the road. The men from haying in the north field had all gone by, done in good time, for Guide was seldom caught racing a storm for his hay; no one was on the road but old Bron and David Angele returning from the vineyards, and with them Marta, Astolfe’s wife. The men wore somber, shapeless work-clothes; only on feastdays would there be any color about their dress, and the vivid white of the heavy embroidered shirt. Bron strode along long-legged, unhurried, self-contained, like an old animal, taciturn: his strength was that of old age, economical, a wisdom of movement. David Angele, a young man, looked entirely insignificant beside him. On his left Marta, in garnet-red skirt and embroidered blouse, took two steps to his one. She had been a beauty ten years ago, when she was twenty. The smile that creased her cheeks and showed her bad teeth was still radiant, as she said to her landlord’s son, “And you’re off again, Dom Itaal!”


    “Tomorrow, Marta.”


    They all knew, of course, that Dom Guiid and Dom Itaal had quarreled. David Angele glanced slyly at Itale; Bron was silent; only Marta knew how to continue the dangerous subject with tact. “And it’s the king’s city you’re going to this time, so David Aangel says?”


    “So Dom Guiid told young Kass,” David Angele put in hastily, exculpating himself.


    “What a grand place it must be,” Marta went on, evidently without the least desire to see it. “People thick as flies on sugar, they say.”


    “But you’re not to call it the king’s city now, Marta,” said the young vintner, again with a sly glance. “You know there’s no king in these days.”


    “There’s the foreign duchess lady, you needn’t teach me, lad. But I like the sound of the old name, it’s how my mother always called it, ain’t I right, uncle?”


    “Aye,” said old Bron, striding along. Itale asked Marta about her three little daughters, which made her laugh. She laughed about them since, as she explained, they couldn’t yet give her cause to cry. With Bron he discussed the state of the grapes and the new planting of Oriya vines; he had been Bron’s student and disciple in the vineyards all his life. But they were already at the Dowerhouse Road, and Marta said, “You must turn off here, then I wish you a safe journey and Godspeed, Dom Itaal.” Worn and solid, gap-toothed, she gave him her radiant smile. Itale shook hands with David Angele with a warmth that rose from bad conscience at disliking him, and turned last to Bron: “When I come back, Bron—”


    “Aye, you will.” Their eyes met. It seemed to Itale, because he so much desired it to be so, that the old man understood all he meant, knew more than he himself knew, and found no need to say it. So they parted, and he went to the house for supper.


    They ate early because they must be up early. They did not linger over the meal. When Eva came in from the kitchen to change the blue-ringed plates, her slippers creaking, they looked up at her with relief. But her old face was as gloomy as any of theirs.


    Guide went out to the stables after supper, the women sat with their sewing in the front room. Itale stood at the windows that looked over the terrace to the lake. The light was strange: the water nearly black, but above Evalde the long forested ridge unearthly bright against a somber sky. A strong wind blew from the southwest now, breaking the water into netted streaks. Air and lake darkened fast with the night and storm coming on together. Itale turned round and looked at his mother and sister. So they would sit together here, their faces bent to their work, when he was gone; those who kept the house. His mother glanced up at him as she always did from sewing with a grave, peaceable look, then said, “It’s going to be very pretty, I think; see?” —shaking out the goods she was working on, a drift of white stuff. “It’s her first real evening dress.”


    “Aye,” he said, staring at it. “I’ll go see the Valtorskars, I think. The count should be in by now.”


    “It’s going to storm any minute, isn’t it?”


    “I won’t stay. Any messages for them?”


    He went up to his room three steps at a time—he had been twelve when he got tall enough to take the stairs three at a time, he recalled for a moment as he went—and looked over his bookcase hastily, and took out a small book bound in whitish leather, well worn; a translation of Dante’s Vita Nova which he had bought in Solariy. He sat down with it at his desk and there in the dusk wrote on the flyleaf a few words, his name, the date; then slipped it in his pocket and went out.


    No one was about. The sound of his steps on the path was the only sound. Crickets were silent, birds had left the air. The wind was down and the sky dark except for a green streak over San Givan, the last of daylight. As he brought his boat out and set off westward, skirting the shore, it was so quiet that he heard across the breadth of the lake the remote music of the waterfall at Evalde. Then a mutter of thunder; then the first, huge whisper of rain on the slopes across the lake. The sail went slack. The twilight seemed all at once to give place to black night: the noise grew and grew, he felt rain on his hands, on his face, and then the storm was on him, dark and stiff as all the trees of the forests, a roar of rain, a wall of wind, lightning, thunder echoing redoubled off the water. The boom swept right across as Falkone jibbed like mad and ran in towards shore. It took all his strength to hold the wet sail, on which the wind pushed with demented violence; he could not bring the boat back against the wind, and now she bucked and heeled till the sail touched the water. In a half-lull he got the sail down and got out the oars. His clothes clung to him like silk, his hands were so cold with rain and so stiff from fighting the sail that he could hardly feel their grip on the oars. He rowed into the storm, getting through it if he could not harness it, defeated, immensely happy.


    On the marble steps of Valtorsa he took off his hat, poured the water off the brim, got his breath for a minute, and knocked. The Valtorskars’ old servant opened the door and stared in wonder. “Are you drooned, Dom Itaal?” he said at last. “Come in! Come in!”


    Count Orlant was shouting from the front room in his unexpectedly strong voice, “Hoy, who’s there? That you, Rodenne? What the devil sent you out in this storm?” He came into the hall. Itale would not come in, saying he was too wet and had to get back home, so Count Orlant wished him good luck and goodbye there beside the coatracks, earnestly shaking his wet hand while Itale clutched the Vita Nova in the other. He had turned to take his leave when Piera appeared. “You’re going, Itale?” she said. Her face was bright and startled. The old servant drew back, and she came to the doorway where Itale stood with the rain and wind behind him.


    “I wanted to give you this.” He held out the book. “I wanted to give you something.”


    She took the book, did not look at it, but at him. “Did you come in Falkone?”


    “Aye, nearly turned her over.” He smiled self-deriding, exulting. The wind blew in past him, making Piera hug her arms to her sides.


    “I must say goodbye, Piera.”


    “Will you never come back?”


    “I’ll come back.”


    She put out her hand, he took it; their eyes met; she smiled.


    “Goodbye, Itale.”


    “Goodbye.”


    She did not move to close the door but stood within the doorway looking at the rain and flashing darkness where he had gone, till old Givan bumbled up and shut the door. “Look there, that rain, not stopped yet, crazy to take a boat out in such a storm.”


    Piera went down the hall, looked in the living room; her father and Auntie were ensconced there, with yarn-skein and astronomical chart. She slipped upstairs to her own room. Curtains hid the darkness, the candlelight was golden and serene; but she heard the sound of the rain, the sound of Itale’s voice. He had been wet with rain, wet through, his hand strong and cold. Had he actually come? She shivered. The little book in her hand was cold and slightly damp.


    She looked down at it and read the title, The New Life. She turned a few pages and saw prose, full of thereasmuches and wherefores, and verse: “Of Love so sweetly speaking that all my will is his. . . .” The book opened of itself to the flyleaf and she held it closer to the candle to read what was written there.


    “Here begins the new life.”


    Piera Valtorskar from Itale Sorde, August 5th, 1825.


    She sat looking at the words, written clear and black, the capital S blurred from hasty blotting or the rain; she smiled at last as she had smiled at him, and bent her head, and kissed his name.

  


  
    PART TWO


    Exiles

  


  
    I


    


    THE mountains lay far behind, lost long since beyond the hills and rivers and plains of the southwest, the clouds and weathers of the journey. The Southwestern Post was climbing into the hills of the Molsen Province, uncultivated, dull gold under a blue-grey August sky. “Five more miles to Fontanasfaray,” said the handsome, swagbellied driver. “The grand duchess comes to Fontanasfaray every August to take the waters.”


    “How far is it from the city?” asked the young provincial gentleman on the box.


    “Sixteen miles, eight with the brakes on. We won’t see West Gate much before nightfall.”


    The horses, heavy, gleaming greys, pulled effortlessly; a slow mile went by. Itale pulled his hat over his eyes against the warm morning sun and dozed. The horses pulled, the high coach creaked and swayed.


    “Village of Kolpera,” the coachman pointed out. Kolpera was a humble cluster of huts off the road on a high slope.


    “Looks like sheep country,” Itale said.


    “I wouldn’t know,” the coachman replied with disdain; I am from the city, I know nothing and care nothing about sheep, said his manner; and Itale, rebuked, stretched out his legs and gazed at the great lonely hills where, sure enough, far away and like a cloud-shadow on the tawny slope, he made out a flock of sheep.


    Fontanasfaray was a cool, rich town high up in the hills. The inside passengers took lunch in the Park-Restaurant; Itale, who had refused to borrow money from his uncle or to take more than twenty kruner from the estate cashbox, and that as a loan, bought a roll at a bakery and ate it by himself in the park in the shade of the elms, watching the fancy rigs go by on Gulhelm Street. He finished his roll and was hungry. Through summery leaf-dappled light he saw a low foreign chaise coming, drawn by matched bays. In the chaise was a parasol and in the warm white shadow of the parasol a face was turned towards him, a long bored face with heavy lips and tired eyes, so familiar that Itale expected her to speak to him, which cousin was she?— The chaise passed, the parasol became a white blot down the dappled street. Itale brushed crumbs off his waistcoat. “Well, so that’s the grand duchess,” he said to himself, and felt unspeakably mournful and insignificant.


    The coach set off with new horses and several new passengers. One of these Itale had seen on Gulhelm Street, bowing to the grand duchess’ chaise, a young man elegantly dressed, with a pale, handsome, heavy face. He sat up outside with Itale and made conversation, chattering along so amiably that Itale soon forgot to act sophisticated, and began to enjoy himself. A little cautious, for he was not used to talking with strangers, he listened more than he spoke; this pleased his companion, who was not much in demand as a talker among his own associates. In their mutual appreciation they introduced themselves: Sorde, Paludeskar. As soon as the names were spoken each must perform a little silent guesswork and assessment, Itale wondering which rank of the nobility his new friend might belong to, Paludeskar deciding that although the young provincial was a commoner and had a hat which looked as though he had gone fishing with it, he was quite safely a gentleman. And it was very pleasant to talk to someone who knew so little about everything, and never set him straight. He talked on, and Itale listened, and each was grateful to the other.


    The coach came at five o’clock to the summit of the hills, and Itale saw for the first time the broad sweep of the river valley to the distant eastern range, the shining curve of the Molsen through it, and, hazy and glimmering in the low warm light, the city on the river’s bend. They were some miles from its outskirts. The pale hills behind them were silent, a pale sky arched overhead. The city slept in its wide valley in the afternoon sunlight, indistinct, beautiful, unutterably calm. Palude­skar smiled with proprietary pleasure, glancing at Itale’s intent gazing face.


    “Is that the Roukh?”


    He pointed to a building that bulked large in bluish shadow over the vague surrounding streets, in the southwest quarter of the city.


    “Right. There’s the Sinalya, at the edge of that green bit, that must be the park, the Eleynaprade.”


    The Sinalya Palace was the residence of the reigning grand-ducal family; the kings of Orsinia had lived in the Roukh Palace.


    “That must be the cathedral,” Itale said, and his voice caught, for the spires rising above the golden mass and shadow of the city were its center both in place and in the passage of centuries. “Right,” said Paludeskar, “and south of it there, that’s River Quarter, nobody lives there; north of it the Old Quarter, that’s where everybody lives. Is that my house? Can’t be sure. There’s the opera house, see the dome by the river?” But the coach, descending, entered a pass between high hills, and the view was lost.


    It reappeared at intervals, each time nearer and more complex, as the road wound down. Their last sight of the city as a whole was when the valley was vague, the eastern hills had dimmed away, and lights were beginning to glimmer through the grey haze. They changed horses at Kolonnarmana, supped there, and in the warm dusk set off again, rolling easily on a smooth road, the glow of the city under its haze brightening always in the sky before them. Exalted by the darkness and warmth, the wind and movement of the ride, the great presence of the city awaiting them, the two young men talked from their souls.


    “The important thing,” Itale said, “is a force inside you, that belongs to you alone. It is yourself, actually, all that makes you a self, a man. Once you’ve found it, that force or will or need, whatever it is, then all you have to do is obey it—stay on the road it takes you.”


    “But if you can’t find the road. . . .”


    “You can if you want to.”


    “How many people really want to?”


    “To find their destiny? To be themselves? Surely everyone does?”


    “Takes work,” said Paludeskar.


    “Well, it does. And it’s true most people don’t even seem to try. They do what comes next, or what’s expected of them, and get lost in a meaningless tangle of—of desires, frivolities, contingencies,” said Itale with an abolishing wave of his hand. “Why don’t they simply do what’s necessary?”


    “Easier not to.”


    “But how stupid it is. Even if you sit in a chair for ten years still the years go by. So why not get up and walk, make it a journey? I used to envy adults when I was a boy, I thought they were all going somewhere, but now I see most of them not really going anywhere, never getting home, lost in eating and sleeping and talking and visiting and meaningless work—not the poor of course, I mean people free to do as they please—they do nothing, they lose their souls out of sheer carelessness!”


    “Civilisation’s wasted on humanity,” said Paludeskar. “If I had it to hand out I’d give it to the bees. Industrious little bastards.”


    “I don’t know if it’s wasted on us, but most of us seem to waste it.”


    “I used to think I’d like to add my bit. But I don’t know. I suppose I really haven’t anything to add.”


    “You do,” Itale said, and Paludeskar replied with equal simplicity, “I know. But it’s getting away from me. I’m not religious, you know, and all that, but I’m going to be twenty-five in November— I’d like to— You know, to think that I was going to do something worth doing— Before the end.”


    “That’s it, that’s it,” Itale said.


    “Come and stay the night, I want to talk more about this,” Paludeskar said earnestly, and Itale agreed. The coach was among the suburbs of Krasnoy, and in ten minutes more it came to a halt inside the West Gate. Stiff, bemused, disjointed, its passengers descended into the coachyard of Tiypontiy Street under the dark looming inn buildings. Glare and shadow, neighing of horses and clatter of ironshod hoofs on stone, clatter of voices, moths swarming at smoking lamps, smells of leather, horsedung, sweat, hot stone, the streets of stone.


    In the cab both regretted the invitation which had seemed so natural on the coach. They said no more about destiny and civilisation; each looked out his window. The cab stopped before a handsome house on a wide, quiet street. As Paludeskar took him up the steps Itale heard a great bell striking the hour across the dark roofs and streets, a deep, quiet voice in the restless air of the city night.


    He was handed over to a servant, taken up imposing stairs and down a long passage to a room with a curtained bed, marble fireplace, Turkish carpet, red-draped windows, and a very large painting of a racehorse with a fat round body and tiny head and feet. As the one servant departed a second one arrived, carrying his valise. “Thank you,” Itale said, relieved to see the familiar object, an anchor in a sea of strangeness. His effort to get the valise away from the man was foiled with skill, courtesy, and ease; after that defeat there was no hope of making the man go away. He was French and middle-aged; as he unpacked Itale’s valise he intimated that his name was Robert, that he was M le baron’s man, that Itale must change into his other coat, that a clean shirt was also desirable, that a gentleman did not put on his own shirt, that Robert was perfectly aware that Itale was young, poor, provincial, and possessed no articles of toilet besides a hairbrush, but did not hold it against him—some of this in words, some by other means. “If monsieur will permit,” he said, circling behind Itale at the looking glass, and in five hypnotic motions transformed Itale’s cravat into a model of austere symmetry. “It is the best knot, but not every man can wear it so, it requires the long face,” he said, admiring his handiwork so honestly that Itale warmed to him at last and let him help him into his coat without a struggle.


    Then he had to go downstairs alone.


    The long, bright drawing-room was a confusion of people, light-coated men, light-gowned women. He did not see Paludeskar anywhere. A tall, fair woman glanced at him frowning. He dared not move farther forward, he dared not go back. There he stood, like a rock. Near him a group broke out laughing at the end of a story, and he smiled too, until he found he was smiling. Another tall, fair woman in violet was approaching him, or was it the same one? She was coming straight at him. He looked away. He began to edge backwards towards the hall.


    “Mr Sorde?”


    He bowed.


    “I am Luisa Paludeskar.”


    He bowed.


    She looked at him coolly; made up her mind; and took him to present him to her mother.


    The young baroness was robust and handsome like her brother; the old baroness, sitting near a gold-encrusted Erard piano with two other ladies, looked pinched, sick, and sour. She said how do you do to Itale and had no more to say to him. Baroness Luisa took him on to a side room, where to his relief he found Paludeskar devouring cold chicken and champagne, and was invited to do the same. While he ate he managed to shake off the paralysis of total self-consciousness and make some observation of other people. He found that nobody was wearing trousers at all like his, and that conversation with these people was very difficult, as they all spoke quickly and bounced on from one subject to the next like rabbits. “Will you be long in Krasnoy, Mr Sorde?” asked a man to whom he had just been introduced and whose name he had instantly mislaid, and before he had decided how to answer the other bounced on, “Absolutely dead just now, few remaining fragments of civilisation are gathered in this room. And the opera’s not opening until November.”


    “I hope to see the opera,” said Itale, and was able to take a deep breath, having produced a comprehensible if not dazzling sentence.


    “You’re musical?” asked the other man—was his name Hacheskar? Harreskar?— “It’s not precisely Paris, as you can imagine, and old Montini lost his high A last season, but it does very well.”


    “Paolina,” Itale brought out, the name of a local diva whom he had heard praised at Solariy. “Aha,” said Helleskar—that was it, Helleskar, but baron? count? prince?—“have you heard Paolina? is it she that brings you here?”


    Itale stared at him. What was he to say— “No, I am here to subvert the government”? He said, flatly, “No.”


    Helleskar smiled. He was pale, like Paludeskar, but his figure was slight and his face fine-drawn. “I’m sorry, I’m always boring people with music,” he said, and though Itale appreciated that goodnatured courtesy he was unable to respond to it.


    “Luisa,” said Helleskar, a little later in the other room, “who is your brother’s new friend?”


    “I have no idea, George.”


    “Literary,” Helleskar proposed.


    Luisa Paludeskar shrugged.


    “Epic poems . . . Or, no; I know. He is planning to found a clandestine journal, full of long quotations from Schiller.”


    “No idea at all.”


    “He was simply found on the coach, like someone else’s hat? He might be a spy for Gentz, he might steal the silver. I had no idea Enrike was so rash. But then, no spy could possibly tie his cravat that well; at least not a spy for Austria. It must be Schiller after all.”


    “Introduce him to Amadey, then.”


    “Is he here? How is he?”


    “Wretched, of course. I don’t know why he doesn’t leave that woman. There’s your friend, take him over to Amadey. Mr Sorde!”


    Itale, startled, looked round. His eyes met Luisa Paludeskar’s, and for an instant she too looked startled, taken off guard; then her face closed and looked bored, even rancorous.


    “Count Helleskar has been speculating that your propensities are literary,” she said, drawling, and Helleskar broke in: “I leave speculation to bankers, baronina, I never go further than entertaining fancies. I have a bad habit of deciding what people ought to do without consulting them; I had rather decided you ought to publish.”


    “Defend yourself, Mr Sorde.”


    “Is it an accusation?” Itale asked naively.


    Helleskar laughed. “We’ll have to consult Estenskar. Is literature a crime, a fault, or merely a misfortune? The—”


    “Estenskar? Amadey Estenskar?”


    “You stand self-accused, Mr Sorde,” Helleskar said. “He’s here tonight; may I introduce you?”


    “He has no—that is, there’s no— I don’t—”


    “Come along,” the count said, and Itale meekly came, obeying Helleskar’s flawless self-assurance. But halfway across the room his protest became audible again. “Count,” he said earnestly, “I can’t intrude on Mr Estenskar—”


    “You set him higher than the rest of us,” Helleskar said, with his ironic smile. “Quite right. Come on.” He led on. “He’ll be in here no doubt, the mausoleum, library I mean. Refurbished catacomb. There he is.” And bringing Itale to a wiry, red-haired, white-faced man who stood reading in a corner of the bookcases, he introduced them. “A fellow exile, Amadey,” he said.


    Estenskar had gained his fame with the publication of The Torrents of Karesha, when he was nineteen. His Odes and a novel had confirmed his reputation; at the age of twenty-four he was the best-known writer in his country, passionately reviled and praised, a stormbringer, one of those after whose passing things are not the same. “Very glad,” he said in a dry voice. There was a pause. “You’re from my part of the country?”


    “From the Montayna.”


    “I see.”


    “What are you reading, Amadey? Herder. Weh ’st mir! Literature is a vast slough of German poets.”


    Estenskar shrugged. Itale observed the shrug with awe, and burned to go reread Herder as soon as possible; but as Helleskar continued to make conversation and Estenskar to cut it short, the talk did not grow more interesting. Of course there was no reason why a genius should converse with a flippant worldling like Count Helleskar. The genius’ manners were disagreeable, but that was because he was so far above his company. All these people did was gossip; Itale had listened now to a dozen conversations of gossip—as a matter of fact Estenskar was now embarked on some gossip, and apparently enjoying it. “A year in Paris couldn’t civilise that ass,” he was ending his tale, with an artificial, unpleasant tenor laugh, “nothing could.” And Helleskar laughed and said, “Civilisation is wasted on humanity,” and Itale struggled desperately to swallow a yawn. He looked up from the struggle to find Estenskar’s cold gaze on him.


    “Did you know about Adanskar’s new literary magazine, Amadey? To which only noblemen may contribute?”


    Estenskar laughed his high, loud ha-ha-ha. “What next?”


    “The name—that’s the beauty of it. He discussed it with me at length. Pegasus, Aurora, all nine muses, couldn’t use them; Greek, low connotations. Tried French: Revue du Haut monde. Aha, I say, that’ll put that new Revue des deux mondes in its place. No, no, can’t have that, low connotations again. Then the divine afflatus swept into him before my very eyes, and he said, ‘I shall call it The Journal of Nobility and Genius!’”


    “My God, what a fool the man is.”


    “He’ll do it, too, you know. You must contribute.”


    “I’d do it in order to lose him his Censor’s permit.”


    “It’s not that bad, surely,” Helleskar said, with a very slight change of tone. Estenskar shrugged and was silent. “You still haven’t got the printing permit for the new book?” Helleskar said, and again Estenskar shrugged; he stuck Herder back on the bookshelf, looked at his fingernails, turned away, then swung back and burst out shrilly, “I’ve been trying to get it for six weeks now. They want changes. One of the poems cannot be published at all. Why? Why not? It’s about listening to music, what in the name of God is political about that, because it’s music does it have to be the Marseillaise? Oh, no, Mr Estenskar, you don’t understand—I don’t understand my own work, but they do—it’s not the subject of the poem that is undesirable, but the meter. The meter! The meter! By the bowels of Christ what is radical about iambic tetrameter? Do you know? Can you imagine what he said? It’s a national meter—common in songs, popular—dangerous—and then my ode, the bad one, you know, ‘To the Youth of My Country,’ you know—it was, by God, it’s in iambic tetrameter, and I can’t go around reminding people of it. So this poem can’t be published, the book can’t have the Censor’s permit so long as it’s there. And my friend at the Bureau, my good friend Censor Goyne, who can’t spell ‘recommend,’ Goyne takes the trouble to recommend improvements. All I have to do is add an extra foot to each line, just a word or two, he showed me how to do it, really very simple, he said. They banned what I’ve written, now they rewrite what I write!”


    The eyes in the white face were round, yellowish, glaring. Itale thought of the half-grown hawks he had tamed, their rage and resistance that only exhaustion could control; and even in defeat they would cry out in their shrill terrible voices, defeated, not tamed.


    “You have endured six years of this,” Helleskar said. “How do you have the courage to go through it all again!”


    “I don’t. When I get this book in press, I’m done. Going home. I can’t fight to try to get it distributed. It won’t be. I will stay just long enough to be sure the text isn’t changed, to keep Goyne’s improvements out of it. I don’t know why I bother even with that. What difference will it make?”


    “A great deal, Mr Estenskar,” Itale said, stammering. “Because the book will be printed by the clandestine press—I’ve never seen your books but in the clandestine editions—”


    “Victory without profit,” the poet said drily.


    “No man, not even a genius, can win this kind of battle unsupported. If there were a group, a real group, with a publi­cation, a journal, ready to come up against the Bureau of Censorship every day, for every word, a steady united pressure— And if the Estates are convened, censorship will be an issue—”


    “I see it’s true you’ve only been here two hours,” Estenskar said, turning back to the bookcase. He scanned it as if seeking a title while he spoke. “A group? . . . Literary men are afraid of jail, as a rule. . . . As for getting help from the politicians, I suppose you’re joking.”


    Itale was paralysed; Helleskar said, as easily as ever, “Why so, Amadey? If the Estates meet, there will be some new men in town.”


    “You’re in an optimistic fit tonight?”


    “I am an optimistic man. I merely keep it to myself so that I won’t get laughed at. As ‘To the Youth of My Country’ got laughed at, for example.”


    “And rightly. It’s the stupidest thing I ever wrote. I suppose Mr Sorde disagrees.”


    Perhaps it was invitation, but Itale took it as reproof, understanding only that his enthusiasm had been gall to Estenskar. “How can I argue with you?” he said almost inaudibly.


    Helleskar frowned. “You wrote it; let us read it, Amadey. Allow us our little privileges. They don’t encroach on yours. I believe we need a change of muse. Luisa’s in a vile mood tonight, she always plays well in a vile mood, shall we go demand some Mozart?”


    Though enmeshed in self-castigation, Itale was vaguely aware that Helleskar had come to his defense, and in an equally vague persuasion of obligation followed the two back into the salon, though what he wanted was to get away from Estenskar before he antagonised his hero any further. Luisa Paludeskar agreed to play; he stood with the group around the piano. It was past midnight. He was worn out. The radiant music passed him by as so much noise. Helleskar and Baron Paludeskar talked beside him; he did not listen, and he would not open his mouth again, not if he were damned for it. Why am I here, he thought, what am I doing here? Why did I leave home?


    


    When she had played what was asked of her Luisa Paludeskar sat on at the piano listening to the others talk. Every now and then she glanced up at the tall, stiff, speechless young man. There he stood with his chin stuck into his collar; the epitome of boorish, provincial, male complacency. She would have liked to kick him.


    “Who is that fellow, baronina?”


    “Enrike found it on the coach. I don’t plan to keep it around long.”


    Estenskar smiled disagreeably. “He hardly seemed to partake of the ton,” he said. He was on the attack again. Luisa, who loved battles, rose to the challenge, and performed a rapid outflanking manoeuvre: she smiled straight at him, and said, “You’re not really going off east, are you, Amadey?”


    “I haven’t decided.”


    “What is there to decide? Is there anything in the Polana besides the east wind and sheep? Will the sheep listen to you? I know we’re sheep, to you, but we are attentive sheep—adoring sheep—your own woolly flock—”


    “Sheep’s clothing.”


    “That’s you, the wolf. The Polana wolf. Don’t run away, Amadey; not now.”


    “I’m not running away. I’m going home.”


    “‘Home!’” She played a light derisive arpeggio. “We have a ‘home’ too, you know, up in the Sovena. I know all about rain and wind and mud and sheep and the neighbors’ visits. They tell you hunting stories. How they shot the wolf. How they bagged three poets in the marsh last winter. . . .”


    “I’ll come back for your wedding.”


    “Oh indeed! My wedding with whom?”


    “George, of course.”


    “How silly you are. I can’t marry an old shoe.”


    “If the shoe fits. . . .”


    “Always twist the knife a little before you remove it. No, I think I shall marry a total stranger, someone found on a coach.”


    “Why?”


    “Because there would be a few weeks before he knew how to hurt me very much—before he learned where the nerves are. Unless he was a poet, of course. But you mustn’t leave Krasnoy, Amadey. What shall I do without you? without my daily anti-opium?”


    “I wish I had fallen in love with you, Luisa.”


    “Yes; but you didn’t.”


    She looked up into the man’s unhappy face, and smiled again.


    


    When he got to bed at two-thirty, Itale could not sleep. The Mozart sonata to which he had not listened rang note for note in his head, the red-curtained bed swayed like a coach at the trot, his ears were full of voices and his eyes of faces; he lay and twitched and turned. The deep, soft bell told the quarters and the hours, three o’clock, four o’clock, over the dark roofs, the dark streets, the endless houses where two hundred thousand people slept and he among them awake, a prisoner.


    II


    Robert the man-servant waked him, late in the morning; he could not elude assistance in getting dressed. He found his way through the huge, cold house to the breakfast room. The baron was already there, and the sister soon arrived. The two young men were stiff and shy with each other. Itale remarked that it was hot, Enrike that it was damned foggy, and they got no further. Luisa, dressed very plainly in brown, seemed to have set aside her arrogant manner with her evening dress. She was pleasant and gracious, without affectations, and within a few minutes Itale found himself almost at ease talking with her. But she was beautiful, more beautiful than he had realised last night, more beautiful than any woman he had ever spoken to; and he realised as they talked that she was younger than he, twenty at most, which by adding youth to her opulence of beauty, wealth, and wit cowed him, making him feel a hopeless clod. And the brother glowered across the table. It was a relief when the meal was done at last.


    Frenin had been living in the city for a month, and had sent Itale his address. Itale asked Enrike where the street was. “What? Never heard of it,” the baron growled. “Going off, are you? Can’t stay? No? Well. Glad, very glad.”


    When Itale had escaped, the baron followed his sister up to the music room. “You hear that, Lulu? He’s going to some damned street in the River, Somebody’s Tears Street, now what the devil, coming all the way from the damned mountains. I thought he was a gentleman, yesterday.”


    “He is, don’t be stupid, Harry.”


    “But nobody lives in a place like that!”


    “Students—”


    “Students! Exactly!”


    She knew what was upsetting her brother. Through boredom and a dim sense of shame at his uselessness, Enrike was trying to secure a minor diplomatic post. He had decided that his new acquaintance was politically suspect, therefore not to be cultivated; but he was ashamed of his own motives, and preferred to act the snob. All this was clear to Luisa. Her boredom was far more drastic than her brother’s, her ambitions clearer, and she set herself up as a conscious enemy of hypocrisy in all its forms.


    “You’re afraid you’ve entertained Robespierre unawares,” she said, “poor Harry!”


    “But you can see that I can’t afford to associate with these patriot fellows. I made a mistake. I own up to it. So all I’m asking is that you don’t . . . take him up—make a pet of him out of curiosity the way you do—”


    “Make a pet of him! a bit like making a pet of a cart-horse.”


    “Yes, well, exactly, he’s just not quite our sort. It seemed all right on the coach. But he doesn’t belong here. So that’s all right, we just won’t see him again.”


    “But of course I asked him to dinner tonight.”


    Enrike breathed heavily, defeated once again.


    “He hasn’t anywhere to stay; and if he stays here of course we have to feed him; but I’m sure it will do no harm. No one is coming except Raskayneskar.”


    “Oh my God!” Enrike cried. “You can’t—you can’t have him here with Raskayneskar! Luisa!” But he knew as he spoke that she would do just as she pleased, just as she always did, and that whether he fretted or shouted, it would make no difference at all.


    Meanwhile Itale had set off at random into the warm morning. Sunlight breaking through the mist of the river valley gilded the housefronts, the roofs, the double spire of the Cathedral of St Theodora, only a few streets away. He made for the cathedral. It was not as easy to get to as it looked. Though rarely losing sight of the spires he involved himself in the crisscross of broad, similar avenues of the Old Quarter, took a wrong turning into Sorden Street and wandered down it between palaces of the seventeenth and sixteenth centuries rearing their elegant arrogant façades one against the other. From that sunless, silent grandeur he emerged into the glare and bustle of the Great Market. Men bent double, hauling carts, yelled at him to make way, heavy-shouldered horses pulled their wagons across his path, women selling leeks and cabbages shouted at him to buy leeks and cabbages, young women lugging sacks of gleaming vegetables jostled him with the sacks, old women lunged past him to make a bargain, fishmongers waved eels in his face and to avoid the eels he backed into beef carcases hung round the butchers’ stalls amidst shrilling swarms of flies. Portacheyka’s weekly market would not have filled a corner of it, it went on for blocks sprawling, displaying, hauling, carrying, bargaining, arguing, selling, buying, stinking, shining, shouting in the young heat of the August sun, and over it all, against the large, quiet morning sky, rose the dun spires of the cathedral.


    He made it safe to Cathedral Square at last. A few old people sat on benches on the west side under plane trees thick with summer dust. He stopped in the middle of the square, letting desultory cabs and purposeful walkers pass round him, and gawped at the cathedral of Krasnoy, the heavy, complex towers, the leap of the spires, the triple portal of carven saints and kings, the great bulk buoyant and serene as a ship under sail. He stood and looked, and the old men on the benches looked at him; they had seen the cathedral before. At last he went forward and entered the church under the north portal, under St Roch, auxiliary patron of the city of Krasnoy, smiling in the ogived shadow his stiff, kind, four-hundred-year-old smile.


    As soon as he came inside the cathedral he felt himself at home. It was home. His family, his people, had lived there for eight or nine centuries. Like the churches of the Montayna the cathedral was dark, bare, its high barrel vaults leaving a great deal of room for God. It was as simple and purposeful as a fort. Low Mass was in progress. Lost in the airy darkness of the nave a few people, faceless, separate, similar, knelt on the bare patterned pavement. Itale joined them. The priest droned, like the old priest of St Anthony of Malafrena, “Credo in unoom Deoom,” and the little old women in black shawls whispered, “Omni-potentem,” and like an unheeding angel or thunder among mountains the organ whispered on above them, rehearsing the high Mass to be sung on St Roch’s Day.


    Itale did not stay long. Reassured, yet restless, he went back out into the sun’s heat and brightness as the great bell struck ten, vibrating in the stone and in the blood. There was the city, the traffic, the faces of strangers, the streets of stone. He put on his hat and set off striding into River Quarter, without the least idea where he was going.


    Few cities in 1825 had much of a sewer system; this oldest quarter of Krasnoy had none at all, beyond paved or unpaved trenches in the middle of the narrow streets that wound down towards the river. The stench of River Quarter was a mighty presence in itself, more impressive even than the steep darkness of the streets between houses toppling their upper storeys across the way as if in conspiracy against the sky, and the noise of voices and the constant press and passage of people around the tenements. Out of these choked alleys shot up the fragile towers of old churches; from the noisy crowding at a ragged street-market one came suddenly into a silent square, to a covered fountain brimming with cool water and typhoid fever, and looked up to see on one hand the cathedral spires, on the other the pointed windows of the university on its hill, another world. In such a square Itale stopped. He was frightened. He was lost, had lost himself in the streets, the crowding houses, the dank archways leading to brawling courtyards, the voices, the smells, the swarms of children, women, men all nameless, so that he was nameless, knowing none of them, lost. He stood there holding onto his left wrist with his right hand, combatting panic. He sat down on the stone seat by the wellhead and gazed persistently at the pavement at his feet. On one stone was a smear and curl of human excrement. He gazed at it; at the stones beneath and around it, square bluish cobbles grained and glazed with dirt; at the thread of water gleaming in the jointure between two of them. That is all here, he thought; I am here; I cannot be lost. At last he looked up, looking slowly round him, and discovered that he shared the bench with another man.


    This one wore broken shoes without stockings and some kind of coat or cape, shapeless and colorless, wrapped carefully around him despite the warmth. He was old, the skull showing in his face. Out of webbed sockets his eyes stared straight at Itale, a terrible stare, until Itale realised he was blind.


    “Hello, granddad,” he said huskily.


    The old man munched and stared. Abruptly he spoke; Itale did not understand the wheezing voice and the strong dialect. “A long way from home,” he seemed to have said.


    “That’s true. Do you know of a street called Magdalen’s Tears, granddad?”


    The old man went on staring, muttering, “Eya, eya, eya, eya. . . .” He stood up, gathering the decrepit coat around him. “Come on!” he said.


    “Is it nearby?”


    “Mallenastrada, how can I tell you, come on!” Wheezing and muttering but moving fairly quickly he set off down an alley, and Itale followed. Children screamed playing or fighting in a courtyard as they passed. The old man cursed at them and waved his hand muttering, “Had a stick, had a stick . . . Eya, eya, eya . . .” Evidently he had some sight, for he picked his way without hesitation, and kept closer to Itale’s side than was agreeable to Itale, for he stank. He talked as they went, and Itale understood about half of it: he had been a tailor, till his eyes went bad and they turned him out of the shop, there was a brother-in-law who had done him wrong, a story about costs rising and shop rents; his voice cracked and grated, he chopped his rigid hands in the air and screamed, “Dirty Jews! Dirty Jews!” He felt or saw Itale sheering off from him and hurried his gait pathetically. “Almost there, young sir, almost there. That big church that’s Sankestefan, the basilisk, now this way, young sir.” They were at the base of the Hill of the University; streets shot up the hill in crazy angles and flights of steps. “Thought I was blind, eh, thought I was blind, eh!” The hobbling guide stopped. “This is it, Mallenastrada, this is it.” The street name Frenin had sent was the Street of the Tears of St Magdalen; Itale could see no sign or token along the narrow way or at the corner, but he was ready to get free of the old man. He gave him a quarter-krune, putting it into the rigid hand; trying to get it into some pocket or hidingplace in his ragged coat the old man dropped it, and Itale picked it up for him, for he stood blind and groping, unable to bend down to the pavement, and his hand was too arthritic to close on the little coin.


    Number 9, opposite the pawnshop, Frenin had written. There were no numbers, but there were two pawnshops. He tried across the way from the first one. A fat woman met him in the dark hall, which had a rich, sharp, feral stink of its own. She sent him up the stairs, which were alive with thin, scabby cats, all of them more or less white. He knocked on the door of the first landing, and Frenin opened it.


    The square, hard face, the familiar voice saying his name, were a tremendous relief and pleasure. They embraced like brothers. “It’s good to see you, it’s good to see you, Givan!”


    “Come on in.” Frenin began to repress his own pleasure. “Don’t let those damn cats in. Why didn’t you write you were coming?”


    “I came on the same coach the letter would have come on. Last night.”


    “Where are you staying?”


    “Fellow I met on the coach. Paludeskar.”


    “In Roches Street? The rutabaga baron?”


    “I don’t know—”


    “Well, you’re certainly coming in at the top.”


    “I don’t really know who they are. On the coach—”


    “They’re in Brelavay’s scandal-sheet every issue.”


    “Brelavay’s what?” Frenin’s manner irritated Itale a little; like everybody here, he seemed to know everything.


    “He’s working for a weekly society tattler, the Krasnoy Scurrility he calls it. Money, mistress, our Tomas is doing well.”


    Frenin’s tone was unpleasant.


    “Big place you have here,” Itale said. The room was low but long, and the almost complete lack of furniture made it seem vast.


    “Four of these rooms. Dirt cheap, even for the River. It’s too big, I’m getting out end of the month. Try this chair. The back falls off that one.”


    “What are you doing?”


    “Odd jobs for a Catholic monthly, and reading proof for Rochoy, the publishers. I get by. What are your plans?”


    “Find work, first.”


    “Work? What for?”


    It seemed to Itale, perhaps unfairly, that Frenin’s question was disingenuous.


    “What does one generally work for?”


    “Depends who one is.”


    “I have twenty-two kruner. That’s who I am.”


    He felt himself to be disingenuous. But it was not easy to talk about not having money. He got up and wandered around the shabby room, looking out the windows. “Your windows could use a wash.”


    “No help from home, eh?”


    “No.”


    Frenin, the son of a wealthy Solariy merchant, was as used to having cash in his pocket as Itale was, but he was also used to talking about money, both the having and the wanting, and that gave him now the advantage he always sought over his friend, and seldom gained.


    “Your father doesn’t approve of your coming here, I take it.”


    “Right.”


    “Is he an Austrianiser?”


    “Not in the least.”


    “Family quarrel, eh?”


    “It’s immaterial, Givan.”


    “Twenty-two kruner, eh. About two weeks’ worth. Well, what can you do?”


    “What anybody else can do—how do I know?” Itale said. His anger satisfied Frenin, who dropped his cool superiority of manner and said with a grin, “All right, all right. Are you looking for a place to live, or have you settled down with the rutabaga queen?”


    “I don’t know—my bag’s there— I don’t want to stay there.”


    “Why not? It’s free.”


    “I can’t . . .” Itale waved his hands. “Footmen at breakfast.”


    “How’s the young baroness at breakfast?”


    “I don’t know. Very polite. It’s—” He waved his hands again. “I shouldn’t be there.”


    Frenin grinned again. “Well, come here, if you like. It’s not Roches Street, or an estate on Lake Malafrena; but then it only costs fifteen kruner a quarter. We can share for a bit.”


    “That is very good of you, Givan,” Itale said with warmth and gratitude. His deafness to Frenin’s gibes exasperated the latter and at the same time disarmed him. He had never succeeded in establishing between Itale and himself the social barrier that his jealousy asserted to be there. At the same time a barrier did exist between them, despite all Frenin’s efforts to break through it: that of Itale’s careless, impervious personal reserve. Itale would not allow him to humiliate either of them; his flashes of anger were not followed by any grudge or punishment; he offered a simple, steady friendship. Frenin wanted more of him, though he did not know what more. What good was friendship? He wanted to get at this defenseless man, understand him, change him, and could not do it. It was perhaps for Itale’s sake, to keep in touch with Itale, that Frenin had conceived the plan of coming to Krasnoy.


    “We’ll settle it with the Catwoman. She was downstairs, wasn’t she? Mrs Rosa she calls herself. Listen, Itale. I’ve been here two months and nothing has happened—nothing is happening. There is no radical movement here.”


    Itale sat down at the table which, with three decrepit chairs, constituted the furniture of the room. “There has to be,” he said.


    “I haven’t found it.”


    “But the Cafe Illyrica—”


    “Old men and fifth-rate poets. And Austrian agents.”


    “There are secret societies—”


    “There were; they’re dead. Years dead. The Friends of the Constitution, yes, that’s still going, a lot of retired army men in the east, in the Kesena and Sovena, but not here. Nothing here. Unless you count Amiktiya.”


    “Well, then it’s up to us! A publication—what we talked about in Solariy.”


    “What’s the good? A literary monthly—”


    “Who won our bet concerning the power of the written word?”


    “Who got put under house arrest?”


    “Look here, 1789 didn’t rise unpremeditated from the breast of the people, it was the writers—”


    “All right, but we haven’t got any Rousseaus here.”


    “How do we know? Besides, we do have Rousseau, and Desmoulins, and all the French and English and American writing of the last hundred years to draw on. Why else is the government so afraid of print? Listen, I found something Gentz said recently, I’ve taken it for my guide, my inspiration—he said, ‘As a preventive measure against the abuses of the press, absolutely nothing should be printed for years. With this maxim as a rule we should soon get back to God and the Truth.’”


    “God and the Truth,” Frenin repeated softly in awed disgust, and they were both silent a minute. The opinion of the Chief of the Austrian Imperial Police was undeniably impressive.


    “All right,” said Frenin. “Assume a journal is the thing. How do we finance it, first, and who’ll dare print it, second?”


    “That’s what we’re here to find out.”


    “All right. Let’s go meet some people. . . .”


    Itale got back to the Paludeskar house at six, having spent the afternoon with Frenin at the Cafe Illyrica, which despite Frenin’s strictures was still, and would be for twenty-five years more, a meetingplace for radicals of all degrees. There they had met their friend Veyeskar from Solariy, a dark young man named Karantay who wrote stories, a pair of Greek refugees, a ranting alcoholic old poet who talked of his mistress Liberty, a group of students; the talk had been of Greece. As Itale walked up Roches Street he was telling himself that if nothing could be done here he would go to Greece, as Lord Byron had gone, to the plains of Marathon where they still laid down their lives for freedom. He was drunk with Greece and strong coffee and strong ideas, and was not sobered even by entering the large, rich, cold house. He strode up the marble staircase as if he owned the place, and hearing music in the room at the top of the stairs stopped a moment to listen, as if the music was for him.


    “Mr Sorde,” said Luisa Paludeskar at the piano, another splendid piece of gold and rosewood like the one downstairs, the evening sunlight striking gold through the long windows across her hair, music rippling under her long hands.


    “Baronina,” he said with untroubled resolution, “I must be leaving. May I thank you for your kindness, and hope that I will have the privilege of making some return for it.” The formal provincial turns of speech came ready to his tongue and he never wondered what conceivable return of hospitality he could make from a cat-haunted tenement in the River Quarter; he still spoke with his feet planted on the shores of Malafrena.


    “But you’re not leaving, Mr Sorde? We thought you would make our house yours for a few days at least!”


    She seemed dismayed, disappointed; he grew embarrassed. “It’s very good of you, baronina. An old friend of mine is here, he wants to put me up—”


    “But you can’t always desert new friends for old ones, and Enrike will be very disappointed.”


    “It’s very good of you—”


    “We know people, quantities of people, I had thought we really might be of some use to you.”


    “It’s very—” He had said it was very good of her twice already. “You’re very kind, baronina, but I—” He did not know what to say; his resolution dissolved like wet sugar.


    “At least you will dine with us tonight? I do claim that much!”


    “Of course, with great pleasure.” Damn the woman! As he went down the hall the house resounded to the abrupt brilliant harmonies, played very deftly, of a Mozart presto.


    After her talk of quantities of people, he had expected another large party, and was surprised when he went down to dinner (in his black coat well brushed by Robert) to find a partie carrée: himself, Luisa and Enrike Paludeskar, and a Count Raskayneskar. Baroness Paludeskar, a lady in waiting to the grand duchess, was dining at the palace. This dinner was, presumably, in Luisa’s style: intimate, elegant. The four French doors of the dining room stood open to the August night. Stars hung thick in the black sky, an intermittent wind moved in the shrubbery of the walled garden; the murmur of a fountain, the stir of leaves, the smell of damp earth and roses, the unease and subtle darkness of a summer night all entered and mixed strangely with the conversation at the candle-lit table. Luisa, at the head of the table, was so beautiful, so much more beautiful even than she had appeared last night or in the morning, that Itale was afraid of her; he vaguely felt himself to be in the presence of a dangerous force of nature, a forest fire or a maelstrom; it occurred to him that when poets called a woman a goddess sometimes they meant exactly what they said. Enrike wore an anxious, surly look and said very little, and Luisa and Raskayneskar ignored him.


    Raskayna was one of the great holdings in Val Altesma, thirty miles southwest from Malafrena. Itale knew the name well. He knew nothing about the landholder, and it was evident that if Raskayneskar had ever visited his estate it had been as no more than a visitor. He was entirely urbane. He was a well-kept man of forty or so, with long, liver-colored lips, a high forehead, and fine dark eyes.


    “So!” he said, leaning back a little, when they had come to the sweet wines. “It’s quite certain the Estates will meet.”


    “Lot of talk,” Enrike growled.


    “Not at all—unless you’re referring to the meetings themselves, in which case I agree with you! But they will be convened. Cornelius will announce it next month, I fancy, and the great event will come off in the autumn of ’27. Ha, ha, ha! do you know what the emperor said about these diets and assemblies? It rather puts them into perspective. He said, ‘I have my Estates, and if they go too far I snap my fingers at them and send them home. . . .’”


    “Just as Louis XVI did,” said Itale to his plate.


    “Oh, come,” the count said, genial, “the Estates General of France are one thing, our little Assembly is quite another. Its convention is merely an act of courtesy on the emperor’s part.”


    “If the Assembly is rude to him, will he snap his fingers?” Luisa asked.


    “Yes, of course; that is, Cornelius will do it for him, he needn’t be bothered himself.”


    “Has Cornelius that authority?” asked Itale.


    “As the prime minister of the head of the state, the grand duchess, I should think so. Possibly she’d have to do it herself.”


    “Under the Charter of 1412 the Assembly is subject only to the king. There’s nothing that subjects them to the orders of a duchess or her minister.”


    “Nothing but the Austrian army,” Raskayneskar said mildly.


    “If the grand duchess called in the Austrian army to close the National Assembly, that would constitute invasion. We are an ally and protectorate of the Empire, we are not an Austrian province.”


    “Paper truths, Mr Sorde. The Austrian army is here, now, controlling our provincial militias; no Assembly is going to try to lead us into a revolt, or a war if you prefer, against the most powerful state in Europe. The idea is laughable.”


    “That depends on one’s sense of humor,” Luisa observed.


    “True, very true,” said Raskayneskar, who never contradicted directly, but went at it round about. “When the balance of peace is so delicate, when there is the possibility of intervention by one of the great states, Russia perhaps—it’s not so much laughable as terrifying. The war years all over again. One can only respect Metternich for having, in these past ten years, made such a chance remote, a fantasy, rather than an imminent threat. An incredible man, Metternich! He bears the weight of Europe on his shoulders.”


    “If he put it down it might turn out to be able to walk by itself,” Itale said, with a slight tremor in his voice, but clearly. Enrike, whose sense of humor was simple, gave a snort of laughter, and then shut his eyes and turned red.


    “To walk straight into war, I fear,” Raskayneskar said.


    “I’d prefer to walk into war than to be carried into slavery.”


    “My dear young man,” said Raskayneskar, who had no desire to quarrel at Luisa Paludeskar’s table, “I don’t think you know much about war; and I fear slavery has become a fashionable word and so lost its significance. I suppose a black African on a plantation in the Carolinas is a slave, poor brute, but his situation has very little in common with yours or mine.”


    “I don’t know,” Itale said innocently; “the American slave can’t vote, has no representative in the government, and must get his owner’s permission to learn to read or write, or publish, or speak in public, doesn’t he? If he does any of that without permission he can be locked up for life without trial. I’m not sure how far our situations differ in those respects; of course we are allowed to wear frock coats.”


    There was only the slightest pause before Count Raskayneskar added, “And to read Jean-Jacques Rousseau.”


    “If we can find a clandestine edition.”


    The count laughed, indulgently, the laugh of a statesman addressing enthusiastic youth. Enrike shut his eyes again. Luisa laughed very softly, watching Itale. Then she turned to Raskayneskar and said, with all the manner of a hostess easing over a difficult moment, “Which reminds me, count, I am relying upon you for the Paris journals, you must not let me down!” —to which Raskayneskar replied courteously as ever, with a somewhat pinched smile. He cared nothing at all for Itale’s opinions, but he cared a good deal for Luisa’s opinion; and he knew now that he had lost a battle that he had not thought worth fighting.


    The next day he told a fellow bureaucrat in the Ministry of Finance that the convocation of the Estates was not entirely an empty gesture, since certain fashionable salons were openly cultivating patriotic sentiments. “Silly fads,” the colleague said, but Raskayneskar, pinching his long lips together significantly, murmured, “National pride. . . .” as if it were the name of a horse he thought of backing.


    Itale left the Paludeskars as early as he could decently do so, and found his way past the cathedral, around the Hill of the University, behind the basilica of St Stephen, through the frightening crowds and more frightening emptinesses of the River Quarter, to the narrow street where he was to live. He went to bed, and lay there on the pallet they had fixed up, his eyes on a crack of light under the door; Frenin was up, writing, in the front room. The night was warm and filled with voices and inexplicable sounds, the swarming city atmosphere. There was no silence. Itale thought of the garden of the Paludeskar house, roses in the dark, the fountain, the golden light on Luisa’s throat, and these images changed to yet more tormenting ones: vivid, unbearable: the roofs of Portacheyka, the neat, mountain-shadowed yard of Emanuel’s house, the lake, the window of his room above the lake. Never had he felt such anguish of homesickness. And among those glimpses of the lost beloved there were faces, all the faces he had seen in the streets, the sweating carriers, old women praying, the endless faces of the city, of the poor, and a rednosed, greyhaired man crying, “My mistress, Liberty!” and the bony, swollen, bare legs of the old blind man who had guided him.


    III


    “By the assistance of the Dog, man was ennerbled—”


    “Enabled.”


    “Enabled to hunt such animals as were necessary to preserve his own extents—”


    “Existence.”


    “Existence and to destroy those which were no-shows and the greatest enemies of his race.”


    “Noxious. Very good. Vasten, go on please.”


    Itale stood leaning his arms on the lectern, watching the three copies of Buffon pass from hand to hand, the fifteen serious faces. The youngest pupil was twelve; the eldest, Isaber the pupil-teacher, was sixteen. As each boy read, Isaber looked at him with fierce and pleading eyes. The bell of a nearby church struck noon, little Parroy gabbled through his reading, and Itale dismissed them. As the others left, Isaber came up to him.


    “Don’t look so worried, Agostin. They’re doing very well.”


    “It’s Vasten, sir, he won’t apply himself. . . .”


    Itale watched the boy with patient affection, his long thin throat in which the adams-apple bobbed up and down as he spoke, his big, red hands and clear eyes. Isaber never laughed, and smiled only when he thought Itale wanted him to smile.


    Another teacher looked in. “Hold on, Brunoy, I’m coming,” Itale said, and soon joined him. “Poor Isaber, what a conscience the boy has! Come on, I’m hungry. Oh God, how I am coming to hate the noble Buffon as translated by the noble Prudeven as executed by aspiring youth. . . .” They left the gloomy halls of the derelict grain storehouse, now occupied by the Ereynin School, where Itale had been employed as a teacher for six weeks. Someone at the Cafe Illyrica had mentioned the place, he had investigated, and found himself hired to teach Reading, Composition, and History five mornings a week before he had ever heard of the Lancaster system or Pestalozzi’s works on education. Ereynin, a philanthropical grain-speculator, had founded the school; fifty boys, sons of day laborers and artisans, were enrolled in it, some paying a low tuition, some none. It was the only lay school in the city where a poor man’s son might learn to read and write. In hiring Itale, Ereynin had given him a three-hour lecture on education, but that was the last anyone had seen of him: the rumor was that he had found a new hobbyhorse to ride. So far, by nagging Ereynin’s secretary, the three teachers had managed to draw their salary, but there was no money for books, chalk, coal, and so forth. Brunoy, who taught the younger boys, was philosophical. “It’s lasted over a year,” he said, “I never thought it would last so long.”


    As they came out into the sweet air of the October noon Brunoy coughed and laughed. “You like Isaber, do you?”


    “Of course.”


    “He worships you.”


    “That’s his age. You have to make a hero out of somebody, at sixteen. If there’s any purpose in this education business, it’s enlarging their world enough so that they can find proper heroes, real ones, instead of makeshift and tinsel.”


    “Why shouldn’t you be his hero?”


    “Because my heroism consists, first, in my educated accent—he thinks it’s educated, you think it’s provincial—and second, in the fact that I stand six feet tall. Discrimination,” Itale said, waving his arm, “discrimination is the purpose of education!”


    Brunoy smiled; they walked on a little way, and Itale broke out afresh, “I admire your patience so much, Egen,—I get cross with them— How do you stay patient?”


    “I have nothing but patience to fill the gap between my old ideals and my actual achievement.”


    “That gap—that gap between what we want to do and what we do—you call it patience, I call it waiting for God. It’s in that gap, that gulf, that creation occurs. But I haven’t the strength to wait, I leap in and try to play God. And spoil everything.”


    “Eleven,” Brunoy said to a short, dark, spectacled man walking briskly past them.


    “Thirteen,” Itale added.


    The man nodded, said, “Seventeen,” and went on past. When he was around the corner Itale released a stifled snort and said, “This life is crazy!”


    The short man in spectacles was the third teacher in the Ereynin School, a mathematician who believed that the secret of human destiny was written, codelike, in the sequence of the prime numbers. An atheist, he was offended by Brunoy’s and Itale’s inert Catholicism, and did his best to convert them to the mystery of the primes. The salutation they had just exchanged gave him a good deal of pleasure.


    “You don’t belong in it,” Brunoy said gently.


    He was a thin, brown-haired man in his early thirties, with a look of ill health and a mild manner. At first Itale had seen in him the signs of disillusion, enthusiasm soured, which he had learnt to expect from men of the generation before his who had given themselves to hopeless efforts of reform or innovation in education, economics, or politics in the century’s first two decades: old liberals, old radicals, still haunting the Illyrica, still breaking out with gusts of defeated passion, honest ineffectual ghosts. Very soon he realised that Brunoy was not this sort at all. A watchmaker’s son who had gone through the university on scholarship, unmarried, solitary, poor, Brunoy had not turned sour or cynical; he had merely accepted silence as his lot, silence until the end. Yet he had let Itale break that silence.


    “Nor do you,” Itale said as they went into the workmen’s tavern where they took their midday dinner.


    “All I ever wanted was to teach.”


    Itale brought their mugs of beer to the table. “Listen, you said you’d written something once, a theory of education.”


    Brunoy nodded.


    “Can I see it?”


    “I burned it.”


    “Burned it?” Itale said, shocked.


    “Years ago. It was unpublishable; the censors would never have let it pass. And the ideas are mostly current now in other men’s works.”


    “You shouldn’t—you shouldn’t burn your ideas— Could you rewrite it?”


    “No. The ideas are common now. And anyhow, why? There’s nowhere to publish anything of that kind.”


    “Yes, there is. Will be.”


    Brunoy cocked his head.


    “I am asking you for a contribution to the first issue of Novesma Verba.”


    Still Brunoy said nothing.


    “How do you like the name?”


    “‘The newest word’—I like it very much. But whose word?”


    “Ours. Me, Brelavay, Frenin, you—the country—Europe—mankind . . . I’ll tell you,—the name is my idea, the others like it, it sounds right, but I’ll tell you what it means to me. We have something to say, and we haven’t said it yet. We stammer. We try to learn to speak, like infants. We don’t know how. We say a little of what we have to say sometimes, in different languages, in a painting, in a prayer, in an act of knowledge. Every so often we learn a new bit of it, a new word. The newest word is the word Freedom. Maybe it’s no more than a new way of saying one of the old words. I don’t think so. It’s new. Still we’re a long way from being able to say the whole thing yet. But we must learn the new words, all of us, we must all be able to speak them. They’re no good if you don’t say them aloud. . . .”


    “O Prometheus,” Brunoy said very softly.


    “All right, that’s all my notions. The point is, it is now possible that we may actually publish this journal. And I am asking you to contribute to the first number. Since the first number will very likely be the last, my request gains urgency. . . .”


    Brunoy raised his beer-mug, gestured to Itale to do the same, and touched mugs in salute. “To Novesma Verba, long life!” They drained their mugs.


    “So?” said Itale, triumphant, setting down his mug.


    Brunoy shook his head.


    “Why not, Egen?”


    The older man looked down, was silent for a minute. Their food was served. Itale began to eat, shoveling it in, though he continued to watch Brunoy in puzzlement and hope. Brunoy looked at his plate, did not eat, and said finally, “Fear.”


    “I don’t believe you.”


    “Not fear of the Censor, fear of the police. If that was all I had to fear. . . .”


    He made some pretense of eating, set his fork down again.


    “In order to do what you’re doing, Itale, one must believe in it entirely, passionately. One must believe in the importance, the necessity of it. That belief is wealth, strength . . . health. . . .”


    “I don’t know that we’re doing the right thing, Egen, or doing it the right way. I am doing all I know how to do—all I can find to do— It may all be useless, worse than useless.”


    “You know it is not.”


    “I hope it is not. And you, too.”


    “I do not hope. I do not have time for hope. I am a poorer man than you know, than you’re able to know. You have no idea what poverty is, Itale.” He spoke with open affection, tenderly, so that Itale, confused between what he had said and how he said it, did not know what to reply.


    “I gave up all I had,” he said at last, painfully.


    “You gave up all you could. It’s not your fault you’re rich!”


    “What I care about— What I care about most in the world, it’s no use talking about it here, I didn’t know it myself, until I gave it up. That’s what’s so stupid, I keep going ahead, working for the time to come, that’s what I care about, you say. But what I know is that my home is behind me, that I’ve lost it—let it go.”


    “Your home?”


    “My home, no metaphor, I mean the land, the place, the house I was born in—the dirt, the stupid dirt! I am tied to that land like an ox tied to a stake. . . .”


    “If you don’t know where your home is, how shall you be a pilgrim? —You’re a hypocrite, Itale, you wouldn’t trade your homesickness for all the freedom in the world.”


    “But I am ashamed of it.”


    “Shame is the conscience of the rich.”


    “Oh, come on, Egen, write for us!”


    Brunoy coughed, smiled, shook his head.


    “You’re not afraid.”


    But his friend only smiled, luminous, elusive.


    When he left Brunoy Itale set off to see Brelavay, going some blocks out of his way to walk through the Eleynaprade. It was a sunny, hazy autumn day, the city grey and golden; leaves drifted underfoot in the walks of the great park. Itale liked the chestnut alleys and long lawns of old Queen Helen’s Fields, but the new “English” addition, with ruins, grotto, and so-called waterfall, struck him as contemptible. He thought of the caverns of Evalde over Malafrena, caves where sensation was drowned in the enormous, ceaseless thunder of an emprisoned stream plunging through darkness till it broke out torrential into sunlight and leaped to the lake a hundred feet below; what price plaster grottoes? He crossed the river on Old Bridge and headed out towards the Boulevard Prussia. All this section of the Trasfiuve had been built up in the last twenty years: long, straight streets of row houses, row after row after row. Because they were all alike there seemed no reason for any one of them to be there, and there also seemed no reason why they should ever cease, they might run on forever house after house, row after row: but if one walked on far enough, they ceased, stopped being, and with them the city ceased to exist, giving place to a field of burdock and mullein and shards, a dirt road going nowhere, perhaps a decaying shack or warehouse, and the hazy eastern hills. Walking those long dreary streets gave Itale the feeling of being caught in a stupid dream, and, as befitted the dream, when he got where he was going Brelavay was out. He left a note and started back. Crossing Old Bridge he leaned a while on the parapet to watch the silky bluish water running quietly to the south, reflecting the lindens of the Molsen Boulevard on the west bank. At the end of the parapet stood a stone figure of St Christopher, his large, stiff hand with fingers all the same length raised in benediction over all pilgrims and traffic of the bridge.


    River Quarter stank, shrieked, loomed, swarmed as ever, and in the doorway of 9 Mallenastrada sat the landlady Mrs Rosa, her seamed, dark face glowering over the cat, one or another of all her mangy cats, that sat in her lap. But she smiled tightly at Itale. She liked having a gentleman in her first-floor back, though he paid no more rent than the weaver’s family in the first-floor front. When Frenin moved out, she had divided the four rooms into two flats, which meant Itale had to go through his neighbor’s rooms to reach his own—a small inconvenience for a ten-krune rent. The weaver, Kounney, was at his loom when Itale came through; he was at his loom fourteen or fifteen hours a day. He worked on the putting-out system: the factory issued him thread, he worked at home, and returned the cloth to the factory for finishing and cutting: a system very popular among owners, since the workmen competed in isolation instead of cooperating in union. The smell of dye, the rhythmic thump and rattle of the loom, were ground-texture to all Itale’s hours in his rooms; the loom filled half that bare room where he had first talked with Frenin. The family were thin, fair, white-faced people, cautious and wary in their ways, subdued; Itale could not get much response even from the five-year-old, and almost none from Kounney; they were, he thought, afraid of him, afraid of everyone except one another. He slipped past the great complex loom on which the white band of cloth grew relentlessly slow, faultlessly even, like some inhuman process of the world, the movement of the shadow on a dial, the progress of a glacier. Kounney nodded. The baby was crying thinly in the other room. Itale sat down at his table to write, but his conversation with Brunoy and his fruitless errand into the Trasfiuve had left him depressed, and he lay down on the cot in the closet that served him as a bedroom, intending to read Montesquieu and forget his troubles. Within ten minutes he had forgotten them and Montesquieu as well, the book on his chest, his hands on the book, fast asleep. He was waked by a knock and staggered into the other room, which was full of hot red sunset light, expecting Brelavay. He did not recognise the red-haired man in the doorway.


    “Estenskar. We met at the Paludeskars’ in August.”


    It was Estenskar all right, the poet, the great poet. Itale stood staring, utterly floored.


    “Sorry to disturb you,” Estenskar said in his high, hard voice.


    “Not at, not at all— Please sit down— Not that chair, the back falls off—”


    Estenskar tested the back of Frenin’s chair, found that it did indeed come off the seat, removed it, laid it aside, and sat down on the seat as on a stool. “I came to make an apology, Mr Sorde.”


    “An apol, an apology—”


    “I had no right to be rude to you, that night.”


    “Every right,” Itale said, waving his hands.


    “I’m sorry about it.”


    “It’s absolutely unnecessary, Mr Est,” Itale’s throat dried up in the middle of the name.


    “No; it was necessary, if I wanted to talk with you again.” And Estenskar smiled, a brief, unjoyful, youthful smile. “There are a lot of stupid people at the Paludeskars’ and I have got into a habit of being rude to them, since they expect it of me. But to be rude to you was a mistake, and I knew it at the time. Are you really trying to found a review, a journal?”


    “Yes. Please, this chair’s all right—”


    “I like this one. How far have you got?”


    “Enough money for a couple of issues, and enough promised for several more. A printer who knows what he’s in for. A letter from Stefan Oragon, in Rákava—”


    “That could be more a liability than an asset.”


    “If the Estates meet it could be a real asset.”


    “What about the Censor?”


    “My friend Brelavay thinks he’s getting somewhere. With the—the man you mentioned. Goyne.”


    Estenskar gave his short, artificial-sounding laugh. “How many of you are there?”


    “Four of us from Solariy. Six or seven from Krasnoy now. Givan Karantay is one of them, perhaps you know him.”


    “Yes. A splendid talent and a good man. Virtuous; Givan Karantay is a virtuous man. You are lucky to have him. Is it to be a literary journal, then?”


    “At first. The Bureau seems more approachable if we keep to literature.”


    “Yes!” Estenskar said harshly but with real amusement. “You can always get around them in the long run, because they don’t really believe words can do anything, they don’t really listen to Metternich. He knows better! If Metternich could have his heart’s desire every poet in the Empire would be locked up in the Spielberg prison for the rest of his life. I admire Metternich, he is an enemy, an equal. He has the wits and the enlightenment to fear the power of ideas, the power of the word. He’s of the breed of ’89—not one of these nouveaux, these Gentzes with their turncoat opportunism and illiterate mysticism, these worthy servants of the Habsburg-Bourbon-Romanov-Cretins, who wouldn’t recognise an idea if it was pointing a gun at their empty heads. Thank God Metternich is off in Vienna and all we have to fight here is nineteenth-century stupidity, not eighteenth-century intelligence!”


    All barriers fell under that onslaught. “We’re calling it Novesma Verba,” Itale said, and they were off, interrupting each other, excited, ardent, gesticulating, pacing, while the red light flared and sank in the room, and the loom rattled next door, and the bells of St Stephen’s, the university chapel, and the cathedral struck six and all the quarters and then seven, and the roofs and chimneypots across the courtyard dimmed in brown autumnal dusk and grew dark and hard against the sky. Itale thought to light a candle at last. As he stood by the table, tinderbox in hand, making sure the wick had caught, he looked up and in the smoky light his eyes and Estenskar’s met.


    “You see why I had to come,” the poet said.


    “I am glad you did,” Itale said in his quiet voice.


    “I recognised you, that night.” Estenskar continued to watch Itale with his peculiar, yellowish, immobile gaze. “I don’t know if you know what I mean by that. One comes to certain places, certain persons, to which one must come. To fail to recognise them, to turn aside from them, is to fail one’s destiny. Do you know what I mean?”


    “I think so.”


    “But one’s destiny isn’t always good, you know—I think you haven’t considered that yet— Are you Catholic?”


    “Yes. As I eat with a knife and fork, and wear a hat instead of feathers.”


    “So was I. I took off the hat.”


    “Forms are unimportant,” Itale said broadly.


    “Not to a poet. But never mind. I’d like—I want to tell you about myself, Sorde.” He spoke with intensity, turning away from the light of the candle; then his voice hardened as he said, “I suppose you know all about it from the Paludeskars.”


    “I’ve never been back there.”


    “You haven’t? Luisa has spoken of you several times; I thought you went there often. But I’m surprised they said nothing that evening. Discretion’s not their virtue. They love gossip, the more sordid the better, the stupider the better—love affairs, they’re called. The old word for it is adultery. If you know me, you’ll know this, I’d rather tell you myself. Two years ago I performed the action known as falling in love; I became a lover. The object of my love is a married woman who is rather stupid, very greedy, very cruel, not particularly beautiful. As soon as I saw her she slipped her hands under my skin and took hold of me on the raw flesh and nerve and I’ve been her puppet ever since, I dance when she raises a finger. I am her possession. If she called for me now I would crawl to her house on all fours. I have stood on the doorstep and begged the footman to let me in, I have gone to her husband and asked him in t-tears— Excuse me, Sorde. I’m going. Not fit.” He had stood up, neat and abrupt in his well-cut coat and fine linen, his voice still clear, and was blundering towards the door. Itale, with no consideration of his act, blocked his way: “You can’t go now!” he said fiercely.


    Estenskar felt for the backless chair, sat down, sat hunched up for a minute, crying. He got out his pocket handkerchief and wiped his eyes and nose. “No good,” he said in a soft, boyish voice, and then, shoving back his red hair and speaking in his usual tone or very near it, “What’s your name?”


    “Itale.”


    “Amadey. What . . . What sort of cheese is that?”


    “Portacheyka.”


    “Did you bring it with you?” It was about a yard across.


    “My aunt sent it. God knows how she bribed the carrier; he brought it to the door here. Are you hungry?”


    They were soon sitting at the table; the huge cheese, looking more prosperous in its blue coat than its owner did in his, sat between them, with a knife, a half-loaf, and a jug of rather stale water. There was one plate. “I don’t do much entertaining,” Itale observed, “I like to keep to the old country ways, you know, nothing ostentatious, no plates, no forks, no manners.”


    “An aunt sent this, you said? What other family have you got up there?”


    “Aunt and uncle, sister, parents. Hardly counts as a family in the Montayna.”


    “More than I have. One brother, never leaves the estate. You’re the heir, then. You left something, to come here.”


    “It seemed the thing to do.”


    “The thing to do. . . .” Estenskar looked at Itale, at the cheese, at the candle-flame. “How easily you say that. And I can guess pretty well at how much you had to give to earn the right to say it. . . . To do the thing one has to do, that’s the way, the right road, of course. And I’ve lost it.”


    “But your writing—”


    “I haven’t written a word for months. Of course that’s my road, but when it leads to a wall? or a hole in the ground? . . . The End. You can’t start a book with ‘The End,’ can you?” He spoke without excitement, and went on munching his bread and cheese contentedly. “This is first-rate cheese,” he said. There was a knocking on the hall-door, the sound of voices in the weaver’s room, a rap on Itale’s door, and in burst Brelavay. He now sported a brocade vest and silk hat, but looked just as he had looked in college, thin, buoyant, and, ironic. “Victory! Triumph!” he proclaimed, and then noticed the stranger. “Sorry! Am I in the way?”


    “No, of course not— Tomas Brelavay, Amadey Estenskar. What’s up? Do you want some cheese?”


    “Very honored indeed, Mr Estenskar,” said Brelavay, taken aback and so looking ironic to the point of being diabolical. “I— This is a real privilege— No, I don’t want any cheese, for God’s sake, this is no time for cheese!”


    “What is it for?”


    “Go on with your cheese, please don’t let me disturb you. Will this chair hold together if I sit down carefully?”


    “I’ve got the trick one,” Estenskar said, still munching.


    “Did you talk with Goyne?”


    “I did. Late this afternoon. And I don’t want to hear any more talk about old Brelavay, he’s a jolly sort but he never does anything, I know the kind of talk that goes on among these damned seditious radical groups, especially since you haven’t got the manners to wait until my back’s turned. Do you want to hear what I said to Goyne and then what Goyne said to me and then what I said to Goyne with infinite tact and diplomacy und so weiter, und so weiter, or shall I—”


    “Come on, Tomas!”


    “Entire sanction and license for the publication of—”


    “No! By God! you got it!” Itale shouted, jumping up, and Brelavay, only less excited because he was so pleased with himself, said, “Let me tell you about it, will you?” They continued to talk more or less simultaneously for some while. Amadey Estenskar watched them. He was envious of their old friendship, envious of their jubilation, and dubious of it. What did it amount to, this little crack in the immense wall of indifference, this glimmer in the dead endless night of intellect? And yet this was what he had come here for, driven, exactly this, hope; and it caught at him as he watched them, so that exultation began to grow in him and brought him too to his feet. “Come on,” he said, “where do you fellows meet? The Illyrica? This calls for the open air.”


    “Exactly, come on, Itale!”


    “All right, I’m coming, just let me get my hat!” They ran down the black stairs, out of the house into the streets full of early night and a gusty, dry, autumnal wind blowing from the east. “Come on!” Itale urged when the others slowed their pace in the pressure of talk, and he went ahead, full of that same exultation and certainty, letting the dark wind of October blow by him and singing out loud the banned hymn, “Beyond this darkness is the light, O Liberty, of thine eternal day!” so that passing whores and locked-out children turned and laughed or looked at him.


    IV


    The same dry east wind was singing next day in the pines of the mountainsides and lashing up whitecaps on Malafrena, bright and wild in the morning sun. Piera Valtorskar came wandering down the lane that led through the valley from the pass. To her right lay the stubble fields and orchards of Valtorsa, to her left, the orchards and stubble fields of the Sorde estate. All things, trees, apples on the trees, clods, mountains, were distinct in the acute autumn light. Piera’s hair blew loose and her red skirt flashed in gusts of wind. In her left hand she carried an apple with a bite out of it, in her right a bunch of wild grass and flowers.


    Down from a side path along the Sorde apple orchard came a mounted horse with a neat quick gait. Recognising the fat mare and thin rider, Piera waved her wildflowers in the sunshine. Guide raised his hand in salute and came riding up to her. “I thought, whose lass is that in her Sunday dress? But it’s no one but thee in common clothes. . . .” Sometimes he called her by her title, sometimes he still used thou to her as to a child. She called him you and Mr Sorde, but that was the extent of her formality with him. At times she pondered the questions: did she love Mr Sorde as much as she loved her father? ought she to? and why did she? She found no answers, no scales for weighing love, no reasons. She loved him because he loved her. That she knew, better perhaps than he did. Not being responsible for her, he was free to show his feelings to her, as he was not free with his own daughter and son. He could play with Piera long years after he had ceased to tease and praise and play with Laura. He looked down at her now smiling, seeing the flash of her red skirt, her blown hair, her clear, bright eyes, seeing her a frail, wild bit of the bright day of wind; his look was praise.


    “I stole one of your apples, see? Should I put it back?”


    “Eat it, eat it,” said he.


    “It’s got a worm right through it.”


    “That’s the serpent that tempted thee, Eve.”


    She looked up at him and laughed. “May I feed it to Bruna? Are you in a hurry, Mr Sorde?”


    She stood at the mare’s head, offering the apple. Bruna tossed her head and mouthed her bit, and Guide had to slap the bit out so she could eat Piera’s apple. He did not mind humoring the girl and the wilful old mare. The beauty of the morning put him in a patient mood, a mood that fit the season; he liked the autumn above all seasons, because it brought him that quietness.


    “You’re going in to Portacheyka, Mr Sorde?” Piera asked in a ladylike tone. She was always changing that way from country Eve to proper miss, in a breath, for no reason.


    “Aye.” Guide shifted in the saddle and added the explanation: “The Post comes in today.”


    “Oh, of course.” Piera scrubbed her horse-slobbered hand with Bruna’s long mane quite as a child would do, while remarking with womanly tact, “And it’s a lovely morning for a ride.”


    “And for escaping lessons, eh?” he teased her a little heavily.


    “Oh, Miss Elisabeth never gets up till eight. I have hours and hours before lessons.” She was twining the one bright flower of her October nosegay, a last cornflower, into the mare’s mane. When Guide had left her and was riding on towards town his gaze fell on the blue nodding flower, and he felt a curious tenderness, an ache, as he looked at it. They passed on the road, she at sixteen and he at fifty-six, and she left him a blue cornflower twined in his horse’s mane. It was queer, he thought, how you met and passed souls thus, and a few of them left sweetness with you. You passed one another and parted, it might as well be forever, and yet there remained the touch of sweetness, and of pain.


    Piera wandered on towards Valtorsa, murmuring a French irregular verb. As she murmured, her mind, also, wandered. The Post came in today. It would stop, high, dusty, swaying, at the Golden Lion. On it, in one of the two or three mail sacks containing the fortnight’s correspondence to all the people of the Lakes, would be a letter to the Sordes, a square envelope of heavy, cheap paper addressed in black ink, the corners bent and dirty from the long trip. These letters were thoroughly familiar to Piera. Eleonora and Laura read them alone, read them together, read them with Piera, read them to each other, quoted them, misquoted them (especially Eleonora), interpreted them, dreamed about them, and twice a month awaited them with a longing that made the post coach’s delay a disaster, its arrival a festivity. Till now one or both of the women had driven in to meet the Post, and Piera wondered why this time Guide had gone. They were expecting something unusual, perhaps. That afternoon, when her lessons were over for the day, she told Miss Elisabeth that she was going to visit with Laura, and came straight along the lakeside path to the Sordes’ without any wanderings off to the side. By now she was certain that Itale was coming home—in fact he had probably been on the coach.


    Laura was seeing out the old tutor, Mr Kiovay of Portacheyka, who came once a week to read French with her, as he came to Valtorsa to improve Piera’s spoken French. He had improved the French of every young lady in Val Malafrena for forty years; and the French spoken there did not resemble that spoken anywhere else on earth, being, to a considerable extent, Mr Kiovay’s own invention. He had taught Eleonora, now he taught her daughter, whom he liked, because she was quiet; but he dreaded Piera. He quailed as she came up the path beside the mandevilia. “Que je vinsse!” she cried aloud at them. “Que tu vinsses! Qu’il vînt!” She had mastered the Past Subjunctive of Venir.


    “Mais viens donc!” said Laura.


    “Vient-il?” said Piera. Mr Kiovay escaped, while the girls went into the house. “There was a letter, wasn’t there?”


    “Mama has it, I’ll get it. They’re going to have a journal, Itale’s going to be an editor.”


    “But he’s not . . .” Piera did not finish. He was not coming home, of course. Whatever had possessed her to think he was?


    Laura prised the letter away from her mother, promising not to damage it or lose it, and went with Piera down to their favorite haunt on sunny afternoons, the lawn by the boat house, now a sweep of golden green in the mellow light. Sitting there Piera read and Laura reread Itale’s letter. It was, as always, rather stiff, bookish, impersonal. He talked about plans for the journal. He attempted to describe Amadey Estenskar, but on this subject his language became stuffier than ever, probably because he was self-conscious or over-conscious of his readers as he wrote. There was a good deal of detail about the complexities of dealing with the bureaucrats at the Censor’s office, which was hard to follow. But the dry, stiff letter was permeated, penetrated, shot through and through with joy. A great work to do, the friendship of great spirits, the road open before him, the world to be renewed and the strength to renew it.


    “What became of that baron . . . and baroness . . . that he wrote about at first?” Piera inquired, gazing out over the dark, bright lake.


    “He hasn’t mentioned them again,” said Laura, folding the letter carefully. “Oh dear, I wish . . .”


    “What?”


    “That I weren’t envious of him.”


    Piera brooded over this for a while. It did not make much sense to her at first. Laura was Laura, and was here; Itale was Itale, and was there. Piera’s mind did not easily mix the absent with the present. Her imagination did not move lightly in and out of possibilities; so she was seldom envious, and seldom discontented. She was cautious about entering the realm of the possible, for when she did her will came with her.


    “It really isn’t fair,” she said at last, “him getting all the excitement, and you none.”


    “It isn’t the excitement. It’s just that he’s . . . doing something, being someone. I don’t get bored, it isn’t that.”


    “I am so dreadfully bo-aaard,” Piera said nasally, imitating the eldest Sorentay daughter, and she and Laura both giggled.


    “I never get bored. I just feel unnecessary. It’s what Itale says here about Mr Estenskar, that’s what I mean—” She already knew the sentence by heart: “‘He seeks with all his strength to find the way that he and only he can, and hence must, follow.’ So is Itale trying to do that. And he will do it. But anybody in the world could do everything I do.”


    “Nobody else could be Laura Sorde, though.”


    “What’s the use being me if I don’t do anything?”


    “If you weren’t you what would I do? Who would I talk to? How could I even be me? Anybody can run around doing things, but nobody can be you except you. And I hope you never change.”


    “I won’t change in what I love,” Laura said. Her face was turned to the western sunlight and the dark reflecting bulk of San Larenz Mountain above the lake. “But you see, you’re already in love, you’ve started on your way. . . . I haven’t. I have no way. I just wait and time goes by and by and by and life goes by. . . . Surely I was made for more?”


    Piera did not answer for a while. She felt more than the three years’ age difference between herself and Laura, the very great difference between sixteen and nineteen years old; she felt an inferiority of character that had nothing to do with age. She was in love, Laura said. And indeed six weeks ago she and Alexander Sorentay had become secretly engaged, and she had rushed to tell Laura the secret and show her Alexander’s carnelian ring on a chain around her neck. That was so, that was true. But as Laura spoke Piera blushed as if she had been caught stealing jam. She was engaged to be married, but she did not, in her deep heart, take it seriously. Laura did. It would never occur to Laura that one might experiment with betrothal, or play at love—that one could even speak of being in love without having given one’s whole heart. The little girl felt Alexander’s carnelian ring a cold lump against her breastbone, and thought, “I’m a pig, I’m a pig, I’m a pig.”


    “When you fall in love,” she said, “it’ll be with a tremendous man, a king. Nobody around here! A man from far away, a man like a lion, and you’ll go away with him and see, oh, I don’t know, Vienna and all the cities, and do wonderful things, and write letters home and I’ll be envious. . . .”


    “Silly,” said Laura. “What would I leave Malafrena for? Let’s go to vespers at St Anthony’s, Peri.”


    “Oh, Miss Elisabeth wanted to, I forgot. Come on!” Piera jumped up like a branch suddenly released; Laura uncurled and followed her. They left the letter with Eleonora, went by Valtorsa for the pony cart and the governess, and got to St Anthony’s barely in time for the service. There at the base of San Larenz the sunlight was long gone. The granite chapel looked like a toy set down between the forested ridge and the deep curve of the lake. Inside the chapel smelled of stone, whitewash, balsam, pine. The two girls, the fat, quiet governess, a young peasant couple, and three old women were all that evening’s congregation. They heard vespers in the silence of the lonely place, in the growing cold of the mountain evening. When they came out the far reaches of the lake were grey with dusk and the water in the shadow of San Larenz was streaked with a cold, strong, silent wind rising.


    Laura and the priest, Father Klement of Sinviya, old friends, fell to talking, and there was a matter of arranging to have some firewood brought to the cottage of one of the old women, and then the priest came back with them in the pony cart for supper at the Sordes’, so that Piera and Miss Elisabeth got home rather late, delaying supper at Valtorsa by a few minutes. After supper Count Orlant, Miss Elisabeth, neighbor Rodenne, and the count’s new overseer played whist. Vist, it was called in the Montayna, and many autumn and winter evenings were given up to vist. Auntie sat in her straight-backed chair, a ball of red yarn on her lap. Piera sat by the marble fireplace with her lesson book. She was supposed to write a composition on the Duties of the Young Female. She hated to write compositions, or letters, or notes, or anything. They were always very dull, and then Miss Elisabeth made red circles around the misspellings. She had composed one sentence so far: “Young girls should be obeidient.”


    “Auntie, would you like me to read to you?”


    “No, my dear,” said Auntie, slowly, slowly rewinding the red yarn.


    “Young girls should be obeidient.” Piera thought and thought. “They should not argue or talk very much loudly. Their are numierous things young girls should not do. But these are not duties.” Her pen made a row of dots on the paper, then of its own accord drew three profiles of young men with large eyes and noses, facing left, and a lion with a curly mane, facing right. “Young girls should get M and have B” she wrote very small and then crossed it out very black. “It is important for them to learn there lessons but less important than for young gentlemen to learn there’s as they will find them more useful in life. They should be neat and orderly.” The pen drew three maidens with Grecian noses all facing left. Piera gave it up and began to watch the card-players.


    Her father had his cards up under his nose, not because he was suspicious, but because he was nearsighted. Neighbor Rodenne had a good hand and looked smug. He was a small landowner; vist and hunting were his passions, and he had never married, stating that a wife would keep him from vist and hunting. Miss Elisabeth looked, as usual, contented. She was a placid soul; nothing stirred her; she praised God with a mild heart. Next to her the new overseer, Gavrey, looked thin and sharp as a knifeblade. He was a Val Altesma man, and had been with Count Orlant only a month. Piera had not paid much attention to him, as he was always busy with papers and account books, speaking to her father but not to her, and missing dinner more often than not because he was working in the office or the orchards or the fields. He was sitting quiet now, alert, studying the other players’ faces; so Piera studied his. He was a good-looking man, thin-lipped, dark-eyed, with a ruddy brown complexion. The best thing about being engaged to Alexander, Piera thought, was that it gave her a safe refuge, a look-out tower, from which to look at other men.


    Since she was twelve she had been trying to fall in love. It was hard work, falling in love with pictures, strangers glimpsed in Portacheyka, heroes of romantic novels, and the few boys she met who were not put out of the running by warts or stupidity. It was hard work and unrewarding. But she kept at it. She practiced: as a musician practices on his violin, not coldbloodedly, yet methodically, not for present profit or enjoyment, not because he longs to play each scale ten times over, but because to play the violin well is his gift, his need, his job. So Piera practiced at the art of love. She had known Alexander Sorentay all her life. No social event took place along the northern lake-shore without representatives from the Sorentay, Sorde, and Valtorskar families. In the last generation the latter two had got few in numbers, even to the point where the Valtorskar name would die with Piera; but the Sorentays abounded. There were never less than fifteen of them under the dynastic roof, northwest of Valtorsa in a flank valley of Sinviya Mountain. The senior family of the estate had six children, three girls and three boys, all tall and boisterous except the eldest, Alexander, who was short and quiet. He was Laura’s age, and when they were both sixteen he had written her a long love-letter embellished with quotations from The New Heloise (which his mother had borrowed from Eleonora the year before and forgotten to return). Laura had shown the letter almost at once to her mother, who counselled inaction. Nothing had come of it except a lasting embarrassment for both Laura and Alexander; at every party the memory of the letter lay like a tombstone between them. For three years they danced together at every dancing-party in stony and tormented silence. It was a great relief to Laura when she could hand Piera over to Alexander and do her dancing with Papa Sorentay, the uncles, the cousins, the brother-in-law, and the rest of the inexhaustible fund of Sorentays. This handing-over took place at the August ball, the ball they had discussed one July evening by the lake, the ball to which Piera wore a white gown with gold flowers embroidered down the bodice, her first evening gown. Alexander gawped at her as if he had never seen her. Indeed he never had. In her first evening gown Piera was new as the newborn, her childhood left behind, her womanhood fresh from the hands of God and the seamstress. By midnight Alexander had decided that if she would not marry him life was meaningless. Three weeks later, in the evening of a long, loud picnic day in the pine forest across the lake, he climaxed a spasmodic but earnest wooing with the offer of marriage. Piera accepted at once. “Yes,” she said. She was sitting on a fallen log near a stream. Alexander hovered about her, not daring either to kneel or sit down.


    “May I speak to your father?” he said.


    “Perhaps we should wait a while,” she said.


    She gave no reason why, and he asked none. They agreed without discussion that the engagement should be kept secret; neither thought to ask why. They were in perfectly good faith. Alexander, experiencing real desire, never questioned that he was in love. Piera was more aware that they were playing a game, yet it was not a game to her; what she was playing was the moto perpetuo or the tarantella that follows the well-practiced scales; a beginner’s piece, but music. She did not know why he said he would marry her. She said she would marry him because she needed to practice her art. She scarcely thought about their getting married. They were engaged to be married: betrothed. That was enough, for the present. They deceived each other—Piera deceived him more than he did her—and they deceived themselves—he deceived himself more than Piera did herself. But they were quite happy. Piera looked up into Alexander’s blocky, callow face, and he looked down at her sitting on the log and said, “My bride!”


    Later on he said, “Our properties touch, you know, at Galia’s Hill.”


    He was the principal heir to the Sorentay property; Piera was the only heir to Valtorsa. The joined estates would be an excellent holding. Piera found it very interesting that he had seen this and thought about it; she admired him for doing so. Her father was an impractical man, inept at the management of his property and miserable when he had to deal with money matters. Guide Sorde was always trying to set him straight. But Guide, though a good farmer and manager, was not a practical man either; he loved the work, not the profit from it. Alexander saw the work neither as a punishment nor an end in itself, but as a means to an end. He preferred work in the estate office to the fields, and had been his father’s accountant for two years. All his talk of loss and profit, income and outlay, was quite new to Piera, and she listened with deep interest to all he told her. That intelligent interest, and her honest and unqualified admiration of his talents, soon won Alexander to her with a bond stronger, perhaps, than his desire.


    The sweetest moment of it all for Piera was when she told Laura that she was betrothed. She felt triumph; Laura felt envy; but those were mere emotions, twinges, straw on the current of their friendship. Piera’s love-affair brightened Laura’s life, a life that ran too quiet and too solitary; while, without Laura, Piera would not have enjoyed her betrothal very much at all. Indeed she preferred talking about Alexander with Laura, to being with Alexander himself.


    She did not see him often, as he could not call on her openly. She had requested secrecy, and a call from a young man on a young woman, in that small watchful society, was as good as a proposal. They met in secret, and Laura’s connivance was needed to arrange the meetings. She was as drunk with the romance of it all as Piera and Alexander; she waited on guard on the lawn beneath the stars, tense and ecstatic, while they whispered in the shadow of the boat house. She was perhaps happier than they.


    They had kissed once: the first evening. Given abruptly and received awkwardly, the kiss had landed near Piera’s ear. After it neither had dared move. They had held still so long their necks began to ache. Piera had tried with all her heart to feel delighted, but not even when she was alone could she manage it; and she did not mention the kiss to Laura. Alexander did not offer to repeat it. At most he held her hand: and when he did, his was wet. She did not much like that soft, nervous touch, and as they talked would contrive to withdraw her own hand, and he would not notice.


    Once, in one of the endless conversations that were their chief pleasure, Laura had said, “You know, Peri, I can tell you something now.”


    “What, what, what?”


    “Nothing really. I used to wonder what it would be like if you and Itale fell in love. You know how you think things like that, just arranging the world to suit yourself. . . .”


    Piera nodded.


    “It wouldn’t have done at all, really.”


    “Why not?”


    “Oh—his politics. And both your tempers. And anyhow, he isn’t Alexander!”


    As she sat by the fire, her composition on the Duties of the Young Female on her knee, Piera thought again of that brief conversation, of Laura’s wistful, teasing, loving look, and the same chill of fear ran through her. Fall in love with Itale, marry him? No! That was something altogether different from Alexander Sorentay and being engaged and holding hands. That was no game she could play, nothing she could manage, it was not to be thought of; nor was he to be thought of, the scent of mandevilia, and the roar of summer rain, and the door open and he standing there. She had not read the book he had given her, the New Life. It stood in her bookshelf in her room, and she never took it out. And she had believed, this morning, that he was coming back! That was nonsense. He was not coming back. He was gone.


    Auntie’s eyes had closed, her fingers lay motionless on the red yarn. “Young girls should be obeidient. . . . They should be neat and orderly. . . .” Piera yawned, and neighbor Rodenne said grinning from the card table, “Don’t swallow the fireplace, contesina!”


    Voices and steps outside. Piera bounced up; visitors, thank God! It was Father Klement wanting a word with Count Orlant about the next meeting of the Catholic Men’s Sodality of Val Malafrena, and the Sordes come along with him for the walk. Eleonora had brought some new silks for Auntie. “Is your rheumatism any better, Auntie dear?” she asked, and the old lady, raising her clear grey eyes from sleep without the least surprise, said, “No.” Guide and neighbor Rodenne fell to talking hounds. Piera went off to the kitchen to stir up the cook, for Count Orlant never let a guest leave unfed. The new overseer rose from the interrupted vist game to stretch his legs and warm his back at the fire. Laura, who had seen him only a few times before, asked politely, “Are you liking it here at Malafrena, Mr Gavrey?”


    “Aye, miss,” he answered. She blushed as she always did when talking to a stranger. That was all their conversation.


    As the Sordes went home by the lake-shore path Laura asked, “What sort of man is Count Orlant’s new overseer, father?”


    “A considerable improvement. He may get the estate run something like properly, if he keeps at it.”


    “I can’t find out much about him,” said Eleonora. “Of course he’s not one of the Gavres from Kulme, it’s Gavrey; his father’s a farmer, freeholder, near Mor Altesma, he’s the second son. He’s very closemouthed, none of the women at Valtorsa know a thing about him. I hope he’s honest. How can you trust a closemouthed man?”


    “You can trust him not to blabber,” Guide said with dry good humor. He was still in the good mood of the early morning. He breathed the night air of autumn as they walked, felt his body as straight and lithe as ever, and held his wife’s arm in his own. Fifty-six wasn’t the worst time of life. It was pleasant to walk home in the darkness of October, under pines and stars, between two well-beloved women.


    When Laura bade him good night before going upstairs he kissed her and sketched the cross on her hair, as he did rarely since she was grown.


    Eleonora watched, and thought, “You have your daughter, but I do not have my son.” But the flicker of bitterness was lost as she looked at Laura’s face: all evening long, as always when she was tense or troubled, Laura’s likeness to her brother had been very strong, Itale had been in the turn of her head, in the tone of her voice. On whose head had Guide set his blessing? His eyes, his hands, were kinder than his head, and wiser.


    She followed Laura upstairs after a little. As she passed the empty bedroom something moved, a figure between the doorway and the grey starlit window.


    “I thought you were in bed.”


    “I wanted to look at the lake.”


    In her white nightgown Laura was very tall and thin, a white crane startled from the reeds at night.


    “You’re barefoot! Come to bed before you catch a pleurisy.” She followed Laura to her bedroom, which looked out onto the valley, the orchards, San Givan dark against stars. The window was half open, letting in the sweet, dry odors of an autumn night in farmlands. Laura curled up in bed, her mother sat down by her. Her long, thin hand lay on the coverlet, and the girl looked at it and at the wedding ring, of soft gold, worn thin.


    “Mama, when you fell in love first. . . .”


    “With your father.”


    “Not the Cavalry Lieutenant?”


    Eleonora laughed, and her underlip drew in, demure and sly. “Oh, no; that was just moustaches . . . and the boots. . . .”


    “Can people fall in love intentionally?”


    Eleonora considered. “I really don’t know. It sounds very odd. But I believe . . . Well, so much of love comes after marriage. At least for us.” She meant, for women. “I don’t believe one can force an inclination; but if it is there, one can certainly improve upon it.”


    They sat in peaceable silence for a minute, the girl thinking forward, the woman thinking back.


    “Wasn’t Father Klement funny about the soup?”


    They both laughed. “I never see him,” said Eleonora, “but I think of the grey hen Eva was so fond of, do you remember it? it had such a peculiar way of clucking when it laid an egg, he sounds very like it.” They both laughed again. Guide’s step was on the stairs, coming up; Eleonora rose. She looked at her daughter with her head a little to one side. “You’re sad,” she said.


    “Oh, no.”


    The mother said nothing, but continued to gaze.


    “I miss Itale. On letter nights.”


    “It’s high time we answered Matilda’s letter.”


    Eleonora’s brother Angele Dru and his wife Matilda, in Solariy, had invited Laura to stay with them over the winter.


    “I’d rather go in spring,” Laura said imploringly.


    “The winter down there would be good for your chest. And some new faces at Christmas. . . . Well, we really must think about it, dear. Put your feet under the covers, do you breathe through your toes? Good night, my darling.” Eleonora blew out the candle on the chest of drawers and went out, a little round figure in the darkness. Laura did not lie down, but put her feet obediently under the covers; with her arms round her knees she sat for a long time looking out at the mountain and the hazy stars beside and above it, flaring in the gulfs of night and autumn and the wind.

  


  
    PART THREE


    Choices
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    IN THE autumn of 1826 Piera set off for Aisnar, some forty miles north of her home, to complete her education. Her father went with her, and Miss Elisabeth, who was a native of Aisnar, and Cousin Betta Berachoy of Portacheyka who wanted to visit friends there and was of course invited to share the Valtorskar carriage, and Count Orlant’s man, and old Godin who had been the Valtorskar coachman for fifty years. They set off from Valtorsa on a morning of late September in the immense, creaking, luggage-laden family carriage, older even than the coachman. Piera’s face, pressed to the window to bid farewell to her friends and Malafrena, looked small and pale. Laura burst into tears, and Alexander Sorentay trotted his horse beside the carriage all the way to Portacheyka, though he could not talk to Piera since the window was stuck shut.


    There had been some coolness between him and Piera that summer. As the secret engagement wore on into its second year, he had begun to question the necessity of its secrecy; and Piera had at once begun a quarrel with him. It did not get very far, because he would not quarrel: he went into a flat panic at the thought of losing her. He promptly revived the New Heloise and the meetings at the boathouse after dark. But Piera had played all those scales a hundred times, and was getting bored. She would have much preferred a good quarrel and either a reconciliation with tears or no reconciliation and a broken heart; but Alexander would not quarrel. He was staunch, he was tender, he was patient, he was faithful. He said, “Every hour you’re gone I’ll think of you. I will never change, Piera!” She had wept at their last parting. Now as the carriage came to the wide gates of Portacheyka, Alexander reined in his horse and raised his hand in farewell. She looked back at him as long as she could through the yellowish isinglass of the rear window of the carriage. She pressed her hand against the carnelian ring beneath her bodice. She saw the young figure on the motionless horse dwindle away, dwindle away down the street, as if she saw her own childhood, the years spent amongst dreams and mountains in the stillness of Malafrena valley, dwindle away behind her and be lost to sight. Yet her eyes were dry, now. “Discreet young fellow, that Sandre Sorentay,” Count Orlant said with a chuckle that was, for him, sly. “I wondered if he’d have the face to escort us straight through town. . . .”


    Through Portacheyka and out through its northern gate, past the ruined Tower Keep of Vermare, down into the golden lands. Towards evening a fine rain fell, veiling the hills. Concerted efforts had got the window unstuck, and Piera leaned out head and shoulders into the grey, wet freshness. Count Orlant was not one for long stages, and old Godin was protective of the fat horses: they spent the night a little less than halfway, at the inn of Bovira village. Next day they came down out of the hills, onto the long, faintly rolling plain of the Western Marches, a quiet sea of earth. In the evening they came to Aisnar and drove up Fontarmana Street beneath plane-trees already touched with gold, beside fountains, between grave, high houses to left and right. Piera had visited Aisnar when she was eight. All she remembered of it was Fontarmana Street, the fountains, the over-arching trees. Now she saw the houses row after row, the elegant equipages at the Round Fountain, well-dressed women walking in a way no woman in the Montayna knew how to walk; she was wild with silent excitement. The city, she thought, the city, the city!


    It was a very quiet city. The loudest voice in Aisnar was the voice of water: the fountains. There were no still covered wells; the water leapt up into light and air and fell back with a silver rush at every corner and courtyard. From the dormitory of the convent school two fountains could be heard, the bright, thin jet down in the court and the Ring Fountain on the triangular place in front of the school, a dialogue without pauses, sweet and serene, like a colloquy of blessed souls who have been so long together in heaven that they can talk and listen at the same time. That was Piera’s fancy, her first nights in the dormitory. Her mind ran more than usual on images of the blessed, since she had not before lived among nuns, and worn a nun-grey uniform, and walked by twos on the street—nun, little girls, middle-sized girls, big girls, nun—and knelt with fifty other girls and women at dawn on bare stone in a bare chapel for hour-long devotions. None of the customs of this new life fretted her, even after her father had gone and silent excitement had turned into silent and miserable homesickness. She liked the city, the school, the new friends, and willingly changed her garnet-red skirt for the grey uniform, not pining for the long liberty of her childhood. She did not pine for her father, Laura, the familiar beloved faces of home. It was her home itself she missed, Valtorsa, the high cool rooms, the orchards and vineyards and fields, the line of the mountains on the sky, the lake, the stones of the lake-shore. Piera was one to whom the thing, not its use nor its meaning, but the thing itself mattered; she knew the thing only, as a lark knows the sun or a wolf the rain. What was given her she accepted, willingly. But what was taken from her she missed, and did not cease to miss.


    All round Aisnar stretched calm, soft-colored fields. On clear days Piera looked southwards from the windows of the convent school, to see the bluish drift or massing of clouds, the clouds behind which lay the mountains and the lake.


    She was seventeen. She had grown an inch since April. The conventual fashion of her hair revealed a broad forehead, gentle and stubborn, like the forehead of a little bull. In the grey school dress she looked cleanly and novicelike, and she moved and spoke more quietly than she had used to do; for she was in love now with the French teacher, Sister Andrea Teresa, a frail woman of infinite restraint, and all that was restrained, delicate, modest, gracious was now holy to Piera. All her thoughts that autumn were devotional. At the height of her love for Sister Andrea Teresa and in the spirit of Christian sacrifice, she wrote Alexander Sorentay, returning him his carnelian ring. The letter was sincere and tender, written in an ecstasy of renunciation. But for the rest of her life she never thought of it and of the grubby little packet containing his ring without a deep, hard stab of shame.


    Came Christmas; she did not go home for the holidays, for the Montayna roads were deep in snow and rain and mud. She would have liked to stay on at the school, with the nuns, as did a few other girls; but obedient to her father’s wish she went to stay with the relatives they had stopped with in September, cousins on her mother’s side, the Belleynins.


    The house was on the New Side, in Prince Gulhelm Square, four blocks from the Roman Fountain. It was about a hundred years old, built of the yellow Aisnar sandstone; in its walled garden was a little fountain. Inside and out the house was plain and elegant, more shabby than shiny. The aristocrats of Aisnar did not polish. Silver needs polishing, gold does best left alone; that was their attitude. Emerging from their walled gardens and high-ceilinged privacies they could be formidable, but they were not arrogant; they were too peaceable. Their manners were reserved and gentle. They had been civilised for a long time, here in the west of the country. Piera, who unlike Laura and Itale was seldom at the mercy of overpowering emotions, felt at ease amongst these people. Her feelings were slow-moving, obscure, and mute, beneath a surface play of vivacity. In the convent and with the gentlefolk of Aisnar the vivacity was subdued, the reserve refined; she behaved with the pleasant sedateness of seventeen. The Belleynins had already become very fond of her. He was a handsome, short man of sixty with a slight stammer, she, born Countess Rochaneskar, was a delicate grey-gold lady of fifty. Their two daughters, long since married, lived one in Brailava, the other around the corner. Life in the house in Gulhelm Square was ordered, serene, a little desolate. Since it was Christmas time and they had a young guest the Belleynins did more entertaining than usual, yet the days passed very quietly. Piera fitted in so well that she might always have lived there, might have been their late daughter and have played away a solitary childhood in the golden-walled garden on the lawn between the pear tree and the fountain.


    Very much the same people were at all the holiday dinner parties and evenings of the Belleynins’ circle. Most of them, to Piera’s eyes, were old. She did not mind. She was used to being the youngest, and knew how to enjoy the position. And among the elderly she did not feel threatened. Young men were frightened and frightening; things always went awkwardly with them. It was much easier to talk to men of forty, there was nothing serious about it, it was like meeting an interesting foreigner.


    The New Year’s Eve party was at the house of a close friend of the Belleynins’ son-in-law, a widower named Koste. His sister was hostess, and his young son was allowed to stay with the guests for an hour before being taken off to bed. Piera and six-year-old Battiste had met before and had taken a fancy to each other. She had not been with little children very much, and she found the little boy’s conversation wonderfully funny and touching. He was as handsome and well-bred as his father and his maiden aunt, but had not yet achieved their deep reserve: he prattled to Piera, admired her artlessly, and pleased her by giving her a trust and affection she had done very little to win. It was a pleasant task to attempt to deserve them. When the father, a shy, grave man, reproved Battiste for bothering her, she defended the child warmly. That earned her Battiste’s gratitude; also, perhaps, the father’s. When Battiste’s hour was up she went with his nurse to see him to bed, and got warmly kissed, and returned to the salon thinking what an extraordinary thing a child was and how pleasant it would be to have children around. Just as it was pleasant to have men around, to hear the bass notes of the human voice, not always the tweedle-tweedle-tweedle of the convent. She sat down near the fireplace. The party was cheerful and quiet. Talk flowed as clear and unhurried as the water of the fountains of Aisnar. There were some faces Piera had not seen before, but their owners behaved like all the rest. The quarter-hours slipped by quickly, marked by the tiny ping! of the French clock on the mantel. Piera sat mostly in silence, enjoying her silence, her decorum, the knowledge that by it she pleased the others. At ten a few last guests entered, Baron Arrioskar and his wife and sister and brother-in-law and their visitor from Krasnoy.


    The visitor was a young woman. Perhaps in deference to provincial sobriety she wore no jewels at all, but her violet dress was magnificent, and her bearing was superb. A woman who could walk like that did not even need to be beautiful. Piera sat and gaped at her. She could not keep her eyes off her. All her standards of the admirable shook to their foundation. What was Sister Teresa beside this? mild, tenuous, sterile. This was not the brittle beauty of restraint, but the splendor of a woman’s strength and freedom. “She is wonderful,” Piera thought, “that’s what people ought to look like, she is wonderful.” They were introduced: Countess Valtorskar, Baroness Paludeskar.


    The lady from the capital acknowledged the introduction in a cool, distinct contralto and prepared to be led on to the next introduction, but Piera spoke, utterly without premeditation. “I believe we both know a mutual friend, baroness,” she said, terrified at what she was saying and how stupidly she said it. The beautiful baroness smiled inquiringly.


    “Mr Sorde, of Malafrena—”


    “Sorde!” Baroness Paludeskar’s onward movement definitely ceased, and her eyes for the first time definitely looked, for an instant, at Piera. “Really, do you know him?” she asked indulgently.


    “We’re neighbors of the Sordes’, my family. In Val Malafrena.”


    “Then you’ve known Itale a long time.”


    “All my life,” Piera said; and blushed. No becoming rosy flush but a hot, red blush; her cheeks stung, her ears sang; she stood rigid and could think nothing but “O please stop, stop, stop!” If the beautiful baroness would just go away, go on, then this stupid embarrassment would pass off, she would never say anything to a stranger again.


    The baroness smiled at her escort, relinquishing further introductions, and sat down in the gilt chair by the hassock on which Piera had been sitting.


    In despair, Piera sat down, and folded her hands in her lap.


    “My dear cousins have walked me clear around Aisnar twice today, I think,” the baroness said, and smiled a mischievous, friendly smile. “I have been longing to sit down. But what a pleasure to meet someone that knows Itale! I’m very fond of him, you know. We’ve known him since he first came, what is it, over a year now. How he’s changed!”


    “Yes, he—has he— How?”


    “Oh, well, when he first came he was funny, you know—very stiff, disapproving, altogether suspicious of everyone. It was inexperience; he cuts a quite impressive figure now—without intending to, I should add.” Her voice was beautifully modulated. Piera listened to it with fascination, and smiled stiffly in response to the lingering, mocking, friendly smile, which deepened now. “Tell me, tell me,” the baroness said, leaning forward ready for confidences, “tell me what the father’s like, the ogre!”


    “Itale’s father?”


    “Yes. I want to know, I really want to know what sort of creature disinherits his son because the son wants to live like a civilised human being in the city for a while! What does the man want? What are they like, up there among the mountains? I’ve never met a woman from the Montayna, you see, that’s the trouble; men never can explain things. You explain it to me. Are you all very passionate souls?”


    The beautiful woman was not teasing her; she was friendly and kindly; she did not mean to tease. It was just that Piera was a stupid provincial schoolgirl who didn’t know anything and couldn’t talk. “I don’t know,” she whispered.


    “I think Itale is the most passionate man I have ever known,” Baroness Paludeskar said, her voice now soft and thoughtful. “It’s the secret of his success, of course. If he had been a saint in the old days, he would have converted whole nations of the heathen! —You know that he is becoming very well known in Krasnoy, these days?”


    “No, I didn’t— I don’t—”


    “One can never believe it of someone one played with as a child. I know! You’re thinking, ‘What, him? but he used to have warts and pull his sister’s hair, he can’t be famous!’ I’ve known little boys who I’m now asked to believe are councillors and judges and radicals and I don’t know what all. . . . And one must take them seriously, you know, countess. It is up to women to take men seriously. If we didn’t, society might quite crumble away; the men would be left taking each other seriously while the rest of us laughed. . . . Well, that’s all nonsense, but it is true that our friend is taken almost too seriously by some important people. But you don’t believe me. . . .”


    “Oh, yes, yes, I do,” Piera mumbled wretchedly. If only she didn’t have to say anything, but could just watch the baroness and listen to her and try to understand the things she said. If only she didn’t keep talking about Itale: that confused Piera. When she looked down she saw the baroness’ slim foot in a silver sandal. She tucked her own feet under her dress. She had to say something. “I suppose it’s the—the paper—”


    “What? The paper?” the baroness said brusquely. “Oh, his journal, yes. It’s quite popular, I believe. It isn’t that sort of thing that matters, you know. The fact is, Itale is in fashion—his ideas, I should say, although I wonder— But now we’re all patriots, you see!”


    “Oh, yes, I see,” said Piera, in despair. She was completely lost. The baroness went on, smiling so charmingly, and telling a story about Itale and somebody named Helleskar and some general and something about Austria, and it was funny at the end, so that she should have laughed, but she only smiled and nodded. Her throat was so contracted that she no longer trusted herself to say “Yes” to show she was listening. When their host came over to them she looked at him as if across a chasm, gazing wistfully at his quiet face. The baroness had not yet been introduced to the Belleynins, and he took her over to them. Presently he returned and sat down where the baroness had been sitting. “I am sorry to have interrupted your chat,” he said in his shy, grave way. Piera thought he knew she had been miserable and had saved her, and was now saving her pride; full of gratitude to him for his simple kindness, she said, “Oh, I couldn’t say a word to her, she’s too beautiful—”


    “Oh yes,” Mr Koste said. “Wonderfully fashionable,” with the mild, deadly judgment of the provincial on his own ground. He looked at Piera, not smiling, but with unquestioning acceptance of her, a simple confidence in her, that went far to restore her self-respect. He brought up some indifferent subject, and they talked; as they talked, Piera saw that somehow her ill-matched conversation with the baroness had been a battle, and that she had lost it. But why a battle? Over what? And why could not one just talk easily and trustfully, as she and Mr Koste were talking now?


    “Are there any patriots in Aisnar, Mr Koste?” she asked him. He looked a little surprised; paused; and answered with seriousness: “Patriots? You mean, I imagine, in the sense of nationalists? Yes, certainly. The liberal tradition here is very old, you know. It goes back to the struggle of the western provinces against the authority of the Krasnoy monarchy, I suppose. A habit of independence remained.”


    “But the patriots, the nationalists—they want to have the monarchy restored, don’t they?”


    “Yes. Duke Matiyas’ accession would signify the end of Austrian domination.”


    “Then they don’t like the Grand Duchess Mariya because she’s an Austrian—is that all?”


    “That’s the essence of it.”


    “I thought perhaps they didn’t want any more kings at all,” Piera said, looking disappointed. “That hardly seems enough of a change to bother about.”


    “Oh, quite enough. If Duke Matiyas became king he would take his crown from the people, swearing obedience to a constitution drawn up by the Assembly of the Estates General. He would not be the source, but merely the vehicle or channel, of authority.” He explained this without the least shade of condescension. “Are you interested in the nationalist movement, contesina?”


    “I don’t know. I never understood it before.”


    “It is a very complex matter. I doubt that anyone truly understands what ‘nationalism’ is—why those whose word is liberty seek the national, the particular destiny, while those who deny the old barriers of language and custom and kind often would sacrifice all liberty in the name of peace.”


    “Are you a radical, Mr Koste?”


    “I? No, contesina.”


    “Shouldn’t the country be independent again, though? I mean, why should the Austrians rule us? They can’t even speak our language. Why can’t they let us rule ourselves?”


    “Well, because none of us is alone. This peace, since Napoleon, is a fragile one. Even a minor ally of the Empire, like us, or the North Italian duchies, might shatter it, if we were free to change allegiance.”


    “But is it worth while if it’s so very fragile?”


    “Perhaps not,” Koste said, slowly, with an intense, inward look. “But is any war worth while?”


    “Surely not,” Piera said, as intense as he was. “But actually the radicals don’t want a war, do they? They just want not to have the Austrians here, and free elections, and the king—don’t they?”


    Koste nodded. “Independence; free elections; representation; the reform of corrupt institutions—great matters. But even if they can be achieved without either revolution or war, they are like revolution and war in this, they’re matters too great for any individual; they override the individual man and all that may be good in his life as it is. Where men are very poor, a movement of reform that might carry them upward with it is their only hope. So in Rákava, or in Foranoy, the radical movement grows every year in strength. But here in the west we have little real poverty; people here are mostly free to make of their lives what they choose to make of them. We have attained something, here in Aisnar; nothing very large; but it took many centuries in the making. It will be lost in half a decade if it’s jumbled in with the needs and wants of other classes and kinds of people. I prize this life, and these people; they are dear to me. So I cannot give my sympathy to those who in reforming the face of the earth will destroy my little, harmless corner of it.”


    Piera listened carefully as he spoke, and understood him. To know what attainments he wanted preserved she had only to look at him, his child, his house, and his city, the quiet city full of the sound of fountains. To them, to him, all change was loss. And because she was talking with him and liked him very much, she agreed with him. Reform was all right elsewhere, where they needed it.


    She was aware that in adopting this attitude she was turning against Itale’s beliefs; and the consciousness of it gave her pleasure. Very well! Let him be a radical, and let everybody in Krasnoy talk about him, and let Baroness Paludeskar talk about him all she liked. She did not care what they did in Krasnoy. She lived in Aisnar, and was her own woman. Her decorum and schoolgirl self-consciousness dropped away, and gayety flashed out in her like the flash of a garnet. Other people joined them; she was at the center of the group. The orchestra of three was tuning up. It was customary in Aisnar to dance the New Year in. Piera danced. She had a new gown, grey silk, the skirt caught up on one side with a rose of cloth of gold. She was slender and held her head back proudly; her dark, rosy face looked ready to break out into a laugh at what her partner, himself smiling as he handed her up the row, was saying to her. Givan Koste watched her. She and Baroness Paludeskar advanced to meet, curtsied in a mingling shimmer of violet and grey, retreated to the facing rows. Koste watched the prompt and yielding grace with which she let her partner sweep her off for their figure. He watched her eat a vanilla ice, after the dance; she ate every drop of it. He crossed the room to where she sat and asked her for the dance about to begin. She looked up in surprise. A widower of barely two years, he did not dance. She met his eyes. “Yes,” she said, rising to take his hands as she spoke, and the piano and fiddle and bass began the sweet insistent rhythm of a polonaise.


    The music stopped before the dance was done, drying off in mid-chord: the little French clock was pinging out midnight. “It’s the new year,” Koste said. “We ended the old one together, shall we begin the new one?” He gave the musicians the signal, the music began, Piera took her position for the dance without replying.


    “A charming girl, your little Montayna countess,” said Luisa to Koste’s sister.


    “Yes, she’s a sweet child,” said Miss Koste. “Do you see her about? I wanted to say a word to her, but I haven’t seen her the last few minutes. Since last year, I should say.” She laughed softly at her little joke.


    “She’s spent the year so far dancing with your brother.”


    “With my brother,” Miss Koste repeated without expression, and looked at the dancers for a long minute. “It is pleasant to see my brother dance again,” she said. “After so long.”


    “He has been unwell?” Luisa asked, struggling with a yawn.


    “He lost his dear wife two years ago next month. I am so glad to see him forget himself a moment in his kindness to the child.”


    Kindness indeed, child indeed! Luisa stared at Miss Koste. Her mouth was set, her fingers laced tight together. She might well spend the morning of the new year in tears, in her neat bedroom upstairs where no man but her father and her brother had ever been; but nothing would escape her downstairs, in company. She was too shy, too proud. There was nothing to be got from these Aisnar people, shut in their little world, inexorably and intolerably polite. Luisa gave up struggling, and yawned. “Yes, indeed,” she said. She looked at Givan Koste’s face, dark and bright as a live coal, and at the silken whirl of Piera Valtorskar’s skirts, and yawned again, openly, vindictively.


    She spoke to Piera again as the evening ended. “It was a pleasure to talk with you of our mutual friend, contesina. Perhaps we can all have a good chat together when he comes.”


    “When he comes?”


    “Hasn’t he mentioned it to you? He may come here with my brother, in March, for a week or two.”


    “Oh, I hope so,” said Piera. “Good night, baroness, I’m so happy to know you!” Off she went, happy, yes, seventeen years old and drunk with dancing; Luisa, leaving, heard her long, sweet laugh.


    Piera returned to her convent school, put on her uniform, walked sedate behind a nun on Thursday afternoons, knelt an hour every morning in the cold chapel; but the piety she had striven for and enjoyed for three months had evaporated overnight, leaving scarcely an odor of sanctity behind, a faint perfume. She waited for weekends now not because of Sunday high Mass but because of Saturday night, which from four to eleven, she was permitted to spend with the Belleynins. She knew all that would happen there: tea in the parlor, quiet talk, dress for dinner, dine with a guest or two from among old friends or kinfolk, then coffee, perhaps a little music, then Mr Belleynin would walk her back to the convent. That was all. But these tranquil evenings centered upon her, were for her; they were lessons, the happiest kind of lessons in the subtlest of subjects. She was an apt pupil. After a few weeks any stranger would have taken her for an Aisnar girl born and bred, a bright and gentle daughter of that aristocracy. The reward of her docility was the appreciation of all around her, their kindness to her, their acceptance of her as one of themselves. The reward might not have been quite enough but for two added elements; one was that they asked only outward conformity of her, leaving her feelings her own, untouched. Reserve was the keystone of the delicate arch. They taught Piera a coherent system of behavior, but did not meddle with the spirit in her. And the other inducement to the Belleynins’ Saturday evenings was Givan Koste, the man of sorrows, the widower twice her age, the faithful visitor.


    “What a joy it is to see Givan himself again,” said Mrs Belleynin over coffee, only the three of them present; and her husband assented with his slight stutter, “Well, th-there is balm in Gilead.” They both smiled, and the smile somehow referred itself to Piera so that she too smiled, feeling herself important, valued, loved. How nice they all were to her! It was delightful, and it must go on and on, exactly the same, nothing must change.


    On the first Saturday of March she walked through the rain to her cousins’ house at four o’clock, and entering found Givan Koste there. He often came in the evening, but no one came Saturday afternoons. Mrs Belleynin was distrait. She talked more than usual, Koste less. She poured tea, then rose, saying, “I believe I must go look for Albrekt myself, he must be in his study,” and left Piera and Koste together alone.


    Instinct, training, two months’ preparation, mere guess, any of them could tell Piera what was coming, and did so; but she turned away and shut her mind, she opened her mouth and said to Givan Koste, “Have you seen Baroness Paludeskar lately?”


    “Not lately.”


    “I haven’t seen her since New Year’s Eve, at your party, except on the street, just to nod to. She is so beautiful, she’s so completely elegant. Sometimes I feel like the animals in Noah’s ark when I have to go by her with all the girls two by two. . . .”


    He mustered up a smile, but no words.


    “She and I both know, we have a mutual friend, isn’t that strange, since we come from so far apart. He lives in Krasnoy now, of course. The baroness said he might visit Aisnar this spring. It’s so odd to meet a person you don’t know that knows a person you do know, isn’t it?” It would not do, it would not do at all. Her teeth were chattering. She looked at him imploring him to speak and make her stop talking, to let the ax fall.


    He proposed marriage to her. She accepted him.


    She looked down at their clasped hands. He had taken off the gold wedding-ring. When, she wondered, today or earlier? She had never thought to look. His hand was dark, strong, well-kept; she liked the look of it, the warmth of it. She bent her head and kissed his hand. “Piera, O my God,” he whispered, and she felt, between alarm and pleasure, the tremor that ran through his whole body. He drew away from her, and walked up and down the room a couple of times.


    “I shall write your father,” he said, as if threatening.


    “Of course. So shall I.”


    “There is the child.”


    “I know the child!”


    “I am nearly forty,” he said, rounding on her.


    “Thirty-eight,” she said.


    That threw him off. “It may not please Count Valtorskar,” he said less fiercely. “You are only seventeen.”


    “My mother was seventeen when they married. He was thirty-three. Anyway, papa is usually pleased by what I do.”


    “He cannot be pleased to lose you, Piera.”


    “But—we’ll go home sometimes, won’t we? To Malafrena?” This time she was disconcerted.


    “Certainly.”


    “Then that’s all right,” she said, her distress vanishing. The word “lose” had gone through her like a knife, for an instant: to lose her father, to lose the lake, the house, the fat Cupid newel-post— But they would go home often, she need not live down here forever. She thought no more about it.


    Givan Koste had stopped his pacing and was working himself up to say something, to suggest, no doubt, a new obstacle to his heart’s desire. She smiled at him. She felt so sorry for him, and he was such a handsome man, with his poised body and grave, dark face. He turned, saw her smiling at him, and swallowed without speaking, hit amidships.


    “I thought—perhaps next Christmas time—” he brought out.


    “Next Christmas time?”


    “Your father will want you to complete your year at St Ursula’s. And a year is . . . customary . . . something less than a year in fact—”


    “Ten months,” she said dreamily, looking down at her hands.


    “Is it too soon?”


    “Oh, no. Must we announce it directly?”


    “Not until you choose to,” he said with a gratitude she did not understand.


    “I do want to tell the Belleynins, and papa of course. And Laura. Oh, you’ll like Laura, Mr Koste!”


    “My name is Givan,” he said, politely; they both heard the politeness, and they both laughed. Their eyes met. He looked like a boy, embarrassed. It was a wonderful relief to laugh. “Who is Laura?” he asked.


    “My friend, Laura Sorde.” Saying the name she grew shy again suddenly. “She’s very nice.” She looked down, inept, a schoolgirl.


    Koste was most at ease with her when she was shy, not offering him unconstrained the fulfilment he could not yet believe in. He came to her and took her hand lightly; his face and voice were warm with feeling. “I want you to talk with your cousins, Piera. I want you to have time, to be certain, I feel that I— Loving you is privilege enough— I should go now. I’ll come back when you say I should.”


    “Tonight?”


    “Tonight,” he said, with that smile that lit his face and left it unchanged; and he went out. She sat still. Four silver-mounted glasses full of cold tea reposed on the table beside her. She jumped up and went to find Mrs Belleynin. She did not want to be alone. They met on the stairs. “Has he gone?” the older woman asked anxiously. “Yes,” Piera said, and burst into tears.


    “Oh my dear, my dear,” Mrs Belleynin murmured, hugging her there on the stair landing. “There, there, it’s all past. I’m so sorry!”


    “I didn’t know I was going to cry,” Piera sobbed, burying her face in the soft, sweet-smelling shoulder.


    “Poor child, it’s all our fault. How stupid I am! What a misery, what a misery!”


    “But it isn’t— I mean, we are to be married— Next Christmas. I didn’t know I was going to cry!”


    “Next Christmas? You are betrothed?” said Mrs Belleynin, who was in tears herself. “Oh dear me! I didn’t understand—I thought we’d made a dreadful mistake— But you aren’t happy, Piera? is something wrong?” She looked down at the broad, stubborn, childish brow which was all she could see of Piera’s face, and repeated the question still more tenderly. For her conscience was alert and sensitive; and neither of her own daughters, tranquil and self-possessed women by the age of seventeen, had ever clung to her thus in confused and passionate need.


    “No, I’m very happy,” Piera sobbed, weeping so that Mrs Belleynin gave up all questions and led her upstairs to her room to comfort her. “There, there,” she murmured, “there, Piera, don’t cry any more, it’s past. . . .”


    II


    Itale stood at a window of a house on Fontarmana Street, watching the moon rise over old gardens dim with evening and hearing the lilt of the fountain below the window as the west wind sprang up and moved in the leaves in the dusk. He was dressed in a plum-colored coat, his mother’s Christmas gift; his linen was fine and well starched, his hair was orderly, his cravat and stickpin were controlled, his face was quiet and a little forlorn. He was wondering if looking south from here on a clear day you could see the mountains.


    “Never saw a chap look out windows as much as you do,” said Enrike Paludeskar, entering the room after a feeble rap. “What do you see out of ’em, Sorde? —Roofs, trees, moon, nothing going on. Same view I’ve got. Are you ready?”


    “Yes,” said Itale, turning his forlorn look to Enrike’s heavy, well-shaven, goodnatured face.


    “How d’ye like my rig? English fashion. Everything has to be English. I don’t know why. Come on, Luisa’s waiting. What’s the time? These damn trousers are so tight I can’t get my watch out without performing a sort of dance. We mustn’t be late, the old lady’s a dragon.”


    Itale looked at his watch, which said two-thirty. It had stopped running several weeks ago, and he kept meaning to have it fixed. “Must be near six.”


    “We’d better drive, then.”


    Luisa smiled up at them from the foot of the broad staircase. “Don’t be silly, Harry, it’s only around the corner.”


    “Town’s all squeezed up together,” Enrike grumbled. “Hate arriving on foot.” But on foot they set off into the evening of early spring. The fountains sang, the budding branches of the plane-trees interlaced above the street, the wind was soft and cool, the moon poised bright above the roofs. All things were poised: in balance. All things here, Itale thought, were in harmony.


    They were to dine with one of the inmost circle of Aisnar society, the marchioness Feldeskar-Torm. Itale was well received. They knew who he was: a landowner’s son of Val Malafrena, one of the western domey; a house-guest of one of themselves; therefore, temporarily, one of themselves. Evidently they also knew what else he was, for after supper the marchioness, a small, plain, old woman, said pleasantly to him, “Well, Mr Sorde, are you bringing the revolution to Aisnar? I should have thought we were scarcely worth fomenting.”


    There seemed no point in hedging. “No, markesa,” he said. “I’m only trying to lure some of your young men away to Krasnoy.”


    “You city people always want the revolutions all to yourselves,” the old lady said with a ghostly laugh. “I’ve read many of your articles, Mr Sorde. They are interesting; eloquent.”


    He bowed in thanks.


    “They remind me sometimes of what our Valtura used to write for the old Aisnar Mercury, and of Kostant Veloy in the Krasnoy Review. Then I think Veloy has been dead for twenty years, Valtura has been in prison in Austria for ten—I suppose he is dead too. Four generations of radicals I’ve seen, Mr Sorde, but I haven’t seen the revolution.”


    The challenge was direct, and he answered it directly: “I believe you will see it, markesa.”


    “You keep trying. I grant you that. I see you’ve won over our handsome baroness.” She looked at Luisa, who was talking politics with Mr Belleynin and a Feldeskar-Torm great-nephew. “I doubt Valtura could have done that.”


    “If he’d had the chance. . . .”


    “But he wouldn’t have had the chance,” she said, looking at him with shrewd, cold eyes.


    He left the pleasant dinner party somewhat depressed in spirit. The marchioness had placed several darts in him with exquisite accuracy. She had reminded him that his cause had been defeated time and time again; she had reminded him that the Paludeskars were very curious companions for a revolutionary; she had reminded him of the ambiguity of his own position. And yet she had done all this not, he admitted, in enmity to his cause, but in support of it. She had as good as asked, Where is our revolution? What are you doing about it?


    He walked restlessly about his room in the Arrioskar house, then went to the window that overlooked the garden, opened it, and leaned out. The fountain lilted in its stone basin, a thin silvery sound in the night. A fountain at the street crossing a few doors down interwove a faint counterpoint. The wind was down. It was profoundly still, the stillness of the long fields that stretched on from the city on every side. A few stars burned humidly bright in the sky washed blue with moonlight. Beauty, balance, harmony. . . . Sick of himself, Itale tried to lose himself in the moonlight, the quiet, but could not; in this germinant darkness, this moment between March and April, between sleep and wakening, he found only anger, uncertainty, and fear.


    Turned back upon himself he tried to face himself, demanding the source of the trouble. When had his work become, not an end, but a mere distraction from—or means toward?—some different and obscurer end? What necessity was he shirking, with what angel must he wrestle? In asking the questions, it seemed to him that the trouble lay in his presence here, now, in this house. All his uncertainties of the last months might clarify themselves if he could simply answer the question, What am I doing here?


    His mind veered at once from the question, replacing it with a different one, the question others might ask of him. Enrike, for instance; did he wonder occasionally why Itale was with him in Aisnar? If so he gave no sign of it. He had known Itale on and off for a year and a half now, at his own house and at the Helleskar house, and probably assumed that anyone he had known so long had to be a friend. Their brief warm flare of companionship on the coach was long forgotten, they had never had a conversation of any consequence whatever since; Enrike simply took Itale for granted. And his hosts here, the Arrioskars? . . . But this was no good. He came presented as the Paludeskars’ friend and a gentleman, and naturally they accepted him as such. Why not admit that he felt at home with them, in this comfortable, quiet house, as he never felt at home in his two cold rooms in Krasnoy, eating bread and cheese by himself, and listening to the endless thud of Kounney’s loom? But that was no good either. The matter of comfort was irrelevant, the question of his right to be here no question. The point was, what was he doing here? Was this one of the places to which he had to come, as Krasnoy was? Again his mind sheered off from the matter, asking with self-pity if he might not have a little comfort and good company now and then while he did what he had to do: but what it was he had to do, he did not know. Leaning out the window he gazed southward over the rooftops, straining his eyes as if he looked for something real and present beyond the moonlit wash of air; his mind was quite empty; he said aloud, “Why am I wasting my time?”


    He drew back thinking he had seen a movement, someone looking up, in the darkness under the trees.


    The air inside the room was close. He loosened his high stock, began to take off his coat, then shrugged it back on and with a cautious, decisive step left the room, went down the hall, down the stairs, through the music room and out the side door of the house into the garden. There all was luminous and cool. The fountain sang, stars gleamed through budding branches, rows of narcissus by the paths gleamed in the moonlight and the warmer glow of the few lighted windows of the house. Itale walked to the fountain and stood watching the play of the water, then sat down on a bench near it, his hands in his pockets, his eyes still on the slender jet of water that seemed to hang suspended over the basin, catching the moonlight, falling and renewing in one motion, constant change in changelessness, alive.


    “Itale?”


    He got up quickly.


    “It’s hot in the house, I can’t bear it. . . . I can never sleep in spring.” Her voice was no louder than the sound of the fountain. She had thrown a shawl over her light dress, and in the broken light and shade of the garden nothing of her was clear but her face, simplified by that mixed light into simple beauty.


    “I’ve wanted to talk to you ever since you came. There’s never a moment. . . . Are you content, Itale? Are you content with what you’re doing?”


    “I wouldn’t be doing anything else.”


    “But is your life what you want it to be?”


    “No,” he said, and moved restlessly, clasping his hands behind his back. Luisa sat down on the bench, drawing the shawl around her shoulders.


    “If you were free, no responsibilities, no duties, entirely free, what would you do?”


    “I can’t imagine freedom without responsibility.”


    “Oh, bah,” she said, “how stuffy you can be. And how it helps you evade answering. If you were free to do exactly what you wanted to do—what would you do?” In her voice was an impertinent tenderness, a note he had never heard before and that struck him as her true note, herself speaking without defense, nervous, mocking, intent.


    “I don’t know,” he said. “I’d go home.”


    “Where is home?”


    “Malafrena. —But the fact is I am doing what I want to do. Your idea of freedom is a child’s idea, baronina.”


    “Probably. Women are all childlike, aren’t they? And spiritual, too, of course. Perhaps my idea of freedom is spiritual. A bit ghostly: choice without consequence. Well, I know what I would do if I were free, like a child, or a ghost. . . . I would do very nearly what I do now.”


    “Then you are happy.”


    “Very nearly happy.”


    He had turned to face her, wanting to see her face, which was in shadow now.


    “I imagine that only moral people, like you, are very happy or unhappy,” she said. “I am always both, and most of all on spring nights when I can’t sleep, and have to walk in the garden wondering what on earth would ever make me happy without making me unhappy.”


    “There is no reason why you should be unhappy.”


    “None at all; I know. I am young, and rich, and very well dressed, and in any case I am a woman, and it takes very little to make a woman happy—a toy or two, a necklace or a fan.”


    “I did not mean that,” Itale said stiffly.


    “What did you mean?”


    He did not reply for a while; when he did his tone was low and unwilling, without warmth. “I meant I don’t want you to be unhappy.”


    “I know that. You want me to be happy; you want to think of me as happy, because it is so much pleasanter. And easier. If you think of me as unhappy then you have to do something about it, find a toy to amuse me . . . if you are my friend, of course.”


    “You know I am your friend, baronina.”


    “Don’t call me baronina, please. It’s a stupid title. I suppose you believe all titles are stupid. Ours certainly is. I wish my grandfather had had the courage to appear as what he was, the best of his class; I should be proud to be a haute bourgeoise, nothing more and nothing less. But he had to buy us into the nobility, and leave us clinging tooth and nail to the lowest rung of the rotten old ladder leading nowhere—pretending that it isn’t money that made us, and makes us, and will take us wherever we do go. . . .” She looked up at Itale and laughed suddenly, a laugh of real amusement. “Oh, God, Itale, you are infectious! Lectures in the moonlight. . . .”


    “Do I lecture?”


    “Almost continually.”


    “I’m sorry,” he said, chagrined.


    “I don’t mind. I like your lectures. At least they’re serious, at least you talk seriously to me—though whether you’re talking to me I often wonder; but at least you allow me to be present while you talk. Some day, perhaps, you will in fact talk to me.”


    “I don’t . . .”


    “No, I know you don’t. You never have.”


    “I don’t know what you mean.”


    “I mean that under all the theories, the politics, the lectures, there is silence, a granite silence, unbroken. No, I take that back. I think you said something to me, just a minute ago, and it took me so by surprise that I almost missed it. You said that you loved— But no, you didn’t say it after all, now I think of it; I could simply hear in the way you said the name that you were finally talking about something to me, something real, not an idea, not a theory.”


    “What name?”


    “Malafrena.”


    He half turned away again towards the fountain, his hands deep in his pockets, and shrugged.


    “I miss it sometimes,” he said.


    She said nothing, watching him.


    “It isn’t far from here.” He looked up as if he wanted to say more, but he did not say any more. She continued to watch him, the tall hunched figure in front of her, the profile, big nose, mouth firmly closed, a portrait in charcoal, plain and strong. A few streets away the half hour struck on the bells of Aisnar cathedral. A faint wind had come up, moving the leaves, making the air feel chill. In the house, behind them, a light went off silently, leaving the path they were on and the flowers beside it cold white.


    “Though you don’t talk to me, you talk to yourself sometimes.”


    “When?”


    “At your window, a few minutes ago. You said, ‘Why am I wasting my time?’ That’s why I asked you if you were happy. Knowing that you weren’t.” She spoke very low, in the silence after the bells.


    “I don’t know what I meant.”


    “It’s almost frightening to hear someone say the very words you’re thinking, but not say them to you.”


    “I wasn’t talking about anything particular.”


    She stood up. “I hate to watch men lie,” she said, her voice a little more distinct. “I hate anything done clumsily. But if you’re not interested in the truth, why should I be?” She turned to go. Her shawl had slipped from her shoulders and lay in a pool of silken white on the path. He picked it up; she had stopped at his movement. He set the shawl on her shoulders; as he did so she turned towards him, and reached up taking his right hand, the delicate film of silk between their hands. They stood a moment motionless.


    “Luisa—”


    “Itale!” she mocked him, that discordant tenderness in her tone. He bent to kiss her mouth, the warm silk slipping beneath his hand, and she slipped away, broke from him, and turned to him again at a little distance. Her face was smooth as a bright mask; her eyes were exultant and terrified. “Good night,” she whispered, and slipped away into the shadow, into the open door, of the house.


    Itale stood there a while and then walked under the trees, where he had seen her first. He came to the wall of the garden. He put his hands on it, then leaned against it, his forehead on his arm. For a minute he was intensely aware of himself, felt the rough brick against his palm, smelt the extreme sweetness of the narcissus blooming at his feet, saw the late, serene night around him; then it all slid away again, and again returned, as if he were swimming in an invisible sea, warm, tumultuous, silent, from which he broke free long enough to breathe, feel his heart pounding, see the stars, then he went under again. When the cathedral bell struck three he turned slowly round and made his way to the house; he lay down on his bed fully dressed, and immediately, as if knocked out, went to sleep.


    Next day he went about the business that had brought him to Aisnar—if it was business that had brought him to Aisnar. He did not consider the question. He considered nothing that was not directly under his nose. As soon as one conference or conversation was over he forgot it and went on to the next. He was if anything more decisive and efficient than usual, but at any given hour he could not have said without an effort of thought what he had been doing an hour earlier, or, perhaps, what he was doing now. One person he met broke through his insulation: an Italian, exiled for his part in the Piedmont revolt of 1820, who had spent a year in Aisnar and was about to set off for England. Something in this man reached Itale, and afterwards he recalled vividly Sangiusto’s long face, high forehead, curly hair, his cordial voice, as they sat at a cafe table in the leaf-dappled late sunlight on Fontarmana Street: “A liberal is a man who says the means justify the end,” he said, and the words too stayed with Itale.


    The light got lower, dustier, more golden down the tree-arched street, a few carriages rolled by slowly, the wind smelled of ploughed fields and the moon rose over the old houses. Itale went back to supper with his hosts. Luisa’s cousin was a cold, shy woman, and Arrioskar had little conversation in him; Enrike was dining elsewhere; Luisa, whose manners were as good as she wanted them to be, kept up just enough talk that no one felt awkward, to the evident gratitude of the Arrioskars. Coffee was served upstairs at ten and at ten-fifteen the evening ended. It was now Holy Week, there would be no more parties until Easter was past.


    Back in his room Itale did not open the window, or look out of it. He took off his coat, sat down at the escritoire, and began going through a pile of local and foreign pamphlets and manuscripts he had gathered in the course of the day. He read steadily, annotating occasionally, never raising his head. The room was bright with candles, but chilly, as he had let the little fire go out.


    The bell of the cathedral, a soft deliberate baritone, struck midnight. Itale hunched his shoulders and went on reading.


    “There must be no confusion,” said the pamphlet, “of such manifestations of radicalism as the secret societies of France, Italy, and the Germanies, nor such excesses of radical opinion as the revolutionary leagues of the last decade in England, with the liberal faction in our own country, which the Government of Orsinia not only tolerates but will indubitably come to favor as a benign and harmless indication of peaceful popular enlightenment. To forbid the publication of . . .” Itale went back and crossed out the word “faction,” crossed out “indubitably,” scowled and crossed out the entire sentence, then put the thing aside and put his head in his hands.


    He got up, went about the room putting out the candles, took up his coat, went downstairs and out.


    The air was colder tonight; the moon, a night past full, was veiled by a slight mist. The jet of the fountain blew astray now and again in the slight breeze. Itale stood by the stone bench, looking at the narcissus blooming at his feet. He heard the latch of the house door. Luisa came to him, a long dark scarf wrapped about her over her light dress. “I heard you,” she whispered with a laugh in her voice. “I was listening for you. . . .”


    “Baronina—”


    “Dom Itaal!” she mocked.


    “I cannot call you Luisa.”


    She sat down on the stone bench, drawing the dark, voluminous scarf up about her neck, smoothing the fall of it across her skirt.


    “And what else can you not do?”


    “You are—unjust,” he said.


    “Am I? But then I’m only a woman. No one expects justice from a woman. As you can’t call me by my name, so I can’t treat you with justice.”


    “You are unjust to yourself.”


    “Am I?” she said again, but without anger, thoughtfully. “I wonder. You may be right.” She looked up at him, with so direct a gaze that he could not turn from it. “You have the power to hurt me. How strange that is.”


    “I have no wish to hurt you. Don’t you understand—”


    “No.”


    “I have no power to— You know what I am,” he said desperately, “and how I live, and where I live—”


    “What of it?”


    He could not answer.


    “I am not asking you for manners, I am not asking you for mercy, I am asking you for the truth. To speak to me. Just once, to speak to me!”


    “What can I say?”


    The fountain, blown aside by the wind, rustled and pattered.


    “What good would it do if I said it?” he asked in anguish.


    “None,” Luisa whispered. “None.” She rocked herself a little, holding her arms about her sides, drawn into herself.


    “All we can do is hurt each other, it’s no good—”


    She rose suddenly, reaching out to him. His first response was startled and awkward, as her movement had been awkward. Then he held her to him more strongly, their inept embrace became searching, her tension melted into yielding, fused towards him till they clung together, pressed together in an insatiable kiss.


    From it she broke at last, twisting away blindly, he reaching blindly after her. With control, a reaction of momentary shock and sickness came into him, and he sank down on the bench and sat bowed forward, his head down. She stood nearby; her body trembled slightly from time to time; she watched him.


    When he looked up he did not meet her eyes, but spoke to her arms, in an angry, pleading whisper. “Don’t you see?”


    “Do you see now? At last?”


    When he understood her his expression began to change from dazed to dazzled. He stood up, and putting out his hands towards her in an uncertain gesture, said, incredulous and gentle, “Luisa—”


    “Ah,” she said, “there!” She took his hands and held them, standing facing him, separate, smiling, her face raised. “I will be just,” she whispered with that exulting smile. “I will be merciful.”


    He could say nothing coherent, but stammered praise and desire.


    She took his arm and walked with him up and down the path, and across the lawn to the garden wall, and back to the fountain. Most of his consciousness was centered upon the warmth of her arm and her side and the warm faint fragrance of her hair. He agreed without hesitation when she said, “Now we can choose. . . . What I can’t bear, what I can’t bear is falseness, dishonesty, the stupid rules made for stupid people, the rules of lying. . . . What I want is the truth, and only the truth.”


    “I love you,” he said.


    “We are not children, and not fools, and not slaves. We can choose what we do. That is what I want, that’s all I want, the freedom to choose! Do you understand, Itale?”


    “Yes,” he said, because she was so eager and intense, because she wanted freedom, happiness, as he did, because the pressure of her arm on his made his head swim with happiness.


    “If you judged me now,” she continued in her intense whisper, “I would despise you. But you won’t. All you do, all your friends and their ideas, they’re trivial, but you’re above them, above all that. There’s no freedom but what one makes oneself, for oneself.”


    He agreed.


    “And that’s why we must choose, Itale, this week— I go back to Krasnoy Wednesday; you’ll come a week later—that’s enough time. We must each choose, both choose, what we wish to do, no one and nothing forbidding us or compelling us. I will use my life and my love as I see fit to use it. We will set each other free, Itale.”


    The tremor in her voice might be exaltation or terror. He drew her to him and kissed her mouth. But as her lips softened against his, she began to draw away. He let her go. She whispered, “Only a week!” Before he realised she was going she had gone, a glimmer between moonlight and darkness on the path. “Luisa,” he said, “wait—” The house door opened and shut quietly. He stood there by the fountain, bereft and confused. Why had she gone? Had he misunderstood again? Were they not lovers, or to be lovers? He had understood her as she spoke, as she spoke of freedom, but now he did not know what she had said. A light glimmered faint behind curtains in a room upstairs: her candle; her bedroom. He sat down on the stone bench once more, shivering with cold and the aftershocks of frustrated desire, groping after the immense happiness he had felt only a minute before. “A week,” he repeated, finding the words a talisman. “Only a week.”


    III


    On Saturday afternoon Itale cut short a meeting with the author of what he thought of as the Indubitably Pamphlet, alleging another obligation. “I have to see someone out in the country,” he said abruptly. The author of the pamphlet, in awe of conspiracies, asked no questions. Itale left the house and walked straight down the street; he had no objective at all. Town houses gave place to villas set back behind low walls, villas gave place to farmhouses and open fields, and the paving­blocks of the street to the red dirt of a country road. Overhead stretched a wide, changeable April sky, reflected underfoot in long puddles left from the morning’s rain. Weeds bloomed coarse and timid by the fences; grain and grass were bright green on the ploughlands. The road, very long and straight, the Roman road that had crossed the Western Province to the garrison at Aquae Nervi, was empty; the fields were empty, except for a lone ploughman who silently answered Itale’s silent salutation from the road. It was a gentle land, monotonous, noble in its coherent and unbroken vastness from horizon to horizon. Itale walked straight on, vaguely contented by the fresh wind and the rough road under his feet, noticing more clearly from time to time a wild iris, a cloud shadow fading across a field, a lark playing in the high air, a rain-washed stone.


    In four days he would go back to Krasnoy. His mind revolved perpetually about the end of that trip: what would he do, what should he do? He was sick of thinking about it and never ceased to think about it. How had he let himself be involved in an unsuitable, an impossible affair like this? a marriageable heiress, a spectacular woman, who could not possibly manage to have a lover without her brother and probably half a dozen of her suitors finding out about it—and if they did not she might very well tell them; for she was nervous, capricious, insanely wilful; spoilt. A spoilt girl. A proud, sensitive, frightened girl, a woman risking herself, offering him everything and asking nothing in return—nothing but that his courage equal hers. . . . It was freedom she wanted; liberty. What did all his work for liberty amount to? Two rooms on Mallenastrada, an irregularly published journal of very uneven quality, a succession of jobs taken to keep the rent paid, a circle of feckless and unstable acquaintances all professing devotion to the cause but quarreling about it continually—and was this to be his life? Was this what he had left Malafrena for?


    For a liberal the means justify the end. To attain freedom one must live free. It was freedom she wanted, freedom she offered—and he was already so lost among contingencies, petty considerations, and conventional moralities that he could consider rejecting that offer! Was he a man or not? Not yet, maybe; he had been a boy, until now. He had come at last into his majority. He was and would be a man.


    But which man? a hand-to-mouth radical journalist, or a baroness’ lover?


    Why could he not be both? Was he supposed to live celibate for the cause of liberty, was it a religion and he its holy hypocrite? —He strode through the bright fields of afternoon in a rage, sometimes waving his right arm as he argued fiercely with himself; and all the while he knew in the center of his heart that he might or might not go to Luisa Paludeskar when he returned to Krasnoy, but that it was not reason that would, or could, make the choice. Reasons abounded, but within him something single, whole, indifferent, waited for a sign.


    The road led up and over one of the long, low rises of land that made up the immense level of the plain. So gradual was the ascent that slope and summit were all one. Itale stopped and looked back. Aisnar lay five or six miles away, made entire by distance, tile roofs red in the declining light, the calm towers of the cathedral rising above blue shadow. Near where he stood was the ruin of a hut, a few stones and rain-rotted planks. He sat down there on what had been a doorstep or a hearthstone, between the city and the sun. The blowing of the country wind had finally blown his thoughts away. For a long time he sat hearing only the wind in the new grass. He sought stillness of heart, the void, the gap, the silence that had been his kingdom in the sunlit afternoons of the years at Malafrena. That was liberty, but it was gone. He had lost it. He turned to look southward; the same long plains ran varied and changeless as the sea to a soft haze on the horizon.


    “What would you do if you had seven hundred years to live?”


    There they were, Laura in a glimmering white dress, Piera, and himself, on the terrace in late midsummer dusk, the Hunter standing dark across the blurred and shining lake. He said he would travel to China and America, Laura wanted volcanoes, and Piera, what was it she had wanted to do? But what the devil, Piera was in Aisnar. She was not there in a remembered dusk above the lake any more than he was. She was here, under one of those red-tiled roofs, in some convent school; the Belleynin he had met at the marchioness’ house was her cousin.


    Itale stood up, stretched, and started back to town. He could not stay in the same town with Piera Valtorskar for two weeks and leave without a sign to her; things weren’t that bad with him yet.


    At about five he was at the Belleynins’ front door. “The countess is not here today, sir,” said the old servant, polite, but mistrustful of the dusty stranger. Itale asked where he might find her. “The countess lives in the Ursuline school, sir. On the Old Side, facing the Ring Fountain.” The countess, the countess. Young Piera, with freckles on her neck. Itale marched off across Fontarmana Street to the Ring Fountain. There was a big, tightlipped building with barred windows. A porter opened to his knock and said there were no visiting hours on Easter eve; come next Saturday. Itale pleaded the fact that he must leave on Wednesday, and his right hand put a small silver piece in the porter’s without his left hand knowing a thing about it. He was shown into an icy parlor containing four straightbacked chairs and one nun. He pleaded with the nun. An older nun was called and he pleaded with her, eloquently tactful; he was, as he had been since he got to his feet in the ruined hut on the hill, determined. The second nun went away, the first retired to a chair in the hall just outside the open door, and Piera came in.


    “Oh Itale,” she said, and they put their arms round each other and kissed each other on the mouth. “Oh my dear Itale!” she said, tears in her eyes, laughing, in the first, great flash of joy that ran through them both; and then they dropped their arms, and did not know what to do with them.


    “My God, how did I even know you?” he said, still dazzled by the flash, and she laughed again. “Don’t swear here! I’ve grown two inches, nearly.”


    “It’s like coming home to see you, Piera.”


    “I know—to see you too—and you still talk Maalafren! —Come and sit down, we don’t have to stand.” Her last words were conventionally gracious. Chill grew where the bright warmth had been. Itale sat down on one of the rigid chairs. “I can’t sit down,” he said, standing up again at once, and Piera giggled: the last flare. It went out.


    “It’s very strange to see you here,” he said, looking about the room, his hands behind his back.


    “I know.”


    Four walls, four chairs, two doors. He had to look back at her.


    “How long have you been in Aisnar?”


    “Ten days. I should have come before—I’ve been seeing a lot of people, time gets away. Sorry I caused all this regulation-breaking.”


    “Anything rather than not seeing you at all.”


    “Do you like it here?”


    “Yes, it’s very nice.”


    “When will you go home?”


    “I’ll leave here in June, and stay with the Belleynins for a while,” she said. Her voice was hesitant; she stood hesitant, yet calm, in her sleek grey dress and white apron. “Will you not tell anyone, I mean write them, please, Itale? because there hasn’t been time yet for papa’s letter to come, my letter went on the last post—I wanted to tell you, I won’t be going home exactly either, I’m going to live in Aisnar. I’m engaged to be married. This coming winter. Or perhaps after Easter next year.”


    “I see, I’m very glad for you,” he said, with a prolonged stammer. “Who is—?”


    “Givan Koste. He’s a lawyer. Do you know the Belleynins? They’ve been so kind to me, I’m so fond of them— He is a friend of theirs. It’s all going to be as quiet as can be, since he’s a widower with a little boy.” He did not remember her voice being so thin, or so sweetly modulated, a young-lady voice. “I’m very fond of him, of Battiste,” she said. That was very nice, everything was nice, everyone was kind and fond, why was she telling him all this? Let her get on with it and marry her damned widower, what was it to him?


    “I suppose that’s the end of it,” he said.


    “Of what, Itale?”


    He waved his arm. “Knowing each other. The part of life when we knew each other.”


    “It doesn’t have to be,” she said in that thin voice. “If you come to Aisnar I hope you’d come see me. And we might be at Malafrena again, summers—”


    “But we’ve left Malafrena,” he said. “It’s taken me a while to learn that. Life’s not a room, it’s a road; what you leave you leave, and it’s lost. You can’t turn back. That’s how it is; we most likely won’t meet again.”


    “Perhaps not,” she said.


    There was a considerable pause.


    “Are you happy in Krasnoy?” she asked.


    “Happy? No, not particularly, I suppose. I’m doing what I went to do there.”


    “I see your journal sometimes.”


    “They let you read seditious papers here?” He looked about with a hard grin at the walls and doors.


    “Not here. Your articles are very interesting.”


    “Why the situation of linen-weavers in Krasnoy slums should be interesting to you I don’t know, but thanks.” He had heard the valor in her tone, he heard the hypocrisy in his own; he could endure no more. “I must go now, Piera,” he said flatly. She turned towards him. “Goodbye,” he said, and she took his hand and said, “Goodbye, Itale.”


    That was that. Outside by the double-tiered, silver-stranded Ring Fountain he looked at his watch; it said two-thirty, as usual, but the cathedral bell had just struck, it must be six. He was late for an appointment he had made with two likely contributors to Novesma Verba. He set off hastily to the cafe where they were to meet. “Life’s a road,” he heard his voice saying fatuously, fraudulently, “Life’s not a room, it’s a road”—yes, sure enough, a road going nowhere, on and on, meaningless. No turning back, no stopping, no end, no goal; best to go alone, allowing no claims. Let the dead bury their dead!


    The two men he met at the cafe were young, one an ex-seminarian, the other an unsuccessful candidate for representative to the National Assembly, which was to be convened this September in Krasnoy. Itale’s unmoved familiarity with their hopes and questions left them impressed and admiring. He saw that, and grew still more dry and hard in his replies, but they would not be discouraged. He left them as soon as he could and went to the hotel to which he had moved when the Paludeskars left; he had a chop sent up to his room, and went through the last few days’ notes and papers. His fortnight in Aisnar was proving profitable. There was money here for the support of both journals, there were contributors of talent, and the prosperous middle class of the city followed the liberal tradition established in the last century. It was all very encouraging. Drearily, he got his work in order, ate the dinner he had allowed to get cold, sat down again to work. One had to go alone; no use looking for anything one had left behind. Take what happiness might come, get the work done, and no complaining. It was the only way. Alone; to be free one had to be alone.


    He was getting a headache, and to shake it off he went out around eleven to walk. As he went down Fontarmana Street, all black-dappled with shadows of branches cast by lighted windows, alive with the night wind and a quiet coming and going of people, someone hailed him from a cafe table: the Italian exile, Sangiusto.


    “Have a coffee with me, Sorde!”


    Itale stopped by the table, but did not sit down. “I was thinking of looking in the cathedral.”


    “Ha, it’s Easter. I’ll come, you don’t mind? My bill, please, five coffees.” They went on together. “Monday I leave to go to England,” said Sangiusto. “Now I don’t want to go. I speak the language better, but I like your country. I like Krasnoy, I like this Aisnar, I don’t know why I go to England!” He laughed, showing his strong white teeth. “Only at times it’s good to get out from the Empire, neh? But I shall come back, I think.”


    “I hope they’ll let you in, after we’ve published your articles from England.”


    “Oh, here I’m even more insignificant than in my country. And your police are not so good as those in the Piedmont. But I shall not stop in Vienna to obtain permission. . . .”


    “What if we use a false name on your articles?”


    “Why not? I have been ‘Carlo Franceschi’ in Turin already. You look tired, Sorde.”


    “I am.”


    “And I’m full of coffee, like a ship that’s sinking. Every night I drink coffee, what else to do. . . .” He laughed again. “What a life! —Look at the poor devils, they want to be home in their Bohemia or where they come from.” They had passed a pair of militia-men, imposing in the Imperial uniform. “Like all of us. Easter night! We would go to Mass in the boat across the lake.”


    “What lake?”


    “Lago d’Orta,” Sangiusto said, lingering on the name with conscious love, saying it with pleasure, tenderness.


    They approached the doors of the cathedral, which stood open showing a glimpse of dusk and gold within. A little procession was crossing the cathedral square coming from Old Side, nuns and girls, heavily shawled. Itale recognised the grey uniform Piera had worn. She was among the tall girls at the end of the line, no doubt, head bent submissively as she walked. She would not see him nor could he tell which of the slender, shawled figures she might be.


    “Pretty ducklings,” said Sangiusto. “I see them take their walk in the afternoons, so neat, with bright eyes seeing everything like telescopes. I like the girls of convent schools, they always know so much. Excuse me, you feel religious?”


    It made Itale laugh. “No,” he said.


    “I should like to see your mountains where you came from, as you spoke of them yesterday I thought this sounds like my country.”


    “I wish I could take you there, Sangiusto.”


    “Oh, well, the time will come. If you wait the time comes, I find. To learn how to wait, that’s the job for the exile, isn’t it? I will remember your invitation, Sorde, thank you. Come on, the Mass begins.” They went into the church, into the grieving, the waiting, the fulfilment of Easter night. “Christ is risen” the choir sang, the music like sunrise in the heart of night. “Christ is risen in glory!” and the joy washed over Itale’s heart like rain on a stone of the roads, like sunlight over stone.


    IV


    Country women starting home from the Great Market of Krasnoy, where they had arrived at dawn to sell stuff from their suburban gardens and dairies, leeks, apples, eggs, cream cheese, were halted on this morning of early September as they straggled back towards Cathedral Square with their empty baskets to meet up with the farm wagons going home. Foreign militia and a squad of the palace guard in their crimson uniforms were blocking one street, clearing another, shouting orders; cockades nodded between horses’ nervously working ears, gilt buttons flashed in the misty sunshine, already growing warm. Those people who had got nearly to the square before they were stopped in a crowd could see a whole battalion of guardsmen drawn up in rows before the doors of the cathedral. “Don’t they all stand there like red tenpins,” said a broad goodwife of Grasse to her neighbor. “Let ’em stand all they like, I’m sick of standing,” said the tall and skinny neighbor, shifting her basket on her arm. “I’d just as soon not be standing next to your goat cheeses, mother,” put in her neighbor on the other side, a man in a cobbler’s apron, with a smiling mouth pursed and lopsided from holding ready all the shoenails of all the years. “Stick to your last, cobbler,” the skinny woman said smartly. “Is it a parade?” shrilled the gaptoothed daughter of the woman from Grasse. “Oh dear little Jesus, remember the Holy Sacrament parade in Grasse, ma, and all the grand gold things? What’s a Sembly, ma?”—“How would I know?” said ma. “Do ye know what all the crowding and the soldiers are about, cobbler?”—“City folk idling,” the skinny wife snarled. “It’s a great day, mother,” said the cobbler, his mouth doing its best to stretch back to normal, “didn’t you know? We’ve all turned out to see the Assembly go by.”—“Who’d have turned out,” said an irritated clerk squeezed up against the cobbler by the growing throng behind, “if the damned guards hadn’t started pushing people around? I’d be in the office now if they’d just let me alone with their damned horses.”


    It was ten o’clock; the people at Cathedral Square heard the bell of St Stephen’s under the Hill, the bell of St Roch’s in Old Quarter, but not the great bell of the cathedral. It was silent until, at nearly quarter past the hour, the whole carillon gave a mighty, hair-raising, triumphant clash and then settled into pealing tremendously treble down to bass, treble down to bass. “What the devil’s all that about?” the nervous clerk said, while the farm women crossed themselves. “It means the benediction of the Assembly’s over,” said the knowledgeable cobbler, “now watch, old woman, you’ll see ’em coming out and heading up Tiypontiy Street to the park.”—“What’s the Benediction of the Sembly, ma?” the gaptoothed daughter squealed. “Oh look! Look! Oh dear little body of Jesus, look at ’em all!”


    The Assembly of the Three Estates of the Kingdom came forth from the Cathedral of St Theodora in the order prescribed by the Revision of 1509: the Archbishop and his college of canons, and the deputies of the Clergy of the Ten Provinces, in order of rank, in robes befitting the season of the ecclesiastical year; following these, the deputies of the Nobility of the Ten Provinces, in armor or suitable attire, in order of rank, each attended by a squire bearing visibly the arms of the house; lastly the deputies of the Commons, in black gowns and hats of cloth or fur, though not of ermine or of sable; the whole to be attended and duly honored in their progress to the Palace by the Royal Guard, and to be met and greeted there by the King, the Rector of the Royal University of the City of Krasnoy, the Mayor of the City of Krasnoy, and the Masters of the eight Great Guilds. They went by, in their robes and top hats. Far off in the park a trumpet sounded sweetly. A few cheers went up for known faces among the Commoners, the city’s own deputies and Oragon, the deputy from Rákava. As soon as the cordons were raised the people scattered, a few following the procession across the park, the farm women across the square to meet their wagons, the clerks to their offices, the cobblers to their lasts.


    Inside the Sinalya Palace, in the large, cold Assembly Room, like a marble barn, the convocation proceeded in good order. The deputies sat, the officers of the guard stood armed at each door. Grand Duchess Mariya pronounced, in Latin, the sovereign’s address of welcome.


    Up in the gallery, a kind of pigeon-cote to the marble barn, twenty men stood gasping for air and jammed elbow to rib, trying to see out the four two-foot loopholes that gave on the Assembly Room below. The gallery had been built to accommodate a few court secretaries, not a score of eager reporters. “And I asked to get into this hellhole!” moaned Brelavay. “Pressed goose!” He was there with a pass, stamped by six officials of the Bureau of Censorship, the Militia, the Palace, etc., and issued to the scandal-sheet of Court confidences and city gossip that employed him. Frenin had got a similar pass for his Catholic monthly, which carried parish news and inspirational readings for priests. Itale had the pass for Novesma Verba. The rest were reporters for the government’s organ, the Courier-Mercury, or lookers-on with connections in the ducal court who had wangled themselves passes out of curiosity or self-importance. Givan Karantay stood next to Itale and watched, fascinated, the chopping motions of the grand duchess’s long chin as she read her Latin address. Karantay’s novel The Young Man Liyve, published in the spring, had made an unprecedented hit; he had become something of a national figure. The government in Vienna did not like national figures, but knew when not to meddle with them. Karantay had got a pass, signed by Prime Minister Cornelius, simply by asking for it.


    The grand duchess droned to a close. “It must be four-thirty,” Brelavay groaned. The rector of the university, dark-jowled and tremendous in his gold-faced doctor’s gown, strode to the rostrum. “O miserere, Domine!” Brelavay moaned to him. The rector laid a roll of papers down on the rostrum, placed his hand upon it, and began to deliver his speech extempore. One thin, clerkish reporter for the Courier-Mercury was making notes; Itale tried to do the same, referring for help to Brelavay, who had been a Latin First Prize in Solariy. Brelavay moaned and recited Virgil. “Mugitusque boum!” he said. “Why are you scribbling, Itale? it’s only mugitus boum. Moo! Moo!” he bellowed inaudibly at the rector. The clerkish reporter, scribbling, hissed malevolently for silence in the gallery. After the rector’s orotund half hour the mayor of Krasnoy rose and made a short, Ciceronian address of which he evidently understood not a word, reading it in bursts of syllables like random gunfire. Then in place of the Masters of the Great Guilds, which had been disbanded as had all workingmen’s associations, came the prime minister of the grand duchy, Johann Cornelius, who spoke pleasantly and fluently in good Germanic Latin for twenty minutes. The Courier’s prize scholar took it down in shorthand. Itale desperately made notes. “Forget it,” Brelavay whispered, “that’s not shorthand, he’s trying to scare us, it’s just hen-tracks.” —“What if somebody says something important?” Itale protested. “Nobody will,” said Frenin.


    The speeches of welcome were over; the Assembly was adjourned for lunch.


    At the Cafe Illyrica everybody was gathered awaiting the four reporters, vociferous with questions about what had gone on in the Assembly’s first session. “Mooing,” Brelavay said. All the others shouted, argued, questioned, answered; the four who had been in the Sinalya were rather silent. They had known the Assembly would speak in Latin, they had known it would begin with formalities . . . but the day had been a very long time coming, and was half over already, and it had amounted to nothing: nothing at all. A pageant, a fraud. Itale got back in a corner of the turbulent restaurant with Karantay. The novelist’s goodhumored equanimity was a refuge to him from the indiscriminate and beery enthusiasm of the Illyrica crowd. Karantay combined passion and patience to an unusual degree; he was an ardent and reliable Constitutionalist and Republicanist, ready to risk his already brilliant career for the cause, but unwilling ever to close his intelligence to unwelcome fact. There was a toughness in him that was increasingly welcome to Itale; and it was an endearing quality, that toughness or pragmatism, because Karantay’s novel was wildly, dramatically, whole-heartedly romantic, implausible, and magnanimous; and yet, like its author, in no way was it dishonest. In the complexity of the likeness and unlikeness of the author and his work Itale saw some adumbration of the complex relations of the real and the ideal; and he also saw a good deal that made him like Karantay better the better he knew him. They drank their beer now, and did not say very much, while the old Illyrican shouted as ever about his mistress Liberty.


    Back in their chill airless gallery they watched the deputies resume their seats. A member of each Estate was to speak, thanking the Crown for convening the Assembly. The grand duchess’ seat was now empty; sovereignty had made its gesture. Johann Cornelius, slender and greyhaired, with a benevolent smile, took his place to the right of the empty chair, and the ornate Latin speeches were addressed to him since the grand duchess was absent— “And since Metternich is also absent,” said Frenin. “We thank the puppet minister of a puppet duchess vassal to a puppet emperor controlled by a German chancellor for his kindness in letting us speak a dead language together for six hours a day according to the ancient custom of our people. My God! why are we standing here watching a puppet show?”


    The senior prelate of Orsinia, the archbishop of Aisnar, opened the order of the day at last. Itale had seen him last in Aisnar cathedral on Easter night, a stiff golden figure in a glory of lights and singing. In Church Latin in a thin voice he opened the meeting and placed before the deputies the suggestion that they vote unanimous thanks to the grand duchess for the convocation.


    A speaker rose from the seats at the left. The archbishop conferred with assistants and finally said cautiously, in Latin, “We recognise the deputy.”


    “My Lord Bishop, my lords and gentlemen, my fellow deputies,” the speaker said sonorously not in Latin but in their own tongue, “I propose this emendation of the motion before us: the Assembly of the Nation will vote thanks to the sovereign, the vote to be taken and the resolution stated in the vernacular language of the nation.” There was silence, then an outbreak of voices. “My Lord Bishop! Please call for order, I still have the floor. My name is Oragon, deputy to the Third Estate, elected by the Provincial Assembly of the Polana Province. I speak not for my province only, but for my country, to you who have met here in the name of that country: I speak of our rights and of our sacred duties—” The powerful, assured voice rose, letting the words fill the cold empty spaces of the Assembly Room: my country, my people, our rights, our responsibilities. Any word long unspoken, forbidden, gathers in it all the strength of silence. That strength, the strength of years, filled Oragon’s speech, and he knew it, and spoke on unhesitating, knowing also that his might be the first and last such speech made in that room. Up in the gallery they were all trying to get his words down verbatim. As fast as he spoke, Itale wrote, for he knew the speech already, he had learned it years ago in the quiet dark library of the house at Malafrena, the speech that has used so many words in so many languages over the years, but can all be said in four: live free, or die. Oragon spoke for forty minutes, and when he finished his voice was hoarse, the audience was dazed, and Itale dropped the pencil he could not hold any more. Karantay retrieved it and the notebook, for the Assembly was in a noteworthy state. Speakers arose on every side; the poor archbishop’s eyes rolled. Cornelius had sat quietly through Oragon’s speech. Like Itale he had heard it before, and unlike Itale he believed its day was done. But as the debate went on in the vernacular, half out of control and increasingly tumultuous, the prime minister began to look grim. Enthusiasm and disorder were his enemies. During an incoherently martial and patriotic speech by a baron from the Sovena, Cornelius rose and consulted softly with the archbishop. Oragon stood up again. His big, coarse voice, used to addressing all kinds of meetings indoors and out, cut through the baron’s speech: “My Lord Bishop, I request that we return to the Order of the Assembly of the Kingdom. Herr Cornelius, not being a deputy to any Estate, is a guest in this Assembly, without right to speak unless permission be granted by a majority of the deputies present.”


    Cornelius walked back to his seat through a cowed yet sardonic silence. “I waive my opportunity to request permission to speak,” he said without raising his voice, heard only by the Clergy in the front rows. “Let discussion proceed, please.” But the martial baron was now tonguetied. Somebody called out, “Take the vote on Mr Oragon’s proposal!”—“My Lords and gentlemen,” the archbishop said, “further debate and the vote must be adjourned; it is past five o’clock. With the—” A Krasnoy deputy was on his feet. “Excuse me! Excuse me! I think we vote on whether to adjourn session!” The archbishop rubbed his forehead, setting his archiepiscopal hat askew, and said, “I must implore your patience, I have not yet become entirely familiar with my duties as president of the Assembly. I will now propose that the members of the Assembly vote on closing this day’s session.” A clerk popped up next to him like a jack-in-the-box. “Sic et non,” he shouted. “Sic?”—“Hold on!” somebody shouted from among the Nobility. “Finish the business on hand! I want to be recognised!” After a long stretch of amputated orations and confusion a vote on adjournment was taken, and had to be counted. One hundred and forty voted to remain in session, one hundred and thirty-one voted to adjourn, forty-seven abstained. The archbishop ruled that the session be suspended two hours for dinner, and this was accepted. “That does it,” said Brelavay. “They’ll go stuff, come back sleepy, and vote to carry on further debates in Sanskrit.” But when the proposal was finally put to the vote, at eleven that night, there were less than a dozen voices in favor of Latin. A second proposal introduced by Oragon as connected to the first, which by changing certain rules of procedure in the provincial diets would give the Third Estate a majority in the Assembly, was shelved by the archbishop, who had evidently been crammed along with his dinner on how to spot subversive tactics and control them by using parliamentary procedures. On this note of obscure victory the session was adjourned.


    Itale and Karantay left the others at the Illyrica and went to the Old Quarter, to the Helleskar house. They were greeted with champagne and cheers by George Helleskar, Luisa, Enrike, Estenskar, and others of “the liberal circle.” “Well, did ye declare war on Austria?” demanded the old count, George Helleskar’s father.


    The old count, a colonel of the defunct national army, had held his last command at Leipzig, under the Grand Army of the French Empire. Itale had first met him two years before, when he had yielded to George Helleskar’s repeated invitation and come to this house for supper. The place was very much grander and austerer than the Paludeskars’ and the occasion had been a fairly formal one. Itale, at his most defiant, had played the didactic republican; George Helleskar had been too busy as host to rescue him from the morass of offended silence in which he had gradually and ineluctably foundered. As he sat in self-imposed exile in the farthest corner of the vast drawing-room, the old count had come over to him, walking slowly and heavily, and sat down. “I knew your grandfather,” he said. “Itale Sorde of Malafrena.”


    Itale had stared at him, too involved at first with detesting himself and everyone else there to understand.


    “George has spoken of you, but I didn’t place the name till I saw you,” the old man went on. “You look like him.”


    “Where— Where did you know him, sir?”


    “Paris. I was a young fellow, he was near forty. We came home about the same time, he back to the estate, I to take my commission. We wrote for some years. I suppose he’s been dead these many years.”


    “He died in 1810.”


    “I never knew a man like him.” The old man spoke gravely, his eyes fixed on Itale.


    “What was he doing in Paris, sir?”


    “Living there as you’re living here. There were a lot of us foreigners in Paris in the seventies. There always are. Polish exiles—best swordsmen I ever saw—Germans, us, and the French to keep us all talking. And we talked. . . . A deal of blood and water has run under the bridges since young fellows used to sit about in coffee-shops discussing the Social Contract in the shadow of the Bastille—eh, Mr Sorde? Everything has changed—everything.”


    “But we still have the Social Contract,” said Itale, without defiance.


    “Eh? Oh aye, we do, and much good it’s done us. That was another age, Mr Sorde, a golden age. Milk and honey, before the milk went sour! I wasn’t in Paris in ’93 to see the butchers, but I was in Vienna in ’15 and saw the vultures. . . . It was your grandfather that showed me that golden age, and told me about the new world that was coming, and a grand world it was, before it came! But what became of him? Back to his vineyards, and dies there like any farmer on his land. And I to take my four hundred to be cut to pieces for Napoleon at Leipzig, and come home to sit here and watch the vultures gobble. . . .”


    “Well, time hasn’t run out yet, sir,” Itale said, blowing his nose; part of his ill temper at the beginning of the evening had been due to a severe cold; he was always getting colds since he lived in Mallenastrada.


    “It has for us here. Go to America, you young fellows, and find the new world there with the savages, but don’t waste your time here!”


    “If there’s a new world it’s here, here or nowhere, always,” Itale said, and the old man said equally fiercely, “All right! it’s your time and your right to say that. The good years of my life were those years in Paris before the Revolution. I don’t forget that, Mr Sorde, though I don’t believe what Itale Sorde and I believed then, that all it takes to bring the golden age is hard work and good will. It takes more than that. But let me never say to a young man that it can’t be done at all!” He pounded his chair-arm with a big fist spotted brown with age, and glared around at Itale, his son George who had joined them, and the receding perspectives of the salon, dotted with beautifully dressed, amicably chattering guests.


    Since that night he and Itale had been friends, linked always in Itale’s thought and the old count’s memory by that other Itale who lay beside the chapel of St Anthony under the pines of Malafrena; and Itale had first admitted a liking for George Helleskar when he saw the younger man’s pride in and tenderness toward the irascible, frail old soldier.


    This night Count Helleskar recalled the last meeting of the Estates, in 1796: “They were trying to choose a king then, and went all to pieces over it. Maybe they’ll do better at getting rid of a grand duchess, eh?” He laughed, like a wolfhound barking. Among his son’s radical friends he enjoyed stating the most extreme opinions, outdoing the young men in attacking Austria, the Metternich system, censorship, the Sinalya court, and so on. The emotion was real but the opinions, if he tried to defend them rationally, disintegrated; at their root was only esteem for courage, scorn for opportunists, and the bitter pessimism of a nobleman who saw his class becoming obsolete and an officer whose last battle had been lost.


    Estenskar soon joined them. Old Helleskar did not like the poet, but was polite to him, as to all guests of the house, a forced, fine courtesy that reminded Itale painfully of his own father. Others came over; not Luisa, though she had signified with one glance as Itale entered that she wanted to see him tonight. The old count had some records of the ’96 convocation, and took the group to his study to look these up. Like everyone else he had, after the day’s unlooked-for triumph, begun to hope great things of the Assembly. He and Estenskar talked vehemently. Itale listened. It had been a long day. George Helleskar looked in on them and had a bottle of brandy brought in with the message, “To restore the Deputy from the Fourth Estate.” Itale drank a little and fell fast asleep, deep in a leather armchair. The others left without disturbing him. An hour went by very quietly in the oak-panelled study, no sound but the tick of the clock and the crackle of the fire. Luisa came in, moving softly. She wore black; her mother had died in July after cruel illness, through which Luisa had cared for her; it was a suspicion of that illness that had brought her back from Aisnar before Easter. She had said nothing of it to Itale then and as little as possible about it since; she spoke plainly of her mother’s death as a release, and showed no grief. She had lost the robust, radiant quality of beauty she had had at twenty, when Itale first saw her. She was thin, and looked thinner still in black, and rather pale. Her bearing was tense and proud. She stood beside the armchair for some little while, watching the face of the sleeping man, his hands that still laxly cupped the empty brandy glass on his lap. Her face showed no expression but watchfulness. At last she took the glass from his hands, and as he woke she said, “Can you come tonight?”


    He stared, shook his head, rubbed a hand over his face and hair, yawned, and said aloud, “What?”


    She set the glass down on a table, went over to the bookcases, and repeated, half turned from him, “Can you come tonight?”


    “What time is it?” He pulled out his watch. “Two-thirty?”


    “About two.”


    “Did I fall asleep? Listen, has Karantay left? We have to get to the office tonight and write up the report—Verba goes to press Wednesday noon, that’s tomorrow, today now— Listen, tomorrow night, Luisa.” He struggled out of the deep chair and went towards her. She did not turn to him, but moved on along the shelves looking at the titles of books.


    “I’ll be at court tomorrow night,” she said. “Here he is, George, the Sleeping Beauty wakened by my kiss. Don’t you wish you’d gone to sleep too?”


    “No,” said young Helleskar. “You’d probably have bitten me. All the radical elements in the salon are looking for you, Sorde.”


    “We have to get this issue set up so the Censor can look it over, last week they took fifty-six hours to pass it— Come on with us, Helleskar, these all-night bouts are entertaining.” Refreshed and wide awake, Itale’s vitality was as bright and warm as the fire on the hearth, and George Helleskar said, “All right! if I won’t be in the way?”


    “We’ll put you to work, don’t worry. Good night, baronina,” he said gaily, frankly, using her title as he always did before other people.


    “Will you forgive the absconding host?” George Helleskar asked her with his kindly effrontery. She smiled and said, “I have been trying to make Enrike take me home this hour. Enjoy yourselves. Do you really think the Censor will let you print anything, now?”


    But Itale had met up with Karantay at the doorway, and did not hear her, or pretended not to hear her.


    V


    From the first time she saw him, fresh off the Montayna coach, bewildered and out of place in her salon, Luisa had been afraid of him. Everything about him frightened her, his height, his blue eyes, his big nose, his strong hands, his awkwardness, his vulnerability, his ideas, his masculinity, the spirit that she saw play in him as bright and dangerous as lightning in a heavy sky. He was completely strange to her: completely different from her. She shared nothing with him. His reality was a denial of hers. To touch him would be to destroy him or to be destroyed. —So extreme a reaction displeased her; she sought control over herself, both mind and body; coolness, courage, self-possession were her own ideals. Itale’s presence was a severe test of these qualities, but to avoid him, which would have been the simplest and most natural thing in the world, to send him off and not see him again, would also be cowardice, admission of defeat. She had invited him back, against Enrike’s feeble protest. Helleskar and Estenskar had both taken him up, and now the whole group of radical journalists were people of some note in the city; she would have had to meet him in society anyhow, unless to escape him she had gone over the widening gap and joined the “Viennese,” the conservative and pro-Imperial salons. She kept in touch with that portion of society by accepting the very minor position at court which had been her mother’s; she was called to the palace once a week or once a fortnight, while the grand duchess was in town. She enjoyed the contrast of the sad, stuffy, shabby court formalities with her own increasingly brilliant and animated circle. She enjoyed testing her own nerve and her power on these ambitious and argumentative men. For most of them she had a good deal of contempt, which she concealed most of the time. Towards Itale, no degree of self-control and self-mockery could dispel the attraction she felt, or the fear of that attraction, and the resentment of it, and the terror and pleasure of his presence, which challenged all she was and all she thought she wanted.


    She had grown up, not in Krasnoy for the most part, but on the immense family property in the Sovena province which her grandfather had accumulated. The parents most stayed in Krasnoy, for the court connection was the important thing in Baroness Paludeskar’s life; the children were left in the country in the care of nursemaids and servants, until when he was eleven Enrike was sent off to a military school for noblemen’s sons, where he was unspeakably unhappy, and Luisa at eight was left alone among the servants. She had done pretty much as she pleased in those years of her childhood in the big, bleak house, isolated on a knoll amidst the flat, fertile, windswept fields of her inheritance. Her playmates were the children of the estate overseer and of the tenant farmers: one step above the peasants, having had a year or two of schooling, shy, dark children, hard as nails, slaves to “the baronina’s” whim until, goaded too far, one of them would turn on her and call her a papist, their worst insult, and spit in her face, fight her, and often beat her. She could not get on with any of the girls, it led always to a fight. Her companions were boys, whom she could lead in exploits that lack of imagination, or dour sense, would have forbidden them. But they did not like being dominated either, and when she was ten she crept home with a broken wrist; she had teased the smith’s son Kass into a rage and he cracked her arm across his knee as he would crack a willow-stick. When her mother arrived for her annual visit a week later the story was that the baronina had had a fall from her horse. “She’s very wild, ma’am,” the nurse said, weakly sounding an alarm. The baroness gave orders that Luisa should stay in to study six hours a day with her tutor, the house priest, and should not be allowed to play with Protestant children, and these orders were more or less obeyed until the end of the month, when the baroness left, and Luisa was off to the barns to find Kass before the carriage was out of sight on the long road across the windy plains.


    A year later she and Kass took to playing a game which they called the wild dancing. Father Andre’s history lessons had included some confused accounts of heathen superstitions and rituals and Roman methods of divination. They could find out everything that was going to happen in the future, Luisa told Kass, if they danced the right way and killed a hen and read the messages inside her. They stole and killed a hen from the farmyard. Luisa was scared by the awful simplicity of the head-twist, she had never liked to watch that, but the boy was excited by her fear and disgust, by theft, waste, gratuitous killing: he tore the bird open with his hands, plunged his hands into the entrails, and pushed her face into the bloody mess jeering, “Read it! Read it!” She had fought down screams and vomit and said, “I see it—I see the future—I see fire, fire, a house on fire—” He danced for her, naked on the threshing-floor in a dark autumn evening of fog and fine rain. They were alone among the long, dreary fields. His thin, white, child’s body flashed before her, dancing, strong, wet with mist and sweat. She had not danced for him. After that night they had scarcely spoken to each other again.


    When she was thirteen she began the relationship that finally got her sent back to Krasnoy. She had always been savagely rude and arrogant to the overseer’s eldest son, jeering at him and inciting the other boys to bedevil his life; now she suddenly made a friend of him, and very shortly the overgrown, over-mothered boy of sixteen had achieved great power over her, cowing and fascinating her with his causeless rages, caresses, intimate talk, fits of laughter, fits of tears and threats of suicide. He told her how he had seduced a peasant girl, describing every word and act vividly, and how they had met again, and again, and all they had done. Luisa listened and at last, envious, jealous, a little incredulous, tried to match his stories, using her imagination freely. She told him that Kass had slept with her “hundreds of times.” The boy believed her, approached her and began a fumbling attempt to undress her. She took her clothes off and stood still. He made her lie down, and lay on her, but he was impotent: she began to hit at him, scratch at his face when he would not let her go, and she got away from him and scrambled into her shift and dress. The next day he talked her into trying again and the same thing happened. The boy went home and tried to shoot himself with his father’s hunting-piece; his mother came into the room as he was in the act, and he shot her instead, and blew her right hand off at the wrist. Some connection with Luisa was made out from his blubberings and wild talk. It was all kept quiet. Baron Paludeskar, then dying of cancer, never heard of it, and Luisa came back to Krasnoy to a convent school. Now after ten years all her Sovena childhood seemed infinitely far away, another person than herself in another world; yet sometimes she remembered the overseer’s son and his soft, struggling, impotent body; or, remote, the brief vision of a boy dancing naked in dusk and rain.


    She did not like touching, the kisses women were expected to exchange, handshakes. She did not permit her maid to dress her or to brush her hair.


    When Itale first came to her in April in the room she had taken in a hotel near West Gate she had been in unconcealable terror, trembling and stiff, silent, her eyes dry and wide. Yet she had been there waiting for him, like an animal that has walked into a trap. Nothing could have set her free but the intensity and impersonality of his desire. His passion submerged her fear like a wave over a sandcastle, and all the fear turned to equal passion, all the sand to the water of life . . . for a night; sometimes, some nights, for a while, since then.


    When her mother’s illness became severe she was not able to come at all. During June and July she did not see Itale alone and only twice briefly in company. Her time was given entirely to the dying woman; she nursed her through a nine weeks’ agony, patient and competent. Her mother died clinging to her hand. After the funeral she stayed home, seeing no one, for a week, and then had taken up her usual life in so far as the customs of mourning permitted; but she made no sign to Itale. He would not be turned away, now, and she gave in to him; for the first time he made love to her in her own house. With some caution regarding Enrike and the servants, that had become their usual arrangement, her maid letting him in very late at night. Often she put off a planned meeting or made obstacles to setting a night; often when he did come she was, at first, passive and cold in manner. Never until the night at Helleskars had he told her he could not come.


    She waited for him, a night in mid-September. He was late. He was at the Illyrica, or at the office of his journal, or with Karantay or with Estenskar or some or any of the others, the other men, in their world, his world, the political world. She looked about at her world with an ironical eye: the high-ceilinged, blue and white painted bedroom. Yet she had been right, that night, about the journal. “Will the Censor let you print anything, now?” she had asked, and they had not listened, going off in high spirits and goodfellowship to write up the events of the great day. The Bureau of Censorship had returned the proofs to them three days later with all reports on the Assembly’s first session deleted: it was the day the journal went to press: all they could do was take out the type and run the first three pages through entirely blank except for the heading Novesma Verba and the date.


    On the same day, the third day of debate in the Assembly, the President announced that the decision to use the vernacular had not received the grand duchess’ sanction and was thus invalidated. Oragon at once raised the question of the grand duchess’ power of sanction and veto, since the articles of the Assembly declared it to be subject only to the king, and there was no king. Since then debate had struggled on, the left trying to put the question of sovereign authority and the right interrupting mainly with demands from the chair that the deputies speak in Latin. Itale and the others had written up a cautious report of these sessions. The Censor stamped it out and the journal appeared that week with one column on its news page, a hastily composed patriotic effusion by Karantay, and the rest of the sheet dead blank. The only news the public got of events in the Assembly Room was the brief summary of motions and votes on an inner page of the Courier-Mercury. Prime Minister Cornelius saw no need for violence, which was abhorrent to the system; it was merely a matter of laying one’s trump card down quietly at the last moment, game after game.


    And it was a game that he, as surely as his idealistic opponents, had staked his life on. Only he had the soldiers and the Empire on his side, which made the contest somewhat uneven. She saw that; she did not think Itale, or Estenskar, or even Helleskar saw it clearly. She did not say much about it, but she continued to fulfil her duties at court, and she entertained men who could help Enrike in his modest diplomatic ambitions whenever he asked her to or when she saw the opportunity herself. She saw no disloyalty in this. Why should she be loyal to a cause from which she was excluded? How could she be? She could not play the game, therefore she did not care who won it.


    Still he did not come. It was past two. She had been sitting at her dressing table; she lay down with the magazine he had brought her, the Bellerofon, a monthly which took most of the literary stuffing out of Novesma Verba, which had become frankly political and philosophical. In this issue Itale had a long review of a Dictionary and Historical Grammar of the Orsinian Language and its Dialects by a professor at Solariy, the leading article. Apparently they were all excited by the dictionary and grammar. Patriotism. She tried to read it. Itale’s written style was terse, logical, and didactic; effective but not seductive; not for reading lying down. Luisa yawned and began skipping. Estenskar had contributed the second part of a long review of Karantay’s novel. There weren’t even enough of them to quarrel healthily, they all had to praise one another. It was small, their world, it was shabby, as mediocre as the dreary court of the grand duchess, as futile. They were not free, though they talked forever about freedom. Nobody was free.


    “There’s a nice picture,” said Itale’s quiet voice. She had gone to sleep; she opened her eyes, struggling for consciousness, but did not move. She knew from his voice that he was smiling. “Fell asleep over my review, did you?” he said bending over her, so that she smelt the night air on him and felt the warmth of his mouth brush her cheek. “Novel-reader.”


    “You can read dictionaries if you like them,” she said, opening her eyes and then shutting them again to stretch a long, supple stretch and yawn. “Don’t ask me to. I don’t trust words. You’re very late.”


    “I know. I’m sorry.” He took off his coat and stock and sat down on the bed in waistcoat and shirtsleeves. His face looked grave and shadowed in the light of the single candle. She watched him, studied his face, as she always did, as if by watching him she could find out what he was.


    “At the Illyrica,” she said. “Talk and talk and talk. Words and words and words. . . .”


    “No, I was with a friend. From that school I taught at for a while. He’s out of work.”


    “You’re all out of work, always.”


    She knew he did not like to be teased about the erratic jobs he had taken to pay for his rent and bread, until Novesma Verba, thriving, could pay him a tiny salary. She knew the subject of his relative poverty was one of the most dangerous ones that lay between them. It was precisely because it was dangerous that she began to edge near the crater. But no temper stirred in him now; he merely nodded, and said, “Egen quit his job, he had a good one, tutoring a family, some grain-merchant in the Trasfiuve. He’s consumptive and a doctor told him that living with the children he put them at risk. So he moved out. They tried to make him stay. I don’t know what to do for him. If he could just have a year or so to get his health back—” Itale put his head in his hands. “I don’t know, I don’t see how he can get free at all, but it can’t. . . .”


    “Yes, it can; it probably will; it generally does. And there is nothing you can do about it! Why do you torment yourself?”


    “I don’t. He’s my friend.”


    “You do. None of your friends is worthy of you. They are all doomed, defeated in advance.”


    “Estenskar?” he said with a kind of laugh.


    “Estenskar most of all. He is in love with defeat.”


    “I don’t want to talk about all that now,” he said impatiently. “I’m tired.” He turned to her, but she swung off the bed with a lazy, evasive motion, gathering her silk dressing-gown about her, went to the dressing-table, sat down before the glass and began to brush her hair. He lay back across the bed, his arms over his head.


    “Don’t forget to wind the clock and say your prayers,” Luisa said.


    “What have I done wrong now?” he asked in a dry tone, but goodhumoredly enough.


    “Marriage is not what I want.”


    “I know that.”


    “Do you?”


    There was a pause before he answered. “Luisa, there has to be a certain amount we take for granted, an area of trust between us, or we can’t get on at all. We can’t start over every time.”


    “Yes, we can. That is precisely what I want, what we should do. Nothing taken for granted. Nothing settled, expectable, cut-and-dried. Each night the first night. —But there’s no use, so long as you come to it from . . . where you do come from.”


    “What do you mean, where I come from?”


    “All the men you waste your breath on. All the second-rate people. The people you don’t belong with. Let the weak lean on one another. You cannot share pain; that’s the worst hypocrisy of all, the most degrading. Charity, humility, the vile Christian virtues—what are you doing in that cage?” Her voice was light and mild, she continued to brush her hair with a long rhythmic stroke. “You come to me from a cage and never know you’ve left it. And run back to it in the morning. . . .”


    He sat up on the bed and sat for a while gazing off into the shadowed end of the room, where long white drapes hid the windows. “I come to you for . . . for what no one else ever gave me, ever offered me,—it is trust; the greatest trust. I don’t know how to handle it. I’m no good at it, I know I hurt you. All I can do is offer you what you give me, that trust, that care.”


    “That cage. . . .” He had stood up as he spoke, and she rose, turning to him, meeting him in the center of the room, her hair loose and her body warm and fresh in the flowered robe; the sleeves dropped back from her arms as she put them up to embrace him. “I want to fly beside you, like falcons, like eagles over the mountains, never looking down, never looking back. . . .”


    “I love you,” he whispered, gathering her against him, a much more expert lover now than he had been in the garden in Aisnar but no less tender, responsive to her response, so that although she wanted to go on talking, wanted to tell him “I am your freedom, and what I see in you is freedom,” she said nothing, feeling the words dissolve and the barriers go down and the joy she feared so deeply pick her up and sweep her off like foam on the torrents of the thaw.


    He lay asleep beside her when she roused in early dawn. She lighted a candle; he did not stir. Again she studied his face, warm and heavy in sleep, undefended. To lie together all night naked, that was trust; yes; but she did not like the word; if there was only a way to get free of words altogether. . . . But the servants would be getting up. He liked to leave while it was still dark, he had been bitterly resentful of the humiliation he had felt once when he slept in her bed till ten and had to be spirited out by her and her maid in a comic opera scene that she would have found very funny if only he had found it funny. He was so naive and so provincial, still; the disapproving schoolboy, the humorless Robespierre, the bumpkin pedant; self-righteous. So the fear hastily reinstating its rights and boundaries within her, rebuilding the barriers, denied gratitude, denied the yearning, brooding warmth of her body against his, her face watching his, and made her wake him sharply, saying his name.


    He started up, then lay back with some inarticulate word.


    “Wake up, wake up.”


    “I am,” he said, turning his face against her shoulder.


    “What a nose you have,” she murmured, sinking back for a moment into the warmth. “Like a ship’s prow. Ever onward.”


    He was asleep again.


    “It’s getting light.”


    “I don’t want to go,” he groaned, and sleepily began kissing her throat and breast. She tensed, slipped away and out of the bed, and put the flowered gown about her, turning her back on him. “I’ll tell Agata to watch the back stairs for you.”


    “Luisa. Wait.”


    She half turned, impatient.


    He sat up, scratching his head. “I meant to talk about this last night. But it was late, and we . . .” He pushed back his hair and looked at her through the dim sphere of the candle light; his face still had the heavy, defenseless look in it, the innocence of sleep, the lips slightly swollen. “I may be out of town for a while.”


    “Where? How long?” she responded without emotion.


    “Amadey has asked me to go home with him. I’d like to do that. And then go on to Rákava, and do a series of articles on the situation there, or find a correspondent there who can do it for us. A few weeks in all, I suppose.”


    She did not like the sensation of her long, heavy, fair hair loose and tangled on her head and over her shoulders; she had not braided it last night, because they had had to make love. She went to the dressing table and brushed her hair back from her face with harsh, practiced strokes. “When did Amadey finally make up his mind?”


    “He asked me to come with him a couple of days ago.”


    “Well, he’s been on the brink of going back to the Polana ever since I met him five years ago. He won’t stay long. . . .” If Itale went there would be a month, two months, that she could sleep alone, that her mind would not have to go through all the miseries of jealousy, anxiety, resentment, and terror that her body, or her soul, or some blind stupid omnipotence, forced upon her. She would be free. “Don’t stay too long,” she said.


    “I won’t. No fear!” he said with naive gratitude. He got up and began dressing; in the mirror she watched him put on his shirt and button it, then his collar and stock, the stately mysteries of male clothes, the waistcoat, the tailed coat. “I’ll be back by mid-November at the latest,” he said. He had obviously been afraid she would object to his going, and was relieved that she did not.


    “Perhaps I’ll go to Vienna with Enrike while you’re gone,” she said. “He’ll never get up the energy to go by himself, and he’s got to meet the ambassador if he’s ever going to get any sort of position. Though I suppose if I went I’d have to stay through Christmas. What a bore. I don’t know. Why don’t you come to Vienna? It would broaden your mind a good deal more than Estenskar’s sheep-farm and dirty Rákava. . . . We’ll stay at the König von Ungarn, just behind the Dom. . . . Do, Itale!”


    Sitting on the bed to put on his shoes he looked up to meet her mocking, challenging glance over her shoulder. “Oh, God, you are so beautiful even at five in the morning,” he said, muffled, bending down; then, standing up again. “I can’t go to Vienna. . . . Some day,” a little sheepishly, but also ready to take offense if she went too far, for it was a question of money, of course. It was always a question of money.


    She nodded politely, dismissively, and went to put Agata on the alert. Most of the servants were reliable, she knew exactly whose servants they exchanged news with, and did not care what they said; but Enrike had hired a footman away from Count Raskayneskar recently, and she did not want to be discussed by that lot. Raskayneskar was exactly the sort of man who got his gossip from his servants, and then used it maliciously.


    “Pier’s still asleep, ma’am,” Agata murmured.


    She looked back into the room and said to Itale, “All clear.” He came up to her in the doorway, dressed, armored in the wholecloth of this age of respectability, formidable, a stranger; she shivered, barefoot, in her thin silk gown. “I don’t want to go,” he said softly, not touching her. “I don’t want to go now. I don’t want to go to Rákava.” He leaned down, kissed her very lightly on the lips, and went out. She could not even hear his step on the stairs.


    She went back to bed and curled up in the place under the covers that was still warm. Now I can sleep, now I’m alone, she thought, but instead of sleeping she began to cry, hiding her face under the sheet, grinding her fists into her eyes like a child.

  


  
    PART FOUR


    The Way to Radiko
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    IN THE cool dawn of the equinox the statue of St Christopher of the Wayfarers stood distinct over Old Bridge, over the river and the light mist on the surface of the water. A purity of light, a stillness of air and sky effaced the boundaries between living and inanimate; the stone saint seemed to have paused there to look eastward, smiling and unseeing. There were no clouds. The sun rose over dark hills and sent its first rays straight in the eyes of two horsemen riding over Old Bridge, dazzling them, making them squint and smile. The bridge was crossed, the riders entered the shadow of a long street, eight hooves clattered with a clipped, brisk noise on the cobbles of the Trasfiuve between files of sleeping houses. One rider turned in the saddle to see the new light on the towers of the cathedral behind them, across the river. “Look there, Amadey, the light.”


    Estenskar did not turn. He looked ahead, down the long straight street, and said, “Come on, this horse wants to run.” The fretting bay, then the brown mare broke into a trot. They were spirited, their riders good horsemen, a handsome sight as they rode from the city towards the first sunrise of the year’s fall.


    By eight o’clock, from the climbing streets of Grasse, Itale could look back and see all Krasnoy lying along its sunlit river, beautiful and smoky in the morning warmth. Then leaving the little town they crossed the crown of the ridge and lost the valley, its river and city, behind them on their way.


    Down all day among the hills, a faint warm wind in their faces bearing the smells of earth, hay, woodsmoke; at dusk a village ahead in the next fold of the hills, trees and thatched roofs and chimney smoke, offering rest, firelight after the long day’s ride. “There’ll be an inn,” Itale said. He began to sing “Red are the berries on the autumn bough,” and his mare pricked her ears and stepped along towards hay and dinner. Dusk was heavy under old trees as they rode up into the village, and the sign of the Golden Lion creaked in the evening breeze. “What a good place,” Itale said, dismounting. There were no other travellers at the inn; they were served good beer before the fire, and a big old hen roasted crisp; they left nothing of her but bones. Then Itale stretched out his legs and, for the ritual and completeness of the thing, lighted the clay pipe provided by the host of the Golden Lion.


    “Never saw you smoke before,” said his friend.


    “Never smoke,” said Itale. “How do you keep the damn thing going?”


    Estenskar went on watching him, since Itale, extended in profound comfort and puffing hard on the pipe, was oblivious. “I’m glad we’re travelling together,” he said.


    “Of course.”


    Estenskar smiled, and turned his gaze back to the fire.


    “It’s good to get out of the city. You must take the mare tomorrow, she has a lovely gait. How long since I rode a horse, let alone a good one? This is a holiday. More than holiday. Escape. . . .” Itale waved the pipe, which had gone out. “I was full up, Amadey. Absolutely full up. Now I’m empty again. At last! Air, sunlight, silence, space. . . .”


    Estenskar got up and went to the door of the inn room, which gave directly on the village street without threshold between the hard earth outside and the hard earth of the inn floor. The darkness under the wide-armed oaks was cool and soft. Wind stirred now and then, the sign creaked, in the black foliage a few stars shone fitfully and eclipsed behind the restless leaves.


    “Is it so easy?” he said after so long that Itale, befogged with exercise, fresh air, beer, and well-being, was not sure what he was talking about. “You set out . . . you set out to make yourself. To make the world. All the things you must do, and see, and learn, and be, you must go through it all. You leave home, come to the city, travel, miss nothing, experience it all, you make yourself, you fill the world with yourself and your purposes, your ambitions, your desires. Until there’s no room left. No room to turn around.”


    “There is, here,” Itale put in. “I told you. I’m as empty as that beer-jug. Air, sunlight, silence, space.”


    “That won’t last.”


    “It will. It’s we who don’t last.”


    Estenskar leaned against the doorway, gazing out into the country darkness.


    “Now that I know that I can’t choose,” he said, “now that I’ve finally learned that there are no choices, that I can’t make my way and never could, that it was all deceit and conceit and waste—now that I’ve given up trying to make my way, I can’t find it; I can’t hear the voice. I’m lost. I went too far and there’s no way home.”


    In later years when Itale heard his friend’s name spoken what came to him always was this moment, the big dirt-floored room, the candle and beer-jug on an oaken table, the fire, the stir of autumn wind in dark branches, the silence that underlay and surrounded and closed over Estenskar’s voice so that the last word, softly spoken, seemed to fail and die away in the immense unheeding quiet.


    “But by going back to Esten—” Itale began, and stopped, knowing his words were stupid, but wanting to change Estenskar’s mood. He had been happy that day and was sorry to let happiness go.


    “That’s not my home. It’s too late. One road goes east, another west, but there’s no destination unless you’re given it. Given it! You don’t choose it. You only accept it—when it’s offered—if it’s offered. Why am I going to Esten, then? I don’t know.” He spoke harshly, glancing around at Itale with a vindictive stare, but Itale had learned long ago that Estenskar’s anger was never for him.


    “It always makes a difference where you are,” he said. “Come back and sit down. We just got free. No point worrying about where we’re going, yet.”


    Estenskar obeyed him; he came back to the table and sat down, putting his elbows on the table and his head between his hands, ruffling up his coarse reddish hair. “All I do is think about myself and talk about myself,” he said miserably.


    “It’s a worthwhile subject. But I wish I . . .”


    “If it hadn’t been for you, this last year . . .”


    They were both embarrassed and there was a short silence between them.


    “That dream of yours. Are you chasing it?”


    Estenskar shook his head.


    “Was Esten a part of it?”


    “I don’t know. I only know that since it I’ve known I had to get out of Krasnoy, get away.”


    “You knew that the first time we talked together. At my place.”


    “And ate that cheese. Two years ago. And I was still living with Rosalie then—right in the depths of it. God! What a fool!”


    Itale investigated the beer-jug again, found what he expected, nothing, and got up, stretching his arms. “I’ll be stiff tomorrow morning, I’m out of condition for riding.”


    “Look here, Itale. While we’re talking.”


    “Aye. While we’re talking?” Itale looked down at him, grave.


    “What about Luisa Paludeskar?”


    “So I ask myself.”


    “What’s gone wrong?”


    “I don’t know. I don’t understand . . . what it is she wants.”


    “You never will. —What is it you want?”


    Itale put his hands against the heavy mantel-piece, looking down into the fire. “To sleep with her.”


    “Is that what she wants?”


    “I thought it was.”


    “But now she wants more than that?”


    “No. —Less.” Itale spoke very slowly, trying to say what he did not know how to say. “I don’t understand it. We are in love but we . . . we don’t get on. We hurt each other a good deal. I don’t understand why.”


    “‘I don’t understand, I don’t understand,’ said the straw in the fire. —In love. . . . Love is an invention of the poets, Itale. Believe me, I should know! It is a lie. It is the worst of all the lies. A word without meaning. Not a rock but a whirlpool, the emptiness that sucks down the soul.”


    “But there must be . . . Oh, well, I don’t much want to talk about it. I’m running away, for a while, maybe I’ll see things clearer. Afterwards. You wouldn’t look back when we left Krasnoy. You were right.”


    Estenskar nodded; but twenty-four hours later, after their night at the Golden Lion and a day’s ride through pleasant, quiet country, when they were lying on a great strawmound in a barn loft, each wrapped in a horse-blanket lent them by the hospitable farmer, all the smells of barn and stable strong in their nostrils and all the stars brilliant outside the great loading-window of the loft, he returned to the subject.


    “Luisa is trying to make the world,” he said. “The way I did. And she’ll destroy it, the way I did. Don’t let her pull you off course, Itale.”


    “I don’t know what my course is! I thought I did. . . . I don’t know what’s right, what I ought to do. I don’t like this—she calls it freedom—an affair, a love-affair, secrecy, nothing ever to count on—”


    “That is her freedom. She’s no fool. If she married you then you’d be free and she’d be the one trapped! Love’s the game where there are only losers. Listen, Itale, I won’t bring this up again, it’s none of my business, I know that. I’ve known Luisa for years, I might have fallen in love with her if I hadn’t met the other one first. She’s like me. She tries to take and choose. She sees you and she can’t let you be—if she can’t own you she will destroy you—you do not know, I hope you never know the envy that eats her, when she looks at you. But I know it. Look out for her, look out for me. We will destroy you if we can, Itale.” His tone was cold and playful.


    “But you can’t,” Itale said, slowly, not playfully.


    “Go alone,” Estenskar whispered. “Go alone.”


    The stars shone splendid in the great square of the window, Vega overhead, the Lion like a mower’s sickle left lying in the white wheat, the Swan on the river of stars, and in the southwest Scorpio huge among lesser constellations, cold above the warm earth-night. The horses and cattle in the stalls beneath snorted, shifted, slept their queer waking sleep. A few late crickets trilled, no longer alarmed by human voices. Itale slept, and waking before dawn opened his eyes to colorless gulfs of space where, fading, Orion stood, hunter and warrior of the winter sky.


    They came that day to Sorg, a little city on the confluence of the rivers Sorg and Ras, and following the Ras for a few miles in late afternoon left the Frelana province and entered the Polana. As if waiting for them there the east wind rose after sunset, carrying the chill of great spaces crossed, long plains and empty hills. They stayed at a village inn, wakened often from sleep by the bleating of hundreds of sheep penned in fields behind the inn, the clanking of sheep-bells, the carousing of the drovers in the commonroom beneath. The next day was cool; a fine fog was dissolved through the sky so that in the pale glare reflected from horizon to horizon the sun looked small and wan. As they went east and south the wind blew in their faces. The land grew poorer as they rode. Ploughlands yielded to grasslands rolling to an interminable distance. They rode all day alone between earth and sky, with few trees or streams or houses or men to keep them company in the middle space. The road mounted, taking a whole day to rise a thousand feet. As they neared Esten the slopes became steeper, the rare farms poorer, crouched with their sheep-pens under the western side of a hill in the lee of the endless wind. They came to the village of Kolleiy in the late afternoon and pushed on four more miles to Esten, arriving after night had fallen. All Itale saw of the house then was its lights hidden among trees at the foot of a hill whose high, smooth curve blocked out the east wind and the eastern stars. All round were dark hills in starlight, no light to be seen but the stars and the one house, lonely as a ship in midsea. After a brief supper with Estenskar’s brother and sister-in-law the travellers went off to bed. Itale was given a room at the southeast corner, high, sparsely furnished, clean as bone; all the house was like that. The house, the room smelled of the country. It was utterly silent.


    Waking late, he opened his eyes to a flood of white sunlight. In the yard below his window a stable-boy was singing as he curried a stamping, snorting horse. Itale had never heard the tune, and the dialect was hard for him to follow.


    In Rákava, beneath the high walls,


    I left my love forever,


    I came to live among the barren hills


    Where runs no river. . . .


    The archaic turns, the high, harsh, fluent voice pouring over trills and catches as a shallow stream pours over rocks, it was all part of the stirring bright windy morning, and Itale got up ready for whatever came next.


    He took breakfast with Amadey in the long dining room; Ladislas Estenskar was “on the fields” as his wife said—at work. She sat with them, though she had got up long before, when her husband did. She was quiet, dark, barely eighteen, she had been married five months. Her manner was more that of a girl at home than a woman head of her household, and she was evidently in awe of her brother-in-law. With Itale she got on at once, and he said to his friend as they climbed the hill above the house, “I like her, your little sister.”


    “Ladislas is a man of sense.”


    “And taste. . . . They don’t come like that in the city. I knew a girl like her, at Malafrena. . . .”


    “What became of her, the girl at Malafrena?”


    “They sent her to convent school in Aisnar, married a rich widower— Should never have let her leave the country. Town spoils them. My word, what a view!”


    Beneath them now the house and stables huddled at the head of the vale, at the edge of a sparse, straggling wood. All round the barren crest where they stood stretched pale, rounded hills, even in the farthest distance hardly blued by the dry, pure, sunlit air. The grass on them was short as stubble after mowing. Here and there the flocks, ragged grey like patches of dandelion in seed, were scattered on the slopes; sheep-bells made a faint, sparse music over all the great landscape. Northward, beyond the end of the woods, on a scarped and wrinkled summit higher than the other hills, something stood at the edge of sight, a wall or tower.


    “What’s that, Amadey?”


    Estenskar turned. The wind and light made him squint; his hard, thin face looked as if it was made of the same stuff as the high, pale, arid land. “That tower? Radiko, it’s called.”


    “Castle?”


    “Blown up in the War of the Three Kings. Not much of it left.”


    “Which king did they back?”


    Estenskar laughed. “The Pretender. People here are never on the winning side. . . .”


    When they came down from the hilltop the cessation of the wind was a relief, as was the presence of things close at hand, walls and trees, giving shelter from the pale distances.


    They met Ladislas coming into the yard, and with him went to the stables to look at the two horses Amadey had bought in Krasnoy. Admiring the brown mare, he stroked her neck and said, “You always had an eye for horses, Amadey,” and it was plain that he was glad the younger brother had come home, that he loved him, admired him, and was afraid of him. In the afternoon they rode out to show Itale the estate. The elder brother talked farming with him, the younger was mostly silent. Sheep were raised in the Montayna but Itale had had little to do with them and had never seen flocks or pasturage on anything like this scale; he was impressed, fascinated, asked Ladislas endless questions, to which the answers became increasingly technical and complete as Ladislas discovered that he was talking to a man who had worked “on the fields,” and began to forget that the guest was a literary fellow from the city. They reined in beside one of the deep, stone-mounted wells, and dismounted to look at it, and remounted but neglected to ride on, discussing intently and with passion the principal problem of farming in the Polana and its principal difference from farming in the Montayna, the lack of surface water. Amadey sat silent, patient on a patient old horse from the stable of the farm, gazing at the hills.


    As he rode back to the house with Itale he said, “It’s queer, coming back. Like coming to a foreign country, utterly foreign, and finding one speaks the language perfectly. . . .”


    That night after supper they sat talking by the fire. Ladislas’ wife began to gather courage, and when Amadey said something about his book now in press she asked, in her soft voice, “Have you brought it with you?”


    “Only my rough copy. Rochoy has it, it’ll come out early in ’28.”


    “You’re the cause of our meeting, Amadey,” his brother said. “Givana wanted to see what Estenskar’s brother looked like.”


    “I’m Estenskar’s brother. And glad to have been of use. It’s the first time I’ve heard of my reputation doing any good to anyone.”


    “He is weary of fame,” Itale said. “Soon he will get weary of being weary, I hope. He always runs his books down, too, the better they are the more he reviles them; this next one may really be quite fair, going by that indication.”


    “Is it a novel?” asked Givana. “What will it be called? Can you say what it’s about?”


    “It’s called Givan Faugen, and it’s about him,” Amadey replied, with an evident effort not to intimidate her. “Very gloomy. It didn’t really come off.”


    “See?” said Itale. “No one has seen it, but we’ve all been told how very poor it is.”


    “It’s not poor,” Amadey said. “I wouldn’t publish it if it were.”


    Ladislas grinned; either he liked to see his brother teased a bit, or liked to see him fire up.


    “It’s merely mediocre,” Itale said.


    “It’s not what it should have been. That’s all. It’s not as good as Karantay’s book. I wish it was.”


    “The Young Man Liyve?” Givana asked, timorous, her eyes very large and dark, her hands tensely clasped in her lap.


    “There’s young Liyve, you know, in person,” Amadey said, indicating Itale, who at once got hot in his turn: “Oh, rot, Amadey! Givan Karantay was writing that book before he ever met me—besides there’s absolutely nothing in common—”


    “Sorde, too, is weary of fame.”


    “Sorde’s dignity is hurt, and he can’t think of anything clever to say,” said Itale. “Is that a piano, hidden over there?”


    It was a delicate and cranky old harpsichord, and Givana played for them, formal little salon pieces of the last century; her husband stood protectively near her while she played, turning the pages of the music; they sang together, a Scottish love-song so the yellowed book said, a yearning tune in which their voices blended with a reticent clarity. They had sung it before, alone in the lonely house, for their own pleasure. Itale, watching them, thought: But this is how it should be, how have they found it so simply? —and for a minute there in the peaceful room by the fire listening to that music, it seemed to him that life was an infinitely simple thing if only one looked at it clearly, without fear; that if one were thirsty, one need only look to see, close by, however dry the land, the deep well, the well of clear water.


    But it wasn’t his spring, it wasn’t his land.


    He stayed a week at Esten. He went about the farm with Ladislas, went shooting with Amadey in the sparse forests, talked with the brothers and Givana in the evenings; he felt half at home because it was the country, a farm, and half strange, a city visitor among these hard-working people, no part of the spare silent current of their life. Amadey was increasingly silent, speaking curtly and sometimes at random out of some inner preoccupation. On his last day there Itale suggested they ride over to the ruined tower, Radiko.


    “No,” Amadey said.


    Then becoming aware of the uncouthness of his refusal he scowled: “Nothing there,” he said. “I’d rather—I want to go there alone. I’m sorry.” His face was angry, obdurate, suffering. Everything, Itale thought, came hard to him, he could take nothing lightly in life. Even Itale’s admiring, undemanding friendship caused him pain. All love hurt him. “The ropes burn my hands,” said the ferryman of the icy river in his first book.


    “Stay a while longer,” he said, late that last night; Ladislas and Givana had gone to bed, leaving them talking by the fire.


    “I promised to meet Isaber.”


    “It’s a foul city, Rákava,” Amadey said, brooding, gazing into the fire. “You shouldn’t go there. Only easterners can understand the east.”


    “Then come with me. Help me with these articles.”


    Amadey merely shook his head.


    Next day at noon, beside the little, dusty coach that would take Itale to Rákava, he said, “When you see Karantay this winter, tell him . . .” He paused for a long time, shrugged, looked off down the dusty, straggling street of the village. “It doesn’t matter,” he said. The driver was up on his box, it was time for Itale to mount up beside him. “Don’t stay here too long, Amadey, come back to your friends,” he said, putting out his hand to touch his friend’s arm, to embrace him if Amadey would: Amadey pulled away from him, saying, “All right. Goodbye, have a good trip,” and without looking at him turned and went off. Itale stood a moment nonplussed, then swung himself up on the high wheel and took his place; the coach set off with a jangle and commotion of harness and wheels and shouting. Itale looked back through the dust thrown up by the horses’ hooves and saw his friend already mounted on the bay horse, riding off on the road to Esten; behind him the mare, her saddle empty, followed quietly.


    II


    Late that night Amadey lay awake and listened to the wind. It had risen strong and cold, bearing gusts of rain. When it was still a moment there was a sighing sound which might be the settling of the house whose wooden walls strained against the blast, but which sounded like breathing, as if the wind itself took breath before its next sweep across the hills into the west. Amadey sat up at last, groped for the tinderbox, and lighted his candle. The room appeared around him, an island of dim light in the night and the storm of wind. On one high wall hung a map of Europe which he recalled from his earliest childhood, the Latin names of realms, the strange indented coastlines, the boundaries of nations all changed by eighty years of history, the decorative monsters sporting in the ocean he had never seen. The east wind in the darkness blew towards that ocean, towards the remote and cold, autumnal sea, over the hills, plains, cities of the inland, the dawn behind it and the sunset ahead; sunrise might catch it on the coasts of France, or it catch up with evening on the Atlantic, near the shores of the western world. A great gust like a stormwave struck the house. Voices cried along the eaves and roof-peaks. The candle flickered, smoky. “I’m through, I’m done,” he whispered furiously in the sighing stillness after the gust. “It’s gone, all gone, there’s nothing left, what do you want of me?”


    Silence, wind, darkness, the walls of the room where he had slept as a boy. When he blew out his candle he could see the window as a paler oblong, and as the clouds streamed westward glimpsed Orion fiery in the black gulfs.


    In the afternoon he went to the stable to take out the bay horse. The other horse he had bought in Krasnoy, the brown mare, was in the next stall. He heard Itale in the Golden Lion inn saying, “You must take the mare tomorrow, she has a lovely gait,” the pleasant, easy voice and the open, easy dialect, the generous heart— Again tears came into Amadey’s eyes as they had when he tried to say goodbye to Itale beside the coach, no warm sentimental expansion but a painful and frightening storm of grief like an attack from behind, which he met as best he could, turning to face it with surprise and rage.


    He saddled up the mare instead of the bay, and set off alone towards Radiko. In the forest October was setting its somber fires, the birches were beginning to lose their leaves; the wind had blown itself out. The mare’s long gait soon took them out of the trees and up the long slopes towards the high place. The hills were empty except for his brother’s scattered flocks, the agile, heavy-bodied sheep turning their remote gaze on the rider. The sky was pale blue. Once a hawk circled indolently near the sun, and flew off to the north.


    At the top of the hill he dismounted in what had been the courtyard of the keep. A long mound broken by angles of half-buried stone showed where the walls had stood. The wind that never stilled on these summits played in the yellow grass. The body of the castle was gone except for a fragment of the gateway and, overhanging the scarp, some ruins of the outer defense wall. The tower stood scarred and intact, sharing its eminence with two things: the sun now sinking to the west, and, far off in the east, more sensed than seen in the obscure distances of autumn, a violet bulk, the mountains of another land. A ramp led up inside the tower to a first floor of stone. The higher floors had been burned away when the castle was taken, a hundred and eighty years before, leaving only stone beam-supports and a jagged blue circle of sky overhead. Weeds flourished between the stones of floor and walls; in a window fifty feet above the floor a few purple daisies nodded. Amadey went to the south window of the first floor, a narrow bright shaft of view over sunlit hills. An inscription was scratched in the sill, in the hard yellow-grey sandstone:


    Amadeus • Ioannes • Estensis


    anno MDCCCXVIII


    vincam


    He had cut the words there two days before he first left Esten for Krasnoy. He had been seventeen years old. He remembered in one intense imponderable vision full of scents and weathers and the light of other sunsets all the times he had stood alone here in Radiko. The first time he had come had been in the days after his mother’s death. He had come to the tower on foot, he had climbed up the broken ramp and sat down, worn out, here under the south window, and found himself in a place where death had no power, all here being dead and yet enduring, invulnerable. The sun had gone down, the tower had filled with blue shadows. He had heard his name called on the hills, and at last had answered. His father, Ladis, the servants had been out looking for him, calling; he had been only a boy of ten.


    Again the tower filled slowly with shadow, and as it did so grew cold, as if the shadow were clear, still water. He went out and sat on the ruined wall over the cliff in the sun’s last warmth, looking out over the vast landscape that as a child he had pretended was his domain, he the prince of the fallen castle, until the shadow had risen to the top of the highest hills. The frightening pang of loss that he had felt parting with Itale, all the bitter restlessness that had followed him from Krasnoy, dropped away from him at last, here, among the largeness of things, the high ruin, wind, evening. When he stood up at last he still lingered, surrendering to those things, acknowledging their absolute, healing indifference and their absolute claim upon him. He stood alone at last in the only place where he could be alone, could be himself, and free. “This is it, the place. This is where I was to come,” he thought with triumph. In the same moment he turned again, seeing himself posing and boasting, a fool in the house of grandeur. Why had he refused to come here with Itale? Because he was ashamed. He did not want Itale to see the word scratched on the stone of the tower, I shall conquer, and, in his ignorance and magnanimity, believe it. For Itale believed in victory, in the spirit’s struggle and triumph. He had not lived in the ruined tower, on the barren land. He had not seen that there was only a single choice, between illusion and hypocrisy, a choice not worth making. What am I doing here? Amadey asked himself jeering, and went to remount; once off the steep heights he put the mare into a run, leaving behind him in the dead place his defeat and his irrecoverable glimpse of peace.


    In a bad mood that night, he got into a worse one seeing his brother meet his sullenness with patience, and the “little sister”—Itale’s voice again—grow shy and circumspect. But why couldn’t they let him alone? He could not manage their interest, their affection, their human needs and offerings; he was not able, he had never been able, to live with people. He should leave them and go. But he did not know where to go.


    “I liked your friend very much,” Ladis said, days after Itale had left. They were in the stable yard, he had asked Amadey to help him rehang the gate with a new set of hasps from the smithy in Kolleiy. They had just got it mounted and he was testing the iron latch-tongue, his dark face bent down to his work, as it mostly was. “He wasn’t what I’d imagined your friends there to be.”


    Amadey flooded his hands at the pump to get the rust from the old ironwork off them. “Friends,” he said. “He’s the only person I met in ten years there that I ever think of, here.”


    “Are you planning to stay here?”


    “I think so.”


    “It’s all right,” the older brother said, “you know that. Where I’m concerned, and Givana. It’s your house. But how old are you, twenty-six or seven, this is no place for a man unless you want to come into the farming with me. There’s nothing else here.”


    “You seem to find enough.”


    “I’m a farmer. Also I’ve got a wife. I had to ride sixty miles to court her. You need more than that. What do you want with rye and sheep? That would be to waste your work.”


    “I have no more work to do. It’s done.”


    Ladislas looked up then from the gate-latch. “What do you mean, your books? You’re done writing?”


    “It’s done with me, is the way I’d put it. Finished. Used up and thrown away.”


    Ladislas’ eyes were extremely direct, a steady gaze. “You can’t give up a thing like that,” he said, with certainty.


    “I tell you, it’s given me up.”


    “Ah!” Ladislas said with disgust. “You haven’t changed at all.” That brotherly contempt based upon knowledge and unshakable loyalty, that unanswerable, just, forgiving assessment of character, left Amadey wordless. He felt like a child who has said something very foolish, and he flushed up red as he stood with his arms on the pump-handle, staring at Ladislas.


    That night after supper Amadey spoke not at all to his brother, but more than usual to Givana. He made her laugh; he disconcerted her by praising her understanding, and reassured her again by a blunt correction; he began to describe, for the first time since he had come home, the life he had lived in Krasnoy, people he had known, the fashionable, the literary, the actors, the politicals. It was all the Arabian Nights to Givana. She was enchanted, shocked, fascinated, she begged more detail, more circumstance, her eyes were dark and bright and she said, “I don’t believe it, Amadey. . . .”


    That night in his room in bed Amadey heard her, “I don’t believe it, Amadey!” and saw her round, strong, childish hands clasped across the dark bodice, and cursed himself aloud to get the sound of her voice out of his head, and turned over, and lighted the candle at last. The other one, the older one lay in his bed in the darkness beside her while she slept soundly, and heard her voice, “I don’t believe it, Amadey!” and clenched his hands in anger, jealousy, and savage self-accusation.


    Three more nights passed the same way. After supper Amadey and Givana talked, laughed, played the harpsichord; Givana sang for him, or mocked and admired the bizarre impromptus he played for her. She had become quite at ease with him, and teased him as she never teased Ladislas, ordered him about as if imitating the Krasnoy great ladies he described to her, flirted with him. The idea of the theater fascinated her, she asked endless questions about the stage, the plays, the players, the actresses, women whose lives were in all ways, in all things the opposite of hers: where do they live? how are they paid? what do they do with their money? do they ever have children? on and on, commanding Amadey to answer; and the young man, with his jarring laugh, obeyed her, while Ladislas sat silent beside the hearth.


    The fourth night Ladislas left the house after supper and went down to the sheepfolds. He sat a long time with his shepherds by their fire there, as silent and dour as he had sat by his own fire. But when he came back to the house his wife sat alone sewing by the hearth, looking tired and a little scared. “Where’s Amadey?” he asked in an unnatural tone.


    “In his room.”


    “No music tonight, eh?” he said, and winced.


    “The wind’s so bad,” she said. They always said that in the Polana. She looked up at him, and put up her hand to him timidly.


    “You look tired,” he said. “Go to bed.” His voice was very gentle. She went upstairs; he stayed by the fire and did not follow her till after midnight. There was light under Amadey’s door, the thin rayed fan of gold across the worn hall carpeting: he was awake, alone. The older brother stood outside the closed door in the darkness broken by that fan of light at his feet and fought for the strength to be silent, not to speak. —On the other side of the closed door Amadey sat hunched over the scarred writing-table seeking the word, the gift of speech, in an emotionless ecstasy. He had got from Givana what he wanted of her, the excitement of nerves, the uneasy impatient tenacious desire blocked at its own inception, which was his poetic mood. As soon as Ladislas left the house he had left her and come up to his room, rancorous with shame and self-contempt; he sat down to write a letter to somebody, anybody in Krasnoy, he had to get out of here and go back to Krasnoy; as he cut his pen to a new point words appeared in his mind, shifted, stabilised, reshifted: “Here at the ruined tower, the end of hope. . . . Here at the house of desolation, Prince. . . . At the tower at the edge of hope. . . .” The words fell apart, the pattern changed, the resonance returned and filled the universe out to its boundaries and he dipped his half-sharpened pen blindly and began to write, scribbling, crossing out, scribbling again, wrestling the angel skilfully, cleverly, a professional fighter out to win.


    For four days he stayed mostly shut up in his room; when he appeared he was goodhumored and heedless; he ate whatever was put in front of him, answered questions at random, and went back up to work. On the fourth night he came into his brother’s study, a cold shed of a room where Ladislas shut himself up to do his accounting. “Can you spare me a half hour?”


    “Come in! I’m sick of this.”


    “What is it all?”


    “Taxes. Three years running I’ve appealed to Rákava for clarification. They send back the same stupid orders from the administration in Krasnoy. How do they think our peasants can pay this new house tax? Do they want blood? They’ll get blood all right, one of these days, if the Estates can’t change things!”


    “My God, here too! . . .”


    “Taxes make revolutions, you didn’t have to go to the city to learn that,” Ladislas said with irony or self-irony. “What’s that?”


    “Want to hear it?”


    Ladislas sat down at his desk; Amadey, standing, read the long poem aloud in his harsh, clear voice, that scarcely softened even for the most musical lines. It had all the fluent tenderness, the sweetness of sound, that his verse was famous for, none of which was in his voice as he read it, or in the sense of the words, a fantasy or dream-piece on the ruined castle, a flood of somber and precipitous images in darkness ending with darkness, obscure, abrupt.


    When he was done there was silence, then Ladislas in a curious gesture held out his empty hands before his chest and looked from one to the other with a smile. “There you are,” he said in a whisper.


    “No, not I. It, the place, Radiko. Unless I’ve failed.”


    Ladislas looked up at him. “Radiko? In nightmare. . . .”


    “In reality. In itself.” The poet’s voice, now, was softened by the release of feeling after reading the work.


    “The only road across the hills goes to it, and there is only one road to it—it’s like a dream, where you never choose, there are never any choices— It is frightening, Amadey,” the older brother said in his grave, diffident voice, and Amadey smiled accepting, for a moment, praise, victory.


    “You were always my best reader, Ladis.” He sat down and they faced each other, Ladislas dark and watchful, Amadey, dressed as always carefully and formally, his reddish hair well cut and combed; he crossed his legs, tapping his knee with the rolled-up manuscript of the poem. “It was a dream, of course. This isn’t the place itself, it’s a dream—a vision of it—months ago. Last July. I don’t know if I can describe it. I hadn’t done anything for weeks, hadn’t written anything for months. One night in July I went back. . . . I went back to a house I used to go to, a woman. . . . You know that story. I’d broken with her more than a year ago, I was beginning to respect myself again, working with Sorde and his lot, I was— So I went back to her, and she took me in, of course, it amused her a good deal, she sent away her current lover to make room in the bed for me, I got drunk and cried and she turned me out again finally, it was . . . I went around the city all night, I remember parts of it. . . . Got home in the morning and went to sleep. I got up in the evening. It was hot, July in Krasnoy. I was sick of course, it was . . . it was farther down than I’d been. . . . I sat at my window for a long time. I kept those rooms five years because of that window, looking out over the park, down the mall to the Sinalya. The big chestnut trees under my window, and then the lawns and the mall full of people and carriages in the slanting light on an evening in summer, and behind all that the façade of the palace, long and regular behind the trees, a kind of dreary splendor, a melancholy, the end of something. . . . Well, I sat there where I had sat ten thousand times, with the warm wind blowing in over my table, and the light getting broken up in dusty shafts between the trees, not thinking anything, run out, run dry at last, empty. . . . And then I had this dream, if that’s what it was. I wasn’t asleep. I don’t know what it was. I don’t know what it was about, even. . . . In the novel, I tried to write about a man who couldn’t get away from his destiny, all he did was part of it even when he thought he was acting freely. The dream was like that. I saw my own life—behind me and ahead of me. As if it were a road, lying along the hills. But I wasn’t on it. I could see it, and the hills, I could see places I knew, but had I known them before or did I recognise them because they have always lain ahead of me? And that—that’s all, I can’t describe it, I can’t bring it back.” He sat poised, as if listening. “No use,” he said, and shrugged. “But then, when I came to write this,” and he tapped the paper on his knee, “when I came to the passage about the castle at night, then I realised I was describing one of the things I had seen in the dream. Radiko at night, in the rain, in the dark, before sunrise. I saw that. I saw it in broad daylight two hundred miles away. Why? How? What does it mean? I don’t know, I’ve given up asking. I have no right to ask. I’ve forfeited my rights. I lived in my mind, in my emotions, in my vanity, I lived in the world I made, and made the rules for it. I chose to dream. But then when you wake up you have lost your citizenship in daylight. You have forgotten what real things mean. You have forfeited your rights. . . .”


    “Had one ever any rights?”


    Amadey sat silent. Ladislas stood up, solid and stocky in the sheepskin vest he wore for warmth in the cold room; he walked up and down the room a couple of times. “When I was twelve and you were six we went over to Fonte for the Easter Mass. Do you remember that?”


    “We did that most years, didn’t we, when mother was alive?”


    “But we came back by the old road, by Fasten and Radiko, that time, because the bridge over the Garayna was out. It took all night to come back. We passed below Radiko a while before sunrise. I remember it, because you woke us all up, you were wide awake at the window trying to get it open and saying, ‘Look at the castle, look at the castle!’ And father gave you a cuff and we all settled down again. But I remember waking up suddenly like that and seeing the tower looming up on the sky, with the darkness just lifting behind it. Exactly as in your poem. You are describing that moment.”


    “I don’t remember it at all. Twenty years ago! Queer how the mind works, isn’t it?” Amadey said; his hands were shaking uncontrollably. This moment of his childhood which his brother could remember but which he could not, this was no explanation, no answer, but an abyss. From it he turned away in terror. “It’s cold in here, Ladis,” he said. “Let’s go in by the fire.”


    “Go on,” his brother said. “I’ve got to finish this.”


    III


    Winter settled down over the Polana with cold and rain and the endless east wind blowing. At evening under a ragged iron-grey sky the flocks came in over the hills to the great paddocks of Esten. The fields lay grey and poor, the forest was grey, leafless. Givana and Ladislas followed a steady routine, the girl as methodical in her housework as the man in his farmwork. Amadey lapsed into listlessness, finding nothing that needed his doing. At times he found it impossible to get up, cross the room, and trim a guttering lamp. The ounce of energy was lacking; he sat still. His need to make poetry had been his master; having lost his master, he had lost his freedom. Like a tree grown up on a hillcrest where the wind always blows the same he had grown all in one direction, trunk and branches shaped to the wind, and the wind had ceased to blow. He would stand at the window for an hour at a time, looking out at the rain-lashed garden and yards, staring, not thinking, not wondering even why he had come here and why he stayed here in this winter of boredom, this waste, this prison.


    The new year came, and in a burst of energy he wrote all his friends in Krasnoy, Itale, Karantay, Helleskar, Luisa, that he was coming back as soon as the roads were fit to travel. He wrote them long letters full of crazy puns and jokes. He would come back to the city in April or in May, when the lindens would be flowering along the Molsen Boulevard, and the chestnuts in the park, and the pretty women on the mall; he would leave behind him at wind-beleaguered Esten all his cobweb notions, his self-torment, the last, senseless tatters of his adolescence. For that was all the trouble. Given up to his imagination, to the drunkenness of words, he had never taken time yet to become a man. It was time to face the real world.


    “What would I be running from?” he said angrily to the night, as if denying a grave, heedless accusation; and the wind went on in its tremendous tides to the west, to the sea, under Orion standing bright above the January hills.


    He thought of his boast and promise scratched in the stone of the tower of Radiko: I shall conquer: the word now remaining both lie and truth, as enduring as the stone of the tower itself that ignored, in its solitude, all conquerors and all defeat.


    When Ladislas and Givana called on their wide-scattered neighbors he went with them, and they had people come in as often as they could, perhaps in an effort to entertain him; he was aware of their shy attempts to offer him work or talk or simply mute companionship, though he was not able to make adequate response. The evenings with other people were easier. The visitors did not really want him to talk. They were daunted by him as a poet, a famous man, a city man, and wanted at best to look at him, then to turn back to one another and discuss sheep, weather, neighbors, politics. The political arguments got hot; he kept out of them, listening with a sense of detachment and disloyalty. Ladislas was a strong reformer and constitutionalist, and was supported by the parish priest of Kolleiy; most of the other domey and farmers combatted his opinions, but not out of love for the government. Things were not going well in the country. Taxation fell heavy on those who had no cash to pay it, police investigations and arrests were becoming common even in small towns, and the eastern provinces, where independence and conservatism were so extreme as to deserve the name of anarchism, were in a resentful, stormy temper. So Ladislas and his neighbors argued and grumbled; and Amadey was silent, always with that vague sense that his silence betrayed something or someone; and when there were no other women, kept home by the bitter weather and the foul roads, Givana also was silent, busy with her handwork and with looking after the tea, the supper, and so on. She was pregnant, and beautiful in pregnancy. She had gained in self-possession; she was gentle, reasonable, timid in manner, yet Amadey saw in her now also the unshakable strength, the assurance of her womanhood. She knew her way. She was happy. He watched her, without envy or hope of participation. Ladislas and two neighbors were going at it hammer and tongs; she came over to the harpsichord, near which Amadey was sitting, sat down, and with a smile of mockery began to play very softly. He came to stand beside her. “Oh, they are so boring,” she said joyously. “They’ll never even hear this, it won’t bother.” And she played and sang, half under her breath,


    From out my tower window


    I saw the red rose and the may,


    From out my tower window


    I saw the red rose and the thorn.


    Who rides beneath my window


    Before the break of day,


    Who rides beneath my window


    Before the morn?


    “Go on,” said Amadey, who knew it from childhood, the ballad of Death who carries the girl away, but Givana smiled and said, “I can’t sing, I’m so shortwinded,” and went on playing one of her quaint old sonatinas. When she was done she tuned a couple of the wires, which forever needed tuning, and then sitting back on the bench asked him, “Do you still mean to leave in April?”


    “I don’t know,” he said absently, his gaze following the design painted on the front of the harpsichord, a wreath of roses and hawthorn, chipped and faded on the cracked varnish. “I don’t want to leave.”


    “Then why?”


    “Because I know it’s a mistake, so I do it.”


    She played a C-scale, one octave up and down, a tiny ripple of clear notes.


    “It’s foolish to talk that way.”


    “I know. I’m sorry.”


    “If you go, will you come back?”


    “No. I don’t think so. There is no reason to. I came here looking for the reason to come here, but I haven’t found it. You see, when I went to Krasnoy, I knew exactly why I was going, what I had to do. To write my books, meet people, make my way, fall in love, all the rest of it. I did all that. I went through all I had to go through. And now it’s done. It’s all done.”


    “At twenty-six—”


    “Don’t think I’m lazy, Givana. You’ve scarcely seen me work. I worked very hard, when I had work to do. But it’s done. So, I can go back to Krasnoy, or anywhere else, and write articles, and earn a living, take up life as most people do, get married, go on from day to day for fifty years if I like— I can see that; but I don’t believe it. I don’t see my life ahead. I have already lived it. All the rest seems meaningless. Do you know what I mean? You foresee your own life to come, in a way, don’t you?”


    “I never did until now. Since I’ve been pregnant. I see things . . . as if the baby saw them dreaming . . . a summer evening out there, under the poplar, the child and I are standing there waiting, for Ladis to ride home I suppose, and it’s a lovely summer evening, a little sad . . . because the wind is blowing.” She smiled. “And because I’ll be older, then.”


    “Do I ride home with Ladis?”


    “That’s for you to see.”


    They had forgotten the others; she spoke without the least convention, and he answered, harsh and pleading, “But I can’t. I can’t see anything ahead. There’s no way to see ahead through one’s own eyes, it’s the child as you say, the future you bear, that’s your vision, the truth, but I—I have lost the way— I can’t see.”


    “You worked so hard, you said so yourself; you’re tired, you’re worn out. You have to wait. It’s like winter, everything has to rest and wait.” She spoke earnestly, with confidence.


    The thaws came early, there was no snow after the last week of January. In February he received the first mail to come through to Kolleiy since Christmas: two letters from Karantay, one dated in early December asking if he had any news from Itale, the other an empty envelope, the seal broken. There was also a packet from the Rochoy publishing house, copies of his new book, Givan Faugen. He gave one to his brother. “Read it next winter!” he said, for Ladislas was in the thick of lambing season, at work twenty hours a day, and often not at the house for two or three days at a time. “No, in a week or so now,” Ladislas answered seriously. “But give it to Givana. It will please her.”


    “I will. Where are you off to?”


    “South paddocks.”


    “I’ll be along.”


    “If you like.” Ladislas swung up on his little horse, raised a hand in salute, and rode off. Amadey went to find Givana in the garden west of the house. It was a cold day, the wind blowing light and keen; sunlight flashed, dimmed, flashed in rain-pools on the raw black ground. Givana was stooping over a bed of dirt, her figure bright and frail in the restless light. “My crocuses are up,” she said proudly. “Two of them, see them?”


    “And my book’s out—see it?”


    She took the book, looked at the title, turned it over, did not know what to say. He showed her the flyleaf, on which he had written with the bad pen and gummy ink of the Kolleiy Post Inn, “For Givana and Ladislas from their loving brother Amadey.” She read the inscription and sought for words to say, then suddenly breaking through her own constraint she smiled and said, “Read me some of it!” She sat down on the garden seat, putting up her feet on a paving-stone to keep them from the mud under the bench.


    “Now?”


    “Now,” she said with her little air of command.


    Standing there in the uneasy sunlight he opened the book and read the first page aloud; he paused, and shut the book. “It seems years ago, someone else’s book. . . .”


    “Go on.”


    “I can’t.”


    “How does it end?”


    “You shouldn’t know that before you read it.”


    “I always look at the end before I begin.”


    He glanced down at her, then opened to the last page of the book, and read aloud in his hard voice: “‘Givan made no reply for some minutes, but leaned on the railing of the bridge in mute contemplation of the river, which ran fast beneath, foam-streaked and yellow, swollen by the torrents of Spring. At length, raising his head, he said, “If life is anything more than a brief exile from the kingdoms beyond Death—”’”


    He stopped again. He closed the book and laid it down on the bench beside Givana. She looked up at him, helpless. The wind blew, the sun shone out and faded on the high, pale hill above the house. “It’s a very gloomy book,” the young man said.


    “Amadey, you are going back to Krasnoy, aren’t you?”


    He shook his head.


    “But there’s nothing for you here—”


    “All my kingdom is here. It always was.” Hands in his pockets he turned away to the gate, then turned back as if to speak again; he smiled a little as if in apology, shrugged, and went on around the house.


    Givana soon followed him, wearied and oppressed by the cold wind. She lay down in her room and dozed uncomfortably. Through halfsleep she heard Amadey’s voice down in the yard, the stamping of a horse. Rain began to patter on the roof and window, and she slept.


    “Perhaps he went out to shoot in the forest,” she said, that night. Ladislas, at his long-delayed supper, nodded and went on eating.


    “It’s been dark two hours,” he said, setting down knife and fork. “There’s been some accident with the horse, maybe.”


    He got up. Givana, watching his exhausted face, said nothing.


    He came back from the forest past midnight. “Gil is going on to Kolleiy with the lantern,” he said. Givana helped him pull off his mired boots; he sat back on the hearthseat, and almost at once fell asleep, before he had lain down. Wakeful in her pregnancy, Givana sat with him, keeping the fire built up; the old housekeeper brought quilts and they made a bed of the hearthseat. Ladislas slept there until dawn, when he woke suddenly. Givana was asleep, curled up in the armchair by the fire. Ladislas went quietly upstairs to his brother’s room to check that no one was there, then put on his boots and went out into the icy white sunrise. The crest of the hill above the house was lipped with gold; stables, yard, house, trees stood pallid and rigid in the dawn light. Ladislas pulled the collar of his coat up around his neck and went to the stables. The stable-boy came clambering down to meet him from the loft room.


    “Where’s the Rákava bridle,” Ladislas said, his voice hoarse with sleep and cold, “did Dom Amadey take it?”


    “Aye, for the mare.”


    “I’m going out towards Fonte, by the old road, tell them in the house.”


    He set off on his little black horse through the frostbound forest, up the hills now bright along their eastern slopes, riding towards the summit and the tower that stood yellow in the level light. As he came over the last rise before the valley under Radiko he saw the brown mare standing halfway down the steep ascent, her reins dragging. She shied away as he rode close; she ran a little, stumbled on the reins and stopped, turning her dark nervous head to watch Ladislas. He rode up past her and across the fallen wall of the courtyard, dismounted, and went to the foot of the ramp leading up into the tower. Amadey had set the gun, a hunting rifle, against his chest under the heart, and had fallen forward, sprawled out, his head turned to the side. His coat was soaking wet with rain and his hair looked black. Ladislas touched his hand which lay on the muddy ground, mudstained and as cold as the ground or the rain. The wind kept blowing on the hills, the domain of Radiko, as it always did. Amadey’s eyes were open, so that he seemed to be looking westward over the ruined wall and the hills at the sky where, for him, there had been no sunrise, the night continuing.
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    “IN RÁKAVA, beneath the high walls . . .” The tune had stuck with Itale all the way from Esten, jolting in his head as he jolted over the roads of the Polana on an outside seat of the springless coach, in the wind, between hills that hid themselves at last in slow-drifting clouds and veils of autumn rain. It was in the rain that he first saw the high walls, and from the south. Coming to Rákava from the north, from the plains, one would see first a swell of land, a hill rising a thousand feet so gradually that it could hardly be seen as a whole, and below the long skyline a patch of something like broken pearls, that as one came closer would take form, becoming a walled city built of white and tawny stone, towered and battlemented, remote, magnificent. But coming up from the south over the crest of the great hill, Itale first saw Rákava below him, exposed and dingy in the rain of an October afternoon. The houses had spread out far beyond the walls; the towers huddled in a maze and jumble of streets, dominated by the featureless bulk of several buildings that stood massive at the north edge of the city, the cloth factories. In older centuries Rákava had been the pearl of the east, the glory and fortress of the province, the untaken, the unsullied, Rácava intacta. Now the high walls were breached in fifty places to let in and out the swarms of men and women going to work in the factories, coming back from work in the factories. There was still wealth there; industry was modern and on a scale unmatched in any other city of the land. Wool and silk was the city’s wealth; silkworms were raised, baled fleeces stored, yarns spun and dyed, cloth woven and cut, in the huge sheds and buildings along the northern wall; the life of the city was there, and the old towers of feudal defense stood useless, like the rusty iron fingers of a gauntlet thrusting up through the chalk of a barren hill. The coach passed under those towers and Itale looked up at their blind, massive walls uneasily. One, a fort, all but windowless, was the St Lazar Prison, another next to it, higher and elaborately battlemented, housed the provincial Courts of Law; he saw no sign of use or habitation in the others, their dark gates barred. Dusk came fast in the narrow streets. The coach rattled down cobbles slippery with rain. One of the horses slipped, plunged, and went down with a sickening crash, leaving its mate straining to stay afoot in the broken harness and the coach tilted over, so that Itale half jumped and half slid down to the street, where he too slipped, and so greeted the stones of Rákava on hands and knees, his head badly jolted and his palms scraped raw. The horse had broken its knees, a crowd had gathered immediately and pressed in close on the horses, the coach, the passengers. Itale got his valise out of the boot and pushed his way out of the crowd, his head still ringing; he got directions from a woman and set off down the street to the Rosetree Inn, where Isaber was waiting for him.


    The ex-student-teacher, nineteen now and an ardent acolyte at Novesma Verba, was very glad to see him; he had been alone in Rákava two days and had apparently had a wretched time of it. He talked all the time Itale had his bath, which was the first thing he had ordered, a hot tub in front of a hot fire. Even as he finally got warm he could feel the cold he had taken on the rainy trip settling itself in his throat and nose and eyesockets, moving in, making itself at home. The quantity of hot water brought up had been meager, the fire did not burn well. As he stood on the hearth to towel himself dry he observed two cockroaches the size of his thumb bickering over a greasy spot on the floor. “No rose, this Rosetree,” he said.


    “The rats run up on the beds at night. It’s foul. The whole city’s foul.”


    Itale shivered. “Hand me my shirt there, would you, Agostin? Thanks. Well, is it any worse than the Krasnoy slums?”


    “Yes. Because that’s all there is. The rest of it is dead. And the people are like rats. They won’t even talk to you.”


    “You’re an outsider. You’re not one of ’em. All provincials are suspicious. I know, I’m a provincial.” He always found himself reassuring Isaber, trying to cheer him up, making light of difficulties; it made him feel much more than five years older than the boy, and roused a sense of hypocrisy in him. “They are probably human, anyhow,” he said drily. “Come on, I’m hungry.”


    “I ordered mutton, there isn’t much else,” Isaber said, despondent, and they went down to a greasy supper in the gloomy depths of the inn. When Itale got to bed, with his cold, and a sharp ache in his wrist where he had wrenched it landing on the cobblestones, he reflected that his arrival in Rákava had been inauspicious; and indeed that the journey had begun ill; why had Amadey turned away like that without a word, as if he could not wait to see him go? A rat scrabbled in the wall, or under the bed. The air of the room was sour with the smell of the cheap tallow candles just blown out. “What am I doing here?” Itale thought in discouragement, and let the unanswered question magnify his sense of being in a strange room among unfamiliar walls and streets, until his own tired, unrelaxed body felt strange to him. The pain in his wrist and hand increased. He could not find an easy position. As his waking intelligence began to blur, the pressure of the alien and the inimical increased until he felt himself unable to move, lying as still and tense as a hunted man in hiding yet half-asleep and longing for full sleep, and still the stupid question hanging in his mind, “What am I doing here?”


    Next morning he had not forgotten that night-mood, and could not shake it off entirely. Only the question had resumed its primary form, waiting for him among the stones of Rákava as it had waited for him in a kindlier disguise among the fountains and gardens of Aisnar, borrowing from them the aspect of desire, or of longing; here it was undisguised and blunt, a mere question, “What am I doing?”


    There was no disguise here, no distraction. Here in this city whose existence was a suction of crowds into the factories and rejection of them, suction and rejection, repetitive unvarying activity like that of a powerful machine, work irrelevant to climate, to season, to the land or the hour of sunrise or sunset, or the wits or the wishes of any soul among those crowds, here, Itale thought after he had been in Rákava a few days, he had crossed some boundary towards which he had been tending for a long time; but he did not know where he had come, or why, or if there was any way back home.


    He did, of course, what he had come to do: called on factory owners and managers, used Oragon’s introductions to meet the political leaders of the city and among the workers, studied the functioning and organisation of the factories; he was profoundly impressed by the men and the city, by the vigor, the tremendous, inorganic energy of the system, which, less than twenty years and only beginning to reach full development, had transformed the lives of a hundred thousand people. After a fortnight he had so much material for a series of articles that he began to write them, calling the series, with an irony perceptible only to himself, “Industry in Rákava.” He was industrious enough, his mind worked with speed and concentration, he was tireless; only he had to avoid certain questions in his writing and his thoughts, or they would lead him back round to the one he could not answer. And it seemed to him sometimes that his senses were dulled, here, so that he did not feel keenly nor see clearly; his emotions too were cool, as if insulated off.


    Isaber worked hard for him, and stuck close to him. The boy was not the companion Itale would have liked. His loyalty verged too much upon dependence; he demanded that Itale lead and inform him. That Itale should question his own purposes was unthinkable to him. They were working for Freedom and that was all that was needed. Sometimes this trust was a comfort to Itale, sometimes he was moved by it to destructive cynicisms which he did not let himself say aloud. Perhaps he had no right to do what he was doing; certainly he had no right to destroy the whole fabric of Isaber’s beliefs and hopes.


    The days went by rapidly, evenly. They were well into November and rain or sleet and snow fell every day. Itale put off his plans to leave. He continued to gather material for his articles, his understanding of the subject continued to grow. He wrote to Brelavay that he might stay on till Christmas, if their money held out. Under his steady activity there was a lethargy, an unwillingness to move again, to go on or go back. He was here, he would stay. He kept returning to the factories to watch the rattling grey-black efficiency of the wooden and iron machines out of which came long webs of pure white wool, fragile silks the colors of jewels and flowers, patterned velvets, splendid and delicate products of the looms and racks, the stinking vats of dye and sizing, the crazy dancing spindles, the endless trays of leaves and worms. The big new Ferman Wool factory had two steam-driven looms, the first in the country; he had read Sangiusto’s descriptions of such machines in the northern English cities, and went to see them in some intellectual excitement, but was drawn back to them again and again simply to watch them work: the swift endless back-and-forth, the deft, effaced men that served them. He could stand watching them for an hour, all the time with a slightly sick feeling in the pit of his stomach. They were the same motions, it was the same product, as Kounney working at his loom in his rooms in Mallenastrada; it was weaving, there had been weaving done since the dawn of human time, why did the powered looms so fascinate and frighten him? He wrote an article describing them, their structure, their product, and their probable effect on the economy if more came into use. “What a lot you know about all this,” Isaber said reading it, admiring as always. “What are you calling the piece?”


    “Freeing the Hands,” Itale said.


    The workman told off to demonstrate the powered loom to Itale was named Fabbre. Itale had quickly discovered the man’s politics to be radical, and they had struck up a kind of friendship, very cautious on both sides. Fabbre lived with his wife, his father-in-law, and five children in a four-room house outside the east wall. The Ferman managers had built this row of houses for their skilled workmen: Fabbre was an aristocrat, and treated as such. The houses had floors, and small fenced front yards, though the back doors opened on an alley of mud. The children played in troops in the alley, never in the little bare yards. These houses fascinated Itale as the machinery of the factories did. The slums of Rákava were like the slums of Krasnoy or any other city; that dirt and misery was old, coeval with the cities, the poor you have always with you—but Fabbre and his family were not poor; they were not dirty; if they were miserable it was not by the ancient causes of cold, hunger, and disease. They did not plant flowers in these front plots, or vegetables, which would be stolen, Fabbre’s wife said, it was not worth the trouble. Anyway they would likely move soon, there were new houses being built by the East Gate, water piped in to a pump in your own yard, they said. “The Company keeps us well enough,” she said factually and yet with a cold irony.


    Itale knew the peasant houses of Val Malafrena: more crowded even than this house, darker, and warm. Opposite the hearth would be a partition and visible and audible across it the cow and perhaps a couple of pigs or goats. The enormous bed, usually next to the stall, the clothespress, the table and chairs were of oak. Everything smelled of hay, manure, bedding, onions, woodsmoke. Whatever the housewife owned of pewter, copper, or painted ware stood out on a shelf above the table. One was not asked into those houses, any more than into a badger’s earth or a fox’s den. One stood in the doorway speaking to the housewife or the husband, the youngest children staring from the rich darkness. In such places people had lived always, on the land. The houses of privilege, Valtorsa and the Sorde house, were the same house made light and large, and the cattle moved out. But this house, Fabbre’s house in the double row, this was something else; it was slave quarters. “The Company keeps us well enough. . . .”


    Itale saw them stand in groups on the streets on Saturday nights, knots and clumps of women and men, dark and forceful then, null when they walked alone; he listened to their talk in the soft, nasal dialect, always of the factories and politics; he saw they knew more, wanted more, hoped for more than the peasants, and sensed their violence, the will to justice too long outraged; and he wanted to withdraw from them, to dissociate himself from their impotence and violence, their inchoate lives and the clever, inchoate, slave minds of their spokesmen such as Fabbre. He could not do so. He was one of them. He and they could talk, could understand one another’s ideas. He could never be one of or one with the peasants of his home: the difference of experience and knowledge, the difference of privilege there was too wide and nothing could annull it, nothing bridge it, even, except personal affection, personal love. But here among these people who understood what he was working for he began, for the first time, to doubt his own purposes. If this was progress, if this was the future, did he want it—did anyone want it except the rich, the powerful, the owners?


    In Krasnoy crowds formed and unformed easily, coalitions and driftings-apart of individuals; here it was the crowd that was the center, not the man, and the mob temper was always uneasy, angry. There was little street oratory in Krasnoy, beyond street-corner debates in the River Quarter; here there seemed always to be a speech going on somewhere in the city, and a crowd around the speaker. The governor of the Polana province had forbidden public meetings, any man seen addressing a crowd was liable to arrest and imprisonment, but it made no difference: they spoke, they met, they lived in unrest, resentment, wakefulness. They had all that Itale had sought first as a student in Solariy: the sense of justice, the spirit of revolt. But then revolt to what end?


    He let some of this break out one night talking with Isaber. “Whom are we really working for, I wonder? For whom are we making the way plain? The king—old Duke Matiyas—a restored constitutional monarchy . . . That’s a bit flat but perhaps it’s the best of a bad lot. Better than working for Emperor Franz and Metternich, by making an armed rebellion which they can crush and use for an excuse to snuff out national independence altogether. Better than working for the Ferman Brothers by telling the poor they can better their lot, they can rise in the world, so long as the Ferman Brothers rise on their necks, of course.”


    Isaber gaped, scared, for he had never seen Itale bitter. “But as the people become educated—” he stammered.


    “Educated!” Itale jeered, but then he looked at Isaber, the fragile enthusiast whom he had educated, for whom he was literally responsible. “Forget it, Agostin. I’m in a bad temper, this place gets on my nerves.”


    He turned back to the table and got on with his writing. A half hour passed. Isaber was restless, roaming around the room—they had taken a two-room tenement flat, since it was cheaper than staying at an inn—stirring the fire, rearranging papers. Itale knew he wanted reassurance, but he had none to offer. His conscience was heavy. Isaber was a born follower; and he, he had seen himself as a leader, guiding men on towards the light. A leader! Had he outgrown that ambition, or merely fallen short of it? It was hard enough to keep the single candle alight in the depths of one’s mutable, vulnerable being, against the indifferent winds of heaven; it was hard to stand up alone, and know where one stood, let alone where one was going.


    The next night he was to speak to a meeting of journeymen silkweavers, a strong association despite the government bans on laborers’ unions. They wanted a report on the Assembly meetings in Krasnoy, and he could not refuse them. Since his journal was prevented from publishing the news, he was obliged to give it as he could; that was one reason, perhaps the best reason, for his coming to Rákava. Isaber did not go with him this time. His talk went well enough. They asked questions for an hour after, and that was an ordeal, for, lacking a politician’s unfailing flow of words, he thought before he answered and while he answered: so he was slow, and his audience grew impatient. They wanted quick answers and definite ones. He got still slower, more cautious. He heard his own voice, dry and hesitant. The blood began to burn in his cheeks, he resented the men, sitting so patient in their worn clothes, the tired, intelligent faces, the minds impatient, destructive, arrogant. “Why don’t the Assembly do something about the Bura’ o’ Censorship then? Why don’t they question its pow’rs?” a thin, persistent man demanded. Itale flung out his hands and laughed, driven out of patience. “Why don’t they question the powers of the emperor of Austria? Why don’t they question the powers of Light and Darkness? What can the Assembly do, man? If it once directly questions the government’s authority, the government will dissolve it by force. Would you defend it then? Do you want armed revolution? That’s what you’re asking for. Are you ready for it? We’ve got no arms, and no allies. Yet suppose we rebelled and won out—then what? What next? You know what you don’t like, and I don’t like it either, but what is it you do like—when there’s no censorship what are you going to say?”


    He had found his tongue at last, and set them all against him. It was inevitable. They turned on him because he was an outsider and because he was middle-class, and yet they demanded that he offer them hope. He, feeling that to promise them hope was to lie to them and to deny them hope was to betray them, stood answering their questions, fighting back at their attacks, defiant and sore-hearted.


    When the meeting broke up, one of the officers of the weavers’ association, a man named Klenin, caught up with him in the hall. “Will you come out this way, Mr Sorde,” he said, leading him away from the main door where the crowd was going out.


    “Are they that angry?” Itale said sarcastically, but began to cool down as he looked at Klenin’s face, sensitive as were so many faces among these city workmen; he looked like Itale’s neighbor in Krasnoy, Kounney the linen-weaver.


    “They don’t stop us meeting, since ’21,” Klenin explained in his soft voice, “but lately they’ve been taking up some o’ the speakers, different places in the city, and questioning ’em. Just bogeying. If they don’t see you then you’re spared the trouble. You had to answer enough questions tonight, maybe.” He smiled.


    “I let them down tonight. I’m sorry.”


    Klenin looked at him. His eyes were blue, a soft blue, intent and serious. “The men always jump Krasnoyers, you know. I respect what you said, Mr Sorde. There’s no use pretending it’s easy.”


    They were at the door, and Itale said, “Thanks, Klenin.” He wanted to tell this man that he was grateful, he wanted to express the liking he felt for him, his blue eyes and fine, tired face, but all he could do was say “Thank you” and shake his hand, the one human touch, the one meeting with another man, of the whole evening. They parted on a dark street in the rain.


    II


    He was glad to look up from the dark streets at last and see the light shine from his windows. Isaber, with a Krasnoyer’s instinct for good cheer, had put up red curtains which he had got for a few pennies as mill-ends. The candle light shone rosy through them, and Itale felt his heart lighten a little. At least he was not alone here! Isaber was a good fellow, with his loyal heart and his red curtains. He climbed the unlit staircase and turned off at the second landing; a baby was crying, a thin, almost ceaseless wail, on the floor above. As he felt with his key for the lock he thought he heard Isaber call something, “Come in!” or “Don’t come in!” As he hesitated, startled, the door was opened abruptly from within. He saw Isaber standing by the table, and other men in the room, one at the door not a foot from him. His first action was to step back and turn. A man stood behind him halfway up the stairs. His conscious reaction was to the fixed, staring look on Isaber’s face: this troubled him, and he said, “What’s wrong, Agostin?”


    The boy did not answer. The man holding the door open said, “Mr Sorde?”


    “Who are you?”


    “Please come in.”


    Itale came in, followed by the man who had been on the stairs. The man who had opened the door closed it, carefully, taking the trouble not to be noisy, rather like a butler, Itale thought.


    “You are Itale Sorde, employed by the journal Novesma Verba of Krasnoy, is that correct?”


    “Yes.” Isaber was looking down now, still with a stuporous expression. The other men stood wooden-faced, a lot of posts. “Will you sit down, gentlemen?” Itale said in a clear, harsh voice. They all went on standing. None of them looked at his face. “Stand if you like,” he said, and sat down in his usual chair by the table.


    “Are you the author of these writings, Mr Sorde?”


    They were his last dispatch to Krasnoy, two articles and a private letter to Brelavay.


    “When I saw them last they were sealed,” he said, and leaned back in his chair a little to keep himself sitting down, to keep his rage under control. “Is opening mail your profession or do you do it for pleasure?”


    “Did you write them?”


    “Who are you?”


    “My name is Arassy,” the man said with annoyance. He had a tenor voice, an intelligent, inexpressive face.


    “And mine’s Sorde, as you know, but that gives me no right to ask you questions, I think? Who are you, and am I under arrest or merely being intimidated?”


    “You’re under arrest, Mr Sorde, and I think the rest of this can wait—all right, Gavral?”


    One of the others, a somber man in his twenties, nodded.


    “You’ll want your coat, Mr Isaber. This room will be sealed until you’ve stood trial, Mr Sorde. You might want to bring along a change of clothing.”


    “Let me see your authority.”


    Arassy produced a warrant signed by Kastusso, commander of the Polana militia.


    Isaber still had not moved. Itale went to him. “Come on, Agostin,” he said, and then, lower, with irritation, “Don’t freeze like a rabbit. Get your coat.”


    Tears started into the boy’s eyes and he whispered, staring at Itale, “Sorde, I’m sorry!”


    “Come on, get your coat.”


    They rode in a closed cab through the dark rainswept streets uphill to the building Itale had seen when he first entered the city, the Courts of Law. Its crenellated tower loomed up through sweeping clouds of half-frozen rain, dizzying in the flare of the cab-lamps. In a warm shabby room without windows Arassy interrogated them briefly before a secretary. “Very good, Mr Sorde,” he said, rubbing his hand over his forehead as if he had a headache. “Thanks. You and Mr Isaber will be detained here until trial.”


    “What are the charges against us?”


    “Article 15, activities prejudicial to public order. It’s a very common charge, Mr Sorde.”


    He was not bad, this Arassy; polite, tired, matter-of-fact.


    “I know. How long is it likely to be before we stand trial?”


    “I can’t say. Possibly in a few days. Usually within two months.”


    Arassy bowed. Two militiamen came at his signal and took Itale and Isaber off down a corridor, up three long flights of stone steps, and to a dark room at the end of a last, curving corridor. They entered the room, the soldiers with them. “Gentlemen, please, you carry knives, penknives, any metal instrument?” The accent as usual was foreign, German or Bohemian. Isaber mechanically surrendered his penknife, Itale as mechanically did not; in fact he was surprised to find it in his pocket next morning. “Very good. Good night, gentlemen.” The door of the room closed with a loud, peculiar click.


    “What do—” Itale began and then backed against the door with a start, seeing a faceless figure rear up from a couch or bench almost under his left hand. It gave a kind of groaning snarl. The only light in the room came from a lamp or candle down the corridor, reflected dimly on the ceiling through a grating high in the door. Everything was high, the ceiling eighteen or twenty feet, the door ten or twelve, a queer effect in the faint wavering light. The shapeless figure on the bench pushed its face out of blankets, though no features were visible, and said, “Cell-mates?” Only at the word did it occur to Itale that this curious room was a prison cell.


    “Right,” he said, interested; but he had to turn and give his attention to Isaber, who had crouched down onto his heels and was rocking back and forth, back and forth, saying nothing. Itale talked to him but he squatted there silent, swaying. At last Itale hauled him up by the arm, by main force, and said, “Sit down!”—pushing him onto the bench that ran around two walls of the room. “Get hold of yourself!” He was rough, and his voice was very angry. The boy sank his head into his hands and burst into tears.


    “How long were they there before I came?” Itale asked him after a while, casting about for some hook of simple fact to draw Isaber out of his formless and grotesque abasement.


    “I don’t know. An hour.” He tried to stop sobbing. “I don’t know.”


    “What did they ask you?”


    “I don’t know. I tried not to answer. Oh, Jesus, Mary!” He clenched his hands over his face. “I’m sorry, Itale, I’m sorry!”


    “Look, Agostin, they are trying to frighten us; don’t give them that pleasure.”


    “I believe you gentlemen are politicals,” said the third man, sardonic, still faceless in the shadowy deep room.


    “Yes. My name’s Sorde.” He did not know if giving your name was prison etiquette; he did not introduce Isaber, who was still crying.


    “Sorde? From Krasnoy? Yes. What an honor. Not surprised perhaps, but honored.” The man gave an edgy, ingratiating snicker. “I’m Givan Forost. I’ll be out in a few days, and you gents will have more room.”


    “Is this St Lazar Prison?” Itale asked, remembering that the two towered buildings, the court and the jail, adjoined.


    “St Lazar! Are you joking! This is the Courts tower, this is no jail, look at it, a palace! Blankets, light, window, all the comforts. Thought you political gentlemen knew more about the inside of jails than that. “What’s wrong with sonny?” Forost got up, trailing the blankets he had cocooned himself in, and approached them.


    “Let him be,” Itale said stiffly.


    “Needs his mammy,” Forost said. “All right. So long as he doesn’t keep it up all night. Choose your beds, plenty of room, in Lazar there’d be forty in a room like this. Piss-pot’s in the corner. Sleep well, gents.” He rolled himself up again in his blankets and was silent. Itale talked a little while softly with Isaber, persuaded him to lie down, and then did the same himself, feeling suddenly dead tired. Forost had not shared his blankets with them, but the bench was covered with a burlap matting and the air, though cold, was still and fresh. Itale stretched out and at once felt comfortable. He closed his eyes, all his thoughts escaped him, and he fell into sound and peaceful sleep.


    Forost was with them for a week. He never said what he had been arrested for; he was apparently some kind of clerk, but was vague about that too. He was certain of being released, and was indeed released at the end of the week— “Friends in power,” he said with his snicker. He gave them detailed descriptions of the St Lazar Prison, without ever saying if he had been jailed there or visited it or spoke from hearsay: the wards of twenty to a hundred men, sick and well, sane, insane, and imbecile, murderers and petty thieves all together; the rats, fleas, lice, bedbugs; the typhus, typhoid, and smallpox that twice in the last forty years had, in Forost’s phrase, “cleaned out the prison”; the solitary cells, and the cells below street level, where the water was a foot deep on the floor in winter. “That’s a real prison,” Forost said with admiration. “But see, you gents don’t fit. Rioters, sure, they get locked up in the wards in Lazar, commoners, workingmen, lock ’em up, who cares? But you gentlemen politicals, they don’t want you on their hands. You two aren’t going to stand trial yet for a while. They don’t want to bring you up and sentence you, see, because they don’t know where to put you when you’re sentenced. If they get orders from the government, from Krasnoy, give this one a sentence, then they’re in for it, they have to do it, but God knows where they stick him. So the longer you wait the safer you are. You’ll wait six months, then be released without trial. That’s how they like to do it. Cool you off a while here in the tower, then let you out; you run off quick; and they don’t have to worry about you any more.”


    Itale listened with interest but no particular emotion. Six days or six months, there was nothing he could do about it, and probably, as Forost implied, it was just as well that he could not. He thought of his escapade in Solariy and the house arrest that had been his punishment. This was not all that much worse. He lay back on the bench, his shoes for a pillow, looking up at the single window set high in the high wall, and sang under his breath, “All the best Governments, Have replaced Common Sense, With Von Müller, and Haller, and Gentz. . . .”


    “Go on,” said Forost, who was paring his nails with Itale’s penknife. “Give us a concert.”


    “What would you like?—‘Beyond this darkness is the light, O Liberty, of thine eternal day! . . .’” Forost grinned, Isaber looked scared. He was still depressed, brooding miserably most of the time.


    “What do they sing where you come from?”


    “Not jail songs. What do you sing here?” He began the song he had heard at Esten, “In Rákava, beneath the high walls,” knowing only the first line; Forost picked it up in a sweet tenor. “That’s no jail song, that’s an old song,” he said when he had sung it, and he began a monotonous and obscene ballad to which Itale listened, grateful for any entertainment. He liked Forost for never complaining. When Forost was released and left them with a jaunty bow and a “Goodbye, good luck, Robespierre, don’t cry for me, Sonny!”—Itale was sorry to see him go. At this point cheerful degradation was worth more to him than noble gloom. He did not hold against Forost his flat refusal to try and smuggle out a message to Itale’s friends; Forost had no reason to take risks, no hope of profit from the game Itale was playing.


    Still, the isolation worried him, the not being able to write to any one of his friends, his family, “I’m here, I’m all right.”


    Isaber, sensing his low spirits, fell into one of his fits of apathetic, self-accusing despair.


    An hour passed in total silence. Itale fell asleep, and slept an hour or more. When he woke, Isaber was sitting in the same position, brooding. Itale felt a spasm of hatred, of loathing for him, which terrified him by its intensity. He turned away, as well as one could turn away from another person in the featureless room, and began to whistle the tune of a Mozart rondo Luisa had used to play. He stood up. “I have to do something, I have to move,” he said. “I need exercise. Can we get up to that window? See if you can stand on my shoulders. Come on!” So the guard bringing their evening soup and bread found Isaber balanced on Itale’s shoulders, clinging to the bars of the window, describing the view. “Stop that! Stop them! Guards!” the soldier, a big Swabian, shouted, startling Isaber so that he fell rather than jumped down. Itale began to laugh. “You cannot escape—you must not do that—it’s forbidden!” the guard roared. Isaber too began to laugh.


    “Escape? Are we three inches wide?” Itale said. The Swabian, embarrassed, motioned away the other guard that had come at his call. “It’s forbidden, gentlemen, I’m sorry, forbidden, no climbing!”


    Itale stifled his laughter, Isaber snickered, both of them exhilarated by the physical exertion and by the guard’s discomfiture. After that they took turns daily on each other’s shoulders to look out at the jumbled view of rooftops and the winter sky. Itale’s turns were short, as Isaber could not long support his hundred and fifty pounds. The boy’s health was shaky; an orphan, born in the waterfront slums, fed by parish charity and housed by luck, he had not had a good start in life. The flour soup they got gave him colic, and racking headaches kept him wakeful in the night.


    One such night, their eighteenth in the cell, both were awake. As the almost jovial serenity, the acceptant mood of the first days wore away, as he began to suffer from the frustration of all physical and mental energies, Itale had become as if in compensation more patient with Isaber’s lassitude. Compunction and compassion were strong in him this night, and when he heard Isaber move and sigh, he sat up and asked, “Headache?”


    “Yes.”


    “Do you mind if we talk a minute?”


    Isaber propped himself up on his elbow. It was never fully dark in the tower cell, or fully light. Itale saw him only as a dim shape.


    “I wanted to say that I’m sorry I got you into this. All of this. I have meddled with your life. I had no right. At first it made this harder for me—realising that I’d pulled you in after me, that it was my fault— But what I wanted to say now is that all the same I’m glad you’re here. I don’t know how I’d get through this without you. Without your friendship. That is what it comes down to.”


    “I’d rather be here with you than free if you were here,” the boy said, urgently, with relief.


    “I’d rather we were both anywhere else. But as it is . . .”


    That was all they said. Isaber soon slept. It was cold in the deep room; the first heavy snow had fallen that day on the city outside their narrow window. Itale huddled under the thin blanket, wearing his coat, and when he finally got to sleep he dreamed vividly. Most of his dreams these eighteen nights had been of open places, familiar faces and voices, the mountains. This dream began in horror. He was in the tower cell trying to wash his hands, which were dirty, as were the walls and floor, with a sort of soot or black, charry grease. The wash basin was filled with acid, printer’s acid, such as they used in the shop where Novesma Verba was printed. “It’ll wash it off,” Forost said.—“I can’t use this,” he explained, “this is printer’s acid.”—“It’s not acid,” Amadey Estenskar told him with a sneer, “look there, it’s not eating away the basin, what are you afraid of?” But from the lip of the basin a fine yellowish smoke was rising; the metal disintegrated, the smoking acid ran out over the table and over his hands, eating tracks in them like worm-tracks in wood, painlessly. Then he was kneeling down staring into a pool of water, into which the disintegrated pieces of the basin had fallen. His arms were bare, plunged up above the elbow in the cold, dark green water which was slowly rising. The dim, clear surface came nearer and nearer his eyes. He looked up with a great effort. The water stretched on, quiet and deep, shining darkly, a lake. Above it and reflected on its surface was one immense shadow of a mountain, the Hunter. The reflection reached close to his eyes. Behind it, in the water and in the air, was nothing: the vast, pale, empty gulf of the sky after sunset.


    He woke; he was shivering; the pale light of snow was reflected on the high ceiling.


    One of the guards told them that day that they were to stand trial the following day, Isaber in the morning and Itale in the afternoon. Isaber’s spirits went up, this time, while Itale’s went down. If Forost had known what he was talking about, the later their trial came the better. He kept his misgivings to himself, and sent Isaber off next morning with the guards, trying to believe or at least to act as if he believed that everything would be well.


    Isaber returned before noon. “Released!” he shouted before the guard had got the door unlocked. “Released!” A rush of unexpected, overwhelming relief, joy, hope welled up in Itale, he hugged Isaber, his eyes filled up with tears— “You’re free, then? you’re free?”


    “I’m to be out of Rákava tonight and out of the Polana by Wednesday noon. Do they think I’m likely to stay, the fools?” He laughed a long, shaky, triumphant laugh. Itale hugged him again, jubilant, laughing.


    “I didn’t really hope— Thank God, thank God! But what are you back here for?”


    “I asked to come back till you’re through. They agreed, they’re not as bad as I thought they’d be— Let me tell you about the trial.” He did so, excitedly and not very coherently. As they talked Itale’s mind began to recover from the shock of hope.


    “A defense attorney who’s never even talked to us,” Isaber said, “it’s a farce, what kind of justice is that?”


    “Imperial justice,” Itale said. “What did he say, Agostin? Anything?”


    “Oh, he talked about my youth and inexperience, a lot of rigmarole,—nothing important.” He became uneasy, he was suppressing something the attorney had said, probably a plea that Isaber had been led astray by older men. Isaber’s mind was quick at apprehension, and he knew that Itale had picked up his omission; after that they were ill at ease with each other, pretending confidence. Yet Isaber had been released, set free, his trial a mere formality; it did not matter what the attorneys said or did not say.


    When the Swabian came to take Itale to the courtroom Isaber came with them. He was barred from entering the court and they did not even shake hands in the hallway outside the courtroom, as Itale was hurried on by a second guard.


    In the courtroom the defense, a tall, sad-eyed lawyer on state pay, consulted with Itale for five minutes. “It’s all about these papers, you see. These articles you wrote. We’ll admit that you wrote them.”


    “I signed them. Of course I wrote them.”


    “Yes. Then you spoke to a workmen’s meeting on the seventh, and again—a different group—on the twentieth.”


    “Yes.”


    “Yes, well, we’ll just admit that, and throw ourselves on the mercy of the court; the charge is activity prejudicial to—”


    “I know the charge. What can I expect from the mercy of the court?”


    “Don’t ask to speak,” the lawyer said, looking down at the papers and scratching his lined, ill-shaven cheek. “Believe me, Mr Sorde. Don’t try to defend yourself.”


    Itale knew he was right.


    Prosecution and defense took about a quarter of an hour. The three judges conferred and talked with one another most of that time. When the two lawyers had finished reading their case the judge on the left asked something of a clerk, took up a sheet of paper, and read in a loud voice, “On this evidence and the defendant’s confessions and on the recommendation of the Chief of the National Police in Krasnoy, under Article 15 of the law of June 18, 1819, this court judges the defendant Itale Sorde guilty of the crime of inciting and participating in activities prejudicial to the public order, peace, and safety, and sentences him to five years imprisonment without labor, the sentence to be effective without delay.” He laid the paper down and spoke again to the clerk. Itale sat waiting, he thought the judge was going to speak again, say something else. The lawyer for the defense, sitting beside him, muttered something, shaking his head. There was a scraping of chairs. The judges got up and left, two of them still deep in talk. The guards who had brought Itale into the courtroom reappeared, jerky and wooden like figures that appear across a clock-face at the hour. “Get up, sir,” one of them was saying; Itale realised he had said it before. He got up. He looked for the lawyer for the defense to ask him what was happening, but the lawyer was gone, none of the courtroom officials was left but the clerk, still writing, under the judges’ long desk. “Come on,” the guard said, and in front of one guard and behind the other he left the courtroom, went down a hall, and outside for the first time in three weeks—into a snowy yard, where the frozen wind, the east wind of the Polana, cut his breath off short. His eyes watered in the cold, he looked up in bewilderment. They were between two enormous black buildings, crossing a courtyard with an iron fence. Itale stopped. “Let me see Isaber,” he said. He heard his voice thin as a boy’s in the wind.


    “What’s that?”


    “My friend, Isaber—he was tried this morning—”


    “Not now, sir. Where’s he to go, Tomas?”


    “Ask Ganey,” said the guard behind.


    “He’s specially recommended,” the first guard said doubtfully.


    “Yes, specially recommended. Ask Ganey. Here, watch your step!” Itale, turning, had slipped on the ice; the guard’s grab at his arm off-balanced him, and once more he went down hard on hands and knees on the stones of Rákava. He scrambled to his feet and the guards led him into St Lazar walking blindly with his head back, very erect. His head rang and there was a taste of blood in his mouth.


    When he became clearly aware of the world again he found himself in a small, dark, cold room. Light came in faintly through a grating high up in the door. The ceiling was high. He was standing up; he had been measuring the length and width of the room in paces, he realised. It was four paces by three. There was a sleeping-bench long enough for one person, and under it an earthenware basin covered with a shingle. It was cold, the damp heavy cold of a cave or cellar, but the air was close. Down the corridor outside the door a baby was crying, a thin, angry, ceaseless squall; he kept thinking that it was the baby he had heard crying when he climbed the stairs the night he was arrested. That was stupid, it could not be the same baby. He went to the door and tried to look out, but could see nothing but the wall of the passage opposite. He stood there a long time. He did not want to sit down. If he sat down it would seem that he was going to stay here.


    A guard came and unlocked the door, not a soldier but a civilian prison guard, a big old man taller than Itale, with a square grey face. He asked Itale to change clothes.


    “I don’t want these,” Itale said, looking at the heap of grey clothing the guard had put down on the bench.


    “Regulations, sir. You can keep your coat.”


    “I don’t want this stuff,” Itale repeated. He heard his voice shake. He was ashamed. “I want—” he began to cover his confusion, and stopped.


    “They’ll keep your things for you, sealed up. It’s regulations,” the guard said. Like Arassy he had the coercive yet reassuring manner of a good servant, so that Itale obeyed him, beginning to unbutton his shirt, since he was expected to change his clothes.


    “I want something to write with,” he said.


    “What’s that, sir?”


    “Paper, ink, something to write with.”


    “Have to request that of the governor of the prison, sir. You’re specially recommended.” Like the other guards he said these two words in a respectful, portentous tone. His voice was rather loud and flat, he was probably somewhat deaf. Itale noticed this, he identified the grey material of the prison shirt and trousers as the rewoven stuff they called “shoddy” in the mills here, he noticed and thought vividly and quickly but none of it hung together; he did not understand. “That baby, crying,” he said, “why is there a baby here?”


    “Born here, sir. The mother’s in one of these solitaries like your honor, she’ll be sent back to the ward soon.” The guard gathered up Itale’s things, handing him back his waistcoat. “Keep that if you like, sir, for the warmth,” he said. He was respectful and kindly, he went out and locked the high door behind him.


    The prison clothes were loose and rough, without much warmth; he put on the waistcoat and his plum-colored coat, which was creased and somewhat grimy after the three weeks in the tower cell, but warm; and the silken sleeve-lining touching his hand as he put it on gave him a moment of pure comfort.


    He sat down again.


    He had been in the tower for three weeks, twenty-one days, that was over now. The judge had said something, he had said something about five years, but that did not mean five years in prison. That was impossible. Five years, after all, that was a very long time, he would be thirty at the end of it. Three weeks had gone on and on, three weeks was enough. This was December. Then January; then February— He succeeded in stopping himself from reciting the twelve months. The guard brought soup, the same flour soup, he ate it, the bowl was taken away, after a time the light in the corridor was put out and in the cell it was totally black, for a while, until the eye learned to see the faintest hint of form, the dull stone echo of some distant lamp, and to cling to that. The night passed and did not pass. Sometimes his mind worked fast, excitedly, and sometimes it did not work at all. His heart pounded and pounded, paused, pounded; he tried to count minutes by his heartbeat. He was afraid he was going mad. In this darkness without event swollen with empty time to come the hot sting of the vermin that swarmed in the bench-matting was welcome, it was life.


    He was worn out by that night when the day came, and dozed all morning, lying contentedly enough on the bench. In the afternoon a pair of guards came and took him out to a courtyard for exercise. It was a small inner courtyard, forty or fifty feet square. The snow had been trodden into a firm greyish-black floor, holed and stained yellow with urine against the walls. The two guards watched five prisoners, who were not permitted to speak to one another. One of them was taking his exercise methodically, trotting round and round the court, pumping his arms; his legs moved oddly, in short steps. Itale knew that that was the right thing to do but he could not make himself do it; his legs were shaky. He must get control of himself. He must try to keep himself fit. He would plan how to use this time in the open air, and also try to exercise himself in the cell. To plan the time, and measure it out, and use it, that was the thing to do. Right now, even if it was very difficult, he should walk once around this courtyard, and breathe the clean air as deep as he could. He started out. One of the guards stopped him as he came by, a thin, red-faced man. “Was that the fellow stood trial with you that hopped?” His dialect was heavy and he was missing most of his teeth; Itale was not sure he had understood the words.


    “Isabey?” the guard said.


    “Isaber— What about him?”


    “Was he crazy? He had a release, didn’t he?”


    “What do you mean?”


    “What did he want to do that for? Jesus, what a thing to do, eighty feet down, was he crazy?”


    “Shut up, Anto,” the other guard said with a chopping gesture, and Itale walked away from them. He longed to kneel down and put his hands into the snow, get his hands and wrists cold, ice-cold, but the stuff was hard-crusted and dirty. The guards called the prisoners; he came last, feeling the others looking at him, unable to look at them. He was locked into the cell. He lay there on the bench. He did not think of Isaber, but of Estenskar, of one of the days they had gone shooting in the woods of Esten; he could see how Amadey had looked and hear the tone of his voice so clearly that he said his name aloud, very softly, but the sound of his voice frightened him. He put his head into his folded arms and lay still. The color and smell and feel of his coat was familiar, he held onto the double thickness at the cuff, seeking reassurance.


    “Come on. Come on, sir.”


    “Where now,” he said, sitting up sick and angry. “Let me alone.”


    “Smith’s shop, sir,” the guard said in his loud toneless voice. “Come on.”


    When Itale understood he took hold of the bench with both hands as he sat on it, and said with a kind of gasping laugh, “No, no. I won’t come on. Not there. I won’t—I won’t put my own neck in the collar.”


    “It’s regulations, sir. Has to be done.”


    “No,” Itale said.


    The deaf guard called two others. Adept, and without much brutality, they pinioned Itale, frogmarched him to the prison smithy, held him while the smith welded the loose ankle fetter onto his leg, brought him back to the little, dark, cold room, fastened a short length of chain between the fetter and hasp set into the wall, and left him. He was trembling and cursing, in tears. “Sorry, sir,” the deaf guard said as he left. “You’ll get used to it.”


    III


    Under a grey sky Piera Valtorskar left Aisnar on December 19, 1827; under a grey sky the family carriage lumbered southward over the roads of the Western Marches; and as it passed through the village of Vermare, high in the foothills, the grey sky descended softly all at once in flakes, heavy, thick, silent, filling all the air, whitening the fat rumps of the horses, the fur cap of the driver, hiding the way ahead. With a great push Piera got the window down so that she could put out her hand and feel the cold touch of winter. “Oh my dear we’ll catch our death, oh do put up the window, oh do put on your gloves!” cried Cousin Betta Berachoy, who had gone all the way to Aisnar in the carriage alone to fetch Piera back, since Count Orlant had come down with a very bad bronchitis a week before he was to set off for her and spend Christmas at the Belleynins’, but Cousin Betta was only too glad to go, indeed she was, the idea of that poor child coming all the way alone in the carriage like a pea in a gourd even if old Godin was as trusty as could be— At any rate, Cousin Betta was so upset that Piera raised the window again, only murmuring, “It never snows in Aisnar.”


    “Oh I believe it does, indeed it does I’m sure. I suppose the Warm Fountain quite melts it, wouldn’t that be odd, does it? Oh dear me how very thick it’s coming—if we should be snowed in up in the passes— Far from any house!” Cousin Betta’s eyes shone. From time to time romances, stronger fare than The New Heloise, had been finding their way up to Portacheyka, and Cousin Betta read them, and though the possibility of getting snowbound on the mountain road was neither remote nor pleasant, the phrase “far from any house” sounded so like a novel that it thrilled her. Piera merely said, “The wind mostly keeps the Portacheyka pass clear.” Cousin Betta had discovered already that Piera had become a strongminded young woman at the convent; she was always calm, and doubtless never read romances.


    The snow made little trouble for their horses. It melted as soon as it touched earth after its fall through the soft windless air. Only as they reached Portacheyka at the end of the afternoon was it holding, icing all the roofs and gables of the steep town as a baker ices a dark plumcake. “Oh but look, look,” cried Piera, not calm, “the mountains, look at the snow on the roofs—” and then she fell silent. The golden lighted windows of the little town under the great slopes almost veiled in driving snow and nightfall, the welcome of the lighted windows amongst the strangeness of winter, that was too much for her. All the way down from Portacheyka to the lake she was grateful for the falling snow and darkness that hid from her the orchards, the fields, the mountains, the lake. She did not want to see them. They were not hers to see. Even as the carriage rolled onto the paved court in back of her home, even as she saw her father, bundled up till he looked more like a bolster than a man, coming to her with snow on his shoulders and his arms held out, she was saying in her heart, “Why did I come home, why did I come home!” Then she was in her father’s arms, squashed against his rough coat, the snow off his shoulder cold on her ear.


    “Are you all right, papa— Are you well?”


    “Yes, of course, I’m fine,” said Count Orlant hoarsely, while the tears ran down his handsome face. He had been quite ill, and was sixty-two this winter. It had occurred to him that he might die. He was not particularly afraid of dying, but he had been afraid of not seeing Piera again. “Well, well, well, what a commotion,” he said, still with his arm around her, and then the others were around them, Eleonora and Laura and Mariya the cook and Miss Elisabeth who lived on at Valtorsa, old Givan and the rest, bandying Piera about and bringing her inside in a flurry of welcoming faces and voices, warmth and light. Guide Sorde had not come outside, and treated the excitement coolly: “Well, contesina, three months away and you see how your value’s risen?” It was true she had been gone only three months, but last summer had been her next to last visit home, this was her last. Guide knew the difference as well as any of them. He consistently called her you, now, instead of thou. None of them forgot that she was to be married, that she no longer belonged to them nor they to her, that this was the last time they would see Piera Valtorskar. When she was in her own bed, in her own room, she lay thinking, and her thoughts were as bleak as her body was comfortable. The last time. Itale had been right, of course, you can’t come back, there is no coming home. She looked over at her bookshelf. There was the book he had given her, the Vita Nova, the New Life, its gold-lettered back winking comfortably in the firelight. But she did not want the New Life. She wanted the old one.


    On Christmas eve, all the Valtorsa people but Auntie, with the Sordes and Sorentays and many people of the estates, went in to Portacheyka for the midnight Mass. It had snowed again during the day, clearing after sunset. Carriage-lamps and lanterns crossed yellow beams over the snow, snow on the forests of the mountainsides showed faint in starlight. The church of Portacheyka was crowded from wall to wall as always on Christmas, the little boys of the choir sang shrilly, babies squalled, old men sighed long, horselike, devout sighs and scratched their necks under their holiday white shirts, little old women who went to Mass daily muttered the service a word or two ahead of the priest; in the hot candle light the cross shone like molten gold above the altar; now and then one got a dry, clean whiff of the pineboughs that decorated the church, through the smell of packed humanity, or shivered in an icy, inexplicable draft of air creeping along the stone floor amongst all the legs in skirts or trousers. It took the crowd half an hour to come out of the church, and everyone stood around in the street waiting for the rest of the party. Children got lost, horses stamped, snow-dust glittered in rays and shafts of lantern-light and lamp-light. While the older people found the friends and relatives they had brought in or wanted to greet in town, Piera and Laura joined the young Sorentays, who were singing the old carol of the Angels.


    We have heard the angels sing


    Sweetly on the mountainsides,


    And the echoing valleys ring


    With the song that well betides:


    Gloria in excelsis Deo!


    Alexander Sorentay went flat on the Glorias and his betrothed, Mariya the daughter of Advocate Kseney, cried, “Oh, Saandre! don’t sing so loud!” and everybody laughed. On the way home, crammed in the Valtorskar carriage with Count Orlant, Guide, Eleonora, Cousin Betta, Emanuel, Perneta, and the overseer Gavrey, Piera and Laura kept up their carolling until Guide himself joined in his baritone on the Glorias, and Eleonora, looking up into his face as she sat squeezed next to him, said, “Guide, I haven’t heard you sing in twenty years!”


    “I have,” said Laura. “When he shaves, but he always stops in the middle.”


    “Sing on, then,” Guide said, and they all sang; Count Orlant had lost his voice when he was ill, but he thumped time on the windowframe. They all stopped at the Sorde house for the supper and Christmas cake after the Mass; the cake, shaped like a log, was twined with holly and ivy; Count Orlant discoursed on hollytrees, standing stones, and druids; nobody went to bed till five. At eleven some of them went to the morning service at St Anthony chapel up the lake-shore. The pines above the chapel sparkled with melting snow in the wintry sunlight. On the north side of each headstone in the little churchyard snow lay white, though the graves themselves were bare. The words of the service were half lost in the sound of the wind in the forests of San Larenz. After the service Piera and Laura walked in the churchyard, waiting for Eleonora. They separated a little as Piera wandered on reading the inscriptions. All the stones were old, the churchyard was not used any longer. Many of them were small, unmarked, the graves of infants dead a hundred years ago. All the names were familiar names. Itale Sorde, 1734–1810. In te Domine speravi. —She stood still. She looked at the graveyard dappled with patches of snow and shadows of the pines, at the squat stone chapel, its eaves dripping with thawing snow, at the lake lying calm in the winter noon, at Laura coming towards her, tall and pale in her coat and fur-trimmed cap.


    They stood side by side there for a minute.


    “I can remember him standing in front of the south windows. I had to reach up to hold his hand. He seemed so tall. . . .”


    “He died the year after I was born.”


    “It’s strange, how when Itale and I die, there won’t be anyone, anyone in all the world, who ever saw him, ever knew him. Till then he’s not really dead. But after that. . . .”


    “But there’s an afterlife,” Piera said timidly.


    “Perhaps,” Laura said, still looking at the grave.


    “You’re not sure?”


    “No.”


    They spoke simply and thoughtfully.


    “It doesn’t matter, does it?” Laura said. “In te Domine speravi. . . . Just for it to be all over, all gone; air and earth and sun. Would that be so bad?”


    “But—but I was just thinking— Your grandfather, he was young, a young man, seventy years ago. Young, like—like any young man now—like us. And then we get old. And maybe he was in love. Of course he was, with your grandmother, and they got married, and they lived, and had two sons, and they thought, and talked, and wanted things, and there was wind and rain and sunshine on the snow and they saw it, and . . . now . . . It seems so strange. And there were the people before them, and now us, and the people that come after us, and we can’t know any of them, because time keeps going on and on. What was my own father like, when he was twenty? Does he even remember himself? —I have to believe in the afterlife, I think. It would be so strange and senseless without it—never to understand—” She looked around the graves streaked with sun and shadow, and her light voice shook a little. “Why were they ever young?”


    Gavrey came round the corner of the church. “Your mother was asking for you, Miss Laura,” he said, standing cap in hand by the wicket-gate.


    Piera walked home with him and Cousin Betta. He had proved a good, reliable manager, and had taken the onus of running the estate from Count Orlant, but he had never spoken to Piera more than civility required him to do. They did not speak now; but Cousin Betta did. Piera escaped from her to Count Orlant’s study, where, a bit tired by the long Christmas night, he sat beside his fireplace bedecked with garlands and Cupids and a few stray French horns carved in the same greyish native marble as the headstones in St Anthony churchyard; there was a bright fire on the hearth; Piera sat down next to him, and they talked. Count Orlant had discovered, this past summer, that he could talk to his daughter. It was very like talking with his wife, in the old days; after all she had not been much older than Piera was now. They rarely said much, but somehow it was very pleasant. In fact it was the pleasantest thing he knew; especially now, in this winter cold. He had spent some desolate hours the past month when he was ill. He foresaw and accepted his loneliness when Piera should be married and gone. But the comfort of her presence, now, outweighed it all. He was content.


    Piera herself was not content, but was happy, as she sat with her father before the fire; happier, at least, than she had ever been last summer. All those weeks at home had been a time of strain, suspense, toneless and colorless. She had been waiting, waiting, for what? It must be for marriage, for love. She was home but not home for good, betrothed but alone, in the middle, suspended, waiting. It had been all wrong. She had written Givan Koste every post, a dull note once a fortnight. Writing them had been a chore, as bad as her compositions for Miss Elisabeth, the Duties of the Young Female. . . . If Givan loved her why was he not there? She had left home, gone back to Aisnar, with relief. Had she been happy then this autumn, in Aisnar? Of course, but still it had been waiting; now the waiting was over, now time went fast and she clung to the moments, treasured them. Everything now was for the last time. She would not think either back or ahead.


    Twelfth-night came and passed bringing snapping cold, clear weather. The roads were frozen so the horses’ hooves rang like bells, the sun was bright in a sky of dark, blazing blue. Laura and Piera rode in to Portacheyka for the mail, and the overseer Gavrey, having business at the mill, went with them, still saying nothing. The girls went on to the Golden Lion leading his horse, as the Lion served as tavern, hotel, coaching station, post office, and livery stable; as they went Piera said, “Of all the closemouthed men in the Montayna that one’s the closest.”


    “He can talk,” Laura said, indifferently.


    “I doubt it. He guards his tongue as if it were golden.”


    “Who does talk, here, but us women? I suppose men jabber all the time, down there?” Laura often teased Piera about the sophisticated ways and customs of Aisnar, it was a game between them, but just now there was a sting in her words. Piera knew she had in some way been tactless, and said no more about Gavrey. They greeted the old hostler of the Lion and gave him the horses, and after his due bit of conversation went on in and greeted the innkeeper’s wife in her shining domain of oak and brass; she was ready for them, handing three letters across the bar, one for Piera, two for Laura. “Ah!” said Laura, coming alive. “Thank you, Mrs Karel!”


    “Oh aaye, from Dom Itaal, I saw it this mornin first thing in the sack, I know his black writin’,” said Mrs Karel with a smugness that declared mere illiteracy no handicap. After her due bit of conversation the girls set off for Emanuel’s house. “Come on, Peri,” Laura said, “hurry up, I want to read it. What’s this other one I wonder, it must be for uncle. And yours is from . . . ?”


    “Oh, yes,” said Piera.


    “Itale’s still has the return address in Rákava on it. That’s why we haven’t heard from him for a month. The mails must be slow in the east. It’s such a long way.” Walking at twice her usual pace, and studying the cover of the letter, which she would not dishonor by opening on the street, Laura strode down the cobbled streets and steps, Piera in her wake, to Emanuel’s house. He was out; Perneta received them, and without wasting any more time she and Laura opened Itale’s letter and read it standing, while Piera retired into a chair by the window that looked out northward through the pass, and read her letter from Givan Koste. It was a quiet, fond letter, husbandly. Little Battiste enclosed a note written in a round clear hand: “Dear Countess Piera, the preserved ginger was very good although it was very hot so that I ate a little at a time, but I have eaten it all. I hope you are well. Father is well. I am well. My rabbits are well. They like to eat oat meal as you said. With all good wishes for a happy New Year, I am your loving friend, Battiste Venseslas Koste.”


    She wanted to show the child’s note to Laura, and yet did not do so. It was so queer, that is, it would seem so queer to Laura, that this child was to be Piera’s child, her stepson. Here he was, seven years old, eleven years younger than Piera, your loving friend Battiste Venseslas Koste—well, Laura was not used to the idea, as Piera was. No need to embarrass her. “What does Itale have to say?”


    “Read it, my dear. Now, Laura, you’ve read it twice, let Piera have it. What’s that? Another letter?”


    “Oh, yes, I forgot. Look: ‘For Mr Sorde of Val Malafrena, Portacheyka, Mont. Prov.’—now who’s it for? Father or uncle?”


    “Emanuel will know. I must look after my baking, I’ll be back.”


    Laura perched on the arm of the chair and reread her brother’s letter as Piera read it.


    “Rákava, 18 November 1827.”


    “Look at that!” said Laura, “two months to get here! Even in winter and clear across the country, how can it take two months? His first letter from Rákava only took two weeks!”


    “Now hush,” said Piera, reading.


    “My dear family: I’m sorry I missed last week’s post, and trust that you have not given me up for lost. I have been busy ever since I arrived here, and my quiet week at Esten seems several centuries in the past. My impression of Rákava remains much the same as when I last wrote: I still dislike the city, and still find it exceptionally interesting. The misery of the poor here is beyond anything I have seen. I am glad not to be alone in a place where it is very easy to become discouraged. Young Agostin has put up a pair of red curtains to cheer up our rooms and save us washing the windows. My contribution to the domestic economy has been a large box of Gossek’s Wonderful Powder. I would not myself call it wonderful. The Prussians eat it up enthusiastically, no doubt thinking it a thoughtful gesture on the part of a stranger.”


    “The Prussians?” said Piera.


    “Cockroaches. Eva always calls them Prussians.”


    “Oh! I thought he meant people. Let me read that over.”


    “—of a stranger. I wish they would all die in awful agony, but I don’t think they will.


    “If my letters are delayed, please don’t be alarmed. The State mail service has existed for only three years in the Polana—the Polana is historically disinclined to do anything the other nine provinces are doing—and I am assured that it is as slow and as untrustworthy as any censor’s heart could desire. Agostin and I will probably take the Krasnoy coach during Christmas week, and when I am back in Mallenastrada you can trust my letters to come regularly again. And what’s much more I can look forward to receiving yours. I have not heard from you since the week before I left for Esten (I am not accusing, you know, only lamenting) and feel rather as if I had made my way to the nethermost pole of the Earth.”


    “We have written him, every post,” Laura put in. “I despise that Polana province, why did he have to go there?”


    “—the nethermost pole of the Earth. But knowing how faithful your letters are I think with comfortable anticipation of finding a whole bundle of them when I get back to Krasnoy.


    “I have not much to tell you beyond what I wrote in my last. Please tell me if the Bellerofon is coming. The two boys in charge of circulation by post are very green, and when I left Krasnoy they were in a fine muddle. If it’s still not coming regularly and you are interested in it, I shall see to it myself that your copy gets on the Diligence. Karantay is beginning a new story in the December number. He says, and I incline to believe him, that it will not be as good as The Young Man Liyve. One can’t ask for such a work as that again, so soon, even from such a man. There is no going back, or doing things over, I think.


    “My dear mother and father, my dear sister, my heart is with you now as always. My loving duty to uncle and aunt, to Count Orlant, to them all by the lake. If this letter should be the last to reach you before Christmas may it bear my affectionate wishes for the new year and always. Your loving son, Itale Sorde.”


    As Piera read the last paragraph her eyes began to prickle and burn. She read the words over, the moment passed.


    “His hand has changed a little,” she said.


    “It’s probably a bad pen.”


    “He signs differently. Less of a flourish with the S.”


    “He doesn’t sound very flourishing,” Laura said wistfully. “The letter doesn’t really say anything at all. Except that he’s homesick.”


    “It doesn’t say that,” Piera replied, firmly.


    “Of course it does. Oh dear! Mama’s been worried about him for weeks, and this isn’t going to cheer her up, one page and no news. Is it because of the censors, I wonder, or because he’s trying not to sound unhappy when he really is?”


    Piera bowed her head as if rereading part of the letter. “What did he say,” she asked at last, “what did he write, I mean, after he was in Aisnar, last April?”


    “Why, I told you, didn’t I? He couldn’t say much, because you’d asked him not to mention your betrothal—you explained that later. I know I wrote you that he wrote that you looked very tall and very pretty. Is that what you wanted to hear again?”


    “No. I was just thinking . . . It shouldn’t have been me that got to see him. It should have been you or your mother. Things work out so stupidly! . . .”


    “So long as one of us saw him.”


    “But it was such a stupid conversation. I never told you. We didn’t know what to say. And he looked so different, not changed, really, but completely different, a man, you know, and he was just a boy when we were all here. And he said we’d probably never meet again, that if we did it wouldn’t mean anything, it would just be like people who don’t know anything about each other meeting and parting, and neither of us, he or I, would ever really go home again. And—” But her voice, which had been getting strained and faint, choked off in a sob. “This is so ridiculous!” she gasped, “please don’t pay any attention, Laura, I’ve been doing this ever since I got home—it goes away in a minute—”


    Laura, at a loss, stroked her hand; Piera got control of herself very promptly, and stood up to greet Emanuel with a smile as he came in.


    Seeing, from Laura’s face rather than Piera’s, that something was amiss, he went on upstairs at once, after one question: “Anything from Itale?”


    “Yes, here, the letter’s weeks old, he was still in Rákava.”


    “I’ll read it in a minute.”


    When he heard his wife talking with the girls he judged Piera’s fit was over. What would be wrong with the child? Waiting for marriage, no doubt, this fashion of long betrothals was detestable. He came downstairs. “Where’s dinner, women?”


    “Ten more minutes, Emanuel.”


    “Three women, a cook, and no dinner ready. Su! You’re nearly as inefficient as we are at the Magistrature. Well, let’s see what was new in Rákava six weeks ago.”


    When he had read Itale’s letter, Laura showed him the second one: “Which of you is it for, uncle?”


    “Why, for Guide. I’m not of Val Malafrena.”


    “But then it says Portacheyka.”


    “They knew the post coach stopped here.”


    “But why don’t you open it. If it is for you, someone would have to ride back with it, and if it’s estate business father will consult you about it anyhow.”


    “Practical woman,” Emanuel said. “Very well.” And carefully, reluctantly, he opened the cover and began to read.


    Piera was watching him, curious about the letter as the others were, but she noticed nothing; it was the wife who said quietly, “What is it, Emanuel?”


    He looked at her for a moment, blank-faced. “Let me finish it, my dear,” he said as quietly. They waited in silence. He finished reading the letter, folded and unfolded it, sat down in the chair by the window. “It’s rather bad news,” he said. “Itale. He’s all right. It would appear he has been arrested. They don’t actually know very much.”


    “Read the letter,” Perneta said, standing still, as did Laura and Piera.


    “It is intended for Guide,” Emanuel said, and then looking up into their faces opened the letter again and read: “Sir, I must take the liberty of introducing myself as a friend of your son Itale Sorde, in order to ask you to have the very great kindness to write me whether you have received any word from your son since the middle of November last, or to tell me if you have any news which confirms or, God willing, disproves the report we have received here of his arrest, together with the young man who was with him, by the Provincial Government of the Polana, in November. The first such report we received appeared unsubstantial, but we now have heard a more circumstantial report from an apparently reliable person, coming to Krasnoy from Rákava, stating that both men were tried on the charge of inciting activities prejudicial to the public order, convicted, and sentenced to five years’ imprisonment. If this is true they are presumably in the St Lazar Prison in Rákava, as State prisoners. We have heard nothing from Mr Sorde since November sixth, but are now aware that mail both in and out of the east is under supervision and liable to be read and stopped, or read and resealed, without notice. To the best of our knowledge the posts in the center and west are not tampered with as a general rule, but this rule may be changed of course at any time. As you know your son has many friends here all of whom earnestly desire to be of use to him and to support him against this monstrous injustice, but at this time and until we are certain of the facts, we are following the advice of a man very familiar with the political situation of the eastern provinces, who counsels us all to wait, since an attempt at direct intervention or personal appeal could at this time do more harm than good. I beg you to write me if you have better, or more certain, news of him, and I pray God to uphold a just and candid man, my friend and your son, in the knowledge of his own integrity and of our steadfast affection and loyalty. I am, Sir, your servant, Tomas Brelavay. Krasnoy, 2 January 1828.”


    Emanuel folded the letter. His face appeared thoughtful, still a little blank. “This Brelavay sounds like an honest fellow,” he said at last. “Itale’s mentioned him often, I think.”


    “They were in Solariy together,” Laura said. “He runs the journal’s finances.” She spoke calmly. It was Perneta who, shaking her clenched fists in front of her breast in a jerky, quickly-repeated, strange motion, said in a loud, high voice, “I never had, I never had any son but him!”


    “Come, Perneta!” Emanuel said roughly, and went and stood at the window while Laura comforted his wife. She had never broken down on him before, never once. It was as if something in his own body broke at the sound of her voice crying out, as if the strength went out of his backbone; he could not look at her.


    Piera came over to him and took his hand. He looked down at the girl, her pale face and clear eyes. “If we’re going out to the lake,” she said, “I should go tell Gavrey not to wait for Laura and me.”


    “That’s right.”


    “He’ll still be at the mill. I’ll be back in ten minutes.”


    She left, moving light and fast. In the depths of his confusion and distress Emanuel considered her and Laura with wonder: both of them calm, efficient. Yet he knew what this news was to Laura, and as for Piera she had been weeping about something or other not a quarter of an hour ago. They were all nerves till you came to the test, and then, my God, they were sword-steel. And here were he and Perneta no better than two blocks of wood, wringing their hands, struck dumb. He sat down and reread both letters to give himself the countenance of doing something. But the two girls did and decided everything, until the moment when he was on his own again, alone with his brother in the library of the house by the lake. “Well, what’s up, Emanuel?”


    “Itale’s letter—”


    “That’s not what brought you out in the middle of the day.”


    “No. It appears that, a few days after he wrote that letter, he was arrested.”


    Guide waited. Emanuel cleared his throat. “It’s not certain,” he said. “Here’s all we know.” He gave Guide Brelavay’s letter, and watched him read it. Guide read it through attentively; his expression did not change. At the end he lifted his head a little and said after a pause, without expression, “What am I to do?”


    “Do? —How should I know? No doubt the fellow’s right and there’s nothing we can do, nothing at all. But is this a time to say I told you so, is your self-righteousness—” He stopped short. Guide was not looking at him.


    “Arrested him,” Guide said softly, as if trying out the words. “What right have they to judge him—to touch him—” His face contorted into a strange frown. “What have they done to him?” he said aloud.


    He turned away and was silent.


    Emanuel sat down at the table, rubbing his hand over his forehead. He had misjudged his brother utterly. He had forgotten how ignorant Guide was, how, in this sense, innocent. Guide had been furious with Itale for debasing himself, but it had never entered his head that any human power could debase Itale. Evil to him was personal vice, greed or avarice or cruelty, envy, pride: a man fought such evil within himself and in other men, and with God’s help prevailed. That injustice could be institutionalised under the name of law, that inhumanity could embody and perpetuate itself in the form of armed men and locked doors, this he knew but did not believe, had not believed, until now. He did not separate himself from Itale, had never done so, even in his anger. What they did to his son they did to him; this letter was his sentence. He was 58, and this was the first hold that human evil had taken hold on his hard, uncompromising soul; this was the first time he had ever been humiliated. He had held himself apart, kept himself clean, and now, very late, he must pay the cost of cleanness.


    “Guide, if this is true, which we do not know—but if it is true, then we have got to look at it squarely. It’s very bad but it could be worse. They haven’t sent him to jail in Austria, they haven’t given him a life sentence. Five years— Five years is—”


    Emanuel had been a law student in Solariy. He had visited the provincial prison there several times, in a deliberate self-discipline. It was because he knew what prison was like that he had refused to qualify himself to be a judge, and, when offered the judgeship of the county court, had thrice declined the honor.


    “One can wait five years,” Guide said.


    “Listen, Guide. I have excused myself, since Itale left, for having encouraged him to go— I thought it his right, his choice, I still do, but I was responsible, partly responsible— I have no excuse, I never looked to see what danger, it was my fault much more than his, he was very young!”


    “No matter,” Guide said. “That’s all past. Does Laura know about this?”


    “She was there when I read the letter. She got Perneta over the shock of it. And Piera did the same for me. They’re with Eleonora now. I left it to them. They’re better at this than we are, Guide.”


    “Aye. This is their world. Their time, not mine. I’ve known that since he left.”


    Another silence. Guide sat down across the broad table from his brother.


    “I used to wonder if he’d not marry Piera,” Guide said. “Forty years ago there’d have been no question. A good match, a good pair. They’d have married. He’d never have run off.”


    “Our father left, you know. Is it the times or the man?”


    “He came back, though.”


    “So will Itale!”


    “He sat there where you’re sitting now, when he told me he meant to go. I was angry, I called him a fool and worse.”


    “For God’s sake, Guide, are you going to blame yourself? Of course you were hard on him, do you think you’ve ever been soft? He’s not soft either. He’s your son, God knows!”


    “I was not blaming myself. Or Itale. The time for all that’s long past. I blame the men who dared judge him. I would give my life—” But he did not go on. There was no vengeance to which he could give his life, and no redress. There was nothing at all he could do.


    IV


    Count Orlant was overwhelmed by Piera’s news. She had hoped for comfort from him; instead, to her surprise, she found that she must and could be the one to offer comfort. She knew of course that her father was fond of Itale and had been deeply distressed by what he, too, called his “running off”; she knew that he tried to read Novesma Verba and to understand politics, and that it always left him puzzled and depressed. He was unworldly, as Piera had learned, or as he himself put it, he hadn’t a head for these things. That had led her to assume that he would not be too much dismayed at her tidings. After all, what did he know about state offenses, trials, accusations, prisons? Less even than she. But his ignorance instead of protecting him left him open to the blow. “In prison? They put him in prison—Guide’s son?” he said over and over. “Why, that’s absurd. It must be a mistake. What would Itale ever do to make them put him in prison? He’s a gentleman, he’s a gentleman’s son, he’s not the sort of fellow they lock up in jails!” Then as he began to believe her and his imagination grasped the event, his protests ceased; he fell silent, and soon said in a humble voice, “I think I’ll lie down for a while, my dear. I feel a little tired.”


    She went upstairs with him and built up the fire in his hearth, for he said he felt the chill. He looked old as he lay there on the leather couch, old, patient, quiet. Why must this, too, hurt him? the girl thought with outrage, kneeling at the hearth. Orlant Valtorskar had never wished harm to any creature, and for all good that had come to him he had been grateful. Now he was old, not well, Piera would leave him soon, after his death his estate would be sold. Everything he knew, everything he had, was slipping away from him. It was as if he had written his name on the wind. Why then must he suffer the ills of other men?


    “I suppose they’ll let the boy have letters from his people, at least,” he said, moving his head restlessly.


    “Emanuel thinks the man in Krasnoy is right, they shouldn’t do anything at all just at first, not even write. So the people who had him arrested will forget about him.”


    “You mean they’re to behave as if no one cared what became of him? But how will that make him feel?”


    “Emanuel thinks they wouldn’t let him see the letters anyway.”


    “Not let him see letters from his own people? What harm can it do, when he’s locked in jail? I don’t understand it. I don’t understand any of it.”


    “Perhaps they will let him get letters. And of course Emanuel plans to make an appeal if he has to. But it’s really all so unsure, now; where he is, even.”


    Count Orlant was silent for a minute. “I can’t believe it,” he said. “Do you remember when he came over here to say goodbye, in the storm, that night? It seems no time at all since then.”


    It seemed a long time to Piera since that night, but she said only, gently, “Don’t talk as if he was dead, papa. He isn’t. He’ll come back. Laura says so too.”


    And Count Orlant accepted, at least for the moment, the weighty judgment of Laura and Piera.


    When she left her father Piera put on her coat and went outside into the early dark, the cold and starlight of winter night. She could not stay shut in the warmth indoors. The sky was hard and the stars bright, small, multitudinous. The lake lay black. There was the queer snapping silence of frost, and the air bit throat and lungs as if instead of breathing one were drinking ice-cold water. Piera walked down to the shore and stood there under the pines looking out to the lake and the height of the winter sky. Orion hung there, the belt and sword of stars, the bright dog at heel. Piera stood still, her bare hands thrust deep into the sleeves of her coat, shivering now and then from head to foot, and in that hour she came into her inheritance. She knew the great hour as it passed. She accepted without reservation what it brought her: the passion of her generation; the end of her childhood.


    If this was her world, she was strong enough to live in it. She was a woman, not trained for any public act, not trained to defiance, brought up to the woman’s part: waiting. So she would wait. For any act done consciously may be defiant, may be independent, may change life utterly.


    But one can act thus only if one knows there is no safety. So she thought, that Epiphany night, looking up at Orion and the other stars. One must wait outside. There is no hiding away from storm, waste, injustice, death. There is no shelter, no stopping, only a pretense, a mean, stupid pretense of being safe and letting time and evil pass by outside. But we are all outside, Piera thought, and all defenseless. There is no safe house but death. Nothing of our own building will protect us, not the jails, nor the palaces, nor the comfortable houses. But the grandeur of knowing that, the pride and grandeur of being on one’s own at last, alone, under the enormous and indifferent sky, unhoused and unprotected! To be nothing, a girl, confused, grieved, frightened, foolish, shivering in the January frost, all that, yes, but also to learn at last the stature of her spirit: to come into her inheritance.


    She went back to the house presently, and sat alone by the fire in the living room. Her thoughts went on, calmer, less exalted, though sourced in that hour’s exaltation as a stream in a rising spring. She did not think now about Itale, yet he, the man in prison, the absent one, was the cause and center of this change. She thought of Laura, of Guide and Eleonora, and of her father; and of Aisnar, of Givan Koste, of herself.


    “I don’t belong there,” she thought, and presently, “What I have to do is here, here at home.” She could not have explained what it was she had to do. She was not carrying on a dialogue, not questioning and answering, but discovering.


    “I don’t want to go back to Aisnar. Papa’s getting old, he’s not well, he needs me. But I wouldn’t stay here, if that were all. He wouldn’t let me stay here, if that were all. He knows you have to send your children away. But I have no reason to go to Aisnar. I would just be safe and comfortable there. That’s Givan’s life, not mine. He has work to do there. I don’t. I’d keep his house, I’d be a good wife, I’d help bring up Battiste, I could do it. I could do it perfectly well. I’d be in jail. I’d be in prison for all my life. I can’t leave Malafrena. I have to do what I have to do, not other people’s work, I have to find my way, I have to wait, to wait. . . .”


    She thought of Givan Koste, his dark, grave face, the turn of his head. She had not the least sense of disloyalty to him in her thoughts; that would come later, along with self-doubt and shame, when the social human world came back into the balance. At the moment she was still as far as Orion from all that. She was alone with herself trying to find out the truth, and nothing was in the balance but truth and lies. She had lied to Givan Koste, promising him what she could not give.


    “Givan!” she said his name aloud.


    The house was still; she could hear the cook and a maid talking back in the kitchens, a murmur of voices like a brook far off.


    If he would wait for her, until she had done here what she had to do. . . . But what had she to do here, but wait?


    There was nothing urgent. No one could not get on without her. No one needed her to stay. No one wanted her, perhaps, so much as Givan did. “But it’s me he wants,” she said, and now the inward dialogue began, and would go on for a long time. “And who am I? He doesn’t know, neither do I. I have to find out by myself, or else I never will. I have to wait. But he won’t understand. . . . If he’d come here, I could make him understand, here. I’m not myself in Aisnar, I’m always what other people want me to be, there. Here is the only place I will ever understand. . . .”


    Laura would understand her. Laura had understood Itale, when she had not. She had never until this night understood why he had left home; now it was perfectly clear to her. He had felt towards Malafrena as she felt towards Aisnar: it was a shelter, not part of the way. They had all known what to expect of him, here, and all they asked of him he could have done, easily, too easily. He had had to go off and try to find what it was that he and only he could do, what was necessary to him. So, in Aisnar, if she chose, she could avoid ever staking herself. She could do and be all they asked of her, and the reward was sure.


    It looked now as if Itale had staked himself, and lost.


    Piera thought of the stars she had seen flaring over the lake and mountains outside. In daylight, in summer, if you could see the stars, they would be those, the stars of the midwinter.


    What she had at stake, what she had to give and to lose, she thought, did not amount to much. She had no talents at all, no great intellect, and nothing special to undertake. All she had to do was, like all things women had to do, a matter of daily redoing, an endless reaffirmation, nothing ever finished and complete. It would never be done, and it had to be done. It was her life she wanted, the whole of it: not a reward. Such as it was it was hers to live, so long as she would take the risk; so long as, having received her inheritance, she would not let it become a prisonhouse; so long as she set freedom first.


    But it was very difficult. No one had ever spoken to her about what freedom is for a woman, what it might consist of and how it is to be won. Or not won, that seemed the wrong word for a woman’s freedom; worked at, perhaps.


    She heard her father moving about upstairs; he soon came down, and they went in for supper. The overseer Gavrey, just returned from Portacheyka, joined them. When he had reported his negotiations at the mill to Count Orlant, he asked Piera, in his low husky voice, “I hope it wasn’t bad news that took you and Miss Sorde home, contesina.”


    Piera let her father reply: “Aye, it was bad, Gavrey. Young Sorde has been put in prison in the east somewhere.”


    Gavrey looked taken aback, but said nothing, evidently feeling that he could not with propriety ask what a gentleman had done to get put in prison. Count Orlant stared gloomily at his plate. Piera spoke up: “He didn’t steal somebody’s watch, you know. He’s a political prisoner. I suppose the government doesn’t like something he printed in his journal. So they put him in jail for five years.”


    Gavrey winced. “I didn’t know they’d do that,” he said. “We’re a bit beside the way of all that, up here. It seems very hard.” And he added, surprising Piera, “This is hard for Miss Laura, she thinks the world of her brother, I guess.”


    “She’ll think the higher of him for this.”


    “She’ll need to.”


    She caught what he meant at once: the talk, the gossip around the lake, the speculation and commiseration, the gloating on disaster. “They don’t know what it means,” she said haughtily.


    “I don’t know what it means but shame, and waste, and pain, for the lad and his people,” her father said.


    “Itale did what he believed he ought to do, what he had to do. He’s freer than the men who put him in jail, he’s freer than any of us. Even if he died there it wouldn’t be wasteful, it wouldn’t be shameful!”


    “You may be right, daughter. I don’t know much about these things; neither do you. It seems a waste to me when a man of twenty-five is thrown away like that, locked up to do nothing. And how can Guide help but feel shame when they say to him where’s your son? And how is it for Eleonora who can do nothing for him, maybe not even write to him? All I can see in it is grief and long worry, and praying the good Lord to look after the lad, for he never meant harm to anyone, that’s clear.”


    Gavrey spoke: “Times I think a man’s lucky to work out his evils done here, where he did them, and so can go to dying without fear.”


    She looked curiously at him. What he said was not new to her, it was only a variant on the somber tenet of all her people, but there was in his voice a note of intense, suppressed emotion, echoing obscurely her own inward, dark exaltation. And the last word he spoke stayed with her. The builder of the prisonhouse, the sneakthief, the weakener, the enemy, was fear. There was no way to serve fear and be free.


    During the next weeks she saw Laura daily, for most of each day, their companionship of the old years regained, and more than regained. It had used to be onesided, Laura listening to Piera talking, Laura comforting Piera distressed; now Piera could give, and listen, and comfort. It was a joy to her to be of use to Laura; and thus to receive as it were a sign or confirmation of her change from girl to woman, her wealth, which she could give away, spend as she chose.


    One afternoon near the end of the month they were together. They had been silent for half an hour; outside, snow was falling again over the snow that whitened hills and fields. It was a hard winter, and this week was the cold heart of it. Guide was out in the cattle barns or the storehouses, Eleonora was lying down upstairs; she had not been very well. Laura and Piera sat sewing by the downstairs fire, looking now and then to the high south windows outside which the snow continued to fall thick and straight. “I have to write a difficult letter,” Piera said, a little while after the clock had struck three. Laura looked up, but did not ask to whom; to whom else could Piera consider writing?


    “I want to ask him to come here for a little while.”


    “But you’ll be back in Aisnar in a few weeks.”


    “Well, I don’t know. That’s it, you see.”


    Laura rethreaded her needle, leaning forward to catch the tremulous, snow-thickened light of the windows.


    “You want to talk to him about it.”


    Piera nodded.


    “May I say something I’ve been thinking?”


    “Indeed not.”


    “You look like Auntie, you know, sometimes. I wonder if Auntie wasn’t very pretty, once.”


    “Papa says she was quite beautiful, but she never liked any of her suitors. Isn’t it strange. . . . Poor Auntie, she hates cold weather. She hasn’t said anything but No all week.”


    “Does she need new yarn? I was thinking she might like this coral color.”


    “We can try. She hasn’t even wound yarn this week. It’s the rheumatism, or else she doesn’t care any more. Oh, Laura, I hope I die young, sometimes!”


    “I know. . . . Well, it was just this. You haven’t talked about the wedding, and so on, at all, really. I wondered if you were feeling a . . . sense of duty, that you ought to stay here.”


    “No. That isn’t it. Do you know, I don’t think I believe in duty.”


    “It is an odd idea, when you think of it,” Laura said, thinking of it.


    “Like Miss Nina Bounnin in Portacheyka. Living and living and living with that awful mother of hers who goes on dying and dying and dying, she’s been dying ever since I was born, and poor old Lontse Abbre who was supposed to marry Nina, he must be sixty now, and still running errands for Advocate Ksenay—oh, no, not that kind of duty. That is just cowardice.”


    “Yes. Very well. But Count Orlant isn’t awful.”


    “No. No, he’s not. He is a very, very good man,” Piera said soberly.


    “Is that it?”


    “No. Because Givan Koste is a good man, too. I do love him.”


    “I know you do. Then what is it, Peri? It isn’t us, it isn’t me, you’re thinking of; you’re not that foolish.”


    “No. I’m not that generous, I’m not that useful to you. I’m selfish, Laura. I’m thinking only of myself. But I’m not clever enough to settle my own fate.”


    “Then let Mr Koste do it for you.”


    “I can’t,” Piera said. Then after a rather long pause, “I find I can’t, Laura. I don’t know why. In Aisnar I could. It’s all so simple down there, ready-made. But up here I seem to change. To have changed. I’m not the person who is to be married in Aisnar in March. And that can’t be! If I’m to marry I must marry with all my heart. Anything less would be wrong, a lie, an unforgivable lie.”


    “I believe that. But we may be wrong, Peri. Does love matter as much in marriage as the will to love? I don’t know. I keep watching people, trying to find out. —Is it simply that you’re away from him, that makes you feel you’ve changed?”


    “No. It’s that whenever I am with him or whenever I think of him, I’m indoors. Inside. In the light. And how can I turn my back on all the rest?”


    “The rest?”


    “The darkness,” Piera said, looking up from her work. “Air. Space. The wind, the night. I don’t know how to say it, Laura! The things you can’t trust, the things that are too big for you, that don’t care about you. I am just learning what that is and what I am, and I can’t leave it, give it up, not yet!”


    “Then you should ask him to wait,” Laura said slowly. “I don’t know if I understand you. But I think you have that right.”


    So that night Piera sat down to write the most difficult of all her difficult letters. Her spelling had improved at the Ursulines, but she still hated to write things down: on paper they became remote and trivial, humiliating.


    “Valtorsa, Val Malafrena, 24 January 1828.


    “Dear Givan:


    “We are all well here and I hope you and Miss Koste and Battiste are well. It is still snowing and is the heaviest winter since 1809 the year I was born papa says. All the bays of the lake-shore are frozen and on some of them the ice will bear for skating which is very unusual. But it does not last for long.


    “This is difficult to write and I hope you will understand if I ask if there is any possibility that if the roads clear you might come here to Valtorsa for a short visit some time in the next few weeks before I planned to come down to Aisnar. Are you very busy at the Customs? If so I shall certainly understand! It is hard to write and I hoped to talk to you if possible but if not do not worry, I will come as we planned. My father is not quite well yet from the larangytus in December and it is partly that which I want to talk about with you, but I hope we can talk because it is so hard to write. But do not worry if you cannot come, I will come. My love to Battiste. I am as ever your very affectionate friend, Piera Givana Valtorskar.”


    The letter went down on the Aisnar Post on Monday, and back with the Montayna Diligence the following week came Koste’s reply, “I shall arrive on February 8.”—“Oh Lord,” Piera said to herself, “now I’ve made him come in the dead of winter, and wait to change coaches at Erreme, and leave his work”—Koste was head of the Secretariat of Customs Inspection and Regulation for the Western Marches—“and I’ve got to tell papa what I’ve done. . . .”


    “Papa,” she said that night after supper, “you know I wrote Mr Koste last week.”


    “You always do, my dear,” Count Orlant said reassuringly. He was comparing astral maps, trying to decide how many Pleiades there were.


    She came to the table and looked over his shoulder for a while. “Is that one a Pleiadee?”


    “A Pleiad, my dear. One Pleiad, several Pleiades, it’s Greek. No, it’s a neighbor. D’you see, this map shows seven, it agrees with our peasants, who call the group the Seven Sisters. But most people can see only six. And the book says at least twelve can easily be seen with lenses. But this map shows eight. It’s very odd, I wonder if they eclipse from time to time.”


    “I wanted to tell you about the letter.”


    “Letter? Oh yes.” Count Orlant sat back in his chair and rubbed the bridge of his nose.


    “I asked him to come here.”


    “To come here!” said her father, looking scared, and also a little affronted.


    “I’m sorry I didn’t ask you first, papa. I was so . . . I felt so stupid about it. In case he couldn’t come anyway.”


    “What is wrong, Piera?”


    “I need to talk to him.”


    “But you’ll see him next month in Aisnar!”


    The count was really shocked, and Piera’s heart sank. “I want to talk with him, and with you, about putting off the wedding for a while.”


    “I see.”


    “I didn’t want to tell you before he answered my letter, in case he couldn’t come. Because I didn’t want to worry you. And I’m not really sure about anything. But he says he will come. On February eighth. So I wanted you to know,” she ended feebly.


    “He’ll stay here, of course,” Count Orlant said, also feebly.


    “I expect so.”


    “Yes, where else.” Count Orlant had met Koste only briefly, and was afraid of him. “But is it—are you regretting your engagement?”


    “No. But I want to wait.” It was the only formula she had, and the only explanation Count Orlant, and later Eleonora, could get out of her. She shook her head, knitted her broad, stubborn forehead, and said, “I have to wait. . . .” Then she would say imploringly, “Don’t you think he’ll understand?” Count Orlant thought he would, but Eleonora said, “I think he’ll agree, dear, since he is a gentleman. But I’m not at all sure he’ll understand.”


    Givan Koste arrived in Portacheyka towards the end of the winter day. Piera and old Godin met him with the open buckboard, since the heavy horses that pulled the family carriage were not sharpshod and the road was icy. He was half-frozen from the coach journey, and almost completely frozen by the time they had driven down through the foothills in the still, bronze-colored, bitter cold mountain twilight to Valtorsa. He was so humanly grateful that even Count Orlant was unable to be afraid of him, and took pleasure in reviving him with food, drink, fires, and early bed. And Piera, alert and silent, watched him. She had known him always in one setting: Aisnar, his house or the Belleynin house, afternoon or evening, among people he knew, dressed as he was dressed, speaking as he spoke. Now she had seen him out of place, on the snowy street of Portacheyka, wearing a fur-lined Russian overcoat, looking cold and tired and anxious; and this man, this stranger, attracted her powerfully.


    Next morning she came downstairs in her old red skirt and peasant blouse, and the cook scolded her. “Contesina, what sort of a way to dress is that when there’s a gentleman in the house?”


    “There’s always a gentleman in the house while my father’s here, and I dress to please him!” said Piera, and then, because the old woman was huffed, she made up to her again, hug­-ging her and whispering, “O Mariya, Mariya, don’t scold me today. . . .”


    The sun had come out brilliant on the snow; they spent a pleasant day, Count Orlant, Piera, and their visitor, walking down the shore to the Sordes’, receiving a visit from Cousin Betta and the Sorentay girls, and riding to St Anthony’s. On the second morning Piera and Koste walked down to the lake-shore alone in the bright wind of the thaw, and there came to the point. He spoke rather brusquely: “Piera, I hope that you know I want no explanation. I was very glad to come. It has troubled me sometimes that I had never been here, to meet your people.”


    “It was partly that. I wanted you to see me here, too. And I wanted to see you here.”


    “You’re no different here, or anywhere. Not to me, Piera.”


    His gentleness made her flinch. “I am different, here,” she said, hearing the cold, stubborn sound of her voice.


    “You love this place and these people very deeply. I knew that. But you were right to bring me here.” He stopped, and stopped walking, standing to look out over the flashing, windy water to the Hunter, dark under its crown of snow. She said nothing, and presently he went on, “And—forgive me, once again—you’re very young. Eighteen years old. And are your father’s only daughter and only child. There is time— There is no cause, no reason to rush you. If you wish the engagement between us to end, if you wish to be released, you need only tell me.”


    She stood beside him, pulling her shawl up round her neck as the cold, bright wind rose, rattling the trees. This was, of course, the one thing she had not expected. She never did expect the right thing. This was so easy, too easy, this cutting of the Gordian knot. You can’t go about cutting knots, or things begin to fall apart. . . . He was being kind, ultimately, sacrificially kind to her, as he was bound as a gentleman to be. But it was not kindness she wanted.


    “I didn’t mean to ask you that, Givan. I only want—I think—to wait. For a while. If we’d married right away, last spring, it would have been all right. But I—I feel I must wait, now. But I don’t want to make you unhappy!”


    “It would make me very unhappy to know that I had in any way lessened your happiness. Piera, don’t perjure your heart in trying to be merciful to me.”


    He was a gallant man. She turned to him as if in anger, her eyes alight: “But that’s what you’re doing—not I! I don’t know what I want, and you do!”


    “I can’t ask of you what you cannot freely grant,” he answered, stiff.


    “There’s no chance of our ever living here,” she asked at last, childishly, very softly, knowing the answer.


    “No,” he said, and unable to say more he walked away from her along the shore. She watched his spare, slight figure against the wintry brightness of the lake, on the empty shore between water and sky.


    He came back and stood near her. “Isn’t it best,” he said, quietly enough, “to break all bonds, Piera, and let time work as it will? I had intended to ask you to wait until you’re twenty. Perhaps you had that in mind. But it is scarcely fair to you, and it could be much harder in the end, if there were promises left between us. You know in any case that I won’t change. But that’s not a promise, only a fact. I can’t help it.” He smiled and turned away, unable to look at her, waiting for her answer.


    “But can’t we— But what will you—” She clenched her hands in a kind of rage. “All right, Givan. Let it be so. I wish you’d chosen better, chosen a woman who knew her own mind!”


    “I never saw you till now,” he said turning back to her, “I never knew you!” He spoke the truth; he was afire, his restraint broken, so that they stood face to face for once. Piera raised her hands open towards him, her eyes on his.


    He looked down.


    “I’ll leave tomorrow on the Post,” he said in a contained, dry voice. They started back to the house together in silence. He took her arm to help her over a patch of thawing mud on the path. She looked down at his strong, thin hand on her sleeve. He said nothing and did not look at her.


    That night she had to tell her father that the engagement was broken, not extended, and that she had broken it; but inwardly she protested her words. It was he, not she, that had refused. He knew, now, that what he asked of her she would give; and would not ask, denying his own passion, denying her the right to passion.


    V


    Piera had thought that no one would take much notice of her broken engagement, aside from a flurry of gossip which she did not care about. The only people beside her father whose opinion mattered to her were the Sordes, and the Sordes had troubles of their own. They would sympathise with her and that would be that. But it wasn’t that at all. Guide and Eleonora had met Givan Koste; they had accepted him as Piera’s betrothed; when they found the promise broken and him gone overnight, they did not condone. Laura bore the brunt of their disapproval. Neither of them said anything directly to Piera. But Guide did not joke with her any more, or greet her with a smile, or go back to calling her thou. She knew she was out of his good graces and might never, he being the man he was, get back in them.


    “If he was too old for her,” he said to Laura, “she might have known it a year ago. If there’s twenty years between them now, there was twenty years between them then. I don’t like it that she gave her word and then took it back.”


    “A broken engagement’s better than a bad marriage,” Laura answered, as dogged as he. “Besides, she didn’t jilt him. She wanted to wait. He insisted they break it off.”


    “Because he saw, no doubt, that she meant to go back on her word, soon or late.”


    “I just don’t understand,” said Eleonora, “what it is she wants and why it came up so suddenly. There wasn’t a hint of all this till after Epiphany. She says she wants to stay here. But what is there for her here, once Count Orlant is gone? The day’s coming, and she knows it, when she’ll be alone. And if she stays here she’ll be left to run the estate. Is that what she wants? I don’t believe it.”


    “I don’t know that she particularly wants it, but if she wants to stay at Valtorsa she knows somebody has to look after it.”


    “Aye,” Guide said, getting up and turning rather heavily to go out. “We must leave our land to women, it would seem, if not to strangers, in the end.”


    His wife and daughter were silent. He went out, straight and stiff, with his heavy walk.


    Eleonora took up her work. Presently she said, in her mild voice which no longer had much lilt or lift in it, “It isn’t that I blame the child, you know. But it seems . . . So much goes to waste. . . . I liked the man.”


    “So did I. So did she! But he was so— So good.”


    That made Eleonora laugh for a moment.


    “All right,” she said. “But what is it you want, you two? If the good men are too good—and there are few enough good men up here, goodness knows—and you won’t consider a man from down below, because he’ll take you from home— Who are you going to marry?”


    “I don’t know that I want to marry,” Laura said placidly. “Where are the sheets that wanted mending? —Piera will marry, I expect. In time. She could run Valtorsa perfectly well by herself, better than Count Orlant, I expect. She takes more interest in running the estate than in the house, really. I begin to wonder whether anybody could win her away. He’ll have to come and help her run Valtorsa. . . .”


    “They’re there in the bottom of the work table, aren’t they? Well, all right, but what about you?”


    “I wish father would let me help him more.”


    Laura spoke intensely, and her mother listened, alert.


    “I would like very much to be able to help him.”


    “With the farm work?”


    “No—I know there’s a lot I can’t do— But he isn’t doing so much actual work any more, you know, mother, of that kind. But the accounts and the sales, and going in to Portacheyka, and the management, I could learn that. I could help him with it and—help carry the estate over till Itale comes back.”


    Eleonora did not answer, and presently Laura said in a lower tone, “I know it—I know the idea doesn’t suit him.”


    “He believes very deeply, my dear, that we’re each called to play the part we were given as best we can. As woman or man, or master or servant. That we are to do what we were given to do. That to try to do otherwise is idle, or folly, or . . . ruin. . . .” Eleonora’s voice died out on the last word.


    “Do you believe that, mother?”


    But she could not choose between the husband and the son. She shook her head. “I don’t know, Laura.”


    “Would he teach me to help with the accounts—just that? Would it be wrong to ask him?”


    “No. Of course not. Ask him,” Eleonora said with a little increase of firmness; and added presently, “Talk to Emanuel about it. I think he might agree with you.”


    Laura shook her head.


    “Why not? Have you spoken about it to him already?”


    “No. I can’t. He feels . . . you know, as if he were to blame, as if father blamed him for . . . He won’t interfere for me. I can’t ask him.”


    “I think you can,” Eleonora said. “When he comes back.”


    Emanuel had gone to Krasnoy, late in February, following a second letter from Brelavay. Brelavay wrote very briefly that they had received official confirmation of Itale’s conviction and sentence and knew him to be in the St Lazar prison in Rákava. It was a cold, guarded letter. Guide had not replied to the first, and clearly Brelavay had expected some response.


    “You should answer this, I think,” Eleonora had said.


    “What good?”


    “To thank him.”


    “For telling me my son’s in jail? What thanks do I owe these men that led him into ruin?”


    “Nobody led him,” Laura burst out. “He went his own way. It’s the government and their police that put him in jail, and if you won’t write this man to thank him for trying to help and for sticking by Itale, then I will!”


    “You will not,” said Guide, and she did not. He did, however; and posted the letter along with a letter of request to the regents of St Lazar prison, composed under Emanuel’s guidance. No answer came to the latter; Brelavay answered promptly. There was enough encouragement in his reply that Emanuel decided to go to Krasnoy to meet him and see if the machinery of appeal could be set going, or to try to win permission to visit Itale, or all else failing, permission to write to him.


    He came back in March with nothing. Stefan Oragon, with a caution that was the reverse side of his oratorical flamboyance, had felt out the ground and found it impossible to take a step: The men jailed in the eastern provinces in November and December were object-lessons, warnings, their disappearance was precisely their importance to the government; to bring attention to any one of them was to increase his risk. Only if they were allowed to become or to appear unimportant would there be any chance, after some lapse of time, of bringing them back into the light. “Every time you say Sorde’s name you put a bar on his window,” Oragon said. “I could wish your name were different, sir, so long as you’re here in Krasnoy. . . .” And Emanuel, cowed and embittered, had soon left Krasnoy.


    “I didn’t know,” he said to his brother. “I didn’t know what it was like. I thought the law— I am a lawyer, I thought I knew the power of the law. I knew nothing about it! God help me, I thought it drew its power from justice!”


    In October there was a letter from Rákava: a refusal of Guide’s request for permission to visit or write the man in prison.


    “Eight months to send me this,” Guide said, crushing the paper in his hand, and his hand shook.


    Early in 1829, on Oragon’s advice, he wrote to the governor of the Polana Province renewing the request. He received no reply. In March Emanuel, who had kept up correspondence with Brelavay and others, received a hand-delivered note from Givan Karantay: “Lately in the east and north the families of suspects and prisoners have been brought under suspicion and in some cases held by the police for questioning. It is surely best that while this situation lasts you cease writing us; we will try to keep you informed of any news we get, but not through the mails, which are now closely surveyed. . . .”


    The year had come in mild, but in April there was a late hard frost for a night and a day when the peach orchards were in full flower. The crop was lost, a crippling blow to those tenant farmers whose livelihood was in the orchards. Guide’s own profits came principally from grain and vines, and he could afford to help his tenants through the bad year; but the loss galled him, the waste of those acres of fair, gnarled little trees. That May and June he would go to the orchards and walk down the grass between the trees that bore no fruit. He would return to the house frowning, erect, walking heavily. In July the rejection of his second plea came from Rákava. That night, coming to bed late and without light other than the starlight in the windows, he lay down and lay still, knowing from the quality of her silence that Eleonora was still awake. He spoke in the darkness, not loud, but harshly.


    “You must not lie there and think of him.”


    She did not reply.


    “It’s no good, Eleonora,” he said more softly.


    “I know.”


    They lay side by side, both silent, hearing the crickets trill and trill in the warm furrows and along the roadsides in the summer night.


    “Oh my dear, my dear,” she said turning to him, putting her arms about him; but even she, his life’s stay, his one enduring joy, had no comfort for him.


    That night Laura too lay awake, in her room down the hallway, by the window that gave on the fields where the crickets were trilling. She had turned twenty-three in June. It was an age she had long ago picked as a dividing age, a watershed. It had seemed a remote goal, even when she was twenty. When she was twenty-three she would be certain; she would be settled in the course of her life, through with yearnings, turmoils, and reversals: a woman, beginning to be wise.


    But here she was unsure, unwise, worse off than ever, and worst of all, alone.


    Three weeks ago Piera had come over in the afternoon with a book to read aloud down at their old place by the boat house below the road. They had gone there but had never opened the book. Piera, very lively and pretty in a new flowered cotton, wanted to tell her friend something. “Well?” Laura said at last, lazy and teasing. “I haven’t asked the right question yet, I can see that; tell me what to ask, please.”


    “Oh, nothing. All right, very well. Ask me who proposed marriage to me!” Piera blushed, and blew the seeds off a dandelion clock.


    “Oh my! Oh, you trophy-hunter! How many times is Sandre going to try?”


    Alexander Sorentay had been jilted dramatically by Advocate Ksenay’s daughter Mariya, who ran off two weeks before the wedding-day with an itinerant buttons-and-needles vendor from Vermare and never appeared in Portacheyka again. This event had quite eclipsed the duller gossip-matter of Piera’s broken engagement. Alexander had restrained his determination to marry as long as decency demanded but not a day longer, and on that day had laid siege once more on his first love. This time his wooing was overt and all but spectacular; he was past shame, and need not fear damaging her reputation since everybody knew he was having no success. “He coorts and she discoorages,” Marta Astolfeya had said, and this became the general summary. “Still coortin?” Emanuel would ask when the Valtorskars came over to sit on the Sordes’ terrace above the lake after supper, and Piera would answer, “Oh aye, uncle, and I’m still discooragin!” She had been distressed by Alexander’s suit at first, having never lost her guilt concerning that letter written him from Aisnar; but his persistence wore out first her pity and then her patience. She was civil, and skilful at avoiding offense to his family, who favored the match; but she had no intention of accepting the leavings of the lawyer’s daughter.


    “Alexander indeed,” she said. “No, no. This was a surprise. A bolt from the blue. Guess! You’ll never guess it.”


    “There isn’t anyone,” Laura said, reviewing mentally. “The fact is, there are no men here, when you look at them in this light.”


    “Our overseer. Gavrey.”


    “What about him?”


    “It was him.”


    “Gavrey,” Laura said.


    “Yes. Out of the blue. Nothing to prepare me. No warnings. He scarcely speaks to me, as a general rule, except on business, of course. We get on very well working, I will say that. But to turn to me with no preparation at all over the rental account book and, ‘Contesina, will you—’ No, I won’t imitate him. I don’t feel like making fun of him, really. In fact I am a little upset, I think.”


    “But you said no?”


    “Of course.”


    After a little silence Laura said, “Because of the . . . differences between you.”


    “What do you mean? That he’s a farmer’s son, and apparently illegitimate? Is that what you think? I was afraid he would think that, but I thought you— All right, of course one would consider that; but if I wanted to marry Berke Gavrey I would do so. In many ways I wish I could. We work together well, as I said. I believe we could make a very good thing of the estate. He knows that, I suppose that’s why he brought up marriage. He is a very practical man. And an ambitious one. But he is not a man I wish to marry.”


    Piera had completely dropped her embarrassed, mocking tone; Laura had seldom heard her speak so seriously, or so bluntly. She made only the most conventional response, and they did not stay much longer there by the boat house. Piera went to rejoin her father, who had been in ill health for some weeks, and Laura went up to her room and got by herself at last. “The coward,” she whispered, and it was all she found to say, there in the wreckage of what had been passionate emotion and now was nothing at all. “The coward!”


    Two years ago in spring, while Piera had been away in Aisnar, a little while after Itale’s letter describing his meeting with Piera at the convent school, there had come a week of sweet April weather; and Laura, long confined to the house with a lingering bronchitis, was released rejoicing into the sunshine. She walked up into the peach orchards, just coming into bloom. The morning sun shone on the trees and the short, fresh, young grass between them. She did not walk far, but put down her rug and sat down. The soft wind blew. All around her were dark, vigorous trunks and branches, twigs knotted and knotted with pale flowerbuds. From the barnyard eastward down the valley came the ring of metal on metal, the hiss of hot iron in water, the creaking of an ancient bellows. Bron’s great-grandson, Zeske, would be working the bellows; they were fitting horseshoes, shaping them on the anvil; shoeing, too, perhaps, for she heard the stamping and sharp neigh of a draft-horse, distinct and clear as were all sounds here, yet softened and made miniature by distance and by the vast, southward motion of the air. Then Gavrey had come running down through the trees, and stopped short, seeing her. His gun was on his back, his hound Roshe was with him, panting. He had been up in the forests, in the high places, and the strangeness of the forests was still with him. He stopped not ten feet from Laura. Neither spoke. His gaze, at first simply startled, became the intent look that was characteristic of him. He stood there, from motion to stillness in one instant, gazing.


    “Do you know me, Gavrey?” she said, mocking and afraid.


    He moved then, took off his cap and ran his hand over his sweaty, dark reddish hair. “Aye, I know you, Miss Laura,” he said hoarsely. “You took me by surprise, sitting there.”


    She patted the hound, which had sat down by her and dropped its head nearly to the ground.


    “Here then, Roshe, get away!”


    He drew a long breath; he was as winded as the dog.


    “Let him be. No game up on San Givan?”


    He shook his head. He sat down on the grass, at some distance from her. “Now I’ve stopped I can’t stay up. . . . Went up this morning before light. To get up high. Where they say the she-wolf is.”


    “Did you find her?”


    “Never a sign.”


    “No one’s ever run her, these five years. I wonder if there really is a wolf, if she’s only a hunters’ dream.”


    She watched him as he sat there, his loose dark hands on his knees, his chest rising and falling as he got his breath, the sunlight glinting in his hair.


    “She’s up there, all right. Your Kass saw her last month. But the dog fell on a deer scent. Led me half over the mountain and back, you fool dog. . . . It must be getting on to noon. Ah! the . . .” He shrugged, looking over at Laura, a curious, quick, comradely glance. “I lost my last place, in Altesma, for too much hunting. Once I’m on the mountain I could go a week and never know it, same as this fool dog.”


    When he had gone, his hound trotting sore-footed at his heels, she could not get him out of her thoughts, that sharp, frank look of recognition, the half-smile on his face that had always been shut and set. She had caught him off guard, seen him himself, the hunter. She could not forget the moment, and when she met him again she saw that he had not forgotten it. He would not look at her, now. He never had spoken much to her, but he had used to look at her, in his intent, calm way, as if he were looking at a picture in a book.


    After a time she got used to him again, to his not looking at her. They met only at Valtorsa, in company with her parents, Count Orlant, Cousin Betta, Auntie, Rodenne and the rest. When a vist game was in session she would notice Gavrey’s hands, fine-boned, loose, and dark; she knew, without knowing she knew, the angle of his wrist, the position his left hand took half open on the table as he waited for the next card to fall.


    In the autumn she spoke to him again alone. She was at St Anthony’s, bringing flowers for the chapel for the service of All Saints; old Father Klement had kept her there. She was fond of the kind, ignorant, dirty old priest. She was the woman of his life; he did not know it, but she did. He had no assistant, and she had helped him set out the chrysanthemums, dahlias, and autumn daisies she had brought from her garden, flowers colored like fire and ash, crimson, russet, gold, dun and pale. The colors filled her eyes, the fresh rank smell of them clung to her hands, as she knelt in the dark chapel, hardly listening to the priest’s whispering mumble. The few old women who always came for the evening service were there, and Kass, who had been sent to fetch her, and, coming in as the service began, had got stuck with it. He was a young fellow, a bantam, not one to come pray with the old biddies if he could help it. There was another man, and presently she saw from the set of his shoulders and the thick curling hair that it was Gavrey. Had he gone devout? She doubted it, but there was no telling with these silent men. The peasant woman, wrinkled and toothless at forty, who never missed Mass, took communion, confessed, boasted of her nephew in the seminary, kissed the priest’s hand, she might tell you, if you asked, that she did not believe in God. “But there’s the Saints, and the holy water is a great thing,” one such woman had said to Laura, rock-sure in her paganism. Then you might come on one of the hard-faced men who called the church a place for priests and women, come on him in pain and glimpse a spiritual intensity, a terrible longing for God. They had a name for these crises. “He’s borne down,” they said. —“Why’s Sorentay’s Tomas off at church then?” —“He’s borne down hard, these two months. . . .” Suffering, misery, mystery, what was it that bore them down? They could not say, but they recognised the agony; and so did Laura Sorde. She glanced again across the chapel at Gavrey. Was he borne down? Was the hunter caught? It was a strange thought. Sometimes when she saw a man in church she was strangely moved. A man on his knees, his dirty thick bootsoles sticking up behind him and his head bared and bowed, asking for help, used as she was to it it was strange, moving her to a pity very close to shame.


    Gavrey came out of the chapel directly after her, and spoke. Young Kass was waiting for her, Father Klement would follow. Well defended, she felt bold, curious, wanting to provoke the man who would not look at her. “What brought you out here tonight? Are you borne down?”


    “I came to see you,” he answered.


    She thought she had stopped, there on the steps, but found herself walking on beside him.


    “What for?” she said at last, and winced at her own words and tone, hypocritical, false.


    “How do I know? I came to see you. That’s all.”


    “Very well, you’ve seen me.”


    He stopped and faced her, by the wicket gate of the churchyard. They were the same height, their eyes met straight. “Did you ever look at me?”


    She glanced round at Kass unhitching the horse, at the old women chatting on the path. He had spoken aloud as if they were alone in all the world, in a passionately resentful voice; but self-defense was a strong habit in him, and her movement roused it. He half turned from her and spoke lower. “Why did you ask me was I borne down? What’s that to you?”


    Laura, with a wolf by the tail, said, “I’m sorry I said that.”


    “Aye, sorry. Will you leave me alone? Will you leave me alone?” He was gasping for breath as when he had stood above her in the orchard six months ago. He broke away from her, strode off into the dusk along the road under the pines of San Larenz.


    As they drove home with Kass, Father Klement asked, “What was Berke Gavrey telling you, then?” The old priest had a piping voice. Laura felt that every ear in Val Malafrena, every beast in the dark woods, could hear him piping, “What was Berke Gavrey telling you?”


    “Nothing.”


    “Eh?”


    “Nothing, I said.”


    “Oh aye? I thought he was telling you something.”


    Laura kept silent.


    “He’s a good fellow,” the priest said, pipy and sententious. “As good as need be no matter what they say of him.”


    “I never heard anything against him,” Laura said, and at once accused herself of complicity with him.


    Father Klement was delighted: new ears for old gossip, irresistible. He never considered what was suitable for a priest to repeat, whether the gossip he relayed was offensive or malicious; to him it was all words, stories, the savor of existence. “Why, now, you never heard what that Val Altesma woman had to say?” And he went on to tell Laura that Gavrey had left Val Altesma because he had got a girl pregnant, a peasant freeholder’s daughter at Kulme. “She had nobody but womenfolks and an old granddad, the Altesma woman said, so there was nothing she could do but tell the story, and she did that, and so he got away and went to Raskayna where he was under-steward, and they say he was a terror among the young women there as well.”


    “That’s stupid, a stupid story,” Laura said. “If all that was true Count Orlant would never have taken him on.”


    “Why not?” the old priest asked, puzzled. “It’s true enough, but so’s it true that he don’t make trouble here. He’s a good man and a good steward, none ever said different in Val Maalafren.” He sought a suitable moral and said at last with satisfaction, “Young men will be wild, before they settle down.”


    What do you know about it, you fat old capon? thought Laura; and she upbraided the priest for gossiping. Father Klement got flustered and looked beseechingly at the gentle, tall, soft-voiced girl who had suddenly turned on him as stern and hard as her father. “But I did say he’s a good man!” he appealed.


    “A good man! If he’s done what you say, what right have you to call him good? I don’t want to talk about it any more.”


    All the trees of San Larenz were listening, and Gavrey the hunter hidden amongst them listening, understanding.


    What was terrible to her was that, with nothing said, with hardly a word and no touch between them, for they had never touched, yet she understood him, and he her. There was no place to hide.


    She had believed that only in the spirit is there true understanding: flesh is the darkness that hides the light, the barrier to communion. Now all that unquestioned belief fell away from her. It is the spirit that is alone, she thought with a kind of horror of certainty, and the spirit that dies. Only in the body do we know communion, and hold fast to the present, which is eternal. The shadows will not wither away to leave the child soul bathed in light at last: what will last, what endures, is the darkness, the opacity and weight of shadow-casting body; the breath of life is breath itself. One night in November she was sewing after supper with her mother, and rose to refill the bronze oil-lamp at her elbow. She poured in the oil too fast, overfilling the lamp; the flame on the wick sputtered, flickered, went out, drowned in the fuel that fed it. She watched in fascination. The oil spilled on her fingers, on the table. “Why, look what you’re doing, Laura,” her mother said, “don’t get it on your dress!” The girl stood staring at the lamp, the drowned wick, a little black scrap. The shadows had closed in about her. She turned to her mother, and Eleonora got up, spilling her sewing things about her— “Laura, what is it?”


    “Oh, mother, I’m borne down,” Laura said, and began to laugh, then cry; then she got control of herself, all within a minute, and would say no more to Eleonora except that she was overtired.


    She went to bed and lay awake, trying to exorcise from herself, from her body, by sheer force of will, the presence of the man who obsessed her. She did not pray.


    In the end she found her help in the knowledge that had undone her in the first place, the knowledge that he was as helpless as she. His desire, which conquered her, put him at a disadvantage: he was driven by it, but unwillingly, afraid to trust her. When his chance came he missed it. They spoke together, having met by chance, by the lake-shore in a red December dusk.


    “I’m leaving Valtorsa,” he said, “going away.”


    The sunset light was on his face, making it ruddy, vivid.


    “Going away? Why?”


    “For the same reason I left Altesma.”


    “I thought you were fired, there.”


    She knew how to hurt him. “Fired? Who told you that? I left of my own will.”


    She looked scornful and said nothing.


    “And to get away from a woman that wouldn’t let me alone,” he said in his rancor.


    “Shall you go back and marry her, then?”


    “Not I! Why the devil should I? Do I look the marrying kind?”


    “Better than to burn,” the girl said, weak with hatred of him, spite, fear, yearning. “No matter what kind you are.”


    “Oh aye! and no doubt you’d have me, to save me from the fire?”


    He flushed up crimson in the red light, and took a step backwards. Trapped and self-destructive, afraid, he said hastily, “I don’t know why I said that.”


    “You torment yourself, Berke,” she said, looking at him and speaking with her old natural gentleness. He did not know he was her equal, and she was never going to tell a man who did not know it without being told.


    “And you?” he muttered.


    “Maybe, but what’s that to you?”


    And she smiled at him; but he did not answer, standing wordless and helpless. When she saw that she was ashamed of him. “You should stay here,” she said calmly. “You’ll run out of places to move to. Besides, you owe something to Count Orlant, I should think.”


    “Aye, that I do,” he said. He spoke almost submissively. She longed to be away from him. She pitied him and wished him gone, out of her sight.


    “I talk of going, but I’ll stay, no doubt,” he said.


    “I suppose you will,” she answered indifferently.


    She no longer looked at him, but out over the lake, where the red light was fading into obscure brown-violet dusk. She was desolate. Now he came to her, reached out to touch her, and she allowed him: because he must have it that she allow him, that she permit him, that she be the lady and he the servant, that there not be between them any honesty, but only this game of owner and beggar. He felt her unresponsiveness and let her go, saying, “It’s no good—why do you make a fool of me?”


    She looked at him then. “You are a fool, Berke,” she said. “It’s not my doing. If you haven’t got the courage to walk this road then you’d better go back to Val Altesma, to the first girl you ran away from.” She turned and went down the shore away from him, towards the promontory. He let her go.


    That was the end of it, she told herself, and so it was, though he did not leave Valtorsa. When she had to be with him she spoke to him as little as possible, ignoring his cringing, questioning look and her own humiliated, defiant longing for a kind word from him, the touch of his hand. She could not shake him off. He was the first man to waken her. No other took his place. The weeks and months went on, and without knowing it Laura nursed the sterile desire, tried to keep it alive. There was so little in her life, and he was the only man who had ever touched her. She let herself dream of some future reconciliation and understanding, as if there were anything left to reconcile or explain.


    Now she had lost even that pretense, the last bit of warmth in the cold. She wondered at first if he had proposed to Piera simply in order to hurt her, Laura. She told herself that that was mere self-flattery. He was afraid of Guide Sorde, and not afraid of Orlant Valtorskar, that was the principal key—perhaps. Perhaps he wanted Piera more than he had wanted her. She told herself she must accept this possibility, but she did not. It was because he did not desire Piera as a woman that he was bolder, able to propose the marriage that he had not dared even envisage with Laura, the hunter caught in his own trap: of this she was certain, and then she called herself a fool for her certainty, for her vanity, for clinging to the love he had never even offered her. And now he had succeeded in dividing her from her friend. She was not jealous of Piera. She was envious, she always had envied Piera, envy was part of the rock their friendship was built upon; that was no harm. But he had spoilt the frankness between them, prevented the unreserved conversation that was the one relief to Laura’s essential loneliness. She had never told Piera of the sensual storm she had gone through, never said anything about Gavrey at all; partly through inability, lacking the very words to speak of that middle ground, that obscure country, between the vocabulary of animal sex which she as a farmer’s child of course knew but was not, as a lady, to speak, and the vocabulary of love and sentiment; partly also because she had felt no need to speak. Now that she wanted to, in order to clear the air and restore the trust between her and her friend, she could not. She was ashamed to. She was ashamed of the meanness of the story, ashamed of herself for wanting to tell it, even.


    And this was the wisdom and strength of her womanhood, of her twenty-three years. . . .


    The worst of it was the fear of losing Piera. That she could not bear, and it was not many days before she set her teeth on her humiliation and told her friend as much of the story as she could. She did it awkwardly and unclearly, so that Piera did not understand at first, asking in dismay, “But you mean you love—you loved him, Laura?”


    “No,” the older girl answered steadily, “I mean I could hardly keep my hands off him. And it was the same with him. For a while.”


    She saw Piera climbing up over that fence, looking at the strange lands on the other side. She felt herself corrupted, corrupting. But Piera said simply, after a little while, “No wonder you understood about Givan Koste.”


    Laura was afraid to speak.


    “We came at it different ways. You found too much of what I didn’t find enough of. . . . But what’s wrong with Berke, what was he afraid of?”


    “It wasn’t his fault.”


    “You; he was afraid of you,” Piera said, brooding. “Not of me. Because I’m not as strong as you; because he’s not in love with me. So it’s me he proposed to. How stupid he is! How stupid it all is! —I thought of accepting him, Laura. That night. I knew I could get him to ask again. He’s a very good overseer. I was afraid he might leave. And I can work with him. I’m beginning to learn what to do and how to do it, how the estate should be run. He’s taught me most of that. So—” She smiled rather bleakly.


    “Why should you not marry him?”


    “Because if I am marrying for practical reasons, Sandre is a much better match.”


    “Why should you not marry Sandre?” Laura asked in the same tone.


    “Why should I marry?”


    “I don’t know.”


    They talked now quietly and openly, no shadow between them.


    “I don’t understand it,” Piera said. “I don’t really understand what happened between you and Berke. I don’t understand what love is, or what it’s supposed to be. Why is it supposed to be my whole life?”


    Laura shook her head. She looked up at the golden slope of grass above the boat house.


    “Itale always said the time will come. But we wait, and we wait. What are we waiting for, Laura? Why does he have to be in jail, why do men have to be such fools, why are we wasting our lives? Is love the answer to all that? I don’t understand, I don’t understand. . . .”

  


  
    PART SIX


    The Necessary Passion

  


  
    I


    


    THE WAY into the St Lazar Prison was through a twelve-foot gate in an iron fence, across a strip of cobbled yard, through a second gate in a second fence and under a tunnel of naked stone formed by the four-foot-thick walls of the building, and so into a corridor off which a large, vaulted room opened to the right, the warders’ room. The air in the corridor and the warders’ room was damp, with a sweet, musty odor. Windowless, the room was as silent as a wine-cellar or a cave, yet a queer, disagreeable rumor just beneath the range of hearing suggested that behind the further walls and doors the place was not silent, not empty, but crammed full, jammed, swarming. Luisa Paludeskar kept her head high as she and the official who accompanied her waited in the warders’ room for the prison clerk. She held her silk skirts in one hand to keep them from the moist, filthy floor. She had worked for it for twenty-six months.


    Two clerks hurried in, wiping their mouths from lunch, and then an immensely tall, fat man in the uniform of a lieutenant of the Polana militia. The official with Luisa opened his mouth to speak but she beat him to it, saying in a clear voice the words that she had earned the right to say: “Lieutenant, Mr Konevin brings you an order from the High Court, signed by the prime minister, countermanding the sentence of the prisoner Itale Sorde.” The big man put out his hand for the paper which Luisa’s companion offered him. “How do, Mr Konevin,” he muttered, staring at Luisa. “Yes, indeed. Your servant, miss.”


    “Baroness Paludeskar, Lieutenant Glay,” Konevin muttered; muttering seemed to be the natural form of speech here. “You’ll find it all in order, Glay. Immediate release. See there.” They bent their heads over the document and muttered lower. The lieutenant held the paper away from his enormous body as if afraid it would scorch him. “Yes, yes, Larenzay, look up Sorde Itale, entered December ’27.”


    Both clerks raised their heads. On entering the room they had gone one to a table, the other to a desk, and sat down, without speaking and scarcely glancing at Konevin and Luisa. The one at the table had a head that grew straight out of his shoulders, with a warty, grey face. The one at the desk was thin and wiry with long, lank hair and a mouth like a razor-cut. “Sorde?” he said, and the name spoken aloud was startling in this muttering oppressive silence. “Sorde’s dead.”


    “Dead? When?”


    “Last week. End of the week.”


    “I see. We’re having the epidemic, you know,” the lieutenant informed Konevin and Luisa. “Worse than usual this year. Look up the entry, Larenzay.”


    “White ledger. Specially recommended prisoner,” the neckless clerk mumbled in a deep bass.


    “Get the burial list for February, Larenzay. Please to sit down, baroness, please to sit down.” The huge lieutenant brought up a chair for her and dusted it with his sleeve. Luisa did not sit down. She feared to move at all. Her ears sang, a shrill hum. The lank-haired clerk argued, the neckless one mumbled, the lieutenant muttered, Konevin put in an exasperated remark. She heard nothing they said, only their grotesque voices, frogs on the marshes of hell.


    “Please to sit down, baroness.”


    “It may take some time, baroness,” Konevin said.


    She gave in and sat down, letting her silken skirt drag on the floor. Summoning up all her self-control, she said very softly to Konevin, who stood beside her, “Is he dead, then?”


    “Apparently not, baroness,” Konevin replied. Ears here were tuned to whispers: the lank-haired clerk shouted reproachfully as if the others had all been in the wrong, “On the sick list, not the death list,” and the neckless one droned, “Specially recommended.” Luisa shuddered all over and put her hands to her cheeks. The blood which had dropped sickeningly from her head was returning in a hot wave, dizzying her. She sat perfectly still until she knew she could trust herself not to faint and then said in an even voice, smiling a little, to Konevin, “I wonder that a man can stay alive two years in this place.”


    “Much longer than that, baroness,” the official answered stiffly. He had made it clear when she met him at the office of the governor that he did not like the business she was on; since entering the prison he had been completely rigid, wearing a fixed look of distaste and exasperation on his round, ruddy face.


    “What is the epidemic?”


    “Prison fever, I suppose,” Konevin answered, and drew a short breath. He was afraid of infection, Luisa realised, and the thought gave her pleasure.


    “He has been ill, then? Are they going to release him?”


    “Yes, baroness. Look here, Glay, I can’t spend the afternoon here. Tell them to get on with it.”


    “In a minute, Mr Konevin, in a minute,” the huge man answered, cringing yet unmoved; this was his domain, not Konevin’s, and both knew it. The lank-haired clerk was writing, his pen scraping with a loud, hard sound like his voice. The lieutenant went to the table, shifted papers about, muttered with the neckless clerk. There was no clock. Luisa sat turning a ring on her finger, pressing her right hand hard with her left, staring at the watery gleam that ran on the grey silk of her skirt; she could barely hold still, she could not endure to wait any longer, but still the unmarked minutes went by and went by, and there was no telling if the time was long or short or if it was passing at all. There was a noise out in the corridor and a guard in militia uniform came in with a tall, bald man in his sixties. They stopped just inside the doorway. The bald man stood stooped over, staring vaguely; he was wearing shapeless grey trousers and an old coat too large for him, and was barefoot. Realising that he was a prisoner, Luisa looked hastily away from him.


    “Sorde Itale,” the lieutenant was saying, and the guard was also saying the name, “Sorde, specially recommended!” Sick with disgust and anger Luisa sat still and said, “This is not the man. Will you act on this order of release, lieutenant, or must I come here with the governor of the prison?”


    “Not the man? What ward, Liyvek?”


    “Sick ward,” the militiaman said. “This is him.”


    “Extraordinary inefficiency,” Konevin said, and the lieutenant, suddenly angry and frightening in his anger swung his great bulk and height towards the militiaman: “Who is this, take him back,” he said, while the militiaman repeated stolidly, “This is him.” The prisoner stood as if indifferent, his empty gaze crossing Luisa’s. He raised his hands to rub his eyes, and with terror she recognised the gesture.


    “It is him, it’s him,” she said in a whisper to Konevin. Again all the others heard her whisper, the lieutenant drew himself up righteous and vindicated, the militiaman stepped back and the clerks muttered. Konevin looked at her coldly. She sat still. It was Konevin who went up to the prisoner, although not close to him, and said, in a stifled and embarrassed tone, “Sorde—Mr Sorde?”


    The man stood patiently, unresponding.


    “We’re here with your release, Mr Sorde. Your sentence is countermanded by the High Court. Do you understand?”


    He came back to Luisa. “The man’s very sick,” he said with nervous distaste. “I have no idea what you can do. An impossible situation. Are you quite certain that you . . .”


    “Will you have them finish whatever formalities are necessary, please.”


    She did not look at the prisoner.


    “One of our officials is bringing the prisoner’s possessions, baroness,” the lieutenant explained, officious and self-confident now, looming over her. “All his belongings when arrest was effected, they’ve been in confiscation, do you see, baroness, nobody has disturbed them.”


    “Better send for the blacksmith,” the lank-haired clerk said, and the neckless one snarled, “Don’t need the smith, he’s been in the sick wards,” and the lieutenant muttered, “Has he a fetter, Liyvek?” and the militiaman answered, “No,” while Konevin walked away down the room clicking his tongue in a fit of impatience and disgust. And finally a guard came in with a valise, a string-tied bundle of clothing, and a small parcel wrapped in paper. The lieutenant opened the parcel and spread out its contents on the table with his enormous, white hands: a silver watch and chain, a pair of cufflinks, some copper change, a penknife. “The gentleman’s jewelry and all, you see, baroness, nothing has been touched,” he said. The valise and the bundle were spotted with a soft, bluish mold. “Can we go now?” Luisa said, but there were still papers to be prepared, the neckless clerk was writing something that must be written before they could go.


    “You can’t put the man in your cab, baroness,” Konevin said to her in a low voice as they stood at the desk. “The . . . state he’s in . . .”


    “What do you suggest I do instead?” Luisa demanded, and in reaction to Konevin’s pusillanimity she brought herself to go up to the man in grey and speak to him. She said his name and did not know what else to say. He did not seem to look directly at her, nor did he answer directly, but after a while he spoke, in a thin, hoarse voice: “May I sit down?”


    His body and clothing stank of sweat and sickness. The coat he wore had been red or plum-colored, but was black with dirt. She could not touch him. She pointed to the wooden chair. “Yes, sit down.” He did not move. Once he rubbed his hand hard over his face in that gesture terribly familiar to her, and then stood again, patient, blinking his swollen eyes.


    “The fever, you know, baroness,” the lieutenant was saying as he held out a set of folder papers to her. “Makes ’em dull, no doubt he’ll be better soon. This here is the order of release, this is his passport, Mr Konevin will explain, the guard will take his things out for you. An honor to be of service to you, baroness.”


    The guard who had brought Itale in was gone, and Konevin would not help her; the clerks and the lieutenant were watching, malevolent. She had to take Itale’s arm to make him move, to make him come with her, out of the warders’ room, under the stone arch; he shuffled, lame and unsteady. When they came out onto the cobbled yard into the clear, cold sunshine of a day of March he stopped and put his hands up over his eyes in pain.


    “Come on, come with me,” she coaxed him. The guards at the prison entry, the guard at the outer gate, stood watching, curious and without sympathy. What she was doing was wrong, was against what they wanted, what they stood for, what they stood there for keeping the gates locked and the doors shut. What she had imagined and anticipated a thousand times as the moment of triumph was humiliating and grotesque. The driver of the cab that she had kept waiting stared at the shambling man with her and said, “Not inside,” and she had to give him ten kruner before he would let Itale ride inside the cab. Then she must climb into that cramped box with him and sit beside him, in uncontrollable aversion from and fear of his misery, his illness, his abjectness. He sat crouching, the hairless head nodding when the cab jolted, the hands lying lax on his thighs very large and dead white, like the hands of the lieutenant in the warders’ room.


    Konevin, who rode with the driver, proved most serviceable when they reached the hotel. She had planned to spend the night at the hotel and then take Itale on in her carriage to her Sovena estate, fifty miles to the north; the first part of that plan was dropped without discussion. Konevin found her horses and a landaulet, and got the hotel people to make up a bed in Luisa’s carriage. When this was done it was late afternoon. Itale in her carriage, and she in the landaulet with her maid, set off one behind the other, down the steep streets of Rákava, out the old north gate, past the factories, onto the long downslope of the highroad north.


    Roads were bad after the March rains. The Ras was in flood, and they had to go thirty miles out of their way to Foranoy, to cross at the bridge, and thirty miles back to the north road, so they were three nights and two days getting to their destination. The sick man continued most of the time in the same lassitude and indifference, asleep or in stupor, but when they arrived in the early morning he was feverish and could not walk at all. Luisa’s letter to the housekeeper had suffered the usual mail delay, so the house was half ready and half in cold disorder. It was raining. Luisa had the sick man put to bed, and sent for the doctor; but before he arrived she went to bed herself, worn out, and slept for twenty hours.


    The doctor, a sour man of the veterinary-barber-physician breed, said the patient was suffering a relapse brought on by the cold and discomfort of the journey. “Cold and discomfort,” Luisa repeated sarcastically, thinking of the walls of St Lazar; but she made no explanations to the doctor, having learned already, from the guards at the prison gate, from the cabdriver, from her maid, from her own feelings, not to mention jail. If the doctor knew, or could admit that he knew, where his patient had spent the last two years, he would consider both the man and the woman whose house he was in with contempt. He would take her money of course and provide his services, but he would hold himself superior. Good men do not get put in jail.


    Why was it like this, why was all her triumph turned to shame and mere, wretched inconvenience? He lay there sick and stupid day after day. He had never even clearly recognised her, never said her name, he was utterly out of reach, his mind gone. She did not dare ask the doctor if that blank stupor was caused by the disease or not, if it might lessen if the disease were cured, what hope of recovery there was. She looked into the sickroom once a day. She was unwilling to admit to herself that the sight of Itale now frightened and disgusted her, the bald head (shaved for lice, the doctor said), the blank look, the bony, yellowish body restless and yet slack. If she must look at that sick body it would take the place of the remembered lover, the young man in his strength. Those few nights, those few hours that she held to be the chief treasure of her life, the only time she had ever touched another person, would be tainted, degraded, with the prison taint, the smell of sickness and mortality. She would have nothing left at all. She must cling to the past, and to the future, when he would be himself again. But this was the future that she had dreamed of so long: Itale freed, the two of them here in the lonely house in the returning spring.


    It went on raining. They could not keep the house warm. The old housekeeper was ill and querulous; the steward of the estate came daily with questions she could not answer intelligently and justifications for loans, purchases, and sales he had made which she knew nothing about. The doctor came and went, silent and sour, with his bottle of fat black leeches. She rode out daily on one of the stiff-kneed old horses; there had been no hunters or riders to keep up the stables for many years. The peasant tenants went about their business, indifferent to the presence or absence of the landowner. She knew no one any longer in the town, six miles away, where her grandfather had laid the foundations of his fortune speculating on wartime food prices, and had been a great man. Bored and wretchedly lonely, Luisa felt as she had when she was a child here: shoved aside, forgotten. Yet it was she who had isolated herself, telling no one her plans, so that she and Itale could be alone for once. . . . She wrote to Enrike, in Vienna, that he must take his leave early and come spend it at the estate. “I must have you here,” she wrote. “I am at my wits’ end.”


    Never had the trials and setbacks, the affronts and efforts of her long siege on the Krasnoy government so exhausted and defeated her as she had these two weeks since she went with the order of release to St Lazar. She knew now how much she had enjoyed that siege, the strategies and flatteries, the slow building-up of her influence, the outwitting of the malicious and outpacing of the stupid. She had, always with the single goal, though she might not speak or even think about it for days or weeks, made herself a considerable figure in the politics of the capital. She had done small and great favors for men and women less astute than herself; she had got her brother his diplomatic post in Vienna; she had become a friend of the grand duchess, and a friend of the rabble-rousing deputy Stefan Oragon; Prime Minister Cornelius came to her house on Roches Street for conversation with clever and discreet people; the new minister of finance, Raskayneskar of Val Altesma, had proposed marriage to her as a speculation that would profit them both. The Krasnoy Intelligencer was full of gossip about her, but no one had made a slander, personal or political, stick to her name. She had used all her gifts, used them gallantly, and made a complete, recognised conquest of her aim. She had conquered. And the conquest won by that brave career through the rooms and offices of the powerful, was this.


    The sight of the sick man, the memory of the sight of him, tormented her. Why must she be punished? Had she not worked to set him free, had she not succeeded? What was freedom, then? This desolation?


    The doctor had supplied a woman from town to look after Itale. One night when this nurse was downstairs eating her dinner Luisa went into the sickroom, driven by an angry restlessness. There was no light but that of a bright fire. She thought the sick man was asleep, but as she came near the bed he spoke: “Who’s there?”


    “I am,” she said. “Luisa. Do you know me?” She went up close to him, and spoke aloud, impatient and challenging. She could not see his face.


    He answered; his voice was weak but natural, his own voice. “I can’t remember,” he said. “Where’s Amadey?”


    She went cold and the breath stuck in her throat.


    “He is not here,” she whispered at last.


    The sick man paid no attention. He turned his head a little. The red firelight shone on the dry curve of his cheek. He lay there gazing straight ahead. Luisa went to a chair at the foot of the bed and sat down; she was shaky now, and soon stood up cautiously to leave the room. As she did so he gave a long sigh and murmured something, then spoke two words clearly: “The snow,” and lay silent again.


    She hurried out of the room, went to her own room, and stood at the window that looked out over the front garden. Between running clouds the full moon shone and faded. She saw the road, a straight, light streak between dark fields, leading away from the front gate. When she was a child she had seen that road, on which adults, visitors, her parents, came and went, as freedom: to be hers, her way, when the time came. She would be free to go, to come, as she liked, dependent upon no one. She went on that road now as she liked, she had her freedom. The word had lost its meaning, like the word love. Had she not loved Itale? and he her? But she did not know who he was. She had worked to free a man, and he was not that man who lay sick in the room in this house. What did it mean, that they had been lovers? What had she been to him? He did not know her. He had not said her name. He had asked for a dead man, and he had said, “The snow.” The memories, accretions, complexities, affections, anxieties, the trivial and immense world of which she had for a while been one element, she could hear fragments of that if she wanted to listen to his mind wandering in fever, but then where was she? Astray in a strange place, the world as Itale knew it, his world, of which she was not and had never been the center. To accept the limitless richness, the independence, of a being not her own, was to lose herself. She could not do it. She had never been able to do it but those few times, those hours, which she now denied. What was the good of that, of love so-called, of hands and bodies touching and meeting, all that, when this was the truth, this miserable isolation of the dying body—the sick animal?


    She dreamed that night that she was wandering in the streets of a town she had never seen, a town amongst the mountains, and the streets were packed snow; she could not find the place where she was to go, where the packhorse was stabled.


    The next day late in the afternoon a caller was announced as she came in from a long ride: Mr Sorde. She stared for a moment in pure bewilderment, almost panic, collecting her wits only when she saw the man waiting for her in the drawing room, a middle-aged provincial gentleman in black.


    She came forward, on guard. “I am Luisa Paludeskar.”


    The man bowed. “Emanuel Sorde, baroness.”


    “Itale’s father?”


    “His uncle. His father’s health doesn’t permit him to travel at present. I am sorry to intrude myself on you, baroness. May I see Itale?”


    She had not written Itale’s family, nor had she notified any of his friends in Krasnoy of anything beyond the fact of his release from prison. They had written to the family in the Montayna, and this man had travelled across the country simply on the chance that Itale was here. If he had not been here he would have found him wherever he was. He did not ask why she had not written, he did not care; he was simply resolute, he was going to see Itale. She took him upstairs at once.


    She left him in the sickroom and went to her room to change, in a dry, bitter mood. How long would it go on? Instead of love and secrecy, she had got sickness and loneliness. Instead of triumph, shame. Instead of Itale, his uncle for company. . . . It was a bad joke. Had she been wrong to look forward to Itale’s release as happiness, for her as well as for him? If she had not been seeking that happiness, how could she have carried on for two years and done all she had done to win his freedom? Where did the fault, the error lie?


    The uncle’s presence at dinner relieved her at least from the endless brooding over such questions. He was tired, and hungry, and preoccupied entirely with his nephew. His manner was stiff and wary, but essentially indifferent: she was not what interested him. She began to feel at ease with him. When they spoke of Itale’s illness she asked Emanuel Sorde a question she had never brought herself to ask the doctor. “Even when his fever is down, he . . . he doesn’t seem to notice things. . . .” She did not explain what it was she feared, but Sorde appeared to understand her, replying, “It’s the disease, I believe, baroness. It’s what the word typhus means. A stupor. It passes. What does your physician say?”


    She shook her head. “He won’t tell me even whether Itale is worse or better.”


    “The woman says his fever has been down the last two days.”


    She had not known that. She sat silent over her scarcely touched plate, while Sorde ate.


    “Baroness,” he said rather abruptly, “I saw Mr Brelavay as I came through Krasnoy. He told me what your modesty prevented your writing us. We are so deeply in your debt that it is presumption in me to speak of it.”


    She was taken aback; she answered without forethought. “I am not modest, Mr Sorde. I act in my own interest. Itale was my friend. That friend was taken from me; I acted to get him back. That’s all.”


    Surprising her again, the provincial lawyer simply smiled and raised his glass with a slight, formal bow of the head. He was, she realised, like Itale, formidable.


    “All I ask,” she said, “is to see Itale as he was.”


    “That we will not see, baroness.”


    “But he is recovering—?”


    “I hope so— I dare think so, having seen him, changed as he is. But I do not hope ever to see him as he was.”


    He finished eating, laid down his fork quietly, across the plate, country style. He was hateful in his provincial, middle-aged self-assurance. He did not care for her. He did not care what she lost. He was old, and like all the old did not care for the future, did not believe in it.


    But if he was right, if Itale was changed, would not be the same again, what future was she looking for? —Again the figure of the warders’ room, pitiful and repulsive, stood between her and the handsome, kindly boy who had been her lover: as if the fever had burnt up all that image like paper, like a bit of paper money in a fire. What was left? The old man, the uncle, was right. They were always right. There was nothing left of Itale but that man upstairs, whom she did not know, whom she did not want to look at, or be near.


    II


    A bar of morning sunlight slanted across the bed. The cool gold bathed his hands. Outside the window swallows dipped and swooped, building their nests in the eaves above. He could not watch them long, his eyes blurred, dazzled by the light.


    Emanuel was in the armchair, with a book open on his knees, but presently engaged in trimming his fingernails, with a pleasurable concentration on the act.


    “How’s Perneta?”


    Emanuel looked up keenly, then returned to his trimming-job as he answered, “Very well indeed. A grandnephew of hers came up from Solariy last year, that’s her brother Karel’s daughter’s son, Karel Kidre he’s called, nice young fellow. Gives her a good deal of pleasure to have a relation to spoil. He’s in our office, in fact he’s supposed to be looking after some of my more onerous recurrent duties while I’m here, those damned property lines in Val Modrone. Nothing like a three-generation-long boundary dispute to keep a lawyer cheerful. But I imagine young Karel’s mostly out at Valtorsa, if the weather there’s like this.”


    “Count Orlant?”


    “He’s fine. Piera is the attraction.”


    “Piera?”


    “You haven’t forgotten Piera.”


    “She’s married. Aisnar.”


    “How did you know that story? That’s right, you knew about it before we did—saw her in Aisnar, didn’t you? No, she broke the engagement. They were to be married at Christmas and it was put off till spring and then all at once it was off altogether. That must have been a little while after you were arrested. Never did understand the whys and wherefores. At any rate she’s still not married. Count Orlant lets her do exactly as she pleases, of course, always has. Lets her manage the property, in fact; I’ve handled several matters for her the last couple of years. She is a much better manager than her father, I have to admit. But I don’t know what’s got into these young women. Here’s Laura wanting to do the same thing, as if Guide would let her, and she hasn’t the head for it at all. What do they want to be stewards for? what’s wrong with marriage and a family these days? Handsome women they are, too, both of ’em. Wasteful. . . .”


    Emanuel’s voice was deliberate, serene, long pauses between sentences. Itale listened, watching the sunlight on the red cover of the eiderdown on the bed: a dark red, somewhat faded; the fine threads caught the light in infinitesimal streaks of silver. The worn satin was very soft under his fingers. Warmth; softness; sunlight; color; these absorbed him; he must relearn them, little by little. Emanuel’s presence, his voice, his hands, that was the buoy, the raft. It was Emanuel’s touch that had first brought him back from the endless, limitless wanderings of fever: a hand held out, literally drawing him back, holding him in life. And his voice, now, talking easily, meandering among all the names of home.


    A week or so later Luisa came up in the evening to sit with them. Itale was propped up a little so that he could watch the fire in the hearth. The lymphatic swellings that had followed the typhus fever were much reduced, and he was comfortable, able to enjoy warmth and rest. Emanuel and Luisa talked a little; he did not pay attention to what they said. She turned to him. “Itale, do you remember the trip from Rákava?”


    He thought a while. “No.”


    “We had to come round by Foranoy because of the floods. None of the ferries could cross.”


    “No. . . . But when . . . the day I came out. It was bright.”


    “Yes, it was sunny, between storms. Windy.”


    “I saw the sun.”


    “Did you never see the sun in prison?” Emanuel asked, without emphasis, but Itale did not answer.


    He never spoke of the twenty-six months in St Lazar, and Emanuel did not press him, saying to Luisa, “It’s best he puts it behind him, no doubt.”


    As he grew stronger he did not talk much more. He asked very few questions even of Emanuel, none of Luisa. She left a copy of Novesma Verba on his table, but did not know whether he read it. When he was able to get up, his desire was simply to get outside, to be outside, sitting at first, later able to walk a little in the wild, half-ruined gardens. People of the estate stared at him, tall and unearthly thin still, with his stubble-covered head, a strange figure.


    The night before Enrike was to arrive—for he had faithfully answered her plea with a promise to spend part of his leave with her, coming straight, or as straight as possible, from Vienna—she said to Emanuel, “Mr Sorde, I need your advice.”


    “Not on anything very important,” Emanuel said drily, and she took the compliment and smiled. They did not like each other, and had come to respect each other’s wit and willpower, and indeed take considerable pleasure in it.


    “It is very important.”


    “Itale or estate law?”


    “Itale.”


    “Good.”


    “Is he strong enough to hear bad news?”


    “I don’t know, baroness. What is the matter?”


    “You know that he was a friend of Estenskar, the poet. They were close friends. Estenskar is dead. He killed himself a month or two after Itale was arrested. He probably never knew about the arrest; he was under surveillance too, we now know, his mail was stopped, they were trying to make a charge against him. After his death his brother was arrested and held for a couple of months, and finally released without any charges. Itale stayed with them just before he went to Rákava. So far as I know, he was never told, he doesn’t know that Estenskar is dead. Have you ever mentioned it? has he said anything?”


    “No,” Emanuel said with a shake of the head. He clasped his hands and looked down at them, grim. “I’ll tell him, if you like,” he said. “I doubt he’s entirely unprepared.”


    “No; thank you for offering to take the burden, but you should not darken your last days with him. I knew Estenskar. I’ll tell him after you’re gone. If you think he is . . .”


    “Oh, he’s hard, baroness,” Emanuel said, still speaking grimly. “He can take it. I think he can take almost anything, now. What he cannot do is give. If you can spare him that, if you can shield him from having to make choices and decisions for a bit longer, let him be here away from people, you’ll have done more for him than that horse-faced doctor did.”


    Taking his own advice, Emanuel left that week without ever asking Itale what he intended to do when he left the Sovena. Itale tried to raise the subject himself, the night before Emanuel was to go. “You’re sure that father is all right?”


    “You read your mother’s letter.”


    “You’ve both been sparing me.”


    “No, not really. I believe I told you almost exactly what Dr Charkar told us. His heart is not strong, neither is it actually unsound. He is as active as he ever was, within sensible limits. After all, he is over sixty.”


    “That is the problem,” Itale said; and Emanuel frowned.


    “Listen, Itale, there is no need for you to decide anything yet, just because I’m off home. Stay here as long as you can, find out where your course lies, don’t let yourself be forced into anything.”


    Itale looked at him and then looked away. “Would I be welcome,” he said, so indistinctly and speaking so much aside that Emanuel did not at first understand him, and when he did answered without thinking, shocked, “Of course, don’t be foolish,” brushing aside the question, which only much later, when he was hours gone and well started on his way back home, returned suddenly into his mind, so clearly now and so painfully that he all but cried out aloud, “My God, Itale, how can you ask that? What have they done to you that you can ask that?”


    Enrike Paludeskar had arrived a few days earlier, in a wild rainstorm on the first of May, very much out of sorts. He had loyally come to his sister’s call, but that did not prevent him from resenting her expectation that he would coop himself up in the dreary house in the Godforsaken provinces with her and a convicted seditionist fresh from jail. She had no sense, she refused to realise that she was imperilling his position, his career, by making him come here, and indeed by insisting upon keeping Sorde here even while he Enrike was in Vienna or Krasnoy. He impressed this upon her pretty forcibly and at length, but when Itale came into the room he turned, stared, and then put out his hand. His heavy face had gone pale. He tried to say something but could not; he shook Itale’s hand, and put his left hand timidly on his shoulder, then awkwardly pulled away. “I hear, I hear you’ve been ill,” he said stammering.


    He never succeeded after that in looking Itale in the face or talking naturally with him. Fortunately Itale spoke very little, and Enrike did not have to try to explain his guilt and revulsion to Luisa. He could not make it out. It was the government, the commonplace, decent men he worked with, whom Sorde had been trying to subvert; it was the same government, the same decent men, who had taken Sorde and done this to him. It was incredible, unreasonable. He could not solve the problem, and Itale, by embodying it, made him miserable.


    “How do you like your work in Vienna?” Itale asked him once, conventionally enough, and Enrike gasped and groped— “It’s—interesting, and all that— I don’t do anything significant, really—open letters, you know, and all that—”


    “Harry,” Luisa put in, drawling, “you mean you censor the mail?”


    “No, no, no, nothing of that sort, for God’s sake, Luisa! What do you think I am? No, official letters, letters to the ambassador—dispatches and that sort of thing!”


    He said nothing more to Luisa about sending Sorde away. He planned to leave himself, however, as soon as he could. Luisa did not need him, anyhow; she had begun collecting acquaintances as she always did, a crazy mixed lot, but she always mixed her lots.


    These were neighbors, some of them neighbors at a distance of thirty miles, but they thought nothing of riding clear across the province if a full table and a hot political discussion awaited them at ride’s end. Duke Matiyas Sovenskar, heir to the Orsinian throne, lived on his enormous estate twenty miles to the north, and no one forgot his presence though he had not left that estate for years. The province was thick with retired officers of the defunct national army, old now but still bitter. Their club, the Friends of the Constitution, had lately been revived in emulation of the young liberals in the capital. They sounded out Luisa cautiously, until they found who the man staying with her was. In Krasnoy she was considered a woman who had liberal friends but whose influence lay in conservative circles; in the Sovena, because Sorde was with her, they took her for a radical patriot. Enrike protested, accused her of hypocrisy and of meddling with things she didn’t understand, was reminded that she had despite her lack of understanding meddled him into his diplomatic post, and left, defeated as always.


    Luisa had begun to enjoy herself again. Grey-headed ex-colonels fought Leipzig over in the echoing salon, while their sons, landowners of the rich Sovena estates, toasted first Duke Matiyas—“Sovenskar, the Constitution, the Nation!” and then their hostess. Baron Agrikol Laravey-Gotheskar, six foot two and black-mustached, broad-chested, magnificent, drank to her and smashed his glass into the fireplace. She missed the weight of such men as Raskayneskar or Johann Cornelius, whose benign manners concealed real political power, yet she liked these noisy, quarrelsome Northerners. Their power was only personal, but it was immediate. She wanted to laugh whenever Laravey-Gotheskar smashed another wine glass, and yet she was stirred, her eyes met his fiery gaze. “Baron, your flattery has cost me three pieces of my grandmother’s crystal,” she told him, and he, furious as she expected, “Flattery! You misjudge me, baroness!”—and stalked off frowning tremendously to sulk, until the nearby discussions turned the course of his passions and he threw himself into the fray shouting, “But Vienna will hear no voice, gentlemen, but the voice of blood and iron!”


    They were all, even Laravey-Gotheskar, very gentle with Itale. He took no part in their discussions, and generally excused himself early from the company. There was no need to explain or excuse his silence and withdrawal; the reason was all too visible, though he had been gaining a little weight and color as spring turned to the clear, bright northern summer. He still spent all day outdoors if he could. He could walk and ride a little; he talked with people on the estate; there was no reason, Luisa thought, why he could not talk with these men, his equals in education and like him in background and opinions. What kept him silent, then?


    “There is a chance Laravey-Gotheskar might get the vacant seat for the Sovena. You could tell him so much he needs to know about the Assembly, Itale. He is extraordinarily naive.”


    “I’m not the one to tell him.”


    “Why not? Who knows more about it than you? The mistakes you could save him from making—”


    “But I don’t know about it. I’m out of date. I didn’t even know till recently that Amiktiya had been suppressed. I can’t seem to take things in.” He looked at her for a moment, diffident. “And Estenskar,” he said, very low, as if apologetic.


    It was three weeks since she had told him of Estenskar’s death. He had taken the news quietly and spoken of it quietly, asked questions, and then let it drop. She was disturbed by his mentioning Estenskar now, inappropriately.


    “I wish you would help Laravey-Gotheskar. He’s very young, very naive, but not stupid. I should think he is exactly the kind of man young people want in the Assembly.”


    “He is.”


    “He reminds me sometimes of you. When you were fresh down from your mountains.”


    Itale smiled a little forcedly, and she realised that she had hurt him by the comparison.


    But everything hurt him, it seemed, and he was afraid of everything. He dodged away, evaded, withdrew; he would not commit himself, would not participate. The only person he had sought out for himself was the Lutheran pastor of the village, an amateur mathematician, an uncouth elderly misogynist. He and Itale would sit out in the garden with a book or two, the pastor explaining, Itale listening, a lesson in gibberish—calculus, binomials, God knows what. When Luisa’s impatience expressed itself in mild sarcasm, Itale explained stiffly that he had tried to occupy his mind with mathematics “before he was ill,” and finding he knew very little had wanted very much to learn more. “I can do that now,” he said. She had to let him and his pastor be. But he could not sit forever in the garden pretending to be a schoolboy again, evading all the problems about which he had been so passionate, the cause for which he had suffered, avoiding her.


    There was a houseful of guests; in the evening, when once again Itale escaped again as early as he could, she felt some resentment or humiliation, and said to Laravey-Gotheskar, “If only I could interest him in all the things that meant so much to him!” The young baron, deaf to her self-pity and tolerating no criticism of the hero, frowned. “We talk, we talk, why should he listen? He has lived’ what we talk about!” Luisa was pleased. Itale had used to scold her that way, but no longer; Laravey-Gotheskar was the first man in years to give her a moral rebuke. “I’m afraid it was my disappointment speaking,” she answered meekly, “I miss him when he hides himself away.” —“Of course,” said the young man, and brooded, sunk in an awful tangle of enthusiasm, admiration, and jealousy, exactly where Luisa wanted him.


    It was the trouble with him. For all his unpredictable pride, she could put him where she wanted him. There were only two men whom she had never been able to bend to her whim, though one had twice asked her in marriage and would ask her again if he thought it any use, and the other had been her lover: George Helleskar and Itale. Helleskar had taught her all she had ever known of fidelity; Itale had given her, a few times, for a little while, fulfilment. He had freed her, then, as she had freed him.


    Why was that not enough, to be free and set free, to unlock the doors?


    When her guests had left, and she must face again the long days of silence, a seeming intimacy that was increasing estrangement, she found herself angry with Itale, impatient; it was time he pulled himself together. “Why will you not talk to them?” she demanded. “They believe all you used to believe—do you hold yourself above them?”


    He looked at her with an incredulity that shamed her for a moment.


    “What can I say to them?” he asked, in the diffident tone she disliked in him.


    “Have you lost your faith in the power of words, then? Or in the Constitution, and impartial law, and all the rest of it, all you went to jail for—has that become unimportant to you, like everything else?”


    “Like everything else?”


    “You are indifferent to them, to me, to everything.”


    He had no answer.


    “You won’t even speak. How am I to know anything of you, or you of me, after this—this time—”


    “What can I say?” he repeated, rigid, obdurate, and she realised with horror that he was holding nothing back from her: that he was in fact unable to speak. He was hard, Emanuel Sorde had said, but it was the hardness of rock, without resilience, mere ultimate coherence like a rock that is itself until it is broken. She could break him. He had no defense. He could do no more than resist her, withstand her, who had freed him and was now his jailer.


    On St John’s Eve the wide horizon of the night flared with scattered bonfires. Every village, every outlying farm had its fire. Bagpipes droned by the crackling, lurid stacks of heath and straw, the young men and women danced, the old men drank; the night was full of voices, noises, half-lit, running figures. Luisa stood with her maid in the zone between darkness and firelight, and watched the girls of the village tuck up their skirts and leap across the coals, in the rite as old as the fields they worked, the leap across the fire from barrenness to fertility. The older women watching laughed and shouted obscene encouragement. Men were quarreling already over by the big fire, working up to the fight that always followed drinking. Luisa watched, repelled, excited, envious, contemptuous, until Agata, who found it all frightening, made her come away. When she was back at the house she felt stifled indoors, and went out again at once to walk in the garden, watching the distant glare and dying of the fires.


    “Luisa.”


    She stopped short. He stood not far from her, on a path by an overgrown hedge which made a mass of blackness in the cloudy moonlight; she could not see his face.


    “I didn’t want to startle you.”


    “You didn’t,” she said, though he had. “Who could be afraid on a night like this? Were you out to see the fires?”


    He came towards her and stopped again. He was bareheaded in the warm night. He stood there tall and patient, and again she saw the grotesque and pitiful figure of the warders’ room. Why must he look like that, why must he stand like that?


    “They were dancing at the bonfire in the village, it was exciting to see. The peasants here are pagans, underneath all their sour Lutheran twaddle. They’re not civilised at all.”


    “May I talk to you a moment, Luisa?”


    “Nothing would please me more!”


    “I think I should leave soon.”


    “I see. Well, that would certainly prevent any further conversation. . . .” She could not control her irritation, more than irritation, a blind anger with him.


    “You know that I am grateful,” he said very low.


    “For God’s sake, Itale! It’s not your gratitude I want. If you want to stay, stay, if you want to go, go. You’re free, you don’t seem to realise it. All I want is for you to realise it, to behave like it.”


    They walked on to the end of the path side by side. The moon, some nights past full, stood over the low black lands eastward. To the south four fires reddened the smoky darkness.


    “Your wanting to go implies, I gather, that you’ve decided we are no longer to be lovers.”


    He stopped and faced her. “I have decided? Luisa—” His voice shook. He took a breath, and with painfully evident effort said, “It has been decided for us.”


    “Nothing is decided for me. I make my own choices!”


    “Can you choose to want to touch me?”


    “What do you mean,” she said, terrified.


    He stood still, and she knew that he could say no more, and that it was the simplest thing in the world to prove him wrong: all she had to do was take his hand, touch his cheek, touch him. Or let him touch her.


    She took a step back from him.


    “It isn’t fair,” she said in a whisper. “It isn’t fair!”


    After a while he said, “I don’t know very well what’s fair any longer. I don’t want to cause you pain, Luisa. I never wanted to. And never did much else.”


    “Why must it be so stupid!” She looked at herself in the dim light, her shawl and the heavy skirt and flaring sleeves of her dress, her hands. “Why am I like this, why am I trapped in this? Why can’t I be free, free of it? Why can’t we do what we like?”


    “O my dear,” he said in shame and pain, and he held out his hands to her.


    “I wish I was dead,” she said, and turned, and walked away from him.


    In the morning when they met she was calm and polite. “Well, what shall we do, Itale?” she said. “Shall we effect a joint triumphal entry into the capital, or shall we go back one by one? How soon do you want to go?”


    “I don’t know.”


    “Are you well enough to ride, do you think?”


    He nodded.


    “I think I must stay for Laravey-Gotheskar’s party. He invited Duke Matiyas, I should love to see that old man. . . . Do you want to stay for that? it’s in two weeks. If not I don’t know why you shouldn’t go when you choose. Take old Sheikh, I suppose he’s the likeliest one of the old nags to last all the way to Krasnoy.”


    His gaze was on her, unhappy, the blue eyes.


    “Then I’ll follow in mid-July. Enrike goes back to Vienna then, I may go with him. I’ve learned not to stay in Krasnoy in the summer. It’s dead. Dead center of a defeated country. I hate defeat.”


    She looked at him as she spoke, and he looked down.


    “When shall you go, then?”


    “Tomorrow,” he said.


    “Very well.”


    “I haven’t much to take,” he said, getting up. “And all of it your gift. You know that, Luisa. The horse, the . . . the shirt, the life. . . .”


    But she would accept no comfort; not from him.


    He left in the early morning. She bade him farewell in the house, downstairs; he went out to the stables, she up to her room. She stood at the window and watched him ride out the gate and straight away down the straight road between the level fields. He looked back once, half turning in the saddle. She did not lift her hand.


    III


    Itale rode down from Grasse in late evening of the last day of June. Tired, on a tired horse, he rode through the drab fields of burdock, shards, shacks, tramps, sour earth, and into the long streets of the Trasfiuve, and crossed Old Bridge under the statue of St Christopher of the Wayfarers, remembering the morning of the autumn equinox three years ago. He put up at a small inn just off Molsen Boulevard, ordered dinner, and went to bed very soon after he had eaten. He would look up his friends, take up his life, tomorrow; tonight he wanted only to sleep. The room was small and with the curtains drawn very dark. He got up again at once and drew back the curtains, opened both the windows wide to the warm, noisy city night. He had almost fallen asleep when the bell of the cathedral, a few streets away, struck ten. After that he lay wide awake in the darkness suffering all the memories and presences of his time in Krasnoy from the moment when he had first heard that bell strike, the two years in which so much life had been compressed that they seemed to lie like a fiery bar of sunlight between the remote, long, quiet years in the shadow of the mountains and the unimaginable but immediate past, the twenty-seven months of darkness.


    As he breakfasted in the hot morning at a street cafe in the River Quarter he debated going back to the inn, lying low for another day. He had not got much rest; he mistrusted himself, his energy, his strength. What would he have to face, here? Riding from the Sovena he had been very nervous at first, avoiding every town entry and possible check-point that he could avoid, dreading the request to show his papers. That dread had lessened as he was, at one point and then another, checked cursorily and passed. But what was the situation here? He did not really know, and was apprehensive. However, he had to take Luisa’s horse to the Paludeskar stables in Roches Street; and he was going to have to get some money. He could not afford another night at the inn. Emanuel had loaned him fifty kruner, of which he had sixteen left in his pocket; less than he had arrived with the first time, five years ago. Less all round, he thought, coming back down from Old Quarter to the river and walking up the boulevard under the trees by the bright water. Less cash, less strength, less time to live; less of a man to stand up against the storming of the human world and the universe at his mind and body, the storm of light and wind and sensation and passion that never ceased, never rested, until death; for the walls of a building, a prison, were dust in that storm. He felt peculiarly slight, light, insubstantial as he walked up the wide street by the river, a flickering thing, exposed, uncertain. This mote, this speck between the sun in its gulfs of light and the earth with its long shadow, this was himself, Itale Sorde, and he was supposed to withstand the entire universe in order to remain himself; not only that, to do his job; to be a part of it. It was a strange business to be a man walking in the sunlight, stranger than to be a stone, or a river, or a tree holding up its branches in the July heat. They all knew what they were doing. He did not.


    He passed two little girls hurrying with their hard-breathing nurse towards the far mirage of a sherbet-vendor’s cart. He saw their pigtails bob on their thin shoulders. How long since he had seen a child? He had reached the office of Novesma Verba. He turned to the parapet and leaned his hands on it, watching the bright Molsen go towards the sea. So far to go from this inland country, my shoreless kingdom Amadey had called it in the Ode, so far to go for a bitter end, and nameless. . . . Come on, he said to himself, come on, Itale, and straightened up, turned, crossed the street, went up the stairs to the journal’s office. In his determination, and out of old habit, he did not knock but went straight in. A young fellow stepped out in front of him from behind the table: “What d’you want?”


    “Who’s here?” Itale said stammering, unnerved; he did not know whether he had forgotten this man, or never known him.


    “Mr Brelavay is busy with a visitor. I’m Vernoy.”


    He was young, twenty at most, and shone with self-confidence. Itale, vulnerable to every impression, was impressed by that youthfulness, and casting about for something to say asked, “Are you from Amiktiya?” Then he remembered that the student society had been put under ban and several of its leaders at the University in Krasnoy arrested, a few months before his release. It was a very stupid question, and the boy rapped out, “Who are you?”


    “Sorde, Itale Sorde. Sorry. I wanted—”


    “You’re Sorde?” Itale said yes, he was. Vernoy fell to pieces like wet paper, waved his hands, ran for Brelavay. Brelavay came, carrying his dark face like a long, ironical signboard on top of his long body, exactly the same, unchanged, so that Itale laughed with pure joy at the sight of him; but his friend, embracing him, sobbed and would not let him go.


    “Here, come on, Tomas. . . .”


    They could not look at each other.


    “Come on. Wait, here it is.” Brelavay found his handkerchief and blew his nose. “Almighty Christ, Itale,” he said tenderly. “What did you have?”


    “Have?”


    “What were you ill with?”


    “Typhus.”


    “No joke, eh?”


    “Not a very good one.”


    “Here, come along, why are we standing around my handkerchief like a scene from Othello? Sangiusto’s in here, remember him, Itale? Almighty Christ! to say your name again! —Where are you staying? I didn’t try to write you in the Sovena, your baroness said better not to when she wrote, has to watch her reputation, political of course. She kept you hidden there long enough. I expect you needed it.” He had his arm around Itale’s shoulders and was steering him into the composing-room, where, considerably shaken by his own feelings and Brelavay’s, Itale found himself returning a handshake and looking into a face that completed his confusion by bringing around him the moonlight, the sound of fountains, Luisa’s voice, Piera’s voice, the carriages on Fontarmana Street. When all that subsided he was sitting down feeling a little sick, and the others were around him looking concerned. “Sorry, I’m still shaky—how are you, Sangiusto?”


    “Very well, Sorde.”


    “You’re staying in Krasnoy?”


    “Yes, since two weeks. I’m tired of England, I come here,” said the Italian. He spoke mostly in the present tense; his voice was calm, his manner relaxed, and in his smile there was a hint of complicity. Itale felt at ease with him at once. “But it’s not the same mood here as in ’27, even in Aisnar. It’s agitated . . . bad-tempered. But who knows? I come from England. Everyone on the Continent is agitated and emotional, neh?”


    “What about Paris?” Brelavay asked.


    “Oh, well, Paris. The Ultras, Royer-Collard, Article Fourteen, lovers, chestnut trees, old men catching little fishes in the Seine, Paris is always the same and who can predict of her?” They laughed, and again Sangiusto shot a quick accomplice’s glance at Itale. With some sense of playing a role, Itale asked the questions Brelavay had a right to expect him to ask: about recent events, political trends and changes. “If there’s any change,” Brelavay said, “it’s a change of mood, as Sangiusto said. Underneath—in people, in the people. On top, nothing. The ministry’s the same except for Raskayneskar replacing Tarven, the Assembly mumbles on, the grand duchess is ill—maybe—not ill—maybe; all rumor.”


    “But three years ago there were no rumors,” said Sangiusto.


    Taxes were heavier, Brelavay went on, political arrests increasingly common, “administrative sentences” without trial or term had been introduced, the student society and several other groups had been put under ban, censorship was massive and all mail likely to be read, there had been two bad harvests and unemployment in the cities of the east and center was high. “Some cause for bad temper,” Itale said.


    “They blame it all on the Assembly. Even the bad harvests.”


    “Your Assembly is the expiatory—what do you call it, the scapegoat for Austria; the prime minister sees to that.”


    “How’s Oragon been doing?” Itale asked.


    “Damn Oragon,” Brelavay said. “He’s not our Danton, Itale. He’s our Talleyrand. A demagogic one—the shit’s in a wooden shoe instead of a silk stocking— The nation be hanged, if Stefan Oragon can climb a little higher on the gallows!”


    “Luisa said that my pardon was largely due to him.”


    “It was. He needs our good press, and you were the price he had to pay for it.”


    “Well. How . . . How is Frenin?”


    “Fine. He’s in Solariy.”


    “For the paper?”


    “Living there.”


    “In Solariy? What’s going on there?”


    “What always did. Students, cattle fairs, everybody asleep by nine. He’s a grain shipper. Doing well, I hear. He left Krasnoy a few weeks after we heard you’d been arrested.” Itale still looked blank. “He got cold feet,” Brelavay said gently.


    Brelavay, Frenin, Itale had been friends long before they thought of coming to the capital, and it had been Frenin who brought them, Frenin who said, how long ago, in the park by the blue Molsen in the sunlight, “I’m thinking of Krasnoy. . . .”


    It was an old bitterness to Brelavay, to Itale a blow; he could not escape the conviction that to have suffered, to have submitted to evil, though he had had no way at all to refuse it, had made him a cause of evil. It was because of him that Frenin had given up. In the conscious and painful acceptance of this responsibility, he sat silent for a minute; he weighed a broken inkstand that was on the table in his hand, and said finally, “Tomas, did you . . . do you know anything about Isaber?”


    “Absolutely no trace. Nothing. They denied consistently, from the beginning, that he was in St Lazar; claimed he’d been released with an order to get out of the province. Beyond that, nothing.”


    He had lived with the boy’s death for two years in prison; he had not known till the hope was taken from him how much hope he had kept, hidden, that when he came out he would find it had been a mistake, a cruel hoax, a nightmare of his own, and Isaber was alive.


    This also, this inescapably, was his responsibility; he was answerable for this death.


    Brelavay asked him nothing, seeing that he was distressed and assuming that he knew even less than they about what had become of the boy. Sangiusto stood up, stretching, and said in English, “To fresh fields and pastures new. . . . I have eaten nothing.”


    “Come on, I told Givan I’d meet him at the Illyrica at one,” Brelavay said, relieved to get away from the unlucky subject.


    Givan Karantay had not changed; he was dark and warm as a banked fire. They sat two hours over their coffee-cups, talking. Two or three young men came up and asked if they might be introduced to Mr Sorde. Itale shook their hands and was short with them; they went humbly away.


    “You’re their hero, their Valtura, dear fellow,” said Karantay.


    “God forbid!”


    “God forbid indeed,” Brelavay said. “Valtura’s dead. Died in the Spielberg in ’28.”


    “Where Silvio Pellico, who knew Byron, is now,” said Sangiusto in his calm voice. “There must be good company in the Spielberg prison.” Now Itale knew why Sangiusto looked at him as if there were a tacit bond between them. There was. Sangiusto had spent three years in the Piombi in Venice as a political prisoner. Brelavay, Karantay, the young men wanted to hear and dared not ask about his jail term. Sangiusto did not want to hear, did not need to ask. Foreigner, exile, he was Itale’s compatriot.


    Arguments concerning Stefan Oragon surfaced occasionally, and in the course of one of them Sangiusto put in, “But he is a professional, isn’t he? and you are amateurs, myself too. The coups d’état are made by professionals. They succeed. The revolutions are made by amateurs.”


    “And fail?” Brelavay inquired.


    “Of course!”


    “But listen, Sangiusto,” Karantay said, “the words are good, it was amateurs that made ’89, all right. The crowds, the people that walked to Versailles and took the Bastille. And the Assembly, the Girondins, the Jacobins, they were lawyers, provincial men of letters, not politicians. But as they learned their trade, as they became professional, the Revolution began to fail, to lead inevitably towards the coup d’état that betrayed it.”


    “They did never learn their trade,” the Italian said. “Robespierre is always an amateur. The professional is Napoleon. The question is really this, what is failure, what is success? The Revolution failed, yes, and Napoleon is a very successful man, a conqueror, an emperor, but it was the failure, not the success, that gives hope to our life.”


    “Vivre libre, ou mourir,” Itale said, and laughed.


    “Exactly, Vergniaud. A professional lawyer, very successful in his profession. A nice lazy fellow, an amateur deputy, unsuccessful. Sklk!” Sangiusto cut his throat with the side of his hand. “A fine career cut short. But first he told us to live free or die. Why did you laugh, Sorde?”


    “Found I’d rather stay alive even if not free.”


    “Of course. For two years, three years. Or longer. But here we are now, alive and free.”


    “Alive,” Itale said.


    His money problem had been promptly solved, as Brelavay told him peremptorily that he had twenty-eight months’ wages waiting at Novesma Verba. “It’s been very useful, the most cash we ever kept on hand, I don’t know how many loans we’ve made from it to get people over a thin time. But they always repaid because it was your money, if it was my money or our money they’d have embezzled freely. . . .” Karantay had asked him to come share his rooms; he hesitated. “A friend was keeping my old rooms for me when I went to Rákava. I should go see whether he’s there.”


    Karantay went with him into the River Quarter, past St Stephen’s and the Street of Hangman’s Feast, the swarming courts and alleys under toppling houses in the shadow of the Hill of the University. “No change here,” Itale remarked. “Not for five hundred years,” said Karantay. At 9 Mallenastrada, Mrs Rosa, cat-beleaguered, greeted her long-lost tenant without warmth. “Your things are here, Mr Sorde. I’ll be glad to have ’em out of my way.”


    “Is Mr Brunoy here?”


    She looked him up and down. “No.”


    She knew him to be a jailbird. But his voice and clothing said gentleman. She wanted him to be a gentleman, she had had enough of jailbirds in her life, but she could not trust him; he had let her down, and her voice was vindictive as she said, “He died here, two years ago. Kounney’s got the rooms.”


    “I see,” Itale said. After a moment he asked submissively if Kounney was in. Mrs Rosa stood aside, and he and Karantay climbed the dark rickety stairs. Kounney came from behind his loom: “We was very sorry to hear, Mr Sorde,” he said. “It’s good to see you.” Itale shook his hand, and stopped to play with the baby, not born when he left and now a solemn two-year-old. The delicate face, the dark eyes gazed into Itale’s. “What’s her name, Kounney?”


    “It’s a him, he’s on the small side, makes him look like a girl. We called him Liyve. There’s a couple of things I kept for you here.” Kounney rummaged in the other room and returned with a small packet of papers which he gave to Itale: several letters written from Malafrena in the autumn of 1827, and a scrap of paper, one downhill scrawl of barely readable writing on it—“Prometheus no chains eternal.”


    “Mr Brunoy wrote that for you a day or two before he died,” Kounney said.


    Itale gave it to Karantay and walked away to the window.


    “Did you know him, Givan?” he asked.


    “Not well. He used to come to the office for word of you.”


    Itale stood with his back turned. “He was an upright man.”


    “That he was,” said the weaver. “And a good death. He couldn’t talk when he wrote you that, but at the end he spoke; he raised up and said, ‘I’m ready,’—like a bridegroom going to his wedding. I looked to see who he was talking to. And he lay back quiet and content, and his breath caught like, and he died. I wished the priest had stayed. I never saw a better death.”


    “Aye,” Itale said. “It was what he knew how to do.”


    He took the slip of paper back from Karantay and slipped it folded into the back of his watch.


    “How does it go, Kounney?”


    “I’ve kept working.” He looked up at Itale. “We’re in your rooms now, there being six of us we spread out a bit, but if you want—”


    “No, I won’t be coming back, Kounney. Did she raise the rent on you?”


    “No, and she didn’t ask rent of Mr Brunoy at the end, so that the little he had put by for it and the books and his watch paid to bury him. She’s all right. Knows when times are hard.”


    Kneeling, Itale put out his hand to the frail, solemn little boy in his sexless, shapeless, worn dress. “Goodbye, Liyve,” he said. The contrast in size of their hands was too much; he touched the child’s cheek. He stood up, shook hands with Kounney, bidding him goodbye.


    They went on to Karantay’s rooms south of the Eleynaprade. Karantay had kept a letter for Itale from Amadey Estenskar, dated February 6, 1828. Itale began to read it, laid it down, and put his head in his hands. “I can’t read any more letters from the dead,” he said.


    Karantay had the top floor of a house, a set of big rooms, sparsely furnished, with high, large windows. Itale paced down the uncarpeted floor and back, and sat down again, wearily.


    “They all died today,” he said.


    “They haven’t been very good years, these last two or three,” Karantay said gently.


    “What’s wrong—what is it that’s wrong, Givan?”


    “I don’t know. Speaking for myself, nothing. I go on writing, it’s all I care about, you know, really. I make a living by it; I’m going to get married in September.”


    “Married! —To Karela?”


    Karantay nodded. He had been in love a long time, and had never been willing to talk about it; Itale could not tell even now whether his reticence expressed coolness of feeling, or suppressed a happiness he felt egoistical and unseemly.


    “So as I say, I have all I have ever asked for, for myself. But for us all together, they haven’t been good years. You in jail, Amadey dead, Frenin giving up. . . . Who can blame him? We knew all along we were pounding our heads on a stone wall trying to knock it down. But one’s head gets sore. And addled. . . . Then there’ve been so many searches. And summonses—Tomas has been called up three times now. And these damnable administrative sentences, they frighten us all. And the censorship so heavy I wonder why anybody still bothers to read Verba, sometimes. . . . But they do read it. Our subscription list has doubled in the last year and a half. And there are young men coming up, and men like Sangiusto—there are more of us than there used to be. It’s only that the waiting’s long, and we’ve never known for certain what it is we’re waiting for. No change there. But we’re a couple of years older.”


    Itale smiled. The kind sobriety of Karantay’s temper refreshed him now as always. “Waiting . . .” he said. “That’s not true of you, Givan. You have your work. But I have never worked. I’ve only made ready.”


    “The time will come, Itale.”


    “Will it? Is there any time but now?”


    Karantay did not answer.


    “I don’t know, Givan. I have lost—I have no right to speak of this.”


    “You have earned the right to speak of anything.”


    “No. That’s exactly it. I have earned nothing—nothing. You don’t earn, you don’t gain, where I was, Givan. You lose. You lose the right to talk to people who have—who believe in the powers of light— What I learned there was that I have no rights, and infinite responsibility.”


    “That would be infinite injustice. It’s false, Itale.”


    “I would rather trust you than myself,” Itale said. “I wish I could. I was—I was a better man, before—” He cut himself off, standing up abruptly. “I’m very tired, maybe I should lie down for a while.”


    He went off to the spare room. At eight Karantay looked in to go out to supper with him. He was sound asleep, and Karantay hesitated to waken him. He looked down at Itale’s face, worn and sleep-submerged, and then out the uncurtained, open window westward over roofs and gables and chimneystacks, the high view smoky and shadowed in long evening light. It was hot; there was no wind. Karantay stood there beside the friend he had not hoped to see again, wishing that there would be a wind off the river, darkness, rain. But the weather was steady, it would not change. On the bureau a silver watch lay open. It said two-thirty. Karantay tapped it, but it did not run. He spoke to Itale at last, rousing him, and they went down to the inn where Karantay took his meals.


    


    July passed, a long, hot July, and August came in hot. Itale was still with Karantay. The novelist had pressed him to stay, and he had yielded easily, lacking any real wish to go out and find himself a room. The impermanence of the arrangement, Karantay’s affectionate, reserved companionship, suited him. Companionship, friendship, he wanted very much, but he could not take hold here, he could not recommit himself to anything but his friends. He waited, irresolute, drifting, and increasingly tense, though his health continued to improve; taking comfort in being with Karantay, Brelavay, Sangiusto, and the others; waiting for alternate Mondays when the mail from the Montayna Diligence came in; waiting to decide where he was going to stay in Krasnoy and whether he was going to stay in Krasnoy; waiting, he did not know for what.


    George Helleskar was travelling in Germany, not due back for a few weeks. Itale had gone to pay his respects to the old count and had been received with emotion that was painful to him. The tough old man was over eighty now, and his invitation was pleading: “You could stay here, you know, I’ve lost count of the rooms standing empty. . . .” He asked about Luisa, and even mentioned Estenskar, whom he had never liked. “A bit of the real fireworks, that lad. One fine burst and it was over. He had the sense to know it, and not go sputtering on for fifty years, boring the cosmos. . . .”


    “I wonder if most of us don’t bore the cosmos,” Itale said to Karantay as they strolled back through the Eleynaprade in the fag end of the warm evening.


    “It’s my profession,” said the novelist. “Anyhow, I’d rather bore it than be bored by it.”


    A man in what had been a respectable coat came up to them begging; Itale talked with him a while. “That’s a new trade for him,” he said when the man had gone off with their small joint contribution. “How many out of work now? One of every three or four, I should think.”


    “Vernoy says the river-docks are working less than half the men this summer.”


    “So’s the Assembly,” Itale said with a glance at the Sinalya Palace looming pale and somber behind the splendid chestnut alleys.


    “I wonder why the grand duchess has shut herself up in the Roukh.”


    “Afraid of demonstrations, Oragon says.”


    “The Sinalya is more vulnerable. I wonder what it is she really fears.”


    “Damned Austrian cow in the throne room of Egen the Great. She needs to be taught her place.”


    Karantay laughed. “You’re fierce, lately.”


    “So’s everyone else. It’s hot. We’re tired. My God! we’re tired. Will it ever change? I came here five years ago. All that time—all my life, all our lives, Givan—since we were born, the net’s been drawing tighter, the air’s been getting staler, there’s been less and less room to move. Europe is like a pond in drought, drying up. . . .”


    “And the Austrian cattle drinking the last of the water,” said Karantay. They walked on. An owl flew across the path in front of them from one oak to another, hunting, soft as a tossed ball of dark wool in the dusk.


    Brelavay, who had taken over Itale’s editorship of Novesma Verba, wanted to give it back to him, but Itale had temporised, and most of the others agreed with him that they had to be cautious: he was, after all, a convicted seditionist, and any public act put both himself and his collaborators at risk. He had drawn enough to live on out of the fund that Brelavay insisted was his back wages, but was not currently on the staff. He served, however, as an unpaid employe, along with Sangiusto, who was working as a very slightly paid reporter at the Assembly. Their reportership was more than anything else a test, to find if they could with impunity reconnect themselves with the journal. So the two of them sat in the gallery of the Assembly Room in the hot afternoons listening to the order of the day dragging on, in Latin, below them among the scanty ranks of the Eastern General. No other reporters ever bothered to attend; the Courier-Mercury got its list of motions direct from the president. Sangiusto and Itale allayed their boredom one afternoon by inventing the debates in the Egyptian National Dynastic Assembly of Both Kingdoms on August 11, 1830 B.C. —“The President: I recognise Mr Aphasis, the Deputy from Karnak. Mr Aphasis: My lords, gentlemen! Are we to credit the unsupported allegation of the honorable deputy from Ptu-upon-Nile that two wagonloads of perishable produce such as pullet-eggs and radishes and a small cart containing mummified cats were detained for sixty-two hours for examination at the West Gate of His Divine Highness’ capital city? Is it positively known, can it be subject to material proof, that the pullet-eggs and radishes were rendered unfit for consumption and that the mummified cats deteriorated in quality due to the alleged detention for examination? . . .” Brelavay slipped their farce into Novesma Verba, signing it “Cheops,” and the Censor passed it. It was the journal’s last report of debates in the Assembly.


    At the opening next day, Prime Minister Cornelius appeared on the rostrum to request adjournment of the Assembly until October, on the part of the Grand Duchess Mariya, whose indisposition, aggravated by the inclement weather, forbade her the study and exercise of judgment required for the sanction or veto of decrees voted by the Assembly convened by her gracious favor. The president, a rightwing noble, closed debate and adjourned the session, and as protest began from the left a concerted exit by the right took enough deputies out that the protesters lacked the quorum of seventy. It all took six or eight minutes. Itale and Sangiusto had to compare notes to be sure they knew what had occurred. They went off at once to the Cafe Illyrica with the news, but it had preceded them; men out of work wanted nothing better than a subject of talk, a subject of indignation. The closure of the parliament to which nobody had paid any attention drew the attention of the whole city. Itale and Sangiusto, themselves out of work again, wandered the hot, restless streets watching and listening. The park was full of people, as if it were some festival day. The City Watch had been posted at the gates of the Sinalya Palace, empty now at the end of its long chestnut-shaded mall. The Palace Guard were on duty at the Roukh, which stood tawny and dour over its square, baking in the August sun. Shops along Palazay Street between the two palaces were mostly closed and shuttered as if for holiday. Molsen Boulevard lay long and empty above the empty river; one barge came down, black in the blinding sun-glare, as Itale and Sangiusto strolled to the journal’s office. Oragon was there, fresh from Court. All doors there, he said, were locked, all mouths shut. Only one rumor was afloat, that a courier had arrived last night from Vienna. But couriers were always arriving.


    “The emperor’s dead,” said young Vernoy.


    “Almighty Christ!” said Brelavay, “it’s Metternich that’s dead!”


    “Impossible,” said Sangiusto. “Metternich lives forever. Is the grand duchess perhaps really sick?”


    Oragon, sitting sideways on the long composing-table, his coat off and his stock loosened, shook his big, rough head. “No sicker than yesterday. She was at Mass this morning in Roukh Chapel. Cancer she may have. But that won’t explain today’s move.” His voice with its slurring eastern accent dominated all others, and though he looked hot and baffled he was enjoying his power to dominate, to give answers, to force the respect of these selfwilled journalists who had lost confidence in him. He turned now as he always, instinctively, turned to the man in whom he sensed authority or symbolic value for the group, and spoke to him as deep unto deep. “What’s the mood in the streets now, Sorde?”


    “Do I know?” Oragon’s knowingness jarred on Itale. “The same as the mood in here, I suppose. We’re all in the same boat.”


    “It’s the unemployed mobs they’re afraid of,” said young Vernoy with his sententious and irresistible self-assurance. “They’ve closed the Assembly because it’s a potential rallying-center.”


    “Rallying about what?” said Brelavay. “Why the huggermuggering in the Roukh? Why have all the Ostriches put their heads in the sand?”


    “Well, Vernoy must be right,” Karantay said, “but why so abruptly? They’ve created the disturbance they were trying to avoid. It’s not like Cornelius. His reasons must be pressing.”


    The discussion went round and round, moved on to the Illyrica, went on, got nowhere. Words and men came and went. It was nine o’clock. Itale’s head ached; he sat gazing at his glass of beer, the drift of foam at the rim. He picked it up and drank it off, and as he set it down saw Oragon making his way among the tables to him. The deputy bent down and said in a low voice, “Come out of here a moment, Sorde.”


    “What’s up?”


    “I want a word with you.”


    He took Itale’s arm and led him off across Tiypontiy Street, but he could not wait till they had got across the street into the park to speak. In the midst of passing traffic, in the dusty darkness broken by cab-lanterns, he said aloud, his face close to Itale’s, “There’s been a revolution in France. King Charles is dethroned. He went too far, violated the Charter—the city wouldn’t take it, they fought in the streets— The Duke of Bordeaux will be made constitutional king.”


    They stood still amongst the horses, the rolling wheels.


    “Is that it, then?”


    “That’s it. Charles tried to dissolve the Chamber of Deputies. Overshot his authority. He abdicated on the thirtieth of July. The fighting must have been over for twelve days now. The new king will be sworn to fealty to the Constitution. It’s the end of absolute monarchy in France.”


    “The end,” Itale repeated. The flashing darkness and noise of the traffic, the smell of dust and horse-sweat and hot stone, it was familiar, he knew these words, this moment.


    “And the beginning—”


    “Where did you find out?”


    “Friend in Vienna, through a friend in Aisnar. You and I are among the dozen or so people in the whole country that know it.” Itale was struck by Oragon’s evident satisfaction as he said this, mixed with a kind of urgent confusion. Still gripping Itale’s arm, the deputy went on, “What do we do with it—what do we do with it? It’s a bombshell. Cornelius knows that. What do we do with it, Sorde?”


    “Throw it. Let everybody know. That’s what they’re afraid of, isn’t it? You announce it at the Illyrica. I’ll get some fellows to print up something for the provinces.” Itale laughed as he spoke. He felt that the moment was much too large for him, that the noise of hooves and wheels on cobblestones was the only convincing part of it; he and the rest of them were suddenly playing a role in history, and for this reason he felt artificial, like any private man up on a stage. At the same time it was, at last, easy to make decisions. The time had come. All one had to do at such a moment, when the walls fell down, was go ahead in the direction one had always tried to go.


    Oragon was flustered and two-minded only because he had never had any one direction to his actions, any fidelity. Enormously ambitious, energetic, emotional, he lacked the necessary passion. But he was very quick. He caught Itale’s meaning at once and wanted no more from him, having received his impetus. “All right, good. Here’s the note from Vienna, with the details. Go to the press as fast as you can before they close it on us. I’ll let the city know.”


    As Itale, Karantay, and Sangiusto left the Illyrica together they heard Oragon, up on one of the sidewalk tables, telling the news in his big slurring voice. “The French Revolution is accomplished. They’ve got the freedom they fought for forty years ago. The last Bastille is fallen! And their chance is ours. The same choice, the same chance! Is this France’s victory and glory, or Europe’s, ours? Will we sit quiet and let Metternich send more troops here to keep us quiet and suck us dry? I say recall the National Assembly, and Sovenskar to the throne of the free kingdom!” The traffic seemed to have halted, cab-lamps and cafe lanterns shining on many faces upturned to the orator: all things moveless, as things seen in a flash of lightning. The three men slipped away, hurried down dark streets towards the river.


    IV


    The short, warm, summer night went by full of the thump and rattle of the presses, shouting, laughter, orating. They printed up a news-sheet over the journal’s name headed, in 72-point type, REVOLUTION. The shop was snowed under with it, it was all over the streets, men and horses were found to carry it to the provinces. It announced what they knew about the Paris revolution, and stated that the National Assembly was remaining in session to consider the urgent questions of relations with the new government of France, tax control, and succession to the throne of the kingdom. “Lots of fuses to that bomb,” Brelavay said when he read it. He and Oragon had been about the city all night, going from one deputy’s house to another to inform them that the Assembly would meet as usual at nine tomorrow. Leaving the printer’s shop Itale went with him and Sangiusto to Cathedral Square, which had been the center of agitation during the night. In the cool of August dawn, under a high, cloud-brindled, colorless sky, the square looked immense and empty. The cathedral stood indifferent as a mountain, intent only on holding up its ponderous, delicate towers and ranks of stone saints and kings. They went on to the Eleynaprade. Down the mall, one behind the other, stood the cavalry of the palace guard, the men sallow and sleepy on tall horses. Behind them on the lawns under the trees swarmed an aimless crowd, thousands of people drifting, dispersing, regathering. The constant movement and the low but immense sound of the voices of the crowd was improbable, bewildering, in the austere and indrawn hour of dawn.


    Itale had meant to go on to Karantay’s flat for a few hours’ sleep, but stayed with the others in the crowd. Brelavay went to buy bread and cheese, since they were hungry. He went off and came back at a run, fearing something momentous would happen while he was gone ten minutes. The sky grew lighter, higher. Sunlight touched the crowns of the chestnuts. Nothing momentous had occurred but sunrise. It became a warm August morning. The crowd, grown enormous, now covered all the lawns beneath the grave, ignorant old trees. Itale and the other two had slowly pushed their way along the front of the crowd to the fence surrounding the gravelled area before the palace, and could see and hear the deputies of the left, gathered on the mall in front of the gates, arguing with officers of the guard. Itale was not paying much attention, as he was distracted by the increasing pressure and aimless turbulence of the crowd, and also was extremely sleepy.


    “There’s Livenne,” Brelavay said. “Leftwing Noble from the Sovena.”


    “They talked about him there. He hasn’t attended all month,” Itale said, and yawned till his eyes watered and he could not see the big, fair, young man who was saying, “Herr Colonel, you have no authority to keep the gates locked. The Assembly Room belongs to the Assembly.”


    “Distinguished Sir, there has been no change in our orders,” the colonel of militia said for the tenth time.


    “You had best send to the Roukh Palace requesting a change in your orders, Herr Colonel,” Livenne said loudly, and the crowd pressed against the fence a few feet from him shouted in support.


    Sangiusto nudged Itale: “Look, they catch two crows.” Two clerical deputies who had come up the mall out of curiosity were trying to depart and found the crowd closed across their way and jeering. They hesitated and came back to join the forty or fifty liberal deputies waiting in front of the iron gates. More jeers and insults rang up and down the edges of the mall, now continuously walled with men; the guardsmen’s horses shifted feet, one tossed its head up and down until controlled. There was a sudden outbreak of shouts and cheers, hats and caps flew up into the sunlight, a gig came rolling up the gravel of the mall between the tall horses and the crowd-walls. “Who is the little old man?” Sangiusto asked as the cheering broke out all around them.


    “Prince Mogeskar. Matiyas Sovenskar’s cousin. Nobilissimus. Took some courage to come here. —Long live Mogeskar!” Itale shouted, swept up by the crowd’s enthusiasm. “Long live Mogeskar!” The prince got out of his gig, a pinched, brusque, neat, very old man, and said to Oragon and Livenne, “Good morning, gentlemen. Why are the palace gates shut in our faces?”—himself caught by the affronted, restless, lively temper of the crowd. But they waited. Ten o’clock struck on the deep bell of the cathedral. Eighty deputies stood on the sun-white gravel before the gates. Prince Mogeskar had invited an elderly priest to sit in his gig: “Hot work, this, for old men,” he said, and sat on, stiff and speckless in the blazing light. Stefan Oragon was always near the gig, even held the horse made nervous by the crowd. He was heliotropic, drawn to power as if his own power of winning men was less a gift than a deficiency: he could not stand alone. Yet he knew far better than Mogeskar, or Livenne, or the colonel of the militia, what power was; he knew himself to be the focus of the crowd, the soul of this immense, conglomerate, temporary entity. When he chose to act, they would act.


    Itale, bored, thirsty, and half-asleep, shifted from one foot to the other because both hurt. He was staring at the mansards of the palace against the hazy sky, counting windows, when abruptly he felt himself lifted off his feet, picked up, and cried out, “What is it?” in a surge of excitement. He pushed and was pushed, they were no longer standing still, no longer waiting; he heard a guardsman bawling an order in German about the relief of every second man, and the men around him shouting, “What is it? They’re going to fire!” Oragon was up above them all, up on one of the cannon that flanked the iron gates, shouting, pointing to the palace. The noise was unbelievable, he could not believe that mere men could make such a noise, yet through it he heard clearly a different sound: tat, tat, a remote, cross, spinsterish voice, and then the scream of a panicked horse. They were pushing, forcing, ground and sucked step by step out of sunlight, into booming corridors, marble underfoot, garlands of roses on the ceilings overhead. Then all at once the ceiling rose up very high, and there was air and room to breathe; they were in the Assembly Room. Itale found he was close armlinked with Sangiusto, and began to comprehend that he with the crowd had forced their way into the palace. Oragon was there, up on the platform shouting orders, trying to gather the deputies out of the mob. Itale rubbed his arms which were sore, rubbed sweat off his forehead, stared around him. “Let’s get out of this, up to the gallery,” he said, and found himself hoarse, as if he had been shouting for a long time; perhaps he had, he did not know. They tried to get to the side door that led to the reporters’ gallery, but were stopped at once by a group coming in, men carrying heavy sacks. The sacks were put down beside the rostrum. The noise of voices in the huge room sank down steadily like waters at ebb. The rostrum was the center of the hush. With all the rest, Itale and Sangiusto came past, and saw that the sacks were dead men. The face of one of them had been shot off. His hands stuck out from his cuffs, stiff and posed, and his cracked shoes stuck up the same way. The ear was visible, normal, intact, a man’s ear, just below the bright red porridge of the face. The other man, middle-aged, did not look dead, but lay there startled, with open eyes. Above that, at the rostrum, they saw a blond, young, strong face, Livenne’s. He was speaking in a clear voice. “These two and the others killed paid a debt not owing. No more! We are not buying our country but claiming it as our inheritance, ours by right. Remember that! There is no need for violence, no need for sacrifice. We are the creditors, not the debtors!” Tears ran down Itale’s face as he stood there, then stopped as suddenly as they had started. He and the Italian began again to try to make their way to the side door and the gallery, but they never got there.


    For six hours they stood side by side against the back wall of the Assembly Room while the Assembly, a hundred and thirty deputies among thousands of others, held session. They voted to speak their own language in debate, voted this and all decrees subject to validation by the king alone, voted congratulations in the nation’s name to the new king of France, though they did not yet know who he was, the Duke of Bordeaux or Louis-Philippe of Orleans, and rumors now claimed Lafayette as the president of a new French republic. “They’ll pick Louis-Philippe,” Sangiusto said. “For a whole generation the old mushroom has been waiting, waiting. All things come to him who waits.” Itale nodded, not listening. He listened with strained attention to each speaker but found it difficult to understand or remember what they said. Prince Mogeskar now had the floor. His brusque, precise voice trembled with effort and age. “I will give my allegiance to the House of the Sovenskars, as did my ancestors, and yours. I will do so with joy, when the time comes. But the time has not come. We can call Matiyas Sovenskar king but can we crown him? Can we defend him? Metternich will hear our requests, for he needs peace, but he will not listen to our defiance. We have not the strength to defy that power! For the king’s own sake I beg you to wait in determination, not to act rashly!” And all this seemed clear and true to Itale, until Oragon and others replied and proved with equal clarity that the only hope lay in rapid action, the installation of Matiyas Sovenskar on the throne before Austria could intervene. Fait accompli, bloodless revolution, fatal procrastination, Austrian troops, uprising of all Europe, the words spun round, and all the time the point of all the words was incomprehensible, was missing. It was five o’clock. Itale startled himself awake from a momentary standing doze and said, “Let’s get out of here, Francesco.” Again they did not get where they were headed. A deputation from the Roukh Palace had just come in: a dozen palace guards, Raskayneskar the minister of finance, and the prime minister. Cornelius went towards the rostrum, spoke to Livenne and Oragon, smiled his pleasant, bland smile. “Gentlemen, thank you for permitting me to interrupt your debate. I bear a message to you from the sovereign. Her Grace regrets the disappointment caused by the adjournment of session of the National Assembly and, attentive to the wishes of her people, will tomorrow request the reconvocation of the Assembly on Monday next. She has asked me to notify the present gathering that fraternal greetings have been sent to King Louis-Philippe of France, and to thank them for their share in maintaining law and order in the city during the day, trusting that such order will continue without incident, and that the—”


    “Without incident? What about the men shot down this morning?”


    The interruption from the floor set off a roar of voices, a surge towards the platform, checked by Oragon shouting out, “This is not a gathering, this is the Assembly of the Nation! Tell the duchess that until King Matiyas reaches Krasnoy the sovereign is here, in this hall! Tell her that peace and order depend on her submission to us, the government of the kingdom!”


    Cornelius looked at him, looked around, and shrugged. “This is simply folly,” he said. He turned to go, and because he was decisive and the crowd was more intent upon the speaker, he got out, with the chalk-faced Raskayneskar and the dozen guardsmen. “The die is cast!” Oragon was roaring; the hall seethed fantastically in turmoil, frenzy. “Come along, come along,” Sangiusto said, and this time they got out, and stood dazed outside the palace in the still, clear evening air.


    At midnight Itale was standing in the darkness on Ebroiy Street a block from Roukh Square, sucking one of his fingerjoints that had been scraped raw in handling cobblestones, and carefully studying the torchlit barrier that had been raised across the street where it debouched into the square. Two men near him were arguing in a dreary, savage monotone; he could not distinguish one voice from the other: “Three thousand militia three miles down river at Basre— We’ve got the Roukh cut off— Count on the militia joining us— Who says they will, they’ve got the guns— The guns—” Still nearer him two women sat on the curbstone, one suckling a baby, and they spoke now and then: “So then I told him, I forgot the eggs, I told him . . .” —“Oh aye, mother of God, what can you do at a time like this?” One sighed, one laughed, “Save up and wait, I told him! . . .” Men ran by up the street, followed by a queer hollow roaring sound. A group of thirty or more came pulling and pushing a black thing up the street towards the barricade, a cannon. The iron wheels made a gobbling roar on the stones, torches flared around making the shadows lurch and fly. Itale looked down in the torchlight. The baby was very young; its head, lying on the mother’s bare arm, was unbelievably small. After the cannon had gone by he could hear the small smacking noises the baby made in sucking, the women’s dry easy voices, “So I says Oh don’t tell me, you old sow, I didn’t hatch out last week,” and the men arguing, “The streets— The guns—” He went on up the street to the barricade and rejoined Sangiusto there.


    It took a long time to get the cannon in place and the barrier rebuilt around it. Men kept coming to see it, to give advice on loading and firing it, to touch it. Of all the men behind the Ebroiy Street barricade one in twenty-five or thirty had a gun. Most of the Novesma Verba men were there, but not Karantay; some said he was still with the Assembly, others that he was on the Gulhelm Street barricade. Itale clambered up to the slanting top of the barrier over the cannon and looked down on Roukh Square. In the uneasy dimness of torches, stars, windowlight from the palace, the big cobbled square sloped slightly downward from the iron palisades of the palace, empty. It was empty all night.


    Several men pulled up a couple of the mattresses laid as shot-stoppers on the barricade till they could lie down on them. Sangiusto and Itale lay side by side, their chins on their arms, watching the palace. It was about forty hours since they had had any sleep. At long intervals they spoke to each other.


    “What’s that?”


    On the next barricade north, Palazay Street, there was something going on, something was being set up or put in place.


    “Got another cannon.”


    “No, it sticks up into the air.”


    They could not make out what it was in the uncertain torchlight. Itale put his head down on his arms. He dreamed and waked in starts and waking did not know what he had dreamed; it was like being in a small boat on quiet water, trailing a hand over the edge so that sometimes the waves touch it sometimes not, one does not know if one is touching air or water. Vernoy climbed up beside them. He shook Itale gently, offered him something, bending down his tired, pleasant young face. He had come by a hatful of apples down in the Ghetto. They all sat up and munched apples, were cheered by eating, talked a little. “What d’you think they’ll do come daylight, Sorde?”


    “Wait.”


    “I think they’ll try to blow us up.”


    “The whole city? They’ll do better to wait for the militia. Apple, Francesco?”


    But Sangiusto had gone back to sleep.


    “Not long till light, now,” Itale said softly, and then they were all silent for a long time. Northwest over the roofs a pink glow flickered, faded, flickered again, a fire that had got out of hand; there had been a lot of burning in the Old Quarter and other districts. The pink glow faded. The few lighted windows of the Roukh looked wan. Itale looked up: the sky was grey, it was dawn. He woke wide awake, turned over and sat up on the steep-set mattress, looking eastward over Ebroiy Street that dropped away sharply downhill and over the Ghetto lying many-roofed, jumbled, shadowy, between the barricade and the river. To the left rose the Hill of the University, on the far side of which he had used to live. There on the highest point in the city, the cross on the spire of the university chapel, light struck, trembled, steadied; gold crept down the spire, down chimneystacks and roofs of houses crowded rank above rank on the hill. He turned again and saw the battlements of the palace tawny red, alive against the dead blue-grey of the western sky. It was a fine summer morning. He was no longer tired, only very hungry, and though he was excited his thoughts no longer rushed but came simple, detached, concrete: thoughts of what the men in the besieged palace were probably planning, thoughts of people out in the suburbs going about their business and wondering what was going on inside the city, thoughts of what it would be like to be shot down in the street, the stones against his hands and face. He loved Krasnoy, he loved the steep shadowy roofs beneath which people still lay asleep, the sunlit hill, the old palace fierce red in the sunlight, the streets and the stones of the streets. It was his city; his people; his day. “I wish I could shave,” he said aloud, and Sangiusto nodded and yawned. They stood up, stretching, and balanced on the crown of the barricade between the fortress and the risen sun. With the act of standing up the simplification, the clarification of thought and feeling was perfected. Itale was completely happy, standing there empty-handed beside his friend in the indifferent calm of the morning. He had nothing left in the world but the day’s light, no weapon, no shelter, no future. It was for this he had lived and waited. Almost tenderly he thought of the soldiers sweating inside their stone walls there; what was there to worry about? It was the break of day, and standing up there he could have crowed like a cock at daybreak, in pure joy, in celebration of the light.


    He glanced at his friend and said, with his hands in his pockets, smiling irrepressibly, “Do you believe in God, Francesco?”


    “Of course. Don’t you?”


    “No. Thank God!”


    Sangiusto shook his head. He was exhilarated but not exultant, being busy with a premonition amounting to certainty that he was going to get killed today. Freedom was freedom, and often enough he had honestly wished for the privilege of such a death, and yet now it came to the point he was bitter that he could not die for his own country, on his own ground; he was homesick.


    “The light shineth in the darkness,” Itale sang aloud, “and the darkness comprehendeth it not!” Sangiusto laughed at the words and the cockcrow tune. Brelavay climbed up beside them, looked around, sat down and took off his shoe. “Had a rock in here all night,” he explained. “Look at that hole in my stocking.”


    “You ought to marry. Get your stockings darned.”


    “Not till I can marry a countess, like young Liyve,” Brelavay said, cocking his sharp, dark face up at Itale. “Or a baroness at least.”


    “She won’t darn your stockings. Look there!”


    On the Palazay Street barricade a long pole had been set up, and on it hung, almost unmoving in the quiet air, a red and blue flag. All the men looked at the flag. None of them had seen it raised for eighteen years. Most were too young to remember ever having seen it.


    “I’m going round to see if Karantay’s at Gulhelm Street,” Brelavay said. Itale stopped him as he started to climb down: “Listen, if you find Givan tell him we should all try to meet tonight— At the Verba office, I suppose.”


    “That’s no good if things go badly.”


    “At Helleskar’s, then. All right?”


    “That should do. See you in half an hour. Don’t wait breakfast for me!” Brelavay went off, the others stood talking, waiting. A third of Roukh Square now was sunlit.


    Since he could not cross the square Brelavay had to make a long semicircle to get round to Gulhelm Street; coming up it, two blocks from the square, he ran into a crowd: civilians surrounding men in uniform. Brelavay could see the white and gold of militia uniforms, but could not make out how many soldiers there were. Evidently a detachment had been sent from the garrison at Basre to make contact with the Roukh guards. A lieutenant and a captain argued with the chiefs of the barricade; the men around Brelavay were pushy and restless, crowding in thicker every moment, itching to get their hands on the soldiers’ guns. They shouted at their spokesmen and at the officers. There was an effort to clear a passage down the street, away from the palace, and Brelavay heard one of the barricade chiefs, a workingman in his forties, telling the captain with exasperation and despair, “Get your men out now, get them out!” The captain took offense. “We shall march on to the palace,” he said in his German accent, and turned to give the order. Brelavay was knocked right off his feet and carried forward some way, suffocated by the pressure of the mob, kicking out like a horse and grabbing for any support. What he had hold of when the pressure lessened was a militiaman’s shoulder strap. He and the soldier stared at each other, their frightened faces six inches apart, while a tremendous continuous noise and the rocking, swaying pressure they were caught in confused them both. “They’re firing,” the soldier said, staring at Brelavay. He tried to break away, and as he did Brelavay wrenched the musket out of his hands. Using the gunstock as a ram to clear his way, he got out of the thick of the crowd. “I’ve got a gun, by God!” he yelled in triumph. He saw nobody to shoot at, and presently it occurred to him that he had no powder and shot. There was no more firing, the mob was scattering. What had happened, what had become of the troop of soldiers, Brelavay did not understand. He saw men lying on the street, a dozen or more of them; there were white uniforms. There was the captain’s gold braid on a body crushed together like a crumpled rag, beaten to death and trampled. Brelavay stood staring at that terrible body. The crowd was streaming on up Gulhelm Street towards the barricade. They would have ammunition. He ran after them in a state of wild excitement, shouting, as several others were shouting, “Wait!”


    On the Ebroiy Street barricade, they had heard from the left the small dry sound of shots and then a dull roar like flooding water heard far off; then they saw a confused dark tide come boiling up over the Gulhelm Street barrier and into Roukh Square, now white with sunlight. As the crowd spread into the square it thinned and looked sparse, aimless, like grasshoppers jumping in stubble, Itale thought, but it was hard not to join them, as other barricades began to spill over and feed running men back into the square. At the same time he was yelling, “Keep back! Keep back!” to the men who after waiting all night in the streets had heard gunfire and noise and pressed forward trying to see or get onto the square. “Keep back, keep the line!” His teeth jarred together and he thought he was falling. “What was that?” he said to Sangiusto and then realised that the cannon, almost under his feet, had been fired. “Too much powder,” Sangiusto was growling in the smoke. Young Vernoy pushed between them, leapt down from the barricade, and vanished into the mob that now swarmed black across the square and against the iron fence around the palace. Another man tried to do the same but Itale blocked his way and pushed him back and down with all his strength. “Keep back, damn you, hold the barricade!” he shouted in fury, turning constantly to see what was happening in the square. The mob at the iron fence seethed, scaling it, swarming over it, smashing the gates, jamming at the palace doors. “They’re in!” men shouted, and now Itale crouched ready to jump down, to join, he could not hold himself back any longer. But as he paused there the whole scene seemed to pause. Little puffs of smoke which had appeared a moment ago at the windowslits of the palace were evaporating quickly in the sunlit air. The enormous steady crowd-roar continued the same, but there was some change in the crowd’s motion, a swaying and scattering, men still pouring in from the barricades but also a counter-movement, a press back towards the barricades, heavy and disordered, under the white puffs of smoke. Then there was a noise that seemed to stop everything so that Itale crouched motionless, paralysed: the cannons of the Roukh. Nothing now but clambering men around him, men running, and the monstrous, endless sound. Then it ceased and he heard human voices again and saw the square emptied out. The crowds had shrunk away into separate swarms at each barricade; at the iron fence and on the sloping cobblestones men were lying down here and there as if waiting for something. Around the heads of some of these were streaks and blotches of bright red, and a man that came clambering up the barricade at Itale had a great smear of the same red stuff, like paint, over half his face and in his hair. “Leave your guns here at the barricade,” Sangiusto was saying, quiet as a butler taking coats, and several of the fugitives who had muskets handed them obediently to him. “Here, here, take it,” he was telling Itale, and Itale took the gun and shotbag. Red coats, of that same bright paint color, now appeared filing rapidly out of the doors of the palace, which hung open like a black mouth. Sangiusto lay down on their mattress and loaded his gun, aimed it, and fired it; reloaded, aimed, fired. Itale imitated him, but had trouble with his gun, an Austrian army musket; he had never shot anything but a hunting-piece. Presently he lowered the loaded gun, got up, and said, “Come on, Francesco.”


    “Why?”


    “They’ve gone over the Palazay Street barricade, they’ll be coming around behind us. Let’s head down toward the river.”


    They started down Ebroiy Street.


    Brelavay had lost his gun and been knocked down twice getting out of Roukh Square. He was now on a rooftop overlooking Palazay Street midway between the Roukh and the Sinalya, along with six other men and a heap of paving-blocks and furniture. The throng below were all civilians, angry after panic but aimless in their anger; the palace guard had turned east and south to isolate the barricades and join up with the militia. Brelavay scanned the crowd constantly, looking for a short dark man and two tall ones, Karantay, Sorde, Sangiusto. They could be anywhere. They could be lying dead on Roukh Square. He was sore, sick, and wrathful. A dozen times he thought he saw one of their faces, then lost it or saw it was a stranger’s. A spatter of gunfire from the south; he listened and watched. If he believed those three were dead he would give up, run, run home. He looked about the quiet rooftops in the morning sunshine, hating the impassioned, hysterical city, the crowds below him. If Sorde and Karantay were dead he would as soon throw himself over with the paving-blocks they had carried up here to dump on the soldiers when they came by. It was not hope that kept him there, in control of himself and of his little rooftop mob; it was the thought of his friends. He had a hopeful spirit, but deeper in him than any conviction lay loyalty, and on that bedrock, obstinate and ironic, he waited.


    Hooves were clattering by on Ebroiy Street, while Itale and Sangiusto stood in the darkness inside an arched doorway in the courtyard of a tenement block. The squad passed by, going up the street towards the Roukh. As Sangiusto and then Itale came out of hiding a stooped young woman appeared in the court, two little children huddling close to her. She stood still, looking at them.


    “Can you give us water?” Itale said.


    She nodded, returned in silence with the children to a dark staircase, and came back with a dipper so that the two men could drink from the covered well in the courtyard. She stood watching them, her face quiet, and when Itale thanked her she said, “Go to Mendel’s, the butcher’s, the men have gone there.” So they went, and found in the yard behind a kosher butcher shop, under silent shuttered tenements and the blank back wall of a synagogue, a couple of dozen Jews planning the Ghetto’s part in the insurrection. They were calm and methodical. One, a man in his thirties with beautiful weary eyes, dominated the discussion by natural authority and because he had a good supply of powder and shot for their empty guns. Itale heard him called Moyshe, and called him so, never learning his last name. Under his direction they occupied a block of rooftops on Ebroiy Street. Presently a file of the red-coated guards appeared coming down from the Roukh, on shining restive horses. The men on the roofs opened fire, a dry clatter of cracks and bangs, foolish and exciting to hear as firecrackers. There was shouting, horses galloped, others with empty saddles neighed, ran down the street, stopped with their reins dragging and looking nervously, peaceably around. In the pause that followed Itale said to Moyshe beside him, “Where did you come by all this ammunition?”


    “Last night, when we burned the old armory on Gelde Street.”


    “What are you in this for, Moyshe?”


    “Because where we stand any change is for the better,” the Jew said, tapping his flask to loosen the packed powder. He glanced aside at Itale. “I could ask, what are you in this for?”


    “I like the open air.”


    “It’s a game to you.”


    “No. It’s not a game.”


    “Eight,” Sangiusto said, counting the men they had killed in the firecracker burst. His mouth was tense and he squinted a little, so that he did not look like himself.


    Far up at the head of the street where the mounted troop had retreated, on the broken barricade, several small figures had appeared. One raised a megaphone and they heard a thin, bawling voice: “Lay down all the weapons and proceed to your houses . . . four hours . . . proceed to your . . . general amnesty is granted for four hours . . .” Shots were fired from a rooftop, the small figures vanished.


    During the morning the Ghetto was not cut off, and men came through constantly with news of fighting on Palazay Street and around the Eleynaprade. For a long time after noon nothing moved on the streets below Moyshe’s group, no one came from north or south. They waited, and their isolation became more and more certain and unbearable, driving them to reconnoiter recklessly, to try to provoke attack. Roukh Square was now full of militiamen from the garrison down­river, and evidently was supplying troops to the northern part of the city. Moyshe’s group at last worked their way back to the rooftops over the barricade and began shooting. The troops got below them and fired the houses on the north side of Ebroiy Street. The wooden tenements burned like haystacks. Women, the women who had been in hiding all day in the courts and rooms, ran out into the street, threw their belongings from windows; as they ran down the plank stairways, the insurgents passed children huddled waiting on the landings, and Moyshe paused to call some urgent question to an old man, who for answer only shook his fist at them and cursed them with impotent hatred. They ran on, out of the buildings, across the sun-bright, crowded street, full of men and women, scared horses, broken bedsteads, falling beams of fire. Moyshe led them in and out of the warren of the Ghetto, coming back always to one place or another on Ebroiy Street, now deserted, scoured by troops of the mounted guards, where they could hold up for a while at the windows of deserted rooms and shoot; but their shot was running out. There were always fewer of them at each run for cover, and in the last they scattered; only Itale and Sangiusto kept together, following Moyshe, and ran straight into a squad of militia, face to face, before any of them had time to lift a gun and fire. They clubbed their muskets, fought through, ran under fire, dodged into a house, through a courtyard, ending up in the butcher’s shop from behind which they had started that morning. They were not pursued. They waited there in hiding. Sounds from the street grew fewer, quieter. An hour went by. Itale got up from his crouching half-doze and went to the door of the shop. It was evening. The sky was clear greenish-blue at the upper end of the street, where he could see the squat north tower of the Roukh. Gutted facades of houses across the way stared calmly at nothing. The air was smoky, warm, and sweet. At his feet lay a bundle of clothing and an old shoe, dropped by a family fleeing the fire.


    “It looks like it’s over,” he said.


    Sangiusto, then Moyshe, came out beside him. In the last encounter a soldier had brought a riflebutt down on Sangiusto’s hand, and the Italian sat down now on the curbstone holding the injured hand against his thigh with a soft groaning curse. Moyshe went off to look at the body of an insurgent lying down the street near a dead soldier; he turned the head gently so that he could see the face, shrugged, came back.


    “Now what,” said Itale. “Now where.”


    “To the devil,” Sangiusto said in Italian. His hand, already badly swollen, hurt increasingly, he was sick at heart, he had not been shot down and killed but had to go on, go through it all over again, the long exile. “Oh what a bitch of a life!” he growled, this time in Piedmontese, and with his left hand whacked the butt of his empty gun on the stones of the street.


    “Home,” Moyshe said with his shrug. “And you?”


    Itale stood silent.


    “You’re welcome to come with me,” the Jew said coldly, ready for the rebuff.


    “Thank you,” Itale said, turning to look at him. After this day he knew this man’s face and voice and fine stern eyes as if he had known them all his life, better than he might ever know any other face, but there was nothing between them but trust—everything, nothing. There was nothing left for them to say. “We have to try to find our group,” Itale said. They parted with constrained words of farewell.


    Itale and Sangiusto set off for Helleskar’s house, around the Hill of the University, through River Quarter, past the cathedral and across its square, a dream walk, very long, through the red sunset, the dusk. They went tentatively at first, later they walked boldly. They were not halted even by the militia posted in Cathedral Square. Troops of mounted guards passed clattering, foot patrols of the city guard were posted here and there, but not in very much greater number than usual; the streets were emptier than usual, but not empty, there were other men in ones and twos walking, silent and not loitering. No women. A city without women. Itale and Sangiusto talked as they went, sometimes quite coherently, discussing probable causes of the apparent amnesty, trying to construct some idea of what had gone on during the two days of insurrection, what might have happened in the Eleynaprade while they were in the Ghetto, what condition the Assembly was now in. Itale was talkative, made jokes to cheer Sangiusto up, and once remarked, “Well, work’s certain and reward’s seldom . . .” In Sorden Street he asked what day it was, and as they crossed Roches Street he asked it again. “The fourteenth,” Sangiusto repeated.


    “I asked you that before, didn’t I?”


    “Yes.”


    “How’s your hand?”


    “Like a fire.”


    “It’s not far now. We could . . .” He stopped himself. He had been about to say that perhaps they could stop a minute and rest, and that was foolish, with only two blocks left to walk. He stumbled. “We can stop,” Sangiusto said, his face drawn askew again. “No, it’s just up the street,” Itale said, “with any luck Tomas will be there already.” He thought he had said that before too, and gave up talking. They came to the big, stately house, went under the portal with its coats of arms and caryatids, knocked, and were admitted by the liveried servant. They were crossing the salon to the library, where the lonely old man rose eager and alarmed to meet them, when Itale reached out for his companion’s arm, stumbled again, and pitched down in a faint. Sangiusto, not in much better condition himself, was utterly dismayed, alone among strangers; he fell on his knees beside Itale and tried to wake him, whispering in despair, “Listen, my dear, my friend, listen to me . . .”


    V


    The next afternoon Sangiusto came into Itale’s room with a special edition of the Courier-Mercury, a single sheet printed—since the government presses had been burned on the night of the thirteenth—on some commandeered press, perhaps Novesma Verba’s. The paper contained no news from Paris, nothing about suspension or reconvocation of the Assembly, nothing directly about any event of August thirteenth and fourteenth; only a bulletin, dated the twelfth, of the grand duchess’ request to the Estates General, and a police notice to certain individuals considered illegal residents of the capital, who were hereby ordered to depart the Molsen Province by noon of the 16th August 1830, after which time if found in the City or Province they would be liable to arrest and imprisonment as conspirators against the Government of the Grand Duchy. There followed in smudged, badly set print a list of sixty-three names. Sangiusto read them out, hesitating and squinting, his foreign accent very noticeable. “Breve, Givan Alexis. Rasenne, Luke. Yagove, Pier Mariye. Brelavay, Tomas Alexis. Fabbre, Raul. Frenin, Givan—”


    “They’re out of date,” Itale remarked.


    Sangiusto went on, twenty or more names Itale knew as acquaintances and some he did not know at all, then, “Oragon, Stefan Mariye.”


    “Oragon! And the first deputy. Is Livenne on the list?”


    “Count Helleskar has heard that Livenne was killed on Palazay Street.”


    “Go on.”


    “Palley, Tedor. Palley, Salvate. Vernoy, Roch. Sorde, Itale. Eklesay, Matiyas Mark. Chorin-Falleskar, George Andre.”


    “Another deputy.”


    Sangiusto finished reading the list. There was a pause.


    “Karantay is not on it,” he said.


    “No.”


    The old count had kept his servants out collecting what news they could and bringing it to him and his two refugees. Karantay was said to have been seriously hurt in the fighting on Palazay Street; there was no report at all of Brelavay or young Vernoy.


    “Even Oragon under ban,” Itale said. “That’s a blow.” He spoke rather unnaturally. He was sitting up in bed, one of the mighty beds of the Helleskar house, with great goosefeather coverlets and curtains like the stage curtain of the Opera. He looked haggard and meager, as if he had lost weight again and even height.


    “You should get out of Krasnoy at once,” Sangiusto said. “There will be no pardons henceforth.”


    “If only I could get some word of Brelavay.”


    “He will be in hiding or in jail. You can’t wait to hear of him. You have only twenty-four hours.”


    “Will you come with me?”


    “I’m not on this list.”


    “You may be on another.”


    “Almost certainly I am.” Sangiusto spoke with composure. “I’ll wait a little,” he said, “until all is quieter, and then go back to France.”


    “I’m going home. Come with me. For a while at least.”


    “Thank you my friend. At a better time, when hospitality is not dangerous to the hosts, I shall come with great pleasure.”


    “As a favor to me. You can’t try to cross the border now. You can get to France later when things have quieted down. Of course you’ll want to go there, it’s all over here, there’s nothing for you to stay here for, but it’s not safe to try to leave the country now. You can lie low in the mountains a while. We came out of this together. If I can keep you from getting arrested it’s one thing I can do, there’s nothing else. Let me—”


    “Very well, I will come with you,” Sangiusto broke in on the accelerating rush of words. Itale stopped, drew in his breath, and said, “Good.”


    They were silent a while. Sangiusto was profoundly relieved, but could not express his relief.


    “If the stages are running as usual, the Southwestern Post leaves every second Friday, and the Aisnar Post the next Saturday. This is what, the fifteenth? It would be the Post this week. Three days to wait, then, and I don’t think we can wait here.”


    Sangiusto shook his head.


    “We can walk.”


    “How far is it?”


    “Not much over a hundred miles.”


    “But we must start at once, to be outside this province tomorrow.”


    Sangiusto’s injured hand had been bound up, and the arm put in a light sling to help immobilise it.


    “You can’t walk a hundred miles with that,” Itale said in self-disgust, looking at the sling.


    “Oh, I think so. But you, I think you’re not well enough, Itale.”


    “The count will lend us horses to Fontanasfaray. Ten miles or so. It’s in the Perana. We can walk from there, or wait there for the coach.”


    “Good. Have you any money?”


    They stared at each other.


    “I have some change, I think.”


    “In my room at the inn I have a few kruner, but I don’t want to go there, it is a risk.”


    “No, don’t go there. The count will lend us enough to get home with. My God! what a fool I am.” Itale rubbed his hands over his face and his still short, rough hair with a laugh. The danger, the absurdity, and the hopelessness of his situation were, at this moment, both clear and meaningless to him. The important thing, just now, was that he not lose this friend, this brave amiable man, along with all the rest and the others lost: that Sangiusto not be arrested. This was as far as his mind would go. He could consider his own risk only in terms of Sangiusto’s, incapable of directly facing the possibility of himself being rearrested, reimprisoned.


    He had no hesitation at all asking Count Helleskar for the loan of horses and money, and he joked with the old man, who was reluctant to let his refugees go. Old Helleskar longed to defy the entire Austro-Hungarian Empire to trouble the guests of his house. He argued that neither of them was fit to travel, and that the police would never look for them “here under an old soldier’s roof.” —“Discretion is the entire extent of my valor, count,” Itale said. “We’ll run while the running’s good. Tell George, when he comes home, I think he’ll applaud my variety of valor.” Itale had got up in the late afternoon and dressed in the worn clothes, the old blue coat, that were now his sole possessions. He held himself very straight, to convince Helleskar and himself of his fitness. From time to time he wondered at how he managed to stand up and walk, when he felt so deathly tired, how he arrived at decisions when he could not keep two ideas in order in his head, how he talked and laughed when all the time there was in the back of his throat the tightness of unpermitted tears. From moment to moment he expected this specious vigor to run out, in which case he would no doubt fall flat on his face as he had done last night; and he wished earnestly that he could give up, cast it from him as one tosses away a pebble, and lie down, and rest. There was no more use in it; no point; no direction. But it made no difference. His thoughts and acts stayed chained to that rock of identity, of single unmoved unreasoning will, the will to remain himself.


    Once their course was decided he and Sangiusto had agreed that promptness would best serve both their own interest and their host’s; so he rode, with Sangiusto and a couple of Helleskar grooms, down Tiypontiy Street, past the trees of the park and the silent Sinalya Palace, past the coachyard at West Gate, past the hotel where he had met Luisa, past the tenements and through the northwestern suburb, out onto the plain that lay dun and gold in the light of summer evening, and on towards the hills. From the road above Kolonnarmana they looked back at the city on the curve of the river, a faint scattering of points of light in the wide grey twilight, so delicate it seemed one could take it up in the hand like a piece of silver gauze. They rode on, upward. Remote in the sky over bare hilltops the crescent moon hung for a while. It had set when they reached Fontanasfaray. The air here, a thousand feet above the river valley, was cool. Gulhelm Street was lit softly with colored lanterns, fantastic among tree-shadows. A few strollers passed, open carriages rolled by. They put up at the first inn they came to. “It looks expensive,” Itale said, but Sangiusto said, “We will find one cheaper tomorrow,” and he did not argue. He had noticed as he rode that his horse’s ears seemed at times far off, yards away, and at other times very near; the same was true of the stars, which now drew off together in a clump in the enormous, barren sky, and now came up so close that he felt the cold prickle of their fire under the skin of his forehead and cheeks, a troubling sensation.


    They were given a room under the eaves, the only room he had free, said the innkeeper; the resort was full of vacationers escaping the heat of the city. “Yes, it is quite warm in Krasnoy,” Sangiusto said.


    As soon as the man left, Itale lay down and closed his eyes. Sangiusto, in intense discomfort from his injured hand, swore a little; he asked some question, but Itale did not answer. He was not asleep yet, and wanted to speak to Sangiusto, but could not speak. He was nearly asleep, and comfortable enough now that he could lie down; only very deep within him, at the depth below dream, the depth where he had lived for two years of solitary confinement, something remained stone-hard, mute, in anguish. Everything was over, finished, gone; only nothing was finished, nothing was done, and he must go on—go back, go home, into exile. He lay still and saw before him in the darkness of his closed eyes the great, quiet slopes of the mountains above the reflecting lake.

  


  
    PART SEVEN


    Malafrena

  


  
    I


    


    WHEN THE Aisnar Post was on time, which it sometimes was, it came into Erreme, a junction point, at about four in the morning, some twenty hours out of Krasnoy. Passengers for Aisnar need only be roused by the changing of horses and then went on as before, briskly, over level roads; passengers for the Montayna had to get out in the cold darkness or colder dawn and change to the waiting Montayna Diligence. If they were new to the journey they looked at the outlandish vehicle and asked with misgiving, “Is this the Portacheyka coach?” If they had previously travelled in the southwest they merely sighed and made ready to endure. Four shaggy horses, short in the barrel and powerful of shoulder, were in the traces; a boy of nine or ten with a shapeless hat and a contemptuous eye mounted the wheeler; a tall dark man whose mouth seemed to have rusted shut, letting out only monosyllables in a flat unanswerable voice, got onto the box and said not “Get up!” but “Hoy!” to the horses, and off the Montayna Diligence would go, jouncing and jolting on a rutted road, its back to the sunrise, towards the mountains that rose blue and forbidding from the retreating night.


    On the morning of August twentieth, four passengers made the change, stumbling through the half-light from the big coach to the smaller one amongst horses being led about, mailbags being transferred, and other obscure hurlyburly. “Is this the Portacheyka coach?” one of the four, a young woman, asked the driver with misgiving. “Aye,” he said flatly. Sangiusto handed her in and soon they were off, with a snarl from the coachman’s horn, a shout of “Hoy!” and a groaning protest from every joint of the vehicle, soon to be echoed silently in every joint of three of the passengers. The fourth one was under two years old, and light enough to find the jolts and lurches entertaining. The young mother and Sangiusto promptly went to sleep again; Itale and the baby waked. The baby played with the bundles piled round him and with bits of straw from the floor that had got within his reach; he gazed about him often with a thoughtful and unhappy air, but made no complaint. The air was misty grey and very cold. Itale sat huddled, his collar up round his ears and his hands in his pockets. Ever since St Lazar, where he had suffered from cold more than from any other misery, he felt cold easily, and dreaded it, but had no resistance to it. So he sat now huddled up trying to keep his teeth from chattering. To keep his mind off his discomfort he watched steadily out the narrow slit of front window, through which he could see the wheelboy’s hat and the sky and, when the road turned that way, a glimpse of peaks ahead. Day came fast. Now the round hills to either hand brightened with the morning sun, the clear light of a harvest day in the high country. The hay was long since in, the grain coming, in fields far off on the hillsides Itale would see a line of mowers, the tiny glint of lifted sickles. When they passed through villages or past estates, small freeholds with the house set near the road, white and red hens cackled away from the wheels, dogs ran out and barked till the coach was out of earshot. Over the hills in the sun sometimes a hawk circled, lazy in the dry blue air. Ahead, seen only at the crests of the long climbs, the mountains rose up from behind the yellow hills.


    Itale remembered how, years ago now, he had pulled out his watch to check the hour that he first lost sight of those mountains; nine-twenty of a September morning it had been, he recalled the hour though not the date. He had been on his way to Solariy. And from Solariy, in time, to Krasnoy. And to Aisnar, and to Esten, and to Rákava; to the dark cold room where he had been chained to the wall; to Roukh Square at dawn, and Ebroiy Street in the smoky evening. And now he was come round full circle and even so did not know where he was going, or where was any place he could with a clear heart call home. He felt for his watch, but did not have it; he thought he had lost it, then remembered that since it no longer ran he had left it in his room at Karantay’s flat. The police probably had it again by now. Let them have it, he thought.


    Sangiusto sighed in his sleep. Though a farrier in Fontanasfaray had set and splinted his hand it continued to give him a great deal of pain, and he slept when he could. Propped up in the corner across from him the young mother also slept, her childish, round face curiously stern. Her child beside her had slid down uncomfortably among the bundles and was looking unhappier. Itale looked away from the child guiltily. It was going to cry, and it would be up to him, being awake, to do something about it. Sure enough the baby gave a series of gasps, preliminary to the howl. He looked very sad and helpless. He stared straight at Itale and gasped more loudly. Itale returned his look, uneasily, and said in a low tone, “Don’t do that. You’ll wake up your mother.” The eyes filled immediately with tears, the small face went all into folds, and the baby gave a piteous wail. “Damn!” Itale said, and reached across, picked the baby out of the nest of bundles, and set him on his knees. He was startled at the lightness and fragility of the burden. Really there was not much to a baby.


    The baby gasped a couple of times, then settled down with a sigh like a tiny echo of Sangiusto’s, put his thumb in his mouth, and fell to playing with a button of Itale’s coat. What did the mother call him? Stasio. “Stasio’s father died,” she had said to someone in the Aisnar coach last night, “in June, the consumption it was.” Itale felt a touch on his hand, the faint brush of the child’s hand. Not the young man’s name nor “my husband,” but “Stasio’s father”; all the dead man’s life was that now, his fatherhood. Stasio discovered the top button of Itale’s waistcoat and fingered it delicately as a miser with a jewel; he sucked his thumb and slowly, with many starts and little movements, dropped his head down against Itale’s coat and fell asleep. He had been cold, Itale thought, he was warmer now, in the shelter of Itale’s arm, and could sleep. Itale no longer gazed ahead at the hills but down at his little, transitory charge. The child’s hair was brown, very fine. Itale touched it very lightly, thinking of his friend Egen Brunoy; Brunoy’s hair had been brown like this but coarse and dry. Itale tried to recall Brunoy’s face, but could not. He could rouse no reality of memory, only a dull regret and a dull shame. He thought of Isaber, and his mind as always flinched away. He thought of Frenin, of Karantay who was hurt or dead or jailed; but from that too his mind flinched away, to Brelavay, but the thought of Brelavay in the dark cold room, chained, was unendurable—his hands clenched, and he had to control his sudden tension lest he waken the sleeping child. But the list would be finished. Amadey, dead. And then last, and unexpected for he had never thought of her as a friend among his friends, Luisa: unkind, unforgiving and un-self-forgiving, loyal: and like the others, self-betrayed. And betrayed, like the others, by him. By his desires and her own, and their hope; by their love. Where he had most passionately set his heart and mind he had done injury; and the worst injury, the worst betrayal, was the knowledge of it. His arm grew cramped but he did not move lest he wake the child. At last he too dozed off.


    In midmorning the coach stopped in a tiny village. Itale handed Stasio over to his mother with relief and, rubbing his numbed arm, climbed out of the coach with Sangiusto.


    “Bara already?”


    “Aye,” said the rusty coachman, not uncivilly, for his passenger had said the name of the village with the broad Montayna accent.


    “We’re on the border,” Itale said, coming over to the roadside where his friend stood stretching and yawning. “Walk over to where that pig’s rooting and you’ll be in the Montayna.”


    They walked in the bright sunlight down the rutted streets of Bara, and patted a dog that came up hungry and fawning. Neither had anything to say. They turned back to take some breakfast at the hovel that called itself, in faded letters and obscure picture on a signboard, the Traveller’s Rest. While the peasant girl left in charge of the place was fetching bread and cheese, Itale looked about the room, at its dirt floor, dirty walls, benches, table, and out the door onto the bright, desolate street where the mangy dog sunned himself and nothing else stirred. The child who brought them sour wine—she had only gaped when they asked for coffee—had a neck thickened by incipient goitre and a dull way of staring. He had forgotten that dull look, that country look.


    He sat down at the table to drink his wine, and picked up a couple of printed sheets lying on it, left by travellers; one was the broadsheet of a song such as mountain peddlers sold or gave with their wares, the other a handbill which he started to read without recognition. “REVOLUTION,” it was headed. “On the twenty-seventh of July the citizens of Paris rose in the name of the French People to protest . . .” He read no further, though his eyes found the line at the foot of the sheet, “August 13, 1830. From the office of Novesma Verba.” Sangiusto had wandered over, chewing on a hunk of bread. Itale left the handbill lying, got up and went out. He stood there in the sunlight and looked at the hut opposite, with its clumsy door and oilpaper window, at the pig rooting in the street by a pump where the dust had turned to mud, at the white dog cringing, at the poor, short length of the village where the coach loomed on its high wheels taller than the huts beside it. Behind the huts and before them the street became again the highroad, the road he must follow, that had brought him, so far, here.


    “The horses are in, I suppose we leave soon,” said Sangiusto, coming out beside him.


    Itale turned away and set his hands against the wall of the Traveller’s Rest, hard, as if to push the sorry little house down. He felt the hot dry clay under his palms, the heat of the sun on his shoulders. Here I come to ground, he thought. I thought I must succeed, because my hopes were so high, and I have failed. I thought I must win, because my cause was just, and I have been defeated. It was all air, words, talk, lies: and the steel chain that brings you up short two steps from the wall.


    For five years he had been sick for home, and now, forced to it as a fugitive, he must come to it knowing that he had no home.


    Slowly and steadily the little horses pulled, the coach jolted on towards the mountains that now dominated all the lower sky. After the midday stop at Vermare they still had to climb two thousand feet up and some twelve miles on, winding now more south than west. The air grew yet more clear and dry, the mountains darker blue, the cricket-chant on the slopes deeper and more long drawn out; and the boy riding the wheel horse pulled his cap down over his eyes and sang half-dozing the song that seemed as monotonous and timeless as the cricket song,


    Grey will fall the autumn rain,


    Sleep, my love, and sleep thee well,


    My heart has broken and will break again,


    Sleep till thou wilt waken. . . .


    “Don’t pester the gentleman, Stasio!”


    “That’s all right.”


    “It’s too good of you, sir. You come here now, Stasio.”


    “He’s all right here.” Itale let the baby investigate his waistcoat, grateful for the distraction, seeing always the mountains rise around him in reproach.


    The road wound in and out; the young mother looked down the plunge of a ravine to the right and shut her eyes.


    “We’ll be out of this in a couple of miles. Then there’s a straight pull to the pass.”


    They were going at less than a footpace now, the tough little horses straining, the wheelboy wide awake, the driver’s whip crackling lightly over the horses’ necks.


    “What mountains are those, if you don’t mind, sir?”


    “The mountains above Lake Malafrena.”


    “Hoy there! get on, get on!”


    “Now we tip over?” Sangiusto inquired placidly of Fate.


    The coach righted itself and settled back into the ruts, the little horses pulled sturdily. Declining, the sun shone to their right, and the long shadow of Sinviya Mountain stretched up the forested slope of San Givan like a barrier before them dividing the mountain valley from the open, golden weather of the hills.


    “This is like my own country,” Sangiusto said. His voice was soft. “Yet there is no one thing the same.” After a while he said, “So I come here with you after all.”


    Itale nodded, dodging the memory of Easter in Aisnar; but it would not be dodged, and he said at last, “I wish I’d thrown it over then. Gone home. Before I went too far to be able to come back.”


    Sangiusto glanced at him calmly and keenly. After a time he said, “Five or six months is not long enough. One comes back, Itale.”


    “But what does one . . . bring . . . ?”


    “I don’t know.”


    “I was a fool before I—before that. Now I’m wise, now I know what a fool I was, right? But what use is wisdom, what good is it, when the price of it is hope?”


    “I don’t know,” Sangiusto replied again, very quietly, and with humility.


    Itale caught himself, was ashamed, and was silent. He would not talk again. The habit of protest was strong, well-nourished; but it was time to go back to the older habit, silence.


    Stasio had wakened whimpering among his bundles again, and Itale picked him up, set him on his knee, let him play with the endlessly wondrous waistcoat buttons, while sunlit and shadowed slopes closed in on the road and the horses quickened their pace. The road levelled out, Portacheyka lay before them in the pass, greeted by the wheelboy’s long whistle, Portacheyka, peaked roofs, streets of slate stairs twining between crowded houses, the monastery of Sinviya frowning over it white on the dark mountain shoulder, the Golden Lion where as a child Itale had watched the high coaches roll in, dusty, come from remote and unimaginable lands.


    “Where to now?” asked Sangiusto when they were standing on the cobbled street, since Itale, looking bewildered, made no move.


    “I don’t know. I hadn’t thought—”


    The innkeeper’s wife was coming out, peering curiously at them.


    “Come on, this way,” Itale said, and set off abruptly, leading Sangiusto down a long slate stair, across a little street, through a back alley, and up another set of stairs to a garden gate. There he stopped.


    “Itale,” said Sangiusto, who had also been making decisions, “this is your family, and you are unexpected. I shall put up at the inn, and meet you when it’s convenient.”


    Itale looked at him with the same angry bewilderment; then he laughed. “You can’t,” he said, “we haven’t got a krune left. Come on.” He pushed open the gate, and Sangiusto reluctantly followed him up the path between phlox and pansies to the door; to the little servant girl who went rigid with dismay at the sight of strangers, the stiff, neat, high-windowed parlor, the grey-haired woman who came in looking puzzled, and then looked frightened, and putting her hands to her throat whispered, “Itale— Oh mercy of heaven, Itale!”


    “I’m sorry, I’m sorry,” Itale said as she embraced him. “There was no way to let you know. I’m sorry—”


    “You’re so thin,” she whispered, and then releasing him, “It’s all right, my dear, I was startled but I don’t faint, you know,” and already she was turning to Sangiusto to welcome him with the fine courtesy and profound distrustfulness of the Montayna; taking his hand and repeating his name as Itale introduced them; inviting them both to sit down; ascertaining that they were tired, hungry, dirty, and looking after their needs. Not a word came from her that could distress Itale, after the first cry. Only she asked in her blunt way, when he had given a sketchy explanation of why he had arrived so suddenly, “Then how long will you stay?”


    “I don’t know.” His tone cut her off and she asked nothing more about his plans; nor did Emanuel, at first, when he came home to find the little maid in a flurry, his wife preternaturally calm and ironical, and his bedroom, bath, razors and clean shirts sacrificed to the unknown foreigner and unexpected nephew. “When did you leave Krasnoy?” was his first question.


    “Tuesday.”


    “What’s going on? The Post didn’t come last week, still no papers on the Diligence—”


    “They weren’t printed.”


    “Why not?” Emanuel exploded, and a summary of the days of the insurrection only enraged him— “You mean that never a word of all this reached us until you came here? Good God! We might have been a kingdom for a week and never known it!”


    “But we’re only a grand-duchy,” Itale said, “so it doesn’t matter. Look here, uncle, I want to ask you— I want to go on to the house, to see mother. But I can’t— I don’t know what my status is, I’ve been proscribed from Krasnoy but it may go farther— I don’t want—”


    Emanuel interrupted him. “What difference will that make to them?”


    “I don’t know.”


    “What are you talking about?”


    “I’m talking about my father.”


    “Yes—you’re right, he ought to be prepared a bit for this.”


    “I came here because I had nowhere else to go,” Itale said going dead white, “but if there are going to be any conditions, any accusations, I’ll go on, now, across the border.”


    Sangiusto, coming in from the other room, stopped in the doorway, a towel around his bare neck. “Oimè!” he said to himself, and withdrew. The uncle and nephew stood face to face. “You damned, arrogant fool,” Emanuel said, “who said anything about conditions and accusations? What I’m talking about is that Guide is ill and needs a bit of protection from shocks.”


    “Ill?”


    “Since November. Why did you think it was I that came to the Sovena, not he or Eleonora?”


    “But you said, then—”


    “He told me to say as little as possible about it to you. I obeyed him. I’ve always done what Guide says. Maybe I was wrong, I don’t know. He was ill again about a month ago. I wanted to write you. They both said not to.”


    “I could have come—”


    “What good would that do?”


    Itale sat down on the bed. He was still very white, and there was a forced rigidity in the way he held his shoulders and arms that made Emanuel realise at last that he was very near breakingpoint. “None,” he said.


    “He’s all right, Itale. No worse than he was, now. It’s the same heart trouble, it can go along for years like this, you know. I didn’t mean to alarm you. But you cannot walk in on him in anger—”


    Itale shook his head.


    “Emanuel,” said Perneta outside the bedroom door, “if you’ll ride on out to the lake and tell Guide and Eleonora we’re coming, I’ll give Itale and his friend a little supper and put Allegra in the gig and we’ll come along in an hour or so.”


    “Right,” Emanuel said. He turned back to Itale, wanting to say something more, to reassure him; but he did not know what to say. The relation between Guide and Itale, the bond of absolute loyalty strained impossibly by competitive pride, the understanding and hostility, the vulnerability of each to the other, all that was beyond Emanuel now as always. Whenever he came close to that passionate and essential relationship in either the son or the father he burned his fingers in the fire of it, fumbled, lost his temper, guessed wrong. And yet it was always he who had to bring the news to Guide, he thought as he saddled his horse and set off through lengthening shadows towards the lake; always he who was the intermediary. Thirty months ago he had been driven down here to tell Guide that the boy had been arrested and jailed, and had gone about it all wrong, jabbed his clumsy fingers into the wound. This time he had as badly misunderstood Itale, when all the young man was doing was clinging desperately to the last fragments of pride. It was always pride with these two; their strength and patience, their violence and vulnerability, all came down to pride, to the resistance of the will to the insults and indifference of time. Resistance, never acceptance. They gave with open hands, but they had never learned to receive. Guide’s somber temper had turned ardent in the son, but the root of it still was pride and pain. The world is a hard place for the strong, Emanuel thought; it gives no quarter; no man ever defied evil and got off lightly.


    He hoped to find Guide alone, but saw him with Laura in the garden behind the house. To judge by their gestures they were discussing replantings, and they did not see him coming down the road till he was at the fence. Then Laura looked round and came alive. “There’s uncle! Was there a letter?”


    “Oh aye,” he said, smiling. It would have been so easy to tell Laura his news, why was it so hard to tell Guide? “Perneta’s coming along behind me. Will you give us dinner?”


    “Of course, but where’s the letter?”


    “I haven’t got it, niece.”


    Laura looked at him, alert and silent.


    “It’s a message rather than a letter. Itale wants to know if he can come here, Guide.”


    “Where is he?”


    “In Portacheyka. At the house. Came in on the Diligence this afternoon. With another man.”


    Guide stood still. Laura did not speak.


    “What brought him here?”


    “He has nowhere else to go. He came with the clothes on his back. There was a revolution in Krasnoy, the Assembly’s been dissolved, there was fighting for two days, he’s under ban and doesn’t know how far it extends— You must let him come without questioning him, without conditions, Guide, he’s lost everything he was working for—”


    “Conditions?” Guide said. “Tell your mother,” he said to Laura. “I’ll go to Portacheyka.” He was out of the gate and coming round past Emanuel to the stables as he spoke.


    “They’re probably on the way already,” Emanuel said, and seeing there was no stopping Guide, “Here, then, take the horse, he’s fresh.” He dismounted, Guide swung up and was off. Laura, looking after her father, trembled all over and laughed.


    “How strange it is. You riding up there while we were standing here talking about the hollies. And the house, and the road. As if it had happened before. I was standing here and you rode up to tell us he was coming. As if there was only one moment, and this was it.”


    “Where’s your mother, lass?”


    “Indoors.” They walked, she on this side of the picket fence and he on that, back to the gate. Laura went lightly, hurrying, but before going in she looked back once at the garden in the clear light, the roses, the empty paths.


    When they came, she was confused. She had forgotten Emanuel had said there was a stranger with Itale. She could not tell which was her brother as the gig came out from under the oaks in the late dusk. She went forward with her mother and uncle; she felt herself moving over the short grass, in the warm twilight air. A tall man jumped down from the gig and came to them, that was his blue coat, it was Itale, when she held him in her arms he was as thin as a child, but his face was a man’s face now; was this her brother? Who was the other man, with his hand tied up in a bandage, holding back from them? “Welcome home,” she said to him, and after a moment he smiled, someone else laughed. All at once she was happy, caught the moment passing never to return, was herself and the waiting was over, they were home. “Come in, come into the house,” she urged them, the father, brother, stranger.


    II


    Late in a September afternoon, coming past the orchards of Valtorsa, where the golden light shone broken by transparent walls of shadow that stretched eastward from each row of trees, Itale saw his sister come towards him on the road. “Letter,” she called, “Uncle brought it,” and then, when they met, “Are the grapes ready to pick?”


    “We’ll pick the Oriya vines tomorrow.” As they walked side by side he opened the letter and read it, frowning against the level sunlight. It was dated from Solariy.


    “Dear Itale: The old count writes that you are home. So am I. I was released on the 20th, got as far as Kolonnarmana, then sent back with an escort; released again after three interrogations, got across the street, was brought back and interrogated twice more. Have been home a week now but can’t say I count on it. K’s fiancée wrote; he had a severe concussion of the brain but is recovering well, and they are to be married in October. I expect you know that young V was not so lucky. Or in the end he may prove to have been luckier, who knows. I have called upon GF. He wears a corset, satin waistcoat, gold watch-chain, married, infant son, did not invite me to return. Do you have any word of Carlo? No one has heard from him since the party and he is on my mind. I am going to go on and study for the Bar examinations since journalism, I find, does not pay. Let me hear from you. Believe me yours in constant affection, Tomas.”


    “It’s from Mr Brelavay, isn’t it?”


    “Yes. You know his writing?”


    “He wrote us several times when you were in prison. It was he that wrote us you had been arrested. It must have been hard for him, he never had good news for us; but he sounded so kind.”


    “Here, read it.” He had to explain the initials to her. “K, that’s Karantay, you know, the novelist. He was hurt in Palazay Street when they fought the guards. V is Vernoy. A student. He was killed. Givan Frenin, he was our college friend. He went home three years ago, he’s a merchant in Solariy now. They proscribed him anyhow. Poor Brelavay! he must feel lonely there!”


    “Who is Carlo?”


    “Oh, Sangiusto. His English letters to the paper were signed Carlo Franceschi. Must be a middle name.”


    “You’ve known him quite a long time.”


    “Well, I met him in Aisnar in ’27. But I got to know him in July.”


    “He was with you in . . . the fighting.”


    He nodded. He glanced at her fine, rather pale face, her brown hair pulled back in a loose knot. She walked along stride for stride with him. In the four weeks he had been home he had taken great comfort from her presence, yet he had seldom spoken much with her about any but immediate concerns, Guide’s health, farm matters and accounts. She had learned to keep the books for her father, but when Itale had complimented her on the order and clarity of the accounts she had sighed and said, “I hate them. I do it because it’s all he’ll let me do. I keep them neat because I get lost at once if they’re not. I hate figures. I’d rather clean the stables, if I could.” Then she had laughed and made light of the matter. The great candor of her girlhood had become, in the woman, infinite reserve. Walking now beside her, brother and sister, Itale realised that he knew nothing of her life.


    “I try to imagine,” she said, “what you did, down there—what your life was. The revolution—”


    “The insurrection,” he said gently.


    “The insurrection. You say of the student, ‘He was killed.’ I know how Mr Sangiusto’s hand was hurt, by a soldier with a gun, hitting him. You spoke once about the fire. I know, in a way, what you did before that, before the prison; I read your paper. But I have never been able to understand, to imagine your life there. As if I lived in another world.”


    “The real one.”


    “Why do you say that?”


    “Because there is nothing left of that life. It’s finished—gone, scattered. Overnight. There never was anything to it.”


    She walked on beside him.


    “Dreams of youth,” he said.


    “All that has given my life any meaning for five years has been my belief that you were free—that you were working for freedom, doing what I couldn’t do, for me—even when you were in jail—then most of all, Itale!”


    He stopped, staggered by the passionate and unexpected reproach; their eyes met for a moment. He saw that she knew what he could not say directly, that he had failed, that he was utterly defeated: that she knew it and yet it was not of overwhelming importance to her, she did not see him as a failure or a fool. If she had she would not have reproached him.


    “But you must not trust me, Laura!” he said desperately, all pretense of irony abandoned. “When I used to talk about freedom, I didn’t know what prison was. I talked about the good but I—I didn’t know evil— I am responsible for all the evil I saw, for the— For the deaths— There is nothing I can do about it. All I can do is be silent, not to say what I’m saying now. Let me be silent, I don’t want to do more harm!”


    “Life’s the harm,” Laura said quietly, drily.


    They walked on, coming in sight of the orchards above the Sorde house, the forested slopes above those.


    “If they lifted the ban,” Laura said, “would you go back to Krasnoy?”


    “I don’t know. It’s not likely any time soon. In any case, I’m more use here, while father’s ill.”


    “Yes,” she said. “Of course. But he . . . Some day he would fall ill; someday he will die; that was always true.”


    “But I didn’t believe it, then,” he said very low.


    “I know,” she said, and he saw to his wonder that she was smiling. “What I wanted to say was that you should not worry about that—about the estate. When the time comes to go. I’m nothing like Piera, but at least I can keep it going. I wanted you to be able to count on that.”


    “I just got home,” he said, “for God’s sake, are you trying to send me away again?”


    “I am trying to make you see that no matter what the stupid police say you are a free man,” she said, fierce. “Am I not allowed to work for freedom? You are my freedom, Itale.”


    He could make no answer.


    When they came into the house Guide called him into the library to discuss the grape harvest with him. Since the recurrence of his ailment Guide had grudgingly admitted that everybody else including the doctor had been right and he must go easy if he wanted to go on. Methodically, then, he rested at certain times, gave up certain labors and pursuits. He was visibly changed, his hair entirely grey, his hands and face less tanned, his spare figure looking both taller and frailer. Itale, entering the study, was struck by his resemblance to Laura, even in the tone of his voice.


    Laconic and amicable, they discussed the condition of the vines and the probable pace and order of the grape harvest if the temperate weather continued.


    “If it gets hot,” Guide said, bringing into their mutual view the frantic and relentless labor entailed by hot weather during grape harvest, and Itale’s relative inexperience, perhaps also his not yet fully recovered health. “There’s Bron, though.”


    “Aye. Thank God. And Sangiusto.”


    “He’s all right with orchards. You listen to Bron.”


    Itale smiled. He had been waiting for his father to admit that he approved of Sangiusto. “He’s all right with orchards” was the admission.


    “Have you got the Sorentay wagons?”


    “Tomorrow morning.”


    “Who’s going?”


    “Karel.”


    Guide nodded.


    “He’s a steady man,” Itale said. “He needs training.”


    “What for?”


    “It’s time we had an overseer.”


    He spoke with an indifferent bluntness that was new in him, though not in Guide.


    Guide was much offended by the proposal, but he was caught. He could not pretend that he was able to carry on the work alone any longer if Itale left, nor could he admit that the idea of Itale’s going, implied in the suggestion, frightened him. He sat there on his couch under the windows, trying to think of an argument to defeat Itale’s suggestion; he scowled; but little by little, and with singular conviction, he understood that there was no argument. If he had had power of veto he would not even have sought an argument. He was not in control. Some time in these past few weeks he had, without even noticing it, abdicated; and his son, as unknowingly, had come into his inheritance.


    “Very well,” he said. “You think Karel’s the man?”


    Turning from the bookshelves to look at him Itale caught in his face a shadow of pleasure, and did not understand. He had expected a battle on this subject. It alarmed him that Guide should give in easily and, giving in, smile. “Maybe I’m thinking ahead too far—”


    “Maybe,” Guide said. “There’s Payssy. Might do better than Karel. Go on, now, I’m supposed to lie here till suppertime.”


    Itale bowed and went out, and Guide lay back on the couch, obeying doctor’s orders. He felt a little empty, lightened; the way a woman might feel after childbirth, he thought: light, quiet, tired. A queer thing to be comparing himself to a woman, and a woman after childbirth. But there was Eleonora’s face, the morning of Itale’s birth: her smile then, the center of his life. Nothing of his own.


    There was a great red sunset over the lake, the weather was turning; the next day was hot, the next hotter.


    Itale was up at four, at the vineyards and the winery all day till dark. He saw nothing at all in the world beyond the vines, the grapes, the boxes, baskets, carts and wagons loaded with the grapes, the pressing tubs in a stone courtyard stained and reeking with must, the brief dark coolness of the storage cellars dug into the hillside, the swing of the sun across the hot September sky. Then that work was done; and other harvests from the fields and orchards were coming in. Silent and absorbed, irascible when pushed past the limit of his strength, otherwise patient, Itale got on with the work and never raised his eyes from it to look back or ahead. Most of his waking hours were spent outdoors, in the fields and orchards, and more of his time in the farm-buildings than in the house itself; he came in only to eat and sleep. When the work let up he went hunting several times with Bron’s grandson Payssy and Berke Gavrey, with whom he had struck up a taciturn kind of friendship, or with Sangiusto. He went in to Portacheyka as seldom as possible, and paid no calls. When Rodenne or the Sorentays or other neighbors came to call he often stood in for Guide, receiving them with stiff courtesy, seeing to it that hospitality was prompt and unlimited, and then sitting silent, unparticipating, while they talked.


    His mother watched him, and said nothing. So she had watched Guide for thirty years. Often at her housework or at night, lying awake in autumn darkness, she thought of the merry child, the awkward, gallant boy, and the man she had seen him—barely seen him—becoming. It had not been this man; this somber, restless, silent man, this second Guide—yet not like Guide as she had first known him, for Guide as a young man had rejoiced in his work, and had suffered no defeat. In Eleonora’s heart those October nights was the same bitter resentment against the world that offers so vast a chance to the young spirit and, when it comes to the point, gives so narrow a lot; the same scorn and resentment that her daughter had felt, that Piera had felt, and that she recognised in them, but with little hope for them and none for herself.


    Sangiusto worked along with Itale, made himself useful and pleasant in the house, went sailing in Falkone. Karantay’s fiancée had sent a necessarily cryptic warning: the government had Sangiusto’s name and description and were watching for him at the borders as a professional revolutionary. At this Sangiusto, as if accepting a challenge, announced that he would walk out, over the mountains, past Val Altesma, where there were no border stations. “What for?” Itale said. “Where to?”


    “To France.”


    “Don’t leave me in the lurch now.”


    “I’ll go when we have the pears done.”


    “You can’t cross the mountains in winter.”


    “Next spring,” Sangiusto said. And he stayed; so easy, steady, and cheerful a man that Itale, in his present mood, took him quite for granted, never questioning the character of their congeniality, scarcely remembering its origins. He forgot even that before their meeting lay a life of which he knew nothing. One day in late October, the first day of rain, he came by the pear orchards to pick up Sangiusto and could not find him. He tethered his horse and the one he had led, and hunted the orchard aisles for twenty minutes before he came on his friend standing with a peculiar expression under a tree. Off down an alley a garnet-red skirt and white blouse twinkled, vanished. The rain pattered softly, multitudinously, on leaf and grass. “I’ve been calling,” he accused, wet and annoyed.


    “Yes. I heard.” Sangiusto blinked, pushed off from the tree, came along beside him.


    “Was that Marta’s Annina?”


    “Yes.”


    Itale strode along through the wet grass for a while. “She’s barely fifteen.”


    “I know.”


    They mounted their horses, rode in silence. Suddenly Sangiusto began to laugh, and Itale flushed red.


    “I know, I know. But someone must talk to pretty girls, look at them, neh? What are they pretty for?”


    “I feel—”


    “Responsible, of course. I will not make her pregnant.”


    “I know that.”


    “Then why are you so angry?” Sangiusto said in a slightly different tone. “Angry with me? What do you want of me? You want dignity, abstinence, romantic passion? I have had all that. I would rather kiss pretty girls in an orchard. I am ten years older than you, sad to say. I have had the romantic passion. I was in love, betrothed to a young lady. That was in 1819. Oh, God, I was in love, I wrote poetry, I got thin. So also I got sent to prison and got still more thin, and she married, in Milan, she married an Austrian officer. I learnt it when I came out of prison. So. So there I am. Austria has taken my children from me before they were ever born. . . . So I cross the mountains and become nobody, always in exile. But I have nothing more to do with that, ever again, with love, with young ladies. But if I meet Annina and she smiles? Gesumaria, Itale, what do you want?”


    Itale stammered, “Sorry, Francesco,” and was red, and silent. But as his shame began to cool he wondered a little at the strength, the circumstantiality, of Sangiusto’s disclaimer.


    The Italian meantime, placid as ever, made his young horse prance, lifted his face to the rain falling from the ragged, drifting clouds, and hummed; he burst out in a strong tenor, “Un soave non so che. . . . Ha! that pig Rossini! You know he wrote an oratorio for Metternich, The Holy Alliance? Musicians are idiots, blessed idiots, God has exempted them from reason. Look there, your count has already picked his pippin apples. Maybe we start? That little countess is very wise with her orchards.”


    Itale made no answer. They trotted along through the rain, towards the house on the shore.


    Before he saw the Valtorskars on his second night home he had been nervous, but as soon as he saw them his apprehension and excitement had vanished. He had greeted Count Orlant with affection, grieved to see how the robust man had aged. Beside him was Piera, hardly changed, he thought, though she must be twenty-one or twenty-two now: still small, a round girlish face, a timid girlish manner, a smile and a few polite words. The vividness and vitality of her childhood were gone, leached away no doubt by this lonely life, replaced by no richer being, no opulence of womanhood. She was sterile, faded before flower. He saw this with a kind of luxuriation in the bitterness of being once again confirmed in the conviction that had come upon him first clearly in the wayside inn at Bara: the conviction that all he had worked for, that his whole understanding of freedom, had been delusion—moonshine, verbiage. Estenskar had seen it. This girl, in her way, had seen it. The Jew Moyshe knew it; and the girl in Bara, the girl with dull eyes and thick, chapped, dirty hands, knew nothing but her own wants which would never be filled and knew it better than them all: There is no freedom.


    Laura was in the garden behind the house, in a tentlike cape and shapeless hat, pruning the roses her grandfather had planted. The year’s last flowering was over, and the leaves looked rusty on the gnarled, rainwet stocks. She looked round as the two horsemen came down the road, and held up her pruning-shears in salute.


    “Ah, there—” said Sangiusto unexpectedly, made a sweeping gesture, and said nothing else.


    Laura came to the garden fence. “Drowned rats,” she said.


    “You prune back your roses too early!”


    “I’m just taking off dead wood and canes.”


    Itale consciously held back his horse and watched them, the tall woman smiling, her fine, thin hands wet with rain, and the man handsome and vigorous on his horse, asking her something about mandevilia suaveolens.


    “Yes, by the front walk,” she said. “The only one in the valley. Grandfather planted it.”


    “Here, I take the horse around and come back.”


    “I’ll take him,” Itale said. Sangiusto gave Itale the reins, vaulted the fence, and went off with Laura through the wet autumnal garden.


    “Nothing more to do with that ever again, eh?” thought Itale, leading the grey horse to the stables, and his heart was confused between tenderness and rancor.


    October ended full of rain and mist, with a few last golden evenings; November came in cold; in midmonth Itale waking one morning saw from his window the Hunter whitened with snow against a dark grey sky. Work slackened, the farm was settling into its winter patience. Though the roads were foul there was much calling and visiting among the farms and households of Val Malafrena, every afternoon there were people in the front room, women’s voices, Eva trotting past with a tray of cakes and strawberry wine and cherry brandy, or else Kass was bringing out the gig to drive Eleonora and Laura to the Pannes’ or the Sorentays’. In the cold weather Guide seldom went out. He worked at small jobs, the kind of harness-mending, tool-sharpening, furniture-repairing that he had used to leave to servants or get done in a half hour before breakfast; he took his rest on the couch in the library dutifully, and then came to the front room, if there were no visitors, to sit down and work his way slowly and thoughtfully, with long pauses, through Virgil. His copy of the Aeneid had been his own in school, then Itale’s, and was full of schoolboy glosses. He held it off on his knees to read, being very farsighted. It was strange to Itale, who had never seen him read, to see him sit there perfectly still, the book a yard from his eyes, so that it appeared that he did not so much read as absorb by long silent watching the story in the scarred and scribbled book, the tenderness, heroism, and pain. If visitors came he greeted them but often returned to his solitude in the library; if it was Eleonora, Laura, Piera, he stayed with them. And Itale too, when he came in at dusk and took off his sheepskin coat, was content to be in the company of his family; then, not before. He was at the mercy of a driving restlessness, the same strained, unreasoning energy that had taken him back from the Sovena to Krasnoy, through the sixty hours of the August insurrection, on out of Krasnoy, to Bara, to Malafrena, through the vintage, through the autumn. Now that it was winter and there was less to do he made work, or walked, or hunted. Only when he was physically worn out could he turn home and be content to sit down by the fire, talk with Guide about the work, with Sangiusto about events in Greece and Belgium; with the women he found little to say.


    He came in one night early in December. Rain had followed snow, the ground was boggy, the air heavy with a soft, chill mist. Despite his tireless activity he had found that he still got cold easily and suffered a good deal from it: as if he carried St Lazar with him in the marrow of his bones. He was very cold this evening, and headed for the hearth directly. It was a Saturday; Emanuel and Perneta were there, Count Orlant and Piera; even Auntie, now one hundred years old, was ensconced in a straight chair with a ball of red wool in her lap. Talking, they had let the night come in. It was dark except for the firelight. Sangiusto had been telling them something about his years in England—he was as good as any storybook to this audience—and Count Orlant summed up the subject: “A fine, enterprising race, the English. They’ve done wonders in astronomy.”


    Guide looked up as his son came by his chair in the firelit dusk of the room. “You’re here too, Itale?” he said.


    The dark room, four candles, the room where death was, and his father’s voice.


    “I’m here.” He sat down on the hearthseat near Guide’s chair, and put out his hands to the fire, repressing a tremor, feeling he would never get warm.


    “Itale dear,” said his mother in serene greeting. “Are you starved? Eva’s having trouble with the chicken. Old George. He’s taking hours and all he’s fit for is soup in the first place. And the mutton’s drying up. But there really is no use even trying to argue with Eva any longer, after all she’s run that kitchen thirty years, we must all just get old and cross together. Although it’s rather hard on you young ones. But your teeth are better. . . .”


    “Is it still raining?” Count Orlant asked.


    “Aye. Harder.”


    The conversation sprang up again, he and Guide sitting silent.


    Piera too was silent, across the hearth from him. She spoke little when the families were together. Itale had seen her and Laura talking away a whole afternoon here by the hearth or down on the slope by the boat house, but she seemed to talk only to Laura. He glanced at her, thinking how Sangiusto had more than once remarked on her beauty. Sangiusto was rather given to finding women beautiful, but did he himself in this case, for some reason, merely persuade himself that she was plain? Her features certainly were good, her figure unexceptionable. But she was plain. No wonder, with her life spent between Malafrena and Portacheyka, two years in a convent school in Aisnar, a broken engagement to a widower in his forties, an aging household, filling up her time by trying to run the estate—no wonder she was dry and colorless, a withered branch. Life had defeated her before she had got fairly started. She was weak, and had been given no weapons with which to delay the inevitable, to fight back a while before she lost the hopeless struggle. It was not her fault.


    The hot, bright fire had begun to sting his face pleasantly and he felt the heat of it through his shirt. She had put up a hand to screen her face from it. She looked at him above that delicate, red-lit hand. “We haven’t seen you for several days,” he said, wanting to be kind.


    “No,” she said, “the weather’s been so bad. I have a book for you, I finally remembered to bring it along.”


    “A book?”


    “Yes. It’s yours, and I haven’t any more use for it.”


    Itale stared at her.


    “You’ve probably forgotten. It was a long time ago you lent it to me, five years ago. It’s called The New Life.”


    “I didn’t lend it to you. I gave it to you.”


    “I’m giving it back,” said Piera.


    Emanuel was watching the two of them, profiled against the fire. Itale looked floored. Evidently Piera had got tired of being overlooked. She would know how to make herself felt, once she put her mind to it; she had become formidable in her competence. Berke Gavrey, her obedient lieutenant, had told Emanuel that she had doubled the cash income of Valtorsa in two years, and was laying out the profit on improvements. Emanuel had seen her at estate business in Portacheyka, and had acted as her lawyer or legal adviser several times; he had found her both prudent and decisive, an excellent client, though he would have been happier with her qualities if they belonged to a young man. “She’s extremely strong-willed,” he had said to Perneta, who had replied, “And you would prefer her to be weak-minded?”—unfairly, he thought. But if she could shake Itale out of his silence, more power to her. To do that would require strength, and wits. It was easy to floor Itale, he was never on guard; but it was not easy to touch, or hold, or change him.


    “Piera,” Itale said, across the hearth, “I—”


    “I’ll write something in it, if you like, to make it more of a present.”


    “No—”


    “Here ends the new life. With affection, from Piera Valtorskar. Would that do? It’s right over there in my sewing bag on the chest.”


    “Piera, listen, it was—it was a long time ago, but—”


    “Times change.”


    “I won’t take it back. Burn it if you like!” Itale got up, strode off to the south windows, and stood there with his back to them all.


    Piera sat by the fire; her face half in shadow, half lit red by the flames, had turned to watch Itale. She did not move. Her hands lay clasped together in her lap.


    Dinner was announced at last. As Itale went in to the dining room with Perneta he watched his sister and Sangiusto, ahead of him. Laura and Francesco!—sonnets to fair ladies, it was too much. He had been a fool to bring the Italian here, and Sangiusto, a homeless, aimless man, should know better than to play at Petrarch while hiding from the Imperial police. What did he or Laura think could come of it? They were sleep-walking, play-acting. Yesterday Sangiusto had said to him, “I wish all my money was not bound up in our land, in the Piedmont, I think I could be a good farmer here,—fifty acres of orchard like that one—” Then he had laughed, and let his lively horse out, and cantered on ahead of Itale, singing, “Un soave non so che . . .”


    At table, serious now, he said across the mutton, “Itale, your sister has explained Karantay’s letter, perhaps.”


    A second letter from Karantay had come that week, containing some news of mutual friends and recent events, and, towards the end, in the midst of a sentence about something else, a curious clause: “Now that I am no longer a writer of fiction.” They had discussed it at some length, as all letters, all outside news, always get discussed in winter in the Montayna, and had speculated on the implications of that clause, arriving at no explanation.


    “I wondered,” Laura said, “if he means that he hasn’t recovered from his injury—that he’s not well enough to write. It seems his marriage has been put off. And you said, when his first letter came, how much his handwriting had changed.”


    “What happened to him?” Perneta inquired.


    “A sabre cut, in the charge on Palazay Street. A head wound.”


    “Poor chap,” Count Orlant said.


    “I thought he meant—” Itale began, and stopped. Laura’s theory was sickeningly plausible. “It can’t be that,” he said.


    “He can get better,” Sangiusto said, calm as always, hopeful as always, but revealing for once, unknowing, perhaps to Itale’s eyes only, the foundation of his hopefulness and calmness, the intense unchanging sadness that was the condition of his life.


    “I enjoyed his book a good deal, in places,” Perneta said.


    “I loved it,” Eleonora said. “I wish you’d give it back, Perneta, you’ve had it three years, and I’ve been wanting to see it; when I got near the end it was so upsetting.”


    “You mean you never finished it, Lele?” Emanuel inquired, grinning.


    “I didn’t want to. I was afraid he was going to die. I know it’s silly to cry over books, but I always used to cry over the New Heloise, and there’s a great deal more to cry over in this one.”


    “It has a happy ending, mama,” Laura said, with her broad, sweet smile.


    “I kept thinking that the young man, what’s his name,” Perneta said, “—Liyve, was like Itale.”


    “Of course, that’s what made me cry,” Eleonora said.


    “Karantay had the book planned out before he ever knew me,” Itale said with covert violence.


    “None the less it can be true to life,” Sangiusto remarked. “He writes about his generation.”


    “But it’s not true to life. It’s a great book but it’s in some ways a false one—Karantay himself is absolutely levelheaded and honest, but the book’s all heights and depths and exaggerations; people don’t behave like that.”


    “Why write a romance about unromantic people?” Emanuel inquired.


    “It’s a great book, of course, it’s the best we have, but he could have done—he could do much greater things!”


    “And will,” Sangiusto said, raising his wine glass as if in a private toast. “God willing.”


    The conversation drifted on, the good, heavy food came and was eaten, the plain, familial faces in the candle light brightened with conviviality. Itale, doubly shaken, avoided looking at Piera at all, and tried to avoid the thought of Karantay; he drank more wine than usual, but his unhappy self-consciousness continued. They were there, around him, his own people, but he was not one of them. They were at home, all of them but him. What have I done? he thought. Why have I no home?


    “You wrote about some man once, down there,” Guide said to him without preliminary, “that knew my father. Who was he?”


    Startled from his brooding, he tried to describe Count Helleskar. His description sounded inevitably like one of the characters in Karantay’s novel, and fascinated his hearers; they asked questions, leading him on to explain how he had met old Helleskar through his son, and to mention the Paludeskars, Enrike and Luisa.


    “Countess Luisa,” said Perneta. “She’s in the book!”


    “They’re not alike.”


    “The one in the book is very beautiful,” Laura said, not innocently.


    “So is the one in flesh and blood,” Emanuel said, soberly, almost with reproof.


    “Yes,” Piera said, “she is. I think the most beautiful woman I ever saw.”


    “Where did you see her?” Itale demanded, shocked into speech by the idea, incredible to him, of Luisa and Piera in the same room.


    “In Aisnar; at my fiancé’s house.”


    “I knew she was good,” Eleonora said, speaking soberly as Emanuel had done, “I’m glad she’s beautiful too.” She looked at Itale with a faint anxiety or query.


    “She’s to be married,” Laura said. “It’s in Mr Karantay’s letter.”


    “To George Helleskar. This spring,” Itale said.


    “I drink to her happiness,” said Emanuel; and they raised their glasses, and drank to her, and talked of other things.


    III


    The next day the weather was so foul that only Laura had the determination to set off for church. As she was waiting at the stable for Kass to hitch up the horse—the horse sidling ill-temperedly, trying to get his tail to the wind, and Kass swearing as he struggled with the harness—her brother appeared. “I’ll drive you over,” he said.


    “Don’t trouble, Itale.”


    Unheeding, he brought the horse around with a slap, hitched him, gave Laura a hand up; and they set off along the lake-shore road to San Larenz through the dripping, wind-twisted woods. To the left, between bare trees, the lake lay grey and flat.


    “When did you stop going to church?”


    “I’m going now,” he said.


    The horse plodded on through mud, branches dripped, now and then sleet cut and stung in a light shower.


    “In jail,” Laura said. “When you were in jail—”


    After a little while he answered, “I couldn’t think about much. My mind wouldn’t hold. It was always dark. The closest I could get to God was mathematics. . . . It wasn’t much good. Do you know what worked? Not very often, but the only thing that ever did. I wouldn’t think of God’s love. I would think about the water inside the boat house in afternoon in summer, when the light comes from underneath. Or the plates—the dinner plates, the ones we used last night. If I could see them I was all right. So much for the things of the spirit. . . .”


    “Except the Lord build the house,” Laura said, almost in a whisper, but with a smile.


    He did not know what she meant. Though it had been a relief to speak of St Lazar it had been a great effort also, and he drove on in silence.


    Several people of the Valtorsa household had come to St Anthony’s: Piera, Berke Gavrey, Mariya and a couple of maids, Godin the coachman. The little chapel was bitter cold, full to the roof with cold grey light. Itale sat, stood, knelt with the rest of them through the Mass. Only when Father Klement began, “Credo in unoom Deoom!” he wanted to laugh, but with sudden pleasure. He saw what Laura had meant. He saw why she had been able to say to him, “You are my freedom,” knowing what he had not known, that she was his freedom; that you cannot leave home unless there is a home to leave. Who builds the house, and for whom is it built, for whom kept?


    Father Klement, as usual, wanted to speak to Laura after the service. Itale waited for her in the porch of the chapel. Old Mariya and the Valtorsa maids were there, waiting for Godin and Gavrey to bring the buckboard around; Piera came out, retying her kerchief. She glanced at Itale, said hello in her polite way, and went on down the steps, into wind and rain. But there was nowhere to go. She stood down at the churchyard gate at the edge of a sea of mud, small and erect, her back turned.


    He followed her. “Why don’t you wait in the porch?”


    She did not answer or turn round.


    “Go back out of the rain. I’ll stay down here,” he said, softly, half teasing.


    She looked up at him with her clear eyes. She was in tears, or the wind had made her eyes water. “If you like,” she said, and went back up the steps. Gavrey drove up, the Valtorsa people climbed into the buckboard and rolled off under the pines.


    He turned back and stood with his hands on the gate, looking out at the lake and the dark mountains on the other side. The wind was in his eyes. A sky of grey clouds ran overhead, ceaseless, in rapid, silent tumult. He remembered the sky over the courtyard of St Lazar; so the clouds had run there all winter long, three winters long, indifferent, unattainable, beautiful. There was nothing to keep. Life ran like the clouds. One voyaged and the other stayed, yet they met on the way; and in their meeting was all the goal of voyaging, and all the substance of fidelity. The shape and motion of a cloud.


    A few yards from him across the gate of the churchyard lay the grave marked with his grandfather’s name, his name. He thought of the moment last night, the earliest and most terrible memory roused when his father had said, “You’re here too, Itale?” But it was no longer terrible. “I’m here,” he said into the wind.


    His sister was out in the chapel porch now, and he went round to bring up the trap. As they drove back, the wind was weaker and a fine, wintry, drifting rain whispered on the road and passed in dim masses over the forest and the lake. The mountains were full of the sound of the rain.


    The winter was endlessly wet but there was not much snow, and spring came early. By mid-March then the north wind cleared the sky, the forest rippled paler green, showing new growth at the tips of the dark branches, and the same light, clear green broke in the waves of the lake on windy mornings. Since it rained hard on the morning of the solstice, Laura and Itale put off the trip they had planned to Evalde until the next fair day. It rained almost daily well into April, and by that time Laura, without consulting her brother, had invited everybody else to come along, and Sangiusto and the Valtorskars had accepted. Itale was annoyed. He had anticipated the trip as he had in his boyhood, a solitary course, at dawn, in the little boat, the ceremony with which spring began. He had thought Laura understood that and felt the same way. This would be a mere pleasure-trip, a picnic over at the caverns, meaningless. And there would be all the constraint of being in Piera’s company. Ever since he had seen her drive off under the pines of San Larenz that winter day he had felt he must speak to her, but he was not certain, when it came to the point, what he wanted to say; and in any case he was unable to, since she was unwilling to say anything to him at all.


    Falkone could not carry five, and they were planning to go in Mazeppa. That was the last straw. He would not sail across in that cow of a boat. He wanted his own boat under his own hand, and he said, autocratic, “I want to take Falkone.” So there he was on a morning of early April, his boat skimming over the water a quarter mile ahead of the other, with Piera sitting in the stern to steer.


    They went a mile before anything was said, except Itale’s orders concerning steering as he tried to catch the fresh, fitful wind. At last they were sailing steadily, the house on its peninsula grown small behind them under the great slope of San Givan. The sound of the cascade came faint and clear over the water in the silence of the midlake. Piera sat with her hand on the tiller, her dark head turned away from him. “I wish there was more wind,” she said, “and we could sail clear to Kiassafonte.”


    “Takes a good wind and all day,” Itale said.


    She watched him as he stood up, coatless, long-legged, to recoil a rope from the gear box. The sunlight of April poured down on his head, his back, his hands, the lake beyond him, the mountains above the lake. The wind blew his brown hair, grown out long again, across his eyes; he brushed it away with a gesture she remembered.


    “Has anybody ever sailed down the Kiassa?”


    “Pier Sorentay took a rowboat down once on a dare. Broke up on a rock just past the village.”


    “Hoy! Hoy there!”


    “There’s papa dancing about.”


    “Shall we turn?”


    “No,” said Piera.


    They went on. The hails from Mazeppa ceased.


    “I don’t suppose they’re sinking,” Piera said doubtfully, looking back.


    “No. Envious,” said Itale, whose heart was growing lighter as they sailed on through the wind and sun. But their wind was beginning to fail them, and the lake lay glassy.


    “Are we going to have to row?”


    “Probably when we come under the lee of the Hunter.”


    “It’s so still; it’s like sailing in air. . . .”


    Their wind lasted until they entered the gulf of Evalde in the shadow of the overhanging mountain. There the air was hot and still in the fire of noon, the clear brown water utterly motionless. Itale rowed. Before them loomed the dark cliffs and basalt columns of the shore; they heard but could not see the cascade, hidden from them by the cleft it had cut itself in the jutting cliffs.


    “Like rowing in oil,” he said, whispering, in the strange hush of the gulf that had no sound in it but the dull vibration of the river plunging to the lake.


    They came to the landing place, a gravel beach a few yards long, to the right of the Hermit’s Rock. Itale raised the oars and got his breath a minute before landing the boat. “Winded,” he said, with reference to the general direction of Piera.


    She did not say anything, but took the little dipper from under the stern seat, dipped it up full of the transparent lake water, and offered it to him. He took it from her and drank.


    He ran the boat up on the beach with one great push of the oars and a flying leap, when it touched gravel, to pull it up so that Piera could step out dryshod: his timing was perfect, elegant, and he was smiling with pleasure as he handed Piera out of the boat.


    Mazeppa was just at the entrance of the gulf, a black blot on the bright water.


    “Are they rowing yet?”


    Farsighted like Guide, he looked and said, “Yes.”


    “No lunch for a while, then.”


    The cascade thundered across the water, muted, tremendous.


    “Let’s go up to the top of the falls.”


    A path of sorts wound up past the Hermit’s Rock to the top of the cliffs. Piera set off at once, very quick in her dark red skirt, unhesitating even when the way was nothing but a jump from one boulder to another, or when the black broken rock of the cliffside slid and rattled underfoot. Long after her, Itale came out at the top of the climb, in open sunlight, at the head of the falls where the river escaped from the cavern to plunge down its vertical cleft to the lake. They watched it till they were dizzy and deafened, and still went on watching it; at last they went to sit on the stone-broken grass under a low wall-like cliff, the outer wall of the caverns. The dark rock was full of a vibration like distant thunder: the roar of the imprisoned river.


    “Will they know we’re up here?”


    “Laura will bring them. We always came up here.”


    Piera got up again, trying to see the other boat through the pines below the clearing. The sunlit air was warm about them. Restless, nervous, she wandered down the wild slope among the rocks, near the edge of the falls.


    “Piera.”


    “Yes?”


    “What is this?”


    She came over slowly, listening for the voices of their people through the dull roar of the river. Itale held out to her a spray of small rock plant. She took it, and sat down with a small sigh.


    “I don’t know. It’s pretty; like a fern with flowers.”


    “It only grows here.”


    Piera sat twirling the flowered spray, gazing at the contorted rocks, the pines that grew tall among them, the bright lake out beyond the gulf. The sun, straight overhead in the dark blue sky, poured down heat and light till the clearing brimmed like a cup.


    “Piera, I need to ask you. . . . Is Laura in love?”


    “Of course,” she said without turning.


    “Francesco spoke to me last night. He said if I decided he should not, he won’t speak to father. I don’t know what I should do.”


    She was watching him now; not with the reproach or irony he had feared.


    “Of course it’s up to Laura. But it will upset father badly. Not without reason. Francesco is a homeless man, dependent on his sister’s sending him enough to live on. Austria will hound him all his life, I suppose. He could go to France or England, but what would Laura do there? She never wanted to leave Malafrena. . . . I brought him here. It is my responsibility. I don’t know what to say.”


    “Why shouldn’t she leave Malafrena? It was me that wanted to stay. She has always wanted to go, to see things. Where he is would be her home.”


    Itale was silent for a bit. “He can’t leave now. They’ll arrest him at the border.”


    “Perhaps not with a wife and a false name,” Piera suggested, mildly, but startling Itale.


    “You and Laura have talked about this?”


    “Not about that. . . . We haven’t really ever said much at all. About that. I know she loves him. Why can’t they stay here? As long as they want to, I mean. Nobody’s using the old Dowerhouse. I thought of having it fitted up. He certainly is a very useful man on a farm.”


    “Yes, he is,” Itale said, bemused.


    “You could take him into partnership.”


    “Into partnership.”


    “Then if one of you wanted to go back down there, there would be one of you running the estate.”


    “Yes.”


    “And since no one is using the Dowerhouse, they could live there. I’d like to have it looked after.”


    “Wait a minute,” he said. Then presently, “It all seems practicable. You must—you must have thought about this a good deal?”


    “Of course I have.”


    Her voice trembled as she spoke. He looked at her again intently, wonderingly; his face was grave and still.


    “There was something I wanted to say to you, too,” she said; her voice, over-controlled, sounded thin. He nodded, acceptant; she paused for a long time.


    “There are so many reasons. Habit. And the land adjoining at so many places. And so on. And I suppose they talked about it when we were children, people always do. I’m sorry I was unpleasant to you, that night, last winter. That was stupid. I was just trying to say what I want to say now. That people will think we will—we are likely to get married, but they’re mistaken; and that keeps us from being friends.” The small, strained voice trembled continually, like the trembling of water, but remained clear. “I should like to be your friend.”


    “You are,” he said almost inaudibly; but his heart said, you are my house, my home; the journey and the journey’s end; my care, and sleep after care.


    “All right,” she said, this time with a great sigh; and they were silent for a while, there on the grass in the great heat and light of noon.


    “You will go back, down there, some day, won’t you?”


    “When I can.”


    “Good,” she said, and smiled suddenly. “I wasn’t sure. . . .”


    “Then will you keep the Vita Nova?”


    “I said I was sorry,” she said angrily.


    “Up this way, Count Orlant!” called Laura’s voice down among the pines.


    “You have to keep it,” he said with intensity. “I didn’t know why I left till I came back—I have to come back to find that I have to go again. I haven’t even begun the new life yet. I am always beginning it. I will die beginning it. Will you keep it for me, Piera?”


    “There they are!” Sangiusto proclaimed from the top of the path.


    Piera looked at Itale directly for one instant, then scrambled to her feet and went to greet the others. “Well, well, well,” said Count Orlant surmounting the last steps of the way heavily, “what a pull. Hello, daughter.”


    “Did you have to row? You took so long.”


    “Indeed we did. Laura and I pulled two strokes to Mr Sangiusto’s one, and still we went in circles.”


    “I thought you two would be keeping cool in the caverns,” said Laura. “It’s as hot as summer here!”


    “Have an apple, your face is purple,” said Sangiusto, proffering the hamper.


    “What a lovely thing of you to say! Yes, I will. Do we want lunch now?”


    “Yes,” Itale said. “All of it.”


    “No, I want to see the caverns,” Sangiusto announced, stretching his strong arms and looking about him blissfully.


    “Then give me an apple, fratello mio.”


    “Stay him with flagons,” Count Orlant said, “comfort him with apples. Are you all going, then?”


    “Won’t you come, count?”


    “No, I want to sit down right here. Caverns and torrents and all that are for the young. Leave me with the lunch. Go on! You don’t think I’ll eat it all?”


    “All right, we’ll be back in half an hour.”


    “Wear your hat if you’re sitting out in the sun, papa.”


    “Leave us some bones and peelings, count!”


    “Go on, go on.”

  


  
    SONGS

  


  
    Folk Song from the Montayna Province


    The circles widen and widen


    Of light from the white sun.


    O neither wife nor maiden,


    Why do you go alone?


    Farther the hawk and farther


    Over the hills in the sun.


    I go, neither maid nor mother,


    Alone, alone, alone.

  


  
    Red Berries (Montayna Province)


    Rosce pevenne su para atonay


    dor amore dor tu amor


    Kurule canta na foskaye silvay


    dor amore a matine


    Grige a scender atonay umor


    dor amore dor tu amor


    Kor miye kassate a kasser ankor


    dor amore a matine

  


  
    The Walls of Rákava

    (Polana Province)


    Na Rákava sui altiy muriy


    amor miye lassava.


    Voliya tornare na Rákava


    ove no ten klava.


    O muriy Rákavay,


    uvi tuya klava?

  


  
    STORIES

  


  
    ORSINIAN TALES


    

  


  
    The Fountains


    


    THEY KNEW, having given him cause, that Dr Kereth might attempt to seek political asylum in Paris. Therefore, on the plane flying west, in the hotel, on the streets, at the meetings, even while he read his paper to the Cytology section, he was distantly accompanied at all times by obscure figures who might be explained as graduate students or Croatian microbiologists, but who had no names, or faces. Since his presence lent not only distinction to his country’s delegation but also a certain luster to his government—See, we let even him come—they had wanted him there; but they kept him in sight. He was used to being in sight. In his small country a man could get out of sight only by not moving at all, by keeping voice, body, brain all quiet. He had always been a restless, visible man. Thus when all at once on the sixth day in the middle of a guided tour in broad daylight he found himself gone, he was confused for a time. Only by walking down a path could one achieve one’s absence?


    It was in a very strange place that he did so. A great, desolate, terrible house stood behind him yellow in the yellow sunlight of afternoon. Thousands of many-colored dwarfs milled on terraces, beyond which a pale blue canal ran straight away into the unreal distance of September. The lawns ended in groves of chestnut trees a hundred feet high, noble, somber, shot through with gold. Under the trees they had walked in shadow on the riding-paths of dead kings, but the guide led them out again to sunlight on lawns and marble pavements. And ahead, straight ahead, towering and shining up into the air, fountains ran.


    They sprang and sang high above their marble basins in the light. The petty, pretty rooms of the palace as big as a city where no one lived, the indifference of the noble trees that were the only fit inhabitants of a garden too large for men, the dominance of autumn and the past, all this was brought into proportion by the running of water. The phonograph voices of the guides fell silent, the camera eyes of the guided saw. The fountains leapt up, crashed down exulting, and washed death away.


    They ran for forty minutes. Then they ceased. Only kings could afford to run the Great Fountains of Versailles and live forever. Republics must keep their own proportion. So the high white jets shrank, stuttering. The breasts of nymphs ran dry, the mouths of river-gods gaped black. The tremendous voice of uprushing and downfalling water became a rattling, coughing sigh. It was all through, and everyone stood for a moment alone. Adam Kereth turned, and seeing a path before him went down it away from the marble terraces, under the trees. Nobody followed him; and it was at this moment, though he was unaware of it, that he defected.


    Late-afternoon light lay warm across the path between shadows, and through the light and shadows a young man and a young woman walked hand in hand. A long way behind them Adam Kereth walked by himself, tears running down his cheeks.


    Presently the shadows fell away from him and he looked up to see no path, no lovers, only a vast tender light and, below him, many little round trees in tubs. He had come to the terrace above the Orangerie. Southward from this high place one saw only forest, France a broad forest in the autumn evening. Horns blew no longer, rousing wolf or wild boar for the king’s hunt; there was no great game left. The only tracks in that forest would be the footprints of young lovers who had come out from Paris on the bus, and walked among the trees, and vanished.


    With no intent, unconscious still of his defection, Kereth roamed back along wide walks towards the palace, which stood now in the sinking light no longer yellow but colorless, like a sea-cliff over a beach when the last bathers are leaving. From beyond it came a dim roar like surf, engines of tourist busses starting back to Paris. Kereth stood still. A few small figures hurried on the terraces between silent fountains. A woman’s voice far off called to a child, plaintive as a gull’s cry. Kereth turned around and without looking back, intent now, conscious, erect as one who has just stolen something—a pine­apple, a purse, a loaf—from a counter and has got it hidden under his coat, he strode back into the dusk among the trees.


    “This is mine,” he said aloud to the high chestnuts and the oaks, like a thief among policemen. “This is mine!” The oaks and chestnuts, French, planted for aristocrats, did not answer his fierce republican claim made in a foreign language. But all the same their darkness, the taciturn, complicit darkness of all forests where fugitives have hidden, gathered around him.


    He was not long in the groves, an hour or less; there were gates to be locked and he did not want to be locked in. That was not what he was here for. So before nightfall he came up the terraces, still walking erect and calm as any king or kleptomaniac, and went around the huge, pale, many-windowed sea-cliff and across its cobbled beach. One bus still chuffed there, a blue bus, not the grey one he dreaded. His bus was gone. Gone, washed out to sea, with the guide, the colleagues, the fellow countrymen, the microbiologists, the spies. Gone and left him in possession of Versailles. Above him Louis XIV, foreshortened on a prodigious horse, asserted the existence of absolute privilege. Kereth looked up at the bronze face, the big bronze Bourbon nose, as a child looks up at his older brother, loving and derisive. He went on through the gates, and in a café across the Paris road his sister served him vermouth at a dusty green table under sycamores. The wind of night and autumn blew from the south, from the forests, and like the vermouth its scent was a little bitter, an odor of dry leaves.


    A free man, he took his own way in his own time to the suburban station, bought his own ticket, returned to Paris by himself. Where he came up out of the Metro nobody knows, perhaps not himself, nor where he wandered in the city while defecting. At eleven o’clock at night he was standing at the parapet of the Solferino Bridge, a short man of forty-seven in a shoddy suit, a free man. He watched the lights of the bridge and of farther bridges tremble on the black river running quietly. Up and down the river on either bank stood the asylums: the Government of France, the Embassies of America and England. He had walked past them all. Perhaps it was too late at night to enter them. Standing on the bridge there in the middle, between the Left Bank and the Right Bank, he thought: There are no hiding places left. There are no thrones; no wolves, no boars; even the lions of Africa are dying out. The only safe place is the zoo.


    But he had never cared much about being safe, and now thought that he did not care much about hiding either, having found something better: his family, his inheritance. Here he had at last walked in the garden larger than life, on paths where his older brothers had gone before him, crowned. After that he really could not take refuge in the zoo. He went on across the bridge and under the dark arches of the Louvre, returning to his hotel. Knowing now that he was both a king and a thief and so was at home anywhere, what turned him to his own land was mere fidelity. For what else should move a man, these days? Kingly he strode past the secret-police agent in the hotel lobby, hiding under his coat the stolen, inexhaustible fountains.


    1960

  


  
    The Barrow


    


    NIGHT CAME DOWN along the snowy road from the mountains. Darkness ate the village, the stone tower of Vermare Keep, the barrow by the road. Darkness stood in the corners of the rooms of the Keep, sat under the great table and on every rafter, waited behind the shoulders of each man at the hearth.


    The guest sat in the best place, a corner seat projecting from one side of the twelve-foot fireplace. The host, Freyga, Lord of the Keep, Count of the Montayna, sat with everybody else on the hearthstones, though nearer the fire than some. Cross-legged, his big hands on his knees, he watched the fire steadily. He was thinking of the worst hour he had known in his twenty-three years, a hunting trip, three autumns ago, to the mountain lake Malafrena. He thought of how the thin barbarian arrow had stuck up straight from his father’s throat; he remembered how the cold mud had oozed against his knees as he knelt by his father’s body in the reeds, in the circle of the dark mountains. His father’s hair had stirred a little in the lake-water. And there had been a strange taste in his own mouth, the taste of death, like licking bronze. He tasted bronze now. He listened for the women’s voices in the room overhead.


    The guest, a travelling priest, was talking about his travels. He came from Solariy, down in the southern plains. Even merchants had stone houses there, he said. Barons had palaces, and silver platters, and ate roast beef. Count Freyga’s liege men and servants listened open-mouthed. Freyga, listening to make the minutes pass, scowled. The guest had already complained of the stables, of the cold, of mutton for breakfast dinner and supper, of the dilapidated condition of Vermare Chapel and the way Mass was said there—“Arianism!” he had muttered, sucking in his breath and crossing himself. He told old Father Egius that every soul in Vermare was damned: they had received heretical baptism. “Arianism, Arianism!” he shouted. Father Egius, cowering, thought Arianism was a devil and tried to explain that no one in his parish had ever been possessed, except one of the count’s rams, who had one yellow eye and one blue one and had butted a pregnant girl so that she miscarried her child, but they had sprinkled holy water on the ram and it made no more trouble, indeed was a fine breeder, and the girl, who had been pregnant out of wedlock, had married a good peasant from Bara and borne him five little Christians, one a year. “Heresy, adultery, ignorance!” the foreign priest had railed. Now he prayed for twenty minutes before he ate his mutton, slaughtered, cooked, and served by the hands of heretics. What did he want? thought Freyga. Did he expect comfort, in winter? Did he think they were heathens, with his “Arianism”? No doubt he had never seen a heathen, the little, dark, terrible people of Malafrena and the farther hills. No doubt he had never had a pagan arrow shot at him. That would teach him the difference between heathens and Christian men, thought Freyga.


    When the guest seemed to have finished boasting for the time being, Freyga spoke to a boy who lay beside him chin in hand: “Give us a song, Gilbert.” The boy smiled and sat up, and began at once in a high, sweet voice:


    King Alexander forth he came,


    Armored in gold was Alexander,


    Golden his greaves and great helmet,


    His hauberk all of hammered gold.


    Clad in gold came the king,


    Christ he called on, crossing himself,


    In the hills at evening.


    Forward the army of King Alexander


    Rode on their horses, a great host,


    Down to the plains of Persia


    To kill and conquer, they followed the King,


    In the hills at evening.


    The long chant droned on; Gilbert had begun in the middle and stopped in the middle, long before the death of Alexander “in the hills at evening.” It did not matter; they all knew it from beginning to end.


    “Why do you have the boy sing of pagan kings?” said the guest.


    Freyga raised his head. “Alexander was a great king of Christendom.”


    “He was a Greek, a heathen idolator.”


    “No doubt you know the song differently than we do,” Freyga said politely. “As we sing it, it says, ‘Christ he called on, crossing himself.’”


    Some of his men grinned.


    “Maybe your servant would sing us a better song,” Freyga added, for his politeness was genuine. And the priest’s servant, without much urging, began to sing in a nasal voice a canticle about a saint who lived for twenty years in his father’s house, unrecognised, fed on scraps. Freyga and his household listened in fascination. New songs rarely came their way. But the singer stopped short, interrupted by a strange, shrieking howl from somewhere outside the room. Freyga leapt to his feet, staring into the darkness of the hall. Then he saw that his men had not moved, that they sat silently looking up at him. Again the faint howl came from the room overhead. The young count sat down. “Finish your song,” he said. The priest’s servant gabbled out the rest of the song. Silence closed down upon its ending.


    “Wind’s coming up,” a man said softly.


    “An evil winter it’s been.”


    “Snow to your thighs, coming through the pass from Malafrena yesterday.”


    “It’s their doing.”


    “Who? The mountain folk?”


    “Remember the gutted sheep we found last autumn? Kass said then it was an evil sign. They’d been killing to Odne, he meant.”


    “What else would it mean?”


    “What are you talking about?” the foreign priest demanded.


    “The mountain folk, Sir Priest. The heathen.”


    “What is Odne?”


    A pause.


    “What do you mean, killing to Odne?”


    “Well, sir, maybe it’s better not to talk about it.”


    “Why?”


    “Well, sir, as you said of the singing, holy things are better, tonight.” Kass the blacksmith spoke with dignity, only glancing up to indicate the room overhead; but another man, a young fellow with sores around his eyes, murmured, “The Barrow has ears, the Barrow hears. . . .”


    “Barrow? That hillock by the road, you mean?”


    Silence.


    Freyga turned to face the priest. “They kill to Odne,” he said in his soft voice, “on stones beside the barrows in the mountains. What’s inside the barrows, no man knows.”


    “Poor heathen men, unholy men,” old Father Egius murmured sorrowfully.


    “The altarstone of our chapel came from the Barrow,” said the boy Gilbert.


    “What?”


    “Shut your mouth,” the blacksmith said. “He means, sir, that we took the top stone from the stones beside the Barrow, a big marble stone, Father Egius blessed it and there’s no harm in it.”


    “A fine altarstone,” Father Egius agreed, nodding and smiling, but on the end of his words another howl rang out from overhead. He bent his head and muttered prayers.


    “You pray too,” said Freyga, looking at the stranger. He ducked his head and began to mumble, glancing at Freyga now and then from the corner of his eye.


    There was little warmth in the Keep except at the hearth, and dawn found most of them still there: Father Egius curled up like an aged dormouse in the rushes, the stranger slumped in his chimney corner, hands clasped across his belly, Freyga sprawled out on his back like a man cut down in battle. His men snored around him, started in their sleep, made unfinished gestures. Freyga woke first. He stepped over the sleeping bodies and climbed the stone stairs to the floor above. Ranni the midwife met him in the anteroom, where several girls and dogs were sleeping in a heap on a pile of sheepskins. “Not yet, count.”


    “But it’s been two nights now—”


    “Ah, she’s hardly begun,” the midwife said with contempt. “Has to rest, hasn’t she?”


    Freyga turned and went heavily down the twisted stairs. The woman’s contempt weighed upon him. All the women, all yesterday; their faces were stern, preoccupied; they paid no attention to him. He was outside, out in the cold, insignificant. He could not do anything. He sat down at the oaken table and put his head in his hands, trying to think of Galla, his wife. She was seventeen; they had been married ten months. He thought of her round white belly. He tried to think of her face but there was nothing but the taste of bronze on his tongue. “Get me something to eat!” he shouted, bringing his fist down on the board, and the Tower Keep of Vermare woke with a jump from the grey paralysis of dawn. Boys ran about, dogs yelped, bellows roared in the kitchen, men stretched and spat by the fire. Freyga sat with his head buried in his hands.


    The women came down, one or two at a time, to rest by the great hearth and have a bite of food. Their faces were stern. They spoke to each other, not to the men.


    The snow had ceased and a wind blew from the mountains, piling snowdrifts against the walls and byres, a wind so cold it cut off breath in the throat like a knife.


    “Why has God’s word not been brought to these mountain folk of yours, these sacrificers of sheep?” That was the potbellied priest, speaking to Father Egius and the man with sores around his eyes, Stefan.


    They hesitated, not sure what “sacrificers” meant.


    “It’s not just sheep they kill,” said Father Egius, tentatively.


    Stefan smiled. “No, no, no,” he said, shaking his head.


    “What do you mean?” The stranger’s voice was sharp, and Father Egius, cowering slightly, said, “They—they kill goats, too.”


    “Sheep or goats, what’s that to me? Where do they come from, these pagans? Why are they permitted to live in a Christian land?”


    “They’ve always lived here,” the old priest said, puzzled.


    “And you’ve never tried to bring the Holy Church among them?”


    “Me?”


    It was a good joke, the idea of the little old priest going up into the mountains; there was a good deal of laughter for quite a while. Father Egius, though without vanity, was perhaps a little hurt, for he finally said in a rather stiff tone, “They have their gods, sir.”


    “Their idols, their devils, their what do you call it—Odne!”


    “Be quiet, priest,” Freyga said suddenly. “Must you say that name? Do you know no prayers?”


    After that the stranger was less haughty. Since the count had spoken harshly to him the charm of hospitality was broken, the faces that looked at him were hard. That night he was again given the corner seat by the fire, but he sat huddled up there, not spreading his knees to the warmth.


    There was no singing at the hearth that night. The men talked low, silenced by Freyga’s silence. The darkness waited at their shoulders. There was no sound but the howling of the wind outside the walls and the howling of the woman upstairs. She had been still all day, but now the hoarse, dull yell came again and again. It seemed impossible to Freyga that she could still cry out. She was thin and small, a girl, she could not carry so much pain in her. “What good are they, up there!” he broke out. His men looked at him, saying nothing. “Father Egius! There is some evil in this house.”


    “I can only pray, my son,” the old man said, frightened.


    “Then pray! At the altar!” He hurried Father Egius before him out into the black cold, across the courtyard where dry snow whirled invisible on the wind, to the chapel. After some while he returned alone. The old priest had promised to spend the night on his knees by the fire in his little cell behind the chapel. At the great hearth only the foreign priest was still awake. Freyga sat down on the hearthstone and for a long time said nothing.


    The stranger looked up and winced, seeing the count’s blue eyes staring straight at him.


    “Why don’t you sleep?”


    “I’m not sleepy, count.”


    “It would be better if you slept.”


    The stranger blinked nervously, then closed his eyes and tried to look asleep. He peered now and then under half-closed lids at Freyga and tried to repeat, without moving his lips, a prayer to his patron saint.


    To Freyga he looked like a fat black spider. Rays of darkness spread out from his body, enwebbing the room.


    The wind was sinking, leaving silence, in which Freyga heard his wife moaning, a dry, weak sound.


    The fire died down. Ropes and webs of darkness tangled thicker and thicker around the man-spider in the corner of the hearth. A tiny glitter showed under his brows. The lower part of his face moved a little. He was casting his spells deeper, deeper. The wind had fallen. There was no sound at all.


    Freyga stood up. The priest looked up at the broad golden figure looming against darkness, and when Freyga said, “Come with me,” he was too frightened to move. Freyga took his arm and pulled him up. “Count, count, what do you want?” he whispered, trying to free himself.


    “Come with me,” Freyga said, and led him over the stone floor, through darkness, to the door.


    Freyga wore a sheepskin tunic; the priest only a woollen gown. “Count,” he gasped, trotting beside Freyga across the court, “it’s cold, a man could freeze to death, there might be wolves—”


    Freyga shot the arm-thick bolts of the outer gates of the Keep and swung one portal open. “Go on,” he said, gesturing with his sheathed sword.


    The priest stopped short. “No,” he said.


    Freyga unsheathed his sword, a short, thick blade. Jabbing its point at the rump beneath the woollen gown, he drove the priest before him out the gate, down the village street, out onto the rising road that led to the mountains. They went slowly, for the snow was deep and their feet broke through its crust at each step. The air was perfectly still now, as if frozen. Freyga looked up at the sky. Overhead between high faint clouds stood the star-shape with a swordbelt of three bright stars. Some called the figure the Warrior, others called it the Silent One, Odne the Silent.


    The priest muttered one prayer after another, a steady pattering mumble, drawing breath with a whistling sound. Once he stumbled and fell face down in the snow. Freyga pulled him to his feet. He looked up at the young man’s face in the starlight, but said nothing. He shambled on, praying softly and steadily.


    The tower and village of Vermare were dark behind them; around them were empty hills and plains of snow, pale in the starlight. Beside the road was a hillock, less than a man’s height, grave-shaped. Beside it, bared of snow by the wind, stood a short thick pillar or altar built of uncut stones. Freyga took the priest’s shoulder, forcing him off the road and to the altar beside the Barrow. “Count, count—” the priest gasped when Freyga seized his head and forced it back. His eyes looked white in the starlight, his mouth was open to scream, but the scream was only a bubbling wheeze as Freyga slit his throat.


    Freyga forced the corpse to bend over the altar, and cut and tore the thick gown away till he could slash the belly open. Blood and entrails gushed out over the dry stones of the altar and smoked on the dry snow. The gutted corpse fell forward over the stones like an empty coat, the arms dangling.


    The living man sank down on the thin, wind-scoured snow beside the Barrow, sword still in hand. The earth rocked and heaved, and voices went crying past him in the darkness.


    When he lifted his head and looked about him everything had changed. The sky, starless, rose in a high pale vault. Hills and far mountains stood distinct, unshadowed. The shapeless corpse slumped over the altar was black, the snow at the foot of the Barrow was black, Freyga’s hands and sword-blade were black. He tried to wash his hands with snow, and the sting of it woke him. He got up, his head swimming, and stumbled back to Vermare on numb legs. As he went he felt the west wind, soft and damp, rising with the day around him, bringing the thaw.


    Ranni was standing by the great hearth while the boy Gilbert built up the fire. Her face was puffy and grey. She spoke to Freyga with a sneer: “Well, count, high time you’re back!”


    He stood breathing heavily, slack-faced, and did not speak.


    “Come along, then,” said the midwife. He followed her up the twisting stairs. The straw that had covered the floor was swept aside into the fireplace. Galla lay again in the wide box-like bed, the marriage bed. Her closed eyes were deep-sunken. She was snoring faintly. “Shh!” the midwife said, as he started to her. “Be quiet! Look here.”


    She was holding up a tightly wrapped bundle.


    After some while, as he still said nothing, she whispered sharply, “A boy. Fine, big.”


    Freyga put out one hand towards the bundle. His fingernails were caked and checked with brown.


    The midwife drew the bundle closer to herself. “You’re cold,” she said in the sharp, contemptuous whisper. “Here.” She drew back a fold to show for a moment a very tiny, purplish human face in the bundle, then rewrapped it.


    Freyga went to the foot of the bed and knelt on the floor there, bending till his head was on the stones of the floor. He murmured, “Lord Christ, be praised, be thanked. . . .”


    


    The Bishop of Solariy never found out what had become of his envoy to the northwest. Probably, being a zealous man, he had ventured too far into the mountains where heathen folk still lived, and had suffered martyrdom.


    Count Freyga’s name lived long in the history of his province. During his lifetime the Benedictine monastery on the mountain above Lake Malafrena was established. Count Freyga’s flocks and Count Freyga’s sword fed and defended the monks in their first hard winters there. In the bad Latin of their chronicles, in black ink on the lasting vellum, he and his son after him are named with gratitude, staunch defenders of the Church of God.


    1150

  


  
    Ile Forest


    


    “SURELY,” said the young doctor, “there are unpardonable crimes! Murder can’t go unpunished.”


    The senior partner shook his head. “There are unpardonable people, perhaps; but crimes . . . they depend . . .”


    “On what? To take a human life—that’s absolute. Self-defense aside, of course. The sacredness of human life—”


    “Is nothing the law can judge of,” the older man said drily. “I have a murder in the family, as a matter of fact. Two murders.” And, gazing mostly at the fire, he told his story.


    


    My first practice was up north in the Valone. I went there with my sister in 1902. Even then it was a drab place. The old estates had sold out to the beetroot plantations, and collieries spread a murk on the hills to the south and west. It was just a big, dull plain; only at the east end of it, Valone Alte, did you get any sense of being in the mountains. On the first day I drove to Valone Alte I noticed a grove of trees; the trees in the valley had all been cut down. There were birches turning gold, and a house behind them, and behind it a stand of huge old oaks, turning dim red and brown; it was October. It was beautiful. When my sister and I drove out on Sunday I went that way, and she said in her drowsy way that it was like the castle in the fairy tale, the castle of silver in a forest of gold. I had several patients in Valone Alte, and always drove that road. In winter when the leaves were down you could see the old house; in spring you could hear the cuckoos calling, and in summer the mourning-doves. I didn’t know if anyone lived there. I never asked.


    The year went round; I didn’t have all the practice I’d hoped for, but Poma, my sister Pomona, was good at making ends meet, for all she looked so sleepy and serene. So we got on. One evening I came in and found a call had been left from a place called Ile on the Valone Alte road. I asked Minna, the housekeeper, where it was.


    “Why, in Ile Forest,” she said, as if there was a forest the size of Siberia there. “Past the old mill.”


    “The castle of silver,” Poma said, smiling. I set right off. I was curious. You know how it is, when you’ve built up your fancies about a place, and then suddenly are called to go into it. The old trees stood round, the windows of the house reflected the last red of the west. As I tied up my horse, a man came out to meet me.


    He didn’t come out of any fairy tale. He was about forty and had that hatchet face you see up north, hard as flint. He took me straight in. The house was unlit; he carried a kerosene lamp. What I could see of the rooms looked bare, empty. No carpets, nothing. The upstairs room we came to had no rug either; bed, table, a few chairs; but a roaring hot fire in the hearth. It helps to have a forest, when you need firewood.


    The patient was the owner of the forest, Ileskar. Pneumonia. And he was a fighter. I was there on and off for seventy hours, and he never drew a breath in all that time that wasn’t an act of pure willpower. The third night, I had a woman in labor in Mesoval, but I left her to the midwife. I was young, you know, and I said to myself that babies come into the world every day, but it’s not every day a brave man leaves it. He fought; and I tried to help him. At dawn the fever went down abruptly, the way it does now with these new drugs, but it wasn’t any drug; he’d fought, and won. I drove home in a kind of exaltation, in a white windy sunrise.


    And I dropped in daily while he convalesced. He drew me, the place drew me. That last night, it had been one of those nights you have only when you’re young—whole nights, from sunset to sunrise, when life and death are present with you, and outside the windows there’s the forest, and the winter, and the dark.


    I say “forest” just as Minna did, meaning that stand of a few hundred trees. It had been a forest once. It had covered all Valone Alte, and so had the Ileskar properties. For a century and a half it had all gone down and down; nothing left now but the grove, and the house, and a share in the Kravay plantations, enough to keep one Ileskar alive. And Martin, the hatchet-faced fellow, his servant technically, though they shared the work and ate together. Martin was a strange fellow, jealous, devoted to Ileskar. I felt that devotion as an actual force, not sexual, but possessive, defensive. It did not puzzle me too much. There was something about Galven Ileskar that made it seem quite natural. Natural to admire him, and to protect him.


    I got his story from Minna, mostly; her mother had worked for his mother. The father had spent what was left to spend, and then died of the pleurisy. Galven went into the army at twenty; at thirty he married, retired as a captain, and came back to Ile. After about three years his wife deserted him, ran away with a man from Brailava. And about that I learned a little from Galven himself. He was grateful to me for my visits; I suppose it was plain that I wanted his friendship. He felt he should not withhold himself. I’d rambled on about Poma and myself, so he felt obliged to tell me about his marriage. “She was very weak,” he said. He had a gentle, husky voice. “I took her weakness for sweetness. A mistake. But it wasn’t her fault. A mistake. You know she left me, with another man.”


    I nodded, very embarrassed.


    “I saw him whip a horse blind once,” Galven said, in the same thoughtful, painful way. “Stand and whip its eyes till they were open sores. When I got there he’d just finished. He gave a big sigh of satisfaction, as if he’d just gotten up from dinner. It was his own horse. I didn’t do anything. Told him to get off the place, clear out. Not enough. . . .”


    “You and your—wife are divorced, then?”


    “Yes,” he said, and then he looked across the room at Martin, who was building up the fire. Martin nodded, and Galven said, “Yes,” again. He was only a week or so convalescent, he looked tired; it was a bit strange, but I already knew he was a strange fellow. He said, “I’m sorry. I’ve forgotten how to talk to civilised people.”


    It was really painful to have him apologising to me, and so I just went on with the first thing that came to mind about Poma and myself and old Minna and my patients, and presently I wound up asking if I might bring Poma sometime when I came out to Ile. “She’s admired the place so much when we drive past.”


    “It would be a great pleasure to me,” Galven said. “But you’ll let me get on my feet again, first? And it is a bit of a wolf’s den, you know. . . .”


    I was deaf. “She wouldn’t notice that,” I said. “Her own room’s like a thicket, scarves and shawls and little bottles and books and hairpins, she never puts anything away. She never gets her buttons into the right buttonholes, and she leaves everything around behind her, sort of like a ship’s wake.” I wasn’t exaggerating. Poma loved soft clothes and gauzy things, and wherever she’d been there was a veil dripping off a chair-arm, or a scarf fluttering on a rose bush, or some creamy fluffy thing dropped by the door, as if she were some sort of little animal that left bits of its fur around, the way rabbits leave white plumes on the briars in the early morning in the fields. When she’d lost a scarf and left her neck bare she’d catch up any sort of kerchief, and I’d ask her what she had on her shoulders now, the hearth-rug? and she’d smile her sweet, embarrassed, lazy smile. She was a sweet one, my little sister. I got a bit of a shock when I told her I’d take her out to Ile one of these days. “No,” she said, like that.


    “Why not?” I was chagrined. I’d talked a lot about Ileskar, and she had seemed interested.


    “He doesn’t want women and strangers around,” she said. “Let the poor fellow be.”


    “Nonsense. He’s very lonely, and doesn’t know how to break out of it.”


    “Then you’re just what he needs,” she said, with a smile. I insisted—I was bent on doing Galven good, you see—and finally she said, “I have queer ideas about that place, Gil. When you talk about him, I keep thinking of the forest. The old forest, I mean, the way it must have been. A great, dim place, with glades no one ever sees, and places people have known but forgotten, and wild animals roaming in it. A place you get lost in. I think I’ll stay home and tend my roses.”


    I suppose I said something about “feminine illogic,” and the rest. Anyhow, I trampled on, and she gave in to me. To yield was her grace, as not to yield was Galven’s. No day had been set for our visit, and that reassured her. In fact it was a couple of months before she went to Ile.


    I remember the wide, heavy, February sky hanging over the valley as we drove there. The house looked naked in that winter light among bare trees. You saw the shingles off the roof, the uncurtained windows, the weedy driveways. I had spent an uneasy night, dreaming that I was trying to track somebody, some little animal it seemed, through the woods, and never finding it.


    Martin wasn’t about. Galven put up our pony and brought us into the house. He was wearing old officer’s trousers with the stripe taken off, an old coat and a coarse woollen muffler. I had never noticed, till I looked through Poma’s eyes, how poor he was. Compared with him, we were wealthy: we had our coats, our coals, our cart and pony, our little treasures and possessions. He had an empty house.


    He or Martin had felled one of the oaks to feed the enormous fireplace downstairs. The chairs we sat in were from his room upstairs. We were cold, we were stiff. Galven’s good manners were frozen. I asked where Martin was. “Hunting,” Galven said, expressionless.


    “Do you hunt, Mr Ileskar?” Poma asked. Her voice was easy, her face looked rosy in the firelight. Galven looked at her and thawed. “I used to go over to the marshes for duck, when my wife was alive,” he said. “There aren’t many birds left, but I liked it, wading out in the marshes as the sun came up.”


    “Just the thing for a bad chest,” I said, “take it up again by all means.” All at once we were all relaxed. Galven got to telling us hunting stories that had been passed down in his family—tales of boar-hunting; there’d been no wild boar in the Valone for a hundred years. And that sent us to the tales that old villagers like Minna could still tell you in those days; Poma was fascinated with them, and Galven told her one, a kind of crude, weird epic of avalanches and axe-armed heroes which must have come down from hut to hut, over the centuries, from the high mountains above the valley. He spoke well, in his dry, soft voice, and we listened well, there by the fire, with drafts and shadows at our back. I tried to write that tale down once, and found I could remember only fragments, all the poetry of it gone; but I heard Poma tell it to her children once, word for word as Galven told it that afternoon in Ile.


    As we drove away from the place I thought I saw Martin come out of the forest towards the house, but it was too dark to be sure.


    At supper Poma asked, “His wife is dead?”


    “Divorced.”


    She poured some tea and dreamed over it awhile.


    “Martin was avoiding us,” I said.


    “Disapproves of my coming there.”


    “He’s a dour one all right. But you did like Galven?”


    Poma nodded and presently, as if by afterthought, smiled. And soon she drifted off to her room, leaving a filmy pink scarf clinging to her chair by a thread.


    After a few weeks Galven called on us. I was flattered, and startled. I had never imagined him away from Ile, standing like anybody else in our six-by-six parlor. He had got himself a horse, in Mesoval. He was tremendously pleased and serious, explaining to us how it was a really fine mare, but old and overridden, and how you went about “bringing back” a ruined horse. “When she’s fit again, perhaps you’d like to ride her, Miss Pomona,” he said, for my sister had mentioned that she loved riding. “She’s very gentle.”


    Pomona accepted at once; she never could resist a ride—“It’s my laziness,” she always said, “the horse does the work, and I just sit there.”


    While Galven was there, Minna kept peering through the crack of the door. After he’d gone she treated us with the first inkling of respect she’d shown us yet. We’d moved up a notch in the world. I took advantage of it to ask her about the man from Brailava.


    “He used to come to hunt. Mr Ileskar used to entertain, those days. Not like in his father’s day, but still, there’d be ladies and gentlemen come. That one come for the hunting. They say he beat his horse blind and then had an awful quarrel with Mr Ileskar about it and was sent off. But he come back, I guess, and made a fool of Mr Ileskar after all.”


    So it was true about the horse. I hadn’t been sure. Galven did not lie, but I had a notion that in his loneliness he had not kept a firm hold on the varieties, the distinctions, of truth. I don’t know what gave me that impression, other than his having said once or twice that his wife was dead; and she was, for him, if not for others. At any rate Minna’s grin displeased me—her silly respect for Ileskar as “a gentleman,” and disrespect for him as a man. I said so. She shrugged her wide shoulders. “Well, doctor, then tell me why he didn’t up and follow ’em? Why’d he let the fellow just walk off with his wife?”


    She had a point there.


    “She wasn’t worth his chasing after,” I said. Minna shrugged again, and no wonder. By her code, and Galven’s, that was not how pride worked.


    In fact it was inconceivable that he had simply given in. I had seen him fight a worse enemy than an adulterer. . . . Had Martin somehow interfered? Martin was a strong Christian; he had a different code. But strong as he might be he could not have held Galven back from anything Galven willed to do. It was all very curious, and I brooded over it at odd moments all that spring. It was the passiveness of Galven’s behavior that I simply could not fit in to the proud, direct, intransigent man I thought I knew. Some step was missing.


    I took Poma out several times to ride at Ile that spring; the winter had left her a bit run down, and I prescribed the exercise. That gave Galven great pleasure. It was a long time since he’d felt himself of use to another human being. Come June he got a second horse, when his money from the Kravay plantations came in; it was called Martin’s horse, and Martin rode it when he went to Mesoval, but Galven rode it when Poma came to ride the old black mare. They were a funny pair, Galven every inch the cavalryman on the big rawboned roan, Poma lazy and smiling, sidesaddle on the fat old mare. All summer he’d ride down on Sunday afternoon leading the mare, pick up Poma, and they’d ride out all afternoon. She came in bright-eyed from these rides, wind-flushed, and I laid it to the outdoor exercise—oh, there’s no fool like a young doctor!


    There came an evening of August, the evening of a hot day. I’d been on an obstetrics call, five hours, premature twins, stillborn, and I came home about six and lay down in my room. I was worn out. The stillbirth, the sickly heavy heat, the sky grey with coal-smoke over the flat, dull plain, it all pulled me down. Lying there I heard horses’ hooves on the road, soft on the dust, and after a while I heard Galven’s and Pomona’s voices. They were in the little rose plot under my window. She was saying, “I don’t know, Galven.”


    “You cannot come there,” he said.


    If she answered, I could not hear her.


    “When the roof leaks there,” he said, “it leaks. We nail old shingles over the hole. It takes money to roof a house like that. I have no money. I have no profession. I was brought up not to have a profession. My kind of people have land, not money. I don’t have land. I have an empty house. And it’s where I live, it’s what I am, Pomona. I can’t leave it. But you can’t live there. There is nothing there. Nothing.”


    “There’s yourself,” she said, or I think that’s what she said; she spoke very low.


    “It comes to the same thing.”


    “Why?”


    There was a long pause. “I don’t know,” he said. “I started out all right. It was coming back, maybe. Bringing her back to that house. I tried it, I tried to give Ile to her. It is what I am. But it wasn’t any good, it isn’t any good, it’s no use, Pomona!” That was said in anguish, and she answered only with his name. After that I couldn’t hear what they said, only the murmur of their voices, unnerved and tender. Even in the shame of listening it was a wonderful thing to hear, that tenderness. And still I was afraid, I felt the sickness, the weariness I had felt that afternoon bringing the dead to birth. It was impossible that my sister should love Galven Ileskar. It wasn’t that he was poor, it wasn’t that he chose to live in a half-ruined house at the end of nowhere; that was his heritage, that was his right. Singular men lead singular lives. And Poma had the right to choose all that, if she loved him. It wasn’t that that made it impossible. It was the missing step. It was something more profoundly lacking, lacking in Galven. There was a gap, a forgotten place, a break in his humanity. He was not quite my brother, as I had thought all men were. He was a stranger, from a different land.


    That night I kept looking at Poma; she was a beautiful girl, as soft as sunlight. I damned myself for not ever having looked at her, for not having been a decent brother to her, taking her somewhere, anywhere, into company, where she’d have found a dozen men ready to love her and marry her. Instead, I had taken her to Ile.


    “I’ve been thinking,” I said next morning at breakfast. “I’m fed up with this place. I’m ready to try Brailava.” I thought I was being subtle, till I saw the terror in her eyes.


    “Are you?” she said weakly.


    “All we’ll ever do here is scrape by. It’s not fair to you, Poma. I’m writing Cohen to ask him to look out for a partnership for me in the city.”


    “Shouldn’t you wait a while longer?”


    “Not here. It gets us nowhere.”


    She nodded, and left me as soon as she could. She didn’t leave a scarf or handkerchief behind, not a trace. She hid in her room all day. I had only a couple of calls to make. God, that was a long day!


    I was watering the roses after supper, and she came to me there, where she and Galven had talked the night before. “Gil,” she said, “I want to talk with you.”


    “Your skirt’s caught on the rose bush.”


    “Unhook me, I can’t reach it.”


    I broke the thorn and freed her.


    “I’m in love with Galven,” she said.


    “Oh I see,” said I.


    “We talked it over. He feels we can’t marry; he’s too poor. I wanted you to know about it, though. So you’d understand why I don’t want to leave the Valone.”


    I was wordless, or rather words strangled me. Finally I got some out—“You mean you want to stay here, even though—?”


    “Yes. At least I can see him.”


    She was awake, my sleeping beauty. He had waked her; he had given her what she lacked, and what few men could have given her: the sense of peril, which is the root of love. Now she needed what she had always had and never needed, her serenity, her strength. I stared at her and finally said, “You mean to live with him?”


    She turned white, dead white. “I would if he asked me,” she said. “Do you think he’d do that?” She was furious, and I was floored. I stood there with the watering can and apologised—“Poma, I’m sorry, I didn’t mean to— But what are you going to do?”


    “I don’t know,” she said, still angry.


    “You mean you just intend to go on living here, and he there, and—” She already had me at the point of telling her to marry him. I got angry in my turn. “All right,” I said, “I’ll go speak to him.”


    “What about?” she said, defensive of him at once.


    “About what he intends to do! If he wants to marry you, surely he can find some kind of work?”


    “He has tried,” she said. “He wasn’t brought up to work. And he has been ill, you know.”


    Her dignity, her vulnerable dignity, went to my heart. “Oh Poma, I know that! And you know that I respect him, that I love him; he was my friend first, wasn’t he? But the illness—what kind of illness?—There are times I don’t think I’ve ever really known him at all—” I could not say any more, for she did not understand me. She was blind to the dark places in the forest, or they were all bright to her. She feared for him; but she did not fear him at all.


    And so I rode off that evening to Ile.


    Galven was not there. Martin said he had taken out the mare to exercise her. Martin was cleaning harness in the stable by lantern-light and moonlight, and I talked with him there while I waited for Galven to come back. Moonlight enlarged the woods of Ile; the birches and the house looked silver, the oaks were a wall of black. Martin came to the stable door with me for a smoke. I looked at his face in the moonlight, and I thought I could trust him, if only he’d trust me.


    “Martin, I want to ask you something. I have good reason for asking it.”


    He sucked at his pipe, and waited.


    “Do you consider Galven to be sane?”


    He was silent; sucked at his pipe; grinned a little. “Sane?” he said. “I’m not one to judge. I chose to live here too.”


    “Listen, Martin, you know that I’m his friend. But he and my sister, they’re in love, they talk of marrying. I’m the only one to look after her. I want to know more about—” I hesitated and finally said, “About his first marriage.”


    Martin was looking out into the yard, his light eyes full of moonlight. “No need to stir that up, doctor. But you ought to take your sister away.”


    “Why?”


    No answer.


    “I have a right to know.”


    “Look at him!” Martin broke out, fierce, turning on me. “Look at him! You know him well enough, though you’ll never know what he was, what he should have been. What’s done is done, there’s no mending it, let him be. What would she do, here, when he went into his black mood? I’ve lived day after day in this house with him when he never spoke a word, and there was nothing you could do for him, nothing. Is that for a young girl to live with? He’s not fit to live with people. He’s not sane, if you want. Take her away from here!”


    It was not wholly jealousy, but it was not logic, either, that led his argument. Galven had argued against himself in the same way last night. I was sure Galven had had no “black mood” since he had known Poma. The blackness lay further behind.


    “Did he divorce his wife, Martin?”


    “She’s dead.”


    “You know that for a fact?”


    Martin nodded.


    “All right; if she’s dead, that story’s closed. All I can do is speak to him.”


    “You won’t do that!”


    It wasn’t either question or threat so much as it was terror, real terror in his voice. I was clinging to common sense by now desperately, clutching at the straw. “Somebody’s got to face reality,” I said angrily. “If they marry they’ve got to have something to live on—”


    “To live on, to live on, that’s not what it’s about! He can’t marry anybody. Get her out of here!”


    “Why?”


    “All right, you asked if he was sane, I’ll answer you. No. No, he isn’t sane. He’s done something he doesn’t know about, he doesn’t remember, if she comes here it will happen again, how do I know it won’t happen again!”


    I felt very dizzy, there in the night wind under the high dark and silver of the trees. I finally said in a whisper, “His wife?”


    No answer.


    “For the love of God, Martin!”


    “All right,” the man whispered. “Listen. He came on them in the woods. There, back in the oaks.” He pointed to the great trees standing somber under moonlight. “He’d been out hunting. It was the day after he’d sent off the man from Brailava, told him get out and never come back. And she was in a rage with him for it, they’d quarrelled half the night, and he went off to the marshes before dawn. He came back early and he found them there, he took a short cut through the woods, he found them there in broad daylight in the forest. And he shot her point-blank and clubbed the man with his rifle, beat his brains out. I heard the shot, so close to the house, I came out and found them. I took him home. There were a couple of other men staying here, I sent them away, I told them she’d run off. That night he tried to kill himself, I had to watch him, I had to tie him up.” Martin’s voice shook and broke again and again. “For weeks he never said a word, he was like a dumb animal, I had to lock him in. And it wore off but it would come back on him, I had to watch him night and day. It wasn’t her, it wasn’t that he’d come on them that way like dogs in heat, it was that he’d killed them, that’s what broke him. He came out of it, he began to act like himself again, but only when he’d forgotten that. He forgot it. He doesn’t remember it. He doesn’t know it. I told him the same story, they’d run off, gone abroad, and he believed it. He believes it now. Now, now will you bring your sister here?”


    All I could say at first was, “Martin, I’m sorry, I’m sorry.” Then, pulling myself together, “They—what did you do?”


    “They’re where they died. Do you want to dig them up and make sure?” he said in a cracked, savage voice. “There in the forest. Go ahead, here, here’s the manure shovel, it’s what I dug a hole for them with. You’re a doctor, you won’t believe Galven could do that to a man, there wasn’t anything left of the head but—but—” Martin put his face into his hands suddenly and rocked back and forth, crouching down on his heels, crouching and rocking and sobbing.


    I said what I could to him, but all he could say to me was, “If I could just forget it, the way he has!”


    When he began to get himself under control again, I left, not waiting for Galven. Not waiting, I say—I was running from him. I wanted to be out from under the shadow of those trees. I kept the pony at a trot all the way home, glad of the empty road and the wash of moonlight over the wide valley. And I came into our house out of breath and shaking; and found Galven Ileskar standing there, by the fire, alone.


    “Where’s my sister?” I yelled, and he stared in bewilderment. “Upstairs,” he stammered, and I went up the stairs four at a time. There she was in her room, sitting on her bed, among all the pretty odds and ends and bits and tatters that she never put away. She had been crying. “Gil!” she said, with the same bewildered look. “What’s wrong?”


    “Nothing—I don’t know,” and I backed out, leaving her scared to death, poor girl. But she waited up there while I came back down to Galven; that’s what they’d arranged, the custom of the times, you know, the men were to talk the matter over.


    He said the same thing: “What’s wrong, Gil?” And what was I to say? There he stood, tense and gallant, with his clear eyes, my friend, ready to tell me he loved my sister and had found some kind of job and would stand by her all his life, and was I supposed to say, “Yes, there’s something wrong, Galven Ileskar,” and tell him what it was? Oh, there was something wrong, all right, but it was a deeper wrong, and an older one, than any he had done. Was I to give in to it?


    “Galven,” I said, “Poma’s spoken to me. I don’t know what to say. I can’t forbid you to marry, but I can’t—I can’t—” And I stuck; I couldn’t speak; Martin’s tears blinded me.


    “Nothing could make me hurt her,” he said very quietly, as if making a promise. I don’t know whether he understood me; I don’t know whether, as Martin believed, he did not know what he had done. In a way it did not matter. The pain and the guilt of it were in him, then and always. That he knew, knew from end to end, and endured without complaint.


    Well, that wasn’t quite the end of it. It should have been, but what he could endure, I couldn’t, and finally, against every impulse of mercy, I told Poma what Martin had told me. I couldn’t let her walk into the forest undefended. She listened to me, and as I spoke I knew I’d lost her. She believed me, all right. God help her, I think she knew before I told her!—not the facts, but the truth. But my telling her forced her to take sides. And she did. She said she’d stay with Ileskar. They were married in October.


    The doctor cleared his throat, and gazed a long time at the fire, not noticing his junior partner’s impatience.


    “Well?” the young man burst out at last like a firecracker— “What happened?”


    “What happened? Why, nothing much happened. They lived on at Ile. Galven had got himself a job as an overseer for Kravay; after a couple of years he did pretty well at it. They had a son and a daughter. Galven died when he was fifty; pneumonia again, his heart couldn’t take it. My sister’s still at Ile. I haven’t seen her for a couple of years, I hope to spend Christmas there. . . . Oh, but the reason I told you all this. You said there are unpardonable crimes. And I agree that murder ought to be one. And yet, among all men, it was the murderer whom I loved, who turned out in fact to be my brother. . . . Do you see what I mean?”
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    Conversations at Night


    


    “THE BEST THING to do is get him married.”


    “Married?”


    “Shh.”


    “Who’d marry him?”


    “Plenty of girls! He’s still a big strong fellow, good-looking. Plenty of girls.”


    When their sweating arms or thighs touched under the sheet they moved apart with a jerk, then lay again staring at the dark.


    “What about his pension?” Albrekt asked at last. “She’d get it.”


    “They’d stay here. Where else? Plenty of girls would jump at the chance. Rent-free. She’d help at the shop, and look after him. Fat chance I’d give up his pension after all I’ve done. Not even my blood kin. They’d have your brother’s room, and he’d sleep in the hall.”


    This detail gave so much reality to the plan that only after a long time, during which he had scratched his sweaty arms to satisfaction, did Albrekt ask, “You think of anybody special?”


    In the hall outside their door a bed creaked as the sleeper turned. Sara was silent a minute, then whispered, “Alitsia Benat.”


    “Huh!” Albrekt said in vague surprise. The silence lengthened, drew into uneasy, hot-weather sleep. Sara not knowing she had slept found herself sitting up, the sheet tangled about her legs. She got up and peered into the hall. Her nephew lay asleep; the skin of his bare arms and chest looked hard and pale, like stone, in the first light.


    “Why’d you yell like that?”


    He sat up suddenly, his eyes wide. “What is it?”


    “You were talking, yelling. I need my sleep.”


    He lay still. After Sara had settled back into bed it was silent. He lay listening to the silence. At last something seemed to sigh deeply, outside, in the dawn. A breath of cooler air brushed over him. He also sighed; he turned over on his face and sank into sleep, which was a whiteness to him, like the whitening day.


    Outside the dreams, outside the walls, the city Rákava stood still in daybreak. The streets, the old wall with its high gates and towers, the factories that bulked outside the wall, the gardens at the high south edge of town, the whole of the long, tilted plain on which the city was built, lay pale, drained, unmoving. A few fountains clattered in deserted squares. The west was still cold where the great plain sloped off into the dark. A long cloud slowly dissolved into a pinkish mist in the eastern sky, and then the sun’s rim, like the lip of a cauldron of liquid steel, tipped over the edge of the world, pouring out daylight. The sky turned blue, the air was streaked with the shadows of towers. Women began to gather at the fountains. The streets darkened with people going to work; and then the rising and falling howl of the siren at the Ferman cloth-factory went over the city, drowning out the slow striking of the cathedral bell.


    The door of the apartment slammed. Children were shrieking down in the courtyard. Sanzo sat up, sat on the edge of his bed for a while; after he had dressed he went into Albrekt and Sara’s room and stood at the window. He could tell strong light from darkness, but the window faced the court and caught no sunlight. He stood with his hands on the sill, turning his head sometimes, trying to catch the contrast of dark and light, until he heard his father moving about and went into the kitchen to make the old man his coffee.


    His aunt had not left the matches in their usual place to the left of the sink. He felt about for the tin box along the counter and shelf, his hands stiff with caution and frustration. He finally located it left out on the table, in plain sight, if he had been able to see. As he got the stove lighted his father came shuffling in.


    “How goes it?” Sanzo said.


    “The same, the same.” The old man was silent till the coffee was ready, then said, “You pour, I got no grip this morning.”


    Sanzo located the cup with his left hand, brought the coffeepot over it with his right. “On the mark,” Volf said, touching his son’s hand with his rigid arthritic fingers to keep it in the right place. Between them they got their cups filled. They sat at the table in silence, the father chewing on a piece of bread.


    “Hot again,” he mumbled.


    A bluebottle buzzed in the window, knocking against the glass. That sound and the sound of Volf chewing his bread filled Sanzo’s world. A knock on the door came like a gunshot. He jumped up. The old man went on chewing.


    He opened the door. “Who is it?” he said.


    “Hullo, Sanzo. Lisha.”


    “Come on in.”


    “Here’s the flour mother borrowed Sunday,” she whispered.


    “The coffee’s hot.”


    The Benat family lived across the courtyard; Sanzo had known them all since he was ten, when he and his father had come to live with Albrekt and Sara. He had no clear picture of how Alitsia looked, having seen her last when she was fourteen. Her voice was soft, thin, and childish.


    She still had not come in. He shrugged and held out his hands for the flour. She put the bag square in his hands so that he did not have to fumble for it.


    “Oh, come on in,” he said. “I never see you any more.”


    “Just for a minute. I have to get back to help mother.”


    “With the laundry? Thought you were working at Rebolts.”


    “They laid off sixty cutters at the end of last month.”


    She sat with them at the kitchen table. They talked about the proposed strike at the Ferman cloth-factory. Though Volf had not worked for five years, crippled by arthritis, he was full of information from his drinking-companions, and Lisha’s father was a Union section-head. Sanzo said little. After a while there was a pause.


    “Well, what do you see in him?” said the old man’s voice.


    Lisha’s chair creaked; she said nothing.


    “Look all you like,” Sanzo said, “it’s free.” He stood up and felt for the cups and plates on the table.


    “I’d better go.”


    “All right!” Turning towards the sink, he misjudged her position, and ran right into her. “Sorry,” he said, angrily, for he hated to blunder. He felt her hand, just for a moment, laid very lightly on his arm; he felt the movement of her breath as she said, “Thanks for the coffee, Sanzo.” He turned his back, setting the cups down in the sink.


    She left, and Volf left a minute later, working his way down the four flights of stairs to the courtyard where he would sit most of the day, hobbling after the sunlight as it shifted from the west to the east wall, until the evening sirens howled and he went to meet his old companions, off work, at the corner tavern. Sanzo washed up the dishes and made the beds, then took his stick and went out. At the Veterans’ Hospital they had taught him a blind-man’s trade, chair-caning, and Sara had hunted and badgered the local used-furniture sellers until one of them agreed to give Sanzo what caning work came his way. Often it was nothing, but this week there was a set of eight chairs to be done. It was eleven blocks to the shop, but Sanzo knew his routes well. The work itself, in the silent room behind the shop, in the smell of newly cut cane, varnish, mildew, and glue, was pleasant, hypnotic; it was past four when he knocked off, bought himself a sausage roll at the corner bakery, and followed another leg of his route to his uncle’s shop, CHEKEY: STATIONERS, a hole in the wall where they sold paper, ink, astrological charts, string, dream-books, pencils, tacks. He had been helping Albrekt, who had no head for figures, with the accounting. But there was very little accounting to be done these days; there were no customers in the shop, and he could hear Sara in the back room working herself up into a rage at Albrekt over something. He shut the shop door so the bell would jangle and bring her out to the front hoping for a customer, and strode on the third leg of his circuit, to the park.


    It was fiercely hot, though the sun was getting lower. When he looked up at the sun, a greyish mist pressed on his eyes. He found his usual bench. Insects droned in the dry park grass, the city hummed heavily, voices passed by, near and far, in the void. When he felt the shadows rising up around him he started home. His head had begun to ache. A dog followed him for blocks. He could hear its panting and its nails scratching on the pavement. A couple of times he struck out at it with his stick, when he felt it crowding at his ankles, but he did not hit it.


    After supper, eaten in haste and silence in the hot kitchen, he sat out in the courtyard with his father and uncle and Kass Benat. They spoke of the strike, of a new dyeing process that was going to cost a whole caste of workmen their jobs, of a foreman who had murdered his wife and children yesterday. The night was windless and sticky.


    At ten they went to bed. Sanzo was tired but it was too hot, too close for sleep. He lay thinking again and again that he would get up and go down and sit in the courtyard where it would be cooler. There was a soft, interminable roll of thunder, seeming to die away then muttering on, louder then softer. The hot night gathered round him swathing him in sticky folds, pressing on him, as the girl’s body had pressed on him for a second that morning when he had run against her. A sudden chill breeze whacked at the windows, the air changed, the thunder grew loud. Rain began to patter. Sanzo lay still. He knew by a greyish movement inside his eyes when the lightning flashed. Thunder echoed deafening in the well of the courtyard. The rain increased, rattling on the windows. As the storm slackened he relaxed; languor came into him, a faint, sweet well-being; without fear or shame he began to pursue the memory of that moment, that touch, and following it found sleep.


    


    Sara had been polite to him for three days running. Distrustful, he sought to provoke her, but she saved her tantrums for Volf and Albrekt, left the matches where Sanzo could find them, asked him if he didn’t want a few kroner back from his pension so he could go to the tavern, and finally asked him if he wouldn’t like somebody to come in and read to him now and then.


    “Read what?”


    “The newspaper, anything you like. It wouldn’t be so dull for you. One of the Benat children would do it, Lisha maybe, she’s always got a book. You used to read so much.”


    “I don’t any more,” he said with stupid sarcasm, but Sara sailed on, talking about Mrs Benat’s laundry business, Lisha’s losing her job, where Sanzo’s mother’s old books might have got to, she had been a great reader too, always with a book. Sanzo half listened, made no reply, and was not surprised when Lisha Benat turned up, late the next afternoon, to read to him. Sara usually got her way. She had even dug out, from the closet in Volf’s room, three books that had belonged to Sanzo’s mother, old novels in school editions. Lisha, who sounded very ill at ease, started in promptly to read one of them, Karantay’s The Young Man Liyve. She was husky and fidgety at first, but then began to get interested in what she was reading. She left before Sara and Albrekt came home, saying, “Shall I come back tomorrow?”


    “If you want,” Sanzo said. “I like your voice.”


    By the third afternoon she was quite caught in the spell of the long, gentle, romantic story. Sanzo, bored and yet at peace, listened patiently. She came to read two or three afternoons a week, when her mother did not need her; he took to being at home by four, in case she came.


    “You like that fellow Liyve,” he said one day when she had closed the book. They sat at the kitchen table. It was close and quiet in the kitchen, evening of a long September day.


    “Oh, he’s so unhappy,” she said with such compassion that she then laughed at herself. Sanzo smiled. His face, handsome and rigidly intent, was broken by the smile, changed, brought alive. He reached out, found the book and her hand on it, and put his own hand over hers. “Why does that make you like him?”


    “I don’t know!”


    He got up abruptly and came round the table till he stood right by her chair, so that she could not get up. His face had returned to its usual intent look. “Is it dark?”


    “No. Evening.”


    “I wish I could see you,” he said, and his left hand groped and touched her face. She started at the very gentle touch, then sat motionless. He took her by the arms, a groping touch again but followed by a hard grip, and pulled her up to stand against him. He was shaking; she stood quiet in his arms, pressed against him. He kissed her mouth and face, his hand struggled with the buttons of her blouse; then abruptly he let her go, and turned away.


    She caught a deep breath, like a sob. The faint September wind stirred around them, blowing in from the open window in another room. He still did not turn, and she said softly, “Sanzo—”


    “You’d better go on,” he said. “I don’t know. Sorry. Go on, Lisha.”


    She stood a moment, then bent and put her lips against his hand, which rested on the table. She picked up her kerchief and went out. When she had closed the door behind her she stopped on the landing outside. There was no sound for some while, then she heard a chair scrape in the apartment, and then, so faint she was not certain it came from behind that door, a whistled tune. Somebody was coming up the stairs and she ran down, but the tune stayed in her head; she knew the words, it was an old song. She hummed it as she crossed the courtyard.


    Two tattered beggars met on the street,


    “Hey, little brother, give me bread to eat!”


    After two days she came again. Neither of them had much to say, and she set to reading at once. They had got to the chapter where the poet Liyve, ill in his garret, is visited by Countess Luisa, the chapter called “The First Night.” Lisha’s mouth was dry, and several times her breath stuck in her throat. “I need a drink of water,” she said, but she did not get it. When she stood up he did, and when she saw him reach out his hand she took it.


    This time in her acceptance of him there was one obscure moment, a movement suppressed before it was made, before she knew she had resisted anything. “All right,” he whispered, and his hands grew gentler. Her eyes were closed, his were open; they stood there not in lamplight but in darkness, and alone.


    The next day they had a go at reading, for they still could not talk to each other, but the reading ended sooner than before. Then for several days Lisha was needed in the laundry. As she worked she kept singing the little song.


    “Go to the baker’s house, ask him for the key,


    If he won’t hand it over, say you were sent by me!”


    Stooping over the laundry tub, her mother took up the song with her. Lisha stopped singing.


    “Can’t I sing it too, since I’ve got it in my ears all day?” Mrs Benat plunged her red, soap-slick arms into the steaming tub. Lisha cranked the wringer on a stiff pair of overalls.


    “Take it easy. What’s wrong?”


    “They won’t go through.”


    “Button caught, maybe. Why are you so jumpy lately?”


    “I’m not.”


    “I’m not Sanzo Chekey, I can see you, my girl!”


    Silence again, while Lisha struggled with the wringer. Mrs Benat lifted a basket of wet clothes to the table, bracing it against her chest with a grunt. “Where’d you get this idea of reading to him?”


    “His aunt.”


    “Sara?”


    “She said it might cheer him up.”


    “Cheer him up! Sara? She’d have turned him and Volf both out by now if it wasn’t for their pensions. And I don’t know as I could blame her. Though he looks after himself as well as you could expect.” Mrs Benat hoisted another load onto the table, shook the suds off her swollen hands, and faced her daughter. “Now see here, Alitsia. Sara Chekey’s a respectable woman. But you get your ideas from me, not from her. See?”


    “Yes, mother.”


    Lisha was free that afternoon, but did not go to the Chekeys’ flat. She took her youngest sister to the park to see the puppet-show, and did not come back till the windy autumn evening was growing dark. That night, in bed, she composed herself in a comfortable but formal position, flat on her back, legs straight, arms along her sides, and set herself to think out what her mother had been saying. It had to do with Sanzo. Did Sara want her and Sanzo to be together? What for? Surely not for the same reason she herself wanted to be with Sanzo. Then what was wrong with it, did her mother think she might fall in love with Sanzo?


    There was a slight pause in her mind, and then she thought, But I am. She had not really thought at all, this last week, since the first time he had kissed her; now her mind cleared, everything falling into place as if it had been that way all along. Doesn’t she know that? Lisha wondered, since it was now so obvious. Her mother must understand; she always understood things sooner than Lisha did. But she had not been warning Lisha against Sanzo. All she had said was to stay clear of Sara. That was all right. Lisha did not like Sara, and willingly agreed: she wouldn’t listen to anything Sara had to say. What had she to say, anyhow? It was nothing to do with her.


    “Sanzo,” Lisha said with her lips only, not her voice, so that her sister Eva beside her in the bed wouldn’t hear; then, content, she turned on her side with her legs curled up and fell asleep.


    The next afternoon she went to the Chekeys’ flat, and as they sat down as usual at the kitchen table she looked at Sanzo, studying him. His eyes looked all right, only his intent expression gave away his blindness, but one side of his forehead had a crushed look, and you could follow the scarring even under his hair. How queasy did it make her? Did it make her want to get away, as from hydrocephalic children and beggars with two huge nostrils in place of a nose? No; she wanted to touch that scar, very lightly, as he had first touched her face; she wanted to touch his hair, the corners of his mouth, his strong, beautiful, relaxed hands resting on the table as he waited for her to read, or to speak. The only thing that bothered her was a passivity, an unconscious submissiveness, in the way he sat there so quietly waiting. It was not a face or a body made for passivity.


    “I don’t want to read today,” she said.


    “All right.”


    “Do you want to walk? It’s lovely out today.”


    “All right.”


    He put on his jacket and followed her down the long dark stairs. Out on the street he did not take her arm, though he had not brought his stick; she did not dare take his.


    “The park?”


    “No. Up the Hill. There’s a place I used to go to. Can’t make it by myself.”


    The Hill was the top edge of Rákava; the houses there were old and large, standing in private parks and gardens. Lisha had never walked there before, though it was only about a mile from her own quarter. A broad wind blew from the south along the quiet, unfamiliar streets. She looked about with wonder and pleasure. “They’ve all got trees on them, all the streets, like a park,” she said.


    “What are we on, Sovenskar Street?”


    “I didn’t notice.”


    “We must be. Is there a grey wall with glass on top across the street, ahead there? We ought to go on up past that.”


    They reached thus a big unwalled garden, gone wild, at the end of an unpaved drive. Lisha was faintly anxious about trespassing on these silent domains of the wealthy, but Sanzo walked unhesitating, as if he owned them. The drive became steep and the garden widened on up the slope, its lawns and brambles following the contours of the formal park it had once been. At the end of the drive, built almost against the city wall, a square stone house with empty windows stood staring out over the city below.


    They sat down on a slope of uncut grass. The low sun was hot, striking through a grove of trees to their left. Smoke or haze overhung the plains beyond the city. All Rákava lay below them. Here and there among the roofs a column of smoke rose till the south wind sheared it off. The dull, heavy sound of the city underlay the stillness of the garden. Sometimes a dog barked far away or they heard for a moment, caught by an echo off the housefronts, the clap of horse-hooves or a calling voice. At the north and east of the city, where the wall was gone, the factories bulked like big blocks set down among toy houses.


    “The place still empty?”


    Lisha turned to look up at the house with its black, glassless windows. “Looks like it’s been empty forever.”


    “Gardener at one of the other places told me when I was a kid it’s been empty for fifty years. Some foreigner built it. Come here and made a fortune with some machinery of his in the mills. Way back. Never sold the place, just left it. It’s got forty rooms, he said.” Sanzo was lying back in the grass, his arms under his head and his eyes shut; he looked easy, lazy.


    “The city’s queer from up here. Half all gold and half dark, and all jammed up together, like stuff in a box. I wonder why it’s all squeezed together, with all the room around it. The plains go on forever, it looks like.”


    “I came up here a lot when I was a kid. Liked to look down on it like that. . . . Filthy city.”


    “It does look beautiful though, from up here.”


    “Krasnoy, now, there’s a beautiful city.”


    He had lived a year in Krasnoy, in the Veterans’ Hospital, after the land mine had blinded him. “You saw it before?” she asked, and he understanding nodded: “In ’17, just after I was drafted. I wanted to go back. Krasnoy’s big, it’s alive, not dead like this place.”


    “The towers look queer, the Courts and the old prison, all sticking up out of the shadows like somebody’s fingers. . . . What did you do when you used to come here?”


    “Nothing. Wandered around. Broke into the house a few times.”


    “Does it really have forty rooms?”


    “I never counted. I got spooked in there. You know what’s queer? I used to think it was like a blind man. All the black windows.”


    His voice was quiet, so was his face, kindled with the strong reddish light of the low sun. Lisha watched him awhile, then looked back at the city.


    “You can tell that Countess Luisa is going to run out on Liyve,” she said, dreamily.


    Sanzo laughed, a real laugh of amusement or pleasure, and reached out his hand towards her. When she took it he pulled her back to lie beside him, her head on his shoulder. The weedy turf was as soft as a mattress. Lisha could see nothing over the curve of Sanzo’s chest but the sky and the top of the chestnut grove. They lay quiet in the warm dying sunlight, and Lisha was absolutely happy for almost the first time and probably the last time in her life. She was not about to let that go until she had to. It was he who stirred at last and said, “Sun must be down, it’s getting cold.”


    They went back down the wide, calm streets, back into their world. There the streets were noisy and jammed with people coming home from the mills. Sanzo had kept hold of Lisha’s hand, so she was able to guide him, but whenever somebody jostled him (no oftener in fact than they jostled her) she felt at fault. Being tall he had to stride, of course, but he did plow straight ahead regardless, and keeping a bit ahead of him to fend off collisions was a job. By the time they got to their building he was frowning as usual, and she was out of breath. They said good night flatly at his entrance, and she stood watching him start up the stairs with that same unhesitating step. Each step taken in darkness.


    “Where’ve you been to?” said a deep voice behind her. She jumped.


    “Walking with Sanzo Chekey, father.”


    Kass Benat, short, broad, and blocky in the twilight, said, “Thought he got about pretty good by himself.”


    “Yes, he does.” Lisha smiled widely. Her father stood before her, solid, pondering. “Go on up,” he said finally, and went on to wash himself at the pump in the courtyard.


    


    “She’ll get married sometime, you know.”


    “Maybe,” said Mrs Benat.


    “What maybe? She’s turned eighteen. There’s prettier girls but she’s a good one. Any day now, she’ll marry.”


    “Not if she’s mixed up with that Sanzo she won’t.”


    “Get your pillow over on your side, it’s in my eye. What d’you mean, mixed up?”


    “How should I know?”


    Kass sat up. “What are you telling me?” he demanded hoarsely.


    “Nothing. I know that girl. But some of our neighbors could tell you plenty. And each other.”


    “Why do you let her go there and get talked about, then?”


    There was a pause. “Well, because I’m stupid,” Mrs Benat said heavily into the darkness. “I just didn’t think anything about it. How was I to? He’s blind.”


    There was another pause and Kass said, in an uneasy tone, “It isn’t Sanzo’s fault. He’s a good fellow. He was a fine workman. It’s not his fault.”


    “You don’t have to tell me. A big good-looking boy like that. And as steady as you were, too. It doesn’t make any sense, I’d like to ask the good Lord what he’s driving at. . . .”


    “Well, all the same. What are you going to do about it?”


    “I can handle Sara. She’ll give me a handle. I know her. She’s got no patience. But that girl . . . If I talk to her again it’ll just put more ideas in her head!”


    “Talk to him, then.”


    A longer pause. Kass was half asleep when his wife burst out, “What do you mean, talk to him?”


    Kass grunted.


    “You talk to him, if it’s so easy!”


    “Turn it off, old lady. I’m tired.”


    “I wash my hands of it,” Mrs Benat said furiously.


    Kass reached over and slapped her on the rump. She gave a deep, angry sigh. And they settled down close side by side and slept, while the dark rising wind of autumn scoured the streets and courts.


    Old Volf in his windowless bedroom heard the wind prying at the walls, whining. Through the wall Albrekt snored softly, Sara snored deep and slow. After a long time there were creaks and clinks from the kitchen. Volf got up, found his shoes and ragged padded wrapper, and shuffled into the kitchen. No light was on.


    “That you, Sanzo?”


    “Right.”


    “Light a candle.” He waited, ill at ease in the black darkness. A tin rattled, a match scraped, and around the tiny blue flame the world reappeared.


    “Is it lit?”


    “Down a little. That’s it.”


    They sat down at the table, Volf trying to pull the wrapper over his legs for warmth. Sanzo was dressed, but his shirt was buttoned wrong; he looked mean and haggard. In front of him on the table were a bottle and a glass. He poured the glass full and pushed it towards his father. Volf got it between his crippled hands and began to drink it in large mouthfuls, with a long savouring pause between each. Tired of waiting, Sanzo got himself another glass, poured it half full, and drank it straight off.


    When Volf was done he looked at his son awhile, and said, “Alexander.”


    “What is it?”


    Volf sat looking at him, and finally got up, repeating the name by which no one but Sanzo’s mother, fifteen years dead, had ever called him: “Alexander . . .” He touched his son’s shoulder with his stiff fingers, stood there a moment, and shuffled back to his room.


    Sanzo poured out and drank again. He found it hard to get drunk alone; he wasn’t sure if he was drunk yet or not. It was like sitting in a thick fog that never thinned and never got any thicker: a blankness. “Blank, not dark,” he said, pointing a finger he could not see at no one there. These words had a great significance, but he did not like the sound of his voice for some reason. He felt for the glass, which had ceased to exist, and drank out of the bottle. The blankness remained the same as before. “Go away, go away, go away,” he said. This time he liked the sound of his voice. “You aren’t there. None of you. Nobody’s there. I’m right here.” This was satisfying, but he was beginning to feel sick. “I’m here, God damn it, I’m here,” he said loudly. No one answered, no one woke. No one was there. “I’m here,” he said. His mouth was twitching and trembling. He put his head down on his arms to make that stop; he was so dizzy he thought he was falling off the chair, but he fell asleep instead. The candle near his hand burned down and out. He slept on, hunched over the table, while the wind whined and the streets grew dim with morning.


    


    “Well all I said was she was over there a lot lately.”


    “Yes?” Mrs Benat said in a tone of mild but serious interest.


    “And she got all huffy,” said Eva, the second daughter, sixteen.


    “Mh, she did?”


    “He can’t even work, what does he act so stuck up for?”


    “He works.”


    “Oh, fixing chairs or something. But he always acts so stuck up, and then she got stuck up when I asked her. Is my hair straight?” Eva was pretty, as her mother had been at sixteen. She was dressed now to walk out with one of the many solemn, bony-wristed youths who requested that privilege, and to earn it had to undergo a close inspection of their persons and their antecedents by Mr and Mrs Benat.


    After she had gone Mrs Benat put up her darning and went into the younger children’s room. Lisha was humming her five-year-old sister to sleep with the song about the two beggars. The wind that had risen the night before rattled the window in gusts.


    “She asleep? Come along.”


    Lisha followed her mother to the kitchen.


    “Make us a cup of chocolate. I’m dead tired. . . . Ough, this little place. If we had a room where you girls could sit with your boys. I don’t like this walking out, it’s not right. A girl ought to be at home for her courting. . . .”


    She said no more until Lisha had made the chocolate and sat down at the table with her. Then she said, “I don’t want you going to the Chekeys’ any more, Lisha.”


    Lisha set down her cup. She smoothed out a crease in her skirt, and folded the end of the belt under the buckle.


    “Why not, mother?”


    “People talk.”


    “People have to talk about something.”


    “Not about my daughter.”


    “Can he come here, then?”


    Mrs Benat was startled by this flank attack, bold and almost impudent, the last thing she expected from Lisha. Shaken, she spoke out bluntly: “No. Do you mean you have been courting?”


    “I guess so.”


    “The man is blind, Alitsia!”


    “I know,” the girl said, without irony.


    “He can’t—he can’t earn a living!”


    “His pension’s two hundred and fifty.”


    “Two hundred and fifty!”


    “It’s two hundred and fifty more than a lot of people are making these days,” Lisha said. “Besides, I can work.”


    “Lisha, you’re not talking of marrying him?”


    “We haven’t yet.”


    “But Lisha! Don’t you see—”


    Mrs Benat’s voice had grown soft, desperate. She laid the palms of her hands on the table, short, fine hands swollen with hot water and strong soap.


    “Lisha, listen to me. I’m forty years old. Half my life I’ve lived in this city, twenty years in this place, these four rooms. I came here when I was your age. I was born in Foranoy, you know that, it’s an old town too, but not a trap like this one. Your grandfather was a mill hand. We had a house there, a house with a parlor, and a yard with a rose bush. When your grandmother was dying, you wouldn’t remember, but she kept asking, when are we going home? When are we going home? I liked it fine here at first, I was young, I met your father, we were going to move back up north, in a year or two. And we talked about it. And you children came. And then the war, and good pay. And now that’s all gone and it’s nothing but strikes and wage cuts. So I finally looked back and saw that we’ll never get out, we’re here for good. When I saw that I made a vow, Lisha. You’ll say I’m not in church from one year to the next, but I went to the cathedral, and I made a vow to the Virgin of the Sovena there. I said, Holy Mother, I’ll stay here, it’s all right, if you’ll let my children get out. I’ll never say another word, if you’ll just let them get away, get out of here.”


    She looked up at her daughter. Her voice grew still softer. “Do you see what I’m getting at, Lisha? Your father’s a man in ten thousand. But what has he to show for it? Nothing. Nothing saved. The same flat we moved into when we married. The same job. Practically the same wages. That’s how it is in this trap, this city. I see him caught in that, what about you? I won’t have it! I want you to marry well, and get out of here! Let me finish. If you married Sanzo Chekey, two can scrape by on that pension of his, but what about children? And there isn’t any work for you now. If you married him, you know where you’d go? Across the yard. From four rooms to three. With Sara and Albrekt and the old man. And work for nothing in their ratty little shop. And be tied to a man who’d come to hate you because he couldn’t help you. Oh, I know Sanzo, he was always proud, and don’t think I haven’t grieved for him. But you’re my child, and it’s your life, Lisha, all your life!”


    Her voice had risen, and it quavered on the last words. In tears, Lisha put out her hands across the table and held her mother’s tightly. “Listen, mother, I promise . . . if Sanzo ever says anything—maybe he won’t, I don’t know—if he does, and I still can’t find a job, so we’d have enough to move, then I’ll say no.”


    “You don’t think he’d let you earn his living?”


    Though Lisha’s eyes were swollen with tears and her cheeks were wet, she spoke quite steadily. “He’s proud,” she said, “but he’s not stupid, mother.”


    “But Lisha, can’t you find a whole man!”


    The girl released her hands and sat up straighter. She said nothing.


    “Promise me you won’t see him again.”


    “I can’t. I promised all I could, mother.”


    There was a silence between them.


    “You never crossed me in anything,” Mrs Benat said, in a heavy, pondering tone. “You’ve been a good one, always. You’re grown now. I can’t lock you in like a slut. Kass might say yes, but I can’t do it now. It’s up to you, Lisha. You can save yourself, and him. Or you can waste it all.”


    “Save myself? For what?” the girl said, without any bitterness. “There never was anybody but him. Even when I was a little kid, before he went into the army. To waste that, that would be a sin. . . . Maybe it was kind of a sin, a little bit, to make that vow, too, mother.”


    Mrs Benat stood up. “Who’s to say?” she asked wearily. “I want to spare my daughter a miserable life, and she tells me it’s a sin.”


    “Not for you, mother. For me. I can’t keep your vows!”


    “Well, God forgive us both, then. And him. I meant it for the best, Lisha.” Mrs Benat went off to her room, walking heavily. Lisha sat on at the table, turning a spoon over and over in her hands. She felt no triumph from having for the first time in her life opposed and defeated her mother. She felt only weariness, and sometimes as she sat tears welled into her eyes again. The only good thing about it all was that there was no longer anyone she feared. At last she went into the room she shared with Eva, found a pencil and a scrap of paper, and wrote a very brief letter to Sanzo Chekey, telling him that she loved him. When it was written she folded it very small, put it in a heavy old gilt-brass locket her mother had given her, and fastened the chain about her neck. Then she went to bed, and lay a long time listening to the endless, aimless blowing of the wind.


    


    Sara Chekey, as Mrs Benat had said, had no patience. That same night she said to her nephew, while Volf and Albrekt were at the tavern, “Sanzo, you ever think about getting married? Don’t pull a face like that. I’m serious. I thought of it a while back, I’ll tell you why. You should see Lisha Benat’s face when she looks at you. That’s what put it into my head.”


    He turned towards Sara and said coolly, “What business of yours is it how she looks at me?”


    “I’ve got eyes, I can see what’s in front of me!” Then she caught her breath; but Sanzo gave his disquieting laugh. “Go ahead and look, then,” he said. “Only don’t bother to tell me.”


    “Listen, Sanzo Chekey, there you stand in your pride acting like nothing on earth made any difference to you, and never think that what I’m saying might have some sense in it you might listen to. What good do you think I’d get out of your marrying? I was just thinking of you and happened to notice—”


    “Drop it,” he said. His voice had broken into the strained, arrogant note that exasperated Sara. She turned on him with a rush of justifications and accusations.


    “That’s done it,” Sanzo broke in. “I’ll never see that girl again.” There being nowhere else to get away from Sara, he went out, slamming the door behind him. He ran down the stairs. Out on the street, without his stick, his coat, or any money, he stopped, and stood there. Lisha wanted to get him, did she? and Sara wanted him got? And they had laid their little plans, and he had fallen for it! —When the awful tension of humiliation and rage began to subside, he had lost his bearings and did not know which direction he was facing, whether he had moved away from the doorway or not. He had to grope around for several minutes to locate himself. People passed by, talking; they paid no attention to him, or thought he was drunk. At last he found the entrance, went back upstairs, took ten kroner from his father’s little cash-box, brushed past the protesting Sara, and slammed the door a second time.


    He came back about ten the next morning, flopped down on his hallway bed, and slept all day. It was Sunday, and his uncle, having to pass the sprawled figure several times, finally said to Sara, “Why’d he go bust out again? Took all his money, Volf says. He ain’t bust out like that all summer. Like he used to when he first got home.”


    “Yes, drinking up the money that’s to support him and his father, that’s all he’s good for.”


    Albrekt scratched his head and as usual answered slowly and not exactly to the point. “Seems like a hell of a life for a fellow only twenty-six,” he said.


    The next day at four Lisha came to the apartment. He proposed that they walk out; they went up onto the Hill, to the garden. It was October now, an overcast day getting ready to rain. Neither of them spoke as they walked. They sat down on the grass below the empty house. Lisha shivered, looking out over the grey city, its thousand streets, its huge factories. Without sunlight, the garden was dominated by the forbidding dark bulk of the chestnut grove. A train whistled across town far away.


    “What’s it look like?”


    “All grey and black.”


    She heard the childish whispering note in her own voice. But it had not cost his pride to ask the question of her. That was good, that lightened her heart a little. If they could only go on talking, or if he would touch her, so that for him she would be there, then it would be all right. Soon he did reach out to her, and willingly she put herself entirely inside the hold of his arm, resting her cheek against his shoulder. She felt a tension in him as if he had something he wanted to say, and she was about to ask him what it was, when he lifted her face with his hand and kissed her. The kiss grew insistent. He turned so that his weight was on her and pushed her back, the pressure of his mouth sliding down to her throat and to her breasts. She tried to speak and could not, tried to push him away and could not. His weight pushed her down, his shoulder blocked out the sky. Her stomach contracted in a knot, she could not see, but she managed to gasp out, “Let me go,” a weak thin whisper. He paid no heed; he crushed her down into the stiff grass and the darkness of the earth, with such strength that she felt only weakness, weakness as if she were dying. But when he tried to force her legs apart with his hand it hurt, so sharply that she began to struggle again, to fight like an animal. She got one arm free, pushed his head away, and writhed out from under him in one convulsive movement. She got to all fours, staggered to her feet, and ran.


    Sanzo lay there, his face half buried in the grass.


    When she came back to him he had not moved. Her tears, which she had managed to control, started again as she stood by him.


    “Come on, get up, Sanzo,” she said softly.


    He lay still.


    “Come on.”


    After a while he twisted round and sat up. His white face was scored with the crisscross marks of the stiff grass, and his eyes when he opened them looked to the side, as if staring across to the grove of chestnuts.


    “Let’s go home, Sanzo,” she whispered to his terrible face. He drew back his lips and said, “Get away. Let me alone.”


    “I want to go home.”


    “Then go! Go on, do you think I need you? Go on, get out!” He tried to push her away, only striking her knee. Lisha went, and waited for him at the side of the drive outside the garden. When he passed her she held her breath, and when he was a good way past her she began to follow him, trying to walk soundlessly. The rain had started, thin drops slanting from a low, quiet sky.


    Sanzo did not have his stick. He strode along boldly at first, as he did when he walked with her, but then began to slow down, evidently losing his nerve. He got along all right for a while, and once she heard him whistling his jig-tune through his teeth. Once off the Hill, in the noisier streets where he could not hear echoes, he began to hesitate, lost his bearings and took a wrong turn. Lisha followed close behind him. People stared at both of them. He stopped short at last, and she heard him ask of no one, “Is this Bargay Street?”


    A man approaching him stared at him and then answered, “No, you’re way off.” He took Sanzo’s arm and headed him back the right way, with directions, and questions about was he blind, was it a mill accident or the war. Sanzo went off, but before he had gone a block he stopped again and stood there. Lisha caught up with him and took his arm in silence. He was breathing very hard, like an exhausted runner.


    “Lisha?”


    “Yes. Come on.”


    But at first he could not move at all, could not take a step.


    They went on, slowly, though the rain was getting thicker. When they reached their building he put out his hand to the entranceway, touching the bricks; with that as reassurance he turned to her and said, “Don’t come again.”


    “Good night, Sanzo,” she said.


    “It’s no good, see,” he said, and at once started up the stairs. She went on to her entrance.


    


    For several days he went to the furniture store in the afternoon and stayed there late, not coming home till dinner time. Then there was no caning or repairing to be done for a while, and he took to going to the park in the late afternoon. He kept this up after the winter east wind had begun to blow, bringing the rain, the sleet, the thin, damp, dirty snow. When he stayed in the apartment all day, a nervous boredom would grow and grow in him; his hands shook and he lost the sensitivity of his touch, could not tell what he was handling, whether he was handling anything at all. This drove him out, and out longer, until he brought back a headache and a cough. Fever wrung him and rattled him for a week, and left him prey to more coughs and fevers every time he went out.


    The weakness, the stupidity of ill health were a relief to him. But it was hard on Sara. She had to leave breakfast ready for him and Volf now, and pay for patent medicines for his headache which sometimes made him cry out in pain, and be waked at night by his coughing. She had never done anything but work hard, and could have compensated herself by nagging and complaining; but it wasn’t the work, it was his presence, his always being there, intent, listless, blind, doing nothing, saying nothing. That exasperated her till she would shout at poor Albrekt as they walked to the shop, “I can’t stand it, I can’t stay in that house with him!”


    But the only one who escaped that winter was old Volf. A few nights before Christmas he went out with the ten kroner Sara gave him back monthly from his pension, came back with his bottle, and climbed up three of the four flights of stairs but not the fourth. Heart failure laid him down on the stair-landing, where he was found an hour later. Laid in his coffin he looked a bigger man, and his face in death, intent, unseeing, was a darker version of his son’s face. All old friends and neighbors came to the funeral, for which the Chekeys went into debt. The Benats were there, but Sanzo did not hear Lisha’s voice.


    Sanzo moved out of the hall into the windowless bedroom that had been his father’s, and things went on as before, a little easier on Sara.


    


    In January one of Eva’s young men, a dyer at the Ferman mill, perhaps discouraged by the competition for Eva, began looking around and saw Lisha. If she saw him it was without fear and without interest; but when he asked her to walk out with him she agreed. She was as quiet and amenable as she had always been, there was no change in her, except that she and her mother were closer friends than they had been, talking together as equals, working together as partners. Her mother certainly saw the young man, but she said nothing about him to Lisha, nor did Lisha say anything except, occasionally, “I’ll be walking out with Givan after supper.”


    Across one night of March the wind from the frozen eastern plains dropped and a humid wind rose up from the south. The rain turned warm and large. In the morning weeds were pushing up between the stones of the courtyard, the city’s fountains ran full and noisy, voices carried further down the streets, the sky was dotted with small bluish clouds. That night Lisha and Givan followed one of the Rákava lovers’ walks, out through the East Gate to the ruins of a guard tower; and there in the cold and starlight he asked her to marry him. She looked out to the great falling darkness of the Hill and plains, and back to the lights of the city half hidden by the broken outer wall. It took her a long time to answer. “I can’t,” she said.


    “Why not, Lisha?”


    She shook her head.


    “You were in love with somebody, he went off, or he’s already married, or something went wrong with it like that. I know that. I asked you knowing it.”


    “Why?” she said with anguish. He answered directly: “Because it’s over, and it’s my time now.”


    That shook her, and sensing it, he said, with sudden humbleness, “Think about it.”


    “I will. But—”


    “Just think about it. It’s the right thing to do, Lisha. I’m the one for you. And I’m not the kind that changes my mind.”


    That made her smile a little, because of Eva, but also because it was true. He was a shy, determined, hold-fast fellow. What if I did? she thought, and at once felt herself become humble with his humility, protected, certain, safe.


    “It’s not fair to ask me now,” she said with a flash of anger, so that he insisted no more than to ask her, as they parted at her entrance, to think about it. She said she would. And she did.


    It was how long, five months now, since the day in the wild garden on the Hill; and she still woke in the night from a dream that the stiff dry grass of autumn was pushing against her back and she could not move or speak or see. Then as she woke from the dream she would see the sky suddenly, and rain falling straight from it on her. It was of that she had to think, only that.


    She saw Sanzo oftener now that it was sunny. She always spoke to him. He would be sitting in the yard near the pump sometimes, as his father had used to do. When she came for water for the washing and pressing, she would greet him: “Afternoon, Sanzo.”


    “That you, Lisha?”


    His skin was white and dull, and his hands looked too large on his wrists.


    One day in early April she was ironing alone down in the cellar room which her mother rented as a laundry. Light came in through small windows set high in the wall, at ground level; sparse grass and weeds stirred in the sunlight just outside the dusty glass. A streak of sunshine fell across the shirt she was pressing, and the steam rose, smelling sharp of ozone. She began to sing aloud.


    Two tattered beggars met on the street.


    “Hey, little brother, give me bread to eat!”


    “Go to the baker’s house, ask him for the key,


    If he won’t hand it over, say you were sent by me!”


    She had to go out for water for the sprinkling-bottle. After the dusk of the cellar, the sunlight filled her eyes with whorls and blots of black and gold. Still humming, she went to the pump.


    Sanzo had just come out of the house. “Morning, Lisha.”


    “Morning, Sanzo.”


    He sat down on the bench, stretching out his long legs, raising his face to the sun. She stood silent by the pump and looked at him. She looked at him intently, judgingly.


    “You still there?”


    “Yes, I’m here.”


    “I never see you any more.”


    She took this in silence. Presently she came and sat down beside him, setting the jug of water down carefully under the bench. “Have you been feeling better?”


    “Guess so.”


    “The sun, it’s like we could all get out and live again. It’s really spring now. Smell this.” She picked the small white flower of a weed that had come up between the flagstones near the pump, and put it in his hand. “It’s too little to feel it. Smell it. It smells like pancakes.”


    He dropped the flower and bowed his head as if looking down at it. “What have you been up to lately? Besides the laundry.”


    “Oh, I don’t know. Eva’s getting married, next month. To Ventse Estay. They’re going to move to Brailava, up north. He’s a bricklayer, there’s work up there.”


    “And how about you?”


    “Oh, I’m staying here,” she said, and then feeling the dull, cold condescension of his tone added, “I’m engaged.”


    “Who to?”


    “Givan Fenne.”


    “What’s he do?”


    “Dyer at Ferman. He’s secretary of the Union section.”


    Sanzo got up, strode across the yard to the archway, then turned and more hesitantly came back. He stood there a couple of yards from her, his hands hanging at his sides; he was not quite facing her. “Good for you, congratulations!” he said, and turned to go.


    “Sanzo!”


    He stopped and waited.


    “Stay here a minute.”


    “What for?”


    “Because I want you to.”


    He stood still.


    “I wanted to tell you . . .” But she got stuck.


    He came back, felt for the bench, and sat down. “Look, Lisha,” he said in a cooler voice, “it doesn’t make any difference.”


    “Yes it does, it makes a lot. I wanted to tell you that I’m not engaged. He did ask me, but I’m not.”


    He was listening, but without expression. “Then why’d you say you were?”


    “I don’t know. To make you mad.”


    “And so?”


    “And so,” said Lisha. “And so, I wanted to tell you that you may be blind but that’s no excuse for being deaf, dumb, and stupid. I know you were sick and I’m very sorry, but you’d be sicker if I had anything to do with it.”


    Sanzo sat motionless. “What the hell?” he said. She did not answer; and after quite a while he turned, his hand reaching out and then stopping in mid-gesture, and said nervously, “Lisha?”


    “I’m right here.”


    “Thought you’d gone.”


    “I’m not done yet.”


    “Well, go ahead. Nobody’s stopping you.”


    “You are.”


    A pause.


    “Look, Lisha, I have to. Don’t you see that?”


    “No, I don’t. Sanzo, let me explain—”


    “No. Don’t. I’m not a stone wall, Lisha.”


    They sat side by side in the warmth a while.


    “You’d better marry that fellow.”


    “I can’t.”


    “Don’t be a fool.”


    “I can’t get around it. Around you.”


    He turned his face away. In a strained, stifled voice he said, “I wanted to apologise—” He made a vague gesture.


    “No! Don’t.”


    There was a silence again. Sanzo sat up straighter and rubbed his hands over his eyes and forehead, painfully. “Look, Lisha, it’s no good. Honestly. There’s your parents, what are they going to say, but that’s not it, it’s all the rest of it, living with my aunt and uncle, I can’t . . . A man has to have something to offer.”


    “Don’t be humble.”


    “I’m not. I never have been. I know what I am and this—this business doesn’t make any difference to that, to me. But it does, it would to somebody else.”


    “I want to marry you,” Lisha said. “If you want to marry me, then do, and if you don’t then don’t. I can’t do it all by myself. But at least remember I’m in on it too!”


    “It’s you I’m thinking of.”


    “No it’s not. You’re thinking of yourself, being blind and the rest of it. You let me think about that, don’t think I haven’t, either.”


    “I have thought about you. All winter. All the time. It . . . it doesn’t fit, Lisha.”


    “Not there, no.”


    “Where, then? Where do we fit? In the house up there on the Hill? We can split it, twenty rooms each. . . .”


    “Sanzo, I have to go finish the ironing, it has to be ready at noon. If we decide anything we can figure out that kind of thing. I’d like to get clear out of Rákava.”


    “Are you,” he hesitated. “Will you come this afternoon?”


    “All right.”


    She went off, swinging the water-jug. When she got to the cellar she stood there beside the ironing board and burst into tears. She had not cried for months; she had thought she was too old for tears and would not cry again. She cried without knowing why, her tears ran like a river free of the ice-lock of winter. They ran down her cheeks; she felt neither joy nor grief, and went on with her work long before her tears stopped.


    At four o’clock she started to go to the Chekeys’ flat, but Sanzo was waiting for her in the courtyard. They went up the Hill to the wild garden, to the lawn above the chestnut grove. The new grass was sparse and soft. In the green darkness of the grove the first candles of the chestnuts burned yellowish-white. A few pigeons soared in the warm, smoky air above the city.


    “There’s roses all around the house. Would they mind if I picked some?”


    “They? Who?”


    “All right, I’ll be right back.”


    She came back with a handful of the small, red, thorny roses. Sanzo had lain back with his arms under his head. She sat down by him. The broad, sweet April wind blew over them level with the low sun. “Well,” he said, “we haven’t got anywhere, have we?”


    “I don’t know. I think so.”


    “When did you get like this?”


    “Like what?”


    “Oh, you know. You used to be different.” His voice when he was relaxed had a warm, burring note in it, pleasant to hear. “You never said anything. . . . You know what?”


    “What?”


    “We never finished reading that book.”


    He yawned and turned on his side, facing her. She put her hand on his.


    “When you were a kid you used to smile all the time. Do you still?”


    “Not since I met you,” she said, smiling.


    Her hand lay still on his.


    “Listen. I get the disability pension, two-fifty. It would get us out of Rákava. That’s what you want?”


    “Yes, I do.”


    “Well, there’s Krasnoy. Unemployment’s not supposed to be so bad there, and there must be cheap places to live, it’s a bigger city.”


    “I thought of it too. There must be more jobs there, it’s not all one industry like here. I could get something.”


    “I could pick up something with this caning, if there was anybody with any money wanting things like that done. I can handle repair work too, I was doing some last fall.” He seemed to be listening to his own words; and suddenly he gave his strange laugh, that changed his face. “Listen,” he said, “this is no good. You going to lead me to Krasnoy by the hand? Forget it. You ought to get away, all right. Clear away. Marry that fellow and get away. Use your head, Lisha.”


    He had sat up, his arms around his knees, not facing her.


    “You talk as if we were both beggars,” she said. “As if we had nothing to give each other and nowhere to go.”


    “That’s it. That’s the point. We don’t. I don’t. Do you think getting out of this place will make any difference? Do you think it’ll change me? Do you think if I walk around the corner . . . ?” He was trying for irony but achieved only agony. Lisha clenched her hands. “No, of course I don’t,” she said. “Don’t talk like everybody else. They all say that. We can’t leave Rákava, we’re stuck here. I can’t marry Sanzo Chekey, he’s blind. We can’t do anything we want to do, we haven’t got enough money. It’s all true, it’s all perfectly true. But it’s not all. Is it true that if you’re a beggar you mustn’t beg? What else can you do? If you get a piece of bread do you throw it away? If you felt like I do, Sanzo, you’d take what you were given and hold on to it!”


    “Lisha,” he said, “oh God, I want to hold on— Nothing—” He reached to her and she came to him; they held each other. He struggled to speak but could not for a long time. “You know I want you, I need you, there is nothing, there is nothing else,” he stammered, and she, denying, denying his need, said, “No, no, no, no,” but held him with all the strength she had. It was still much less than his. After a while he let her go, and taking her hand stroked it a little. “Look,” he said quietly enough, “I do . . . you know. Only it’s a very long chance, Lisha.”


    “We’ll never get a chance that isn’t long.”


    “You would.”


    “You are my long chance,” she said, with a kind of bitterness, and a profound certainty.


    He found nothing to say to that for a while. Finally he drew a long breath and said very softly, “What you said about begging . . . There was a doctor, two years ago at the hospital where I was, he said something like that, he said what are you afraid of, you see what the dead see, and still you’re alive. What have you got to lose?”


    “I know what I’ve got to lose,” Lisha said. “And I’m not going to.”


    “I know what I’ve got to gain,” he said. “That’s what scares me.” His face was raised, as if he were looking out over the city. It was a very strong face, hard and intent, and Lisha looking at him was shaken; she shut her eyes. She knew that it was she, her will, her presence, that set him free; but she must go with him into freedom, and it was a place she had never been before. In the darkness she whispered, “All right, I’m scared too.”


    “Well, hang on,” he said, putting his arm around her shoulders. “If you hang on, I will.”


    They sat there, not talking much, as the sun sank into the mist above the plains of April, and the towers and windows of the city yellowed in the falling light. As the sun set they went down the Hill together, out of the silent garden with its beautiful, ruined, staring house, into the smoke and noise and crowding of the thousand streets, where already night had fallen.


    1920

  


  
    The Road East


    


    “THERE IS NO EVIL,” Mrs Eray murmured to the rose-geranium in the windowbox, and her son, listening, thought swiftly of caterpillars, cutworms, leafmold, blight; but sunlight shone on the round green leaves and red flowers and grey hair in vast mild assent, and Mrs Eray smiled. Her sleeves dropped back as she raised her arms, a sun-priestess at the window. “Each flower proves it. I’m glad you like flowers, Maler.”—“I like trees better,” he said, being tired and edgy; edgy was the word he kept thinking, on edge, on the sharp edge. He wanted a vacation badly. “But you couldn’t have brought me an oak tree for my birthday!” She laughed, turning to look at the October sheaf of golden asters he had brought her, and he smiled, sunk heavy and passive in his armchair. “Oh you poor old mushroom!” she said, coming to him. A big, pale, heavy man, he disliked that endearment, feeling that it fit him. “Sit up, smile! This lovely day, my birthday, these flowers, the sunlight. How can people refuse to enjoy this world! Thank you for my flowers, dear.” She kissed his forehead and returned with her buoyant step to the window.


    “Ihrenthal’s gone,” he said.


    “Gone?”


    “For a week now. No one’s even said his name, all week.”


    It was a frontal attack, for she had known Ihrenthal; he had sat at her dinner-table, a shy, rash, curly-headed man; he had taken a second helping of soup; she could not blow his name away as if it were empty of meaning, of weight.


    “You don’t know what’s become of him?”


    “Of course I know.”


    She traced the round of a geranium leaf with her forefinger and said in a gentle tone as if to the plant, “Not really.”


    “I don’t know whether he’s been shot or simply jailed, if that’s what you mean.”


    She withdrew her hand from the plant and stood looking up at the sunlit sky. “You must not be bitter, Maler,” she said. “We don’t know what’s become of him, truly, in the deeper sense. Of him, of all that goes, disappears, is lost to us. We know so little, so very little. And yet enough! The sunlight shines, it bathes us all, it makes no judgment, has no bitterness. That much we know. That’s the great lesson. Life is a gift, such a lovely gift! There’s no room in it for bitterness. No room.” Speaking to the sky, she had not noticed him get up.


    “There’s room for everything. Too much room. Ihrenthal was my friend. Is his—is his death a lovely gift?” But he rushed and mumbled his words, and she did not have to hear them. He sat down again while she went on to prepare supper and lay the table. “What if I’d been arrested instead of Ihrenthal?” he wanted to say, but did not say. She can’t understand, he thought, because she lives inside, she’s always looking out the window but she never opens the door, she never goes outside. . . . The tears he could not cry for Ihrenthal strained his throat again, but his thoughts were already slipping away, eastward, towards the road. On the road, the thought of his friend still was with him, the imagination of pain and the knowledge of grief: but with him, not locked inside him. On the road he could walk with sorrow, as he walked through the rain.


    The road led east from Krasnoy through farmlands and past villages to a grey-walled town over which rose the fortress-like tower of an old church. The villages and the town were on maps and he had seen them once from the train: Raskofiu, Ranne, Malenne, Sorg: they were real places, none over fifty miles from the city. But in his mind he walked to them on foot and it was long ago, early in the last century perhaps, for there were no cars on the road nor even railroad crossings. He walked along in rain or sunlight on the country road towards Sorg where at evening he would rest. He would go to an inn down the street from the stout six-sided tower of the church. That was pleasant to look forward to. He had never come to the inn, though once or twice he had entered the town and stood beneath the church portal, a round arch of carven stone. Meantime he walked along through the weather, with a load on his back that varied in weight. On this bright autumn evening he walked too far, till the coming of darkness; it got cold, and fog lay over the dark hollow fields. He had no idea how much farther it was to Sorg, but he was hungry and very tired. He sat down on the bank of the road under a clump of trees and rested there a while in the silence of nightfall. He slipped the packstrap from his shoulders and sat quiet; cold, grieving, and apprehensive, yet quiet, watching mist and dusk. “Supper’s ready!” his mother called cheerily. He rose at once and joined her at the table.


    Next day he met the gypsy woman. The trolley had brought him east across the river, and he stood waiting to cross its tracks while the wind blew dust down the long street in the long light of evening. Standing beside him she said, “Would you tell me how to get to Geyle Street?” The voice was not a city voice. Black hair, coarse and straight, blew across a colorless face, skin over delicate bone. “I’m going that way,” Maler said after a pause, and set off across the street, not looking to see if she came with him. She did. “I never was in Krasnoy before,” she said. She came from the plains of a foreign land, windswept plains ringed by far peaks fading into night as nearby, in the wild grass, the smoke of a campfire veered and doubled on the wind over the flames and a woman sang in a strange tongue, a music lost in the huge, blue, frozen dusk. “I’ve never been out of it, not to speak of,” he answered, looking at her. She was about his age, her dress was bright and shoddy, she walked erect, quiet-faced. “What number?” he asked, for they had come to Geyle Street, and she said, “Thirty-three,” the number of his house. They walked side by side under the streetlamps, he and this delicate foreign wanderer, strange to each other, walking home together. While getting out his key he explained, “I live in this building,” though that really explained very little.


    “I’d better ring,” she said, “it’s a friend of mine that lives here, she’s not expecting me,” and she looked for the name on the mailboxes. So he could not let her in. But he turned from the open door and asked, “Excuse me, where do you come from?” She looked at him with a slight smile of surprise and answered, “From Sorg.”


    His mother was in the kitchen. The rose-geranium flared bright in the window, the asters were already fading. On edge, on the edge. He sat in the armchair, his eyes shut, listening for a step overhead or through the wall, the light step that had come to him not across foreign plains with gypsies but down the familiar road in twilight, the road from Sorg leading to this city, this house, this room. Of course the road led westward as well as eastward, only he had never thought of that. He had come in so quietly that his mother had not heard him, and seeing him in the armchair she jumped and her voice rang with panic: “Why didn’t you say something, Maler!” Then she lit the lamps and stroked the withering asters and chatted.


    The next day he met Provin. He had not yet said a word to Provin, not even good morning, working side by side in the office (Drafting and Planning, Krasnoy Bureau of the State Office of Civil Architecture) on the same plans (State Housing, Trasfiuve Project No. 2). The young man followed him as he left the building at five.


    “Mr Eray, let me speak to you.”


    “What about?”


    “About anything,” the young man said easily, knowing his own charm, and yet dead serious. He was goodlooking, bearing himself gallantly. Defeated, smoked out of his refuge of silence, Maler said at last, “Well I’m sorry, Provin. Not your fault. Because of Ihrenthal, the man who had your job. Nothing to do with you. It’s unreasonable. I’m sorry.” He turned away.


    Provin said fiercely, “You can’t waste hatred like that!”


    Maler stood still. “All right. I’ll say good morning after this. It’s all right. What’s the difference? What does it matter to you? What does it matter if any of us talks or doesn’t talk? What is there to say?”


    “It does matter. There’s nothing left to us, now, but one another.”


    They stood face to face on the street in the fine autumn rain, men passing around them to left and right, and Maler said after a moment, “No, we haven’t even got that left, Provin,” and set off down Palazay Street to his trolley stop. But after the long ride through midtown and across Old Bridge and through the Trasfiuve, and the walk through rain to Geyle Street, in the doorway of his house he met the woman from Sorg. She asked him, “Can you let me in?”


    He nodded, unlocking the door.


    “My friend forgot to give me her key, and she had to go out. I’ve been wandering around, I thought maybe you’d be home around the same time as yesterday. . . .” She was ready to laugh with him at her own improvidence, but he could not laugh or answer her. He had been wrong to reject Provin, dead wrong. He had collaborated with the enemy. Now he must pay the price of his silence, which is more silence, silence when one wants to speak: the gag. He followed her up the stairs, silent. And yet she came from his home, the town where he had never been.


    “Good evening,” she said at the turning of the stairs, no longer smiling, her quiet face turned away.


    “Good evening,” he said.


    He sat in the armchair and leaned his head back; his mother was in the other room; weariness rose up in him. He was much too tired to travel on the road. Bric-a-brac from the day, the office, the streets milled and juggled in his mind; he was almost asleep. Then for a moment he saw the road, and for the first time he saw people walking on it: other people. Not himself, not Ihrenthal who was dead, not anyone he knew, but strangers, a few people with quiet faces. They were walking westward, towards him, meeting and passing him. He stood still. They looked at him but they did not speak. His mother spoke sharply, “Maler!” He did not move, but she would never pass him by. “Maler, are you ill?” She did not believe in illness, though Maler’s father had died of cancer a few years ago; the trouble, she felt, had been in his mind. She had never been sick, and childbirth, even the two miscarriages she had had, had been painless, even joyous. There is no pain, only the fear of it, which one can reject. But she knew that Maler like his father had not rid his mind of fear. “My dear,” she murmured, “you mustn’t wear yourself out like this.”


    “I’m all right.” All right, all right, everything’s all right.


    “Is it Ihrenthal?”


    She had said the name, she had mentioned the dead, she had admitted death, let it into the room. He stared at her bewildered, overwhelmed with gratitude. She had given him back the power of speech. “Yes,” he stammered, “yes, it’s that. It’s that. I can’t take it—”


    “You mustn’t eat your heart out over it, my dear.” She stroked his hand. He sat still, longing for comfort. “It wasn’t your fault,” she said, the soft exultation coming into her voice again. “There’s nothing you could have done to change things, nothing you can do now. He was what he was, perhaps he even sought this, he was rebellious, restless. He’s gone his own way. You must stay with what is real, what remains, Maler. His fate led him another way than yours. But yours leads home. When you turn your back on me, when you won’t speak to me, my dear, then you’re rejecting not only me, but your true self. After all, we have no one but each other.”


    He said nothing, bitterly disappointed, borne down by his guilt towards her, who did depend wholly on him, and towards Ihrenthal and Provin from whom he had tried to escape, following an unreal road in silence and alone. But when she raised her arms and said or sang, “Nothing is evil, nothing is wasted, if only we look at the world without fear!”—then he broke away and stood up. “The only way to do that is go blind,” he said, and went out, letting the door slam.


    He came back drunk at three in the morning, singing. He woke too late to shave, and was late to work; after the lunch hour he did not go back to the office. He sat on in the dark simmering bar behind Roukh Palace where he and Ihrenthal had used to lunch together on beer and herring, and by six, when Provin came in, he was drunk again. “Good evening, Provin! Have a drink on me.”


    “Thanks, I will. Givaney said you might be here.” They drank in silence, side by side, jammed together by the press at the bar. Maler straightened up and said, “There is no evil, Provin.”


    “No?” said Provin, smiling, glancing up at him.


    “No. None at all. People get in trouble for things they say, but when they’re shot for it it’s their own fault, eh, so there’s nothing evil in that. Or if they’re just put in jail, all the better, it keeps them from talking. If nobody talks then nobody tells lies, and there isn’t any real evil, you see, only lies. Evil is a lie. You have to be silent, then the world’s good. All good. The police are good men with wives and families, the agents are good patriotic men, the soldiers are good, the State is good, we’re good citizens of a great country, only we mustn’t speak. We mustn’t talk to one another, in case we tell a lie. That would spoil it all. Never speak to a man. Especially never speak to a woman. Have you got a mother, Provin? I don’t. I was born of a virgin, painlessly. Pain is a lie, it doesn’t exist—see?” He brought his hand down backwards on the edge of the bar with a crack like a stick breaking. “Ah!” he cried, and Provin too turned white. The men at the bar all round them, dark-faced men in shoddy grey, glanced at him; the simmering murmur of their talk went on. The month on the calendar over the bar was October, 1956. Maler pressed his hand to his side under his coat for a while and then silently, left-handed, finished his beer. “In Budapest, on Wednesday,” the man next to him repeated quietly to his neighbor in plasterer’s overalls, “on Wednesday.”


    “Is that true, all that?”


    Provin nodded. “It’s true.”


    “Are you from Sorg, Provin?”


    “No, from Raskofiu, a few miles this side of Sorg. Will you come home with me, Mr Eray?”


    “Too drunk.”


    “My wife and I have a room to ourselves. I wanted to talk with you. This business.” He nodded at the man in overalls. “There’s a chance—”


    “Too late,” Maler said. “Too drunk. Listen, do you know the road between Raskofiu and Sorg?”


    Provin looked down. “You come from there too?”


    “No. I was born here in Krasnoy. City boy. Never been to Sorg. Saw the church-spire once from a train going east, doing my military service. Now I think I’ll go see it closer up. When will the trouble start here?” he asked conversationally as they left the bar, but the young man did not answer. Maler walked back across the river to Geyle Street, a very long walk. He was sober when he got home. His mother looked hard and shrunken, like a nut dried around its kernel. He was her lie, and one must keep hold of a lie, wither around it, hold on. Her world without evil, without hope, her world without revolution depended on him alone.


    While he ate his late dry supper she asked him about the rumors she had heard at market. “Yes,” he said, “that’s right. And the West is going to help them, send in airplanes with guns, troops maybe. They’ll make it.” Then he laughed, and she dared not ask him why. Next day he went to work as usual. But on Saturday morning early the woman from Sorg stood at his door. “Please, can you get me across the river?” Softly, not to wake his mother, he asked what she meant. She explained that the bridges were being guarded and they would not let her across since she had no Krasnoy domicile card, and she must get across to the railway station to go back to her family in Sorg. She was a day late already, she must get back. “If you’re going to work and I went with you, you see, they might let you cross. . . .”


    “My office won’t be open,” he said.


    She said nothing.


    “I don’t know, we could try it,” he said, looking down at her, feeling himself stout and heavy in his dressing-gown. “Are the trolleys running?”


    “No, they’ve stopped, people say everything’s stopped. Maybe even the trains. It’s going on over there on the west side, in River Quarter, they say.”


    In the early light under a grey sky they went together through the long streets toward the river. “They’ll probably stop me,” he said, “I’m only an architect. If they do, you might try to get to Grasse somehow. The trains going east stop there, it’s a suburban station. It’s only five or six miles from Krasnoy.” She nodded. She wore the same bright shoddy dress; it was cold, and they walked fast. When they came in sight of Old Bridge they hesitated. Across the bridge between the fine stone balustrades stood not only the idling soldiers they had expected but also a huge black thing, hunchbacked and oblique, its machine-gun snout poked out towards the west. A soldier waved aside his identification cards, told him to go home. He and the woman returned up the long streets where no trolleys ran, no cars, and few people walked. “If you want to walk on out to Grasse,” he said, “I’ll go with you.”


    The coarse black hair whipped over her cheek as she smiled, bewildered, a countrywoman astray. “You’re kind. But will the trains be running?”


    “Probably not.”


    The colorless delicate face was bent pondering; she smiled a little, faced with the insuperable.


    “Have you children at home, in Sorg?”


    “Yes, two children. I was here trying to get my husband’s compensation, he was hurt in an accident at the mill, he lost his arm. . . .”


    “It’s about forty miles to Sorg. Walking, you might be there tomorrow night.”


    “I was thinking that. But with this trouble they’ll be policing the ways out of the city, all the roads. . . .”


    “Not the roads east.”


    “I’m a bit scared,” she said after a while, gently; no gypsy from the wild lands but only a countrywoman on the roads of ruin, afraid to go alone. She need not go alone. They could walk together out of the city eastward, taking the road up to Grasse and then down among the hills, from town to town on the rolling plain past fields and lone farms until they came in autumn evening under the grey walls, to the high spire of Sorg; and now with the trouble in Krasnoy the roads would be quite empty, no buses, no cars running, as if they walked into the last century and on before into the other centuries, back, towards their heritage, away from their death.


    “You’d best wait it out here,” he said as they turned onto Geyle Street. She looked up at his heavy face, saying nothing. On the stair-landing she murmured, “Thank you. You were kind to go with me.”


    “I wish I could.” He turned to his door.


    In the afternoon the windows of the flat rattled and rattled. His mother sat with her hands in her lap staring out over the flowers of the geranium at the cloud-spotted sky full of sunshine. “I’m going out, mother,” Maler said, and she sat still; but as he put on his coat she said, “It’s not safe.”


    “No. It’s not safe.”


    “Stay inside, Maler.”


    “It’s sunny outside. The sunshine bathes us all, eh? I need a good bath.”


    She looked up at him in terror. Having denied the need for help, she did not know how to ask for it. “This isn’t real, this is insane, all this trouble-making, you mustn’t get mixed up in it, I won’t accept it. I won’t believe it!” she said, raising her long arms to him as if in incantation. He stood there, a big heavy man. Down on the street there was a long shout, silence, a shout; the windows rattled again. She dropped her arms to her sides and cried, “But Maler, I’ll be alone!”


    “Yes, well,” he said softly, thoughtfully, not wanting to hurt her, “that’s how it is.” He left her, closed the door behind him, and went down the stairs and out, dazzled at first by the bright October sunlight, to join the army of the unarmed and with them to go down the long streets leading westward to, but not across, the river.


    1956

  


  
    Brothers and Sisters


    


    THE INJURED QUARRIER lay on a high hospital bed. He had not recovered consciousness. His silence was grand and oppressive; his body under the sheet that dropped in stiff folds, his face were as indifferent as stone. The mother, as if challenged by that silence and indifference, spoke loudly: “What did you do it for? Do you want to die before I do? Look at him, look at him, my beauty, my hawk, my river, my son!” Her sorrow boasted of itself. She rose to the occasion like a lark to the morning. His silence and her outcry meant the same thing: the unendurable made welcome. The younger son stood listening. They bore him down with their grief as large as life. Unconscious, heedless, broken like a piece of chalk, that body, his brother, bore him down with the weight of the flesh, and he wanted to run away, to save himself.


    The man who had been saved stood beside him, a little stooped fellow, middle-aged, limestone dust white in his knuckles. He too was borne down. “He saved my life,” he said to Stefan, gaping, wanting an explanation. His voice was the flat toneless voice of the deaf.


    “He would,” Stefan said. “That’s what he’d do.”


    He left the hospital to get his lunch. Everybody asked him about his brother. “He’ll live,” Stefan said. He went to the White Lion for lunch, drank too much. “Crippled? Him? Kostant? So he got a couple of tons of rock in the face, it won’t hurt him, he’s made of the stuff. He wasn’t born, he was quarried out.” They laughed at him as usual. “Quarried out,” he said. “Like all the rest of you.” He left the White Lion, went down Ardure Street four blocks straight out of town, and kept on straight, walking northeast, parallel with the railroad tracks a quarter mile away. The May sun was small and greyish overhead. Underfoot there were dust and small weeds. The karst, the limestone plain, jigged tinily about him with heatwaves like the transparent vibrating wings of flies. Remote and small, rigid beyond that vibrant greyish haze, the mountains stood. He had known the mountains from far off all his life, and twice had seen them close, when he took the Brailava train, once going, once coming back. He knew they were clothed in trees, fir trees with roots clutching the banks of running streams and with branches dark in the mist that closed and parted in the mountain gullies in the light of dawn as the train clanked by, its smoke dropping down the green slopes like a dropping veil. In the mountains the streams ran noisy in the sunlight; there were waterfalls. Here on the karst the rivers ran underground, silent in dark veins of stone. You could ride a horse all day from Sfaroy Kampe and still not reach the mountains, still be in the limestone dust; but late on the second day you would come under the shade of trees, by running streams. Stefan Fabbre sat down by the side of the straight unreal road he had been walking on, and put his head in his arms. Alone, a mile from town, a quarter mile from the tracks, sixty miles from the mountains, he sat and cried for his brother. The plain of dust and stone quivered and grimaced about him in the heat like the face of a man in pain.


    He got back an hour late from lunch to the office of the Chorin Company where he worked as an accountant. His boss came to his desk: “Fabbre, you needn’t stay this afternoon.”


    “Why not?”


    “Well, if you want to go to the hospital . . .”


    “What can I do there? I can’t sew him back up, can I?”


    “As you like,” the boss said, turning away.


    “Not me that got a ton of rocks in the face, is it?” Nobody answered him.


    When Kostant Fabbre was hurt in the rockslide in the quarry he was twenty-six years old; his brother was twenty-three; their sister Rosana was thirteen. She was beginning to grow tall and sullen, to weigh upon the earth. Instead of running, now, she walked, ungainly and somewhat hunched, as if at each step she crossed, unwilling, a threshold. She talked loudly, and laughed aloud. She struck back at whatever touched her, a voice, a wind, a word she did not understand, the evening star. She had not learned indifference, she knew only defiance. Usually she and Stefan quarrelled, touching each other where each was raw, unfinished. This night when he got home the mother had not come back from the hospital, and Rosana was silent in the silent house. She had been thinking all afternoon about pain, about pain and death; defiance had failed her.


    “Don’t look so down,” Stefan told her as she served out beans for supper. “He’ll be all right.”


    “Do you think . . . Somebody was saying he might be, you know. . . .”


    “Crippled? No, he’ll be all right.”


    “Why do you think he, you know, ran to push that fellow out of the way?”


    “No why to it, Ros. He just did it.”


    He was touched that she asked these questions of him, and surprised at the certainty of his answers. He had not thought that he had any answers.


    “It’s queer,” she said.


    “What is?”


    “I don’t know. Kostant . . .”


    “Knocked the keystone out of your arch, didn’t it? Wham! One rock falls, they all go.” She did not understand him; she did not recognise the place where she had come today, a place where she was like other people, sharing with them the singular catastrophe of being alive. Stefan was not the one to guide her. “Here we all are,” he went on, “lying around each of us under our private pile of rocks. At least they got Kostant out from under his and filled him up with morphine. . . . D’you remember once when you were little you said ‘I’m going to marry Kostant when I grow up.’”


    Rosana nodded. “Sure. And he got real mad.”


    “Because mother laughed.”


    “It was you and dad that laughed.”


    Neither of them was eating. The room was close and dark around the kerosene lamp.


    “What was it like when dad died?”


    “You were there,” Stefan said.


    “I was nine. But I can’t remember it. Except it was hot like now, and there were a lot of big moths knocking their heads on the glass. Was that the night he died?”


    “I guess so.”


    “What was it like?” She was trying to explore the new land.


    “I don’t know. He just died. It isn’t like anything else.”


    The father had died of pneumonia at forty-six, after thirty years in the quarries. Stefan did not remember his death much more clearly than Rosana did. He had not been the keystone of the arch.


    “Have we got any fruit to eat?”


    The girl did not answer. She was gazing at the air above the place at the table where the elder brother usually sat. Her forehead and dark eyebrows were like his, were his: likeness between kin is identity, the brother and sister were, by so much or so little, the curve of brow and temple, the same person; so that, for a moment, Kostant sat across the table mutely contemplating his own absence.


    “Is there any?”


    “I think there’s some apples in the pantry,” she answered, coming back to herself, but so quietly that in her brother’s eyes she seemed briefly a woman, a quiet woman speaking out of her thoughts; and he said with tenderness to that woman, “Come on, let’s go over to the hospital. They must be through messing with him by now.”


    The deaf man had come back to the hospital. His daughter was with him. Stefan knew she clerked at the butcher’s shop. The deaf man, not allowed into the ward, kept Stefan half an hour in the hot, pine-floored waiting room that smelled of disinfectant and resin. He talked, walking about, sitting down, jumping up, arguing in the loud even monotone of his deafness. “I’m not going back to the pit. No sir. What if I’d said last night I’m not going into the pit tomorrow? Then how’d it be now, see? I wouldn’t be here now, nor you wouldn’t, nor he wouldn’t, him in there, your brother. We’d all be home. Home safe and sound, see? I’m not going back to the pit. No, by God. I’m going out to the farm, that’s where I’m going. I grew up there, see, out west in the foothills there, my brother’s there. I’m going back and work the farm with him. I’m not going back to the pit again.”


    The daughter sat on the wooden bench, erect and still. Her face was narrow, her black hair was pulled back in a knot. “Aren’t you hot?” Stefan asked her, and she answered gravely, “No, I’m all right.” Her voice was clear. She was used to speaking to her deaf father. When Stefan said nothing more she looked down again and sat with her hands in her lap. The father was still talking. Stefan rubbed his hands through his sweaty hair and tried to interrupt. “Good, sounds like a good plan, Sachik. Why waste the rest of your life in the pits.” The deaf man talked right on.


    “He doesn’t hear you.”


    “Can’t you take him home?”


    “I couldn’t make him leave here even for dinner. He won’t stop talking.”


    Her voice was much lower saying this, perhaps from embarrassment, and the sound of it caught at Stefan. He rubbed his sweaty hair again and stared at her, thinking for some reason of smoke, waterfalls, the mountains.


    “You go on home.” He heard in his own voice the qualities of hers, softness and clarity. “I’ll get him over to the Lion for an hour.”


    “Then you won’t see your brother.”


    “He won’t run away. Go on home.”


    At the White Lion both men drank heavily. Sachik talked on about the farm in the foothills, Stefan talked about the mountains and his year at college in the city. Neither heard the other. Drunk, Stefan walked Sachik home to one of the rows of party-walled houses that the Chorin Company had put up in ’95 when they opened the new quarry. The houses were on the west edge of town, and behind them the karst stretched in the light of the half-moon away on and on, pocked, pitted, level, answering the moonlight with its own pallor taken at third-hand from the sun. The moon, second-hand, worn at the edges, was hung up in the sky like something a housewife leaves out to remind her it needs mending. “Tell your daughter everything is all right,” Stefan said, swaying at the door. “Everything is all right,” Sachik repeated with enthusiasm, “aa-all right.”


    Stefan went home drunk, and so the day of the accident blurred in his memory into the rest of the days of the year, and the fragments that stayed with him, his brother’s closed eyes, the dark girl looking at him, the moon looking at nothing, did not recur to his mind together as parts of a whole, but separately with long intervals between.


    


    On the karst there are no springs; the water they drink in Sfaroy Kampe comes from deep wells and is pure, without taste. Ekata Sachik tasted the strange spring-water of the farm still on her lips as she scrubbed an iron skillet at the sink. She scrubbed with a stiff brush, using more energy than was needed, absorbed in the work deep below the level of conscious pleasure. Food had been burned in the skillet, the water she poured in fled brown from the bristles of the brush, glittering in the lamplight. They none of them knew how to cook here at the farm. Sooner or later she would take over the cooking and they could eat properly. She liked housework, she liked to clean, to bend hot-faced to the oven of a woodburning range, to call people in to supper; lively, complex work, not a bore like clerking at the butcher’s shop, making change, saying “Good day” and “Good day” all day. She had left town with her family because she was sick of that. The farm family had taken the four of them in without comment, as a natural disaster, more mouths to feed, but also more hands to work. It was a big, poor farm. Ekata’s mother, who was ailing, crept about behind the bustling aunt and cousin; the men, Ekata’s uncle, father, and brother, tromped in and out in dusty boots; there were long discussions about buying another pig. “It’s better here than in the town, there’s nothing in the town,” Ekata’s widowed cousin said; Ekata did not answer her. She had no answer. “I think Martin will be going back,” she said finally, “he never thought to be a farmer.” And in fact her brother, who was sixteen, went back to Sfaroy Kampe in August to work in the quarries.


    He took a room in a boarding house. His window looked down on the Fabbres’ back yard, a fenced square of dust and weeds with a sad-looking fir tree at one corner. The landlady, a quarrier’s widow, was dark, straight-backed, calm, like Martin’s sister Ekata. With her the boy felt manly and easy. When she was out, her daughter and the other boarders, four single men in their twenties, took over; they laughed and slapped one another on the back; the railway clerk from Brailava would take out his guitar and play music-hall songs, rolling his eyes like raisins set in lard. The daughter, thirty and unmarried, would laugh and move about a great deal, her shirtwaist would come out of her belt in back and she would not tuck it in. Why did they make so much fuss? Why did they laugh, punch one another’s shoulders, play the guitar and sing? They would begin to make fun of Martin. He would shrug and reply gruffly. Once he replied in the language used in the quarry pits. The guitar player took him aside and spoke to him seriously about how one must behave in front of ladies. Martin listened with his red face bowed. He was a big, broad-shouldered boy. He thought he might pick up this clerk from Brailava and break his neck. He did not do it. He had no right to. The clerk and the others were men; there was something they understood which he did not understand, the reason why they made a fuss, rolled their eyes, played and sang. Until he understood that, they were justified in telling him how to speak to ladies. He went up to his room and leaned out the window to smoke a cigarette. The smoke hung in the motionless evening air which enclosed the fir tree, the roofs, the world in a large dome of hard, dark-blue crystal. Rosana Fabbre came out into the fenced yard next door, dumped out a pan of dishwater with a short, fine swing of her arms, then stood still to look up at the sky, foreshortened, a dark head over a white blouse, caught in the blue crystal. Nothing moved for sixty miles in all directions except the last drops of water in the dishpan, which one by one fell to the ground, and the smoke of Martin’s cigarette curling and dropping away from his fingers. Slowly he drew in his hand so that her eye would not be caught by the tiny curl of smoke. She sighed, whacked the dishpan on the jamb of the door to shake out the last drops, which had already run out, turned, went in; the door slammed. The blue air rejoined without a flaw where she had stood. Martin murmured to that flawless air the word he had been advised not to say in front of ladies, and in a moment, as if in answer, the evening star shone out northwest-wards high and clear.


    Kostant Fabbre was home, and alone all day now that he was able to get across a room on crutches. How he spent these vast silent days no one considered, probably least of all himself. An active man, the strongest and most intelligent worker in the quarries, a crew foreman since he was twenty-three, he had had no practice at all at idleness, or solitude. He had always used his time to the full in work. Now time must use him. He watched it at work upon him without dismay or impatience, carefully, like an apprentice watching a master. He employed all his strength to learn his new trade, that of weakness. The silence in which he passed the days clung to him now as the limestone dust had used to cling to his skin.


    The mother worked in the dry-goods shop till six; Stefan got off work at five. There was an hour in the evening when the brothers were together alone. Stefan had used to spend this hour out in the back yard under the fir tree, stupid, sighing, watching swallows dart after invisible insects in the interminably darkening air, or else he had gone to the White Lion. Now he came home promptly, bringing Kostant the Brailava Messenger. They both read it, exchanging sheets. Stefan planned to speak, but did not. The dust lay on his lips. Nothing happened. Over and over the same hour passed. The older brother sat still, his handsome, quiet face bowed over the newspaper. He read slowly; Stefan had to wait to exchange sheets; he could see Kostant’s eyes move from word to word. Then Rosana would come in yelling good-bye to schoolmates in the street, the mother would come in, doors would bang, voices ring from room to room, the kitchen would smoke and clatter, plates clash, the hour was gone.


    One evening Kostant, having barely begun to read, laid the newspaper down. There was a long pause which contained no events and which Stefan, reading, pretended not to notice.


    “Stefan, my pipe’s there by you.”


    “Oh, sure,” Stefan mumbled, took him his pipe. Kostant filled and lit it, drew on it a few times, set it down. His right hand lay on the arm of the chair, hard and relaxed, holding in it a knot of desolation too heavy to lift. Stefan hid behind his paper and the silence went on.


    I’ll read out this about the union coalition to him, Stefan thought, but he did not. His eyes insisted on finding another article, reading it. Why can’t I talk to him?


    “Ros is growing up,” Kostant said.


    “She’s getting on,” Stefan mumbled.


    “She’ll take some looking after. I’ve been thinking. This is no town for a girl growing up. Wild lads and hard men.”


    “You’ll find them anywhere.”


    “Will you; no doubt,” Kostant said, accepting Stefan’s statement without question. Kostant had never been off the karst, never been out of Sfaroy Kampe. He knew nothing at all but limestone, Ardure Street and Chorin Street and Gulhelm Street, the mountains far off and the enormous sky.


    “See,” he said, picking up his pipe again, “she’s a bit wilful, I think.”


    “Lads will think twice before they mess with Fabbre’s sister,” Stefan said. “Anyhow, she’ll listen to you.”


    “And you.”


    “Me? What should she listen to me for?”


    “For the same reasons,” Kostant said, but Stefan had found his voice now—“What should she respect me for? She’s got good enough sense. You and I didn’t listen to anything dad said, did we? Same thing.”


    “You’re not like him. If that’s what you meant. You’ve had an education.”


    “An education, I’m a real professor, sure. Christ! One year at the Normal School!”


    “Why did you fail there, Stefan?”


    The question was not asked lightly; it came from the heart of Kostant’s silence, from his austere, pondering ignorance. Unnerved at finding himself, like Rosana, included so deeply in the thoughts of this reserved and superb brother, Stefan said the first thing that came to mind—“I was afraid I’d fail. So I didn’t work.”


    And there it was, plain as a glass of water, the truth, which he had never admitted to himself.


    Kostant nodded, thinking over this idea of failure, which was surely not one familiar to him; then he said in his resonant, gentle voice, “You’re wasting your time here in Kampe.”


    “I am? What about yourself?”


    “I’m wasting nothing. I never won any scholarship.” Kostant smiled, and the humor of his smile angered Stefan.


    “No, you never tried, you went straight to the pit at fifteen. Listen, did you ever wonder, did you ever stop a minute to ask what am I doing here, why did I go into the quarries, what do I work there for, am I going to work there six days a week every week of the year every year of my life? For pay, sure, there’s other ways to make a living. What’s it for? Why does anybody stay here, in this Godforsaken town on this Godforsaken piece of rock where nothing grows? Why don’t they get up and go somewhere? Talk about wasting your time! What in God’s name is it all for—is this all there is to it?”


    “I have thought that.”


    “I haven’t thought anything else for years.”


    “Why not go, then?”


    “Because I’m afraid to. It’d be like Brailava, like the college. But you—”


    “I’ve got my work here. It’s mine, I can do it. Anywhere you go, you can still ask what it’s all for.”


    “I know.” Stefan got up, a slight man moving and talking restlessly, half finishing his gestures and words. “I know. You take yourself with yourself. But that means one thing for me and something else again for you. You’re wasting yourself here, Kostant. It’s the same as this business, this hero business, smashing yourself up for that Sachik, a fool who can’t even see a rockslide coming at him—”


    “He couldn’t hear it,” Kostant put in, but Stefan could not stop now. “That’s not the point; the point is, let that kind of man look after himself, what’s he to you, what’s his life to you? Why did you go in after him when you saw the slide coming? For the same reason as you went into the pit, for the same reason as you keep working in the pit. For no reason. Because it just came up. It just happened. You let things happen to you, you take what’s handed you, when you could take it all in your hands and do what you wanted with it!”


    It was not what he had meant to say, not what he had wanted to say. He had wanted Kostant to talk. But words fell out of his own mouth and bounced around him like hailstones. Kostant sat quiet, his strong hand closed not to open; finally he answered: “You’re making something of me I’m not.” That was not humility. There was none in him. His patience was that of pride. He understood Stefan’s yearning but could not share it, for he lacked nothing; he was intact. He would go forward in the same, splendid, vulnerable integrity of body and mind towards whatever came to meet him on his road, like a king in exile on a land of stone, bearing all his kingdom—cities, trees, people, mountains, fields and flights of birds in spring—in his closed hand, a seed for the sowing; and, because there was no one of his language to speak to, silent.


    “But listen, you said you’ve thought the same thing, what’s it all for, is this all there is to life— If you’ve thought that, you must have looked for the answer!”


    After a long pause Kostant said, “I nearly found it. Last May.”


    Stefan stopped fidgeting, looked out the front window in silence. He was frightened. “That—that’s not an answer,” he mumbled.


    “Seems like there ought to be a better one,” Kostant agreed.


    “You get morbid sitting here. . . . What you need’s a woman,” Stefan said, fidgeting, slurring his words, staring out at the early-autumn evening rising from stone pavements unobscured by tree-branches or smoke, even, clear, and empty. Behind him, his brother laughed. “It’s the truth,” Stefan said bitterly, not turning.


    “Could be. How about yourself?”


    “They’re sitting out on the steps there at widow Katalny’s. She must be night nursing at the hospital again. Hear the guitar? That’s the fellow from Brailava, works at the railway office, goes after anything in skirts. Even goes after Nona Katalny. Sachik’s kid lives there now. Works in the New Pit, somebody said. Maybe in your crew.”


    “What kid?”


    “Sachik’s.”


    “Thought he’d left town.”


    “He did, went to some farm in the west hills. This is his kid, must have stayed behind to work.”


    “Where’s the girl?”


    “Went with her father as far as I know.”


    The pause this time lengthened out, stretched around them like a pool in which their last words floated, desultory, vague, fading. The room was full of dusk. Kostant stretched and sighed. Stefan felt peace come into him, as intangible and real as the coming of the darkness. They had talked, and got nowhere; it was not a last step; the next step would come in its time. But for a moment he was at peace with his brother, and with himself.


    “Evenings getting shorter,” Kostant said softly.


    “I’ve seen her once or twice. Saturdays. Comes in with a farm wagon.”


    “Where’s the farm at?”


    “West, in the hills, was all old Sachik said.”


    “Might ride out there, if I could,” Kostant said. He struck a match for his pipe. The flare of the match in the clear dusk of the room was also a peaceful thing; when Stefan looked back at the window the evening seemed darker. The guitar had stopped and they were laughing out on the steps next door.


    “If I see her Saturday I’ll ask her to come by.”


    Kostant said nothing. Stefan wanted no answer. It was the first time in his life that his brother had asked his help.


    The mother came in, tall, loud-voiced, tired. Floors cracked and cried under her step, the kitchen clashed and steamed, everything was noisy in her presence except her two sons, Stefan who eluded her, Kostant who was her master.


    Stefan got off work Saturdays at noon. He sauntered down Ardure Street looking out for the farm wagon and roan horse. They were not in town, and he went to the White Lion, relieved and bored. Another Saturday came and a third. It was October, the afternoons were shorter. Martin Sachik was walking down Gulhelm Street ahead of him; he caught up and said, “Evening, Sachik.” The boy looked at him with blank grey eyes; his face, hands, and clothes were grey with stone-dust and he walked as slowly and steadily as a man of fifty.


    “Which crew are you in?”


    “Five.” He spoke distinctly, like his sister.


    “That’s my brother’s.”


    “I know.” They went on pace for pace. “They said he might be back in the pit next month.”


    Stefan shook his head.


    “Your family still out there on that farm?” he asked.


    Martin nodded, as they stopped in front of the Katalny house. He revived, now that he was home and very near dinner. He was flattered by Stefan Fabbre’s speaking to him, but not shy of him. Stefan was clever, but he was spoken of as a moody, unsteady fellow, half a man where his brother was a man and a half. “Near Verre,” Martin said. “A hell of a place. I couldn’t take it.”


    “Can your sister?”


    “Figures she has to stay with Ma. She ought to come back. It’s a hell of a place.”


    “This isn’t heaven,” Stefan said.


    “Work your head off there and never get any money for it, they’re all loony on those farms. Right where Dad belongs.” Martin felt virile, speaking disrespectfully of his father. Stefan Fabbre looked at him, not with respect, and said, “Maybe. Evening to you, Sachik.” Martin went into the house defeated. When was he going to become a man, not subject to other men’s reproof? Why did it matter if Stefan Fabbre looked at him and turned away? The next day he met Rosana Fabbre on the street. She was with a girl friend, he with a fellow quarrier; they had all been in school together last year. “How you doing, Ros?” Martin said loudly, nudging his friend. The girls walked by haughty as cranes. “There’s a hot one,” Martin said. “Her? She’s just a kid,” the friend said. “You’d be surprised,” Martin told him with a thick laugh, then looked up and saw Stefan Fabbre crossing the street. For a moment he realised that he was surrounded, there was no escape.


    Stefan was on the way to the White Lion, but passing the town hotel and livery stable he saw the roan horse in the yard. He went in, and sat in the brown parlor of the hotel in the smell of harness grease and dried spiders. He sat there two hours. She came in, erect, a black kerchief on her hair, so long awaited and so fully herself that he watched her go by with simple pleasure, and only woke as she started up the stairs. “Miss Sachik,” he said.


    She stopped, startled, on the stairs.


    “Wanted to ask you a favor.” Stefan’s voice was thick after the strange timeless waiting. “You’re staying here over tonight?”


    “Yes.”


    “Kostant was asking about you. Wanted to ask about your father. He’s still stuck indoors, can’t walk much.”


    “Father’s fine.”


    “Well, I wondered if—”


    “I could look in. I was going to see Martin. It’s next door, isn’t it?”


    “Oh, fine. That’s—I’ll wait.”


    Ekata ran up to her room, washed her dusty face and hands, and put on, to decorate her grey dress, a lace collar that she had brought to wear to church tomorrow. Then she took it off again. She retied the black kerchief over her black hair, went down, and walked with Stefan six blocks through the pale October sunlight to his house. When she saw Kostant Fabbre she was staggered. She had never seen him close to except in the hospital where he had been effaced by casts, bandages, heat, pain, her father’s chatter. She saw him now.


    They fell to talking quite easily. She would have felt wholly at ease with him if it had not been for his extraordinary beauty, which distracted her. His voice and what he said was grave, plain, and reassuring. It was the other way round with the younger brother, who was nothing at all to look at, but with whom she felt ill at ease, at a loss. Kostant was quiet and quieting; Stefan blew in gusts like autumn wind, bitter and fitful; you didn’t know where you were with him.


    “How is it for you out there?” Kostant was asking, and she replied, “All right. A bit dreary.”


    “Farming’s the hardest work, they say.”


    “I don’t mind the hard, it’s the muck I mind.”


    “Is there a village near?”


    “Well, it’s halfway between Verre and Lotima. But there’s neighbors, everybody within twenty miles knows each other.”


    “We’re still your neighbors, by that reckoning,” Stefan put in. His voice slurred off in mid-sentence. He felt irrelevant to these two. Kostant sat relaxed, his lame leg stretched out, his hands clasped round the other knee; Ekata faced him, upright, her hands lying easy in her lap. They did not look alike but might have been brother and sister. Stefan got up with a mumbled excuse and went out back. The north wind blew. Sparrows hopped in the sour dirt under the fir tree and the scurf of weedy grass. Shirts, underclothes, a pair of sheets snapped, relaxed, jounced on the clothesline between two iron posts. The air smelt of ozone. Stefan vaulted the fence, cut across the Katalny yard to the street, and walked westward. After a couple of blocks the street petered out. A track led on to a quarry, abandoned twenty years ago when they struck water; there was twenty feet of water in it now. Boys swam there, summers. Stefan had swum there, in terror, for he had never learned to swim well and there was no foothold, it was all deep and bitter cold. A boy had drowned there years ago, last year a man had drowned himself, a quarrier going blind from stone-splinters in his eyes. It was still called the West Pit. Stefan’s father had worked in it as a boy. Stefan sat down by the lip of it and watched the wind, caught down in the four walls, eddy in tremors over the water that reflected nothing.


    “I have to go meet Martin,” Ekata said. As she stood up Kostant put a hand out to his crutches, then gave it up: “Takes me too long to get afoot,” he said.


    “How much can you get about on those?”


    “From here to there,” he said, pointing to the kitchen. “Leg’s all right. It’s the back’s slow.”


    “You’ll be off them—?”


    “Doctor says by Easter. I’ll run out and throw ’em in the West Pit. . . .” They both smiled. She felt tenderness for him, and a pride in knowing him.


    “Will you be coming in to Kampe, I wonder, when bad weather comes?”


    “I don’t know how the roads will be.”


    “If you do, come by,” he said. “If you like.”


    “I will.”


    They noticed then that Stefan was gone.


    “I don’t know where he went to,” Kostant said. “He comes and he goes, Stefan does. Your brother, Martin, they tell me he’s a good lad in our crew.”


    “He’s young,” Ekata said.


    “It’s hard at first. I went in at fifteen. But then when you’ve got your strength, you know the work, and it goes easy. Good wishes to your family, then.” She shook his big, hard, warm hand, and let herself out. On the doorstep she met Stefan face to face. He turned red. It shocked her to see a man blush. He spoke, as usual leaping straight into the subject—“You were the year behind me in school, weren’t you?”


    “Yes.”


    “You went around with Rosa Bayenin. She won the scholarship I did, the next year.”


    “She’s teaching school now, in the Valone.”


    “She did more with it than I would have done. —I was thinking, see, it’s queer how you grow up in a place like this, you know everybody, then you meet one and find out you don’t know them.”


    She did not know what to answer. He said good-bye and went into the house; she went on, retying her kerchief against the rising wind.


    Rosana and the mother came into the house a minute after Stefan. “Who was that on the doorstep you were talking to?” the mother said sharply. “That wasn’t Nona Katalny, I’ll be bound.”


    “You’re right,” Stefan said.


    “All right, but you watch out for that one, you’re just the kind she’d like to get her claws into, and wouldn’t that be fine, you could walk her puppydog whilst she entertains her ma’s gentlemen boarders.” She and Rosana both began to laugh their loud, dark laughter. “Who was it you were talking to, then?”


    “What’s it to you?” he shouted back. Their laughter enraged him; it was like a pelting with hard clattering rocks, too thick to dodge.


    “What is it to me who’s standing on my own doorstep, you want to know, I’ll let you know what it is to me—” Words leapt to meet her anger as they did to all her passions. “You so high and mighty all the time with all your going off to college, but you came sneaking back quick enough to this house, didn’t you, and I’ll let you know I want to know who comes into this house—” Rosana was shouting, “I know who it was, it was Martin Sachik’s sister!” Kostant loomed up suddenly beside the three of them, stooped and tall on his crutches: “Cut it out,” he said, and they fell silent.


    Nothing was said, then or later, to the mother or between the two brothers, about Ekata Sachik’s having been in the house.


    Martin took his sister to dine at the Bell, the café where officials of the Chorin Company and visitors from out of town went to dine. He was proud of himself for having thought of treating her, proud of the white tablecloths and the forks and soupspoons, terrified of the waiter. He in his outgrown Sunday coat and his sister in her grey dress, how admirably they were behaving, how adult they were. Ekata looked at the menu so calmly, and her face did not change expression in the slightest as she murmured to him, “But there’s two kinds of soup.”


    “Yes,” he said, with sophistication.


    “Do you choose which kind?”


    “I guess so.”


    “You must, you’d bloat up before you ever got to the meat—” They snickered. Ekata’s shoulders shook; she hid her face in her napkin; the napkin was enormous—“Martin, look, they’ve given me a bedsheet—” They both sat snorting, shaking, in torment, while the waiter, with another bedsheet on his shoulder, inexorably approached.


    Dinner was ordered inaudibly, eaten with etiquette, elbows pressed close to the sides. The dessert was a chestnut-flour pudding, and Ekata, her elbows relaxing a little with enjoyment, said, “Rosa Bayenin said when she wrote the town she’s in is right next to a whole forest of chestnut trees, everybody goes and picks them up in autumn, the trees grow thick as night, she said, right down to the river bank.” Town after six weeks on the farm, the talk with Kostant and Stefan, dining at the restaurant had excited her. “This is awfully good,” she said, but she could not say what she saw, which was sunlight striking golden down a river between endless dark-foliaged trees, a wind running upriver among shadows and the scent of leaves, of water, and of chestnut-flour pudding, a world of forests, of rivers, of strangers, the sunlight shining on the world.


    “Saw you talking with Stefan Fabbre,” Martin said.


    “I was at their house.”


    “What for?”


    “They asked me.”


    “What for?”


    “Just to find out how we’re getting on.”


    “They never asked me.”


    “You’re not on the farm, stupid. You’re in his crew, aren’t you? You could look in sometime, you know. He’s a grand man, you’d like him.”


    Martin grunted. He resented Ekata’s visit to the Fabbres without knowing why. It seemed somehow to complicate things. Rosana had probably been there. He did not want his sister knowing about Rosana. Knowing what about Rosana? He gave it up, scowling.


    “The younger brother, Stefan, he works at the Chorin office, doesn’t he?”


    “Keeps books or something. He was supposed to be a genius and go to college, but they kicked him out.”


    “I know.” She finished her pudding, lovingly. “Everybody knows that,” she said.


    “I don’t like him,” Martin said.


    “Why not?”


    “Just don’t.” He was relieved, having dumped his ill humor onto Stefan. “You want coffee?”


    “Oh, no.”


    “Come on. I do.” Masterful, he ordered coffee for both. Ekata admired him, and enjoyed the coffee. “What luck, to have a brother,” she said. The next morning, Sunday, Martin met her at the hotel and they went to church; singing the Lutheran hymns each heard the other’s strong clear voice and each was pleased and wanted to laugh. Stefan Fabbre was at the service. “Does he usually come?” Ekata asked Martin as they left the church.


    “No,” Martin said, though he had no idea, having not been to church himself since May. He felt dull and fierce after the long sermon. “He’s following you around.”


    She said nothing.


    “He waited for you at the hotel, you said. Takes you out to see his brother, he says. Talks to you on the street. Shows up in church.” Self-defense furnished him these items one after another, and the speaking of them convinced him.


    “Martin,” Ekata said, “if there’s one kind of man I hate it’s a meddler.”


    “If you weren’t my sister—”


    “If I wasn’t your sister I’d be spared your stupidness. Will you go ask the man to put the horse in?” So they parted with mild rancor between them, soon lost in distance and the days.


    In late November when Ekata drove in again to Sfaroy Kampe she went to the Fabbre house. She wanted to go, and had told Kostant she would, yet she had to force herself; and when she found that Kostant and Rosana were home, but Stefan was not, she felt much easier. Martin had troubled her with his stupid meddling. It was Kostant she wanted to see, anyhow.


    But Kostant wanted to talk about Stefan.


    “He’s always out roaming, or at the Lion. Restless. Wastes his time. He said to me, one day we talked, he’s afraid to leave Kampe. I’ve thought about what he meant. What is it he’s afraid of?”


    “Well, he hasn’t any friends but here.”


    “Few enough here. He acts the clerk among the quarrymen, and the quarryman among the clerks. I’ve seen him, here, when my mates come in. Why don’t he be what he is?”


    “Maybe he isn’t sure what he is.”


    “He won’t learn it from mooning around and drinking at the Lion,” said Kostant, hard and sure in his own intactness. “And rubbing up quarrels. He’s had three fights this month. Lost ’em all, poor devil,” and he laughed. She never expected the innocence of laughter on his grave face. And he was kind; his concern for Stefan was deep, his laughter without a sneer, the laughter of a good nature. Like Stefan, she wondered at him, at his beauty and his strength, but she did not think of him as wasted. The Lord keeps the house and knows his servants. If he had sent this innocent and splendid man to live obscure on the plain of stone, it was part of his housekeeping, of the strange economy of the stone and the rose, the rivers that run and do not run dry, the tiger, the ocean, the maggot, and the not eternal stars.


    Rosana, by the hearth, listened to them talk. She sat silent, heavy and her shoulders stooped, though of late she had been learning again to hold herself erect as she had when she was a child, a year ago. They say one gets used to being a millionaire; so after a year or two a human being begins to get used to being a woman. Rosana was learning to wear the rich and heavy garment of her inheritance. Just now she was listening, something she had rarely done. She had never heard adults talk as these two were talking. She had never heard a conversation. At the end of twenty minutes she slipped quietly out. She had learned enough, too much, she needed time to absorb and practice. She began practicing at once. She went down the street erect, not slow and not fast, her face composed, like Ekata Sachik.


    “Daydreaming, Ros?” jeered Martin Sachik from the Katalny yard.


    She smiled at him and said, “Hello, Martin.” He stood staring.


    “Where you going?” he asked with caution.


    “Nowhere; I’m just walking. Your sister’s at our house.”


    “She is?” Martin sounded unusually stupid and belligerent, but she stuck to her practicing: “Yes,” she said politely. “She came to see my brother.”


    “Which brother?”


    “Kostant, why would she have to come see Stefan?” she said, forgetting her new self a moment and grinning widely.


    “How come you’re barging around all by yourself?”


    “Why not?” she said, stung by “barging” and so reverting to an extreme mildness of tone.


    “I’ll go with you.”


    “Why not?”


    They walked down Gulhelm Street till it became a track between weeds.


    “Want to go on to the West Pit?”


    “Why not?” Rosana liked the phrase; it sounded experienced.


    They walked on the thin stony dirt between miles of dead grass too short to bow to the northwest wind. Enormous masses of cloud travelled backward over their heads so that they seemed to be walking very fast, the grey plain sliding along with them. “Clouds make you dizzy,” Martin said, “like looking up a flagpole.” They walked with faces upturned, seeing nothing but the motion of the wind. Rosana realised that though their feet were on the earth they themselves stuck up into the sky, it was the sky they were walking through, just as birds flew through it. She looked over at Martin walking through the sky.


    They came to the abandoned quarry and stood looking down at the water, dulled by flurries of trapped wind.


    “Want to go swimming?”


    “Why not?”


    “There’s the mule trail. Looks funny, don’t it, going right down into the water.”


    “It’s cold here.”


    “Come on down the trail. There’s no wind inside the walls hardly. That’s where Penik jumped off from, they grappled him up from right under here.”


    Rosana stood on the lip of the pit. The grey wind blew by her. “Do you think he meant to? I mean, he was blind, maybe he fell in—”


    “He could see some. They were going to send him to Brailava and operate on him. Come on.” She followed him to the beginning of the path down. It looked very steep from above. She had become timorous the last year. She followed him slowly down the effaced, boulder-smashed track into the quarry. “Here, hold on,” he said, pausing at a rough drop; he took her hand and brought her down after him. They separated at once and he led on to where the water cut across the path, which plunged on down to the hidden floor of the quarry. The water was lead-dark, uneasy, its surface broken into thousands of tiny pleatings, circles, counter-circles by the faint trapped wind jarring it ceaselessly against the walls. “Shall I go on?” Martin whispered, loud in the silence.


    “Why not?”


    He walked on. She cried, “Stop!” He had walked into the water up to his knees; he turned, lost his balance, careened back onto the path with a plunge that showered her with water and sent clapping echoes round the walls of rock. “You’re crazy, what did you do that for?” Martin sat down, took off his big shoes to dump water out of them, and laughed, a soundless laugh mixed with shivering. “What did you do that for?”


    “Felt like it,” he said. He caught at her arm, pulled her down kneeling by him, and kissed her. The kiss went on. She began to struggle, and pulled away from him. He hardly knew it. He lay there on the rocks at the water’s edge laughing; he was as strong as the earth and could not lift his hand. . . . He sat up, mouth open, eyes unfocussed. After a while he put on his wet, heavy shoes and started up the path. She stood at the top, a windblown stroke of darkness against the huge moving sky. “Come on!” she shouted, and wind thinned her voice to a knife’s edge. “Come on, you can’t catch me!” As he neared the top of the path, she ran. He ran, weighed down by his wet shoes and trousers. A hundred yards from the quarry he caught her and tried to capture both her arms. Her wild face was next to his for a moment. She twisted free, ran off again, and he followed her into town, trotting since he could not run any more. Where Gulhelm Street began she stopped and waited for him. They walked down the pavement side by side. “You look like a drowned cat,” she jeered in a panting whisper. “Who’s talking,” he answered the same way, “look at the mud on your skirt.” In front of the boarding house they stopped and looked at each other, and he laughed. “Good night, Ros!” he said. She wanted to bite him. “Good night!” she said, and walked the few yards to her own front door, not slow and not fast, feeling his gaze on her back like a hand on her flesh.


    Not finding her brother at the boarding house, Ekata had gone back to the hotel to wait for him; they were to dine at the Bell again. She told the desk clerk to send her brother up when he came. In a few minutes there was a knock; she opened the door. It was Stefan Fabbre. He was the color of oatmeal and looked dingy, like an unmade bed.


    “I wanted to ask you . . .” His voice slurred off. “Have some dinner,” he muttered, looking past her at the room.


    “My brother’s coming for me. That’s him now.” But it was the hotel manager coming up the stairs. “Sorry, miss,” he said loudly. “There’s a parlor downstairs.” Ekata stared at him blankly. “Now look, miss, you said to send up your brother, and the clerk he don’t know your brother by sight, but I do. That’s my business. There’s a nice parlor downstairs for entertaining. All right? You want to come to a respectable hotel, I want to keep it respectable for you, see?”


    Stefan pushed past him and blundered down the stairs. “He’s drunk, miss,” said the manager.


    “Go away,” Ekata said, and shut the door on him. She sat down on the bed with clenched hands, but she could not sit still. She jumped up, took up her coat and kerchief, and without putting them on ran downstairs and out, hurling the key onto the desk behind which the manager stood staring. Ardure Street was dark between pools of lamplight, and the winter wind blew down it. She walked the two blocks west, came back down the other side of the street the length of it, eight blocks; she passed the White Lion, but the winter door was up and she could not see in. It was cold, the wind ran through the streets like a river running. She went to Gulhelm Street and met Martin coming out of the boarding house. They went to the Bell for supper. Both were thoughtful and uneasy. They spoke little and gently, grateful for companionship.


    Alone in church next morning, when she had made sure that Stefan was not there, she lowered her eyes in relief. The stone walls of the church and the stark words of the service stood strong around her. She rested like a ship in haven. Then as the pastor gave his text, “I will lift up mine eyes unto the hills, whence cometh my help,” she shivered, and once again looked all about the church, moving her head and eyes slowly, surreptitiously, seeking him. She heard nothing of the sermon. But when the service was over she did not want to leave the church. She went out among the last of the congregation. The pastor detained her, asking about her mother. She saw Stefan waiting at the foot of the steps.


    She went to him.


    “Wanted to apologise for last night,” he brought out all in one piece.


    “It’s all right.”


    He was bareheaded and the wind blew his light, dusty-looking hair across his eyes; he winced and tried to smooth it back. “I was drunk,” he said.


    “I know.”


    They set off together.


    “I was worried about you,” Ekata said.


    “What for? I wasn’t that drunk.”


    “I don’t know.”


    They crossed the street in silence.


    “Kostant likes talking with you. Told me so.” His tone was unpleasant. Ekata said drily, “I like talking with him.”


    “Everybody does. It’s a great favor he does them.”


    She did not reply.


    “I mean that.”


    She knew what he meant, but still did not say anything. They were near the hotel. He stopped. “I won’t finish ruining your reputation.”


    “You don’t have to grin about it.”


    “I’m not. I mean I won’t go on to the hotel with you, in case it embarrassed you.”


    “I have nothing to be embarrassed about.”


    “I do, and I am. I am sorry, Ekata.”


    “I didn’t mean you had to apologise again.” Her voice turned husky so that he thought again of mist, dusk, the forests.


    “I won’t.” He laughed. “Are you leaving right away?”


    “I have to. It gets dark so early now.”


    They both hesitated.


    “You could do me a favor,” she said.


    “I’d do that.”


    “If you’d see to having my horse put in, last time I had to stop after a mile and tighten everything. If you did that I could be getting ready.”


    When she came out of the hotel the wagon was out front and he was in the seat. “I’ll drive you a mile or two, all right?” She nodded, he gave her a hand up; they drove down Ardure Street westward to the plain.


    “That damned hotel manager,” Ekata said. “Grinning and scraping this morning . . .”


    Stefan laughed, but said nothing. He was cautious, absorbed; the cold wind blew, the old roan clopped along; he explained presently, “I’ve never driven before.”


    “I’ve never driven any horse but this one. He’s never any trouble.”


    The wind whistled in miles of dead grass, tugged at her black kerchief, whipped Stefan’s hair across his eyes.


    “Look at it,” he said softly. “A couple of inches of dirt, and under it rock. Drive all day, any direction, and you’ll find rock, with a couple of inches of dirt on it. You know how many trees there are in Kampe? Fifty-four. I counted ’em. And not another, not one, all the way to the mountains.” His voice as he talked as if to himself was dry and musical. “When I went to Brailava on the train I looked out for the first new tree. The fifty-fifth tree. It was a big oak by a farmhouse in the hills. Then all of a sudden there were trees everywhere, in all the valleys in the hills. You could never count ’em. But I’d like to try.”


    “You’re sick of it here.”


    “I don’t know. Sick of something. I feel like I was an ant, something smaller, so small you can hardly see it, crawling along on this huge floor. Getting nowhere because where is there to get. Look at us now, crawling across the floor, there’s the ceiling. . . . Looks like snow, there in the north.”


    “Not before dark, I hope.”


    “What’s it like on the farm?”


    She considered some while before answering, and then said softly, “Closed in.”


    “Your father happy with it?”


    “He never did feel easy in Kampe, I think.”


    “There’s people made out of dirt, earth,” he said in his voice that slurred away so easily into unheard monologue, “and then there’s some made out of stone. The fellows who get on in Kampe are made out of stone.” “Like my brother,” he did not say, and she heard it.


    “Why don’t you leave?”


    “That’s what Kostant said. It sounds so easy. But see, if he left, he’d be taking himself with him. I’d be taking myself. . . . Does it matter where you go? All you have is what you are. Or what you meet.”


    He checked the horse. “I’d better hop off, we must have come a couple of miles. Look, there’s the antheap.” From the high wagon seat looking back they saw a darkness on the pale plain, a pinpoint spire, a glitter where the winter sun struck windows or roof-slates; and far behind the town, distinct under high, heavy, dark-grey clouds, the mountains.


    He handed the traces to her. “Thanks for the lift,” he said, and swung down from the seat.


    “Thanks for the company, Stefan.”


    He raised his hand; she drove on. It seemed a cruel thing to do, to leave him on foot there on the plain. When she looked back she saw him far behind already, walking away from her between the narrowing wheel-ruts under the enormous sky.


    Before she reached the farm that evening there was a dry flurry of snow, the first of an early winter. From the kitchen window all that month she looked up at hills blurred with rain. In December from her bedroom, on days of sun after snow, she saw eastward across the plain a glittering pallor: the mountains. There were no more trips to Sfaroy Kampe. When they needed market goods her uncle drove to Verre or Lotima, bleak villages foundering like cardboard in the rain. It was too easy to stray off the wheel-ruts crossing the karst in snow or heavy rain, he said, “and then where are ye?”


    “Where are ye in the first place?” Ekata answered in Stefan’s soft dry voice. The uncle paid no heed.


    Martin rode out on a livery-stable horse for Christmas day. After a few hours he got sullen and stuck to Ekata. “What’s that thing Aunt’s got hanging round her neck?”


    “A nail through an onion. To keep off rheumatism.”


    “Christ Almighty!”


    Ekata laughed.


    “The whole place stinks of onion and flannel, can’t you air it out?”


    “No. Cold days they even close the chimney flues. Rather have the smoke than the cold.”


    “You ought to come back to town with me, Ekata.”


    “Ma’s not well.”


    “You can’t help that.”


    “No. But I’d feel mean to leave her without good reason. First things first.” Ekata had lost weight; her cheekbones stood out and her eyes looked darker. “How’s it going with you?” she asked presently.


    “All right. We’ve been laid off a good bit, the snow.”


    “You’ve been growing up,” Ekata said.


    “I know.”


    He sat on the stiff farm-parlor sofa with a man’s weight, a man’s quietness.


    “You walking out with anybody?”


    “No.” They both laughed. “Listen, I saw Fabbre, and he said to wish you joy of the season. He’s better. Gets outside now, with a cane.”


    Their cousin came through the room. She wore a man’s old boots stuffed with straw for warmth getting about in the ice and mud of the farmyard. Martin looked after her with disgust. “I had a talk with him. Couple of weeks ago. I hope he’s back in the pits by Easter like they say. He’s my foreman, you know.” Looking at him, Ekata saw who it was he was in love with.


    “I’m glad you like him.”


    “There isn’t a man in Kampe comes up to his shoulder. You liked him, didn’t you?”


    “Of course I did.”


    “See, when he asked about you, I thought—”


    “You thought wrong,” Ekata said. “Will you quit meddling, Martin?”


    “I didn’t say anything,” he defended himself feebly; his sister could still overawe him. He also recalled that Rosana Fabbre had laughed at him when he had said something to her about Kostant and Ekata. She had been hanging out sheets in the back yard on a whipping-bright winter morning a few days ago, he had hung over the back fence talking to her. “Oh Lord, are you crazy?” she had jeered, while the damp sheets on the line billowed at her face and the wind tangled her hair. “Those two? Not on your life!” He had tried to argue; she would not listen. “He’s not going to marry anybody from here. There’s going to be some woman from far off, from Krasnoy maybe, a manager’s wife, a queen, a beauty, with servants and all. And one day she’ll be coming down Ardure Street with her nose in the air and she’ll see Kostant coming with his nose in the air, and crack! that’s it.”


    “That’s what?” said he, fascinated by her fortune-teller’s conviction.


    “I don’t know!” she said, and hoisted up another sheet. “Maybe they’ll run off together. Maybe something else. All I know is Kostant knows what’s coming to him, and he’s going to wait for it.”


    “All right, if you know so much, what’s coming your way?”


    She opened her mouth wide in a big grin, her dark eyes under long dark brows flashed at him. “Men,” she said like a cat hissing, and the sheets and shirts snapped and billowed around her, white in the flashing sunlight.


    January passed, covering the surly plain with snow, February with a grey sky moving slowly over the plain from north to south day after day: a hard winter and a long one. Kostant Fabbre got a lift sometimes on a cart to the Chorin quarries north of town, and would stand watching the work, the teams of men and lines of wagons, the shunting boxcars, the white of snow and the dull white of new-cut limestone. Men would come up to the tall man leaning on his cane to ask him how he did, when he was coming back to work. “A few weeks yet,” he would say. The company was keeping him laid off till April as their insurers requested. He felt fit, he could walk back to town without using his cane, it fretted him bitterly to be idle. He would go back, to the White Lion, and sit there in the smoky dark and warmth till the quarrymen came in, off work at four because of snow and darkness, big heavy men making the place steam with the heat of their bodies and buzz with the mutter of their voices. At five Stefan would come in, slight, with white shirt and light shoes, a queer figure among the quarriers. He usually came to Kostant’s table, but they were not on good terms. Each was waiting and impatient.


    “Evening,” Martin Sachik said passing the table, a tired burly lad, smiling. “Evening, Stefan.”


    “I’m Fabbre and Mr to you, laddie,” Stefan said in his soft voice that yet stood out against the comfortable hive-mutter. Martin, already past, chose to pay no attention.


    “Why are you down on that one?”


    “Because I don’t choose to be on first names with every man’s brat that goes down in the pits. Nor every man either. D’you take me for the town idiot?”


    “You act like it, times,” Kostant said, draining his beermug.


    “I’ve had enough of your advice.”


    “I’ve had enough of your conceit. Go to the Bell if the company here don’t suit you.”


    Stefan got up, slapped money on the table, and went out.


    It was the first of March; the north half of the sky over the streets was heavy, without light; its edge was silvery blue, and from it south to the horizon the air was blue and empty except for a fingernail moon over the western hills and, near it, the evening star. Stefan went silent through the streets, a silent wind at his back. Indoors, the walls of the house enclosed his rage; it became a square, dark, musty thing full of the angles of tables and chairs, and flared up yellow with the kerosene lamp. The chimney of the lamp slithered out of his hand like a live animal, smashed itself shrilly against the corner of the table. He was on all fours picking up bits of glass when his brother came in.


    “What did you follow me for?”


    “I came to my own house.”


    “Do I have to go back to the Lion then?”


    “Go where you damned well like.” Kostant sat down and picked up yesterday’s newspaper. Stefan, kneeling, broken glass on the palm of his hand, spoke: “Listen. I know why you want me patting young Sachik on the head. For one thing he thinks you’re God Almighty, and that’s agreeable. For another thing he’s got a sister. And you want ’em all eating out of your hand, don’t you? Like they all do? Well by God here’s one that won’t, and you might find your game spoiled, too.” He got up and went to the kitchen, to the trash basket that stood by the week’s heap of dirty clothes, and dropped the glass of the broken lamp into the basket. He stood looking at his hand: a sliver of glass bristled from the inner joint of his second finger. He had clenched his hand on the glass as he spoke to Kostant. He pulled out the sliver and put the bleeding finger to his mouth. Kostant came in. “What game, Stefan?” he said.


    “You know what I mean.”


    “Say what you mean.”


    “I mean her. Ekata. What do you want her for anyhow? You don’t need her. You don’t need anything. You’re the big tin god.”


    “You shut your mouth.”


    “Don’t give me orders! By God I can give orders too. You just stay away from her. I’ll get her and you won’t, I’ll get her under your nose, under your eyes—” Kostant’s big hands took hold of his shoulders and shook him till his head snapped back and forth on his neck. He broke free and drove his fist straight at Kostant’s face, but as he did so he felt a jolt as when a train-car is coupled to the train. He fell down backwards across the heap of dirty clothes. His head hit the floor with a dead sound like a dropped melon.


    Kostant stood with his back against the stove. He looked at his right-hand knuckles, then at Stefan’s face, which was dead white and curiously serene. Kostant took a pillowcase from the pile of clothes, wet it at the sink, and knelt down by Stefan. It was hard for him to kneel, the right leg was still stiff. He mopped away the thin dark line of blood that had run from Stefan’s mouth. Stefan’s face twitched, he sighed and blinked, and looked up at Kostant, gazing with vague, sliding recognition, like a young infant.


    “That’s better,” Kostant said. His own face was white.


    Stefan propped himself up on one arm. “I fell down,” he said in a faint, surprised voice. Then he looked at Kostant again and his face began to change and tighten.


    “Stefan—”


    Stefan got up on all fours, then onto his feet; Kostant tried to take his arm, but he stumbled to the door, struggled with the catch, and plunged out. At the door, Kostant watched him vault the fence, cut across the Katalny yard, and run down Gulhelm Street with long, jolting strides. For several minutes the elder brother stood in the doorway, his face rigid and sorrowful. Then he turned, went to the front door and out, and made off down Gulhelm Street as fast as he could. The black cloud-front had covered all the sky but a thin band of blue-green to the south; the moon and star were gone. Kostant followed the track over the plain to the West Pit. No one was ahead of him. He reached the lip of the quarry and saw the water quiet, dim, reflecting snow that had yet to fall. He called out once, “Stefan!” His lungs were raw and his throat dry from the effort he had made to run. There was no answer. It was not his brother’s name that need be called there at the lip of the ruined quarry. It was the wrong name, and the wrong time. Kostant turned and started back towards Gulhelm Street, walking slowly and a little lame.


    “I’ve got to ride to Kolle,” Stefan said. The livery-stable keeper stared at his blood-smeared chin.


    “It’s dark. There’s ice on the roads.”


    “You must have a sharp-shod horse. I’ll pay double.”


    “Well . . .”


    Stefan rode out of the stable yard, and turned right down Ardure Street towards Verre instead of left towards Kolle. The keeper shouted after him. Stefan kicked the horse, which fell into a trot and then, where the pavement ceased, into a heavy run. The band of blue-green light in the southwest veered and slid away, Stefan thought he was falling sideways, he clung to the pommel but did not pull the reins. When the horse ran itself out and slowed to a walk it was full night, earth and sky all dark. The horse snorted, the saddle creaked, the wind hissed in frozen grass. Stefan dismounted and searched the ground as best he could. The horse had kept to the wagon road and stood not four feet from the ruts. They went on, horse and man; mounted, the man could not see the ruts; he let the horse follow the track across the plain, himself following no road.


    After a long time in the rocking dark something touched his face once, lightly.


    He felt his cheek. The right side of his jaw was swollen and stiff, and his right hand holding the reins was locked by the cold so that when he tried to change his grip he did not know if his fingers moved or not. He had no gloves, though he wore the winter coat he had never taken off when he came into the house, when the lamp broke, a long time ago. He got the reins in his left hand and put the right inside his coat to warm it. The horse jogged on patiently, head low. Again something touched Stefan’s face very lightly, brushing his cheek, his hot sore lip. He could not see the flakes. They were soft and did not feel cold. He waited for the gentle, random touch of the snow. He changed hands on the reins again, and put the left hand under the horse’s coarse, damp mane, on the warm hide. They both took comfort in the touch. Trying to see ahead, Stefan knew where sky and horizon met, or thought he did, but the plain was gone. The ceiling of sky was gone. The horse walked on darkness, under darkness, through darkness.


    Once the word “lost” lit itself like a match in the darkness, and Stefan tried to stop the horse so he could get off and search for the wheel-ruts, but the horse kept walking on. Stefan let his numb hand holding the reins rest on the pommel, let himself be borne.


    The horse’s head came up, its gait changed for a few steps. Stefan clutched at the wet mane, raised his own head dizzily, blinked at a spiderweb of light tangled in his eyes. Through the splintery blur of ice on his lashes the light grew square and yellowish: a window. What house stood out alone here on the endless plain? Dim blocks of pallor rose up on both sides of him—storefronts, a street. He had come to Verre. The horse stopped and sighed so that the girths creaked loudly. Stefan did not remember leaving Sfaroy Kampe. He sat astride a sweating horse in a dark street somewhere. One window was alight in a second storey. Snow fell in sparse clumps, as if hurled down in handfuls. There was little on the ground, it melted as it touched, a spring snow. He rode to the house with the lighted window and called aloud, “Where’s the road to Lotima?”


    The door opened, snow flickered whirling in the shaft of light. “Are ye the doctor?”


    “No. How do I get on to Lotima?”


    “Next turn right. If ye meet the doctor tell him hurry on!”


    The horse left the village unwillingly, lame on one leg and then the other. Stefan kept his head raised looking for the dawn, which surely must be near. He rode north now, the snow blowing in his face, blinding him even to the darkness. The road climbed, went down, climbed again. The horse stopped, and when Stefan did nothing, turned left, made a couple of stumbling steps, stopped again shuddering and neighed. Stefan dismounted, falling to hands and knees because his legs were too stiff at first to hold him. There was a cattle-guard of poles laid across a side-road. He let the horse stand and felt his way up the side-road to a sudden house lifting a dark wall and snowy roof above him. He found the door, knocked, waited, knocked; a window rattled, a woman said frightened to death over his head, “Who’s that?”


    “Is this the Sachik farm?”


    “No! Who’s that?”


    “Have I passed the Sachiks’?”


    “Are ye the doctor?”


    “Yes.”


    “It’s the next but one on the left side. Want a lantern, doctor?”


    She came downstairs and gave him a lantern and matches; she held a candle, which dazzled his eyes so that he never saw her face.


    He went at the horse’s head now, the lantern in his left hand and the reins in his right, held close to the bridle. The horse’s docile, patient, stumbling walk, the liquid darkness of its eye in the gleam of the lantern, grieved Stefan sorely. They walked ahead very slowly and he looked for the dawn.


    A farmhouse flickered to his left when he was almost past it; snow, wind-plastered on its north wall, caught the light of the lantern. He led the horse back. The hinges of the gate squealed. Dark outbuildings crowded round. He knocked, waited, knocked. A light moved inside the house, the door opened, again a candle held at eye-level dazzled him.


    “Who is that?”


    “That’s you, Ekata,” he said.


    “Who is that? Stefan?”


    “I must have missed the other farm, the one in between.”


    “Come in—”


    “The horse. Is that the stable?”


    “There, to the left—”


    He was all right while he found a stall for the horse, robbed the Sachiks’ roan of some hay and water, found a sack and rubbed the horse down a bit; he did all that very well, he thought, but when he got back to the house his knees went weak and he could scarcely see the room or Ekata who took his hand to bring him in. She had on a coat over something white, a nightgown. “Oh lad,” she said, “you rode from Kampe tonight?”


    “Poor old horse,” he said, and smiled. His voice said the words some while after he thought he had said them. He sat down on the sofa.


    “Wait there,” she said. It seemed she left the room for a while, then she was putting a cup of something in his hands. He drank; it was hot; the sting of brandy woke him long enough to watch her stir up the buried coals and put wood on the fire. “I wanted to talk to you, see,” he said, and then he fell asleep.


    She took off his shoes, put his legs up on the sofa, got a blanket and put it over him, tended the reluctant fire. He never stirred. She turned out the lamp and slipped back upstairs in the dark. Her bed was by the window of her attic room, and she could see or feel that it was now snowing soft and thick in the dark outside.


    She roused to a knock and sat up seeing the even light of snow on walls and ceiling. Her uncle peered in. He was wearing yellowish-white woollen underwear and his hair stuck up like fine wire around his bald spot. The whites of his eyes were the same color as his underwear. “Who’s that downstairs?”


    Ekata explained to Stefan, somewhat later in the morning, that he was on his way to Lotima on business for the Chorin Company, that he had started from Kampe at noon and been held up by a stone in his horse’s shoe and then by the snow.


    “Why?” he said, evidently confused, his face looking rather childish with fatigue and sleep.


    “I had to tell them something.”


    He scratched his head. “What time did I get here?”


    “About two in the morning.”


    He remembered how he had looked for the dawn, hours away.


    “What did you come for?” Ekata said. She was clearing the breakfast table; her face was stern, though she spoke softly.


    “I had a fight,” Stefan said. “With Kostant.”


    She stopped, holding two plates, and looked at him.


    “You don’t think I hurt him?” He laughed. He was light-headed, tired out, serene. “He knocked me cold. You don’t think I could have beat him?”


    “I don’t know,” Ekata said with distress.


    “I always lose fights,” Stefan said. “And run away.”


    The deaf man came through, dressed to go outside in heavy boots, an old coat made of blanketing; it was still snowing. “Ye’ll not get on to Lotima today, Mr Stefan,” he said in his loud even voice, with satisfaction. “Tomas says the nag’s lame on four legs.” This had been discussed at breakfast, but the deaf man had not heard. He had not asked how Kostant was getting on, and when he did so later in the day it was with the same satisfied malice: “And your brother, he’s down in the pits again, no doubt?” He did not try to hear the answer.


    Stefan spent most of the day by the fire sleeping. Only Ekata’s cousin was curious about him. She said to Ekata as they were cooking supper, “They say his brother is a handsome man.”


    “Kostant? The handsomest man I ever saw.” Ekata smiled, chopping onions.


    “I don’t know as I’d call this one handsome,” the cousin said tentatively.


    The onions were making Ekata cry; she laughed, blew her nose, shook her head. “Oh no,” she said.


    After supper Stefan met Ekata as she came into the kitchen from dumping out peelings and swill for the pigs. She wore her father’s coat, clogs on her shoes, her black kerchief. The freezing wind swept in with her till she wrestled the door shut. “It’s clearing,” she said, “the wind’s from the south.”


    “Ekata, do you know what I came here for—”


    “Do you know yourself?” she said, looking up at him as she set the bucket down.


    “Yes, I do.”


    “Then I do, I suppose.”


    “There isn’t anywhere,” he said in rage as the uncle’s clumping boots approached the kitchen.


    “There’s my room,” she said impatiently. But the walls were thin, and the cousin slept in the next attic and her parents across the stairwell; she frowned angrily and said, “No. Wait till the morning.”


    In the morning, early, the cousin went off alone down the road. She was back in half an hour, her straw-stuffed boots smacking in the thawing snow and mud. The neighbor’s wife at the next house but one had said, “He said he was the doctor, I asked who it was was sick with you. I gave him the lantern, it was so dark I didn’t see his face, I thought it was the doctor, he said so.” The cousin was munching the words sweetly, deciding whether to accost Stefan with them, or Ekata, or both before witnesses, when around a bend and down the snow-clotted, sun-bright grade of the road two horses came at a long trot: the livery-stable horse and the farm’s old roan. Stefan and Ekata rode; they were both laughing. “Where ye going?” the cousin shouted, trembling. “Running away,” the young man called back, and they went past her, splashing the puddles into diamond-slivers in the sunlight of March, and were gone.
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    A Week in the Country


    


    ON A SUNNY MORNING of 1962 in Cleveland, Ohio, it was raining in Krasnoy and the streets between grey walls were full of men. “It’s raining down my neck in here,” Kasimir complained, but his friend in the adjoining stall of the streetcorner W.C. did not hear him because he was also talking: “Historical necessity is a solecism, what is history except what had to happen? But you can’t extend that. What happens next? God knows!” Kasimir followed him out, still buttoning his trousers, and looked at the small boy looking at the nine-foot-long black coffin leaning against the W.C. “What’s in it?” the boy asked. “My great-aunt’s body,” Kasimir explained. He picked up the coffin, hurried on with Stefan Fabbre through the rain. “A farce, determinism’s a farce. Anything to avoid awe. Show me a seed,” Stefan Fabbre said stopping and pointing at Kasimir, “yes, I can tell you what it is, it’s an apple seed. But can I tell you that an apple tree will grow from it? No! Because there’s no freedom, we think there’s a law. But there is no law. There’s growth and death, delight and terror, an abyss, the rest we invent. We’re going to miss the train.” They jostled on up Tiypontiy Street, the rain fell harder. Stefan Fabbre strode swinging his briefcase, his mouth firmly closed, his white face shining wet. “Why didn’t you take up the piccolo? Give me that awhile,” he said as Kasimir tangled with an office-worker running for a bus. “Science bearing the burden of Art,” Kasimir said, “heavy, isn’t it?” as his friend hoisted the case and lugged it on, frowning and by the time they reached West Station gasping. On the platform in rain and steam they ran as others ran, heard whistles shriek and urgent Sanskrit blare from loudspeakers, and lurched exhausted into the first car. The compartments were all empty. It was the other train that was pulling out, jammed, a suburban train. Theirs sat still for ten minutes. “Nobody on this train but us?” Stefan Fabbre asked, morose, standing at the window. Then with one high peep the walls slid away. Raindrops shook and merged on the pane, tracks interwove on a viaduct, the two young men stared into bedroom windows and at brick walls painted with enormous letters. Abruptly nothing was left in the rain-dark evening sliding backwards to the east but a line of hills, black against a colorless clearing sky.


    “The country,” Stefan Fabbre said.


    He got out a biochemical journal from amongst socks and undershirts in his briefcase, put on dark-rimmed glasses, read. Kasimir pushed back wet hair that had fallen all over his forehead, read the sign on the windowsill that said DO NOT LEAN OUT, stared at the shaking walls and the rain shuddering on the window, dozed. He dreamed that walls were falling down around him. He woke scared as they pulled out of Okats. His friend sat looking out the window, white-faced and black-haired, confirming the isolation and disaster of Kasimir’s dream. “Can’t see anything,” he said. “Night. Country’s the only place where they have night left.” He stared through the reflection of his own face into the night that filled his eyes with blessed darkness.


    “So here we are on a train going to Aisnar,” Kasimir said, “but we don’t know that it’s going to Aisnar. It might go to Peking.”


    “It might derail and we’ll all be killed. And if we do come to Aisnar? What’s Aisnar? Mere hearsay.” —“That’s morbid,” Kasi­mir said, glimpsing again the walls collapsing. —“No, exhilarating,” his friend answered. “Takes a lot of work to hold the world together, when you look at it that way. But it’s worthwhile. Building up cities, holding up the roofs by an act of fidelity. Not faith. Fidelity.” He gazed out the window through his reflected eyes. Kasimir shared a bar of mud-like chocolate with him. They came to Aisnar.


    Rain fell in the gold-paved, ill-lit streets while the autobus to Vermare and Prevne waited for its passengers in South Square under dripping sycamores. The case rode in the back seat. A chicken with a string round its neck scratched the aisle for grain, a bushy-haired woman held the other end of the string, a drunk farm-worker talked loudly to the driver as the bus groaned out of Aisnar southward into the country night, the same night, the blessed darkness.


    “So I says to him, I says, you don’t know what’ll happen tomorrow—”


    “Listen,” said Kasimir, “if the universe is infinite, does that mean that everything that could possibly happen, is happening, somewhere, at some time?”


    “Saturday, he says, Saturday.”


    “I don’t know. It would. But we don’t know what’s possible. Thank God. If we did, I’d shoot myself, eh?”


    “Come back Saturday, he says, and I says, Saturday be damned, I says.”


    In Vermare rain fell on the ruins of the Tower Keep, and the drunk got off leaving silence behind him. Stefan Fabbre looked glum, said he had a sore throat, and fell into a quick, weary sleep. His head jiggled to the ruts and bumps of the foothill road as the bus ran westward clearing a tunnel through solid black with its headlights. A tree, a great oak, bent down suddenly to shelter it. The doors opened admitting clean air, flashlights, boots and caps. Brushing back his fair hair Kasimir said softly, “Always happens. Only six miles from the border here.” They felt in their breast-pockets, handed over. “Fabbre Stefan, domicile 136 Tome Street, Krasnoy, student, MR 64100282A. Augeskar Kasimir, domicile 4 Sorden Street, Krasnoy, student, MR 80104944A. Where are you going?” —“Prevne.” —“Both of you? Business?” —“Vacation. A week in the country.” —“What’s that?” —“A bass-viol case.” —“What’s in it?” —“A bass viol.” It was stood up, opened, closed again, lugged out, laid on the ground, opened again, and the huge viol stood fragile and magnificent among flashlights over the mud, boots, belt-buckles, caps. “Keep it off the ground!” Kasimir said in a sharp voice, and Stefan pushed in front of him. They fingered it, shook it. “Here, Kasi, does this unscrew? —No, there’s no way to take it apart.” The fat one slapped the great shining curve of wood saying something about his wife so that Stefan laughed, but the viol tilted in another’s hands, a tuning-peg squawked, and on the patter of rain and mutter of the bus-engine idling, a booming twang uncurled, broken off short like the viol-string. Stefan took hold of Kasimir’s arm. After the bus had started again they sat side by side in the warm stinking darkness. Kasimir said, “Sorry, Stefan. Thanks.”


    “Can you fix it?”


    “Yes, just the peg snapped. I can fix it.”


    “Damn sore throat.” Stefan rubbed his head and left his hands over his eyes. “Taking cold. Damn rain.”


    “We’re near Prevne now.”


    In Prevne very fine rain drifted down one street between two streetlamps. Behind the roofs something loomed—treetops, hills? No one met them since Kasimir had forgotten to write which night they were coming. Returning from the one public telephone, he joined Stefan and the bass-viol case at a table of the Post-Telephone Bar. “Father has the car out on a call. We can walk or wait here. Sorry.” His long fair face was discouraged, contrite. “It’s a couple of miles.” They set off. They walked in silence up a dirt road in rain and darkness between fields. The air smelt of wet earth. Kasimir began to whistle but the rain wet his lips, he stopped. It was so dark that they walked slowly, not able to see where each step took them, whether the road was rough or plain. It was so still that they heard the multitudinous whisper of the rain on fields to left and right. They were climbing. The hill loomed ahead of them, solider darkness. Stefan stopped to turn up his wet coatcollar and because he was dizzy. As he went forward again in the chill whispering country silence he heard a soft clear sound, a girl laughing behind the hill. Lights sprang up at the hillcrest, sparkling, waving. “What’s that?” he said stopping unnerved in the broken dark. A child shouted, “There they are!” The lights above them danced and descended, they were encircled by lanterns, flashlights, voices calling, faces and arms lit by flashes and vanishing again into night; clearly once more, right at his side, the sweet laugh rang out. “Father didn’t come back and you didn’t come, so we all came to meet you.” —“Did you bring your friend, where is he?” —“Hello, Kasi!” Kasimir’s fair head bent to another in the gleam of a lantern. “Where’s your fiddle, didn’t you bring it?” —“It’s been raining like this all week.” —“Left it with Mr Praspayets at the Post-Telephone.” —“Let’s go on and get it, it’s lovely walking.” —“I’m Bendika, are you Stefan?” She laughed as they sought each other’s hands to shake in darkness; she turned her lantern round and was dark-haired, as tall as her brother, the only one of them he saw clearly before they all went back down the road talking, laughing, flashing lightbeams over the road and roadside weeds or up into the rain-thick air. He saw them all for a moment in the bar as Kasimir got his bull-fiddle: two boys, a man, tall Ben­dika, the young blonde one who had kissed Kasimir, another still younger, all of them he saw all at once and then they were off up the road again and he must wonder which of the three girls, or was it four, had laughed before they met. The chill rain picked at his hot face. Beside him, beaming a flashlight so they could see the road, the man said, “I’m Joachim Bret.” —“Enzymes,” Stefan replied hoarsely. —“Yes, what’s your field?” —“Molecular genetics.” —“No! too good! you work with Metor, then? Catch me up, will you? Do you see the American journals?” They talked helices for half a mile, Bret voluble, Stefan laconic as he was still dizzy and still listened for the laugh; but all of them laughed, he could not be sure. They all fell silent a moment, only the two boys ran far ahead, calling. “There’s the house,” tall Bendika said beside him, pointing to a yellow gleam. “Still with us, Stefan?” Kasimir called from somewhere in the dark. He growled yes, resenting the silly good cheer, the running and calling and laughing, the enthusiastic jerky Bret, the yellow windows that to all of them were home but to him not. Inside the house they shed wet coats, spread, multiplied, regathered around a table in a high dark room shot through with noise and lamplight, for coffee and coffeecake borne in by Kasimir’s mother. She walked hurried and tranquil under a grey and dark-brown coronet of braids. Bass-viol-shaped, mother of seven, she merged Stefan with all the other young people whom she distinguished one from another only by name. They were named Valeria, Bendika, An­tony, Bruna, Kasimir, Joachim, Paul. They joked and chattered, the little dark girl screamed with laughter, Kasimir’s fair hair fell over his eyes, the two boys of eleven squabbled, the gaunt smiling man sat with a guitar and presently played, his face beaked like a crow’s over the instrument. His right hand plucking the strings was slightly crippled or deformed. They sang, all but Stefan who did not know the songs, had a sore throat, would not sing, sat rancorous amid the singers. Dr Augeskar came in. He shook Kasimir’s hand, welcoming and effacing him, a tall king with a slender and unlikely heir. “Where’s your friend? Sorry I couldn’t meet you, had an emergency up the road. Appendectomy on the dining table. Like carving the Christmas goose. Get to bed, Antony. Bendika, get me a glass. Joachim? You, Fabbre?” He poured out red wine and sat down with them at the great round table. They sang again. Augeskar suggested the songs, his voice led the others; he filled the room. The fair daughter flirted with him, the little dark one screeched with laughter, Bendika teased Kasimir, Bret sang a love-song in Swedish; it was only eleven o’clock. Dr Augeskar had grey eyes, clear under blond brows. Stefan met their stare. “You’ve got a cold?” —“Yes.” —“Then go to bed. Diana! where does Fabbre sleep?” Kasimir jumped up contrite, led Stefan upstairs and through corridors and rooms all smelling of hay and rain. “When’s breakfast?” —“Oh, anytime,” for Kasimir never knew the time of any event. “Good night, Stefan.” But it was a bad night, miserable, and all through it Bret’s crippled hand snapped off one great coiling string after another with a booming twang while he explained, “This is how you go after them the latest,” grinning. In the morning Stefan could not get up. Sunlit walls leaned inward over the bed and the sky came stretching in the windows, a huge blue balloon. He lay there. He hid his pin-stiff aching black hair under his hands and moaned. The tall golden-grey man came in and said to him with perfect certainty, “My boy, you’re sick.” It was balm. Sick, he was sick, the walls and sky were all right. “A very respectable fever you’re running,” said the doctor and Stefan smiled, near tears, feeling himself respectable, lapped in the broad indifferent tenderness of the big man who was kingly, certain, uncaring as sunlight in the sky. But in the forests and caves and small crowded rooms of his fever no sunlight came, and after a time no water.


    The house stood quiet in the September sunlight and dark.


    That night Mrs Augeskar, yarn, needle, sock poised one moment in her hands, lifted her braid-crowned head, listening as she had listened years ago to her first son, Kasimir, crying out in sleep in his crib upstairs. “Poor child,” she whispered. And Bruna raised her fair head listening too, for the first time, hearing the solitary cry from the forests where she had never been. The house stood still around them. On the second day the boys played outdoors till rain fell and night fell. Kasimir stood in the kitchen sawing on his bull-fiddle, his face by the shining neck of the instrument quiet and closed, keeping right on when others came in to perch on stools and lean against the sink and talk, for after all there were seven young people there on vacation, they could not stay silent. But under their voices the deep, weak, singing voice of Kasimir’s fiddle went on wordless, like a cry from the depths of the forest; so that Bruna suddenly past patience and dependence, solitary, not the third daughter and fourth child and one of the young people, slipped away and went upstairs to see what it was like, this grave sickness, this mortality.


    It was not like anything. The young man slept. His face was white, his hair black on white linen: clear as printed words, but in a foreign language.


    She came down and told her mother she had looked in, he was sleeping quietly; true enough, but not the truth. What she had confirmed up there was that she was now ready to learn the way through the forest; she had come of age, and was now capable of dying.


    He was her guide, the young man who had come in out of the rain with a case of pneumonia. On the afternoon of the fifth day she went up to his room again. He was lying there getting well, weak and content, thinking about a morning ten years ago when he had walked out with his father and grand­father past the quarries, an April morning on a dry plain awash with sunlight and blue flowers. After they had passed the Chorin Company quarries they suddenly began to talk politics, and he understood that they had come out of town onto the empty plain in order to say things aloud, in order to let him hear what his father said: “There’ll always be enough ants to fill up all the ant-hills—worker ants, army ants.” And the grandfather, the dry, bitter, fitful man, in his seventies angrier and gentler than his son, vulnerable as his thirteen-year-old grandson: “Get out, Kosta, why don’t you get out?” That was only a taunt. None of them would run away, or get away. A man, he walked with men across a barren plain blue with flowers in brief April; they shared with him their anger, their barren helpless obduracy and the brief blue fire of their anger. Talking aloud under the open sky, they gave him the key to the house of manhood, the prison where they lived and he would live. But they had known other houses. He had not. Once his grandfather, Stefan Fabbre, put his hand on young Stefan’s shoulder while he spoke. “What would we do with freedom if we had it, Kosta? What has the West done with it? Eaten it. Put it in its belly. A great wondrous belly, that’s the West. With a wise head on top of it, a man’s head, with a man’s mind and eyes—but the rest all belly. He can’t walk any more. He sits at table eating, eating, thinking up machines to bring him more food, more food. Throwing food to the black and yellow rats under the table so they won’t gnaw down the walls around him. There he sits, and here we are, with nothing in our bellies but air, air and cancer, air and rage. We can still walk. So we’re yoked. Yoked to the foreign plow. When we smell food we bray and kick. —Are we men, though, Kosta? I doubt it.” All the time his hand lay on the boy’s shoulder, tender, almost deferent, because the boy had never seen his inheritance at all but had been born in jail, where nothing is any good, no anger, understanding, or pride, nothing is any good except obduracy, except fidelity. Those remain, said the weight of the old man’s hand on his shoulder. So when a blonde girl came into his room where he lay weak and content, he looked at her from that sun-washed barren April plain with trust and welcome, it being irrelevant to this moment that his grandfather had died in a deportation train and his father had been shot along with forty-two other men on the plain outside town in the reprisals of 1956. “How do you feel?” she said, and he said, “Fine.”


    “Can I bring you anything?”


    He shook his head, the same black-and-white head she had seen clear and unintelligible as Greek words on a white page, but now his eyes were open and he spoke her language. It was the same voice that had called faintly from the black woods of fever, the neighborhood of death, a few nights ago, which now said, “I can’t remember your name.” He was very nice, he was a nice fellow, this Stefan Fabbre, embarrassed by lying there sick, glad to see her. “I’m Bruna, I come next after Kasi. Would you like some books? Are you getting bored yet?” —“Bored? No. You don’t know how good it is to lie here doing nothing, I’ve never done that. Your parents are so kind, and this big house, and the fields outside there—I lie here thinking, Jesus, is this me? In all this peace, in all this space, in a room to myself doing nothing?” She laughed, by which he knew her: the one who had laughed in rain and darkness before lights broke over the hill. Her fair hair was parted in the middle and waved on each side down nearly to the light, thick eyebrows; her eyes were an indeterminate color, unclear, grey-brown or grey. He heard it now indoors in daylight, the tender and exultant laugh. “Oh you beauty, you fine proud filly-foal never broken to harness, you scared and restive, gentle girl laughing . . .”


    Wanting to keep her he asked, “Have you always lived here?” and she said, “Yes, summers,” glancing at him from her indeterminate, shining eyes in the shadow of fair hair. “Where did you grow up?”


    “In Sfaroy Kampe, up north.”


    “Your family’s still there?”


    “My sister lives there.” She still asked about families. She must be very innocent, more elusive and intact even than Kasimir, who placed his reality beyond the touch of any hands or asking of identity. Still to keep her with him, he said, “I lie here thinking. I’ve thought more already today than in the last three years.”


    “What do you think of?”


    “Of the Hungarian nobleman, do you know that story? The one that was taken prisoner by the Turks, and sold as a slave. It was in the sixteenth century. Well, a Turk bought him, and yoked him to a plow, like an ox, and he plowed the fields, driven with a whip. His family finally managed to buy him back. And he went home, and got his sword, and went back to the battlefields. And there he took prisoner the Turk that had bought him, owned him. Took the Turk back to his manor. Took the chains off him, had him brought outside. And the poor Turk looked around for the impaling stake, you know, or the pitch they’d rub on him and set fire to, or the dogs, or at least the whip. But there was nothing. Only the Hungarian, the man he’d bought and sold. And the Hungarian said, ‘Go on back home. . . .’”


    “Did he go?”


    “No, he stayed and turned Christian. But that’s not why I think of it.”


    “Why do you?”


    “I’d like to be a nobleman,” Stefan Fabbre said, grinning. He was a tough, hard fellow, lying there nearly defeated but not defeated. He grinned, his eyes had a black flicker to them; at twenty-five he had no innocence, no confidence, no hope at all of profit. The lack of that was the black flicker, the coldness in his eyes. Yet he lay there taking what came, a small man but hard, possessing weight, a man of substance. The girl looked at his strong, blunt hands on the blanket and then up at the sunlit windows, thinking of his being a nobleman, thinking of the one fact she knew of him from Kasimir, who seldom mentioned facts: that he shared a tenement room in Krasnoy with five other students, three beds were all they could fit into it. The room, with three high windows, curtains pulled back, hummed with the silence of September afternoon in the country. A boy’s voice rang out from fields far away. “Not much chance of it these days,” she said in a dull soft voice, looking down, meaning nothing, for once wholly cast down, tired, without tenderness or exultation. He would get well, would go back a week late to the city, to the three bedsteads and five roommates, shoes on the floor and rust and hairs in the washbasin, classrooms, laboratories, after that employment as an inspector of sanitation on State farms in the north and northeast, a two-room flat in State housing on the outskirts of a town near the State foundries, a black-haired wife who taught the third grade from State-approved textbooks, one child, two legal abortions, and the hydrogen bomb. Oh was there no way out, no way? “Are you very clever?”


    “I’m very good at my work.”


    “It’s science, isn’t it?”


    “Biology. Research.”


    Then the laboratories would persist; the flat became perhaps a four-room flat in the Krasnoy suburbs; two children, no abortions, two-week vacations in summer in the mountains, then the hydrogen bomb. Or no hydrogen bomb. It made no difference.


    “What do you do research on?”


    “Certain molecules. The molecular structure of life.”


    That was strange, the structure of life. Of course he was talking down to her; things are not briefly described, her father had said, when one is talking of life. So he was good at finding out the molecular structure of life, this fellow whose wordless cry she had heard faintly from congested lungs, from the dark neighborhood and approaches of his death; he had called out and “Poor child,” her mother had whispered, but it was she who had answered, had followed him. And now he brought her back to life.


    “Ah,” she said, still not lifting her head, “I don’t understand all that. I’m stupid.”


    “Why did they name you Bruna, when you’re blonde?”


    She looked up startled, laughed. “I was bald till I was ten months old.” She looked at him, seeing him again, and the future be damned, since all possible futures ever envisaged are—rusty sinks, two-week vacations and bombs or collective fraternity or harps and houris—endlessly, sordidly dreary, all delight being in the present and its past, all truth too, and all fidelity in the word, the flesh, the present moment: for the future, however you look at it, contains only one sure thing and that is death. But the moment is unpredictable. There is simply no telling what will happen. Kasimir came in with a bunch of red and blue flowers and said, “Mother wants to know if you’d like milk-toast for supper.”


    “Oatbread, oatbread,” Bruna sang arranging the cornflowers and poppies in Stefan’s water-glass. They ate oats three times a day here, some poultry, turnips, potatoes; the little brother Antony raised lettuce, the mother cooked, the daughters swept the big house; there was no wheat-flour, no beef, no milk, no housemaid, not any more, not since before Bruna was born. They camped here in their big old country house, they lived like gypsies, said the mother: a professor’s daughter born in the middle class, nurtured and married in the middle class, giving up order, plenty, and leisure without complaint but not giving up the least scruple of the discriminations she had been privileged to learn. So Kasimir for all his gentleness could still hold himself untouched. So Bruna still thought of herself as coming next after Kasimir, and asked about one’s family. So Stefan knew himself here in a fortress, in a family, at home. He and Kasimir and Bruna were laughing aloud together when the father came in. “Out,” Dr Augeskar said, standing heroic and absolute in the doorway, the sun-king or a solar myth; his son and daughter, laughing and signalling child-like to Stefan behind his back, went out. “Enough is enough,” Augeskar said, ausculting, and Stefan lay guilty, smiling, child-like.


    The seventh day, when Stefan and Kasimir should have taken bus and train back to Krasnoy where the University was now open, was hot. Warm darkness followed, windows open, the whole house open to choruses of frogs by the river, choruses of crickets in the furrows, a southwest wind bearing odors of the forest over dry autumn hills. Between the curtains billowing and going slack burned six stars, so bright in the dry dark sky that they might set fire to the curtains. Bruna sat on the floor by Stefan’s bed, Kasimir lay like a huge wheatstalk across the foot of it, Bendika, whose husband was in Krasnoy, nursed her five-month-old firstborn in a chair by the empty fireplace. Joachim Bret sat on the windowsill, his shirtsleeves rolled up so that the bluish figures OA46992 were visible on his lean arm, playing his guitar to accompany an English lute-song:


    Yet be just and constant still, Love may beget a wonder,


    Not unlike a summer’s frost or winter’s fatal thunder:


    He that holds his sweetheart dear until his day of dying


    Lives of all that ever lived most worthy the envying.


    Then, since he liked to sing praise and blame of love in all the languages he knew and did not know, he began to strum out “Plaisir d’Amour,” but came to grief on the shift of key, while the baby was sat up to belch loudly causing merriment. The baby was flung aloft by Kasimir while Bendika protested softly, “He’s full, Kasi, he’ll spill.” —“I am your uncle. I am Uncle Kasimir, my pockets are full of peppermints and papal indulgences. Look at me, whelp! You don’t dare vomit on your uncle. You don’t dare. Go vomit on your aunt.” The baby stared unwinking at Bruna and waved its hands; its fat, silky belly showed between shirt and diaper. The girl returned its gaze as silently, as steadily. “Who are you?” said the baby. “Who are you?” said the maiden, without words, in wonder, while Stefan watched and faint chords in A sobbed joyously on Bret’s guitar between the lighted room and the dark dry night of autumn. The tall young mother carried the baby off to bed, Kasimir turned off the light. Now the autumn night was in the room, and their voices spoke among the choruses of crickets and frogs on the fields, by the streams. “It was clever of you to get sick, Stefan,” said Kasimir, lying again across the foot of the bed, long arms white in the dusk. “Stay sick, and we can stay here all winter.”


    “All year. For years. Did you get your fiddle fixed?”


    “Oh yes. Been practicing the Schubert. Pa, pa, poum pah.”


    “When’s the concert?”


    “Sometime in October. Plenty of time. Poum, poum—swim, swim, little trout. Ah!” The long white arms sawed vaguely a viol of dusk. “Why did you choose the bass viol, Kasimir?” asked Bret’s voice among frogs and crickets, across marshbottoms and furrows, from the windowsill. “Because he’s shy,” said Bruna’s voice like a country wind. “Because he’s an enemy of the feasible,” said Stefan’s dark dry voice. Silence. “Because I showed extraordinary promise as a student of the cello,” said Kasimir’s voice, “and so I was forced to consider, did I want to perform the Dvorak Concerto to cheering audiences and win a People’s Artist award, or did I not? I chose to be a low buzz in the background. Poum, pa poum. And when I die, I want you to put my corpse in the fiddle case, and ship it rapid express deep-freeze to Pablo Casals with a label saying ‘Corpse of Great Central European Cellist.’” The hot wind blew through the dark. Kasimir was done, Bruna and Stefan were ready to pass on, but Joachim Bret was not able to. He spoke of a man who had been helping people get across the border; here in the southwest rumors of him were thick now; a young man, Bret said, who had been jailed, had escaped, got to England, and come back; set up an escape route, got over a hundred people out in ten months, and only now had been spotted and was being hunted by the secret police. “Quixotic? Traitorous? Heroic?” Bret asked. “He’s hiding in the attic now,” Kasimir said, and Stefan added, “Sick of milk-toast.” They evaded and would not judge; betrayal and fidelity were immediate to them, could not be weighed any more than a pound of flesh, their own flesh. Only Bret, who had been born outside prison, was excited, insistent. Prevne was crawling with agents, he went, even if you went to buy a newspaper your identification was checked. “Easier to have it tattooed on, like you,” said Kasimir. “Move your foot, Stefan.” —“Move your fat rump, then.” —“Oh, mine are German numbers, out of date. A few more wars and I’ll run out of skin.” —“Shed it, then, like a snake.” —“No, they go right down to the bone.” —“Shed your bones, then,” Stefan said, “be a jellyfish. Be an amoeba. When they pin me down, I bud off. Two little spineless Stefans where they thought they had one MR 64100282A. Four of them, eight, sixteen thirty-two sixty-four a hundred and twenty-eight. I would entirely cover the surface of the globe were it not for my natural enemies.” The bed shook, Bruna laughed in darkness. “Play the English song again, Joachim,” she said.


    Yet be just and constant still, Love may beget a wonder . . .


    “Stefan,” she said in the afternoon light of the fourteenth day as she sat, and he lay with his head on her lap, on a green bank above the river-marshes south of the house. He opened his eyes: “Must we go?”


    “No.”


    He closed his eyes again, saying, “Bruna.” He sat up and sat beside her, staring at her. “Bruna, oh God! I wish you weren’t a virgin.” She laughed and watched him, wary, curious, defenseless. “If only—here, now—I’ve got to go away day after tomorrow!” —“But not right under the kitchen windows,” she said tenderly. The house stood thirty yards from them. He collapsed by her burying his head in the angle of her arm, against her side, his lips on the very soft skin of her forearm. She stroked his hair and the nape of his neck.


    “Can we get married? Do you want to get married?”


    “Yes, I want to marry you, Stefan.”


    He lay still awhile longer, then sat up again, slowly this time, and looked across the reeds and choked, sunlit river to the hills and the mountains behind them.


    “I’ll have my degree next year.”


    “I’ll have my teaching certificate in a year and a half.”


    They were silent awhile.


    “I could quit school and work. We’ll have to apply for a place . . .” The walls of the one rented room facing a courtyard strung with sooty washing rose up around them, indestructible. “All right,” he said. “Only I hate to waste this.” He looked from the sunlit water up to the mountains. The warm wind of evening blew past them. “All right. But Bruna, do you understand . . .” that all this is new to me, that I have never waked before at dawn in a high-windowed room and lain hearing the perfect silence, never walked out over fields in a bright October morning, never sat down at table with fair, laughing brothers and sisters, never spoken in early evening by a river with a girl who loved me, that I have known that order, peace, and tenderness must exist but never hoped even to witness them, let alone possess them? And day after tomorrow I must go back. No, she did not understand. She was only the country silence and the blessed dark, the bright stream, the wind, the hills, the cool house; all that was hers and her; she could not understand. But she took him in, the stranger in the rainy night, who would destroy her. She sat beside him and said softly, “I think it’s worth it, Stefan, it’s worthwhile.”


    “It is. We’ll borrow. We’ll beg, we’ll steal, we’ll filch. I’ll be a great scientist, you know. I’ll create life in a test-tube. After a squalid early career Fabbre rose to sudden prominence. We’ll go to meetings in Vienna. In Paris. The hell with life in a test-tube! I’ll do better than that, I’ll get you pregnant within five minutes, oh you beauty, laugh, do you? I’ll show you, you filly, you little trout, oh you darling—” There under the windows of the house and under the mountains still in sunlight, while the boys shouted playing tennis up beside the house, she lay soft, fair, heavy in his arms under his weight, absolutely pure, flesh and spirit one pure will: to let him come in, let him come in.


    Not now, not here. His will was mixed, and obdurate. He rolled away and lay face up in the grass, a black flicker in his eyes looking at the sky. She sat with her hand on his hand. Peace had never left her. When he sat up she looked at him as she had looked at Bendika’s baby, steadily, with pondering recognition. She had no praise for him, no reservation, no judgment. Here he is; this is he.


    “It’ll be meager, Bruna. Meager and unprofitable.”


    “I expect so,” she said, watching him.


    He stood up and brushed grass off his trousers. “I love Bruna!” he shouted, lifting his hand; and from the sunlit slopes across the river-marshes where dusk was rising came a vague short sound, not her name, not his voice. “You see?” he said standing over her, smiling. “Echoes, even. Get up, the sun’s going, do you want me to get pneumonia again?” She reached out her hand, he took it and pulled her up to him. “I’ll be very loyal, Bruna,” he said. He was a small man and when they stood together she did not look up to him but straight at him at eyelevel. “That’s what I have to give,” he said, “that’s all I have to give. You may get sick of it, you know.” Her eyes, grey-brown or grey, unclear, watched him steadily. In silence he raised his hand to touch for a moment, with reserve and tenderness, her fair parted hair. They went back up to the house, past the tennis court where Kasimir on one side of the net and the two boys on the other swung, missed, leapt and shouted. Under the oaks Bret sat practicing a guitar-tune. “What language is that one?” Bruna asked, standing light in the shadow, utterly happy. Bret cocked his head to answer, his misshapen right hand lying across the strings. “Greek; I got it from a book; it means, ‘O young lovers who pass beneath my window, can’t you see it’s raining?’” She laughed aloud, standing by Stefan who had turned to watch the three run and poise on the tennis court in rising shadow, the ball soar up from moment to moment into the level gold light.


    He walked into Prevne next day to buy their tickets with Kasimir, who wanted to see the weekly market there; Kasimir took joy in markets, fairs, auctions, the noise of people getting and selling, the barrows of white and purple turnips, racks of old shoes, mounds of print cotton, stacks of bluecoated cheese, the smell of onions, fresh lavender, sweat, dust. The road that had been long the night they came was brief in the warm morning. “Still looking for that get-em-out-alive fellow, Bret says,” said Kasimir. Tall, frail, calm, he moseyed along beside his friend, his bare head bright in the sunlight. “Bruna and I want to get married,” Stefan said.


    “You do?”


    “Yes.”


    Kasimir hesitated a moment in his longlegged amble, went on, hands in his pockets. Slowly on his face appeared a smile. “Do you really?”


    “Yes.”


    Kasimir stopped, took his right hand out of his pocket, shook Stefan’s. “Good work,” he said, “well done.” He was blushing a little. “Now that’s something real,” he said, going on, hands in his pockets; Stefan glanced at his long, quiet young face. “That’s absolute,” Kasimir said, “that’s real.” After a while he said, “That beats Schubert.”


    “Main problem is finding a place to live, of course, but if I can borrow something to get started on, Metor still wants me for that project—we’d like to do it straight off—if it’s all right with your parents, of course.” Kasimir listened fascinated to these chances and circumstances confirming the central fact, just as he watched fascinated the buyers and sellers, shoes and turnips, racks and carts of a market-fair that confirmed men’s need of food and of communion. “It’ll work out,” he said. “You’ll find a place.” —“I expect so,” said Stefan never doubting it. He picked up a rock, tossed it up and caught it, hurled it white through sunlight far into the furrows to their left. “If you knew how happy I am, Kasimir—” His friend answered, “I have some notion. Here, shake hands again.” They stopped again to shake hands. “Move in with us, eh, Kasi?” —“All right, get me a truckle-bed.” They were coming into town. A khaki-colored truck crawled down Prevne’s main street between flyblown shops, old houses painted with garlands long faded; over the roofs rose high yellow hills. Under lindens the market square was dusty and sun-dappled: a few racks, a few stands and carts, a noseless man selling sugarcandy, three dogs cringingly, unwearingly following a white bitch, old women in black shawls, old men in black vests, the lanky keeper of the Post-Telephone Bar leaning in his doorway and spitting, two fat men dickering in a mumble over a pack of cigarettes. “Used to be more to it,” Kasimir said. “When I was a kid here. Lots of cheese from Portacheyka, vegetables, mounds of ’em. Everybody turned out for it.” They wandered between the stalls, content, aware of brotherhood. Stefan wanted to buy Bruna something, anything, a scarf; there were buttonless mud-colored overalls, cracked shoes. “Buy her a cabbage,” Kasimir said, and Stefan bought a large red cabbage. They went into the Post-Telephone Bar to buy their tickets to Aisnar. “Two on the S.W. to Aisnar, Mr Praspayets.” —“Back to work, eh?” —“Right.” Three men came up to the counter, two on Kasimir’s side one on Stefan’s. They handed over. “Fabbre Stefan, domicile 136 Tome Street, Krasnoy, student, MR 64100282A. Augeskar Kasimir, domicile 4 Sorden Street, Krasnoy, student, MR 80104944A. Business in Aisnar?” —“Catching the train to Krasnoy.” The men returned to a table. “In here all day, past ten days,” the innkeeper said in a thready mumble, “kills my business. I need another hundred kroner, Mr Kasimir; trying to short-change me?” Two of the men, one thickset, the other slim and wearing an army gunbelt under his jacket, were by them again. The smiling innkeeper went blank like a television set clicked off. He watched the agents go through the young men’s pockets and feel up and down their bodies; when they had gone back to the table he handed Kasimir his change, silent. They went out in silence. Kasimir stopped and stood looking at the golden lindens, the golden light dappling dust where three dogs still trotted abased and eager after the white bitch, a fat housewife laughed with an old cackling man, two boys dodged yelling among the carts, a donkey hung his grey head and twitched one ear. “Oh well,” Stefan said. Kasimir said nothing. “I’ve budded off,” Stefan said, “come on, Kasi.” They set off slowly. “Right,” Kasimir said straightening up a little. “It’s not relevant, you know,” said Stefan. “Is the innkeeper really named Praspayets?” —“Evander Praspayets. Has a brother runs the winery here, Belisarius Praspayets.” Stefan grinned, Kasimir smiled a little vaguely. They were at the edge of the market-place about to cross the street. “Damn, I forgot my cabbage in the bar,” Stefan said, turning, and saw some men running across the market-place between the carts and stalls. There was a loud clapping noise. Kasimir grabbed at Stefan’s shoulder for some reason, but missed, and stood there with his arms spread out, making a coughing, retching sound in his throat. His arms jerked wider and he fell down, backwards, and lay at Stefan’s feet, his eyes open, his mouth open and full of blood. Stefan stood there. He looked around. He dropped on his knees by Kasimir who did not look at him. Then he was pulled up and held by the arm; there were men around him and one of them was waving something, a paper, saying loudly, “This is him, the traitor, this is what happens to traitors. These are his forged papers. This is him.” Stefan wanted to get to Kasimir, but was held back; he saw men’s backs, a dog, a woman’s red staring face in the background under golden trees. He thought they were helping him to stand, for his knees had given under him, but as they forced him to turn and walk he tried to pull free, crying out, “Kasimir!”


    He was lying on his face on a bed, which was not the bed in the high-windowed room in the Augeskar house. He knew it was not but kept thinking it was, hearing the boys calling down on the tennis court. Then understanding that it was his room in Krasnoy and his roommates were asleep he lay still for a long time, despite a fierce headache. Finally he sat up and looked around at the pine-plank walls, the grating in the door, the stone floor with cigarette butts and dried urine on it. The guard who brought his breakfast was the thickset agent from the Post-Telephone Bar, and did not speak. There were pine splinters in the quicks of his nails on both his hands; he spent a long time getting them out.


    On the third day a different guard came, a fat dark-jowled fellow reeking of sweat and onions like the market under the lindens. “What town am I in?” —“Prevne.” The guard locked the door, offered a cigarette through the grating, held a lighted match through. “Is my friend dead? Why did they shoot him?” —“Man they wanted got away,” said the guard. “Need anything in there? You’ll be out tomorrow.” —“Did they kill him?” The guard grunted yes and went off. After a while a half-full pack of cigarettes and a box of matches dropped in through the grating near Stefan’s feet where he sat on the cot. He was released next day, seeing no one but the dark-jowled guard who led him to the door of the village lock-up. He stood on the main street of Prevne half a block down from the market-place. Sunset was over, it was cold, the sky clear and dark above the lindens, the roofs, the hills.


    His ticket to Aisnar was still in his pocket. He walked slowly and carefully to the market-place and across it under dark trees to the Post-Telephone Bar. No bus was waiting. He had no idea when they ran. He went in and sat down, hunched over, shaking with cold, at one of the three tables. Presently the owner came out from a back room.


    “When’s the next bus?” He could not think of the man’s name, Praspets, Prayespets, something like that. “Aisnar, eight-twenty in the morning,” the man said. —“To Portacheyka?” Stefan asked after a pause. —“Local to Portacheyka at ten.” —“Tonight?” —“Ten tonight.” —“Can you change this for a . . . ticket to Portacheyka?” He held out his ticket for Aisnar. The man took it and after a moment said, “Wait, I’ll see.” He went off again to the back. Stefan got change ready for a cup of coffee, and sat hunched over. It was seven-ten by the white-faced alarm clock on the bar. At seven-thirty when three big townsmen came in for a beer he moved as far back as he could, by the pool table, and sat there facing the wall, only glancing round quickly now and then to check the time on the alarm clock. He was still shaking, and so cold that after a while he put his head down on his arms and shut his eyes. Bruna said, “Stefan.”


    She had sat down at the table with him. Her hair looked pale as cotton round her face. His head still hunched forward, his arms on the table, he looked at her and then looked down.


    “Mr Praspayets telephoned us. Where were you going?”


    He did not answer.


    “Did they tell you to get out of town?”


    He shook his head.


    “They just let you go? Come on. I brought your coat, here, you must be cold. Come on home.” She rose, and at this he sat up; he took his coat from her and said, “No. I can’t.”


    “Why not?”


    “Dangerous for you. Can’t face it, anyway.”


    “Can’t face us? Come on. I want to get out of here. We’re driving back to Krasnoy tomorrow, we were waiting for you. Come on, Stefan.” He got up and followed her out. It was night now. They set off across the street and up the country road, Bruna holding a flashlight beamed before them. She took his arm; they walked in silence. Around them were dark fields, stars.


    “Do you know what they did with . . .”


    “They took him off in the truck, we were told.”


    “I don’t— When everybody in the town knew who he was—” He felt her shrug. They kept walking. The road was long again as when he and Kasimir had walked it the first time without light. They came to the hill where the lights had appeared, the laughter and calling all round them in the rain. “Come faster, Stefan,” the girl beside him said timidly, “you’re cold.” He had to stop soon, and breaking away from her went blind to the roadside seeking anything, a fencepost or tree, anything to lean against till he could stop crying; but there was nothing. He stood there in the darkness and she stood near him. At last he turned and they went on together. Rocks and weeds showed white in the ragged circle of light from her flashlight. As they crossed the hillcrest she said with the same timidity and stubbornness, “I told mother we want to marry. When we heard they had you in jail here I told her. Not father, yet. This was—this was what he couldn’t stand, he can’t take it. But mother’s all right, and so I told her. I’d like to be married quite soon, if you would, Stefan.” He walked beside her, silent. “Right,” he said finally. “No good letting go, is there.” The lights of the house below them were yellow through the trees; above them stars and a few thin clouds drifted through the sky. “No good at all.”
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    An die Musik


    


    “A PERSON ASKING TO SEE YOU, SIR. Mr. Gaye.”


    Otto Egorin nodded. This being his only free afternoon in Foranoy, it was inevitable that some young hopeful would find him out and waste it. He knew from the way his man said “person” that it was no one important. Still, he had been buried so long in managing his wife’s concert tour that it was refreshing to receive a postulant of his own. “Show him in,” he said, turning again to the letter he was writing, and did not look up till the visitor was well into the room and had had time to be impressed by the large, bald head of Otto Egorin engrossed in writing a letter. That first impression, Otto knew, would keep all but the brashest ones down. This one did not look brash: a short, shabby man leading a small boy by the hand and stammering about the great liberty—valuable time—great privilege— “Well, well,” said the impresario, moderately genial, since if not put at ease the timid often wasted more time than the brash, “playing chords since he could sit up, and the Appassionata since he was three? Or do you write your own sonatas, eh, my man?” The child stared at him with cold dark eyes. The man stammered and halted, “I’m very sorry, Mr. Egorin, I wouldn’t have—my wife’s not well, I take the boy out Sunday afternoons, so she doesn’t have to look after him—” It was really painful to see him going red, then pale, then red. “He’ll be no trouble,” he blundered on.


    “What is it about then, Mr. Gaye?” asked Otto rather dryly.


    “I write music,” Gaye said, and Otto saw then what he had missed in supposing the child to be yet another prodigy: the small roll of music-paper under the visitor’s arm.


    “All right, good. Let me see it, please,” he said, putting out his hand. This was the point he dreaded with the shy ones. But Gaye did not explain for twenty minutes what he had tried to do and why and how, all the time clutching his compositions and sweating. He gave the roll of music to Egorin without a word, and at Egorin’s gesture sat down on the stiff hotel sofa, the little boy beside him, both of them nervous, submissive, with their strange, steady, dark eyes. “You see, Mr. Gaye, this is all that matters, after all, eh? This music you bring me. You bring it to me to look at: I want to look at it: so, please excuse me while I do so.” It was his usual speech after he had pried the manuscript away from a shy-talkative one. This one merely nodded. “It’s four songs and p-part of a Mass,” he said in his barely audible voice.


    Otto frowned. He had been saying lately that he had had no idea how many idiots wrote songs until he married a singer. The first he glanced at relieved his suspicions, being a duet for tenor and baritone, and he remembered to smoothe the frown off his forehead. The last of the four caught his attention, a setting of a Goethe lyric. He moved very slightly as he sat at the desk, a mere twitch towards the piano, instantly repressed. No use raising hopes; to play a note of their stuff was to convince them at once that they were Beethoven and would be produced in the capital by Otto Egorin within the month. But it was a real bit of writing, that tune with the clever, yearning, quiet little accompaniment. He went on to the Mass, or rather three fragments of a Mass, a Kyrie, Benedictus, and Sanctus. The writing was neat, rapid, and crowded; music-paper is not cheap, thought Otto, glancing at his visitor’s shoes. At the same time he was hearing a solo tenor voice over a queer racket from organ, trombones, and double-basses, “Benedictus qui venit in nomine Domini”—very queer stuff; but no, there now, just when it’s about to drive you mad it all turns to crystal, so simply, so simply you’d swear it was crystal all along. And the tenor, the poor devil singing double-piano way up there, find me the tenor who can do that and fight off the trombones too. The Sanctus: now, splendid, the trumpet, really splendid—Otto looked up. He had been tapping the side of his hand on the desk, nodding, grinning, muttering. That had blown it. “Come here!” he said angrily. “What’s your name? What’s this?”


    “Ladislas Gaye. The—the— That’s the second trumpet.”


    “Why isn’t it marked? Here, take it, play it!”


    They went through the Sanctus five times. “Planh, pla-anh, planh!” Otto blared, a trumpet. “All right! Why do your basses come in there, one-two-three-four-boom in come the basses like elephants, where does that get you?”


    “Back to the Sanctus, listen, here’s the organ under the tenors,” and the piano roared under Gaye’s husky tenor, “Sabaoth, then the cellos and the elephants, four, Sanctus! Sanctus! Sanctus!”


    He sat back from the piano, Otto took his eyes from the score. The room was silent.


    Otto set straight a drooping red rose in the bouquet on the top of the hired piano. “And where do you expect to have this Mass sung?”


    The composer was silent.


    “Women’s chorus. Double men’s chorus. Full orchestra; brass choir; organ. Well, well. Let me see those songs again. Is this all you’ve written of the Mass?”


    “The Credo isn’t orchestrated yet.”


    “I suppose you’ll throw in double tympani for that? All right, here, where is it, the Goethe. Let me play.” He played through the song twice, then sat twiddling out one of the queer half-spoken phrases of the accompaniment. “It’s first rate, you know,” he said. “Absolutely first rate. What the devil. Are you a pianist? What are you?”


    “A clerk.”


    “A clerk? What kind of clerk? This is your hobby, eh, your amusement in spare time?”


    “No, this is . . . this is what I . . .”


    Otto looked up at the man: short and shabby, white with excitement, inarticulate.


    “I want to know something about you, Gaye! You barge in, ‘I write music,’ you show me a little music, very good. Very good, this song, the Sanctus, the Benedictus too, that’s real work, I want to read it again. But I’ve been shown good writing before. Have you been performed? How old are you?”


    “Thirty.”


    “What else have you written?”


    “Nothing else of any size—”


    “At thirty? Four songs and half a Mass?”


    “I haven’t much time to work.”


    “This is nonsense. Nonsense! You don’t write this kind of thing without practice. Where did you study?”


    “Here, at the Schola Cantorum—till I was nineteen.”


    “With whom? Berdicke, Chey?”


    “Chey and Mme Veserin.”


    “Never heard of her. And this is all you’ll show me?”


    “The rest isn’t good, or isn’t finished—”


    “How old were you when you wrote this song?”


    Gaye hesitated. “Twenty, I think.”


    “Ten years ago! What have you been doing since? You ‘want to write music,’ eh? Well, write it! What else can I say? This is good, absolutely good, and so is that racket with the trombones. You can write music, but, my dear man, what can I do about it? Can I produce four songs and half a Mass by an unknown student of Vaslas Chey? No. You want encouragement, I know. Well, that I give. I encourage you. I encourage you to write more music. Why don’t you?”


    “I realise this is very little,” Gaye brought out stiffly. His face was contorted, one hand was fiddling and pulling at the knot of his tie. Otto was sorry for him and unnerved by him. “Very little, why not make it more?” he said, genial. Gaye looked down at the piano keys, put his hand on them; he was shaking. “You see,” he began, then turned away with a jerk, stooping, hiding his face with his hands, and broke into sobs. Otto sat like a stone on the piano bench. The small boy, forgotten all this time, sitting with his grey-stockinged legs hanging over the edge of the sofa, slipped down and ran to his father; of course he was blubbering too, but he kept pulling at his father’s coat, trying to get at his hand, whispering, “Papa, don’t, papa, please don’t.” Gaye knelt and put his arm around the child. “Sorry, Vasli, don’t worry, it’s all right. . . .” But he was not yet in control of himself. Otto rose with some majesty, and called in his wife’s maid. “Take the laddie, go give him candy, make him happy, eh?” The girl, a calm Swiss who knew all Central Europeans were mad, nodded, ignoring the weeping man, and said, “Come, what’s your name?”


    The child held on to his father.


    “Go with her, Vasli,” Gaye said. The child let her take his hand, and went out with her.


    “You have a fine little boy,” said Otto. “Now, sit down, Gaye. Brandy? A little, eh?” He opened and shut desk drawers, puffed and grunted to himself, put a glass in Gaye’s hand, sat down again at the desk.


    “I can’t—” Gaye began, worn out, at rock bottom.


    “No, you can’t; neither can I; these things happen. You were more surprised than I, perhaps. But listen now, Ladislas Gaye. I have no time for the woes of all the world, I have a great many cares of my own and I’m very busy. But since we’ve come so far, I’d like to know what makes you break down like this.”


    Gaye shook his head. With the submissiveness that had vanished only while they were going through his score, he answered Otto’s questions. He had had to quit the music school when his father died; he now supported his mother, his wife, his three children on his pay as clerk for a plant that made ballbearings and other small steel parts. He had worked there eleven years. Four evenings a week he gave piano lessons, for which they let him use a practice-room at the Schola Cantorum.


    Otto did not find much to say for a while. “The good Lord has seen fit to give you bad luck,” he remarked. Gaye did not reply. Indeed, good or bad luck seemed hardly adequate to describe this kind of solid, persevering mismanagement of the world, from which Ladislas Gaye and most other men suffered, and Otto Egorin, for no clear reason, did not. “Why did you come to see me, Gaye?”


    “I had to. I knew what you’d have to say, that I haven’t written enough. But when I heard you were to be here, I swore to myself I’d see you, I had to. They know me at the Schola, but they’re busy with their students, of course; since Chey died there’s no one who . . . I had to see you. Not for encouragement, but to see a man who lives for music, who arranges half the concerts in the country, who stands for . . . for . . .”


    “For success,” said Otto Egorin. “Yes, I know. I wanted to be a composer. When I was twenty, in Vienna, I used to go look at the house where Mozart lived, I used to go stare at Beethoven’s tomb in the cemetery. I called on Mahler, on Richard Strauss, every composer who came to Vienna. I soaked myself in their success, the dead and the living. They had written music and it was played. Even then, you see, I knew I was not a real composer, and I needed their reality, to make life mean anything at all. That’s not your problem. You need only to be reminded that there is music—eh? That not everyone makes steel ballbearings.”


    Gaye nodded.


    “Is there no one else,” Otto asked abruptly, “to take care of mama?”


    “My sister married a Czech fellow, they live in Prague. . . . And she’s bedridden, my mother.”


    “Yes. And there would still be the wife with the nervous dis­order, and the kids, eh, and the bills, and the steel-ballbearings plant. . . . Well, Gaye, I don’t know. You know, there was Schubert. I often wonder about Schubert, it’s not just you that makes me think of him. Why did God create Franz Schubert? To expiate some other men’s sins? Also, why did he kill the man off the moment he reached the level of the last quintet? —But Schubert didn’t wonder why God had created him. To write music, of course. Du holde Kunst, ich danke dir! Incredible. The little, sickly, ugly crackpot with glasses, scribbling his music like any other crackpot, never hearing it played—Du holde Kunst! How would you say it, ‘thou gracious Art, thou kindly Art’? As if any art were kindly, gracious, gentle! Have you ever thought of throwing it over, Gaye? Not the music. The rest.”


    He met the gaze of the strange, cold, dark eyes and refused to be ashamed, to apologise. Gaye had said that he, Otto Egorin, lived for music. He did. He might be a good bourgeois; he might be very sorry for a poor devil who needed nothing in God’s world but a little cash in order to be a good composer; but he would not apologise to the poor devil’s sick mother and sick wife and three brats. If you live for music you live for music.


    “I’m not made so.”


    “Then you’re not made to write music.”


    “You thought differently when you were reading my Sanctus.”


    “Du lieber Herr Gott!” Otto exploded. He was a great patriot, but his mother and his upbringing had been Viennese and in moments of real emotion he reverted to German. “All right! Did it ever occur to you, my dear young man, that you incur a certain responsibility in writing something like that Sanctus? That you become answerable? That music has no arthritis, no nervous disorders, no hungry potbelly and ‘Papa, papa, I want this, I want that,’ but all the same she depends on you, on you alone? Other men can feed brats and keep sick women. But no other man can write your music!”


    “Yes, I know that.”


    “But you’re not quite sure anyone would undertake to feed the brats and keep the women. Probably they wouldn’t. Doch, doch—you’re too gentle, too gentle, Gaye.” Otto strode up and down the room on his bandy legs, snorting and grimacing.


    “When I finish the Mass may I send it to you?”


    “Yes. Yes, of course. I shall be pleased to see it. When will it be? Ten years from now? ‘Gaye, who the devil’s Gaye, where did I meet him—this is good—a young fellow, he shows promise—’ And you’ll be forty, getting tired, ready for a little arthritis or nervous disorder yourself. Certainly send me your Mass! . . . You have great talent, Gaye, you have great courage, but you’re too gentle, you must not try to write a big work like this Mass. You can’t serve two masters. Write songs, short pieces, something you can think of while you work at this Godforsaken steel plant and write down at night when the rest of the family’s out of the way for five minutes. Write them on anything, unpaid bills, whatever, and send them to me, don’t think you have to pay two and a half kroner a sheet for this fine paper, you can’t afford fine paper—when they’re printed is time to think of that. Send me songs, not ten years from now but a month from now, and if they’re as good as this Goethe song I’ll give you a section on my wife’s program in Krasnoy in December. Write little songs, not impossible Masses. Hugo Wolf, you know—Hugo Wolf wrote only songs, eh?”


    He thought that Gaye, overcome with gratitude, was going to break down again, and though apprehensive he felt pleased with himself, wise, generous: he had made the poor fellow happy and might get something from him, too. The accompaniment to the Goethe song was still running in his head, spare, dry, sorrowful, beautiful. Then Gaye began to speak and Otto realised, slowly, but without real surprise, that it was not gratitude at all. “The Mass is what I’ve got to write, what I have in me. The songs come, sometimes a lot of them together, but I’ve never been able to write them at will, it has to be a good day. But the Mass, and a symphony I’ve been working on, they have size and weight, you see, they carry themselves along over the weeks, and I can always work on them when I have time. I know the Mass is ambitious. But I know all I want to say in it. It will be good. I’ve learned how to do what I must do, you see. I’ve begun it, I have to finish it.”


    Otto had stopped in his pacing back and forth and was watching him with an expression both of incredulity and longsuffering familiarity. “Bah!” he said. “What the devil do you come to me for? And burst into tears? And then tell me thanks very much for your suggestion but I shall continue to attempt the impossible? The arrogance, the unreasonableness—no, I can endure all that—but the stupidity, the absolute stupidity of artists, I cannot stand it any longer!”


    Abashed, submissive, Gaye sat there in his shabby suit; everything about him was shabby, pinched, overstrained and underfed, ground down and worn thin; and Otto knew he could shout at him for two hours and promise him introductions, publication, performances. He would never be heard. Gaye would only say in his inaudible stammer, “I have to write the Mass first. . . .”


    “You read German, eh?”


    “Yes.”


    “All right. After the Mass is finished, then write songs. In German. Or French if you like it, people are used to it, they won’t listen in Vienna or Paris to a lot of songs in a language like ours, or Rumanian or Danish or what have you, it’s a mere curiosity, like folksongs. We want your music heard, so write for the big countries, and remember most singers are idiots. All right?”


    “You’re very kind, Mr. Egorin,” Gaye said, not submissively this time but with a curious formal dignity. He knew that Otto was yielding to his stubborn unreason as he would to that of a great, a famous artist, humoring him, getting round him, when he could as well have stepped on him like a beetle. He knew, in fact, that Otto was defeated.


    “If you’ll put the elephants aside for a very little while, for a few evenings, in order to write something which might conceivably be published, be heard, you see,” Otto was saying, still ironic, exasperated, and deferent, when the door swung open and his wife made an entrance. She swept Gaye’s little son in with her, the Swiss maid followed. The room all at once was full of men, women, children, voices, perfume, jewelry. “Otto, look what I found with Anne Elise! Did you ever see such an enchanter? Look at the eyes, the great, dark, solemn eyes! ‘His name is Vasli, he likes chocolates.’ Such an enchanter, such a little man, did you ever see such a child? How do you do, so glad. You’re Vasli’s—? yes, of course, you are, the eyes! Oh, Christ, what a ghastly hole this town is, I want to leave on the first train after the concert, Otto, I don’t care if it’s three in the morning. I can feel myself beginning to look like all those huge empty stone houses across the river, all eyes, staring, staring, staring, like skulls! Why don’t they tear them down if nobody lives in them? Never again, never again, to hell with the provinces and encouraging national art, I can’t sing in every graveyard in the country, Otto. Anne Elise, draw my bath, please. I’m simply filthy, I must be grey as buckwheat. Are you the Management from Sorg?”


    “I’ve already talked to them on the telephone,” said Otto, knowing that Gaye would be unable to answer. “Mr Gaye is a composer, he writes Masses.” He did not say “songs,” for that would catch Egorina’s attention. He was paying Gaye back a little, giving him an object lesson in practicality. Egorina, uninterested in Masses, talked on. An unceasing flood of words poured from her for twenty-four hours before each concert, and stopped only when she walked out on the stage, tall, magnificent, smiling, to sing. After she had sung she would be quiet, ruminating. She was, Otto said, the most beautiful musical instrument in the world. He had married her because it was the only way to keep her from going on the light-opera stage; stubborn, stupid, and sensitive in proportion to her talent, she dreaded failure and wanted to succeed the sure way. So Otto had married her and made her succeed the hard way, as a lieder-singer. In October she would take her first opera role, Strauss’s Arabella. That probably meant she would talk for six straight weeks beforehand. Otto could bear it. She was very beautiful, and generally good-humored, and anyway one need not listen. She did not care whether one listened so long as one was there, an audience.


    She talked on, the sound of rushing water came from the bathroom, the telephone rang, she began to talk on the telephone. Gaye had not said a word. The child stood beside him, grave as ever; Egorina had forgotten all about Vasli after making her entrance with him, and had been swearing like a sergeant.


    Gaye stood up. Relieved, Otto took him to the door, gave him two passes to Egorina’s recital tomorrow night, shrugged off his thanks—“We’re not sold out, you know! This is a dead town for music.” Behind them Egorina’s voice flooded magnificently on, her laugh broke out like the jet of a great fountain. “Jesus! what do I care what that little Jew says?” she sang out, and again the great, golden laugh. “Gaye,” said Otto Egorin, “you know, there’s one other thing. This is not a good world for music, either. This world now, in 1938. You’re not the only man who wonders, what’s the good? who needs music, who wants it? Who indeed, when Europe is crawling with armies like a corpse with maggots, when Russia uses symphonies to glorify the latest boiler-factory in the Urals, when the function of music has been all summed up in Putzi playing the piano to soothe the Leader’s nerves. By the time your Mass is finished, you know, all the churches may be blown into little pieces, and your men’s chorus will be wearing uniforms and also being blown into little pieces. If not, send it to me, I shall be interested. But I’m not hopeful. I am on the losing side, with you. So is she, my Egorina there, believe it or not. She will never believe it. . . . But music is no good, no use, Gaye. Not any more. Write your songs, write your Mass, it does no harm. I shall go on arranging concerts, it does no harm. But it won’t save us. . . .”


    Ladislas Gaye and his son walked from the hotel to the old bridge over the Ras; their home was in the Old City, the bleak jumbled quarter on the north side of the river. What Foranoy had in the way of wealth and modernity lay south of the river in the New City. It was a warm bright day, late spring; they stopped on the bridge to look at the arches reflecting in the dark water, each with its reflection forming a perfect circle. A barge came through loaded with wadded crates and Vasli, held up by his father so he could see over the stone railing, spat down on one of the crates. “Shame on you,” Ladislas Gaye said without heat. He was happy. He did not care if he had blubbered like a baby in front of Otto Egorin, the great impresario. He did not care if he was tired and this was one of his wife’s bad days and he was already late. He did not care about anything at all, except the child’s small, firm hand in his, and the way the wind out here on the bridge, between city and city, carried away all sound and left one bathed in warm, silent sunlight, and the fact that Otto Egorin knew what he was: a musician. So far, in this one recognition by one man, he was strong and he was free. It went no further than that, his strength and freedom, but it was enough. The trumpet-tune of his Sanctus sang in his head.


    “Papa, why did the big lady have things in her ears and ask if I liked chocolate? Do people not like chocolate?”


    “They were jewels, Vasli. I don’t know.” The trumpet sang on. If only he and the little fellow could stay here awhile, in the sunlight and silence, between city and city, between moment and moment . . . They went on, into the Old City, past the wharves, past the abandoned houses built of stone, up the hill, into the courtyard of their tenement. Vasli broke loose, disappeared into a crowd of children brawling, screaming, swarming in the court. Ladislas Gaye called after him, gave it up, climbed the dark stairs and went down a dark hall on the third floor, let himself in the dark kitchen, the first room of their three-room flat. His wife was peeling potatoes at the kitchen table. She wore a dirty white wrapper, dirty pink chenille mules on her bare feet. “It’s six o’clock, Ladis,” she said without looking round at him.


    “I was in the New City.”


    “Why’d you drag the child so far? Where is he? Where are Tonia and Givana? I called and called them, I’m sure they’re not in the court. Why’d you go so far with the child?”


    “I went to—”


    “My back aches worse than ever, it’s the heat, why is summer so hot here?”


    “Let me do that.”


    “No, I’ll finish. I wish you’d clean those gas vents in the oven, Ladis, I must have asked you fifty times. Now I can’t get it lighted at all, it’s filthy dirty, and I can’t go scraping at it with my back like it is.”


    “All right. Let me change my shirt.”


    “Listen here, Ladis—Ladis! Is Vasli down there in the court in his good clothes? Go down and get him right away, how do you think we can afford to get his good clothes cleaned every time he puts them on? Ladis? Go down and get him! Can you never think of these things? He’s probably filthy dirty already, playing with those big roughnecks around the well!”


    “I’m going, give me time, will you!”


    In September the east wind of autumn rose, blowing past the empty stone houses and down the bright troubled river, blowing scant litter about the city streets, blowing fine dust into people’s eyes and throats as they went home from work. Ladislas Gaye passed a street-orator, a little girl crying loudly as she ran down the steep street, a newspaper kiosk where the headlines said “Mr Neville Chamberlain in Munich,” a big stalled automobile around which a crowd had gathered, a group of young fellows watching a fistfight, a couple of women talking earnestly to each other across the street, one standing on the curb and the other hanging half out of a tenement window, wearing a blue-and-scarlet satin wrapper; he saw and heard it all, and saw and heard nothing. He was very tired. He got home. His young daughters were playing in the court, in the well of shadow four stories deep. He saw them in the swarm of girls shrilling around an areaway, but did not stop. He went up the dark stairs, down the hall, into the kitchen. His wife had been stronger lately, as the weather began to cool, but now she was in a vile temper and ready to weep; little Vasli had been caught with older boys torturing a cat, pouring kerosene over it, they planned to set it afire. “He’s no good, he’s a little beast, how could a child want to do a horrible thing like that?” Vasli was locked in the middle room, screaming with rage. Ladislas Gaye sat down at the kitchen table and put his head in his hands. He felt sick. His wife went on about the child, the other children in the court. “That Mrs Rasse, sticking her head in here without even knocking and saying did I know what my little Vasli was up to, as if her brats were something to be proud of, with their dirty faces and pink eyes like a lot of rabbits. Are you going to do anything about it, Ladis, are you just going to sit there? Do you think I can handle him? Is that the kind of son you want?”


    “What can I do about it? Are we going to have anything to eat tonight? I’ve got a piano lesson at eight, you know. For God’s sake let me sit down a minute, let me have some peace.”


    “Peace! You want peace, what do you care if the child turns into a brute like all the others here! All right, what do I care either if that’s what you want.” She slapped about the kitchen in her pink mules, getting supper.


    “Little children are cruel,” he said. “They don’t know what it means. They find out.”


    She shrugged. Vasli was sobbing now behind the door; he knew his father was home. Presently Ladislas Gaye went into that room, sat with the child in the half-dark. In the third room, where the grandmother lay in bed, dance music blared from the radio; Ladislas had bought it secondhand for her, it was her sole amusement and she never talked now of anything but what she heard on the radio. Vasli clung to his father, not crying any more, worn out. “You mustn’t do anything like that with the other boys, Vasli,” the father murmured at last. “The poor beast is weaker than you, it can’t help itself.”


    The child was silent. All cruelty, all misery, all darkness present and to come hung around them in the dark room. Trombones blared a waltz in the next room. He clung to his father, silent.


    In the thick blaring of the trombones, thick as sweet cough-sirup, Gaye heard for a moment the deep clear thunder of his Sanctus like thunder between the stars, over the edge of the universe—one moment of it, as if the roof of the building had been taken off and he looked up into the complete, enduring darkness, one moment only. The announcer talked, a smooth excited gabble. When Gaye went back to the kitchen he said to his wife, over the shrill voices of the two girls, “The English Prime Minister is in Munich with Hitler.” She did not answer, only set the food down in front of him, soup and potatoes. She was still overwrought and angry. “Eat and don’t talk, you, shameless!” she snapped at Vasli, who had forgotten it all and was squabbling with his sisters.


    As Gaye walked down the hill, across the bridge over the Ras in late dusk, a tune he had written was in his head. It was the last of seven poems he had set, all in a burst, in August; he kept wondering if that was enough to copy out and send to Otto Egorin in Krasnoy. But the last verse of the poem bothered him now, the one that meant, “It is Thou in thy mercy that breakest down over our heads all we build, that we may see the sky: and so I do not complain.” He had muffed that last line; it should go thus—Gaye sang it to himself, sang the whole verse over, heard the accompaniment. There it was, that was it. Pray God his pupil would be late so that he could work it out on the piano at the Schola before the lesson. But it was he who was late. When the lesson was over his head was full of Cle­menti exercises and though the melody was set now he could not get the accompaniment clear; as he had heard it on the bridge it had been purer, more certain. He tried the verse, the whole song, over and over, but the janitor was through cleaning and wanted to close the building. He started home. The wind was strong and cold now, the sky empty, the river black as oil under the arches of the bridge. He stopped there on the bridge a while, but could not hear the music he had heard.


    Back at home he sat down at the kitchen table with the manuscript of the song, but with the weaker version before his eyes and no piano at hand he lost even the mood of the accompaniment he wanted; it was all out of reach. He knew he was too tired to work but nonetheless tried, doggedly, angrily, to hear and to write down. He sat half an hour motionless, never moving his hand. At the other end of the table his wife was mending Tonia’s dress, listening to some program of talk on the grandmother’s radio. He put his hands over his ears. She said something about music, but he did not listen. The total impossibility of writing was a choking weight in him, like a big chunk of rock in his chest. Nothing would ever change, he thought, and in the next moment he felt a relaxation within him, lightness, openness, and certainty, utter certainty. He thought it was his own song, then, raising his head, understood that he was actually hearing this tune. He did not have to write it. It had been written long ago, no one need suffer for it any more. Lehmann was singing it,


    Du holde Kunst, ich danke dir.


    He sat still a long time. Music will not save us, Otto Egorin had said. Not you, or me, or her, the big golden-voiced woman who had no children and wanted none; not Lehmann who sang the song; not Schubert who had written it and was a hundred years dead. What good is music? None, Gaye thought, and that is the point. To the world and its states and armies and factories and Leaders, music says, “You are irrelevant”; and, arrogant and gentle as a god, to the suffering man it says only, “Listen.” For being saved is not the point. Music saves nothing. Merciful, uncaring, it denies and breaks down all the shelters, the houses men build for themselves, that they may see the sky.


    Gaye put away the scribbled, ruled sheets of paper, the little volume of poetry, the pen and ink. He stretched and yawned. “Good night,” he said in his soft voice, and went off to bed.


    1938

  


  
    The House


    


    THE SUNLIGHT of any October lay yellow across her way, and hundreds of dry, golden afternoons rustled under her steps. Only their great age kept the sycamores from being importunate. For blocks she was pursued by the familiarity of shadows, bricks, and balconies. Fountains spoke to her as if she had not been away at all. Eight years she had been gone, and this stupid city had never noticed her absence; its sunlight and the sound of its many waters hung about her like the walls of her own house, her home. Confused and offended, she passed the house at 18 Reyn Street without a glance at its door or garden wall, though something, not her eyes, saw that door and gate were locked. After that, the city began to let her be. Within a block or two it did not know her. The fountains talked to someone else. Now she was differently confused, recognising none of these crossings, not one doorstep or window of the shops and houses. She had to ask her way ignominiously of street-signs and house-numbers, and when she found the place she sought, a tenement with several entrances, she had to enter and inquire at open doors. Rumpled beds, family quarrels and partly buttoned dressing-gowns sent her up to a fourth-floor room, where her knock was answered only by a pencilled card tacked on the door. F.L. PANIN, it said. She looked in. A dormer room, jammed with the hefty sofas and tables of a dismantled house; a stranger’s room, sunny, stuffy, defenseless.


    Across from her was a curtained doorway. She said, “Anybody here?” and was answered from behind the curtain by someone half awake, “Hold on a moment.”


    She held on.


    He came across the room, himself, as wholly himself as the stones and sunlight of the city after these eight years: the reality of her wretched dreams in which he and she stopped at inns on roads leading up into grey mountains and could not find, down cold corridors, each other’s room: the original of all the facsimiles who, in Krasnoy on winter evenings, crossed a street with his walk or looked round with his turn of the head: himself.


    “Sorry, I was asleep.”


    “I’m Mariya.”


    He stood still, and his coat hung on him as on a coatrack. Seeing that, she saw that his hair had gone a kind of dull grey—that his hair was grey. He was thin, grey, changed. She would not have known him if she passed him on the street. They shook hands.


    “Sit down, Mariya,” he said, and they both sat, in large shabby chairs. Across the bare floor between them lay a bar of Aisnar’s unalloyed, inimitable autumn sunlight. “I have the alcove, but the Panins let me use this room while they’re out. They both work the day shift at the GPR.”


    “That’s where you work too—evening shift? I was going to leave a note.”


    “Usually I’d be on the way to work by this time. I’ve had some days off. Flu.”


    She should have expected him not to ask any questions. He disliked answering them, and seldom asked them. It was his self-respect that prevented him, a self-respect so entire that it included all other men and women, accepted them as responsible, exempted them from question. How had he survived so long in this world of the public confessional?


    “I have a two-week holiday,” she said. “I work in Krasnoy, teaching. In the primary schools.”


    It confused her to see his smile on the face of a man she did not know.


    “I’m divorced from Givan.”


    He looked down at the sunlight on the floor. She answered the next question he did not ask—“Four years ago.” Then she took out her cigarettes in self-defense. But she summoned up courage, before laying the smokescreen, to offer him one, reaching out to him across the sunlight: “Smoke?”


    “Yes, thanks.” He looked at the cigarette, smelled it, and leaned forward happily to the flame of her match. He inhaled the smoke and burst into a cough, a hacking, whacking cough, a series of explosions like heavy artillery, the most noise she had ever heard him make in his life. All through it he held on to the cigarette, and when he had got his breath back he took another draw, not inhaling.


    “You shouldn’t smoke,” she said helplessly.


    “Haven’t been,” he said. Sweat stood out on his forehead, even in his hair, which she now saw was only partly grey. Soon he put the cigarette out with care and stowed the unsmoked end in his shirt pocket. This he did with grace and ease, but then he looked at her with apology. She had not been with him during the years when he learned to save cigarette butts, and so might be embarrassed; and she tried to look impassive, knowing how he disliked causing embarrassment.


    The strangers’ room, the furniture of some other house, stood silently around them.


    “Mariya, what did you come here for?” The question, which would have been any other man’s, was not his, nor the voice; only the eyes, clear, frank, and obdurate.


    “To see you. To talk to you, I mean, Pier. It got so that I had to. I’m lonely. I mean, more than that, I’m alone. By myself. Outside. There’s nobody in Krasnoy that I can say anything to, they don’t need me. I used to think, while we were married, you know, that if I were by myself, on my own, I’d find a lot of interesting people, friends, and be on the inside, do you know what I mean? But that was all wrong. You had friends then and I expect you do now. You have a place to stand on when you meet people. I never did, I never made friends. I never have reached another person, except you. I suppose I didn’t really want to reach anybody. But now I do.” She stopped, and with the same horror with which she had heard him cough, heard herself sob loudly. “I can’t stand it very much longer. Everything is falling apart. I’ve lost my nerve.” She went on as fast as she could. “Are people here buying salt? You can’t get salt any more in Krasnoy, people buy it all and save it, they say if you wrap yourself in a sheet soaked in salt water it will cure radiation burns. Is that true? I don’t know. Is everyone here scared? But it’s not just the bombs, there are the other things they talk about, germ warfare, and how there are too many people and more all the time, so soon we’ll all be like rats in a box. And nobody seems to really hope for anything good any more. And then you get older, and you think about dying, and in a time like this it seems so mean and pointless. Living and dying both. It’s like being alone at night in the wind, it just blows right through me. I try to hold myself up and have some dignity, you know, but I can’t believe in it any more, I feel like an ant in a swarm, I can’t do it alone!”


    To spare her or himself he had gone to stand at the window, and with his back still turned he spoke, gently. “Nobody can,” he said. “But you can’t turn back, my dear. Nobody can do that either.”


    “I’m not trying to turn back. Truly I’m not. I’m just trying to meet you, now, here, don’t you see? Here where we are now. Because you’re the only person I ever have met. All the others are on different roads, they live in other houses. Didn’t you ever think I’d have to come back to you?”


    “I never once thought it.”


    “But I never left you, Pier! I only ran away because I knew I belonged to you, and I thought the only way I’d ever be myself was to get free of you. Myself, myself, a lot of good myself was. All I did was run like a stupid bitch till I got to the end of my leash.”


    “Well, leashes have two ends,” he said, leaning forward as if to gaze through the glass at a rooftop, a cloud, a remote grey mountain-peak. “I let go.”


    She tried to smooth her hair, which escaped in fierce tendrils from the knotted braids, red-blonde. Her voice was still shaky, but she said with dignity, “I wasn’t talking about love, Pier.”


    “Then I don’t understand.”


    “I meant loyalty. Taking somebody in as part of your own life. Either you do or you don’t. We did. I was disloyal. You let me go, but you aren’t capable of disloyalty.”


    He came back to the chair facing her and sat down. Now she had the courage to look at him, and made sure that his face had not in fact changed; it had been eroded, erased, by sickness or hard times: not change, only loss.


    “Look, my dear”—that word was most comfortable to Mariya, though she knew it was only the expression of his general kindliness—“look, my dear, no matter how you put it, you’re trying to go back. There’s nothing left to go back to. In any sense.” And he looked at her with that kindness, as if he wished he could soften the facts.


    “What happened? Will you tell me? Not now if you don’t want. Sometime. I talked to Moshe, but I didn’t want to ask questions about you. I came here thinking you still lived in the house in Reyn Street and . . . all the rest.”


    “Well, during the Pentor Government we published some works that got the House into trouble when the R.E.P. came back into force. Bernoy, if you remember him, Bernoy and I were tried that fall. We were in prison up north. They let me out two years ago. But of course I can’t work for the state now in a responsible position, and that cuts out working for the House.” He still called it “the House,” the publishing firm Korre and Sons, which his family had owned and run from 1813 to 1946. When the firm was nationalised he had been kept on as manager. That had been his position when Mariya met him and married him and when she left him, and she had never imagined the chance of his losing it.


    He took the cigarette end out of his shirt pocket, took up a matchbox from a table, then hesitated. “Well, what it amounts to is that where I am now isn’t where I was during our marriage. I’m nowhere in particular, you see. And we’re well out of it. Loyalty really isn’t relevant, at this point.” He lit the cigarette and very cautiously got a mouthful of smoke.


    The table-lamp had a purple, ball-fringed shade to it, something left over from another world. Mariya fiddled with this, tugging at the dusty purple balls as if counting them around the shade. Her face was knotted in a frown. “Well, but where does loyalty count except in a tight place? You sound as if you’d given up, Pier!”


    Silence gave assent.


    “I haven’t been in trouble or in jail, and I have a job, and a room to myself. I’m much better off. But look at me. Like a lost dog. You can at least respect yourself, no matter what they’ve taken from you, but what I’ve lost is just that—self-respect.”


    “You,” he said, suddenly white with anger, “you took away my self-respect eight years ago!”


    This was not true, but she did not blame him for believing it. She persisted: “All right, then neither of us has any, there’s nothing to prevent our meeting.”


    Silence gave no assent.


    Mariya counted off nine cotton balls, then another nine. “What I mean, I ought to say it, Pier, is that I want to see if we can meet again; if I can come to you. Not come back, just come. I could be some help to you, as things are. I was just coming begging, but I didn’t know. . . . I can get transferred to a school here. At least we might find a couple of rooms, and when you’re ill it’s a help to have somebody to look after things. It would be a better arrangement than this, for both of us. It would be more sensible.” Her face began to contract with tears again. She could not keep from crying, and got up to go. Her sleeve caught in the ball-fringed shade and pulled the lamp down with a smash. “Oh I’m sorry I came! I’m sorry!” she cried, picking up the lamp, struggling to refit the shade. He took it from her. “The bulb broke, see, the shade clamps onto the bulb. Don’t cry, Mariya. We’ll have to get a new bulb for it. Please, my dear. It’s all right.”


    “I’ll go get the new bulb. Then I’ll go.”


    “I didn’t say go.” He moved back from her. “I didn’t say come, either. I don’t know what to say. You go off with that bastard Givan Pelle, divorce me, and then come back to tell me loyalty’s the only thing that counts. Does it? Did mine? You told me then that fidelity is a bourgeois pretense invented by married people who haven’t the courage to live free.”


    “I didn’t say that, I repeated it, couldn’t you tell I learned it from Givan!”


    “I don’t care where you learned it, you said it, to me!” He gasped for breath. He looked down at the lampshade askew over the socket, and after a minute said, “All right. Wait.” He sat down, and neither spoke. A golden beam slid imperceptibly up through the air of the room as the sun’s end of it slid down towards the quiet plowlands west of Aisnar. She saw his face through a dust of gold. He had been a handsome man, when they married, fourteen years ago. A handsome, happy man, proud and kind, very good at his work. There had been a splendor to him, a wholeness.


    That was gone. There was no more room in the world for whole people, they took up too much space. What she had done to him was only a part of the general program for cutting him and people like him down to size, for chopping and paring and breaking up, so that in the texture of life nothing large, nothing hard, nothing grand should remain.


    A gilt-framed mirror hung over the clothes-chest, and she went to it to repair her braids. It reflected the brown air of a parlor long ago dispersed, the walls torn down: but in the mirror the blinds were still drawn. Her face was there only as a blur among many silvery plaques of blindness. She looked behind the curtain and saw a kerosene stove, a cot, a couple of packing-boxes serving as pantry and bureau. She looked at the cot and thought of the oaken bedstead in the house in Reyn Street, white sheets open and the white coverlet thrown back, on hot mornings of summer waking to the sound of fountains through windows left open to moonlight and now radiant with sunlight, the white curtains blowing a little; summers of marriage.


    “Ouf,” she sighed, squeezed so flat between past and present that she could not breathe. “There should be some place to go, some direction to things, shouldn’t there. . . . Pier, what happened to Bernoy?”


    “Typhus. In jail.”


    “I remember him with that girl, the one who dropped her pearls in the wine, but they were imitation pearls.”


    “Nina Farbey.”


    “Did they ever marry?”


    “No, he married the eldest Akoste girl. She lives over on the east side now, I see her now and then. They had two boys.” He stood up, rubbing his face, and now came past her to get a necktie and comb from the box by his bed. He made himself neat, peering into the mirror that refused to see him.


    “Listen, Pier, I want to tell you something. A while after we married, Givan told me that one reason he’d wanted to marry me was he knew I couldn’t have children. I don’t know, he said a lot of things like that, they didn’t mean much. But it made me think, it made me see that perhaps that’s really what made me leave you. When I found out I couldn’t have children, after the miscarriage, you know, it didn’t seem so bad. But I kept on feeling lighter and lighter, as if there was nothing to me, I didn’t weigh anything, and it didn’t matter what I did. But you were real, what you did still mattered. Only I didn’t matter at all.”


    “I wish you’d told me that.”


    “I didn’t know it then.”


    “Come, let’s go on.”


    “I’ll go; it’s cold. Is there a shop near?”


    “I want to get out.” They went down the rattling stairs. At the first breath outside he gasped like a diver into a mountain lake and fired off a short volley of his coughs, but then went on all right. They walked fast because it was cold and because the cold and the golden light and blocks of blue shadow exhilarated them. “How is so-and-so,” she asked of various old acquaintances, and he told her. He had not slipped out of the net of friendship, acquaintance, alliance by blood, marriage, work, or temperament, woven over a hundred and thirty years by his family and their House, secured by his status in a provincial city, and enlarged by his own sociable character. She had thought of herself as one born for few, passionate friendships, out of place at the polite and cheerful dinner-tables and firesides of his life. Now she thought she had not been out of place, only envious. She had begrudged him to his friends, she had envied the gifts he gave them: his courtesy, his kindness, his affection. She had envied him his competence and pleasure in the act of living.


    They went into a hardware shop and he asked for a forty-watt light bulb. While the man was finding it and filling out the Government sales forms for it, Mariya got the money ready. Pier had already put money on the counter.


    “I broke it,” she said in an undertone.


    “You’re a visitor. It’s my lamp.”


    “No it’s not, it’s the Panins’.”


    “Here you are,” he said gracefully, and the man took his money. Cheered by this victory, he asked as they left the shop, “Did you come by Reyn Street?”


    “Yes.”


    He smiled; his face was vivid, the low sun shining full on it. “Did you look at the house?”


    “No.”


    “I knew you hadn’t!” The reddish light kindled him like a match. “Come along, let’s go look at it. It hasn’t changed at all. Would you like to?—if you don’t, please say so. I couldn’t go past it, when I first got back.” They were now walking back together the way she had come alone. “That, of course,” he went on quite light-heartedly, “is my reef, my undoing. Yours is isolation. Mine’s owning. Love of place. Love of one place. People are not really important to me, you know, as they are to you. But after a while I saw the trick, the point, just as you did; it’s the same thing, loyalty. I mean, ownership and loyalty don’t actually depend on each other. You lose the place, but you keep the loyalty. Now I like to go by the house. They used it for a Government office for a while, printing forms or something, I’m not sure what it’s used for now.”


    They were soon walking on the dry leaves of sycamores between the walls of gardens and the calm, ornate fronts of old houses. The wind of the autumn evening smelled very sweet. They stopped and looked at the house at 18 Reyn Street: a gold stucco front; an iron balcony over the door that opened straight onto the street; a high, beautiful window to either side of the door, and three windows above. A crab-apple tree leaned over the wall of the garden. In spring the windows of the east bedrooms opened on the froth and spume of its flowering. In the square before the house a fountain played in a shallow basin, and standing near the gate in the wall they heard the small babbling reply of the little naiad-fountain in the garden. When the windows were open in summer the murmur of water filled the house. Against the locked door, the locked gate, the drawn blinds, she remembered open windows filled with moonlight, sunlight, leaves, the sound of water and of voices.


    “Property is theft,” Pier Korre said dreamily, looking at his house.


    “It looks empty. All the blinds are drawn.”


    “Yes, it does. Well, come along.”


    After a block or two she said, “Nothing leads anywhere. We come and stand in the street like tourists. Your family built it, you were born in it, we lived in it. Years and years. Not just our years, all the years. All broken off. It’s all in pieces.”


    While they walked, separated sometimes by a hurrying man or an old woman pushing a barrow-load of firewood, as the narrow streets of Aisnar filled up with people coming from work, she kept talking to him. “It’s not just human isolation, loneliness, that I can’t stand any more. It’s that nothing holds together, everything is broken off, broken up—people, years, events. All in pieces, fragments, not linked together. Nothing weighs anything any more. You start from nothing, and so it doesn’t matter which way you go. But it must matter.”


    Avoiding a pushcart of onions, he said either, “It should,” or, “It doesn’t.”


    “It does. It must. That’s why I’m back here. We had a way to go, isn’t that true? That’s what marriage is, it means making a journey together, night and day. I was afraid of going ahead, I thought I’d get lost, my precious self, you know. So I ran off. But I couldn’t, there was nowhere else to go. There’s only one way. At twenty-one I married you and here it is fourteen years and two divorces later and I’m still your wife. I always was. Everything I ever did since I was twenty has been done for you, or to you, or with you, or against you. Nobody else counted except in comparison, or relation, or opposition to you. You’re the house to which I come home. Whether the doors are open or locked.”


    He walked along beside her, silent.


    “Can I stay here, Pier?”


    His voice hardly freed itself from the jumble of voices and noises in the street: “There are no doors. No house left.”


    His face was tired and angry; he did not look at her. They reached his tenement and climbed the stairs and came into the Panins’ flat.


    “We could find something better than this,” she said with timidity. “Some privacy . . .”


    The room was dusky, the window a square of void evening sky, without color. He sat down on the sofa. She put the new bulb in the socket, fixed the ball-fringed shade on it, switched it on and off again. Pier’s body as he sat awkwardly relaxed, stripped of all grace and of the substance that holds a man down heavy on the earth, was like a shadow among the shadows. She sat down on the floor beside him. After a while she took his hand. They sat in silence; and the silence between them was heavy, was present, it had a long past, and a future, it was like a long road walked at evening.


    People came heavy-footed into the room, switching on the lamp, speaking, staring: an ugly, innocent-looking couple in their twenties, he lank, she pregnant. Mariya jumped up smoothing her braids. Pier got up. “The Panins, Mariya,” he said. “Martin, Anna, this is Mariya Korre. My wife.”
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    The Lady of Moge


    


    THEY MET ONCE when they were both nineteen, and again when they were twenty-three. That they met only once after that, and long after, was Andre’s fault. It was not the kind of fault one would have expected of him, seeing him at nineteen years old, a boy poised above his destiny like a hawk. One saw the eyes, the hawk-eyes, clear, unblinking, fierce. Only when they were closed in sleep did anyone ever see his face, beautiful and passive, the face of the hero. For heroes do not make history—that is the historians’ job—but, passive, let themselves be borne along, swept up to the crest of the tide of change, of chance, of war.


    She was Isabella Oriana Mogeskar, daughter of the Counts of Helle and the Princes of Moge. She was a princess, and lived in a castle on a hill above the Molsen River. Young Andre Kalinskar was coming to seek her hand in marriage. The Kalinskar family coach rolled for half an hour through the domains of Moge, came through a walled town and up a steep fortified hill, passed under a gateway six feet thick, and stopped before the castle. The high wall was made splendid by an infinite tracery of red vines, for it was autumn; the chestnut trees of the forecourt were flawless gold. Over the golden trees, over the towers, stood the faint, clear, windy sky of late October. Andre looked about him with interest. He did not blink.


    In the windowless ground-floor hall of the castle, among saddles and muskets and hunting, riding, fighting gear the two old companions-at-arms, Andre’s father and Prince Mogeskar, embraced. Upstairs where windows looked out to the river and the rooms were furnished with the comforts of peace, the Princess Isabella greeted them. Reddish-fair, with a long, calm, comely face and grey-blue eyes—Autumn as a young girl—she was tall, taller than Andre. When he straightened from his bow to her he straightened farther than usual, but the difference remained at least an inch.


    They were eighteen at table that night, guests, dependents, and the Mogeskars: Isabella, her father, and her two brothers. George, a cheerful fifteen-year-old, talked hunting with Andre; the older brother and heir, Brant, glanced at him a couple of times, listened to him once, and then turned his fair head away, satisfied: his sister would not stoop to this Kalinskar fellow. Andre set his teeth, and, in order not to look at Brant, looked at his mother, who was talking with the Princess Isabella. He saw them both glance at him, as if they had been speaking of him. In his mother’s eyes he saw, as usual, pride and irony, in the girl’s—what? Not scorn; not approval. She simply saw him. She saw him clearly. It was exhilarating. He felt for the first time that esteem might be a motive quite as powerful as desire.


    Late the next afternoon, leaving his father and his host to fight old battles, he went up to the roof of the castle and stood near the round tower to look out over the Molsen and the hills in the dying, windy, golden light. She came to him through the wind, across the stone. She spoke without greeting, as to a friend. “I’ve been wanting to talk with you.”


    Her beauty, like the golden weather, cheered his heart, made him both bold and calm. “And I with you, princess!”


    “I think you’re a generous man,” she said. There was a pleasant husky tone, almost guttural, in her light voice. He bowed a little, and compliments pranced through his mind, but something prompted him to say only, “Why?”


    “It’s quite plain to see,” she replied, impatient. “May I speak to you as one man to another?”


    “As one man—?”


    “Dom Andre, when I first met you yesterday, I thought, ‘I have met a friend at last.’ Was I right?”


    Did she plead, or challenge? He was moved. He said, “You were right.”


    “Then may I ask you, my friend, not to try to marry me? I don’t intend to marry.”


    There was a long silence.


    “I shall do as you wish, princess.”


    “And without arguing!” cried the girl, all at once alight, aflame. “Oh, I knew you were a friend! Please, Dom Andre, don’t feel sad or foolish. I refused the others without even thinking about it. With you, I had to think. You see, if I refuse to marry, my father will send me to the convent. So I can’t refuse to marry, I can only refuse each suitor. You see?” He did; though if she had given him time to think, he would have thought that she must in the end accept either marriage or the convent, being, after all, a girl. But she did not give him time to think. “So the suitors keep coming; and it’s like Princess Ranya, in the tale, you know, with her three questions, and all the young men’s heads stuck on poles around the palace. It is so cruel and wearisome. . . .” She sighed, and leaning on the parapet beside Andre looked out over the golden world, smiling, inexplicable, comradely.


    “I wish you’d ask me the three questions,” he said, wistful.


    “I have no questions. I have nothing to ask.”


    “Nothing to ask that I could give you, to be sure.”


    “Ah, you’ve already given me what I asked of you—not to ask me!”


    He nodded. He would not seek her reasons; his rebuffed pride, and a sense of her vulnerability, forbade it. And so in her sweet perversity she gave them to him. “What I want, Dom Andre, is to be left alone. To live my life, my own life. At least till I’ve found out . . . The one thing I have questions to ask of, is myself. To live my own life, to find out my own way, am I too weak to do that? I was born in this castle, my people have been lords here for a long time, one gets used to it. Look at the walls, you can see why Moge has been attacked but never taken. Ah, one’s life could be so splendid, God knows what might happen! Isn’t it true, Dom Andre? One mustn’t choose too soon. If I marry I know what will happen, what I’ll do, what I’ll be. And I don’t want to know. I want nothing, except my freedom.”


    “I think,” Andre said with a sense of discovery, “most women marry to get their freedom.”


    “Then they want less than I do. There’s something inside me, in my heart, a brightness and a heaviness, how can I describe it? Something that exists and does not yet exist, which is mine to carry, and not mine to give up to any man.”


    Did she speak, Andre wondered, of her virginity or of her destiny? She was very strange, but it was a princely and a touching strangeness. In all she said, however arrogant and naïve, she was most estimable; and though desire was forbidden, she had reached straight into him to his tenderness, the first woman who had ever done so. She stood there quite alone, within him, as she stood beside him and alone.


    “Does your brother know your mind?”


    “Brant? No. My father is gentle; Brant is not. When my father dies, Brant will force me to marry.”


    “Then you have no one . . .”


    “I have you,” she said smiling. “Which means that I have to send you away. But a friend is a friend, near or far.”


    “Near or far, call to me if you need a friend, princess. I will come.” He spoke with a sudden dignity of passion, vowing to her, as a man when very young will vow himself entirely to the rarest and most imperilled thing he has beheld. She looked at him, shaken from her gentle, careless pride, and he took her hand, having earned the right. Beyond them the river ran red under the sunset. “I will,” she said. “I was never grateful to a man before, Dom Andre.”


    He left her, full of exaltation; but when he got to his room he sat down, feeling suddenly very tired, and blinking often, as if on the point of tears.


    That was their first meeting, in the wind and golden light on the top of the world, at nineteen. The Kalinskars went back home. Four years passed, in the second of which, 1640, began the civil struggle for succession known as the War of the Three Kings.


    Like most petty noble families the Kalinskars sided with Duke Givan Sovenskar in his claim to the throne. Andre took arms in his troops; by 1643, when they were fighting town by town down through the Molsen Province to Krasnoy, Andre was a field-captain. To him, while Sovenskar pushed on to the capital to be crowned, was entrusted the siege of the last stronghold of the Loyalists east of the river, the town and castle of Moge. So on a June day Andre lay, chin on folded arms, on the rough grass of a hilltop, gazing across a valley at the slate roofs of the town, the walls rising from a surf of chestnut leaves, the round tower, the shining river beyond.


    “Captain, where do you want the culverins placed?”


    The old prince was dead, and Brant Mogeskar had been killed in March, in the east. Had King Gulhelm sent troops across the river to the defense of his defenders, his rival might not be riding now to Krasnoy to be crowned; but no help had come, and the Mogeskars were besieged now in their own castle. Surrender they would not. Andre’s lieutenant, who had arrived some days before him with the light troops, had requested a parley with George Mogeskar; but he had not even seen the prince. He had been received by the princess, he said, a handsome girl, but hard as iron. She had refused to parley: “Mogeskar does not bargain. If you lay siege we shall hold the castle. If you follow the Pretender we shall wait here for the King.”


    Andre lay gazing at the tawny walls. “Well, Soten, the problem’s this: do we take the town first, or the castle?”


    But that was not the problem at all. The problem was much crueller than that.


    Lieutenant Soten sat down by him and puffed out his round cheeks. “Castle,” he said. “Lose weeks taking that town, and then still have the castle to breach.”


    “Breach that—with the guns we’ve got? Once we’re in the town, they’ll accept terms in the castle.”


    “Captain, that woman in there isn’t going to accept any terms.”


    “How do you know?”


    “I’ve seen her!”


    “So have I,” said Andre. “We’ll set the culverins there, at the south wall of the town. We’ll begin bombardment tomorrow at dawn. We were asked to take the fort as it stands. It’ll have to be at the cost of the town. They give us no choice.” He spoke grimly, but was in his heart elated. He would give her every chance: the chance to withdraw from the hopeless fight and the chance, also, to prove herself, to use the courage she had felt heavy and shining in her breast, like a sword lying secret in its sheath.


    He had been a worthy suitor, a man of her own mettle, and had been rejected. Fair enough. She did not want a lover, but an enemy; and he would be a worthy, an estimable one. He wondered if she yet knew his name, if someone had said, “Field-captain Kalinskar is leading them,” and she had replied in her lordly, gentle, unheeding way, “Andre Kalinskar?”—frowning perhaps to learn that he had joined the Duke against the King, and yet not displeased, not sorry to have him as her foe.


    They took the town, at the cost of three weeks and many lives. Later when Kalinskar was Marshal of the Royal Army he would say when drunk, “I can take any town. I took Moge.” The walls were ingeniously fortified, the castle arsenal seemed inexhaustible, and the defenders fought with terrible spirit and patience. They withstood shelling and assaults, put out fires barehanded, ate air, in the last extremity fought face to face, house after house, from the town gate up to the castle scarp; and when taken prisoner they said, “It’s her.”


    He had not seen her yet. He had feared to see her in the thick of that carnage in the narrow, ruined streets. From them at evening he kept looking up to the battlements a hundred feet above, the smoking cannon-emplacements, the round tower tawny red in sunset, the untouched castle.


    “Wonder how we could get a match into the powder-store,” said Lieutenant Soten, puffing his cheeks out cheerfully. His captain turned on him, his hawk-eyes red and swollen with smoke and weariness: “I’m taking Moge as it stands! Blow up the best fort in the country, would you, because you’re tired of fighting? By God I’ll teach you respect, Lieutenant!” Respect for what, or whom? Soten wondered, but held his tongue. As far as he was concerned, Kalinskar was the finest officer in the army, and he was quite content to follow him, into madness, or wherever. They were all mad with the fighting, with fatigue, with the glaring, grilling heat and dust of summer.


    They bombarded and made assaults at all hours, to keep the defenders from rest. In the dark of early morning Andre was leading a troop up to a partial breach they had made by mining the outer wall, when a foray from the castle met them. They fought with swords there in the darkness under the wall. It was a confused and ineffectual scrap, and Andre was calling his men together to retreat when he became aware that he had dropped his sword. He groped for it. For some reason his hands would not grasp, but slid stupidly among clods and rocks. Something cold and grainy pressed against his face: the earth. He opened his eyes very wide, and saw darkness.


    


    Two cows grazed in the inner courtyard, the last of the great herds of Moge. At five in the morning a cup of milk was brought to the princess in her room, as usual, and a little while later the captain of the fort came as usual to give her the night’s news. The news was the same as ever and Isabella paid little heed. She was calculating when King Gulhelm’s forces might arrive, if her messenger had got to him. It could not be sooner than ten days. Ten days was a long time. It was only three days now since the town had fallen, and that seemed quite remote, an event from last year, from history. However, they could hold out ten days, even two weeks, if they had to. Surely the King would send them help.


    “They’ll send a messenger to ask about him,” Breye was saying.


    “Him?” She turned her heavy look on the captain.


    “The field-captain.”


    “What field-captain?”


    “I was telling you, princess. The foray took him prisoner this morning.”


    “A prisoner? Bring him here at once!”


    “He’s got a sabre-cut on the head, princess.”


    “Can he speak? I’ll go to him. What’s his name?”


    “Kalinskar.”


    She followed Breye through gilt bedrooms where muskets were stacked on the beds, down a long parqueted corridor that crunched underfoot with crystal from the shattered candle-sconces, to the ballroom on the east side, now a hospital. Oaken bedsteads, pillared and canopied, their curtains open and awry, stood about on the sweep of floor like stray ships in a harbor after storm. The prisoner was asleep. She sat down by him and looked at his face, a dark face, serene, passive. Something within her grieved; not her will, which was resolute; but she was tired, mortally tired and grieved, as she sat looking at her enemy. He moved a little and opened his eyes. She recognised him then.


    After a long time she said, “Dom Andre.”


    He smiled a little, and said something inaudible.


    “The surgeon says your wound is not serious. Have you been leading the siege?”


    “Yes,” he said, quite clearly.


    “From the start?”


    “Yes.”


    She looked up at the shuttered windows which let in only a dim hint of the hot July sunlight.


    “You’re our first prisoner. What news of the country?”


    “Givan Sovenskar was crowned in Krasnoy on the first. Gulhelm is still in Aisnar.”


    “You don’t bring good news, captain,” she said softly, with indifference. She glanced round the other beds down the great room, and motioned Breye to stand back. It irked her that they could not speak alone. But she found nothing to say.


    “Are you alone here, princess?”


    He had asked her a question like that the other time, up on the rooftop in the sunset.


    “Brant is dead,” she answered.


    “I know. But the younger brother . . . I hunted with him in the marshes, that time.”


    “George is here now. He was at the defense of Kastre. A mortar blew up. It blinded him. Did you lead the siege at Kastre, too?”


    “No. I fought there.”


    She met his eyes, only for a moment.


    “I’m sorry for this,” she said. “For George. For myself. For you, who swore to be my friend.”


    “Are you? I’m not. I’ve done what I could. I’ve served your glory. You know that even my own soldiers sing songs about you, about the Lady of Moge, like an archangel on the castle walls. In Krasnoy they talk about you, they sing the songs. Now they can say that you took me prisoner, too. They talk of you with wonder. Your enemies rejoice in you. You’ve won your freedom. You have been yourself.” He spoke quickly, but when he stopped and shut his eyes a moment to rest, his face looked still again, youthful. Isabella sat for a minute saying nothing, then suddenly got up and went out of the room with the hurrying, awkward gait of a girl in distress, graceless in her heavy, powder-stained dress.


    Andre found that she was gone, replaced by the old captain of the fort, who stood looking down at him with hatred and curiosity.


    “I admire her as much as you do!” he said to Breye. “More, more even than you here in the castle. More than anyone. For four years—” But Breye too was gone. “Get me some water to drink!” he said furiously, and then lay silent, staring at the ceiling. A roar and shudder—what was it?—then three dull thuds, deep and shocking like the pain in the root of a tooth; then another roar, shaking the bed—he understood finally that this was the bombardment, heard from inside. Soten was carrying out orders. “Stop it,” he said, as the hideous racket went on and on. “Stop it. I need to sleep. Stop it, Soten! Cease firing!”


    When he woke free of delirium it was night. A person was sitting near the head of his bed. Between him and the chair a candle burned; beyond the yellow globe of light about the candle-flame he could see a man’s hand and sleeve. “Who’s there?” he asked uneasily. The man rose and showed him in the full light of the candle a face destroyed. Nothing was left of the features but mouth and chin. These were delicate, the mouth and chin of a boy of about nineteen. The rest was newly healed scar.


    “I’m George Mogeskar. Can you understand me?”


    “Yes,” Andre replied from a constricted throat.


    “Can you sit up to write? I can hold the paper for you.”


    “What should I write?”


    They both spoke very low.


    “I wish to surrender my castle,” Mogeskar said. “But I wish my sister to be gone, out of here, to go free. After that I shall give up the fort to you. Do you agree?”


    “I—wait—”


    “Write your lieutenant. Tell him that I will surrender on this one condition. I know Sovenskar wants this fort. Tell him that if she is detained, I shall blow the fort, and you, and myself, and her, into dust. You see, I have nothing much to lose, myself.” The boy’s voice was level, but a little husky. He spoke slowly and with absolute definiteness.


    “The . . . the condition is just,” Andre said.


    Mogeskar brought an inkwell into the light, felt for its top, dipped the pen, gave pen and paper to Andre, who had managed to get himself half sitting up. When the pen had been scratching on the paper for a minute, Mogeskar said, “I remember you, Kalinskar. We went hunting in the long marsh. You were a good shot.”


    Andre glanced at him. He kept expecting the boy to lift off that unspeakable mask and show his face. “When will the princess leave? Shall my lieutenant give her escort across the river?”


    “Tomorrow night at eleven. Four men of ours will go with her. One will come back to warrant her escape. It seems the grace of God that you led this siege, Kalinskar. I remember you, I trust you.” His voice was like hers, light and arrogant, with that same husky note. “You can trust your lieutenant, I hope, to keep this secret.”


    Andre rubbed his head, which ached; the words he had written jiggled and writhed on the paper. “Secret? You wish this—these terms to be kept—you want her escape to be made secretly?”


    “Do you think I wish it said that I sold her courage to buy my safety? Do you think she’d go if she knew what I am giving for her freedom? She thinks she’s going to beg aid from King Gulhelm, while I hold out here!”


    “Prince, she will never forgive—”


    “It’s not her forgiveness I want, but her life. She’s the last of us. If she stays here, she’ll see to it that when you finally take the castle she is killed. I am trading Moge Castle, and her trust in me, against her life.”


    “I’m sorry, prince,” Andre said; his voice quavered with tears. “I didn’t understand. My head’s not very clear.” He dipped the pen in the inkwell the blind man held, wrote another sentence, then blew on the paper, folded it, put it in the prince’s hand.


    “May I see her before she goes?”


    “I don’t think she’ll come to you, Kalinskar. She is afraid of you. She doesn’t know that it’s I who will betray her.” Moge­skar put out his hand into his unbroken darkness; Andre took it. He watched the tall, lean, boyish figure go hesitatingly off into the dark. The candle burned on at the bedside, the only light in the high, long room. Andre lay staring at the golden, pulsing sphere of light around the flame.


    Two days later Moge Castle was surrendered to its besiegers, while its lady, unknowing and hopeful, rode on across the neutral lands westward to Aisnar.


    


    And they met the third and last time, only by chance. Andre had not availed himself of Prince George Mogeskar’s invitation to stop at the castle on his way to the border war in ’47. To avoid the site of his first notable victory, to refuse a proud and grateful ex-enemy, was unlike him, suggesting either fear or a bad conscience, in neither of which did he much indulge himself. Nonetheless, he did not go to Moge. It was thirty-seven years later, at a winter ball in Count Alexis Helleskar’s house in Krasnoy, that somebody took his arm and said, “Princess, let me present Marshall Kalinskar. The Princess Isabella Proyed­skar.”


    He made his usual deep bow, straightened up, and straightened up still more, for the woman was taller than he by an inch at least. Her grey hair was piled into the complex rings and puffs of the current fashion. The panels of her gown were embroidered with arabesques of seedpearls. Out of a broad, pale face her blue-grey eyes looked straight at him, an inexplicable, comradely gaze. She was smiling. “I know Dom Andre,” she said.


    “Princess,” he muttered, appalled.


    She had got heavy; she was a big woman now, imposing, firmly planted. As for him, he was skin and bone, and lame in the right leg.


    “My youngest daughter, Oriana.” The girl of seventeen or eighteen curtsied, looking curiously at the hero, the man who in three wars, in thirty years of fighting, had forced a broken country back into one piece, and earned himself a simple and unquestionable fame. What a skinny little old man, said the girl’s eyes.


    “Your brother, princess—”


    “George died many years ago, Dom Andre. My cousin Enrike is lord of Moge now. But tell me, are you married? I know of you only what all the world knows. It’s been so long, Dom Andre, twice this child’s age. . . .” Her voice was maternal, plaintive. The arrogance, the lightness were gone, even the huskiness of passion and of fear. She did not fear him now. She did not fear anything. Married, a mother, a grandmother, her day over, a sheath with the sword drawn, a castle taken, no man’s enemy.


    “I married, princess. My wife died in childbirth, while I was in the field. Many years ago.” He spoke harshly.


    She replied, banal, plaintive, “Ah, but how sad life is, Dom Andre!”


    “You wouldn’t have said that on the walls of Moge,” he said, still more harshly, for it galled his heart to see her like this. She looked at him with her blue-grey eyes, impassive, simply seeing him.


    “No,” she said, “that’s true. And if I had been allowed to die on the walls of Moge, I should have died believing that life held great terror and great joy.”


    “It does, princess!” said Andre Kalinskar, lifting his dark face to her, a man unabated and unfulfilled. She only smiled and said in her level, maternal voice, “For you, perhaps.”


    Other guests came up and she spoke to them, smiling. Andre stood aside, looking ill and glum, thinking how right he had been never to go back to Moge. He had been able to believe himself an honest man. He had remembered, faithfully, joyfully, for forty years, the red vines of October, the hot blue evenings of midsummer in the siege. And now he knew that he had betrayed all that, and lost the thing worth having, after all. Passive, heroic, he had given himself wholly to his life; but the gift he had owed her, the soldier’s one gift, was death; and he had withheld it. He had refused her. And now, at sixty, after all the days, wars, years, countrysides of his life, now he had to turn back and see that he had lost it all, had fought for nothing, that there was no princess in the castle.


    1640

  


  
    Imaginary Countries


    


    “WE CAN’T DRIVE to the river on Sunday,” the baron said, “because we’re leaving on Friday.” The two little ones gazed at him across the breakfast table. Zida said, “Marmalade, please,” but Paul, a year older, found in a remote, disused part of his memory a darker dining-room from the windows of which one saw rain falling. “Back to the city?” he asked. His father nodded. And at the nod the sunlit hill outside these windows changed entirely, facing north now instead of south. That day red and yellow ran through the woods like fire, grapes swelled fat on the heavy vines, and the clear, fierce, fenced fields of August stretched themselves out, patient and unboundaried, into the haze of September. Next day Paul knew the moment he woke that it was autumn, and Wednesday. “This is Wednesday,” he told Zida, “tomorrow’s Thursday, and then Friday when we leave.”


    “I’m not going to,” she replied with indifference, and went off to the Little Woods to work on her unicorn trap. It was made of an egg-crate and many little bits of cloth, with various kinds of bait. She had been making it ever since they found the tracks, and Paul doubted if she would catch even a squirrel in it. He, aware of time and season, ran full speed to the High Cliff to finish the tunnel there before they had to go back to the city.


    Inside the house the baroness’s voice dipped like a swallow down the attic stairs. “O Rosa! Where is the blue trunk then?” And Rosa not answering, she followed her voice, pursuing it and Rosa and the lost trunk down stairs and ever farther hallways to a joyful reunion at the cellar door. Then from his study the baron heard Tomas and the trunk come grunting upward step by step, while Rosa and the baroness began to empty the children’s closets, carrying off little loads of shirts and dresses like delicate, methodical thieves. “What are you doing?” Zida asked sternly, having come back for a coat-hanger in which the unicorn might entangle his hoof. “Packing,” said the maid. “Not my things,” Zida ordered, and departed. Rosa continued rifling her closet. In his study the baron read on undisturbed except by a sense of regret which rose perhaps from the sound of his wife’s sweet, distant voice, perhaps from the quality of the sunlight falling across his desk from the uncurtained window.


    In another room his older son Stanislas put a microscope, a tennis racket, and a box full of rocks with their labels coming unstuck into his suitcase, then gave it up. A notebook in his pocket, he went down the cool red halls and stairs, out the door into the vast and sudden sunlight of the yard. Josef, reading under the Four Elms, said, “Where are you off to? It’s hot.” There was no time for stopping and talking. “Back soon,” Stanislas replied politely and went on, up the road in dust and sunlight, past the High Cliff where his half-brother Paul was digging. He stopped to survey the engineering. Roads metalled with white clay zigzagged over the cliff-face. The Citroen and the Rolls were parked near a bridge spanning an erosion-gully. A tunnel had been pierced and was in process of enlargement. “Good tunnel,” Stanislas said. Radiant and filthy, the engineer replied, “It’ll be ready to drive through this evening, you want to come to the ceremony?” Stanislas nodded, and went on. His road led up a long, high hillslope, but he soon turned from it and, leaping the ditch, entered his kingdom and the kingdom of the trees. Within a few steps all dust and bright light were gone. Leaves overhead and underfoot; an air like green water through which birds swam and the dark trunks rose lifting their burdens, their crowns, towards the other element, the sky. Stanislas went first to the Oak and stretched his arms out, straining to reach a quarter of the way around the trunk. His chest and cheek were pressed against the harsh, scored bark; the smell of it and its shelf-fungi and moss was in his nostrils and the darkness of it in his eyes. It was a bigger thing than he could ever hold. It was very old, and alive, and did not know that he was there. Smiling, he went on quietly, a notebook full of maps in his pocket, among the trees towards yet-uncharted regions of his land.


    Josef Brone, who had spent the summer assisting his professor with documentation of the history of the Ten Provinces in the Early Middle Ages, sat uneasily reading in the shade of elms. Country wind blew across the pages, across his lips. He looked up from the Latin chronicle of a battle lost nine hundred years ago to the roofs of the house called Asgard. Square as a box, with a sediment of porches, sheds, and stables, and square to the compass, the house stood in its flat yard; after a while in all directions the fields rose up slowly, turning into hills, and behind them were higher hills, and behind them sky. It was like a white box in a blue and yellow bowl, and Josef, fresh from college and intent upon the Jesuit seminary he would enter in the fall, ready to read documents and make abstracts and copy references, had been embarrassed to find that the baron’s family called the place after the home of the northern gods. But this no longer troubled him. So much had happened here that he had not expected, and so little seemed to have been finished. The history was years from completion. In three months he had never found out where Stanislas went, alone, up the road. They were leaving on Friday. Now or never. He got up and followed the boy. The road passed a ten-foot bank, halfway up which clung the little boy Paul, digging in the dirt with his fingers, making a noise in his throat: rrrm, rrrrm. A couple of toy cars lay at the foot of the bank. Josef followed the road on up the hill and presently began expecting to reach the top, from which he would see where Stanislas had gone. A farm came into sight and went out of sight, the road climbed, a lark went up singing as if very near the sun; but there was no top. The only way to go downhill on this road was to turn around. He did so. As he neared the woods above Asgard a boy leapt out onto the road, quick as a hawk’s shadow. Josef called his name, and they met in the white glare of dust. “Where have you been?” asked Josef, sweating. —“In the Great Woods,” Stanislas answered, “that grove there.” Behind him the trees gathered thick and dark. “Is it cool in there?” Josef asked wistfully. “What do you do in there?” —“Oh, I map trails. Just for the fun of it. It’s bigger than it looks.” Stanislas hesitated, then added, “You haven’t been in it? You might like to see the Oak.” Josef followed him over the ditch and through the close green air to the Oak. It was the biggest tree he had ever seen; he had not seen very many. “I suppose it’s very old,” he said, looking up puzzled at the reach of branches, galaxy after galaxy of green leaves without end. “Oh, a century or two or three or six,” said the boy, “see if you can reach around it!” Josef spread out his arms and strained, trying vainly to keep his cheek off the rough bark. “It takes four men to reach around it,” Stanislas said. “I call it Yggdrasil. You know. Only of course Yggdrasil was an ash, not an oak. Want to see Loki’s Grove?” The road and the hot white sunlight were gone entirely. The young man followed his guide farther into the maze and game of names which was also a real forest: trees, still air, earth. Under tall grey alders above a dry streambed they discussed the tale of the death of Baldur, and Stanislas pointed out to Josef the dark clots, high in the boughs of lesser oaks, of mistletoe. They left the woods and went down the road towards Asgard. Josef walked along stiffly in the dark suit he had bought for his last year at the University, in his pocket a book in a dead language. Sweat ran down his face, he felt very happy. Though he had no maps and was rather late arriving, at least he had walked once through the forest. They passed Paul still burrowing, ignoring the clang of the iron triangle down at the house, which signalled meals, fires, lost children, and other noteworthy events. “Come on, lunch!” Stanislas ordered. Paul slid down the bank and they proceeded, seven, fourteen and twenty-one, sedately to the house.


    That afternoon Josef helped the professor pack books, two trunks full of books, a small library of medieval history. Josef liked to read books, not pack them. The professor had asked him, not Tomas, “Lend me a hand with the books, will you?” It was not the kind of work he had expected to do here. He sorted and lifted and stowed away load after load of resentment in insatiable iron trunks, while the professor worked with energy and interest, swaddling incunabula like babies, handling each volume with affection and despatch. Kneeling with keys he said, “Thanks, Josef! That’s that,” and lowering the brass catchbars locked away their summer’s work, done with, that’s that. Josef had done so much here that he had not expected to do, and now nothing was left to do. Disconsolate, he wandered back to the shade of the elms; but the professor’s wife, with whom he had not expected to fall in love, was sitting there. “I stole your chair,” she said amiably, “sit on the grass.” It was more dirt than grass, but they called it grass, and he obeyed. “Rosa and I are worn out,” she said, “and I can’t bear to think of tomorrow. It’s the worst, the next-to-last day—linens and silver and turning dishes upside down and putting out mousetraps and there’s always a doll lost and found after everybody’s searched for hours under a pile of laundry—and then sweeping the house and locking it all up. And I hate every bit of it, I hate to close this house.” Her voice was light and plaintive as a bird’s calling in the woods, careless whether anybody heard its plaintiveness, careless of its plaintiveness. “I hope you’ve liked it here,” she said.


    “Very much, baroness.”


    “I hope so. I know Severin has worked you very hard. And we’re so disorganised. We and the children and the visitors, we always seem to scatter so, and only meet in passing. . . . I hope it hasn’t been distracting.” It was true; all summer in tides and cycles the house had been full or half full of visitors, friends of the children, friends of the baroness, friends, colleagues and neighbors of the baron, duck-hunters who slept in the disused stable since the spare bedrooms were full of Polish medieval historians, ladies with broods of children the smallest of whom fell inevitably into the pond about this time of the afternoon. No wonder it was so still, so autumnal now: the rooms vacant, the pond smooth, the hills empty of dispersing laughter.


    “I have enjoyed knowing the children,” Josef said, “particularly Stanislas.” Then he went red as a beet, for Stanislas alone was not her child. She smiled and said with timidity, “Stanislas is very nice. And fourteen—fourteen is such a fearful age, when you find out so fast what you’re capable of being, but also what a toll the world expects. . . . He handles it very gracefully. Paul and Zida now, when they get that age they’ll lump through it and be tiresome. But Stanislas learned loss so young. . . . When will you enter the seminary?” she asked, moving from the boy to him in one reach of thought. “Next month,” he answered looking down, and she asked, “Then you’re quite certain it’s the life you want to lead?” After a pause and still not looking at her face, though the white of her dress and the green and gold of leaves above her filled his eyes, he said, “Why do you ask, baroness?”


    “Because the idea of celibacy terrifies me,” she replied, and he wanted to stretch out on the ground flecked with elm leaves like thin oval coins of gold, and die.


    “Sterility,” she said, “you see, sterility is what I fear, I dread. It is my enemy. I know we have other enemies, but I hate it most, because it makes life less than death. And its allies are horrible: hunger, sickness, deformation, and perversion, and ambition, and the wish to be secure. What on earth are the children doing down there?” Paul had asked Stanislas at lunch if they could play Ragnarok once more. Stanislas had consented, and so was now a Frost Giant storming with roars the ramparts of Asgard represented by a drainage ditch behind the pond. Odin hurled lightning from the walls, and Thor— “Stanislas!” called the mother rising slender and in white from her chair beside the young man, “don’t let Zida use the hammer, please.”


    “I’m Thor, I’m Thor, I got to have a hammer!” Zida screamed. Stanislas intervened briefly, then made ready to storm the ramparts again, with Zida now at his side, on all fours. “She’s Fenris the Wolf now,” he called up to the mother, his voice ringing through the hot afternoon with the faintest edge of laughter. Grim and stern, one eye shut, Paul gripped his staff and faced the advancing armies of Hel and the Frozen Lands.


    “I’m going to find some lemonade for everybody,” the baroness said, and left Josef to sink at last face down on the earth, surrendering to the awful sweetness and anguish she had awakened in him, and would it ever sleep again? while down by the pond Odin strove with the icy army on the sunlit battlements of heaven.


    Next day only the walls of the house were left standing. Inside it was only a litter of boxes and open drawers and hurrying people carrying things. Tomas and Zida escaped, he, being slow-witted amid turmoil and the only year-round occupant of Asgard, to clean up the yard out of harm’s way, and she to the Little Woods all afternoon. At five Paul shrilled from his window, “The car! The car! It’s coming!” An enormous black taxi built in 1923 groaned into the yard, feeling its way, its blind, protruding headlamps flashing in the western sun. Boxes, valises, the blue trunk and the two iron trunks were loaded into it by Tomas, Stanislas, Josef, and the taxi-driver from the village, under the agile and efficient supervision of Baron Severin Egideskar, holder of the Follen Chair of Medieval Studies at the University of Krasnoy. “And you’ll get us back together with all this at the station tomorrow at eight—right?” The taxi-driver, who had done so each September for seven years, nodded. The taxi laden with the material impediments of seven people lumbered away, changing gears down the road in the weary, sunny stillness of late afternoon, in which the house stood intact once more room after empty room.


    The baron now also escaped. Lighting a pipe he strolled slowly but softly, like one escaping, past the pond and past Tomas’s chickencoops, along a fence overgrown with ripe wild grasses bowing their heavy, sunlit heads, down to the grove of weeping birch called the Little Woods. “Zida?” he said, pausing in the faint, hot shade shaken by the ceaseless trilling of crickets in the fields around the grove. No answer. In a cloud of blue pipe-smoke he paused again beside an egg-crate decorated with many little bits of figured cloth and colored paper. On the mossy, much-trodden ground in front of it lay a wooden coat hanger. In one of the compartments of the crate was an eggshell painted gold, in another a bit of quartz, in another a breadcrust. Nearby, a small girl lay sound asleep with her shoes off, her rump higher than her head. The baron sat down on the moss near her, relit his pipe, and contemplated the egg-crate. Presently he tickled the soles of the child’s feet. She snorted. When she began to wake, he took her onto his lap.


    “What is that?”


    “A trap for catching a unicorn.” She brushed hair and leafmold off her face and arranged herself more comfortably on him.


    “Caught any?”


    “No.”


    “Seen any?”


    “Paul and I found some tracks.”


    “Split-hoofed ones, eh?”


    She nodded. Delicately through twilight in the baron’s imagination walked their neighbor’s young white pig, silver between birch trunks.


    “Only young girls can catch them, they say,” he murmured, and then they sat still for a long time.


    “Time for dinner,” he said. “All the tablecloths and knives and forks are packed. How shall we eat?”


    “With our fingers!” She leapt up, sprang away. “Shoes,” he ordered, and laboriously she fitted her small, cool, dirty feet into leather sandals, and then, shouting “Come on, papa!” was off. Quick and yet reluctant, seeming not to follow and yet never far behind her, he came on between the long vague shadows of the birch trees, along the fence, past the chickencoops and the shining pond, into captivity.


    They all sat on the ground under the Four Elms. There was cold ham, pickles, cold fried eggplant with salt, hard bread and hard red wine. Elm leaves like thin coins stuck to the bread. The pure, void, windy sky of after-sunset reflected in the pond and in the wine. Stanislas and Paul had a wrestling match and dirt flew over the remains of the ham; the baroness and Rosa, lamenting, dusted the ham. The boys went off to run cars through the tunnel in High Cliff, and discuss what ruin the winter rains might cause. For it would rain. All the nine months they were gone from Asgard rain would beat on the roads and hills, and the tunnel would collapse. Stanislas lifted his head a moment thinking of the Oak in winter when he had never seen it, the roots of the tree that upheld the world drinking dark rain underground. Zida rode clear round the house twice on the shoulders of the unicorn, screaming loudly for pure joy, for eating outside on the ground with fingers, for the first star seen (only from the corner of the eye) over the high fields faint in twilight. Screaming louder with rage she was taken to bed by Rosa, and instantly fell asleep. One by one the stars came out, meeting the eye straight on. One by one the young people went to bed. Tomas with the last half-bottle sang long and hoarsely in the Dorian mode in his room above the stable. Only the baron and his wife remained out in the autumn darkness under leaves and stars.


    “I don’t want to leave,” she murmured.


    “Nor I.”


    “Let’s send the books and clothes on back to town, and stay here without them. . . .”


    “Forever,” he said; but they could not. In the observance of season lies order, which was their realm. They sat on for a while longer, close side by side as lovers of twenty; then rising he said, “Come along, it’s late, Freya.” They went through darkness to the house, and entered.


    In coats and hats, everyone ate bread and drank hot milk and coffee out on the porch in the brilliant early morning. “The car! It’s coming!” Paul shouted, dropping his bread in the dirt. Grinding and changing gears, headlamps sightlessly flashing, the taxi came, it was there. Zida stared at it, the enemy within the walls, and began to cry. Faithful to the last to the lost cause of summer, she was carried into the taxi head first, screaming, “I won’t go! I don’t want to go!” Grinding and changing gears the taxi started. Stanislas’s head stuck out of the right front window, the baroness’s head out of the left rear, and Zida’s red, desolate, and furious face was pressed against the oval back window, so that those three saw Tomas waving good-bye under the white walls of Asgard in the sunlight in the bowl of hills. Paul had no access to a window; but he was already thinking of the train. He saw, at the end of the smoke and the shining tracks, the light of candles in a high dark dining-room, the stare of a rockinghorse in an attic corner, leaves wet with rain overhead on the way to school, and a grey street shortened by a cold, foggy dusk through which shone, remote and festive, the first streetlight of December.


    But all this happened a long time ago, nearly forty years ago; I do not know if it happens now, even in imaginary countries.
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    Two Delays on the Northern Line


    


    1. GOING TO PARAGUANANZA


    THE RIVER was in flood, embankments under water clear down the line from Brailava to Krasnoy. A two-hour train trip had stretched into an afternoon of shunting, waiting, crawling from one village siding to another all through the hills of the upper Molsen province in heavy, inexhaustible rain. Rain was bringing down an early twilight on the tracks, the thistles, the tin roofs, the far-off barn and single poplar tree of an outlying farm of a nameless village somewhere west of the capital, when this scene, which had sat in self-contained enigmatic patience outside the window for fifty minutes, was eclipsed by a screeching rush of blackness. “There’s the freight! Now we’ll get on,” said the salesman, who knew everything, and the family from Mesoval rejoiced. When the tracks, thistles, roofs, barn, and tree had reappeared, the train did begin to move, and quietly, unchanged, indifferent, these things disappeared backwards forever into the rainy dusk. The family from Mesoval and the salesman congratulated one another, “Now we’re off, it can’t be over half an hour, Krasnoy at last.” Eduard Orte reopened his book. When he looked up after reading a page or two it had got quite dark outside. Lights of a lone car on a road far away swung round and were lost. In the dark, deep in glimmering rain, he saw the line of the green window blind and under it his face.


    He looked with assurance at that face. At twenty he had disliked it. At forty he owned it. Deep lines, long nose, long chin, that was Eduard Orte; he looked at him as an equal, without admiration or contempt. But he saw in the shape of the brows what people had seen when they used to say, “How you take after her,” “Eduard has his mother’s eyes,” stupidly, as if they were not his eyes, as if he had no claim to see the world for himself. But in the second twenty years he had made his claim good.


    Despite the divagations and false starts of this day’s journey he knew where he was going and what would happen. His brother Nikolas would meet him at North Station, drive him eastward through the rainy city to the house where they had been born. Their mother would be sitting up in bed under the pink lamp. If this had been a mild attack she would look rather childlike and her voice would be thin; if it had been severe enough to frighten her into resistance, she would be alert and cheerful. They would ask each other questions and answer them. Then dinner downstairs, and a chat with Nikolas and his quiet wife, and to bed, hearing the rain on the windows of the bedroom where he had slept the first twenty years. Almost certainly his sister Retsia would not be there; she would have remembered she had left three small children in Solariy, and rushed back to them in a panic, just as she had rushed away from them. Nikolas would never have wired him, would simply have telephoned after the attack to give him the doctor’s report, but Retsia thrived on commotion, flew to bedsides, fired off telegrams, COME AT ONCE, with more sense for the dramatic than of the ludicrous. Their mother, entirely content with Nikolas’s twice-weekly visits, had not the faintest desire to “see” either Eduard or Retsia, to have her routines disrupted and her hoarded vitality called upon for an expenditure of specious interest in their doings, which had not interested her for years. But Retsia needed the expectable, the conventional, so badly that she regularly employed the inconvenient to achieve it. When wired COME AT ONCE to the sick mother’s bedside, one comes. To certain moves in chess only certain responses are possible. Eduard Orte, a stronger and more conscious adherent of convention than his sister, submitted his will to the rules without complaint. But it was like chess without a board, this tracking back and forth for nothing: the same pointless trip three times in two years, or was it three years since the first attack?—so pointless, such a waste of time that he scarcely cared if the train went on all night as it had done all afternoon, shifting from siding to siding in the hills, off the main line and getting no closer; it made no difference.


    When he got off the train and found in the wet hubbub of the platform and the glare and echoes of North Station nobody to meet him, he felt let down, betrayed. The emotion was quite inappropriate. Nikolas would hardly have stayed to meet a train five hours late. Eduard considered calling the house to say he had arrived, and then wondered why the thought had entered his head. It had risen from his stupid disappointment at not being met. He went out to get a taxi. At the bus stop near the taxi stand, a 41 was waiting; without hesitation he walked to it and got onto it. It had been how long, ten years, fifteen, no, longer than that, since he had ridden a bus crosstown through the loud streets of Krasnoy, dark and flashing in the March night, street lamps stretching reflections down into the rivers of black asphalt, as when he was a student riding home after a late class at the University. The 41 stopped at the old stop at the foot of the Hill and a couple of students got on, pale, grave girls. The Molsen under Old Bridge ran very high in its stone embankments; everyone craned to see, and somebody behind him said, “It’s up over the warehouses down below Rail Bridge.” The bus groaned, swayed, stopped, lurched its way through the long straight streets of the Trasfiuve. Orte was the last but one to get off. The bus with its solitary passenger gasped its door shut and went on, leaving a quietness in its wake, the suburban quietness. Rain fell steadily. At the corner near a street lamp a young tree stood startled by light, its new leaves piercing green. There were no further delays or changes of route. Orte walked the last half block home.


    He knocked softly, pushed the unlocked door open, and entered. For some reason the hall was brightly lighted. A loud voice was talking in the sitting room, a stranger’s voice. Was there a party going on? As he took off his topcoat to hang it on the hall coatrack, a boy came careening past, stopped at a distance, and stared with bright, bold eyes.


    “Who are you?” Orte asked, as the boy asked the same question, and as he answered, “Eduard Orte,” the boy gave the same answer.


    For a moment his head spun with the dizziness that he dreaded, the abyss opening, the falling.


    “I’m your uncle,” he said, tapping the rain off his hat and hanging it up. “Is your mother here?”


    “In the piano room. With the funerals man.” The boy kept gazing, studying him, self-possessed, as if in his own house. Why did he not stand out of the way? I cannot go past him, Orte thought.


    Retsia came into the hallway, saw him, cried, “Oh, Eduard!” and burst instantly into tears. “Oh, poor Eduard!”


    She drew him with her, relinquishing him only to Nikolas, who shook his hand softly and seriously, saying in his even voice, “You’d left. We couldn’t reach you. Very easy, much suddener than expected, but very easy at the end. . . .”


    “I see, yes,” Orte said. The abyss hung under him, he held his brother’s hand. “The train,” he said.


    “At two o’clock almost exactly,” Nikolas said.


    Retsia said, “We’ve been calling the station all afternoon. The whole railway above Aris is under water. You must be worn out, poor Eduard! And not knowing, all day long, the whole afternoon!” Tears ran down her face as plentiful and simple as rain running down the windows of the train.


    Orte had intended to ask several questions of Nikolas before he went up to see his mother: Had it in fact been a severe attack? Is she on the same medication? Has there been much angina? Now he still wanted to ask these questions, which after all had not been answered. Nikolas continued to tell him about the death, but he had not asked about that. It was not fair. He still felt a little light-headed, but that was from travelling all day. The abyss had closed and he had let go Nikolas’s hand. Retsia hovered close, smiling, tearful. Nikolas, he noticed, looked strained and tired, his eyes rather swollen behind his thick spectacles. What did he look like himself? Did he show any such signs of grief? Did he feel grief? He looked into himself with apprehension, finding nothing except the continuing slight unpleasant dizziness. One could not call that grief. Should he not wish to cry?


    “Is she upstairs?”


    Nikolas explained the new government regulations. “They have been most efficient and considerate,” he said. The body had been taken to the East District Crematory; a man had come by with the papers, to arrange for the display and service; they had just been completing the arrangements when Eduard arrived. They all moved about, went to the music room, the man was introduced. It was his voice Orte had first heard coming into the house, the loud voice and bright lights, like a party. Nikolas showed the man out. “I met,” Eduard Orte said to his sister, then hesitated—“young Eduard.” Then wished he had not spoken, because the nephew named for him could not be that boy, who was much too old, and who had said his name was Orte, had he not? when it must be Paren; Retsia’s married name was Paren. But who was the boy, then?


    “Yes, I did want the children here,” Retsia was saying. “Tomas will drive up tomorrow morning. I do hope it stops raining, the roads must be terrible.” He noticed her strong ivory teeth. She must be, it was impossible, thirty-eight. He would not have known her had they passed on the street. Her eyes were greyish blue. She was looking at him. “You’re tired,” she said in the way that had used to irritate him, telling people what they felt; but the words were welcome to him. He was not aware of being particularly tired, but if he looked tired, or was tired without knowing it, perhaps also he had feelings he was unaware of, appropriate feelings. “Come and have some supper, now that man’s gone. You must be starving! The children are eating in the kitchen. Oh, Eduard, everything is so strange!” she said, leading him briskly on.


    The kitchen was warm and full of people. The cook-housekeeper Vera, who had come after his time but had been there for years now, greeted him mumbling. She was upset, and he understood that; how was an old woman with bad legs to get a new job? But no doubt Nikolas and Nina would take her in. Retsia’s children were all at the kitchen table: the boy he had met in the hall, and the older sister, and the little boy, whom they had called Riri last time Orte had seen them, but were calling Raul now; and there was another one, that sister or cousin of Retsia’s husband who lived with them, a short, sullen girl of twenty or more. Nikolas’s wife Nina came from behind the table to greet him with an embrace. As she spoke, he remembered what he had not thought of since Nikolas’s letter about it a couple of weeks ago, that Nikolas and Nina had adopted a baby—had Nikolas written that it was a boy? It had all seemed so artificial to him that he had read the letter carelessly, finding the matter distasteful and embarrassing, and now he could not recall what Nikolas had written. It would not do to ask Nina about it. Old Vera insisted on making tea for him to show that she was necessary, and he had to sit down with them all in the bright noisy kitchen and eat a little, wait for the tea and drink it. The noise abated. Nobody spoke to him much; Nina glanced at him with her sad, dark eyes. He began to realise with relief that his habitual gravity of manner might be taken for emotion controlled, might serve him as a façade behind which he could keep to himself his lack of sorrow, like a locked and empty room.


    He was not allowed to sleep in his old room upstairs after all. Nothing he had expected happened. The house was full up. It seemed that since the adoption Nikolas and Nina had given up their flat in Old Quarter and moved back here till they came in line for a larger flat. They were in Eduard’s old room, and their baby was in Nikolas’s old room; Retsia and her three were in the nursery; the cousin slept on the living-room couch; there was nothing left for him but the leather couch in the glassed-in porch off the music room, downstairs. Only the mother’s room was empty. He did not see it. He did not go upstairs. Retsia brought down blankets, then a quilt, finally a warm dressing gown of Nikolas’s. “It’s terrible out here, terrible, poor Eduard. If you sleep in this it might help you stay warm. Oh, how strange everything is!” Her hair was braided for sleep, she wore a pink wool wrapper. She looked broad, competent, maternal, beautiful; her face was illuminated as if she were listening to music. That is grief, he thought.


    “It’s all right,” he said.


    “But you always get cold feet at night. It’s terrible to stick you out here. I don’t know what we’ll do when Tomas comes. Oh, Eduard, I do so wish that you’d got married, I hate for people to be alone! I know you don’t mind, but I do. The curtains won’t close, will they? Oh, Christ, I’ve torn the side hem. Well, there’s nothing to shut out here but the rain.” The ready tears stood in her eyes; her warmth and strength enveloped him a moment as she hugged him. “Good night!” she said and left, shutting the curtained glass door behind her, and he heard her voice and the cousin’s in the next room.


    She went upstairs. The house grew silent. He rearranged the blankets and quilt and lay down on the couch. He read the book he had read on the train, a long-term project for goals and fund allocations in the department that would, in May, come under the administration of his bureau. Rain brushed the windows above the couch. His hands grew cold. Silently and suddenly the light in the next room went out, leaving the curtained glass door black, and the light from his small reading lamp very dim. The cousin was in that room. The house was full of people he did not know. This porch, cold, in night and rain, was strange to him. They never used the porch except in summer, on hot days. This was not the trip he had started out on. To come home, that was one true direction, but now it had lost its sense, he had ended up in a strange place. Was this confusion what they called grief? She is dead, he thought, she is dead, as he lay fairly comfortably propped against the arm of the couch, the book open against his raised knees under the quilt, gazing at the page numbers 144, 145, and waited for the reaction. But he had left home so long ago, after all. 144, 145. His eyes returned to the paragraph he had been reading. He read on to the end of the section. His watch said two-thirty. He turned off the bronze-shaded reading lamp and huddled down under the blankets and quilts; he heard the rain brush quietly against the windows. “I am going to Paraguay,” he told the salesman, annoyed at being asked. “To Paraguananza, the capital of the nation.” But they met with long delays along the line from floods of water, and when he got there, across terrible abysses, to Paraguananza, it was no different from here.


    2. METEMPSYCHOSIS


    WHEN THE LAWYER’S LETTER CAME, Eduard Russe thought nothing at first about the house that had been willed to him, but tried only to dredge up from the shifty bogs of memory some shard or fragment, a cranium, a fingerbone, of that great-uncle, his mother’s father’s brother, who had seen fit, or been forced by a paucity of survivors, to leave him the house in Brailava. He had always lived in Krasnoy; when he was nine or ten he had gone with his mother to visit their Northern relatives, but of that journey he could recall only the most trivial things—a hen with her brood of chicks in a back yard by a basket, a man standing and singing aloud on a street corner directly under (so his child’s eye averred) a huge, dark-blue mountain. Of the grandfather who had then owned the house, of the great-uncle who had next inherited it, nothing remained but a discomfort of dark rooms and loud old voices. Old men, deaf, not the same species as himself, no kin. Crossed swords with basket grips and curved blades hanging on a chimney: sabres. He had never seen a sabre. He was not allowed to play with them. The old men did nothing with them, did not keep them polished. If they had let him take them down he would have polished them. He was ashamed, now, of this ingratitude of mind which left him only his own childish envies and not one glimpse of the man who had given him a house—even if he did not want the house and could wish the old man had, equally, forgotten him. What was he to do with a house in Brailava? What was he supposed to reply to the lawyer’s letter? Employed in the Bureau of Housing, on modest salary, he had never had any use for lawyers and had kept well clear of the breed. His wife would have known how to answer the letter; she had good sense about such things, and good manners too. Following what he imagined Elena might have written, he produced a short, civil acknowledgment of the lawyer’s communication, posted it, and then, in fact, altogether forgot about the great-uncle, the legacy, the property in Brailava. He was busy, having undertaken an extra task of the kind he was good at, a reorganisation and simplification of record-keeping. People would say he was trying to lose himself in his work, but though he had always liked his work and still did, he knew there was no way to lose himself in it. Rather he found himself in it constantly, met himself in the work he had done, in the people he worked with. On every street corner on the way to the Bureau he met himself coming back from work to the apartment on Sidres Street where Elena, who taught in the College of Applied Arts, would be home already, unless it was Wednesday night when she had a class from four to six—


    His days were punctuated by these dashes, not periods but breaks, empty spaces in which he stopped himself from finishing the thought, or from trying to finish the thought which no longer had an end, since in this case Elena had no class from four to six on Wednesday, because she was dead of an aneurysm of the heart and had been dead for three months, and in any case all thoughts led to this same non-end or stopping place and were there, as in the cremator’s fire, destroyed.


    He knew he could manage his misery in a wiser way, without these breaks and terrible repetitions, if he could sleep well. But he could never sleep, now, more than two or three hours at a time, and then would wake and lie awake as long as he had slept. He tried drinking, and he tried the sleeping pills a friend at work recommended. Both gave him five hours’ sleep, two hours’ nightmare, and a day of sick despair. He went back to reading during his night wakings. He read anything, but preferred history, the histories of other countries. Sometimes, at three in the morning, he cried, as he read the history of Renaissance Spain, ignoring his tears. He had no dreams. She had taken his dreams, and they had gone with her too far, by now, to find their way back to him. They had got lost and petered out, dried up, somewhere in that thick, rock-ridden darkness through which Elena had very slowly gone, tunnelling her way forward, heavily, without breathing. He felt that she was beyond that now, in some other region, but not one he was able to imagine.


    A second letter arrived from the law firm in Brailava. The envelope was double-weight manila, heavy, portentous. Resigned, he opened it. The lawyer’s letter was short and only moderately obscure, appearing to suggest, with due caution, that as things stood (and undoubtedly given his professional affiliation he was far better informed on this subject than the writer), he might find, if he decided to consider selling the house, that it was possible to get a good price for it; dissociating himself promptly, the lawyer, whom Eduard now envisaged as almost inevitably sixty and clean-shaven with a long upper lip, went on to remark that there were several reputable real-property agents in Krasnoy with Northern branches, if he did not wish to be troubled with the business himself. However, personal belongings left in the house might demand, at least briefly, his presence and decision as to whether the furniture, papers, books, etc., were of value, monetary or sentimental. With the letter were some documents, evidently deeds, descriptions, and so on, concerning the property, and, in an old, soft, rather mangy leather pouch, a steel ring on which were six keys.


    It was curious that he should have sent them without waiting to hear from Eduard again, to identify him more securely, to meet him. It was the keys that had made the envelope misshapen and heavy. Eduard spread them out fanwise on his left palm with his right forefinger and studied them with uneasy curiosity. Two, identical, looked like old-fashioned, respectable front-door keys. The other four were wildly various: one that might fit a big padlock, one with a barrel like a clock key, one plain iron all-purpose that suggested a pantry or cellar door, and one of brass with delicately intricate wards, probably the key to some old piece of furniture, a wardrobe or escritoire. He imagined, with continuing unease, the brass keyhole in the curved mahogany, shelves behind glass, meaningless papers in half-empty drawers.


    He requested two days off work at the end of the month. He would go up to Brailava on the Wednesday evening train, come back on the Sunday. Efficiency. See the lawyer, see the house, arrange to have it cleared out and put up for sale. While looking after all this he would be able to see something of the city where his mother had been born and lived as a child. With the money from the sale of the house he would go to Spain. Unearned money should be spent at once, otherwise it festered. What would it cost to go to Egypt? He had always wanted to see the pyramids. Red-coated, waving sabres, cinematic English soldiers charged thinly across a waste of gold behind the back of the indifferent Sphinx and petered out, like water poured onto sand. The Sahara, a furnace, an empty place. The train jerked forward tentatively and stopped again. No one else was in the compartment at the moment; the young couple who had taken the facing seat were standing in the corridor. They had been joking with friends on the platform. Now they shouted and waved and banged the windows childishly as the train, quiet and purposeful, began to glide forward. Eduard’s eyes filled up with tears and his breath stuck in an audible sob. Appalled by the ambush, by the overwhelming advantage grief had over him, he clenched his hands, shut his eyes, feigned sleep, although his face was hot and his breath would not come evenly. He foreswore Egypt, damn Egypt, damn Toledo and Madrid. The tears dried in his eyes. He watched the northern suburbs slide past beyond the viaducts in the soft, amniotic haze of the September afternoon.


    The young couple came back into the compartment, no longer talking or smiling; their animation had been all for their friends in North Station. Eduard continued to gaze out the window as the train ran steadily north on the level embankments by the Molsen. The river was wide, serene, a pale silken blue color between low banks. Willows stood in the late sunlight by the river. The haze was thickening; it looked like rain ahead, in the north, a heavy blueness of clouds. He had got off work early to catch the five o’clock express. They would be in Brailava by half past six, following the river all the way. He got a little drowsy, looking at the silken water.


    At a quarter to six there was a tremendous noise and a subsequent absolute silence. As Eduard picked himself up from the floor of the compartment where for some reason he had arrived, the young man kicked him in the shoulder. “Watch that!” Eduard said furiously, and retrieved his briefcase, which had also slid across the floor. There was now a strange, thin commotion of voices in the corridor. “Oh, oh, oh, oh,” the young woman was saying in a silly voice. The commotion grew to a hubbub like that of an audience at intermission, both inside the car and outside along the tracks, shouts, exclamations, descriptions, comparisons, complaints, as it became clear that the engine had hit a hay truck stalled at a crossing, and that though nobody was hurt except for the truck driver, who had been killed, the engine had derailed and there was going to be a delay while they brought a relief engine down from Brailava. Another break, a dash not a period; non-arrival. Eduard walked up and down the tracks a while in the late long sunlight. It was almost seven when a relief engine arrived, from the south not the north, and pulled the train back to a siding at the local station called Isestno, which was not even mentioned on the Krasnoy–Brailava schedule of the Northern Line; and there it waited, while night fell and the rain came on, until the tracks were mended and the relief engine from Brailava came and hauled it on in, arriving at Sumeny Station at half past ten.


    There had been nothing whatever to eat on the train and no vendors at mournful Isestno siding, but Eduard did not feel hungry as he walked under the bright cavernous dome of Sumeny, carrying the briefcase which was all he had brought. Now that he was off the train at last, he felt shaken. He had planned to arrive at half past six, find a hotel near the station, have dinner, but now he did not want to stay up and eat out among strangers, he wanted to go home. Other men hurried past him through the high doors into the rainy night.


    “Taxi?”


    “All right,” he said.


    “Where to, sir?”


    “Fourteen Kamenny Street.”


    “That’ll be up Underhill,” the taxi driver said, confirming Eduard’s memory of the name of the district and of the dark-blue crags hunched over a singing man, a man under a hill, and took off, doors and smeared windows rattling. It was dark in the cab and the smell was comfortable. Eduard roused himself, confused, almost from sleep, and sank back into it, almost.


    “Fourteen, was it?”


    “Right.”


    “This one, looks like. There’s Twelve.”


    He could see no street number. There was a house; there was rain, trees, darkness. He paid the driver, who said good night to him in the dry, civil, Northern voice.


    Three stone steps, flanked by shrubs and some kind of iron fence or grille: “14” over the rather ornate wooden doorframe. A strange city, a strange street, whose house? The first of the twin keys fit the lock. He opened the door, looked in, took a couple of steps in, but left the door ajar behind him, to be certain of escape.


    Pitch dark; dry; cool. Sound of rain above on high roofs. No other sound.


    The light switch came under his hand to the right of the door. He felt that he should say, “I’m here.” To whom? He turned on the light.


    The hall was much smaller than it had seemed in darkness. He had, he now realised, felt himself to be in an almost limitless space, but it was only the quiet shabby front hall of an old house on a rainy night. The strip of carpet on the handsome black and grey tiles was worn and not very clean. Somebody’s hat, his great-uncle’s hat, an old felt, lay forlorn on a small sideboard. The light fixture was of yellowish cloudy glass.


    The door was still ajar behind him. He returned and closed it, and automatically put the key ring into his trousers pocket.


    Stairs went up to the left. The hall went on past them: a door to the right and an end door, both shut. The sitting room would be that one to the right, the end one would lead back to the kitchen. There was a dining room, maybe on the way to the kitchen; it was in a dark dining room that he had heard the loud old voices. He should look into the rooms, but he was tired. He had been sleeping very badly for several nights, and the train trip with its shock and unfelt death and long delay had left him shaky. The hall was all right, the old hat was all right, but he could not take much more. The yellowish light illuminated the stairs as well as the hall. He went up the stairs, his right hand on the narrow heavily varnished railing. At the top he turned and went down the hall to the end door, opened it, and turned on the light. He did not know why he chose that door, or whether he had been upstairs in the house as a child. This was the front bedroom, probably the largest. It might be the room his great-uncle had slept in, perhaps died in, unless he had died in hospital, or it might have been the grandfather’s room, or have stood unused for thirty years. It was clean and sparse, bed, table, chair, two windows, fireplace. The bed was made, tight and neat, an old blue coverlet pulled tight. The overhead light in its glass shade was dim, and there was no lamp.


    Eduard put down his briefcase by the bed.


    The washroom was at the other end of the hall. He thought at first the water had been cut off, for the pipe groaned when he turned the faucet, but then it spat rust, belched red, and ran clear. He was thirsty. He drank from the faucet. The water was rusty and cold and tasted of the north.


    There was an old bookcase with glassed shelves in the hall, and he stopped before it for a minute, but the light was faint and the titles of the books meant nothing. He could not read. He went into the front bedroom and turned back the blue coverlet. The bed was made up with heavy linen sheets and a dark blanket. He took off his clothes, hung his coat and trousers in the empty closet, turned off the light, got into the cold bed in the dark room made tremulous by a distant street lamp shining through rain or the shadows of leaves; he stretched out and laid his head back on the hard pillow, and slept.


    He woke in sunlit morning, lying on his side, looking at the swords, cavalry sabres, hung crossed on the chimneypiece.


    They were tools, he thought, expressing purpose as simply as a needle or a hammer, their purpose, their reason or meaning, being death; they were made to kill men with; the slightly curved and still unpolished blades were death, were in fact his own death, which he saw with clarity and relaxation; for as his eyes were occupied with looking at that his mind was wandering to the other rooms, which he had not seen last night, the rooms whose doors, for which he had the keys, would lead to his life, his request for a transfer to the Bureau here in Brailava, the wild cherry flowering in the mountains in March, his second marriage, all that, but for the moment enough, this room, the swords, the sunlight; he had arrived.

  


  
    Unlocking the Air


    


    THIS IS A FAIRY TALE. People stand in the lightly falling snow. Something is shining, trembling, making a silvery sound. Eyes are shining. Voices sing. People laugh and weep, clasp one another’s hands, embrace. Something shines and trembles. They live happily ever after. The snow falls on the roofs and blows across the parks, the squares, the river.


    


    This is history. Once upon a time a good king lived in his palace in a kingdom far away. But an evil enchantment fell upon that land. The wheat withered in the ear, the leaves dropped from the trees of the forest, and no thing thrived.


    


    This is a stone. It’s a paving stone of a square that slants downhill in front of an old, reddish, almost windowless fortress called the Roukh Palace. The square was paved nearly three hundred years ago, so a lot of feet have walked on this stone, bare feet and shod, children’s little pads, horses’ iron shoes, soldiers’ boots; and wheels have gone over and over it, cart wheels, carriage wheels, car tires, tank treads. Dogs’ paws every now and then. There’s been dogshit on it, there’s been blood, both soon washed away by water sloshed from buckets or run from hoses or dropped from the clouds. You can’t get blood from a stone, they say, nor can you give it to a stone; it takes no stain. Some of the pavement, down near that street that leads out of Roukh Square through the old Jewish quarter to the river, got dug up once or twice and piled into a barricade, and some of the stones even found themselves flying through the air, but not for long. They were soon put back in their place, or replaced by others. It made no difference to them. The man hit by the flying stone dropped down like a stone beside the stone that killed him. The man shot through the brain fell down and his blood ran out on this stone, or another one maybe, it makes no difference to them. The soldiers washed his blood away with water sloshed from buckets, the buckets their horses drank from. The rain fell after a while. The snow fell. Bells rang the hours, the Christmases, the New Years. A tank stopped with its treads on this stone. You’d think that that would leave a mark, a huge heavy thing like a tank, but the stone shows nothing. Only all the feet bare and shod over the centuries have worn a quality into it, not a smoothness exactly but a kind of softness like leather or like skin. Unstained, unmarked, indifferent, it does have that quality of having been worn for a long time by life. So it is a stone of power, and who sets foot on it may be transformed.


    


    This is a story. She let herself in with her key and called, “Mama? It’s me, Fana,” and her mother in the kitchen of the apartment called, “I’m in here,” and they met and hugged in the doorway of the kitchen.


    “Come on, come on!”


    “Come where?”


    “It’s Thursday, Mama!”


    “Oh,” said Bruna Fabbre, retreating towards the stove, making vague protective gestures at the saucepans, the dishcloths, the spoons.


    “You said.”


    “But it’s nearly four already—”


    “We can be back by six-thirty.”


    “I have all the papers to read for the advancement tests.”


    “You have to come, Mama. You do. You’ll see!”


    A heart of stone might resist the shining eyes, the coaxing, the bossiness. “Come on!” she said again, and the mother came.


    But grumbling. “This is for you,” she said on the stairs.


    On the bus she said it again. “This is for you. Not me.”


    “What makes you think that?”


    Bruna did not reply for a while, looking out the bus window at the grey city lurching by, the dead November sky behind the roofs.


    “Well, you see,” she said, “before Kasi, my brother Kasimir, before he was killed, that was the time that would have been for me. But I was too young. Too stupid. And then they killed Kasi.”


    “By mistake.”


    “It wasn’t a mistake. They were hunting for a man who’d been getting people out across the border, and they’d missed him. So it was to . . .”


    “To have something to report to the Central Office.”


    Bruna nodded. “He was about the age you are now,” she said. The bus stopped, people climbed on, crowding the aisle. “Since then, twenty-seven years, always since then it’s been too late. For me. First too stupid, then too late. This time is for you. I missed mine.”


    “You’ll see,” Stefana said. “There’s enough time to go round.”


    


    This is history. Soldiers stand in a row before the reddish, almost windowless palace; their muskets are at the ready. Young men walk across the stones towards them, singing,


    Beyond this darkness is the light,


    O Liberty, of thine eternal day!


    The soldiers fire their guns. The young men live happily ever after.


    


    This is biology.


    “Where the hell is everybody?”


    “It’s Thursday,” Stefan Fabbre said, adding, “Damn!” as the figures on the computer screen jumped and flickered. He was wearing his topcoat over sweater and scarf, since the biology laboratory was heated only by a spaceheater which shorted out the computer circuit if they were on at the same time. “There are programs that could do this in two seconds,” he said, jabbing morosely at the keyboard.


    Avelin came up and glanced at the screen. “What is it?”


    “The RNA comparison count. I could do it faster on my fingers.”


    Avelin, a bald, spruce, pale, dark-eyed man of forty, roamed the laboratory, looked restlessly through a folder of reports. “Can’t run a university with this going on,” he said. “I’d have thought you’d be down there.”


    Fabbre entered a new set of figures and said, “Why?”


    “You’re an idealist.”


    “Am I?” Fabbre leaned back, stretched, rolled his head to get the cricks out. “I try hard not to be,” he said.


    “Realists are born, not made.” The younger man sat down on a lab stool and stared at the scarred, stained counter. “It’s coming apart,” he said.


    “You think so? Seriously?”


    Avelin nodded. “You heard that report from Prague.”


    Fabbre nodded.


    “Last week . . . This week . . . Next year— Yes. An earthquake. The stones come apart—it falls apart—there was a building, now there’s not. History is made. So I don’t understand why you’re here, not there.”


    “Seriously, you don’t understand that?”


    Avelin smiled and said, “Seriously.”


    “All right.” Fabbre stood up and began walking up and down the long room as he spoke. He was a slight, grey-haired man with youthfully intense, controlled movements. “Science or political activity, either/or: choose. Right? Choice is responsibility, right? So I chose my responsibility responsibly. I chose science and abjured all action but the acts of science. The acts of a responsible science. Out there they can change the rules; in here they can’t change the rules; when they try to I resist. This is my resistance.” He slapped the laboratory bench as he turned round. “I’m lecturing. I walk up and down like this when I lecture. So. Background of the choice. I’m from the northeast. ’56, in the northeast, do you remember? My grandfather, my father—reprisals. So, in ’60, I come here, to the university. ’62, my best friend, my wife’s brother. We were walking through a village market, talking, then he stopped, he stopped talking, they had shot him. A kind of mistake. Right? He was a musician. A realist. I felt that I owed it to him, that I owed it to them, you see, to live carefully, with responsibility, to do the best I could do. The best I could do was this,” and he gestured around the laboratory. “I’m good at it. So I go on trying to be a realist. As far as possible under the circumstances, which have less and less to do with reality. But they are only circumstances. The circumstances in which I do my work as carefully as I can.”


    Avelin sat on the lab stool, his head bowed. When Fabbre was done, he nodded. After a while he said, “But I have to ask you if it’s realistic to separate the circumstances, as you put it, from the work.”


    “About as realistic as separating the body from the mind,” Fabbre said. He stretched again and reseated himself at the computer. “I want to get this series in,” he said, and his hands went to the keyboard and his gaze to the notes he was copying. After five or six minutes he started the printer and spoke without turning. “You’re serious, Givan, you think it’s coming apart as a whole?”


    “Yes. I think the experiment is over.”


    The printer scraped and screeched, and they raised their voices to be heard over it.


    “Here, you mean.”


    “Here and everywhere. They know it, down at Roukh Square. Go down there. You’ll see. There could be such jubilation only at the death of a tyrant or the failure of a great hope.”


    “Or both.”


    “Or both,” Avelin agreed.


    The paper jammed in the printer, and Fabbre opened the machine to free it. His hands were shaking. Avelin, spruce and cool, hands behind his back, strolled over, looked, reached in, disengaged the corner that was jamming the feed.


    “Soon,” he said, “we’ll have an IBM. A Mactoshin. Our hearts’ desire.”


    “Macintosh,” Fabbre said.


    “Everything can be done in two seconds.”


    Fabbre restarted the printer and looked around. “Listen, the principles—”


    Avelin’s eyes shone strangely, as if full of tears; he shook his head. “So much depends on the circumstances,” he said.


    


    This is a key. It locks and unlocks a door, the door to Apartment 2-1 of the building at 43 Pradinestrade in the Old North Quarter of the city of Krasnoy. The apartment is enviable, having a kitchen with saucepans, dishcloths, spoons, and all that is necessary, and two bedrooms, one of which is now used as a sitting room with chairs, books, papers, and all that is necessary, as well as a view from the window between other buildings of a short section of the Molsen River. The river at this moment is lead-colored and the trees above it are bare and black. The apartment is unlighted and empty. When they left, Bruna Fabbre locked the door and dropped the key, which is on a steel ring along with the key to her desk at the Lyceum and the key to her sister Bendika’s apartment in the Trasfiuve, into her small imitation leather handbag, which is getting shabby at the corners, and snapped the handbag shut. Bruna’s daughter Stefana has a copy of the key in her jeans pocket, tied on a bit of braided cord along with the key to the closet in her room in Dormitory G of the University of Krasnoy, where she is a graduate student in the department of Orsinian and Slavic Literature working for a degree in the field of Early Romantic Poetry. She never locks the closet. The two women walk down Pradinestrade three blocks and wait a few minutes at the corner for the number 18 bus, which runs on Bulvard Settentre from North Krasnoy to the center of the city.


    Pressed in the crowded interior of the handbag and the tight warmth of the jeans pocket, the key and its copy are inert, silent, forgotten. All a key can do is lock and unlock its door; that’s all the function it has, all the meaning; it has a responsibility but no rights. It can lock or unlock. It can be found or thrown away.


    


    This is history. Once upon a time in 1830, in 1848, in 1866, in 1918, in 1947, in 1956, stones flew. Stones flew through the air like pigeons, and hearts, too, hearts had wings. Those were the years when the stones flew, the hearts took wing, the young voices sang. The soldiers raised their muskets to the ready, the soldiers aimed their rifles, the soldiers poised their machine guns. They were young, the soldiers. They fired. The stones lay down, the pigeons fell. There’s a kind of red stone called pigeon’s blood, a ruby. The red stones of Roukh Square were never rubies; slosh a bucket of water over them or let the rain fall and they’re grey again, lead grey, common stones. Only now and then in certain years they have flown, and turned to rubies.


    


    This is a bus. Nothing to do with fairy tales and not romantic; certainly realistic; though in a way, in principle, in fact, it is highly idealistic. A city bus crowded with people in a city street in Central Europe on a November afternoon, and it’s stalled. What else? Oh, dear. Oh, damn. But no, it hasn’t stalled; the engine, for a wonder, hasn’t broken down; it’s just that it can’t go any farther. Why not? Because there’s a bus stopped in front of it, and another one stopped in front of that one at the cross street, and it looks like everything’s stopped. Nobody on this bus has yet heard the word “gridlock,” the name of an exotic disease of the mysterious West. There aren’t enough private cars in Krasnoy to bring about a gridlock even if they knew what it was. There are cars, and a lot of wheezing idealistic busses, but all there is enough of to stop the flow of traffic in Krasnoy is people. It is a kind of equation, proved by experiments conducted over many years, perhaps not in a wholly scientific or objective spirit but nonetheless presenting a well-documented result confirmed by repetition: there are not enough people in this city to stop a tank. Even in much larger cities it has been authoritatively demonstrated as recently as last spring that there are not enough people to stop a tank. But there are enough people in this city to stop a bus, and they are doing so. Not by throwing themselves in front of it, waving banners, or singing songs about Liberty’s eternal day, but merely by being in the street getting in the way of the bus, on the supposition that the bus driver has not been trained in either homicide or suicide; and on the same supposition—upon which all cities stand or fall—they are also getting in the way of all the other busses and all the cars and in one another’s way, too, so that nobody is going much of anywhere, in a physical sense.


    “We’re going to have to walk from here,” Stefana said, and her mother clutched her imitation leather handbag. “Oh, but we can’t, Fana. Look at that crowd! What are they— Are they—?”


    “It’s Thursday, ma’am,” said a large, red-faced, smiling man just behind them in the aisle. Everybody was getting off the bus, pushing and talking. “Yesterday I got four blocks closer than this,” a woman said crossly, and the red-faced man said, “Ah, but this is Thursday.”


    “Fifteen thousand last time,” said somebody, and somebody else said, “Fifty, fifty thousand today!”


    “We can never get anywhere near the Square, I don’t think we should try,” Bruna told her daughter as they squeezed into the crowd outside the bus door.


    “You stay with me, don’t let go, and don’t worry,” said the student of Early Romantic Poetry, a tall, resolute young woman, and she took her mother’s hand in a firm grasp. “It doesn’t really matter where we get, but it would be fun if you could see the Square. Let’s try. Let’s go round behind the post office.”


    Everybody was trying to go the same direction. Stefana and Bruna got across one street by dodging and stopping and pushing gently; then turning against the flow they trotted down a nearly empty alley, cut across the cobbled court back of the Central Post Office, and rejoined an even thicker crowd moving slowly down a wide street and out from between the buildings. “There, there’s the palace, see!” said Stefana, who could see it, being taller. “This is as far as we’ll get except by osmosis.” They practised osmosis, which necessitated letting go of each other’s hands, and made Bruna unhappy. “This is far enough, this is fine here,” she kept saying. “I can see everything. There’s the roof of the palace. Nothing’s going to happen, is it? I mean, will anybody speak?” It was not what she meant, but she did not want to shame her daughter with her fear, her daughter who had not been alive when the stones turned to rubies. And she spoke quietly because although there were so many people pressed and pressing into Roukh Square, they were not noisy. They talked to one another in ordinary, quiet voices. Only now and then somebody down nearer the palace shouted out a name, and then many, many other voices would repeat it with a roll and crash like a wave breaking. Then they would be quiet again, murmuring vastly, like the sea between big waves.


    The street lights had come on. Roukh Square was sparsely lighted by tall, old, cast-iron standards with double globes that shed a soft light high in the air. Through that serene light, which seemed to darken the sky, came drifting small, dry flecks of snow.


    The flecks melted to droplets on Stefana’s dark, short hair and on the scarf Bruna had tied over her fair, short hair to keep her ears warm.


    When Stefana stopped at last, Bruna stood up as tall as she could, and because they were standing on the highest edge of the Square, in front of the old Dispensary, by craning she could see the great crowd, the faces like snowflakes, countless. She saw the evening darkening, the snow falling, and no way out, and no way home. She was lost in the forest. The palace, whose few lighted windows shone dully above the crowd, was silent. No one came out, no one went in. It was the seat of government; it held the power. It was the powerhouse, the powder magazine, the bomb. Power had been compressed, jammed into those old reddish walls, packed and forced into them over years, over centuries, till if it exploded it would burst with horrible violence, hurling pointed shards of stone. And out here in the twilight in the open there was nothing but soft faces with shining eyes, soft little breasts and stomachs and thighs protected only by bits of cloth.


    She looked down at her feet on the pavement. They were cold. She would have worn her boots if she had thought it was going to snow, if Fana hadn’t hurried her so. She felt cold, lost, lonely to the point of tears. She set her jaw and set her lips and stood firm on her cold feet on the cold stone.


    There was a sound, sparse, sparkling, faint, like the snow crystals. The crowd had gone quite silent, swept by low laughing murmurs, and through the silence ran that small, discontinuous, silvery sound.


    “What is that?” asked Bruna, beginning to smile. “Why are they doing that?”


    


    This is a committee meeting. Surely you don’t want me to describe a committee meeting? It meets as usual on Friday at eleven in the morning in the basement of the Economics Building. At eleven on Friday night, however, it is still meeting, and there are a good many onlookers, several million in fact, thanks to the foreigner with the camera, a television camera with a long snout, a one-eyed snout that peers and sucks up what it sees. The cameraman focusses for a long time on the tall, dark-haired girl who speaks so eloquently in favor of a certain decision concerning bringing a certain man back to the capital. But the millions of onlookers will not understand her argument, which is spoken in her obscure language and is not translated for them. All they will know is how the eye-snout of the camera lingered on her young face, sucking it.


    


    This is a love story. Two hours later the cameraman was long gone but the committee was still meeting.


    “No, listen,” she said, “seriously, this is the moment when the betrayal is always made. Free elections, yes, but if we don’t look past that now, when will we? And who’ll do it? Are we a country or a client state changing patrons?”


    “You have to go one step at a time, consolidating—”


    “When the dam breaks? You have to shoot the rapids! All at once!”


    “It’s a matter of choosing direction—”


    “Exactly, direction. Not being carried senselessly by events.”


    “But all the events are sweeping in one direction.”


    “They always do. Back! You’ll see!”


    “Sweeping to what, to dependence on the West instead of the East, like Fana said?”


    “Dependence is inevitable—realignment, but not occupation—”


    “The hell it won’t be occupation! Occupation by money, materialism, their markets, their values, you don’t think we can hold out against them, do you? What’s social justice to a color TV set? That battle’s lost before it’s fought. Where do we stand?”


    “Where we always stood. In an absolutely untenable position.”


    “He’s right. Seriously, we are exactly where we always were. Nobody else is. We are. They have caught up with us, for a moment, for this moment, and so we can act. The untenable position is the center of power. Now. We can act now.”


    “To prevent color-TV-zation? How? The dam’s broken! The goodies come flooding in. And we drown in them.”


    “Not if we establish the direction, the true direction, right now—”


    “But will Rege listen to us? Why are we turning back when we should be going forward? If we—”


    “We have to establish—”


    “No! We have to act! Freedom can be established only in the moment of freedom—”


    They were all shouting at once in their hoarse, worn-out voices. They had all been talking and listening and drinking bad coffee and living for days, for weeks, on love. Yes, on love; these are lovers’ quarrels. It is for love that he pleads, it is for love that she rages. It was always for love. That’s why the camera snout came poking and sucking into this dirty basement room where the lovers meet. It craves love, the sight of love; for if you can’t have the real thing you can watch it on TV, and soon you don’t know the real thing from the images on the little screen where everything, as he said, can be done in two seconds. But the lovers know the difference.


    


    This is a fairy tale, and you know that in the fairy tale, after it says that they lived happily ever after, there is no after. The evil enchantment was broken; the good servant received half the kingdom as his reward; the king ruled long and well. Remember the moment when the betrayal is made, and ask no questions. Do not ask if the poisoned fields grew white again with grain. Do not ask if the leaves of the forests grew green that spring. Do not ask what the maiden received as her reward. Remember the tale of Koshchey the Deathless, whose life was in a needle, and the needle was in an egg, and the egg was in a swan, and the swan was in an eagle, and the eagle was in a wolf, and the wolf was in the palace whose walls were built of the stones of power. Enchantment within enchantment! We are a long way yet from the egg that holds the needle that must be broken so that Koshchey the Deathless can die. And so the tale ends. Thousands and thousands and thousands of people stood on the slanting pavement before the palace. Snow sparkled in the air, and the people sang. You know the song, that old song with words like “land,” “love,” “free,” in the language you have known the longest. Its words make stone part from stone, its words prevent tanks, its words transform the world, when it is sung at the right time by the right people, after enough people have died for singing it.


    A thousand doors opened in the walls of the palace. The soldiers laid down their arms and sang. The evil enchantment was broken. The good king returned to his kingdom, and the people danced for joy on the stones of the city streets.


    


    And we do not ask what happened after. But we can tell the story over, we can tell the story till we get it right.


    “My daughter’s on the Committee of the Student Action Council,” said Stefan Fabbre to his neighbor Florens Aske as they stood in a line outside the bakery on Pradinestrade. His tone of voice was complicated.


    “I know. Erreskar saw her on the television,” Aske said.


    “She says they’ve decided that bringing Rege here is the only way to provide an immediate, credible transition. They think the army will accept him.”


    They shuffled forward a step.


    Aske, an old man with a hard brown face and narrow eyes, stuck his lips out, thinking it over.


    “You were in the Rege Government,” Fabbre said.


    Aske nodded. “Minister of Education for a week,” he said, and gave a bark like a sea lion, owp!—a cough or a laugh.


    “Do you think he can pull it off?”


    Aske pulled his grubby muffler closer round his neck and said, “Well, Rege is not stupid. But he’s old. What about that scientist, that physicist fellow?”


    “Rochoy. She says their idea is that Rege’s brought in first, for the transition, for the symbolism, the link to ’56, right? And if he survives, Rochoy would be the one they’d run in an election.”


    “The dream of the election . . .”


    They shuffled forward again. They were now in front of the bakery window, only eight or ten people away from the door.


    “Why do they put up the old men?” asked the old man. “These boys and girls, these young people. What the devil do they want us for again?”


    “I don’t know,” Fabbre said. “I keep thinking they know what they’re doing. She had me down there, you know, made me come to one of their meetings. She came to the lab— Come on, leave that, follow me! I did. No questions. She’s in charge. All of them, twenty-two, twenty-three, they’re in charge. In power. Seeking structure, order, but very definite: violence is defeat, to them, violence is the loss of options. They’re absolutely certain and completely ignorant. Like spring—like the lambs in spring. They have never done anything and they know exactly what to do.”


    “Stefan,” said his wife, Bruna, who had been standing at his elbow for several sentences, “you’re lecturing. Hello, dear. Hello, Florens, I just saw Margarita at the market, we were queueing for cabbages. I’m on my way downtown, Stefan. I’ll be back, I don’t know, sometime after seven, maybe.”


    “Again?” he said, and Aske said, “Downtown?”


    “It’s Thursday,” Bruna said, and bringing up the keys from her handbag, the two apartment keys and the desk key, she shook them in the air before the men’s faces, making a silvery jingle; and she smiled.


    “I’ll come,” said Stefan Fabbre.


    “Owp! owp!” went Aske. “Oh, hell, I’ll come too. Does man live by bread alone?”


    “Will Margarita worry where you are?” Bruna asked as they left the bakery line and set off towards the bus stop.


    “That’s the problem with the women, you see,” said the old man, “they worry that she’ll worry. Yes. She will. And you worry about your daughter, eh, your Fana.”


    “Yes,” Stefan said, “I do.”


    “No,” Bruna said, “I don’t. I fear her, I fear for her, I honor her. She gave me the keys.” She clutched her imitation leather handbag tight between her arm and side as they walked.


    


    This is the truth. They stood on the stones in the lightly falling snow and listened to the silvery, trembling sound of thousands of keys being shaken, unlocking the air, once upon a time.
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    Chronology


    1929


    Born in Berkeley, California, on St. Ursula’s Day, October 21, to Alfred Louis Kroeber and Theodora Covel Kracaw Brown Kroeber. (Father, born in 1876 in Hoboken, New Jersey, completed a doctorate in anthropology at Columbia College under Franz Boas in 1901 and moved to Berkeley to create a museum and department of anthropology at the University of California. In 1911, Ishi, a Yahi Indian and the last survivor of the Yana band, came to work with Kroeber and others at the Museum of Anthropology, where he remained until his death, from tuberculosis, in 1916. Mother, born in 1897 in Denver, Colorado, completed a master’s degree in clinical psychology at the University of California in 1920 and married Clifton Spencer Brown in July 1920; they had two children: Clifton Jr., born September 7, 1921, and Theodore “Ted,” born in May 1923. Brown died in October 1923, and mother began taking anthropology courses from Alfred Kroeber. They married in March 1926, and Kroeber adopted both sons. They bought a house designed by Berkeley architect Bernard Maybeck at 1325 Arch Street on the north side of the university campus. Le Guin will later cite (in an essay in the journal Paradoxa) the beauty and “integrity” of its design as an early influence. Parents took a field trip to Peru for eight months, shortly after marriage, living in a tent. Brother Karl Kroeber born in Berkeley on November 26, 1926.)


    1930


    Parents buy a ranch in the Napa Valley, later named Kishamish from a myth invented by brother Karl. Family will spend summers there entertaining visiting scholars, including physicist J. Robert Oppenheimer and both native and white storytellers.


    1931


    Juan Dolores, a Papago Indian friend and collaborator of A. L. Kroeber’s, spends the first of many summers with the Kroeber family at Kishamish.


    1932–1939


    Is taught to write by her brother Ted and goes on doing it. Ursula and Karl, along with Berkeley neighbor Ernst Landauer, invent a world of stuffed animals. Later discovers science fiction magazines, including Amazing Stories. Father tells her American Indian stories and myths; she also reads Norse myths. Mother later recalls, “The children wrote and acted plays; they had the ‘Barn-top Players’ in the loft of the old barn. They put out a weekly newspaper.”


    c. 1940


    Submits first story to Astounding Science Fiction and collects her first rejection letter.


    c. 1942


    With her brothers in the armed services (Clifton joins in 1940, before the war starts for America, Ted in ’43, and Karl in ’44), Ursula is left without imaginative co-conspirators. In a later interview she recalls, “My older brothers had some beautiful little British figurines, a troop of nineteenth-century French cavalrymen and their horses. I inherited them, and played long stories with them in our big attic. They went on adventures, exploring, fighting off enemies, going on diplomatic missions, etc. The captain was particularly gallant and handsome, with his sabre drawn, and his white horse reared up nobly. Unfortunately, when you took one of them off his horse, he was extremely bow-legged, and had a little nail sticking downward from his bottom, which fit into the saddle. . . . So my brave adventurers lived entirely on horseback. Also unfortunately, there were no females at all for my stories; but when I wrote the stories down, I provided some.”


    1944–46


    In fall, begins attending Berkeley High School. Socially marginal, a good student, reads voraciously outside school, Tolstoy and other nineteenth-century writers, including Austen, the Brontës, Turgenev, Dickens, and Hardy, as well as the Taoist writings of Chinese writer Lao Tzu. Her mother introduces her to Virginia Woolf’s A Room of One’s Own and Three Guineas, which she says she didn’t really get until much later. In spring 1946, father retires from Berkeley. Parents travel to England, where father receives the Huxley Medal from the Royal Anthropological Institute.


    1947


    Graduates high school in class of 3,500, which includes Philip K. Dick. The two never meet, although they later correspond. Father accepts a one-year appointment at Harvard University, and it is decided that, with parents nearby, Ursula will attend Radcliffe College instead of the University of California. Spends summer with parents and Karl in New York City, where father teaches at Columbia University until Harvard appointment begins. They rent an apartment from parents’ friends near 116th and Broadway and spend the summer seeing many plays and Broadway shows. Takes recorder lessons with Blanche Knopf. Moves to Radcliffe in the fall. Lives last three college years in Radcliffe cooperative Everett House with close friends Jean Taylor and Marion Ives.


    1948


    Father returns to Columbia, where he will teach until 1952. Spends summer with parents in New York City, this time in another apartment rented from parents’ friends, near 116th and Riverside Drive.


    1950


    A relationship in her senior year at Radcliffe results in an unplanned pregnancy; an illegal abortion is arranged with the help of friends and parents.


    1951


    Elected to Phi Beta Kappa. Graduates cum laude from Radcliffe in June, writing a senior thesis titled “The Metaphor of the Rose as an Illustration of the ‘Carpe Diem’ Theme in French and Italian Poetry of the Renaissance.” College acquaintances include John Updike, who marries one of her housemates. Travels to Paris with Karl and begins writing novel A Descendance, about the imaginary Central European country of Orsinia, whose name reflects her own: both come from the Latin word for “bear.” Starts graduate work at Columbia in the fall. Begins writing and attempting to publish poetry and stories. Father helps her submit poems for publication, mailing her submissions and also investigating subculture of little magazines.


    1952


    Completes an M.A. in Renaissance French and Italian language and literature at Columbia University, writing a thesis titled “Ideas of Death in Ronsard’s Poetry” on the sixteenth-century French poet Pierre Ronsard. Begins work on a doctorate at Columbia on the early sixteenth-century poet Jean Lemaire de Belges. Submits A Descendance to Alfred Knopf, a friend of her father’s, and receives an encouraging rejection letter. In a 2013 interview, Le Guin will recall that “The first novel I ever wrote was very strange, very ambitious. It covered many generations in my invented Central European country, Orsinia. My father knew Alfred Knopf personally. . . . When I was about twenty-three, I asked my father if he felt that my submitting the novel to Knopf would presume on their friendship, and he said, No, go ahead and try him. So I did, and Knopf wrote a lovely letter back. He said, I can’t take this damn thing. I would’ve done it ten years ago, but I can’t afford to now. He said, This is a very strange book, but you’re going somewhere! That was all I needed. I didn’t need acceptance.” Begins writing new Orsinian novel called, variously, Malafrena and The Necessary Passion.


    1953


    Receives a Fulbright Fellowship to study in France. Departs from New York on September 23 on the Queen Mary. On the ship she meets fellow Fulbrighter Charles Alfred Le Guin (born June 4, 1927, in Macon, Georgia), who is writing his thesis on the French Revolution. On December 22, marries Le Guin in Paris after numerous delays in procuring a marriage license—later says there was “always another tax stamp we needed across the city.” (On the marriage license, a space between “Le” and “Guin” is restored, in a surname that had not had one in America.)


    1954


    Le Guins return to U.S. on the Ile de France ship in August. Ends graduate work and the Le Guins move to Macon, Georgia, where Charles teaches history and Ursula teaches freshman French at Mercer University. Meets Charles’s large extended family. Sees, and is first puzzled and then appalled by, her first sign for a “Colored Drinking Fountain.”


    1955


    Completes first version of novel Malafrena. Works as a physics department secretary at Emory University in Atlanta, where Charles is completing his Ph.D.


    1956


    Charles receives his doctorate from Emory and they move to Moscow, Idaho, where they both begin teaching at the University of Idaho. Out of boredom in a rather insular community, together with friends they fabricate items about an imaginary poetry society (including poems by Le Guin’s alter ego Mrs. R. R. Korsatoff) and succeed in placing them on the society page of the local newspaper.


    1957


    Oldest child Elisabeth Covel Le Guin is born, July 25.


    1958


    Moves to Portland, Oregon, where Charles takes up position as professor of French history at Portland State University (then College). They buy a Victorian house below Portland’s Forest Park, where they will live for the next six decades.


    1959


    Spends summer at Berkeley with parents and Karl’s family. The Orsinian poem “Folksong from the Montayna Province” appears in the fall issue of the journal Prairie Poet. It is her first published work. Second child Caroline DuPree Le Guin is born, November 4. Mother publishes The Inland Whale, a book of retold legends from California Indians, including the title story, which was learned from Yurok storyteller (and frequent guest at Kishamish) Robert Spott.


    1960


    Father dies in Paris on October 5 after conducting an anthropology conference in Austria the previous week. Later refers to this as the time when she “came of age, rather belatedly, at age 31.”


    1961


    Mother publishes her most famous work, Ishi in Two Worlds, based on her husband’s memories and on her own research. Le Guin’s Orsinian story “An die Musik” is published in the summer issue of Western Humanities Review; she is paid five contributor’s copies. The same week it is accepted, she also makes her first commercial sale: the time-travel story “April in Paris” is accepted by editor Cele Goldsmith Lalli for Fantastic magazine, for which Le Guin is paid $30. Rewrites Malafrena.


    1962


    Encouraged by a friend, begins reading science fiction writers Philip K. Dick, Harlan Ellison, Theodore Sturgeon, and Vonda McIntyre.


    1964


    Youngest child Theodore Alfred (Theo) Le Guin is born, June 4. (While the children are young she writes mostly after nine at night.) Moves for the academic year to Palo Alto, California, where Charles is a fellow at the Center for Advanced Study in the Behavioral Sciences. Writes her first science fiction novel, Rocannon’s World. Her turn to science fiction is partly stimulated by reading the American author Cordwainer Smith and her resultant discovery that the genre has become a vehicle for inward as well as outward exploration. In a 1986 interview, she will explain, “To me encountering his works was like a door opening. There is one story of his called ‘Alpha Ralpha Boulevard’ that was as important to me as reading Pasternak for the first time.”


    1966


    Acting as her own agent, sells Rocannon’s World to Donald A. Wollheim at Ace Books. It is published as half of a back-to-back edition, known as an Ace Double, with Avram Davidson’s The Kar-Chee Reign. Wollheim speaks proudly of finding Le Guin’s novel in the slush pile (of manuscripts sent without an agent). Soon afterward, Terry Carr creates the Ace Science Fiction Specials line to feature work by Le Guin, Joanna Russ, and R. A. Lafferty. The character Rocannon is a native of a world called Hain by its inhabitants and Davenant by others. In later books set in the same universe Hain is identified as the oldest human world, and the others (including Terra) as its colonies or (as in the case of Gethen) its experiments. These stories are collectively known as the Hainish Cycle. Planet of Exile is published in October as half of an Ace Double with Thomas M. Disch’s Mankind Under the Leash.


    1967


    City of Illusions is published by Ace Books.


    1968


    Writes to literary agent Virginia Kidd, herself a writer and editor of science fiction and poetry, asking her to try to sell hardcover rights to a new novel, The Left Hand of Darkness. Kidd replies that she will, but only if she can also represent the rest of Le Guin’s work. The two work together (though they meet in person only four times) until Kidd’s death in 2003. Publishes letter, along with eighty-one other science fiction writers (including Joanna Russ, Samuel R. Delany, and Gene Roddenberry), in Galaxy magazine in June protesting U.S. involvement in Vietnam. An opposing prowar letter is signed by seventy-two writers, including Robert A. Heinlein, John W. Campbell, and Marion Zimmer Bradley. In fall, moves to England as part of Charles’s sabbatical. During that time she writes “The Word for World Is Forest,” set in the Hainish universe but depicting some of the moral issues of the Vietnam War. Fantasy novel A Wizard of Earthsea is published in November by Parnassus Books.


    1969


    A Wizard of Earthsea wins the Boston Globe–Horn Book Award for children’s literature. The Left Hand of Darkness is published by Ace Books as an Ace Science Fiction Special in March. The book’s vision of androgyny is criticized by some feminists as overly cautious, a critique to which Le Guin responds defensively at first and then with a serious rethinking of her concept of gender in essays such as “Is Gender Necessary? Redux” (1976, revised 1987) and the story “Coming of Age in Karhide” (1995). The story “Nine Lives” appears in Playboy in November with the byline U. K. Le Guin. The initials are a deliberate ploy by Virginia Kidd, given the gender policies of the magazine. After the story is accepted, the magazine editors ask if they can keep the name in that form to veil the author’s gender from readers. Le Guin agrees, in part because of the large payment the magazine offers, but when asked for an autobiographical statement offers the following, which Playboy prints: “The stories of U. K. Le Guin were not written by U. K. Le Guin but by another person of the same name.” Children’s writer and critic Eleanor Cameron writes in praise of A Wizard of Earthsea and begins a decades-long correspondence with Le Guin. The two writers are both, at the time, beginning to come to terms with feminism and are working at learning how to write as women and about female protagonists. This friendship with an older writer presages the many supportive relationships Le Guin is to form with younger women writers such as Vonda McIntyre, Karen Joy Fowler, and Molly Gloss. Mother remarries, to artist and art psychotherapist John Quinn, who is forty-three years her junior, on December 14.


    1970


    The Left Hand of Darkness wins both the Hugo and Nebula Awards for best novel, selected, respectively, by fans and fellow writers. The Science Fiction Foundation is created in England with Le Guin and Arthur C. Clarke as patrons. The Tombs of Atuan, second Earthsea novel, is serialized in December in Worlds of Fantasy and published by Atheneum in June the following year.


    1971


    The Lathe of Heaven is serialized in the March and May issues of Amazing Science Fiction and published in October by Charles Scribner’s Sons. Le Guin’s first science fiction novel set on Earth, it incorporates her thoughts on dreaming (pioneering dream researcher William Dement is a consultant), ecological catastrophe, and Taoist ideas of inaction and integrity. In spring, meets Vonda N. McIntyre at a Science Fiction Writers of America meeting in Berkeley, who will become a close friend and collaborator. McIntyre invites Le Guin to teach science fiction writing at the first Clarion West workshop at the University of Washington.


    1972


    The Tombs of Atuan is selected as a Newbery Honor Book by the American Library Association. The Lathe of Heaven wins the Locus Award for best novel. “The World for World Is Forest,” written in 1968–69, appears in Harlan Ellison’s anthology Again, Dangerous Visions in March. In part an allegory of the Vietnam War, the novella (published as a separate volume in 1976) influences James Cameron’s 2009 movie Avatar. Third Earthsea novel, The Farthest Shore, is published in September by Atheneum.


    1973


    The Farthest Shore wins the National Book Award for Children’s Literature. Le Guin’s acceptance speech, “Why Are Americans Afraid of Dragons?” is a major defense of fantasy literature. “The Word for World Is Forest” wins the Hugo Award for best novella. “The Ones Who Walk Away from Omelas,” a story inspired by philosopher William James, is published in New Dimensions 3 in October.


    1974


    “The Ones Who Walk Away from Omelas” wins the Hugo Award for best short story. Douglas Barbour publishes an academic investigation of Le Guin’s work in Science Fiction Studies. Completes novel The Dispossessed, its main character Shevek party based on a childhood memory of physicist Robert Oppenheimer; revises ending at the urging of her friend Darko Suvin, a Croatian literary critic. Senior editor Buz Wyeth acquires the novel for Harper & Row, which publishes it in May. Wyeth remains her editor for several years.


    Takes part in a virtual symposium on “Women in Science Fiction,” organized by editor and fan Jeffrey D. Smith. Participants such as Suzy McKee Charnas, Virginia Kidd, Samuel R. Delany, Vonda McIntyre, Joanna Russ, and James Tiptree Jr. write a round robin of letters and responses on a variety of topics, starting in October 1974 and continuing until May 1975. Their discussions are published in the fanzine Khatru in November 1975. Tiptree, believed by the other participants to be a man (the writer’s identity as Alice Sheldon is not revealed until 1977), expresses a number of challenging ideas about gender and power.


    1975


    Poetry collection Wild Angels is published in January. The Dispossessed wins the Hugo, Locus, and Nebula Awards. In August, attends the World Science Fiction Convention, or Worldcon, in Melbourne, Australia, where she is a guest of honor, and also spends a week conducting a science fiction writing workshop using the Clarion method. In May, dystopian novella “The New Atlantis” is published as part of a triptych with novellas by Gene Wolfe and James Tiptree Jr. The first collection of Le Guin’s short stories is published under the title The Wind’s Twelve Quarters. The Le Guins spend another sabbatical year in London starting in the fall; Ursula is a visiting fellow in creative writing at the University of Reading. In November Science Fiction Studies devotes a special issue to her work.


    1976


    During their stay in England, the Le Guins travel to Dorset to meet writer Sylvia Townsend Warner; Ursula says later, “I hold it one of the dearest honors of my life that I knew her for an hour.” Young adult novel Very Far Away from Anywhere Else published in August by Atheneum. A second collection of stories, Orsinian Tales, published in October by Harper & Row.


    1977


    At the invitation of utopian scholar Robert Elliott, teaches a term at the University of California, San Diego. Among her students are aspiring writers Kim Stanley Robinson and Luis Alberto Urrea.


    1978


    Again rewrites early novel Malafrena, finishing in December. Science fiction novella “The Eye of the Heron” appears in the original anthology Millennial Women, edited by Virginia Kidd, in August. Mother falls ill.


    1979


    Wins the Gandalf Grand Master Award for life achievement in fantasy writing. Susan Wood edits the first volume of Le Guin’s speeches and essays, The Language of the Night. Around this time she discovers the poetry of Rainer Maria Rilke, a favorite and acknowledged influence. Mother dies of cancer on July 4. Le Guin’s first children’s picture book, Leese Webster, is published with illustrations by James Brunsman in September by Atheneum. Malafrena is published in October by G. P. Putnam’s Sons. Le Guin is invited to take part in a symposium on narrative at the University of Chicago, October 26–28, along with scholars and writers such as Seymour Chatman, Paul de Man, Jacques Derrida, Frank Kermode, Barbara Herrnstein Smith, Robert Scholes, Victor Turner, Paul Ricoeur, and Hayden White. Her contribution at the end of the symposium is “It Was a Dark and Stormy Night; or, Why Are We Huddling Around the Campfire?”, a piece that is both a witty summary of the discussions and a metanarrative about the value of story. She wrote in a headnote to the published version that “I had bought my first and only pair of two-inch-heeled shoes, black French ones, to wear there, but I never dared put them on; there were so many Big Guns shooting at one another that it seemed unwise to try to increase my stature.” Short story “Two Delays on the Northern Line” is published in The New Yorker in the November 12 issue.


    1980


    On January 9, television movie of The Lathe of Heaven airs, filmed by PBS station WNET with a script by Diane English and Roger Swaybill and contributions by Le Guin. Charles and Ursula appear as extras, an experience she writes about in an essay called “Working on ‘The Lathe.’” Le Guin likes the film and finds the whole experience quite positive, in contrast to later experiences with film adaptations of her work. Young adult novel The Beginning Place published in February by Harper & Row. It is reviewed in The New Yorker by John Updike in June. Collaborates with Virginia Kidd as editors of the anthologies Edges and Interfaces. From 1980 to 1993, teaches many times at The Flight of the Mind writing workshop for women in McKenzie Bridge, Oregon, in her opinion her most valuable teaching experience.


    1981


    Poetry collection Hard Words published by Harper.


    1982


    “Sur,” a story that is not so much alternative history as crypto-history (the female explorers who are first to the South Pole keep their feat a secret), appears in The New Yorker in January. The New Yorker publishes two more of her stories this year, in July and October.


    1984


    Brian Booth founds the Oregon Institute of Literary Arts and invites Le Guin, along with Floyd Skloot and William Stafford, to become members of the advisory board.


    1985


    In January, The New Yorker publishes “She Unnames Them,” an abstract and surrealistic story of a type that Le Guin has called a “psychomyth.” In October, publishes a major new science fiction novel, Always Coming Home, set in the future California. Novel involves collaboration with geologist George Hersh, artist Margaret Chodos, and composer Todd Barton, whose music of the imagined Kesh people is included on a cassette tape with the original boxed set (and creates problems with the Library of Congress, which objects to copyrighting the music of indigenous peoples). The book wins the Janet Heidinger Kafka Prize for fiction by an American woman and is a runner-up for the National Book Award. It also creates a stir among more conservative science fiction readers and writers for being what they consider antitechnology; Le Guin points out that the book is pervaded with technology, though the technology is predicated upon a sustainable use of resources. Publishes a screenplay, King Dog, based on a segment of Hindu epic the Mahabharata. Composer Elinor Armer composes song settings of poems from Le Guin’s collection Wild Angels. The two meet and begin to collaborate on eight musical compositions for orchestra and voices called Uses of Music in Uttermost Parts. The pieces premiere in 1995.


    1987


    Novella “Buffalo Gals, Won’t You Come Out Tonight” appears in The Magazine of Fantasy and Science Fiction. The story combines another critique of anthropocentrism with an homage to American Indian storytelling tradition.


    1988


    Publishes children’s picture storybook Catwings, illustrated by S. D. Schindler. The saga of a family of flying cats continues with Catwings Return (1989), Wonderful Alexander and the Catwings (1994), and Jane on Her Own (1999). The origin of the whole set is a winged cat drawn as a doodle by Ursula, which prompts the writing of the first story. She then sends the sketch to artist Schindler, who uses it as the model for the character Harriet. The Catwings are reminiscent of a much larger (and thus much less feasible) race of winged cats in Rocannon’s World.


    1989


    Receives the Pilgrim Award from the Science Fiction Research Association for her critical contributions, following in the footsteps of scholars such as H. Bruce Franklin and Thomas Clareson as well as writer-critics like James Blish and Joanna Russ.


    1990


    A fourth Earthsea novel, Tehanu, is published by Atheneum/Macmillan in March. It reexamines themes from earlier volumes such as the maleness and (implicit) celibacy of wizards and the relationship between dragons and humans. Despite controversy over what some see as a revisionist history of a beloved fantasy world, the novel receives much acclaim (in 1993 in “Earthsea Revisioned” Le Guin says she always knew there was more to tell about Earthsea, but the fourth volume had to wait until she was ready to tell a story about women’s lives: “I couldn’t continue my hero-tale until I had, as woman and artist, wrestled with the angels of the feminist consciousness”).


    1991


    Tehanu wins Nebula Award and Locus Award. Publishes Searoad, a linked collection or story cycle about a fictional coastal town in Oregon. Wins Pushcart Prize for short story “Bill Weisler,” which is collected in Searoad. In the fall, is writer-in-residence for a semester at Beloit College, in Wisconsin, holding the Lois and Willard Mackey Chair in Creative Writing.


    1992


    Searoad is shortlisted for the Pulitzer Prize in fiction. Wins the H. L. Davis Fiction Award from the Oregon Library Association.


    1993


    With Karen Joy Fowler and Brian Attebery, edits The Norton Book of Science Fiction, which, though initially criticized for being too inclusive or “politically correct,” is widely used as a textbook not only in science fiction classes but also in courses in short fiction and fiction writing.


    1995


    Receives the World Fantasy Award for Lifetime Achievement. Publishes Four Ways to Forgiveness, a collection of four linked novellas set in a world within the Hainish universe. Charles retires from Portland State University.


    1996


    Publishes a volume of poetry, The Twins, the Dream (1996), in which she and Argentine poet Diana Bellessi translate each other’s work. Receives a Retrospective Tiptree Award from The James Tiptree, Jr. Literary Award Council for The Left Hand of Darkness.


    1997


    Short story collection Unlocking the Air is nominated for the Pulitzer Prize. Stories in the collection include the 1982 New Yorker story “The Professor’s Houses”; the title story in which the postcommunist revolution comes to Orsinia; and “The Poacher,” an exploration of what it means to be an interloper rather than the hero of a fairy tale. Publishes a version of the Tao Te Ching, which she describes as a rendering in English, rather than a direct translation. Though she doesn’t know Chinese, she is a lifelong student of Lao Tzu’s enigmatic text and of Taoist philosophy, introduced to both by her father. In producing her English version she consults many translations, loose and literal, and consults with scholar J. P. Seaton.


    1998


    Publishes Steering the Craft, a guide to writing based on her own practice and on the many workshops she has conducted. Her examples of excellence include Kipling, Twain, Woolf, and a Northern Paiute storyteller whose name is not recorded.


    2000


    The U.S. Library of Congress honors Le Guin as a Living Legend in the Writers and Artists category. Awarded the Robert Kirsch Lifetime Achievement Award by the Los Angeles Times. Publishes The Telling in September, the first new novel since 1974 to be set in the Hainish universe of her early science fiction. Many shorter works in the same universe have appeared over the years, including “Vaster Than Empires and More Slow” (1971); “The Shobies’ Story” (1990); “Another Story or A Fisherman of the Inland Sea” (1994); and the four linked novellas of Four Ways to Forgiveness (1995).


    2001


    The Telling wins the Endeavor Award for best book by a writer from the Pacific Northwest and the Locus Award. Le Guin is inducted into the Science Fiction Hall of Fame. Publishes two short story volumes, Tales from Earthsea and The Other Wind.


    2002


    Tales from Earthsea wins the Endeavor Award and the Locus Award. The Other Wind wins the World Fantasy Award for Best Novel. Receives the PEN/Malamud Award for Short Fiction. Fellow winner Junot Díaz acknowledges her influence. Participates in artists’ rallies against the Patriot Act, passed the previous year; she writes, “What do attacks on freedom of speech and writing mean to a writer? It means that somebody’s there with a big plug they’re trying to fit into your mouth.”


    2003


    Translates science fiction novel Kalpa Imperial by Argentine writer Angélica Gorodischer. Publishes Changing Planes, a linked collection of partly satirical stories about people who slip between realities while waiting in airports. Named a Grand Master by the Science Fiction and Fantasy Writers of America.


    2004


    Changing Planes wins the Locus Award for best story collection. Publishes Gifts, the first of three volumes of the Annals of the Western Shore, a fantasy for young adults, in September. Receives the Margaret A. Edwards Award for contributions to children’s literature from the American Library Association and delivers the May Hill Arbuthnot Lecture to the ALA’s subdivision, the Association for Library Service to Children.


    2005


    Gifts wins the 2005 PEN Center Children’s Literature Award.


    2006


    Publishes the middle volume of the Annals of the Western Shore, Voices, in September. The Washington Center for the Book awards Le Guin the Maxine Cushing Gray Fellowship for Writers for a distinguished body of work.


    2007


    Publishes the final volume of the Annals of the Western Shore, Powers, in September. Works through Virgil’s Aeneid in Latin, ten lines a day, in preparation for writing the historical novel Lavinia, a retelling of the Aeneid from the point of view of the hero’s Italic second wife, who is silent in the original version.


    2008


    Lavinia is published in April and wins the Locus Award. Powers wins the Nebula Award.


    2009


    Publishes Cheek by Jowl, a book of essays on fantasy and why it matters. Brother Karl dies on November 8 of cancer, age eighty-two, in Brooklyn, New York.


    2010


    Cheek by Jowl wins Locus Award for Best Non-Fiction/Art Book. Is the subject of a festschrift, or celebratory volume, on the occasion of her eightieth birthday. 80! Memories & Reflections on Ursula K. Le Guin is edited by Karen Joy Fowler and Debbie Notkin and includes essays and original works by many writers and scholars, including Kim Stanley Robinson, Andrea Hairston, Julie Phillips, Gwyneth Jones, Eleanor Arnason, and John Kessel. Publishes Out Here, Poems and Images from Steens Mountain Country, with text, poems, and sketches by Le Guin, text and photographs by Roger Dorband.


    2012


    Publishes Finding My Elegy: New and Selected Poems, her sixth book of poems. Publishes two-volume edition of selected short stories under the title The Unreal and the Real. Receives the J. Lloyd Eaton Lifetime Achievement Award in Science Fiction at the University of California, Riverside.


    2013


    Interviewed in the Paris Review series “The Art of Fiction.” Publishes a translation of Squaring the Circle: A Pseudotreatise of Urbogony (2013) by Romanian writer Gheorghe Sasarman, which is retranslated from the Spanish translation by Mariano Martin Rodriguez, with both translations being overseen by Sasarman.


    2014


    Awarded the National Book Foundation Medal for Distinguished Contribution to American Letters. In her widely quoted speech she calls for “writers who can see alternatives to how we live now, and can see through our fear-stricken society and its obsessive technologies, to other ways of being. We’ll need writers who can remember freedom—poets, visionaries—realists of a larger reality.”

  


  
    Note on the Texts


    This volume contains all of Ursula K. Le Guin’s writings set in the country of Orsinia: the novel Malafrena (1979), three songs, the story collection Orsinian Tales (1976), and two additional stories.


    Le Guin first had the idea for the country of Orsinia in 1949, while she was a student at Radcliffe. She began writing her first novel set in Orsinia, A Descendance, in 1951 while in Paris with her brother, Karl Kroeber. She submitted the manuscript to Alfred Knopf, who rejected it. She never sent the manuscript out again.


    In 1952, Le Guin began another Orsinian novel, called in various drafts Malafrena or The Necessary Passion. The manuscript was set aside, and she later rewrote it in 1961, 1969, and February 1975. Finally, in 1978, after the publication of the story collection Orsinian Tales, a collection of linked stories all taking place in Orsinia, Le Guin’s literary agent Virginia Kidd encouraged Le Guin to try again. She revised the novel a final time, finishing in December of that year. It was published by G. P. Putnam’s Sons in 1979 under the title Malafrena. The following year Gollancz published an English edition in London using different plates; it incorporated Anglicized spellings, but the text was otherwise identical to the American edition. This volume uses the first American edition as its text, and incorporates three corrections made by the author: on page 79, “joined them” has been changed to “joined him”; on page 108, Battiste’s age has been corrected from four to six; and on page 212, “The next night, Christmas eve” has been corrected to “On Christmas eve.”


    “Folk Song from the Montayna Province” appeared in The Prairie Poet, Fall 1959. It was Le Guin’s first published poem. The two songs written in Orsinian, “Red Berries (Montayna Province)” and “The Walls of Rákava (Polana Province)” are published here for the first time. The texts were provided by the author.


    Orsinian Tales collects stories published from 1961 to 1976, including Le Guin’s first published short story, “An die Musik,” which appeared in The Western Humanities Review in summer 1961; Le Guin was paid with five contributor’s copies. Of the eleven stories in the volume, five had been published in magazines before being collected:


    “The Barrow,” The Magazine of Fantasy and Science Fiction, October 1976.


    “Brothers and Sisters,” The Little Magazine, Vol. 10, Nos. 1 & 2, Summer 1976.


    “A Week in the Country,” The Little Magazine, Vol. 9, No. 4, Spring 1976.


    “An die Musik,” The Western Humanities Review, Vol. XV, No. 3, Summer 1961.


    “Imaginary Countries,” The Harvard Advocate, Winter 1973.


    The remaining six stories (“The Fountains,” “Ile Forest,” “Conversations at Night,” “The Road East,” “The House,” and “The Lady of Moge”) were first published in Orsinian Tales (Harper & Row, 1976). Le Guin sometimes continued to revise her stories between their magazine publication and book publication, in some cases quite heavily, for example with “Brothers and Sisters”; in other instances she restored readings that had been changed to conform to a magazine’s house style. Orsinian Tales was published in London 1977 by Gollancz using the plates from the Harper & Row first edition. This edition uses the first American edition as its text.


    “Two Delays on the Northern Line” first appeared in The New Yorker, November 12, 1979, and was reprinted in The Compass Rose (New York: Harper & Row, 1982), pp. 47–60. “Unlocking the Air” first appeared in Playboy in December 1990 and was collected in Unlocking the Air and Other Stories (New York: HarperCollins, 1996). Both stories were revised by Le Guin between their magazine and book publications. This volume uses the first book editions as its texts.


    This volume presents the texts of the original printings chosen for inclusion here, but it does not attempt to reproduce features of their typographic design. The texts are presented without change, except for the correction of typographical errors. Spelling, punctuation, and capitalization are often expressive features, and they are not altered, even when inconsistent or irregular. The following is a list of typographical errors corrected, cited by page and line number: 35.28, “Estanskar; 61.21, Defend; 63.7–8, cannot to be; 114.18, than in; 124.6, course,; 129.15, hearby;; 138.40, bendiction; 140.3, imspirational; 140.19, rostrum. O; 141.14, indisciminate; 168.27, brother And; 170.37, was sighing; 174.26, comtempt; 178.24, the the things; 190.7, has gathered; 194.6. foxes’; 199.16, Article 15,; 203.8, no do; 205.29, at east; 213.32, Eleanora,; 215.27, heart;; 216.7, Given; 221.2, it,” my; 222.7, clamly.; 236.15, best, ”; 237.12, bethrothed;; 248.15, table, “Why,; 257.28, disguest; 264.4, “Hie uncle.; 272.27, her,; 278.12, Belavay; 297.15, long place; 300.33, swaing; 316.11, coming in; the fields; 329.2, health “There’s; 332.8, thin,; 341.40, sky the; 361.33, Goverment; 424.32, Karst; 514.33, hopefull,; 530.23, acheive.

  


  
    Notes


    In the notes below, the reference numbers denote page and line of this volume (the line count includes headings, but not rule lines). No note is made for material included in the eleventh edition of Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary, except for certain cases where common words and terms have specific historical meanings or inflections. Biblical quotations and allusions are keyed to the King James Version; references to Shakespeare to The Riverside Shakespeare, ed. G. Blackmore Evans (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1974). For further biographical background, references to other studies, and more detailed notes, see James Bittner, “Persuading Us to Rejoice and Teaching Us How to Praise: Le Guin’s Orsinian Tales,” in Science Fiction Studies 16 (1978); Elizabeth Cummins, Understanding Ursula K. Le Guin, revised edition (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 1993); Ursula K. Le Guin, “Introduction,” in The Norton Book of Science Fiction (New York: W. W. Norton, 1993); and John Wray, “Ursula K. Le Guin, The Art of Fiction No. 221,” The Paris Review No. 206 (Fall 2013).


    MALAFRENA


    7.28–29 the apostasy of Julian] Roman emperor Julian I (c. 331–363 C.E.) is known as Julian the Apostate for his attempt to revive Roman paganism in place of Christianity.


    8.9 Müller, Von Gentz, and Von Haller!] Adam Heinrich Müller (1779–1829), a Prussian political economist, and Friedrich von Gentz (1764–1832), a Prussian political journalist, served in the Austrian government as counsellors to Prince Metternich (1773–1859), the reactionary foreign minister of the Austrian Empire, 1809–48, and helped draft the Carlsbad Decrees of 1819 that sought to repress nationalist and liberal thought in the universities of the German Confederation. Karl Ludwig von Haller (1768–1854) was a Swiss jurist and political theorist known for his reactionary views. (Like all references to persons outside of Orsinia, they are historical figures; inside Orsinia, names and personages are invented.)


    9.11 “Luther had ninety-five theses,”] On October 31, 1517, German monk Martin Luther (1483–1546) began the Protestant Reformation by nailing ninety-five theses inviting discussion of clerical abuses and the sale of indulgences in the Catholic Church to the door of the All Saints’ Church in Wittenberg.


    9.24–26 Grand Duchess Mariya . . . Francis of Austria] The Grand Duchess is a fictional ruler. Her cousin is the historical Francis (1768–1835), emperor of Austria, 1804–35, and, as Francis II, the last ruler of the Holy Roman Empire, 1792–1806.


    10.25 the Ostriches] A joking slur on Austria—in German, Österreich, or the Eastern Kingdom. The pun works in English and French, though not in German.


    10.27–28 “Das würde ich auch gerne wissen!”] German: That I would also like to know.


    12.35 the wrong side in ’13.] In 1813, Austria, Prussia, Russia, and Sweden formed an alliance against Napoleon, whose predominantly French army included contingents of Polish, Italian, and German troops. At the battle of Leipzig, October 16–19, 1813, the alliance defeated Napoleon and forced him to retreat into France.


    13.23 the death of Stilicho] Flavius Stilicho (c. 359–408), half-Germanic Roman general who played an important part in the defense of both the eastern and western halves of the divided Roman Empire and who served as regent for Western Roman Emperor Honorius, 395–408. Accused of treason, he was arrested and executed. Soon afterward, in 410, Rome was sacked by Goths.


    17.32 Prometheus in chains] According to the Greek poet Hesiod, the titan Prometheus, creator of mankind, was imprisoned by the gods for his theft of fire on man’s behalf. His punishment was to be chained to a rock and to have an eagle eat his liver every day, which would then regenerate overnight. He was eventually freed by Hercules.


    17.39 the New Heloise] Julie, ou la nouvelle Héloïse (1761), by French writer and philosopher Jean-Jacques Rousseau (1712–1778), a novel in letter form in which Rousseau propounded many of his ideas about freedom and the authentic life.


    18.3 the Moniteur] La Gazette Nationale, ou Le Moniteur Universal, newspaper founded in 1789 in Paris that reported on the debates in the National Assembly during the Revolution. It later became a propaganda organ for Napoleon I, and continued publication until 1868.


    18.9–10 M. Danton, M. Mirabeau, M. Vergniaud . . . M. Robespierre] George Jacques Danton (1759–1794), Honoré Gabriel Riqueti, Comte de Mirabeau (1749–1791), and Pierre Victurnien Vergniaud (1753–1793), leading figures in the French Revolution who opposed the radical Jacobin faction led by Maximilien Robespierre (1758–1794). Danton and Vergniaud were executed during the Jacobin Terror, while Mirabeau died of natural causes.


    18.15 “Vivre libre, ou mourir!”] French Revolutionary slogan, plausibly uttered by Vergniaud: Live free, or die!


    20.37 University of Wilno] Founded in 1579 in Vilnius (in Polish, Wilno), Lithuania.


    22.26 Vega] The fifth brightest star in the sky, part of the constellation Lyra.


    24.35 Lot’s wife] See Genesis 19:26.


    25.14–15 that whole book about Manfred!] Manfred: A Dramatic Poem (1816–17), by George Gordon, Lord Byron (1788–1824).


    32.3–6 Falkone . . . Mazeppa] Falkone is “falcon” in Orsinian. “Mazeppa” (1819) is a poem by Byron.


    35.15 Mandevilia suaveolens] Mandevilla laxa (alternatively suaveolens), or Chilean jasmine, is a tropical vine with fragrant white flowers.


    38.37 Social Contract] Du Contrat Social (1762), an influential political treatise by Jean-Jacques Rousseau.


    45.37–38 Non sogno questa . . . libertà!] Italian: Not a dream, this time, not a dream, O Liberty! Lines from “La Libertà a Nice” (1733) by Pietro Metastasio, the pseudonym of Italian poet Pietro Antonio Domenico Trapassi (1698–1782).


    50.34 Dante’s Vita Nova] The New Life (1295), a collection of poetry and prose by Dante Alighiere (c. 1265–1321) on the topic of courtly love but also, because his beloved Beatrice died during the writing, on love as a source of redemption.


    55.30 twenty kruner] The coins of Orsinia, like those of much of Europe, are called crowns, using the Orsinian word for crown, krone, from Latin corona.


    60.40 Schiller] Friedrich von Schiller (1759–1805), German poet and philosopher.


    62.9 Herder] Johann Gottfried von Herder (1744–1803), German poet and philosopher.


    62.9 Weh ’st mir!] German: Woe is me!


    63.14 iambic tetrameter] In English, iambic tetrameter is found in nursery rhymes and ballads: Shakespeare often shifts from his usual pentameter to mark lower-class characters. It is also the meter of the opening of the revolutionary French anthem “La Marseillaise.”


    68.3–4 the Cathedral of St Theodora] As Le Guin mentions in her introduction to this volume, Theodora was her mother’s name. The Byzantine empress Theodora (c. 500–548), an actress who married Emperor Justinian I, is a saint in the Eastern church, though not in the Roman.


    68.36 St Roch] Roch, or Rocco (c. 1295–c. 1327), was born in Montpellier, in the south of France, and traveled to Italy, where he tended plague victims. When he contracted the disease himself and fled to the woods to die, tradition says he was tended by a hunting dog, which licked his wounds and fed him until he recovered. After his death he was canonized and became the patron saint of dogs as well as the source of miraculous healings from plague.


    69.6 St Anthony] Perhaps named for Saint Anthony of Padua (1195–1231), a Franciscan friar. Other possibilities include Anthony of Antioch (d. 302), Anthony of Egypt (251–356), and Anthony of Kiev (983–1073).


    69.6–8 “Credo in . . . Omni-potentem,”] Latin: I believe in one God . . . Almighty.


    69.10 St Roch’s Day.] The Feast of St. Roch, August 16: traditionally the day of his death.


    70.21 Mallenastrada] Throughout the Orsinian stories, Le Guin gives hints about the Orsinian language (derived from Latin, like Romanian, but similarly influenced by the surrounding Slavic tongues) and its dialects. Lower-class residents of Krasnoy slur the syllables of Magdalene to Mallena.


    74.2 1789] The beginning of the French Revolution.


    74.6 Desmoulins] Camille Desmoulins (1760–1794), a French journalist and orator who was one of the first to call for the creation of a republic in his radical pamphlet La France Libre, issued after the storming of the Bastille in 1789. He was executed along with Danton.


    74.10–13 ‘As a preventative measure . . . Truth.’” Fredrich Gentz. See note 8.9.


    74.32 the plains of Marathon] Byron wrote in “The Isles of Greece” (1821), “The mountains look on Marathon— / And Marathon looks on the sea; / And musing there an hour alone, / I dream’d that Greece might still be free . . .” An Athenian-Plataean army decisively defeated an invading Persian force at Marathon in 490 B.C.E. See also note 25.14–15.


    75.28 presto] A musical passage intended to be played with extreme speed.


    75.32 partie carrée] French: A party of four; literally, a square party.


    76.26–28 ‘I have my Estates . . . home. . . .’”] See note 74.10–13.


    77.19 Metternich] Klemens Wenzel von Metternich, the Austrian foreign minister; see note 8.9.


    79.15 Buffon] Georges-Louis Leclerc, Comte de Buffon (1707–1788), a French naturalist, noted for his elegant style as well as his magisterial pronouncements on the natural world.


    79.37–80.1 Lancaster system or Pestalozzi’s works on education.] The monitorial system of education, developed independently in India by Scotsman Andrew Bell (1753–1832) and in England by Joseph Lancaster (1778–1838), involved having older or more advanced students help teach their less advanced peers. Swiss educator Johann Heinrich Pestalozzi (1746–1827) advocated an educational system based on children’s interests and activities.


    83.40 the new “English” addition] Formal and symmetrical French-style gardens were gradually replaced in the mid-eighteenth and nineteenth centuries by the cultivated wildness of the English style of landscaping. Part of that English style was the use of “follies”: fake temples, caves, or ruins, reminiscent of the settings of Gothic fiction.


    84.24 St Christopher] Legendary Christian martyr of the third century C.E. In the most popular story about St Christopher, he carries a child across a stream; the child then reveals himself to be the Christ child and causes Christopher’s staff to burst into bloom. He is the patron saint of travelers.


    85.18 Montesquieu] Charles-Louis de Secondat, Baron de La Brède et de Montesquieu (1689–1755), French philosopher whose writings on the separation of powers within governments influenced the American Revolution and Constitution.


    86.30 Spielberg prison] Špilberk Castle, in Brno, Moravia (now in the Czech Republic), was a notorious prison for political offenders.


    87.4 St Stephen’s] A Hellenistic Jew who became a deacon of the early Christian church in Jerusalem, Stephen was accused of blasphemy and stoned to death in 34 C.E., becoming known as the first Christian martyr. Cf. Acts 6–7.


    89.30 und so weiter, und so weiter] German: and so forth, and so forth.


    92.38–39 “Que je vinsse!” . . . “Que tu vinsses! Qu’il vînt!”] French: That I had come! That thou hadst come! That he had come!


    93.1–2 “Mais viens donc! . . . Vient-il?”] French: Come on, then . . . Is he coming?


    97.14 The New Heloise] See note 17.39.


    98.8 the moto perpetuo or the tarantella] Moto perpetuo (Italian: “perpetual motion”) is a musical composition or pattern of continuously repeated rapid notes. The tarantella is a popular dance form in triple time (3/8 or 6/8), named for the belief that dancing oneself into a state of exhaustion would sweat out the poison of a tarantula bite.


    116.33 th-there is balm in Gilead.”] Cf. Jeremiah 8:22.


    124.36 haute bourgeoise] French: upper middle class.


    127.7–8 Piedmont revolt of 1820] Inspired by the 1820 revolution in Naples, an insurrection in Piedmont in 1821 sought the promulgation of a liberal constitution and the liberation of Lombardy and Venetia from Austrian rule. The revolt was suppressed by Austrian troops.


    139.6 The Assembly of the Three Estates of the Kingdom] As in France before the Revolution, Orsinian society was divided into three unequal conditions, or estates: the clergy, the nobility, and the commons.


    140.19 “O miserere, Domine!”] Latin: Lord, have mercy on us.


    140.25 “Mugitusque boum!”] Latin: And the lowing of cattle. A phrase from Virgil.


    140.35 Germanic Latin] In Germanic-speaking countries, Latin was pronounced with German phonetics, as opposed to ecclesiastical or church Latin, which retained an Italianate pronunciation.


    143.32 “Sic et non,”] Latin: Yes and no.


    145.13 the Social Contract] See note 38.37.


    145.17–18 Paris in ’93 . . . Vienna in ’15] The Reign of Terror began in 1793; the Congress of Vienna in 1815 sought to prevent future revolutions in Europe.


    145.23–24 cut to pieces . . . Leipzig] See note 12.35.


    146.34–35 the Deputy from the Fourth Estate] Edmund Burke (1729–1797) coined the term “Fourth Estate” in 1787 to refer to the press.


    157.27 König von Ungarn] Grand hotel in Vienna in operation since 1746 and located next to St. Stephen’s Cathedral (Stephansdom, or the Dom).


    165.22–23 the Lion . . . the Swan] The constellations Leo and Cygnus.


    167.27 the War of the Three Kings] See “The Lady of Moge,” pages 505–516 in this volume.


    172.25 vincam] Latin: I shall overcome—a suitably Byronic boast for Es­tenskar.


    189.34–35 St Lazar Prison] Named for Lazarus, the man raised from the dead in the Gospel of John. St Lazar(e) is also the name given to many hospitals associated with the Order of St Lazarus, a Catholic order founded around 1119 at a leper hospital in Jerusalem.


    193.14–15 The workman . . . named Fabbre.] The Fabbre family reappears in other Orsinian tales, such as “Brothers and Sisters” and “A Week in the Country.” Fabbre is “Smith” in Orsinian, a common working class name.


    213.22–27 the old carol . . . Deo!] Evidently an Orsinian translation of the eighteenth-century French carol “Les Anges dans Nos Campagnes,” best known in English in its 1862 translation by the Anglo-Irish bishop James Chadwick as “Angels We Have Heard on High.”


    214.4–5 Count Orlant discoursed on hollytrees, standing stones, and druids] Orsinia’s pagan past—and the way elements of the older belief survived into a nominally Christian era—is explored in “The Barrow,” page 363 of this volume.


    214.12 San Larenz] Saint Lawrence of Rome (225–258), early Christian martyr.


    214.18 In te Domine speravi.] Latin: In thee, Lord, I trust.


    226.21 the bright dog at heel.] Sirius, sometimes called the “dog star,” is the brightest star in the night sky, and is part of the Canis Major (“Greater Dog”) constellation, below the Orion constellation. In mythology, Orion is a hunter and Canis Major his hound.


    226.33 Epiphany night] Christian feast day commemorating the visit of the three wise men to the Christ child, when Jesus was revealed to be the son of God. In the Western church it is traditionally celebrated on January 6.


    233.15–16 how many Pleiades there were.] There are over one thousand stars in the Pleiades star cluster, up to fourteen of which can be seen with the naked eye. Traditional names for the cluster disagree on whether there are seven sisters, as in Greek myth, or six, as in Japan and India.


    245.10–11 the service of All Saints] All Saints’ Day is a festival celebrated in honor of all saints, known and unknown. The Roman Catholic Church holds it on November 1, and the Eastern Orthodox Church on the first Sunday after Pentecost.


    278.39 like a scene from Othello?] Cf. Othello, III.iv.


    279.25–26 The Ultras, Royer-Collard, Article Fourteen] The Ultras (Ultra-royalists) were conservative supporters of the restored Bourbon dynasty. Pierre Paul Royer-Collard (1763–1845) was a leader of the Doctrinaires, a group of political thinkers who had reconciled the liberal principles of the Revolution of 1789 with the legitimacy of the monarchy. Article Fourteen of the Charter of 1814 gave the king the power to promulgate legislation by decree during an emergency. The invocation of Article Fourteen by Charles X on July 25, 1830, led to an insurrection in Paris and his forced abdication


    280.10–11 Danton . . . Talleyrand.] For Danton see note 18.9–10; Charles Maurice de Talleyrand-Périgord (1754–1838), French politician and diplomat whose career spanned successive regimes from Louis XVI to Napoleon to Louis-Philippe. He served as foreign minister of France, 1797–1807, and represented France at the Congress of Vienna, 1814–15.


    280.12 wooden shoe instead of a silk stocking—] Talleyrand was mistrusted by Napoleon, who berated him in front of his marshals as “shit in a silk stocking.”


    281.13 “To fresh fields and pastures new. . . .] From the end of John Milton’s pastoral elegy “Lycidas” (1637).


    281.25 the Spielberg] See note 86.30.


    281.26 Silvio Pellico] Silvio Pellico (1789–1854), Italian poet and patriot. His literary review, the Conciliatore, was suppressed by the Austrian authorities and he was arrested in Milan in 1820. Convicted of treason in 1822, he was held in the Spielberg prison until his release in 1830.


    281.30 the Piombi in Venice] Formerly a prison inside the Doge’s Palace in Venice. Its most famous prisoner was the writer and libertine Giacomo Casanova (1725–1798).


    282.16 Vergniaud] See note 18.15.


    287.40–288.1 Mr Aphasis, the Deputy from Karnak.] Similarly, Samuel Johnson (1709–1784) reported on the British parliamentary debates from 1741 to 1744 for The Gentleman’s Magazine. Forbidden to report the debates directly, Johnson adopted the guise of “Debates in the Senate of Lilliput,” using Jonathan Swift’s imaginary miniature kingdom to stand for England.


    288.11 “Cheops,”] Fourth dynasty Egyptian pharaoh (2589–2566 B.C.E.), also called Khufu, who commissioned the Great Pyramid at Giza.


    290.9–10 The Duke of Bordeaux] After the July Revolution of 1830, which overthrew Charles X, Charles’s grandson Henri of Artois, Count of Chambord and Duc de Bordeaux (1820–1883), was declared by conservative Legitimists to be Henri V, King of France. As heir to the Bourbon monarchs, he continued to be the pretender to the throne until his death.


    295.9 the new king of France] Rather than selecting the Duke of Bordeaux, the French Chamber of Deputies named his distant cousin Louis Philippe d’Orléans (1773–1850) as King Louis Philippe I.


    299.26–27 “The light shineth . . . it not!”] John 1:5.


    322.38 “Oimè!”] Italian: Alas!


    332.22–23 “Un soave non so che. . . .] Italian: “A sweet something or other. . . . ,” from the start of a love duet in La Cenerentola or Cinderella (1817) by Gioachino Rossini (1792–1868).


    332.24 The Holy Alliance] Though Rossini was not an admirer of the reactionary Holy Alliance of Russia, Austria, and Prussia, he did accept a commission from Metternich to write two cantatas for the Congress of Verona in 1822, one of which, La Santa Alleanza, or “The Holy Alliance,” is now lost.


    332.26–27 pippin apples] The product of unintentional breeding of two varieties.


    337.16–17 play at Petrarch] Francesco Petrarca, also known as Petrarch (1304–1374), helped to make the sonnet into a vehicle for expressing courtly love with a volume of poems praising a woman (real or ideal) named Laura. Some identify the beloved in the sonnets as Laura de Noves, a married aristocrat with whom Petrarch had very little actual contact.


    340.25 “Except the Lord build the house,”] Laura is quoting from the psalm that stands as epigraph to the novel, with a line that reinforces her role as the unsung maintainer of domestic order.


    347.8 fratello mio] Italian: my brother.


    347.9–10 “Stay him with flagons . . . with apples.] Cf. Song of Solomon 2:5: “Stay me with flagons, comfort me with apples: for I am sick of love.”


    SONGS


    351.1 Folk Song from the Montayna Province] In this lyric, the first Orsinian text published by Le Guin, she uses imagery that will reappear in other works: hawks, white light, widening circles. A Wizard of Earthsea (1968) begins with lines from the imaginary epic The Creation of Ea: “Only in silence the word, / only in dark the light, / only in dying life: / bright the hawk’s flight / on the empty sky.”


    352.1 Red Berries] This and the following poem offer more extended samples of Orsinian, which has words recognizable as cognates to French or Italian (“rosce” red; “matine” morning; “ankor” again) but with distinctive elements such as the more typically Slavic letter K rather than C.


    STORIES


    359.1 The Fountains] The internal chronology of the Orsinian stories is indicated by dates at the end of each. The two previously uncollected Orsinian stories, “Two Delays on the Northern Line” and “Unlocking the Air,” are not marked with dates, but the events and references seem to indicate that they take place at more or less the times they were written: 1979 and 1990 respectively.


    363.31 “Arianism!”] The teachings of Arius (c. 250–336) were deemed heresy by the Council of Nicaea in 325, which established the Nicene Creed, affirming the divinity of Christ, as a standard of Christian orthodoxy. Arianism views Jesus as a separate being, son of God, rather than part of the three-part Godhead that became Christian orthodox belief. Despite official disapproval, Arianism never went away and was revived by Unitarian sects that emerged independently in Transylvania in the sixteenth century and Poland in the seventeenth.


    365.26 Odne] The Orsinian equivalent of the Germanic war god Odin.


    368.36–38 Ropes and webs of darkness . . . hearth.] The visiting priest is portrayed with the same imagery as the failed wizard Cob in The Farthest Shore. Cob threatens the balance of life and death in Earthsea by claiming individual immortality and drawing others into his belief, a dark echo of Christian resurrection.


    369.24–25 the Warrior . . . Odne the Silent.] The local mythologized version of the constellation Orion, the Hunter.


    390.37–38 Karantay’s The Young Man Liyve] Lisha is reading from the novel written by one character in Malafrena about another: Liyve is a version of Itale Sorde.


    415.27 long ago, early in the last century perhaps] Early in the last century would put Maler into the setting of Malafrena.


    420.6 October, 1956] The Hungarian uprising of 1956 began on October 23 and led to the collapse of the Communist regime. Soviet troops invaded Hungary on November 4 and suppressed the uprising in fighting that continued in Budapest until November 10.


    424.1 Brothers and Sisters] For the original publication of this story in The Little Magazine, Le Guin’s brother, Karl Kroeber, wrote the following introduction:


    SISTERS AND SCIENCE FICTION


    When the editors of The Little Magazine asked me for a fraternal comment on “Brothers and Sisters” they couldn’t understand how far beyond mere sibling rivalry they were pressing me to go. Since my father was a distinguished scientist, my first years in academia were dominated by a question to which the answer was, “Yes, he is my father.” Scarcely had he died than my mother became famous as an author, and I found myself saying, “Yes, she is my mother.” About the time mother turned from public acclaim to a new and exciting marriage, my sister won the National Book Award, and I found a third variant for my identifying phrase. I’m convinced that should my sister disappear (squashed by a malfunctioning UFO?) one of my children would instantly win a Nobel Prize, or kidnap F. Lee Bailey. My remarks, therefore, must be taken as those of a familial Birdboot.


    I remark first that my sister’s writing has convinced me that (as I had long suspected) literary biography is useless for understanding literature. Boswell on Johnson and Bell on Woolf are delightful, but not helpful. I believe I know where both the general conceptions and many of the details in “Brothers and Sisters” originate. Every story of my sister’s is full of references to things and events and relationships I recognize. But to know these sources is to know nothing of significance about the stories as stories. Bad stories often are raw biography. Literary art consists in transforming one kind of reality, that of physical experience, into another kind of reality, that of literary experience. Imagining, the process of transforming, is illuminated dimly, if at all, only by the magic of criticism. Writers are often complex people and fascinating subjects for psychological analysis, but a writer is a person to whom writing happens. As Winnie the Pooh put it, “Poetry and Hums aren’t things which you get, they’re things which get you. And all you can do is to go where they can find you.”


    Especially disadvantageous for biographers are people like my sister who never become writers but who always are writers. I can’t remember a time when my sister wasn’t writing. I doubt that she can. For such a person writing is a mode of being, like talking for most of us, and making melodies for Mozart. Interestingly, not all the best writers are born writers—Shakespeare may not have been: he seems to have begun lazily and quit early, though commendably active in his middle years. But for those who lisp in numbers, the lisp is the significant biographical fact pointing to the mysterious truth that writers in writing about nothing but their own experience produce works not much illuminated by their experience. Writing is like alchemy—only the process of transmutation matters.


    So little for biography, now less for genre, because my sister is not a “science fiction writer.” She is an imaginative author whose early work has followed the pattern of “science fiction,” the best (perhaps the only) mode open to an honest fantast unperturbed by the whims of the New York Literary Establishment. “Fantasy” derives from the Greek for “boaster,” it in turn deriving from a verb “to make visible.” Forms such as science fiction are a natural outlet for the “ostentatious,” that is, impudent, risk-taking writer. Critics, of course, prefer safe experimentalists. But the critical establishment’s power needn’t be overrated, since it is primarily negative. Occasionally it supports talent, seldom if ever does it permanently prevent a genuine artist from succeeding. When I saw the first advertisement for my sister’s work in the New York Review, I predicted a review of her by my colleague Michael Wood within a year. I underestimated Michael’s sensitivity to popular trends by four months.


    The national popularity of science fiction, vampire stories, Gothic romances, and the like is impressive. If Bruno Bettelheim is right, this phenomenon might be called THE REVENGE OF DICK AND JANE. It is at least appropriate that a culture which has exorcized from children’s reading all that is genuinely fearful and romantic should be blessed by the high art and moral profundity of The Exorcist. Surely Sendak’s Where The Wild Things Are is charming. “Bluebeard” is distinctly not charming, a sign that Grimm’s monsters are real. So real that thousands of psychiatrists every year make thousands of dollars fighting them. Bettelheim’s suggestion that our culture impoverishes children’s fantasy life deserves practical recognition. His claim that fairy stories enable children to confront, rather than to escape from or be defeated by, fundamental human predicaments—loneliness, jealousy, death—is attractive to anyone who believes that, on a higher level and in a more complex fashion, fine literature is analogously didactic. By imaginatively living through the course of a novel or play one learns useful truths of human existence. The bizarre, absurd, and surreal elements so prevalent in our “serious” fiction too often are but cheap disguises for imaginative poverty of writer and reader. The popularity in our novels of the monologue form seems likewise symptomatic of an enfeeblement of fictionalizing energy, which does not recount but transmutes so that a strong reader (as Bloom would call her) may enjoy re-transforming.


    To me, science fiction is best when it exuberantly pretends freakishness to work back toward the essential nature of fiction. One of my sister’s early novels treated a planet where “winter” lasted many years. She has never lived in an extremely cold climate, and anyone who has might notice her unfamiliarity with the details of existence dominated by the sub-zero. Yet her descriptions are fictionally effective, for fiction only seems to remind us of actual existence. It invents possibilities of experience which, if we give ourselves to them, that is, respond imaginatively to them, enable us to return to actuality as more competent human (e.g., moral) organisms. So I would urge the fifteen graduate students who doubtless are busy writing dissertations on Le Guin not to seek in Bulgaria for the setting of “Brothers and Sisters.” The curious growthless plain of limestone quarries is not East of the Sun and West of the Moon, just a little south of Zembla and north of Graustark.


    Similar coordinates are needed to locate the following description.


    They went noiselessly over mats of starry moss, rustled through interspersed tracts of leaves, skirted trunks with spreading roots whose mossed rinds made them like hands wearing green gloves; elbowed old elms and ashes with great forks, in which stood pools of water that overflowed on rainy days and ran down their stems in green cascades. On older trees still than these huge lobes of fungi grew like lungs. Here, as everywhere, the Unfulfilled Intention, which makes life what it is, was as obvious as it could be among the depraved crowds of a city slum. The leaf was deformed, the curve was crippled, the taper was interrupted; the lichen ate the vigor of the stalk, and the ivy slowly strangled to death the promising sapling.


    A pilgrim looking for this landscape in southern England is farther off the track than an enthusiast finding prototypes for Theodore Sturgeon. The Woodlanders wouldn’t be worth reading if it only reported what a dope with a camera could photograph. “Brothers and Sisters” isn’t, I think, essentially different from Le Guinian star treks, though its superficial “realism” may indicate my sister’s growing confidence that her readers can be trusted to use their imaginations, to appreciate that fictional reality is fantasy.


    I hope so, for such confidence would imply a reviving sense for the utility of literature. Here I can call on the testimony of a fellow immigrant to Brooklyn (unimaginative people come from Brooklyn): “these things are important not because a/ high-sounding interpretation can be put on them but because they are/ useful.” Miss Moore, like Pooh, referred to poetry, but her words are equally applicable to the transformations of prose. As when, talking baseball, she said she was impressed at how the Dodgers’ catcher “could throw the ball all the way to second base with just one hand.”


    In an unambiguous utopia, all novels would be written that way.


    459.13 Stefan Fabbre] This Stefan is the grandson of the Stefan Fabbre in “Brothers and Sisters.” He will reappear twenty-seven years later in “Unlocking the Air” (page 543 in this volume), an example of the way the Orsinian tales are linked by theme, image, and ongoing cultural and historical forces more than by simple chronology.


    463.9 They talked helices] The date this story is set, 1962, is the year Francis Crick, James D. Watson, and Maurice Wilkins received the Nobel Prize for their discovery of the helical form of DNA molecules, a discovery first announced by Watson and Crick in the journal Nature in 1953. (Rosalind Franklin, whose X-ray images of DNA played a key role in the discovery of its structure, was not eligible for the prize because of her death in 1958.)


    466.21 the reprisals of 1956.] This is confirmation that the Hungarian-style uprising anticipated in “The Road East” has occurred and, predictably, has been forcibly repressed by the Soviets.


    470.11–12 the bluish figures OA46992 were visible] Bret is evidently a former prisoner at Auschwitz and bears the distinctive tattooed identification number.


    470.13–17 an English lute-song . . . envying.] Poem and musical setting by English poet Thomas Campion (1567–1620) from Fourth Book of Airs (c. 1617). Its opening lines are “Silly boy, ’tis ful Moone yet thy night as day shines clearely; / Had thy youth but wit to feare, thou couldst not love so dearely.”


    470.20 “Plaisir d’Amour,”] Classical French love song (1784) by Jean-Paul-Égide Martini (1741–1816) with lyrics from a poem by Jean-Pierre Claris de Florian (1755–1794). Like Campion’s, this is an ominous look at love: “The pleasure of love lasts only a moment / The grief of love lasts a lifetime.” Martini’s tune was adapted into the popular song “Can’t Help Falling in Love with You,” recorded by Elvis Presley in 1961.


    471.4–5 swim, swim, little trout.] The piece Kasimir is practicing is the Trout Quintet, or the Piano Quintet in A Major (1819), by Franz Schubert (1797–1828). Introduced in this story, Schubert dominates the next, “An die Musik” (page 480). The Trout, named for its musical quotation of an earlier song by Schubert called “Die Forelle,” or “The Trout,” is unusual within the chamber repertoire in including a bass viol along with the more standard piano, violin, viola, and cello. Kasimir has deliberately chosen a rarely featured instrument (the Dvořák cello concerto raises that instrument to the virtuoso level more often enjoyed by violinists) and opted for a career playing ensembles rather than solos.


    471.13 the Dvorak Concerto] Cello Concerto in B minor, Op. 104 (1894–95), the last solo concerto written by Czech composer Antonín Dvořák (1841–1904) and his only completed concerto for cello.


    471.17 Pablo Casals] Pau Casala i Defilló (1876–1973), known as Pablo Casals, preeminent cellist and conductor from Spain.


    477.9–10 There were pine splinters in the quicks of his nails] The practice of driving wooden splinters under fingernails is a common form of torture, found in accounts of medieval interrogations, records of the Spanish Inquisition, and eyewitness stories from a number of twentieth-century conflicts.


    480.1 An die Musik] Song “An die Musik” (“To Music”), set by Schubert in 1817 to a poem by his friend Franz von Schober (1796–1882).


    480.19 the Appassionata] Beethoven’s Piano Sonata No. 23 in F minor, Op. 57 (1804–5), known as the Appassionata (Italian: passionate).


    481.12 a Goethe lyric] Many poems by Johann Wolfgang von Goethe (1749–1832) have been set as lieder or songs by composers ranging from Mozart (1756–1791) to Charles Ives (1874–1954). The story does not specify which lyric Gaye has set to music, although in the original version of this story published in Western Humanities Review in 1961, the poem was identified as “Ueber allen Gipfeln” (1780).


    481.19 a Kyrie, Benedictus, and Sanctus.] A traditional musical mass consists of five parts: Kyrie, Gloria, Credo, Sanctus and Benedictus, and Agnus Dei. The Kyrie is the opening sung prayer, and the Benedictus is part of the Sanctus, a short doxology.


    481.23–24 “Benedictus qui venit in nomine Domini”] Latin: Blessed is he who comes in the name of the Lord; a line from the Roman Rite, the most widespread liturgical rite in the Catholic Church.


    482.13 The Credo] A movement of the mass, named for its first word: Credo, “I believe.”


    484.33–34 on Mahler, on Richard Strauss] German Romantic composers Gustav Mahler (1860–1911) and Richard Strauss (1864–1949).


    485.11–12 kill the man . . . last quintet?] Austrian composer Franz Schubert (1797–1828) died two months after completing his String Quintet in C major, regarded as one of the greatest chamber music compositions.


    485.14 Du holde Kunst, ich danke dir!] German: You, lovely art, I thank you! The final line of the title song thanks the art of music (or art in general), which, the poet says, has “transported me into a better world.”


    485.33 “Du lieber Herr Gott!”] German: Dear God!


    486.5–6 Doch, doch—] German: Yes, yes—


    486.27 Hugo Wolf] Hugo Philipp Jacob Wolf (1860–1903), Austrian composer, primarily of lieder.


    488.31 lieder-singer] Lieder, or art songs, often a musical setting of a poem or text for one voice with piano accompaniment.


    488.32 Strauss’s Arabella] A comic opera with a libretto by Austrian writer Hugo von Hofmannsthal (1874–1929), which premiered in Dresden in 1933.


    489.16–17 Putzi playing the piano to soothe the Leader’s nerves.] Ernst Franz Sedgwick Hanfstaengl (1887–1975), nicknamed Putzi (or Little Fellow), a businessman of German and American parentage, met Adolf Hitler in 1922. He became part of Hitler’s inner circle and was often called upon to play the piano. Hanfstaengl was appointed foreign press chief of the Nazi party in 1932, but gradually became estranged from Hitler. Fearing for his life, he went into exile in England in 1937. During World War II he wrote confidential reports on Hitler and the Nazi leadership for the U.S. government.


    491.11 “Mr Neville Chamberlain in Munich,”] British prime minister Ne­ville Chamberlain (1869–1940), French premier Édouard Daladier, Italian dictator Benito Mussolini, and Adolf Hitler met in Munich, September 29–30, 1938, and agreed that Czechoslovakia would cede its Sudetenland region to Germany. Chamberlain then returned to England and declared that the agreement would bring “peace in our time.” When Germany occupied the remainder of Czechoslovakia on March 15, 1939, Chamberlain abandoned his appeasement policy and declared that Britain would defend Poland against aggression.


    492.38–40 “It is Thou in thy mercy . . . complain.”] The poem Gaye is struggling to set to music is by Joseph von Eichendorff (1788–1857), and begins “Es wandelt, was wir schauen, / Tag sinkt ins Abendrot, / Die Lust hat eignes Grauen, / Und alles hat den Tod.” James Bittner translates the first verse thus: “Things change, whatever we look at, / Day sinks into sunset glow, / Desire has its own horror, / And everything dies.” The poem has been set to music, by both Alban Berg (1885–1935) and Dame Ethel Smyth (1858–1944).


    493.31 Lehmann] Charlotte “Lotte” Lehman (1888–1976), one of the great sopranos of her time, left Germany in 1938 because her stepchildren were half Jewish.


    493.32 Du holde Kunst, ich danke dir.] See note 485.14.


    518.14–15 The Citroen and the Rolls] Imported cars: the French Citroën was a mass-production design, while the British Rolls-Royce was a luxury automobile.


    518.36–37 the history of the Ten Provinces in the Early Middle Ages] In his historical research, Professor Egideskar might have unearthed the story of Count Freyga that is recounted in “The Barrow” (page 363 in this volume).


    518.40 Asgard] The realm of the high gods, or Aesir, in Norse mythology.


    520.1 Yggdrasil] The World Tree in Norse mythology: an enormous ash whose roots and branches connect the human home of Midgard, or Middle Earth, with Niflheim, the realm of the dead; Jotunheim, the realm of the Frost Giants; and Asgard, home of the gods.


    520.3 Loki’s Grove] Like the Greek Prometheus (see note 17.32), the half-giant Loki turned against his divine companions and was punished by being chained to a rock. In the visionary poem “Völuspá,” the first poem of the Poetic Edda, his prison is under a grove of hot springs.


    520.7 the death of Baldur] The Norse god of light, Baldur or Baldr is doomed by prophecy to die young. To forestall his death, his mother Frigg asks all things to promise not to harm Baldur, but fails to ask the mistletoe. Since nothing will harm him, he is essentially invulnerable, and it becomes a game among the gods to aim missiles at him. His blind brother Hodur is left out of the game, but the malicious Loki makes an arrow out of the mistletoe and helps Hodur aim the bow, killing his brother.


    521.39 sterility is what I fear] If the Egideskar home is Asgard, the baroness should be Frigg, wife of Odin, but here she is clearly Freya, goddess of fertility. That is also the name her husband gives her (see page 524).


    522.5 Ragnarok] Twilight of the Gods: the end time in Norse myth, when all will be destroyed and a new creation brought into being. In the final days, the gods will be brought down by their enemies, particularly Loki’s three children: Hel (goddess of the dead), Fenris (an enormously powerful wolf), and the Midgard Serpent (a snake so large that it circles the earth).


    524.28 the Dorian mode] A musical scale, one of seven modes. In modern usage, the Dorian mode is essentially a minor scale with a flattened sixth, or the result of playing an octave on all white notes from D to the D above. An example of Dorian mode is the traditional tune “Scarborough Fair.”


    524.38 Freya] See note 521.39.


    535.16–17 Paraguananza, the capital] The capital of Paraguay is Asunción.


    535.20 METEMPSYCHOSIS] Transmigration of a soul.


    551.17–18 that small, discontinuous, silvery sound.] The sound, later (page 555) revealed to be the jingling of thousands of keys, was one of the forms of protest during the Velvet Revolution in Prague in 1989. New York Times reporter Joseph Tagliabue wrote on December 12, 1989, “Today, at exactly noon in Prague, people flooded into the streets around Wenceslas Square, the central shopping thoroughfare, rattling key chains and tinkling tiny bells. The jingling of keys, acts symbolizing the opening of hitherto locked doors, has become a common gesture in the wave of demonstrations.”


    553.13 Koshchey the Deathless] A villainous sorcerer of Russian folklore who could not be killed because he had hidden his life or soul away from his body. Koschey, or Koschei, is the adversary in a number of Russian folktales and in Igor Stravinsky’s ballet The Firebird (1910).
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